University of South Bohemia Faculty of Science

The role of tick salivary serpins in the modulation of host's immune system

Habilitation thesis

RNDr. Jindřich Chmelař, Ph.D.

České Budějovice, 2022

Annotation:

Tick saliva is a rich source of pharmacoactive molecules, especially proteins. High-throughput approaches, such as transcriptomics and proteomics have been used for their identification since the beginning of the 21st century. Lists of salivary proteins were being used as a basis for detailed characterizations of individual proteins. This thesis focuses on both aspects of the research of tick salivary secretion. The description of the first transcriptome of European Lyme disease vector *Ixodes ricinus* is followed by a series of functional studies focused on one group of protease inhibitors found in tick saliva – serpins. The knowledge obtained from high-throughput approach and the functional studies on tick serpins was also reviewed in several reviews that are included as a part of this thesis as well.

Acknowledgement:

I would like to thank to all my colleagues and students from the Department of Medical Biology at the Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, for their help, support and collaboration as well as for their friendship and for creating healthy and friendly working environment. Namely, I would like to thank to Prof. Jan Kopecký for his supervision during my student's years and for turning my attention to tick serpins that remained in my scientific focus until now. Further, I want to thank all my collaborators and co-authors for enabling the publication of submitted articles.

My gratitude also goes to the Faculty of Science itself, because it has always been my only alma mater, providing me with everything I needed for my professional development, whether it was education or work position.

Last, but the greatest thanks belong to my wife Radka for walking the way with me and to my children for making our life more complete and meaningful.

Contents

тн	E LIST OF PUBLICATIONS SUBMITTED FOR THE HABILITATION	1
SL	MMARY OF THE THESIS	2
IN	RODUCTION	4
1.	TICKS AND TICK-HOST INTERACTION	4
2.	HOST RESPONSE TO THE TICK FEEDING	4
	2.1 Hemostasis	4
	2.2. Inflammation and complement	5
	2.3. Adaptive immunity	6
3.	TICK SALIVA IN TICK-HOST INTERACTION	6
4.	THE COMPOSITION OF TICK SALIVA	7
	4.1. MULTIGENE FAMILIES – REDUNDANCY AND PLURIPOTENCY	7
	4.2. FAMILIES OF TICK SECRETED SALIVARY PROTEINS	8
	4.3. INHIBITORS OF PROTEASES IN TICK SALIVARY SECRETION	10
	4.3.1. Tick inhibitors of cysteine proteases	. 11
	4.3.2. Tick inhibitors of serine proteases	. 12
5.	SERPINS	12
		12
	5.2. STRUCTURE AND MECHANISM OF ACTION OF SERPINS	15
	5.3. SERPINS IN VERTEBRATES.	16
	5.4. Serpins in invertebrates	16
	5.5. Serpins in Tick Physiology and Tick-Host Interaction	17
	5.6. Serpins from Ixodes ricinus	17
	5.6.1. IRIS	18
	5.6.2. IRS-2	. 18
	5.6.3. Iripin-3	. 19
	5.6.4. Iripin-5	. 19
	5.6.5. Iripin-8	. 19
	5.6.6. Iripin-1 and iripin-4	. 20
СС	NCLUSION	20
LIS	T OF REFERENCES:	21
SL	BMITTED ORIGINAL RESEARCH ARTICLES AND REVIEWS	25
	Article 1	25
	Article 2	47
	Article 3	. 57
	Article 4	. 66
	Article 5	. 87
	Article 6	102
	Review 1	121
	KEVIEW 3	133
		144
		122
	KEVIEW J	1/2

THE LIST OF PUBLICATIONS SUBMITTED FOR THE HABILITATION

Original research articles

- 1. **Chmelar J**, Anderson JM, Mu J, Jochim RC, Valenzuela JG, Kopecký J. Insight into the sialome of the castor bean tick, Ixodes ricinus. BMC Genomics. 2008 May 20;9:233. **IF=4,547, 60 citations**
- Chmelar J, Oliveira CJ, Rezacova P, Francischetti IM, Kovarova Z, Pejler G, Kopacek P, Ribeiro JM, Mares M, Kopecky J, Kotsyfakis M. A tick salivary protein targets cathepsin G and chymase and inhibits host inflammation and platelet aggregation. Blood. 2011 Jan 13;117(2):736-44. IF=25,476, 98 citations
- 3. Páleníková J, Lieskovská J, Langhansová H, Kotsyfakis M, **Chmelař J**, Kopecký J. Ixodes ricinus salivary serpin IRS-2 affects Th17 differentiation via inhibition of the interleukin-6/STAT-3 signaling pathway. Infect Immun. 2015 May;83(5):1949-56. **IF=3,609, 25 citations**
- 4. Chlastáková A, Kotál J, Beránková Z, Kaščáková B, Martins LA, Langhansová H, Prudnikova T, Ederová M, Kutá Smatanová I, Kotsyfakis M, **Chmelař J**. Iripin-3, a New Salivary Protein Isolated From Ixodes ricinus Ticks, Displays Immunomodulatory and Anti-Hemostatic Properties In Vitro. Front Immunol. 2021 Mar 1;12:626200. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.626200. IF=8,786, 5 citations
- Kascakova B, Kotal J, Martins LA, Berankova Z, Langhansova H, Calvo E, Crossley JA, Havlickova P, Dycka F, Prudnikova T, Kuty M, Kotsyfakis M, Chmelar J, Kuta Smatanova I. Structural and biochemical characterization of the novel serpin Iripin-5 from Ixodes ricinus. Acta Crystallogr D Struct Biol. 2021 Sep 1;77(Pt 9):1183-1196. doi: 10.1107/S2059798321007920. IF=5,699, 1 citations
- Kotál J, Polderdijk SGI, Langhansová H, Ederová M, Martins LA, Beránková Z, Chlastáková A, Hajdušek O, Kotsyfakis M, Huntington JA, Chmelař J. Ixodes ricinus Salivary Serpin Iripin-8 Inhibits the Intrinsic Pathway of Coagulation and Complement. Int J Mol Sci. 2021 Aug 31;22(17):9480. doi: 10.3390/ijms22179480., IF=6,208, 2 citations

Reviews

- Kotál J, Langhansová H, Lieskovská J, Andersen JF, Francischetti IM, Chavakis T, Kopecký J, Pedra JH, Kotsyfakis M, Chmelař J. Modulation of host immunity by tick saliva. J Proteomics. 2015 Oct 14;128:58-68. IF=3,855, 105 citations
- 2. **Chmelař J**, Kotál J, Kopecký J, Pedra JH, Kotsyfakis M. All For One and One For All on the Tick-Host Battlefield. Trends Parasitol. 2016 May;32(5):368-77. **IF=10,528, 56 citations**
- Chmelař J, Kotál J, Karim S, Kopacek P, Francischetti IM, Pedra JH, Kotsyfakis M. Sialomes and Mialomes: A Systems-Biology View of Tick Tissues and Tick-Host Interactions. Trends Parasitol. 2016 Mar;32(3):242-54. IF=10,528, 72 citations
- 4. **Chmelař** J, Kotál J, Langhansová H, Kotsyfakis M. Protease Inhibitors in Tick Saliva: The Role of Serpins and Cystatins in Tick-host-Pathogen Interaction. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol., 29 May 2017. **IF=6,073, 45 citations**
- 5. Abbas MN, Chlastáková A, Jmel MA, Giannakoudaki El, **Chmelař J** and Kotsyfakis M. Serpins in Tick Physiology and Tick-Host Interaction Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol., 2022 May; **IF=6,073, 0 citations**

SUMMARY OF THE THESIS

Ticks are obligatory blood-feeding parasites that are of medical importance due to their ability to transmit wide range of pathogens. There are two major families – *Ixodidae* and *Argasidae*, which differ in their lifestyles. This thesis focuses on the first group, because Ixodidae, also called hard ticks, are of greater interest from the immunological point of view. Due to their prolonged feeding course that can take up to ten days, hard ticks developed mechanisms to alter all types of host immune responses in order to finish their blood meal, including the alteration of adaptive immunity. These mechanisms of immunomodulation or immunosuppression are entirely dependent on the composition of tick saliva. During the feeding process, ticks alternate between sucking blood and secreting saliva into the wound. The saliva was found to be extremely efficient in altering, inhibiting and modulating every branch of host's immune system, as reviewed in review 1 [1]. The tick saliva consists of hundreds, in case of hard ticks even thousands of different proteins with diverse pharmacological activities that are responsible for efficient alteration of host's defense mechanisms. There are proteins inhibiting plasma coagulation and platelet aggregation, other groups have anti-complement function, many salivary components inhibit the activation and development of inflammatory response and some proteins are able to inhibit T cell proliferation, survival and differentiation into proinflammatory Th1 subpopulation. An interesting and important aspect of tick salivary proteins is their redundancy and pluripotency. Redundancy means that each protein can be substituted to certain level by another one, even from different protein family. On the other hand, pluripotent protein can affect more pathways or processes at once. This is directly connected with another unique feature of ticks – the presence of multigene protein families. These families are the result of multiple gene duplication and their subsequent evolution, leading to more or less abundant groups consisting of members with similar or different biological activities. This phenomenon was described in the review 2 [2].

At the beginning of 21st century, there was a big boom of high-throughput approach to the study of tick salivary secretion. The first transcriptomes from tick salivary glands (a.k.a. sialomes) were done by Sanger sequencing and could not cover full range of salivary proteins, but main framework was set. The first transcriptome of European Ixodes ricinus was published in 2008 in article 1 [3] and it defined major salivary protein families for this species. In 2016, systems biology approach, i.e. the combination of transcriptomics and proteomics in tick research was reviewed in review 3 [4]. Out of many salivary protein groups, inhibitors of proteases form the most abundant and diverse group. In general, protease inhibitors are regulatory molecules that usually keep an equilibrium of proteolysis driven physiological processes, such as coagulation of plasma in vertebrates or hemolymph in arthropods, protein activation and digestion, complement or platelet aggregation and others. Proteases play an important role in tick physiology as well, as they are responsible for blood proteins degradation and blood digestion. Blood digestion occurs mostly intracellularly in the midgut cells, where hemoglobin and other blood proteins are digested proteolytically to single amino acids. Protease inhibitors control all these processes and also protect from deleterious proteolysis that could damage the tissues. There are several protein families expressed in tick salivary glands that are involved in the inhibition of host proteases. When tick protease inhibitors are secreted into the host via saliva, they attack the enzymeinhibitor equilibrium in the host towards state that is less hostile for the tick. For example, many serine protease inhibitors target proteases of coagulation cascade, resulting in impaired plasma clotting, other inhibitors can target neutrophil proteases, which results in an anti-inflammatory activity. The role of tick secreted protease inhibitors was summarized in several reviews, including review 4 [5] focused on serpins and cystatins and review 5 [6], which was focused solely on serpins. In our research group, we focused mainly on serpins and to lesser extent to cystatins. The first research paper on tick serpins that was published by an author of this thesis was article 2 [7], which was, together with article 1, a basis for author's Ph.D. thesis. In addition to the presentation of anti-inflammatory and antiplatelet activities of a serpin named IRS-2 (Ixodes ricinus serpin-2, recently renamed to Iripin-2), it presented the first serpin crystal structure of parasitic origin. Anti-inflammatory function of IRS-2 was further dissected and one possible mechanism of action was disclosed in **article 3** [8]. Functional characterization of other serpins from *Ixodes ricinus* continued in the following years thanks to the funding from two research grants, awarded by Grant Agency of the Czech Republic, resulting in several original research articles on serpins, written by Ph.D. students either under the supervision of the author or from other collaborating groups. The serpins characterized were Iripin-3 (**article 4**) [9], Iripin-5 (**article 5**) [10] and Iripin-8 (**article 6**) [11]. In this habilitation thesis, a general introduction of tick salivary secretion will be presented as well as the general introduction of serpins. The description of tick serpins and their role in tick-host interaction, as published in submitted articles and reviews will be discussed in more details. The thesis is based on articles that combine the use of high-throughput approach to secreted salivary protein identification and detailed functional characterization of individual proteins, i.e. serpins.

INTRODUCTION

1. TICKS AND TICK-HOST INTERACTION

Ticks are obligatory blood-feeding ectoparasites, belonging to the order Ixodida (phylum Arthropoda, class Arachnida, subclass Acari), which is further subdivided to three families with different life cycles and worldwide distribution – *Ixodidae*, also called hard ticks, *Argasidae* – soft ticks and an obscure group *Nuttalliellidae* with only one African species *Nuttalliella namaqua*. Ticks have global distribution and are of medical importance due to their ability to transmit numerous pathogens. Many of these pathogens can cause serious disease in humans; the most well-known are viral tick borne encephalitis and bacterial borreliosis caused by a spirochete of the genus *Borrelia*. Further diseases are for instance bacterial tularemia (*Francisella tularensis*) and anaplasmosis (*Anaplasma marginale*) or protozoan babesiosis (*Babesia spp.*) and theileriosis (*Theileria spp.*) [12], caused by parasites from phylum Apicomplexa.

Despite all ticks feed on blood, there is big difference in their feeding strategies. While Ixodidae feed on a single host for up to ten days until full engorgement and repletion, Argasidae usually feed for less than one hour in order to complete the blood meal and to be able to proceed with their development into next instar [13]. Since blood is the only food ticks can utilize, they need to figure out, how to obtain the blood from a living host without being interrupted and/or rejected. When tick penetrates the skin by its hypostome, a wide range of host defense mechanisms is activated, leading to a complex immune response. This could be serious obstacle for a tick, therefore ticks developed multiple mechanisms, by which host defense mechanisms can be blocked, modulated or evaded. It is not only the injury itself that activates host defenses, but also an infection with transmitted pathogens and/or concurrent secondary infection with bacteria from the environment that can stimulate host immune system. Complex immune response against tick feeding comprises of hemostasis, innate immunity, such as complement and inflammation and adaptive immunity with the activation of both T and B cell. The adaptive immunity is important especially in the defense against hard ticks because of their long term feeding and continuous stimulation of host immune system by multiple antigens. There are several excellent reviews summarizing host immune response to tick feeding and tick response to host defense in details [14-18].

2. HOST RESPONSE TO THE TICK FEEDING

A tick bite is recognized by the host as an injury that activates **hemostasis** in order to prevent blood loss and **inflammation** to eliminate the danger and close the wound. It also triggers **complement** to promote inflammatory reaction and kill the bacteria and **specific immunity** in order to raise proper and precise reaction that could lead to tick rejection and the build-up of immune memory.

2.1. HEMOSTASIS

Hemostasis is physiological reaction that prevents blood loss caused by an injury in vertebrates. It consists of three processes that operate in concert - plasma coagulation, platelet aggregation and vasoconstriction. Hemostasis as a complex process has been studied thoroughly and is described in many medical textbooks [19]. Each of these mechanisms can be triggered by several ways. Briefly, the coagulation is driven by a proteolytic cascade with two ways of activation – exogenous (or extrinsic)

and endogenous (or intrinsic), both with several amplification and regulatory points and regulatory mechanisms. Exogenous or extrinsic pathway of coagulation begins with the injury of the blood vessel and the activation of tissue factor (TF) by an exposure to blood, which is followed by the formation of TF/factor VIIa (FVIIa) complex. TF/FVIIa activates factor X (FX) to factor Xa, which finally activates thrombin. Thrombin (Factor II) cleaves fibrinogen to fibrin, the building block of the clot [19]. Moreover, thrombin can activate protease-activated receptors on immune cells, leading to inflammatory response [20]. Intrinsic pathway begins with the auto-activation of FXII (also called Hageman factor) by its contact with polyanionic surfaces; therefore, this pathway is regarded as contact phase. This way of activation leads also to the induction of kinin-kallikrein system, which is involved in the amplification of inflammation (see 2.2.). The second part of hemostasis is platelet aggregation, which is dependent on the cell-cell interactions between platelets and endothelial cells and among platelets themselves. Activated platelets form a thrombotic plug in coordination with fibrin fibres. It leads also to the production of proinflammatory mediators, thus being the link between hemostasis and innate immunity [21]. Moreover, injury induces the release of several vasoconstrictors, i.e. biogenic amines and endothelins from endothelial cells, resident mast cells and activated platelets, leading to the constriction of blood vessel and diminishing of the blood loss.

2.2. INFLAMMATION AND COMPLEMENT

Tick bite is recognized as an injury by vertebrate immune system, therefore defensive and repair mechanisms are activated. Moreover, tick feeding is usually accompanied by the infection, which is either direct by tick-borne pathogens or indirect by concomitant microbes from the surface of the tick mouthparts or host skin. Injury and infection is opposed by an immediate local acute inflammatory reaction. In general, acute inflammation is described by five so called cardinal signs - calor (heat), tumor (swelling), rubor (redness) and dolor (pain). Fifth sign of inflammation is the loss of function (function laesa), which results from a tissue damage and fibrotization [22]. Heat and redness are the results of vasodilatation and increased blood flow; swelling is caused by increased vasopermeability and subsequent accumulation of plasma fluid and proteins in extravascular space and by the extravasation of leukocytes, such as neutrophils and monocytes, from blood vessel to the site of inflammation. Many inflammatory mediators like bradykinin, serotonin, histamine or complement products C3a and C5a are released and cause pain, itching and further chemoattraction of leukocytes from the blood. Pain, itching and swelling have direct impact on tick feeding success, because the first two usually lead to tick removal by the host and swelling can disconnect the tick from blood flow and eventually lead to tick rejection. The mechanisms of innate immunity that are involved in tick x host interaction are described in several reviews [14, 16, 18, 23-26]. Briefly, after skin damage caused by tick mouthparts, factor XII of intrinsic coagulation pathway activates the clotting cascade, as well as the fibrinolytic and kinin-kallikrein system. Mediators of these systems induce pain, vasodilatation and vascular permeability, neutrophil chemotaxis and complement activation via plasmin. Due to vessel damage, platelets are activated by extravascular collagen and by thrombin via protease activated receptors (PARs), leading to platelet activation and the release of more inflammation mediators [21]. Injured cells produce DAMPs (danger associated molecular patterns), which activate neutrophils and other leukocytes. Activated neutrophils degranulate and release antibacterial peptides, chemokines and also proteolytic enzymes, namely serine proteases cathepsin G, elastase and protease 3. These proteases are responsible for tissue remodeling and also for further amplification of the inflammatory response – for example cathepsin G (similarly to thrombin) activates the cells, including platelets, via PARs, in case of cathepsin G, it is PAR-4 [27, 28]. Activation of neutrophils is accompanied by the generation of pain-inducing prostaglandins. In addition to neutrophils, mast cells and basophils are involved in the inflammatory response to tick bite. They are activated by anaphylatoxins - C5a and C3a compounds of complement, leading to massive degranulation of mast cells and basophils and to the release of important inflammatory mediators such as histamine, serotonin and serine proteases [29]. Basophils play a crucial role in tick rejection during repeated infestation and major part of biogenic amines is produced by this cell population [30-32]. Histamine and serotonin act as vasodilators, notorious due to their involvement in allergic reaction, in which they cause typical symptoms, such as hay fever, tissue edemas and redness of the skin [33]. Other products secreted by mast cells are proteases like mast cell chymase, which can attract other immune cells like eosinophils and neutrophils by processing various chemokines and receptors [34]. Moreover, chymase was shown to degrade tick anticoagulants and thus fight against tick infestation [35]. Proinflammatory cytokines TNF, IL-1ß and IL-6 are released from activated macrophages and are involved in the amplification of inflammation. Because of bacterial presence in the site of injury, the lectin and the alternative pathway of the complement are activated and large quantities of anaphylatoxins C5a and C3a are produced. This leads to further attraction of granulocytes and monocytes to the site of injury. All cells involved in the inflammation communicate via the secretion of various cytokines and other mediators that influence their function so that the inflammatory reaction is precisely orchestrated as described in many reviews [14, 18, 26].

2.3. ADAPTIVE IMMUNITY

Since hard ticks feed for prolonged period, host immune system has enough time to develop specific response, including the activation of B and T cells. Cellular branch of adaptive immunity is driven by T cells that can differentiate into several subpopulations, either pro- or anti-inflammatory [26]. Major proinflammatory response is orchestrated by Th1 cells that produce especially Interferon- γ and interleukin IL-12, the cytokines that activate effector cells of inflammation such as macrophages. In response, macrophages produce TNF and IL-1b. Another proinflammatory branch of cellular immunity is Th17, which is characterized by the production of Interleukin-17 by Th17 cells and several other immune cells [36]. This cytokine has strong proinflammatory activity, as it stimulates neutrophils activation and infiltration, the production of TNF and nitric oxide by macrophages or the production of antimicrobial peptides. On the other hand, the polarization towards Th2 response is regarded as anti-inflammatory and is characterized by the production of interleukins IL-4, IL-5, IL-6 or IL-13. These cytokines activate Th2-response-specific cells, such as eosinophils. There is also an anti-inflammatory reaction dependent on regulatory T cells [37, 38].

3. TICK SALIVA IN TICK-HOST INTERACTION

Tick bite induces hemostasis, innate immunity and proinflammatory Th1 response. All these responses are deleterious for the tick and they aim for tick rejection, wound closure and the elimination of the infection. During hundreds millions years of co-evolution between ticks and their hosts, ticks have developed wide range of countermeasures that enable them to stay attached and unnoticed on the host. It was discovered that this ability depends on the saliva, produced by ticks into the wound [1, 15, 16, 18, 24]. Researchers started to be interested in tick saliva in eighties of the 20. century, when they realized that tick is not simple "crawling syringe" for pathogen transmission, but that it can efficiently alter every host's defense mechanism [39-41]. Many works were published on the effects of tick saliva or salivary gland extracts (SGE) on host defenses. These were shown to affect hemostasis and all relevant branches of innate and adaptive immunity (Figure 1). In brief, ixodid tick salivary secretion

can alter wound healing related processes such as coagulation, platelet aggregation and vasoconstriction, innate immunity related responses that include inflammation, complement cascade, macrophage ability to phagocytose and also natural killer cells activity. Acquired immunity is modulated too, so that instead of an efficient Th1 response to tick feeding, less harmful Th2 response is elicited. The outcomes of the research on tick saliva and SGE were summarized in **review 1** [1]. In the following section, the progress in the identification of pharmacologically active salivary constituents is discussed.



Figure 1. Effects of tick saliva on the host. Ticks can alter and impair all relevant host's defense mechanisms, ranging from hemostasis to adaptive immunity. (Created by BioRender)

4. THE COMPOSITION OF TICK SALIVA

4.1. MULTIGENE FAMILIES - REDUNDANCY AND PLURIPOTENCY

With the development of methods of molecular biology and thanks to transcriptomic approach to the analysis of salivary secretion, large number of transcripts encoding for potentially pharmacoactive proteins was discovered. Moreover, systems biology has been used in ticks to obtain broader picture of gene expression in specific physiological states or developmental stages and to compare these states. The journey of using high-throughput approach in tick research and the summary of transcriptomic works carried out until 2016 were described in **Review 3** [4]. It was established already after first few sialomes (transcriptomes from salivary glands) were published that ticks dispose of rich armamentarium of pharmacoactive molecules that are produced by salivary glands and are secreted into the feeding lesion via saliva [18]. These molecules are predominantly proteins that usually cluster in the **multigene families** - the groups of proteins that consist of tens or hundreds members, more or

less similar to each other [42]. Individual members can display either the same or different activities. This also holds true, when distinct protein families are compared. There is a lot of experimental evidence that tick salivary proteins display high level of redundancy and pluripotency. It means that two or more different proteins can have the same function (redundancy) and one protein can display more activities (pluripotency). As hypothesized and discussed in **review 2** [2], the combination of these two phenomena makes tick saliva a potent weapon against host's immune system and have several interesting outcomes for both the tick and the host. First, it enables the tick to proceed in the alteration of host's defenses even after some salivary proteins are targeted and blocked by antibodies and other immune mechanisms (Figure 2A). Second, the sequential secretion of members of the same multigene family over time of feeding can maintain the immunomodulation while evading strong immune response by using functionally identical proteins, however, with different antigenic profile, i.e. different epitopes. This would lead to the activation of different B cell clones and the production of different antibodies that would not be able to sufficiently respond to tick feeding (Figure 2B).



Figure 2. Redundancy and pluripotency of tick salivary proteins. A) The same protein can display different effects on the host (pluripotency) and one function can be carried out by more than one protein (redundancy). B) Members of one multigene family (M1-M5) can be sequentially expressed during feeding and present different epitopes (E1-E5), while keeping the same immunomodulatory function. Adapted from Chmelar et al., 2016 [2].

4.2. FAMILIES OF TICK SECRETED SALIVARY PROTEINS

The pioneer works that employed high-throughput approach for the identification and mass annotation of proteins, expressed in tick salivary glands were conducted by José Ribeiro and Jesus Valenzuela in NIAID/NIH using *Ixodes scapularis* as a model tick [43]. The transcriptome of salivary glands was named sialome [44] and since then many sialomes not only from different tick species, but also from other blood-feeding ectoparasites were published. At the beginning, classical Sanger sequencing was used and in-house developed bioinformatics pipelines were employed for sequence analyses. The first sialome of *Ixodes ricinus* was prepared, annotated and published by our group in the collaboration with Prof. Valenzuela and Ribeiro (**article 1**) [3]. Main tick salivary protein groups were defined. Among the most abundant, there were lipocalins with histamine binding and anticomplement activities, protease inhibitors with mostly anti-hemostatic and anti-inflammatory functions and several unique, tick specific families with various functions, including the modulation of

adaptive immunity. Figure 3 shows an overview of some of tick multigene families that are expressed in tick salivary glands and are responsible for the modulation of host's defense mechanisms. Some of them belong to well described protein families, such as lipocalins, disintegrins or protease inhibitors, such as serpins, cystatins and Kunitz domain inhibitors with variable number of Kunitz domains. Other protein groups are unique for ticks, some of them even for specific genus, such as Salp15 group (<u>Sal</u>ivary <u>p</u>rotein 15) that is unique for *Ixodes spp.* [45]. In addition to well characterized protein groups, either generally distributed throughout different organisms or tick-specific, there is a lot of transcripts, coding for completely unknown proteins with unknown functions (Figure 3B). Large portion of transcripts in ticks seem like it does not encode any protein at all. Recent works show that micro RNAs can play important role in tick-host interaction as well and that such big amount of transcript RNA can code for micro RNA [46, 47].



Figure 3. An overview of major tick salivary protein families. A) Major tick protein families with disclosed role in tick-host interaction. Adapted from Chmelar et al., 2016 [2]. B) Number of unique members of protein family, according to the data from previously published data [48, 49].

As shown by many transcriptomic and proteomic studies that were conducted in past ten years, different tick species rely on different set of proteins in the host defenses alteration. When a phylogenetic analysis is performed on a certain multigene family, the result usually points at a rapid evolution, which is species specific, i.e. each tick genus or even species choose different member of the family, which undergoes the process of gene duplication and subsequent mutagenesis. This process is most likely exempted from an evolutionary pressure due to surplus of protein family members with necessary function [42, 50]. Therefore, members with novel functions can appear. This was shown already in **article 1** [3] on the example of collagen-like secreted proteins (Figure 4).



Figure 4. The phylogenetic tree of collagen-like secreted protein multigene family. These proteins seem to be unique for the genus *lxodes* and show the rapid evolution of these families in the frame of single species. Taken from Chmelar et al., 2008 [3].

4.3. INHIBITORS OF PROTEASES IN TICK SALIVARY SECRETION

In general, protease inhibitors are very important regulators of numerous physiological processes. They can inhibit proteases involved in intracellular digestion or in proteolytically activated cascades of enzymes, such as coagulation, complement or phenoloxidase system in arthropods. They maintain proper amount of activated proteases in both normal and pathological states and thus regulate key homeostatic mechanisms. Protease inhibitors belong to several functional groups – inhibitors of serine proteases, cysteine proteases, aspartic proteases and metalloproteases [51]. These groups consist of several protein families that differ in their structure and mode of inhibition. Specific case is α -2macroglobulin inhibitor with protease entrapping mechanism of action and wide specificity across all types of proteases, which is also involved in immune processes [52]. Protease inhibitors are catalogued in MEROPS database [51]. Tick salivary secretion contains predominantly serine and cysteine protease inhibitors (see following chapters). No inhibitors of metalloproteases are found in tick saliva. This is because ticks themselves use salivary metalloproteases to adjust the environment of feeding site and thus facilitate tick feeding [53]. Unlike mosquitoes that suck blood directly from the vessels (capillary feeders), ticks are pool feeders. This means that they first need to create a feeding lesion or a cavity, from which they can suck the blood. Metalloproteases are the main enzymes to degrade extracellular matrix, which helps to form such feeding cavity. Therefore, it is not in tick's intent to block them.

On the other hand, serine proteases drive the coagulation and complement cascades and are responsible for several ways of inflammatory activation (e.g. thrombin, plasmin, kallikrein, etc.). Cysteine proteases, such as cathepsins, are involved in intracellular protein digestion, but also in the

activation of inflammasome and the production of proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and IL-18 [54]. Above mentioned processes are deleterious for tick feeding as they either inhibit the blood flow, cause pain or itching and/or lead to the activation and amplification of immune response to the tick feeding. Therefore, ticks use inhibitors of serine and cysteine proteases to inhibit or modulate processes of hemostasis and both innate and adaptive immunity. Only inhibitors of serine proteases will be discussed here in greater details, while inhibitors of cysteine proteases will be only briefly mentioned as they are related with this thesis only as a part of one review article (**review 4**).

4.3.1. Tick inhibitors of cysteine proteases

Inhibitors of cysteine proteases are named cystatins, which belong to common protein family sharing similar tertiary structure and sequence homology. Cystatins include four types – Stefins, type 2 cystatins, kininogens and fetuins [55]. Tick cystatins fall mostly into the second type, which is secreted and therefore can be part of tick salivary or mid-gut secretion [56]. The functions of tick salivary cystatins were characterized as anti-inflammatory, because they affect processes in several immune cell types responsible for inflammatory reaction. For instance, salivary cystatins from *I. scapularis* Sialostatin L and L2 displayed specific type of redundancy, as they inhibited proinflammatory functions of dendritic cells (DC) by targeting two parts of the same activation pathway. While Sialostatin L inhibited the production of cytokine interferon- β , Sialostatin L2 inhibited directly JAK/STAT phosphorylation (Figure 5). Both activities lead to the inhibition of the production of DC-specific cytokines and chemokines [2, 57].



Figure 5. Redundant inhibition of different modules of the interferon- β (IFN- β) signaling pathway by two members of the same multigene family. SialostatinL, unlike sialostatinL2, inhibits IFN- β production by DCs. SialostatinL2, however, inhibits the phosphorylation of STAT-3 in the JAK/STAT signaling pathway and subsequent expression of several genes downstream from IFN- β -dependent DC activation.

In addition to the inhibition of DCs, sialostatins inhibited the proliferation of CD4+ T cells, prevented experimental asthma in mice and inhibited inflammatory infiltration in mouse paw edema model [57-59]. More cystatins were characterized from other tick species with described roles in the regulation of hemoglobin degradation in tick midgut or in the inhibition of host immune responses. Knock-down experiments with RNA interference in ticks lead to higher mortality, reduced weight gain and impaired egg laying, highlighting the importance of cystatins in tick physiology and tick-host interaction [57]. Despite the primary focus of the author of this thesis on serpins, he participated in *I. ricinus* cystatins studies [60, 61] and summarized the up-to-date knowledge of tick cystatins role in tick-host interaction in the **review 4** [5].

4.3.2. Tick inhibitors of serine proteases

Serine protease inhibitors belong into several protein families with distinct molecular weights, structures and modes of action. Major families contain one of the following domains – Kunitz, Bowman-Birk, Kazal or serpin domain [62]. Many more serine protease inhibitors of peptidic nature can be found in the organisms, but for the purpose of this study, we will mention briefly only Kunitz domain inhibitors and further chapters will focus on serpins, as they are in the center of this thesis aim.

Kunitz domain-containing inhibitors are the most abundant and diverse group of protease inhibitors in ticks [63]. They seem to be involved mostly in anti-hemostatic activities. They can inhibit thrombin and trypsin-like proteases of coagulation cascade, such as Factor Xa, IXa, VII and others [64]. Interestingly, single Kunitz domain proteins were also described as components of venoms. These proteins are able to block ion channels and thus block the transmission of neuronal and/or neuromuscular signals [65]. One of the first described tick inhibitors from this family contained two Kunitz domains and was named Ixolaris [66] and the names of other groups were composed of the number of domains and the suffix "–laris". As such, there is single domain monolaris group, two domain bilaris, five domain penthalaris and so on. Inhibitors with 1-5 Kunitz domains were found in tick transcriptomes [49, 63]. Kunitz inhibitors have rigid structure with defined number of disulphide bridges, which makes them suitable scaffold for protein engineering, by which already novel drugable artificial peptides were constructed [67]. The second intensively studied group of tick serine protease inhibitors are **serpins**, to which the rest of this introduction is dedicated.

5. SERPINS

5.1. EVOLUTION OF SERPINS

Serpins are the most diverse group of protease inhibitors with several thousands members across whole realm of life, including viruses and prokaryota [68]. Recent comprehensive phylogenetic study used 6000 unique serpin sequences to reconstruct the evolution of serpin superfamily and to visualize their sequence similarity by aligning and comparing tertiary structures [69]. The study showed an interesting pattern in structure similarity - there is a central hub of presumably intracellular housekeeping serpins with highly conserved structures, which belong to all kingdoms of life and then there are rays of less similar serpins, clustering into groups according to the species of their origin (Figure 6A). This is an important notion, showing the functional versatility of serpins, which derives from their unique structural and mechanical properties (see next chapter). It seems that the conserved structure of hub serpins is a result of convergent evolution rather than of the horizontal gene transfer, which was also one of the hypotheses that tried to explain high similarity of prokaryote and eukaryote serpins [69]. The idea of a central hub serpins containing conserved and indispensable regulators of intracellular proteolysis and peripheral, mostly secreted serpins with diverse functions and faster evolution is supported by a more detailed analysis of tick serpins (unpublished data). In this analysis, approximately 150 full length serpins from all available tick transcriptomes were gathered, aligned, adjusted for a phylogenetic analysis (signal peptides and hypervariable reactive center loops were removed) and analysed by a minimal evolution model in MEGA X software [70]. Resulting tree, as shown in simplified version in figure 6B, shows several well supported clades that consist of secreted serpins from prostriate (green, genus Ixodes), metastriate (blue, genera Ammblyoma, Dermacentor, Rhipicephalus) or both tick groups (yellow). The last clade (violet color) contains serpins from all species that bear no classical signal peptide and can be considered as intracellular. This clade resembles the central hub from the work of Spence and colleagues (Figure 6A) [69].



Figure 6. Phylogenetic analyses of serpins. A) Structural comparison of serpins from all organisms. The analysis of more than 6000 sequences shows a central hub of intracellular, presumably housekeeping, serpins with highly conserved tertiary structure and "rays" of less similar serpins, which cluster according to the species of their origin. Adapted from Spence et al., 2021 [69] B) Phylogenetic analysis of tick serpins. The clades are color coded as follows: Green – secreted serpins from the genus *Ixodes*, Blue – secreted serpins from metastriate genera *Rhipicephalus, Dermacentor* and *Ammblyoma*, yellow – secreted serpins from both and ticks, violet – intracellular serpins from all tick species. These serpins belong to the central hub of the figure 6A. Analysis was done in MEGA X software by using minimum evolution algorithm and 500 replication bootstrap to support the clades. (unpublished data).

The tree in the figure 6B shows another two interesting things. The secreted serpins cluster according to their organ of origin, which was disclosed after RT-qPCR analysis of serpin genes expression in adult female *I. ricinus* ticks was conducted (Figure 7, unpublished data).





When the expression patterns of *I. ricinus* from figure 7 are compared with the tree in the figure 6B, we can see that most of serpins that were upregulated predominantly in the salivary glands during feeding (IRS/Iripin¹-1-9) belong to a single clade, as well as mid-gut serpins IRS/Iripin-14-17. Thus, the evolution of serpins reflects not only the evolution of the species, but also their function either in the blood digestion or in the host immunomodulation. There is, however, one exception – serpin Iripin-8. This secreted serpin, which displays inhibitory activity against wide range of coagulation proteases and was detected in tick saliva, seems to be conserved across all tick species. It forms a separate clade in the tree (Figure 6B) and unlike other tick serpins, even unusually long RCL is 100% identical in all species. This could point at its importance in tick physiology. Considering its inhibitory activity, Iripin-8 can play a role in the coagulation cascade of tick hemolymph, but its presence in the saliva suggests its role in host anti-hemostatic activities as well. Iripin-8 will be discussed later as it was described in **article 6** [11].

¹ Please note that the name Iripin (<u>I</u>xodes <u>ri</u>cinus ser<u>pin</u>) is equivalent to older name IRS (<u>I</u>xodes <u>r</u>icinus <u>s</u>erpin), which is no longer used in order to avoid confusion with identical abbreviation used for insulin receptor substrate.

5.2. STRUCTURE AND MECHANISM OF ACTION OF SERPINS

Serpins are unique among protease inhibitors thanks to their mode of action. Serpins typically contain 350–400 amino acid residues with an average molecular weight between 40–60 kDa. Even despite low sequence homology, serpins share a highly conserved tertiary core structure that usually consists of three β -sheets (A, B, C), eight to nine α -helices, and a variable reactive center loop (RCL) which is a flexible loop of approximately 20 amino acid residues located at the top of the serpin molecule and reaching out of the core. [71]. Serpins inhibit proteases via a unique suicide substrate-like mechanism, which results in the inactivation and degradation of not only the protease but also the serpin [72]. Initially, recognition of the P1 site of the serpin RCL by the protease leads to the creation of a non-covalent Michaelis-Menten-like complex. The protease then cleaves the scissile bond between the P1 and P1' residues of the RCL and forms a covalent bond with the serpin. Finally, the cleaved RCL inserts into the center of the β -sheet A to form an extra strand, and the covalently bound protease is translocated to the opposite end of the serpin molecule [71, 72]. The mechanism of serpin inhibition is described in figure 8.



Figure 8. The description of serpin structure and its mechanism of inhibition (from Abbas et al., 2022, review 5 [6]). A) An alignment of three *I. ricinus* serpins. Highlighted are hinge region, responsible for inhibitory potential (green) and RCL (brown) with P1 site (blue), responsible for serpin specificity. B) Four most common states of serpins during the conformational transition from native, metastable stressed state, through Michaelis-Menten complex to either covalent inhibitory complex or cleaved, stable state. Both final conformations have RCL inserted in the β -sheet A. C) Tertiary structure of stable cleaved state of Iripin-5 with highlighted β -sheets A, B, C and inserted RCL as an additional strand (pink).

The combination of conserved core structure with variable RCL resembles the composition of immunoglobulins that bear both conservative and hypervariable parts to bind to various antigens and specific immune cells. The principle itself reminds of a mousetrap, where both the mechanism and the

bait are necessary to catch the mouse (or protease in our analogy)[73]. This is exploited by *Manduca sexta*, in which multiple serpins are produced by an alternative splicing between the coding sequence for core structure and DNA for RCL [74]. Some serpins display non-inhibitory functions, however some of these functions rely on the flexibility of RCL as well. For example, the hormone release mechanisms in thyroxin binding globulin (TBG) and transcortin (binding cortisol) are also dependent on the thermoresponsive dynamics of serpin conformational changes [75, 76]. The ability of serpins to change their conformation in response to temperature changes makes them useful as sensors. Unfortunately, this serpin ability is not understood well yet.

5.3. SERPINS IN VERTEBRATES

The functions of serpins vary significantly from the inhibition of endogenous serine and rarely cysteine proteases to serving as storage proteins. In vertebrates, serpins play crucial role in the regulation of key physiological pathways and thus, serpins can be considered as regulators of homeostasis [77]. There are 36 serpins in human, 7 of which are non-inhibitory and 14 are intracellular [78]. One of the most abundant protein in human plasma is α -1-antitrypsin (A1AT) with the concentration 2-4 g/l of plasma. A1AT prevents tissues and vessels from the damage caused by neutrophilic proteases, especially elastase. The deficiency or mutation in A1AT leads to severe complications. Specific Pittsburgh mutation of P1 site (M358R) changes the specificity of A1AT from elastase to thrombin, thus leading to bleeding disorders [79]. Diseases related to serpins deficiencies or mutations are called serpinopathies [80]. Among other important vertebrate serpins, there is antithrombin or heparin cofactor II, both regulators of thrombin with lethal phenotype in knockout mice [81, 82]. The noninhibitory serpin angiotensinogen is the precursor for oligopeptidic hormone angiotensin, which is produced by an enzyme renin. Its deficiency in mice leads to hypertension [83]. Another non-inhibitory serpin PEDF (pigment epithelium derived factor) is a strong inducer of angiogenesis. Serpins regulate also complement cascade and are thus involved in the regulation of immune responses. It is not purpose of this work to describe the function of all vertebrate serpins, but there are several excellent reviews, where the reader can find a summary of human serpin functions [77, 84]. For this work, it is important to mention that since endogenous vertebrate serpins are of such importance, the dysbalance, caused by an injection of tick salivary serpins into the wound can impair defense



mechanisms and thus facilitate tick feeding. Serine proteases are involved in the regulation of the most important physiological processes in vertebrates, but also in the progression of some pathological states. Therefore it is intriguing idea that exogenous parasitic serpins specialized on vertebrate immunomodulation can be used for the development of novel pharmaceuticals to treat protease-dependent pathologies (Figure 9).

Figure 9. Diseases, in which serine proteases usually play negative role. Tick serpins could be used for the development of novel drugs to treat these diseases. Adapted from Chmelar et al., 2017, **review 4 [5]**.

5.4. SERPINS IN INVERTEBRATES

In invertebrates, serpins have also many functions, both inside and outside the cells. The research on *Drosophila* showed that serpins are involved in the regulation of embryonal development, apoptosis or phenoloxidase in the Toll pathway, which is responsible for defense response in arthropods [85, 86].

Serpins were also described as the regulators of hemolymph coagulation cascade [87]. In addition to keeping homeostasis in arthropods, serpins play key role in blood-feeding parasites. Serpins were detected in the proteome of tick mid-gut, probably contributing to the blood digestion process. More important for the purpose of this work is the role of serpins that are secreted via the saliva into the vertebrate host.

5.5. SERPINS IN TICK PHYSIOLOGY AND TICK-HOST INTERACTION

In ticks, serpins have functions in their own physiology and were shown to be possess multiple functions in the tick-host interaction. The knowledge about tick serpins and their functions in ticks and their hosts was reviewed in several reviews, including **review 4** and **review 5** [5, 6, 64]. To date, around 30 serpins from various tick species were characterized functionally. Salivary serpins were found to possess anti-hemostatic, anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory properties. They can inhibit neutrophil and mast cell proteases and thus impair the key role of these cells in the development of inflammation. Some serpins were shown to inhibit leukocyte migration, which is an important process of immune response [7, 10]. By inhibiting different members of coagulation cascade and platelet aggregation, serpins display significant anti-hemostatic activity, which contributes to keeping blood flow to the feeding cavity. In the following sections, only serpins from *I. ricinus* will be described, as most of them were characterized by the team of the author of this thesis.

5.6. SERPINS FROM IXODES RICINUS

To date, five I. ricinus serpins were characterized in the scientific literature and additional two are about to be published in 2022. One and first of these was described by a Belgian group of Edmond Godfroid [88], the rest of the work was done by the team of author of this thesis in collaboration with other groups [7-11]. The pipeline of studying tick serpins in our group consists of bioinformatics analysis, RT-qPCR analysis of serpin expression in different organs and stages, molecular cloning of serpin transcript and its production in the recombinant and LPS-free form in some protein expression system. The recombinant protein is then used for functional analyses, such as enzymatic assays to find serpins' inhibitory specificities and immunological and biological assays to find their functions. Moreover, serpins usually crystallize very well, therefore we perform also structural analyses. We published the first structure of parasitic serpin in 2011 [7], which was highlighted in the front page of the Blood journal and since then, in collaboration with the group of Prof. Ivana Smatanová-Kutá and Prof. James Huntington, we solved additional 5 I. ricinus serpin structures, of which 3 were published so far (Figure 10). In addition to experiments with recombinant proteins, we were performing also RNA interference knock-downs of serpins in ticks in order to find, whether they are indispensable for ticks and could be therefore candidates for an anti-tick vaccine. In further chapters, individual I. ricinus serpins will be introduced.



Figure 10. Structures of 6 serpins from *I. ricinus* **solved by protein crystallography.** [7, 9-11]. Structures of Iripin-1 and 4 were not published yet.

5.6.1. IRIS

The first tick serpin was described in *I. ricinus* and was named IRIS (Ixodes ricinus immunosuppressor) [88]. The original article, however, did not describe its sequence and did not mention that it is a serpin. It was selected as one of the upregulated transcripts in the salivary glands, as assessed by the comparison of cDNA libraries prepared from fed and unfed tick females [89]. IRIS displayed immunomodulatory activities, as it inhibited the proliferation of CD4+ T cells and the production of several proinflammatory cytokines [88]. IRIS seemed to be very good candidate for SAT factor, which is term for a salivary compound that facilitates the transmission of tick-borne pathogens. An abbreviation SAT stood originally for "saliva activated transmission", but later was corrected to "saliva assisted transmission", as it became clear that the transmission is not fully dependent on the saliva, but it is definitely facilitated by it. This work inspired the author of this thesis to follow the role of serpins in the tick-host interaction. However, the research on IRIS continued and several follow-up studies were published. IRIS was found to be not only immunomodulator, but also potent antihemostatic and anti-inflammatory serpin. Interestingly, the anti-inflammatory activity was shown to be independent on inhibitory properties of IRIS, which targeted predominantly elastase [90-92].

5.6.2. IRS-2

By using the sequence of IRIS, a radioactively labeled DNA probe was prepared and phage cDNA library from *I. ricinus* salivary glands was screened in order to see, whether there are similar molecules. Indeed, several novel serpins were discovered that were later named as Iripin-1, 2, 3, 4, and 8. Four of them were published in **article 2** [7].

IRS-2 extensively inhibited edema formation and the influx of neutrophils into the inflamed tissue and it primarily inhibited cathepsin G and chymase, while in higher molar excess, it affected thrombin activity as well. The inhibitory specificity was explained using the crystal structure, determined at a resolution of 1.8 Å (PDB code 3NDA). Moreover IRS-2 inhibited cathepsin G-induced and thrombin-induced platelet aggregation [7]. Later, the mechanism of activity was partially disclosed in **article 3**,

where it was shown that IRS-2 affects the differentiation of proinflammatory Th17 subset of CD4+ T cells [8].

5.6.3. Iripin-3

Iripin-3 was found to be a strong inhibitor of two serine proteases kallikrein and matriptase. In an *in vitro* setup, Iripin-3 was capable of modulating the adaptive immune response as evidenced by reduced survival of mouse splenocytes, impaired proliferation of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes, suppression of the T helper type 1 immune response, and induction of regulatory T cell differentiation. This was the first observation of such effects for an individual tick salivary protein, because Th1/Th2 immunomodulation was previously observed only for whole saliva or salivary gland extracts [1]. Apart from altering acquired immunity, Iripin-3 also inhibited the production of interleukin-6 by lipopolysaccharide-stimulated bone marrow-derived macrophages and the extrinsic blood coagulation pathway. This is the first observation of this effect for a tick serpin. In addition to its functional characterization, we presented the crystal structure of cleaved Iripin-3 at 1.95 Å resolution (PDB code 7AHP). Iripin-3 proved to be a pluripotent salivary serpin with immunomodulatory and anti-hemostatic properties that could facilitate tick feeding via the suppression of host anti-tick defenses. Above mentioned effects were described in submitted **article 4** [9]. However, physiological relevance of Iripin-3 activities observed *in vitro* needs to be supported by appropriate *in vivo* experiments.

5.6.4. Iripin-5

Iripin-5 is the most highly expressed *I. ricinus* salivary serpin. It acts as a modulator of host defense mechanisms by impairing neutrophil migration, suppressing nitric oxide production by macrophages and altering complement functions, as described in an **article 5** [10]. In addition to functional data, this work's primary aim was to describe the dynamics of the interactions between Iripin-5 and target proteases. Work was based on crystal structure of Iripin-5 in a relaxed state, a typical and thermodynamically the most stable state of serpins and docking models with target proteases. The study provided also a comparative study with other *I. ricinus* serpins with different functions. These results showed that despite very similar 3D structure, the surface electrostatic potential differed a lot, pointing at the role of allosteric interaction in determining the serpin activity. The structure was deposited in the RCSB database under the PDB code 7B2T.

5.6.5. Iripin-8

Similarly to Iripin-3 and 5, Iripin-8 displayed blood-meal induced expression, which is highest in engorged nymphs and in the salivary glands of fully fed adult females. Iripin-8 inhibited proteases involved in the coagulation and blocked intrinsic pathway of coagulation cascade *in vitro*. Moreover, Iripin-8 inhibited the lysis of erythrocytes by complement and RNA interference in tick nymphs resulted in delayed feeding time. In collaboration with Prof. James Huntington from the Cambridge University, we resolved the crystal structure of Iripin-8 at 1.89 Å resolution. The structure revealed unusually long and rigid reactive center loop that is surprisingly conserved among several tick species. The P1 Arg residue is held in place, far from the serpin body by a conserved poly-Pro element on the P' side. The conservation of the RCL of Iripin-8 is intriguing and deserves more attention, as well as its unusual shape. Moreover, cavities that are able to bind small molecules, such as PEG from the crystallization buffer, were found in Iripin-8, including one deep cavity. This finding can have important functional relevance. Iripin-8 was the first crystal structure of tick serpin in native state and was deposited in RCSB database under the PDB code 7PMU. To conclude, Iripin-8 is a tick serpin with conserved reactive center loop that has strong anti-hemostatic features and may interfere with host innate immunity. These findings were published in **article 6** [11].

5.6.6. Iripin-1 and iripin-4

Data on these two salivary serpins were not published yet, but the manuscripts were already submitted to impacted journals. Iripin-1 inhibited primarily trypsin and further exhibited weaker inhibitory activity against kallikrein, matriptase, and plasmin. Iripin-1 significantly attenuated the migration of neutrophils and monocytes to inflamed peritoneal cavities in the mouse model of acute peritonitis despite enhancing the production of some proinflammatory chemokines. Presumably, the Iripin-1-mediated inhibition of neutrophil and monocyte recruitment might be a result of reduced activity of proteases that can facilitate cell migration and a decrease in the expression of cell surface molecules. These molecules are involved in the firm adhesion of leukocytes to endothelial cells and can affect their subsequent transmigration through the blood vessel wall into extravascular space. Finally, the tertiary structure of native Iripin-1 at 2.10 Å resolution was determined by employing the X-ray crystallography technique (PDB code 7QTZ). In conclusion, *I. ricinus* ticks could utilize Iripin-1 to modulate the host's inflammatory response and to increase blood flow to the feeding cavity via MCP-1-triggered histamine release from mast cells and basophils. Thus, Iripin-1 is a salivary anti-inflammatory serpin that contributes to tick immunomodulation of the host.

We do not know much about the function of Iripin-4, but we succeeded in the crystallization of both native and cleaved form (PDB codes 7ZBF and 7ZAS). The native structure was solved at 2.3 Å resolution and the structure of cleaved conformation at 2.0 Å resolution. Furthermore, structural changes during reactive-center loop transition from native to cleaved conformation were observed. In addition to this finding, we confirmed that the main substrate-recognition site for the inhibitory mechanism is represented by glutamate in the position 341. The presence of glutamate instead of typical arginine at the P1 recognition site for all structurally described *I. ricinus* serpins (7B2T, 7PMU and 7AHP) except tyrosine in IRS-2 P1 site (3NDA) would explain no protease inhibition of tested trypsin-like or chymotrypsin-like proteases. The only inhibition observed was against T cell protease granzyme B. Further research on Iripin-4 should focus on thorough functional analysis, as it function can be very different from other tick serpins.

CONCLUSION

This thesis is based on 6 original research articles and 5 reviews. It focuses on tick salivary serpins and their involvement in the host immunomodulation, but presents also broader picture of tick-host interaction and the research of tick salivary secretion in general. The thesis shows, how the high-throughput approach is employed in this research and how it can be combined efficiently with reverse genetic approach, in which the gene is known and its function is being disclosed by various experiments with recombinant protein. The research of tick salivary serpins presents them as pluripotent immunomodulators, anti-hemostatic and anti-inflammatory effectors and inhibitors of various host proteases and defense mechanisms.

LIST OF REFERENCES:

- 1. Kotál, J., et al., *Modulation of host immunity by tick saliva.* Journal of Proteomics, 2015. **128**: p. 58-68.
- 2. Chmelař, J., et al., *All For One and One For All on the Tick-Host Battlefield.* Trends in Parasitology, 2016. **32**(5): p. 368-377.
- 3. Chmelař, J., et al., Insight into the sialome of the castor bean tick, Ixodes ricinus. BMC Genomics, 2008. **9**.
- 4. Chmelař, J., et al., *Sialomes and Mialomes: A Systems-Biology View of Tick Tissues and Tick-Host Interactions.* Trends in Parasitology, 2016. **32**(3): p. 242-254.
- 5. Chmelař, J., et al., *Protease inhibitors in tick saliva: The role of serpins and cystatins in tickhost-pathogen interaction.* Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology, 2017. **7**(MAY).
- 6. Abbas, M.N., et al., *Serpins in Tick Physiology and Tick-Host Interaction*. Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 2022. **12**: p. 892770.
- 7. Chmelar, J., et al., A tick salivary protein targets cathepsin G and chymase and inhibits host inflammation and platelet aggregation. Blood, 2011. **117**(2): p. 736-744.
- Páleníková, J., et al., *Ixodes ricinus salivary serpin IRS-2 affects Th17 differentiation via inhibition of the interleukin-6/STAT-3 signaling pathway.* Infection and Immunity, 2015. 83(5): p. 1949-1956.
- 9. Chlastáková, A., et al., Iripin-3, a New Salivary Protein Isolated From Ixodes ricinus Ticks, Displays Immunomodulatory and Anti-Hemostatic Properties In Vitro. Frontiers in Immunology, 2021. **12**.
- 10. Kascakova, B., et al., *Structural and biochemical characterization of the novel serpin Iripin-5 from Ixodes ricinus.* Acta Crystallographica Section D: Structural Biology, 2021. **77**: p. 1183-1196.
- 11. Kotál, J., et al., *Ixodes ricinus salivary serpin iripin-8 inhibits the intrinsic pathway of coagulation and complement.* International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 2021. **22**(17).
- 12. Sonenshine, D.E. and R.M. Roe, *Biology of ticks*. 2nd ed. 2014, New York: Oxford University Press.
- 13. Mans, B.J. and A.W. Neitz, *Adaptation of ticks to a blood-feeding environment: evolution from a functional perspective.* Insect Biochem Mol Biol, 2004. **34**(1): p. 1-17.
- 14. Wikel, S.K., *Tick-host-pathogen systems immunobiology: an interactive trio.* Front Biosci (Landmark Ed), 2018. **23**(2): p. 265-283.
- 15. Kazimirova, M. and I. Stibraniova, *Tick salivary compounds: their role in modulation of host defences and pathogen transmission.* Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 2013. **3**: p. 43.
- 16. Simo, L., et al., *The Essential Role of Tick Salivary Glands and Saliva in Tick Feeding and Pathogen Transmission.* Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 2017. **7**: p. 281.
- 17. Ali, A., et al., *Host Immune Responses to Salivary Components A Critical Facet of Tick-Host Interactions.* Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 2022. **12**: p. 809052.
- Francischetti, I.M., et al., *The role of saliva in tick feeding*. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed), 2009.
 14(6): p. 2051-88.
- 19. Blanco, A. and G. Blanco, *Chapter 31 Hemostasis*, in *Medical Biochemistry*, A. Blanco and G. Blanco, Editors. 2017, Academic Press. p. 781-789.
- 20. Massberg, S., et al., *Reciprocal coupling of coagulation and innate immunity via neutrophil serine proteases.* Nat Med, 2010. **16**(8): p. 887-96.
- 21. Semple, J.W., J.E. Italiano, Jr., and J. Freedman, *Platelets and the immune continuum*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2011. **11**(4): p. 264-74.
- 22. Medzhitov, R., *Inflammation 2010: new adventures of an old flame*. Cell, 2010. **140**(6): p. 771-6.
- 23. Brossard, M. and S.K. Wikel, *Tick immunobiology*. Parasitology, 2004. **129 Suppl**: p. S161-76.

- 24. Chmelar, J., et al., *Tick salivary secretion as a source of antihemostatics*. Journal of Proteomics, 2012. **75**(13): p. 3842-3854.
- 25. Stibraniova, I., et al., *Deciphering Biological Processes at the Tick-Host Interface Opens New Strategies for Treatment of Human Diseases.* Front Physiol, 2019. **10**: p. 830.
- 26. Wikel, S., Ticks and tick-borne pathogens at the cutaneous interface: host defenses, tick countermeasures, and a suitable environment for pathogen establishment. Front Microbiol, 2013. **4**: p. 337.
- 27. Sambrano, G.R., et al., *Cathepsin G activates protease-activated receptor-4 in human platelets.* J Biol Chem, 2000. **275**(10): p. 6819-23.
- 28. Pham, C.T., *Neutrophil serine proteases: specific regulators of inflammation.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2006. **6**(7): p. 541-50.
- 29. Galli, S.J., et al., *Mast cells and IgE in defense against venoms: Possible "good side" of allergy?* Allergol Int, 2016. **65**(1): p. 3-15.
- 30. Karasuyama, H., K. Miyake, and S. Yoshikawa, *Immunobiology of Acquired Resistance to Ticks*. Front Immunol, 2020. **11**: p. 601504.
- 31. Karasuyama, H., et al., *Crucial Role for Basophils in Acquired Protective Immunity to Tick Infestation.* Front Physiol, 2018. **9**: p. 1769.
- 32. Yoshikawa, S., et al., *The role of basophils in acquired protective immunity to tick infestation*. Parasite Immunol, 2021. **43**(5): p. e12804.
- 33. Tabakawa, Y., et al., *Histamine Released From Skin-Infiltrating Basophils but Not Mast Cells Is Crucial for Acquired Tick Resistance in Mice.* Front Immunol, 2018. **9**: p. 1540.
- 34. Pejler, G., *Novel Insight into the in vivo Function of Mast Cell Chymase: Lessons from Knockouts and Inhibitors.* J Innate Immun, 2020. **12**(5): p. 357-372.
- 35. Fu, Z., et al., Mast Cells and Basophils in the Defense against Ectoparasites: Efficient Degradation of Parasite Anticoagulants by the Connective Tissue Mast Cell Chymases. Int J Mol Sci, 2021. **22**(23).
- 36. Cua, D.J. and C.M. Tato, *Innate IL-17-producing cells: the sentinels of the immune system.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2010. **10**(7): p. 479-89.
- 37. Xu, H., L. Timares, and C.A. Elmets, *18 Host defenses in the skin*, in *Clinical Immunology (Fourth Edition)*, R.R. Rich, et al., Editors. 2013, Elsevier: London. p. 228-238.
- 38. Whibley, N., A. Tucci, and F. Powrie, *Regulatory T cell adaptation in the intestine and skin.* Nat Immunol, 2019. **20**(4): p. 386-396.
- 39. Ribeiro, J.M., *Ixodes dammini: salivary anti-complement activity.* Exp Parasitol, 1987. **64**(3): p. 347-53.
- 40. Ribeiro, J.M., et al., *Antihemostatic, antiinflammatory, and immunosuppressive properties of the saliva of a tick, Ixodes dammini.* J Exp Med, 1985. **161**(2): p. 332-44.
- 41. Ribeiro, J.M. and A. Spielman, *Ixodes dammini: salivary anaphylatoxin inactivating activity.* Exp Parasitol, 1986. **62**(2): p. 292-7.
- 42. Mans, B.J., et al., *Gene Duplication and Protein Evolution in Tick-Host Interactions*. Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 2017. **7**: p. 413.
- 43. Valenzuela, J.G., et al., *Exploring the sialome of the tick Ixodes scapularis*. J Exp Biol, 2002. **205**(Pt 18): p. 2843-64.
- 44. Valenzuela, J.G., et al., *Toward a description of the sialome of the adult female mosquito Aedes aegypti.* Insect Biochem Mol Biol, 2002. **32**(9): p. 1101-22.
- 45. Wang, X., et al., *Genetic diversity of Salp15 in the Ixodes ricinus complex (Acari: Ixodidae)*. PLoS One, 2014. **9**(4): p. e94131.
- 46. Bensaoud, C., M. Hackenberg, and M. Kotsyfakis, *Noncoding RNAs in Parasite-Vector-Host Interactions.* Trends Parasitol, 2019. **35**(9): p. 715-724.
- 47. Hackenberg, M., et al., *In silico target network analysis of de novo-discovered, tick saliva-specific microRNAs reveals important combinatorial effects in their interference with vertebrate host physiology.* RNA, 2017. **23**(8): p. 1259-1269.

- 48. Kotsyfakis, M., et al., *Tissue- and time-dependent transcription in Ixodes ricinus salivary glands and midguts when blood feeding on the vertebrate host.* Sci Rep, 2015. **5**: p. 9103.
- 49. Schwarz, A., et al., *De novo Ixodes ricinus salivary gland transcriptome analysis using two nextgeneration sequencing methodologies.* FASEB J, 2013. **27**(12): p. 4745-56.
- 50. Mans, B.J., *Evolution of Vertebrate Hemostatic and Inflammatory Control Mechanisms in Blood-Feeding Arthropods.* Journal of Innate Immunity, 2011. **3**(1): p. 41-51.
- 51. Rawlings, N.D., D.P. Tolle, and A.J. Barrett, *Evolutionary families of peptidase inhibitors*. Biochem J, 2004. **378**(Pt 3): p. 705-16.
- 52. Vandooren, J. and Y. Itoh, *Alpha-2-Macroglobulin in Inflammation, Immunity and Infections.* Frontiers in Immunology, 2021. **12**.
- 53. Perner, J., et al., *The Central Role of Salivary Metalloproteases in Host Acquired Resistance to Tick Feeding.* Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology, 2020. **10**.
- 54. Campden, R.I. and Y. Zhang, *The role of lysosomal cysteine cathepsins in NLRP3 inflammasome activation*. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 2019. **670**: p. 32-42.
- 55. Turk, V. and W. Bode, *The cystatins: protein inhibitors of cysteine proteinases*. FEBS Lett, 1991. **285**(2): p. 213-9.
- 56. Schwarz, A., J.J. Valdés, and M. Kotsyfakis, *The role of cystatins in tick physiology and blood feeding*. Ticks and Tick-borne Diseases, 2012. **3**(3): p. 117-127.
- 57. Lieskovska, J., et al., *Tick salivary cystatin sialostatin L2 suppresses IFN responses in mouse dendritic cells.* Parasite Immunol, 2015. **37**(2): p. 70-8.
- 58. Kotsyfakis, M., et al., *Antiinflammatory and immunosuppressive activity of sialostatin L, a salivary cystatin from the tick Ixodes scapularis.* J Biol Chem, 2006. **281**(36): p. 26298-307.
- 59. Sa-Nunes, A., et al., *The immunomodulatory action of sialostatin L on dendritic cells reveals its potential to interfere with autoimmunity*. J Immunol, 2009. **182**(12): p. 7422-9.
- Kotál, J., et al., Mialostatin, a novel midgut cystatin from ixodes ricinus ticks: Crystal structure and regulation of host blood digestion. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 2021.
 22(10).
- 61. Kotál, J., et al., *The structure and function of Iristatin, a novel immunosuppressive tick salivary cystatin*. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 2019. **76**(10): p. 2003-2013.
- 62. Patel, S., A critical review on serine protease: Key immune manipulator and pathology mediator. Allergologia et Immunopathologia, 2017. **45**(6): p. 579-591.
- 63. Schwarz, A., et al., Understanding the evolutionary structural variability and target specificity of tick salivary Kunitz peptides using next generation transcriptome data. BMC Evolutionary Biology, 2014. **14**(1): p. 4.
- 64. Blisnick, A.A., T. Foulon, and S.I. Bonnet, *Serine Protease Inhibitors in Ticks: An Overview of Their Role in Tick Biology and Tick-Borne Pathogen Transmission*. Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 2017. **7**: p. 199.
- 65. Fry, B.G., et al., *The Toxicogenomic Multiverse: Convergent Recruitment of Proteins Into Animal Venoms.* Annual Review of Genomics and Human Genetics, 2009. **10**(1): p. 483-511.
- 66. Francischetti, I.M., et al., *Ixolaris, a novel recombinant tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI)* from the salivary gland of the tick, *Ixodes scapularis: identification of factor X and factor Xa as scaffolds for the inhibition of factor VIIa/tissue factor complex.* Blood, 2002. **99**(10): p. 3602-12.
- 67. Lehmann, A., *Ecallantide (DX-88), a plasma kallikrein inhibitor for the treatment of hereditary angioedema and the prevention of blood loss in on-pump cardiothoracic surgery.* Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy, 2008. **8**(8): p. 1187-1199.
- 68. Irving, J.A., et al., *Phylogeny of the serpin superfamily: implications of patterns of amino acid conservation for structure and function.* Genome Res, 2000. **10**(12): p. 1845-64.
- 69. Spence, M.A., et al., *A Comprehensive Phylogenetic Analysis of the Serpin Superfamily*. Mol Biol Evol, 2021. **38**(7): p. 2915-2929.
- 70. Kumar, S., et al., *MEGA X: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis across Computing Platforms.* Mol Biol Evol, 2018. **35**(6): p. 1547-1549.

- Huntington, J.A., Serpin structure, function and dysfunction. J Thromb Haemost, 2011. 9 Suppl 1: p. 26-34.
- 72. Khan, M.S., et al., *Serpin Inhibition Mechanism: A Delicate Balance between Native Metastable State and Polymerization.* J Amino Acids, 2011. **2011**: p. 606797.
- 73. Huntington, J.A. and R.W. Carrell, *The Serpins: Nature's Molecular Mousetraps.* Science Progress, 2001. **84**(2): p. 125-136.
- 74. Li, M., et al., *The Manduca sexta serpinome: Analysis of serpin genes and proteins in the tobacco hornworm.* Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, 2018. **102**: p. 21-30.
- 75. Zhou, A., et al., *Structural mechanism for the carriage and release of thyroxine in the blood.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2006. **103**(36): p. 13321-6.
- 76. Zhou, A., et al., *The S-to-R transition of corticosteroid-binding globulin and the mechanism of hormone release*. J Mol Biol, 2008. **380**(1): p. 244-51.
- 77. Lucas, A., et al., *Overview of Serpins and Their Roles in Biological Systems*. Methods Mol Biol, 2018. **1826**: p. 1-7.
- 78. Heit, C., et al., *Update of the human and mouse SERPINgene superfamily*. Human Genomics, 2013. **7**(1): p. 22.
- 79. de Maat, S., et al., Design and characterization of α 1-antitrypsin variants for treatment of contact system–driven thromboinflammation. Blood, 2019. **134**(19): p. 1658-1669.
- 80. Lomas, D.A., J.R. Hurst, and B. Gooptu, *Update on alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency: New therapies.* Journal of Hepatology, 2016. **65**(2): p. 413-424.
- 81. Ishiguro, K., et al., *Complete antithrombin deficiency in mice results in embryonic lethality*. J Clin Invest, 2000. **106**(7): p. 873-8.
- 82. Aihara, K., et al., *Strain-dependent embryonic lethality and exaggerated vascular remodeling in heparin cofactor II-deficient mice.* J Clin Invest, 2007. **117**(6): p. 1514-26.
- 83. Tanimoto, K., et al., Angiotensinogen-deficient mice with hypotension. J Biol Chem, 1994. **269**(50): p. 31334-7.
- 84. Law, R.H.P., et al., An overview of the serpin superfamily. Genome Biology, 2006. 7(5): p. 216.
- 85. Levashina Elena, A., et al., *Constitutive Activation of Toll-Mediated Antifungal Defense in Serpin-Deficient Drosophila*. Science, 1999. **285**(5435): p. 1917-1919.
- 86. Ligoxygakis, P., S. Roth, and J.-M. Reichhart, *A Serpin Regulates Dorsal-Ventral Axis Formation in the Drosophila Embryo.* Current Biology, 2003. **13**(23): p. 2097-2102.
- 87. Dushay, M.S., *Insect hemolymph clotting.* Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 2009. **66**(16): p. 2643-2650.
- 88. Leboulle, G., et al., *Characterization of a novel salivary immunosuppressive protein from Ixodes ricinus ticks.* J Biol Chem, 2002. **277**(12): p. 10083-9.
- 89. Leboulle, G., et al., *Isolation of Ixodes ricinus salivary gland mRNA encoding factors induced during blood feeding*. The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene, 2002. **66**(3): p. 225-233.
- 90. Prevot, P.-P., et al., *Anti-hemostatic Effects of a Serpin from the Saliva of the Tick Ixodes ricinus**. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2006. **281**(36): p. 26361-26369.
- 91. Prevot, P.P., et al., *Exosites mediate the anti-inflammatory effects of a multifunctional serpin from the saliva of the tick Ixodes ricinus.* FEBS J, 2009. **276**(12): p. 3235-46.
- 92. Prevot, P.P., et al., *Protective immunity against Ixodes ricinus induced by a salivary serpin.* Vaccine, 2007. **25**(17): p. 3284-92.

SUBMITTED ORIGINAL RESEARCH ARTICLES AND REVIEWS

Article 1

Insight into the sialome of the castor bean tick, Ixodes ricinus

Chmelar J, Anderson JM, Mu J, Jochim RC, Valenzuela JG, Kopecký J.

BMC Genomics. 2008 May 20;9:233.

doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-9-233

In this transcriptomic work, a foundation for further study of *I. ricinus* salivary secretion was built. Total of four cDNA libraries were produced from adult female ticks in different stages of the feeding cycle (unfed, one, four and seven days after attachment). 576 clones, randomely picked from phage libraries, were sequenced for each library, resulting in 2304 of sequences, out of which 1881 were considered as high quality and were further analysed by in house custom cDNA library annotation tools, developed by Prof. José Ribeiro in NIAID/NIH. Total of 1274 clusters, i.e. unique sequences were identified and annotated. It was found that there is significant upregulation in the expression of secreted proteins. These proteins were clustered in multigene families with tens of individual members. Major groups were described, including Basic tail secreted proteins with anti-platelet and anti-coagulant functions, Kunitz-domain protease inhibitors, Salp-15 group, lipocalins and other groups that were later functionally characterized. On the family of collagen like secreted proteins (CLSP), we showed sequential secretion of individual members of the same multigene family. This inspired an idea of salivary proteins redundancy and an evasion from host immune system by switching antigens, which was later described in review 2.

This work was the first high-throughput study performed on *Ixodes ricinus*, a European vector of medically important pathogens. Obtained transcriptomic data and cDNA libraries were later used for more detailed studies on individual proteins or multigene families, as the sequences served as templates for designing primers to clone full length transcripts. Whole study was performed before next generation sequencing was introduced, therefore by Sanger sequencing. This resulted in lower number of longer sequences.

Author's contribution:

Author designed and performed all experiments, analyzed the data and wrote a manuscript

Research article

Open Access

Insight into the sialome of the castor bean tick, Ixodes ricinus Jindřich Chmelař^{*1,3}, Jennifer M Anderson², Jianbing Mu², Ryan C Jochim², Jesus G Valenzuela² and Jan Kopecký³

Address: ¹Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, České Budějovice, Czech Republic, ²Vector Molecular Biology Unit, Laboratory of Malaria and Vector Research, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health, Rockville, Maryland, USA and ³Biology Centre of the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, v.v.i., České Budějovice, Czech Republic

Email: Jindřich Chmelař* - chmelar@paru.cas.cz; Jennifer M Anderson - jenanderson@niaid.nih.gov; Jianbing Mu - jmu@niaid.nih.gov; Ryan C Jochim - rjochim@niaid.nih.gov; Jesus G Valenzuela - jvalenzuela@niaid.nih.gov; Jan Kopecký - jan@paru.cas.cz

* Corresponding author

Published: 20 May 2008

BMC Genomics 2008, 9:233 doi:10.1186/1471-2164-9-233

This article is available from: http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2164/9/233

© 2008 Chmelař et al; licensee BioMed Central Ltd.

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (<u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0</u>), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Received: 13 February 2008 Accepted: 20 May 2008

Abstract

Background: In recent years, there have been several sialome projects revealing transcripts expressed in the salivary glands of ticks, which are important vectors of several human diseases. Here, we focused on the sialome of the European vector of Lyme disease, *lxodes ricinus*.

Results: In the attempt to describe expressed genes and their dynamics throughout the feeding period, we constructed cDNA libraries from four different feeding stages of *lxodes ricinus* females: unfed, 24 hours after attachment, four (partially fed) and seven days (fully engorged) after attachment. Approximately 600 randomly selected clones from each cDNA library were sequenced and analyzed. From a total 2304 sequenced clones, 1881 sequences forming 1274 clusters underwent subsequent functional analysis using customized bioinformatics software. Clusters were sorted according to their predicted function and quantitative comparison among the four libraries was made. We found several groups of over-expressed genes associated with feeding that posses a secretion signal and may be involved in tick attachment, feeding or evading the host immune system. Many transcripts clustered into families of related genes with stage-specific expression. Comparison to *lxodes scapularis* and *l. pacificus* transcripts was made.

Conclusion: In addition to a large number of homologues of the known transcripts, we obtained several novel predicted protein sequences. Our work contributes to the growing list of proteins associated with tick feeding and sheds more light on the dynamics of the gene expression during tick feeding. Additionally, our results corroborate previous evidence of gene duplication in the evolution of ticks.

Background

Hard ticks (family Ixodidae) are well known ecto-parasites of vertebrates, with worldwide distribution and high medical importance due to their extraordinary ability to transmit various disease agents. Among hard ticks, the genus *Ixodes* is one of the most important vectors of human diseases. Lyme borreliosis, human granulocytic anaplasmosis (ehrlichiosis) and babesiosis are the main diseases transmitted by *I. scapularis* and *I. pacificus* in North America. In addition to these diseases, *Ixodes ricinus* in Europe and *Ixodes persulcatus* in Asia transmit tickborne encephalitis (TBE). An increase of TBE-virus (Flaviviridae) prevalence among *I. ricinus* ticks in middle Europe has been recorded during the last few decades and the findings of *I. ricinus* at higher altitudes (above 1000 m) suggest that it is spreading to new areas, which correlates with the spread of human TBE cases [1]. Ticks and tick-borne diseases are becoming a more important health issue and detailed knowledge of the interactions among the tick, host and pathogen is crucial for understanding the mechanisms of pathogen transmission. The knowledge of saliva components is the basis for further understanding of these interactions.

Tick saliva is a powerful mixture of hundreds of different proteins and other pharmacologically active molecules. The effects of tick saliva or SGE (salivary gland extract) on the host are well described in several reviews [2-4]. Hard ticks require an array of molecules to evade the host haemostatic and immune systems and for successful completion of feeding, which usually lasts for 7-9 days for I. ricinus. Tick saliva is able to inhibit all three components of the host haemostatic system: blood coagulation, platelet aggregation and vasoconstriction [3,5]. The innate immune response is altered by the impaired activation of complement, resulting in a decrease in chemokine production and subsequent inhibition of inflammation. Acquired immunity is affected as well; in vitro experiments showed the inhibition of T-cell proliferation after incubation with Ixodes ricinus saliva [6]. Salivary gland extract alters the production of many cytokines by immunologically responsive cells leading to immunosuppression [7]. The changes in the expression profile of different cytokines indicate a polarization from Th1 toward the Th2 branch of the immune response, which could be a disease-determining factor for tick-borne pathogens [8]. During the late eighties, it was discovered that tick saliva is able to facilitate the transmission of viruses to the host and to another co-feeding tick [9]. This phenomenon was called saliva activated transmission (SAT) and has since been revealed for additional pathogens such as Borrelia spp. [10].

During the past decade, there has been great progress toward the description of particular molecules responsible for the host immunomodulation. It was shown that tick saliva contains various protease inhibitors with anticoagulant activity [11-13], as well as anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive activity [14,15]. Anti-inflammatory activity is a result of several pharmacologically active molecules, including prostaglandins [16,17], apyrase [18] and histamine-binding proteins belonging to the lipocalin family [19,20]. Additionally, immunosuppressive protein Salp15 was identified from *Ixodes* scapularis [21]. Moreover, Salp15 was identified as saliva activated transmission (SAT) factor that facilitates the establishment of *Borrelia burgdorferi* in the mammalian host [22]. Among other proteins, tick saliva contains a metalloprotease with fibrinolytic activity, involved in extracellular matrix remodeling [23], a group of anti-complement proteins [24,25] and an IL-2-binding protein [26]. Many of these proteins were discovered using a high-throughput approach [27] that opened a vast new area for tick research and helped reveal a large number of novel proteins with completely unknown function, as well as many homologous proteins. From this point of view, tick saliva is a rich source of medical compounds. As an example, the immunosuppressive tick salivary protein Salp 15 was shown to suppress the development of experimental asthma in mice [28] and, as an immunosuppressor, Salp 15 is believed to become useful during allogenic transplantation [29].

This work augments the existing knowledge of tick sialomes. High-throughput studies of tick salivary glands have been completed for several ticks, such as American species *I. scapularis, I. pacificus* and *Dermacentor andersoni* [30-33] or tropical tick *Amblyomma variegatum* [34]. This is the first high-throughput work on the European tick *Ixodes ricinus,* which is the most important disease vector in Europe. In this study, four cDNA libraries from salivary glands were constructed and 576 EST were sequenced and analyzed per library, resulting in a total of 2304 EST. The four libraries cover the main phases of an adult female tick feeding period: 1) unfed tick, 2) early phase of feeding (24 hours after attachment), 3) middle phase of feeding (4 days after attachment) and 4) late phase of feeding engorged tick (7 days after attachment).

Although many proteins that we identified were already known from *I. scapularis* and *I. pacificus*, several novel putative proteins were discovered. Moreover, analysis of mRNAs expressed at four points in the blood meal enables us to gain insight into the dynamics of tick feeding, and indirectly sheds light on the evolution of tick genes and genome composition.

Results

Characterization of data

Four different salivary gland cDNA libraries from *I. ricinus* females were analyzed in this work. The following feeding stages were used for mRNA isolation: Unfed (IRUF), 24 hours after attachment (IR24H), four days (IR4D) and seven days (IR7D) after attachment to the host. From the total of 2304 sequenced EST, 1881 were considered of high quality (less than 5% of undetermined base calls, phred quality \geq 20, at least 80 bases not including poly A). The length of analyzed sequences (after removal of vector sequence) ranged between 84 and 1253 bp with average length of 503 bp. The sequences were clustered and aligned resulting in 1274 clusters comprising 268 contigs with two or more sequences and 1006 singletons. The

high proportion of singletons is due to stringent analysis conditions rather than under-sampling; however, a larger dataset would be beneficial for statistic analysis. BLAST search was done for the consensus of each contig or singleton against the set of databases (NR, GO, KOG, CDD, Pfam, Smart, ACARI, rRNA and mitochondrial). The bioinformatic analysis was combined into a single Excel table where the clusters were manually annotated and sorted into functionally related groups based on the BLAST results from the various databases. Out of 1881 sequenced EST, approximately 30% (550) were identified as housekeeping genes due to a functional prediction and/or intracellular localization, and 32% (583) of ESTs contained a predicted signal for secretion from the cell suggesting their function in saliva (group of secreted genes). Several ESTs were 5' truncated, which restricted prediction by the SignalP server, yet had high similarity to secreted proteins on GenBank and were grouped with secreted genes. Fortynine ESTs compiled in 37 clusters (3%) contained proteins that are conserved among different organisms but lack any functional prediction and were named 'unknown conserved'. The last largest group comprises 658 unknown transcripts (35%) without a predicted signal peptide and with no match to any database. There are three main reasons for such a high amount of unknowns and all of them probably participate in the resulting number: 1) Sequences contain only 5' untranslated region, 2) Truncated cDNA was cloned into the vector and only the part of 3' non-coding region was sequenced, and 3) Tick salivary glands contain many unknown and unique proteins with no similarity throughout all organ-

isms. The group of unknowns was sorted for illustration between two groups, in accordance with the length of the open-reading frame; the threshold for the division was decided at the length 100 bp. Putative proteins similar to reverse transcriptases or transposases were classified as a single group. Although the protocol for cDNA library construction is designed for elimination of other than messenger-type of RNA, several ribosomal RNAs were sequenced, which is due to AT-rich profile of such transcripts. Main data characteristics are summarized and visualized in Figure 1.

Distribution of transcripts among libraries

All libraries contain a similar number of high-quality sequences ranging from 432 for IR7D to 492 for IR4D. Figure 2 shows the distribution of the main groups among all libraries. The distribution of different gene types varies markedly. There is a large increase in the expression of secreted proteins between IRUF and IR24H libraries, while in IR4D and IR7D the ratio of secreted proteins decreases. This trend results from the distribution of the three most abundant families of secreted proteins: Collagen-Like Secreted Proteins (CLSP), Basic Tail Secreted Proteins (BTSP) and proteins containing Kunitz domains (Kunitz). These three groups represent only 1.7% of all transcripts in IRUF, but 37.6% in IR24H, 20.6% in IR4D and 17.1% in IR7D library. We can assume that during the early phase of feeding, the tick utilizes a large amount of energy for the production of proteins that enable it to feed successfully despite the host defense system. During the first few days after attachment, it is mainly innate defense



Figure I

Representation of the main transcript types. Obtained ESTs were sorted into 6 main groups. Their representation in the obtained dataset is shown in Figure 1. Values represent EST number/% of EST.





that the tick has to fight against in a naïve host, and all three groups mentioned above could be involved in antihaemostatic activity. During the later phases of feeding, the tick starts to digest and process the ingested meal while the site of attachment is already full of pharmacologically active molecules. The slight increase in production of housekeeping genes in the last two stages of feeding is in accordance with the need for higher metabolic activity during rapid growth of the salivary glands. However, at least two groups of secreted proteins appear to be produced in later phases of feeding. Histaminebinding proteins (HBP) and 4.9 kDa proteins are significantly overrepresented in the IR7D library (Table 3). The function of the 4.9 kDa group is completely unknown but HBP are known for their anti-inflammatory activity.

Quite interestingly, 66.8% (323 out of 483 EST) of the unknown proteins are present in the IRUF library. The reason could be the lack of data from unfed tick salivary glands as only cDNA libraries from unfed Argas monolakensis and Amblyomma americanum were published to date in the GenBank. The lack of a signal peptide in full-length clones suggests housekeeping function of these peptides. In order to identify proteins up-regulated by feeding, a comparison of the four libraries was conducted. Only 38 contigs out of 1274 contain five or more ESTs, the threshold for statistical evaluation (Table 1); therefore, we conducted statistical analysis on both individual contigs and whole classes of peptides. While housekeeping genes were sorted into functional categories, classification of secreted proteins was based on their primary structure similarity because exact function is not usually known. The distribution and statistic evaluation of both housekeeping and secreted proteins are shown in Table 2 (housekeeping) and Table 3 (secreted). Accession numbers for the Gen-Bank EST database in the following sections always represent the largest clone of each mentioned contig. All additional sequences, assembled contigs and other data from the analysis can be downloaded [see Additional file 1].

Housekeeping genes

The group of housekeeping genes was divided among more detailed functional subgroups. The subgroups comprise a large number of diverse proteins with diverse intracellular functions (Table 2). As expected, proteins involved in energetic and nutrient metabolism, such as compounds of the respiratory chain, various ATPase subunits or enzymes participating in the metabolism of carbohydrates, amino acids and lipids, are well represented in the dataset, comprising 217 out of a total 1881 ESTs (11.5%). Their expression increases during feeding, probably due to higher metabolic requirements during digestion of the blood meal (Table 2). For the sake of simplification six proteins were compiled together in a group labeled metabolism. The group (metabolism) includes proteins with various metabolic roles. There are two proteins involved in defense and detoxification. Two ESTs coding for dopachrome-tautomerase, the key enzyme in the process of melanization [35] were detected in the IR4D library (Contig 259, EY199700). Another protein, possibly involved in detoxification, is a peptide similar to nicotinamide N-methyltransferase and is represented by only one EST in IR7D library (Contig 946,

Table I: Contigs with more than 5 ESTs and their distribution among the four libraries

					IRUF		IR24H			IR4D			IR7D		
						Þ			Þ			Þ			Þ
Contig	Comments	Class	EST	obs	ехр	IRUF/IR24H	obs	exp	IR24H/IR4D	obs	ехр	IR4D/IR7D	obs	ехр	ALL
83	cytochrome oxidase 3	h/meten	23	I	5.91	0.004	I	6.02	0.001	12	5.80	0.002	9	5.28	0.000
78	cytochrome oxidase subunit 1	h/meten	22	0	5.65	0.004	2	5.75	0.060	8	5.54	0.001	12	5.05	0.000
88	cytochrome c oxidase subunit II	h/meten	17	6	4.37	0.070	Ι	4.45	0.101	4	4.28	0.285	6	3.90	0.215
89	ATP synthase F0 subunit 6	h/meten	16	Т	4.11	0.062	2	4.19	0.241	5	4.03	0.021	8	3.67	0.031
41	collagen-like secreted protein	s/CLSP	14	0	3.59	0.000	10	3.66	0.000	I	3.53	0.177	3	3.22	0.001
106	elongation factor-lalpha	h/ps	14	3	3.59	0.719	4	3.66	0.184	6	3.53	0.071	1	3.22	0.332
46	collagen-like secreted protein	s/CLSP	12	0	3.08	0.000	11	3.14	0.000	I	3.02	0.043	0	2.76	0.000
87	16S mitochondrial RNA	rRNA	12	3	3.08	0.519	2	3.14	0.192	5	3.02	0.221	2	2.76	0.588
117	Monolaris II group	s/Kunitz	11	0	2.82	0.000	11	2.88	0.000	0	2.77	0.021	0	2.53	0.000
49	collagen-like secreted protein	s/CLSP	П	0	2.82	0.036	5	2.88	0.208	3	2.77	0.743	3	2.53	0.210
116	putative 19 kDa secreted protein	s/19	10	0	2.57	0.000	10	2.62	0.000	0	2.52	0.028	0	2.30	0.000
66	basic tail secreted protein	s/BTSP	10	0	2.57	0.029	5	2.62	0.131	2	2.52	0.570	3	2.30	0.165
56	collagen-like secreted protein	s/CLSP	8	0	2.05	0.042	0	2.09	0.000	8	2.02	0.000	0	1.84	0.000
42	collagen-like secreted protein	s/CLSP	8	0	2.05	0.042	0	2.09	0.148	2	2.02	0.002	6	1.84	0.003
23	collagen-like secreted protein	s/CLSP	7	0	1.80	0.057	0	1.83	0.058	0	1.76	0.000	7	1.61	0.000
48	collagen-like secreted protein	s/CLSP	7	0	1.80	0.000	7	1.83	0.000	0	1.76	0.066	0	1.61	0.000
63	basic tail secreted protein	s/BTSP	7	0	1.80	0.001	6	1.83	0.002	I.	1.76	0.164	0	1.61	0.004
68	basic tail secreted protein	s/BTSP	7	0	1.80	0.001	6	1.83	0.002	I.	1.76	0.164	0	1.61	0.004
118	cytochrome b	h/meten	7	0	1.80	0.178	2	1.83	0.182	0	1.76	0.003	5	1.61	0.013
85	16S mitochondrial RNA	rRNA	7	I	1.80	0.294	3	1.83	0.204	3	1.76	0.116	0	1.61	0.310
130	60S ribosomal protein L22	h/psrp	7	3	1.80	0.365	2	1.83	0.182	0	1.76	0.173	2	1.61	0.442
14	collagen-like secreted protein	s/CLSP	6	0	1.54	0.078	0	1.57	0.000	6	1.51	0.000	0	1.38	0.000
134	60S ribosomal protein L3	h/psrp	6	6	1.54	0.000	0	1.57	0.079	0	1.51	0.089	0	1.38	0.001
13	collagen-like secreted protein	s/CLSP	6	0	1.54	0.003	5	1.57	0.003	0	1.51	0.204	T	1.38	0.014
5	collagen-like secreted protein	s/CLSP	6	0	1.54	0.078	0	1.57	0.189	2	1.51	0.023	4	1.38	0.041
133	40s ribosomal protein S27	h/psrp	6	4	1.54	0.019	0	1.57	0.189	2	1.51	0.215	0	1.38	0.070
159	5.3 kDa secreted protein	s/4.9	5	0	1.28	0.107	0	1.31	0.109	0	1.26	0.000	5	1.15	0.001
64	basic tail secreted protein	s/BTSP	5	0	1.28	0.001	5	1.31	0.001	0	1.26	0.121	0	1.15	0.003
7	collagen-like secreted protein	s/CLSP	5	0	1.28	0.001	5	1.31	0.001	0	1.26	0.121	0	1.15	0.003
137	NADH dehydrogenase 3	h/meten	5	0	1.28	0.244	1	1.31	0.248	0	1.26	0.004	4	1.15	0.021
24	collagen-like secreted protein	s/CLSP	5	0	1.28	0.244	Ι	1.31	0.014	4	1.26	0.008	0	1.15	0.037
158	basic tail secreted protein	s/BTSP	5	2	1.28	0.191	0	1.31	0.054	3	1.26	0.059	0	1.15	0.153
50	collagen-like secreted protein	s/CLSP	5	0	1.28	0.199	2	1.31	0.096	3	1.26	0.059	0	1.15	0.157
142	Monolaris II group	s/Kunitz	5	0	1.28	0.199	2	1.31	0.096	3	1.26	0.059	0	1.15	0.157
157	60S ribosomal protein L7A	h/psrp	5	3	1.28	0.058	0	1.31	0.187	2	1.26	0.208	0	1.15	0.158
154	60S ribosomal protein L3 I	h/psrp	5	3	1.28	0.124	I.	1.31	0.248	0	1.26	0.258	1	1.15	0.301
151	40S ribosomal protein S12	h/psrp	5	2	1.28	0.492	I.	1.31	0.476	2	1.26	0.208	0	1.15	0.560
131	unknown	uk	5	2	1.28	0.382	2	1.31	0.202	0	1.26	0.258	I	1.15	0.562

P values show significance of expression difference between two libraries; P – ALL shows which contig has random and non-random distribution. Significant values ($P \le 0.05$) are marked in bold. Obs – observed, Exp – expected, h/– housekeeping, s/– secreted, 19 – 19 kDa protein, 4.9 – 4.9 kDa protein, BTSP – basic tail secreted protein, CLSP – collagen-like secreted protein, Kunitz – Kunitz domain containing protein, meten – energy metabolism, ps – proteosynthesis, psrp – proteosynthesis ribosomal protein, rRNA – ribosomal RNA, uk – unknown.

EY200443). This enzyme is engaged in N-methylation of nicotinamide and other pyridines to form pyridinium ions. Its activity is important for biotransformation of many drugs and xenobiotic compounds in humans and other mammals. Its function in ticks or other arthropods is not clear; moreover, there is no previous report of a nicotinamid N-methyltransferase in any arthropod species. Although the cDNA is truncated, the e-value (2.10⁻⁵) is convincing and BLASTp search detected a methyltransferase domain; thus we can assume that the 33% identity and 57% similarity between contig 946 and human nicotinamide N-methyltransferase (NP_006160) strongly suggest the homology between tick and human proteins. Other proteins with various metabolic activities included

IRUF				IR24H					4D		IR7D			
						Þ			Þ			Þ		
Name of group	Contigs	EST	Obs	Ехр	IRUF/IR24H	Obs	Ехр	IR24/IR4D	Obs	Ехр	IR4D/IR7D	Obs	Ехр	ALL
Metabolism energy	72	184	19	47.25	0.000	28	48.13	0.000	60	46.37	0.000	77	42.26	0.000
Protein synthesis – ribosomal proteins	82	166	49	42.63	0.293	46	43.42	0.240	49	41.83	0.005	22	38.12	0.018
Protein modification and degradation	32	36	5	9.24	0.069	13	9.42	0.222	8	9.07	0.484	10	8.27	0.275
Protein synthesis	11	27	8	6.93	0.381	5	7.06	0.252	9	6.80	0.332	5	6.20	0.630
Transcription mechanism	21	24	9	6.16	0.238	7	6.28	0.378	4	6.05	0.292	4	5.51	0.470
Signal transduction	20	20	8	5.14	0.025	1	5.23	0.058	6	5.04	0.640	5	4.59	0.151
Metabolism carbohydrates	14	17	1	4.37	0.047	2	4.45	0.001	11	4.28	0.001	3	3.90	0.002
Cytoskeleton related proteins	10	14	4	3.59	0.782	4	3.66	0.405	2	3.53	0.356	4	3.22	0.816
Intracellular trafficking mechanism	12	12	Ι	3.08	0.113	5	3.14	0.045	6	3.02	0.017	0	2.76	0.041
Nuclear structure related proteins	10	12	4	3.08	0.475	4	3.14	0.207	Ι	3.02	0.241	3	2.76	0.594
Metabolism	6	8	2	2.05	0.450	1	2.09	0.450	2	2.02	0.391	3	1.84	0.726
Metabolism – aminoacids	6	8	2	2.05	0.148	0	2.09	0.044	4	2.02	0.161	2	1.84	0.253
Metabolism – lipids	7	8	2	2.05	0.941	2	2.09	0.473	1	2.02	0.264	3	1.84	0.739
Cell Cycle	4	5	0	1.28	0.107	0	1.31	0.187	2	1.26	0.064	3	1.15	0.110
Metabolism – nucleic acids	5	5	1	1.28	0.242	0	1.31	0.054	3	1.26	0.120	1	1.15	0.284
Metabolism – ionts	4	4	I	1.03	0.306	0	1.05	0.026	3	1.01	0.028	0	0.92	0.116

Table 2: Distribution of groups of housekeeping genes among the four libraries

P values show significance of expression difference between two libraries; P – ALL shows which contig has random and non-random distribution. Significant values are ($P \le 0.05$) are marked in bold. Obs – observed, Exp – expected.

in this group are those involved in coenzyme transport and metabolism or synthesis of secondary metabolites (Contig 323, EY200796; 543, EY199519; 815, EY200185; and 825, EY200205).

The group of proteins involved in post-translational modification and protein degradation contains various heatshock proteins, proteases, subunits of proteasome machinery and glycosyltransferases, among others. Proteosynthetic proteins involved in translation, including ribosomal proteins, represent 10.3% of the total ESTs (n = 193 EST). There is a significant decrease in expression of ribosomal proteins between IR4D and IR7D. This suggests that there is a decrease in the production of salivary proteins during the final phase before detachment, which is supported by the putative expression profile of secreted proteins (Figure 2).

The group of cytoskeletal proteins is represented by actin, actin-related proteins, myosin, dynein, alpha tubulin, collagen precursor and a protein similar to microtubulebinding protein called translationally-controlled tumor protein (TCTP). TCTP functions in chromosome partitioning during the cell division [36], but it also stimulates the release of histamine by basophils [37]. Homologues of TCTP were found in other ixodid ticks and are referred to as histamine release factors (HRF). One of them was detected in the saliva of *Dermacentor variabilis*, despite the lack of a putative signal peptide. In the same work recombinant tick TCTP/HRF proved its histamine releasing features [38]. The *I. ricinus* TCTP/HRF transcript is truncated at the 5' region, but its high homology with *I. scapularis* (evalue = 7e-86), which lacks a signal peptide, suggests that the signal peptide is not present in *I. ricinus* TCTP/HRF as well. TCTP/HRF seems to be expressed constitutively and independently during feeding [39]. In light of the fact that the only transcript found in our library originates from unfed ticks (Contig 999, EY200552) and that TCTP/HRF proteins are well conserved among different organisms, we can assume that the main function of tick TCTP/HRF homologue is a function of tick physiology although the presence of TCTP/HRF in *D. variabilis* saliva suggests some function in the host.

Proteins associated with the transport and metabolism of ions create a single group with four singletons. The group contains manganese superoxide dismutase (Contig 660, EY199845), CutA1 divalent ion tolerance protein homologue (Contig 744, EY200030), ferritin (Contig 590, EY199666) and protein similar to Rhodanese-related sulfur transferase (Contig 1131, EY200876). Superoxide dismutase catalyses the dismutation of superoxide into oxygen and hydrogen peroxide and functions as an important defense against superoxide radicals [40]. CutA1 divalent ion tolerance protein is found throughout all organisms and is involved in tolerance to divalent ions such as copper or iron ions. This is the first reported CutA1 from the ticks, where it may be important in tolerance to iron ions from the blood meal. Another protein connected to iron transport and deposition is ferritin, which is expressed in all tick tissues [41]. Ferritin is a cytosolic protein usually composed of 24 subunits and is involved in the storage of ferric ions. It was shown that Ornithodoros moubata ferritin is expressed constitutively

and independently upon feeding in the midgut [42]. *Ixodes ricinus* salivary ferritin is represented by only one EST in IR4D library (Contig 590). Proteins involved in signal transduction and intracellular trafficking create two functionally related groups where proteins associated with G proteins, receptors, ion channels associated proteins and various transporters, among others, can be found. Contigs 294 (EY200035), 295 (EY200423), 299 (EY20084) and 802 (EY200163) were found in a group of cell cycle proteins and are most likely involved in the cell division cycle, however concrete functions remain unknown.

Reverse transcriptase-like proteins

Besides housekeeping and secreted salivary proteins there are several transcripts similar to reverse transcriptases (RT) or reverse transcriptase-like proteins from other arthropods, mainly insects. It is interesting that 10 out of 11 ESTs similar to RT were found in the unfed tick library and only one originates from IR7D library, as though such mechanisms are suppressed during feeding. Additionally, eight ESTs are similar to RT only as reverse complement. The presence of anti-sense transcripts has been previously reported in eukaryotes and their regulative function on the transcription process has been proposed [43-45]. One clone (Contig 1006, EY200559) shows 51% similarity to a transposase from Danio rerio (CAK05416), and contig 255 (EY199575) displays 50% similarity to a mariner-like transposase (2124399A). The presence of these genes suggests an ongoing process of transposition in the tick genome. This mechanism could be responsible for the high duplication rate of some multigenic families. Another explanation is a lysogenic viral origin of these proteins.

Putative secreted genes

The group of secreted genes includes many of the transcripts with predicted signal peptide and truncated transcripts with high similarity to secreted proteins from other tick species. Secreted proteins (both predicted and determined by BLAST) represent 32% of all ESTs. From the distribution among the libraries, it is obvious that the number of secreted protein transcripts is dramatically increased by feeding. There is an 11-fold increase in secreted molecules in the IR24H library compared to the IRUF library. During the last two stages of feeding the proportion of secreted proteins decreases while the number of housekeeping genes, mainly involved in energy and nutrient metabolism, is slightly higher (Figure 2). Table 3 shows the most abundant secreted groups with more than 5 ESTs and their distribution among the libraries.

Collagen-like secreted proteins (CLSP)

The most abundant group in the combined library dataset comprises 209 ESTs within 71 contigs. Collagen-like secreted proteins are significantly upregulated by feeding, as only one contig with two ESTs was found in the IRUF library. The CLSP are small proline- and glycine-rich peptides with mature molecular mass ranging from 4.5 to 5.5 kDa in I. ricinus. In I. pacificus even smaller peptides (3.6 kDa) were found [31]. The name of the group refers to the high ratio of proline and glycine amino acid residues found in collagen. The presence of several X-Pro-Gly motifs points on the possibility of proline hydroxylation to hydroxyproline, which is responsible for collagen fibers production [46]. Hypothetically, CLSP may be able to create polypeptide chains at the site of attachment and function as the attachment glue or could affect the function of collagen in the interactions among cells, ligands and matrix [31,32]. Comparison of CLSP from I. ricinus with homologues from I. scapularis and I. pacificus reveals four

Table 3: Distribution of the most abundant secreted genes (≥ 5 EST) among the four libraries

			IR	UF		IR24H				R4D		IR		
						Þ			Þ			Þ		
Name of group	Contigs	EST	obs	ехр	IRUF/IR24H	obs	ехр	IR24H/IR4D	obs	ехр	IR4D/IR7D	obs	ехр	ALL
CLSP	71	209	2	53.67	0.000	104	54.67	0.000	62	52.67	0.102	41	48.00	0.000
BTSP	46	95	6	24.39	0.000	48	24.85	0.000	17	23.94	0.135	24	21.82	0.000
Kunitz domain	30	61	0	15.66	0.000	33	15.96	0.000	19	15.37	0.104	9	14.01	0.000
18.7 kDa	11	20	2	5.14	0.001	12	5.23	0.003	6	5.04	0.029	0	4.59	0.001
Metalloproteases	13	18	3	4.62	0.276	3	4.71	0.409	4	4.54	0.055	8	4.13	0.185
WC proteins	15	18	0	4.62	0.031	5	4.71	0.244	7	4.54	0.140	6	4.13	0.075
Ixodegrins	8	15	0	3.85	0.000	10	3.92	0.002	4	3.78	0.186	1	3.44	0.002
19 kDa	4	14	0	3.59	0.000	13	3.66	0.000	I.	3.53	0.025	0	3.22	0.000
HBP	10	10	0	2.57	0.059	I.	2.62	0.172	4	2.52	0.044	5	2.30	0.054
ISAC-like	7	7	0	1.80	0.178	2	1.83	0.348	3	1.76	0.327	2	1.61	0.431
Prokineticin domain	7	7	0	1.80	0.111	3	1.83	0.378	2	1.76	0.721	2	1.61	0.455
Salp I 5-like	7	7	0	1.80	0.037	4	1.83	0.089	I.	1.76	0.514	2	1.61	0.194
6.78 kDa	4	6	0	1.54	0.198	2	1.57	0.208	3	1.51	0.210	1	1.38	0.360
4.9 kDa	I	5	0	1.28	0.107	0	1.31	0.109	0	1.26	0.000	5	1.15	0.001

P values shows significance of expression difference between two libraries; P – ALL shows which contig has random and non-random distribution. Significant values are ($P \le 0.05$) are marked in bold. Obs – observed, Exp – expected.

major clades, one of which is exclusively found in I. ricinus, one is exclusively found in I. scapularis and the two other clades include transcripts from all three Ixodes species (Figure 3). The distribution of ESTs from this multigenic group among libraries implies the sequential expression of paralogs during the feeding process. Table 4 illustrates the temporal distribution of the CLSP clusters with more than 5 ESTs, their best match to the Acari database and distribution among the libraries. Some genes are expressed throughout all feeding stages after attachment while other genes appear to be expressed strictly within a specific feeding phase. There are two distinct major groups of CLSP that differ mainly in the length of C terminal region and create two distinct clades on the phylogram as shown in Figures 3 and 4. These groups likely originated from multiplication of two homologs. Others transcripts, scattered throughout the tree in Figure 3 diverged before the speciation of genus Ixodes. Alignment of CLSP contigs with \geq 5 ESTs, their relationship and the library of contig origin are shown in Figure 4. The pattern of gene expression shows different timing for very similar peptides from the same clade. These proteins possibly play the same role in the tick or the host during different feeding periods. One possibility could be an antigenic shift in the most abundant proteins. Ixodes ricinus is a long term blood feeder; therefore, a specific immune response is raised against the tick by the host. The humoral branch of specific immune response is based on the elaboration of specific antibodies by B lymphocytes. The production of antibodies is activated by tick saliva that contains many different antigens. It is possible that antibodies raised against CLSP expressed during the early stages of feeding can be ineffective against CLSP that are produced later.

Mechanisms of antigenic variability are well described for protozoan parasites and spirochetes [47], yet only one example has been reported for metazoan parasites thus far [48]. Antigenic variability is usually associated with an increased genome size and lower genome complexity, often due to recombination events [47]. This is the case of the parasitic protozoa in which the genome is much larger compared with their free-living relatives. Hard ticks possess almost twice as large genome as soft ticks and the complexity of hard tick genome appears to be much lower compared with soft ticks [49]. It is unknown if multigenicity and high recombination rates in hard ticks are related to antigenic variation as stated above or if it is the need for fast production of large amounts of immunoactive and other feeding-associated peptides. This question undoubtedly deserves further investigation.

Basic tail secreted proteins (BTSP)

Secreted proteins rich for lysine residues at the C terminus create the second most abundant peptide family with 95 ESTs in 46 contigs (5.1%). This group is well represented in both I. scapularis and I. pacificus salivary transcriptomes [31,32]. Anticoagulant Salp14 (AAY66785), which was found in I. scapularis and has been shown to inhibit factor Xa [13], is a member of the BTSP family suggesting an anticoagulant role for the whole family. The anticoagulation function of the BTSP family is also supported by the fact that positively-charged proteins can interfere with negatively-charged membranes of activated platelets [31]. The timing of protein expression of the BTSP related ESTs is similar to that of the CLSP family; up-regulation by feeding and then subsequent decrease between the IR24H and IR4D time points (Table 3). The phylogram in Figure 5 shows all BTSP sequences from the three *Ixodes* species. We can see a pattern similar to the CLSP group where each species creates its own clade. This suggests very fast gene duplication after speciation.

Table 4: The distri	bution of Collagen	Like Secreted F	Proteins (CLSP)	with more than 5 EST	among the libraries
			· · · · ·		0

Contig	Best match to ACARI db [gb accession nr.]	e-value	EST	IRUF	IR24H	IR4D	IR7D	þ
5	CLSP11 [AAT92166.1]	3E-026	6	0	0	2	4	0.041
7	Putative secreted protein [AAY66696.1]	4E-024	5	0	5	0	0	0.003
13	CLSPI1 [AAT92166.1]	8E-028	6	0	5	0	I	0.014
14	CLSPI I [AAT92166.1]	8E-028	6	0	0	6	0	0.000
23	CLSPI I [AAT92166.1]	9E-026	7	0	0	0	7	0.000
24	CLSPI I [AAT92166.1]	2E-027	5	0	I	4	0	0.037
41	Putative secreted protein [AAM93621.1]	3E-028	14	0	10	I	3	0.001
42	Putative secreted protein [AAM93621.1]	2E-029	8	0	0	2	6	0.003
46	Putative secreted protein [AAM93621.1]	2E-031	12	0	11	I	0	0.000
48	Putative secreted protein [AAM93621.1]	IE-031	7	0	7	0	0	0.000
49	Putative secreted protein [AAM93622.1]	2E-030	11	0	5	3	3	0.210
50	Putative secreted protein [AAM93622.1]	2E-03 I	5	0	2	3	0	0.157
56	CLSPI [AAT92135.1]	I E-028	8	0	0	8	0	0.000

Difference in expression is represented by P value, significant difference is marked in bold.


Figure 3

Colagen-like secreted proteins (CLSP). Unrooted tree of CLSP family based on mature protein sequences and created by NJ algorithm. Only full-length sequences are included.

Peptides containing Kunitz domain

Kunitz-type domains are present mainly in inhibitors of trypsin and trypsin-like serine proteinases as chymotrypsin, kallikrein or plasmin. Another type of Kunitzdomain peptides lacking inhibitory properties are toxins from snake venom called dendrotoxins [50]. We found 31 clusters comprising 62 sequences of Kunitz domain-containing peptides expressed only in the stages after attachment. The expression of Kunitz proteins is highest during the first day after attachment (34 sequences) and then decreases throughout the next stages to 11 ESTs on the seventh day after attachment. Among the contigs containing Kunitz sequences, contig 117 was the most abundant with 11 ESTs found in the IR24H library.

Twenty six contigs contain a single Kunitz-domain peptide with the general cysteine framework Xn-C-X8-C-X(16/18)-C-X5-C-X12-C-X3-C-Xn, similar or identical to

monolaris II, according to nomenclature used by Francischetti et al. [31]. Within the monolaris II group, there are 11 very similar contigs containing a conserved SMGRL motif in the signal peptide cleavage site. An identical motif is also present in I. scapularis homologous group, suggesting common ancestral gene for both I. ricinus and I. scapularis groups. The phylogram in Figure 6 contains only full-length monolaris II sequences. Sequences from I. ricinus are scattered among sequences from I. scapularis and I. pacificus creating one large group (containing the SMGRL motif) that is common for I. scapularis and I. ricinus. The subgroup containing the SMGRL motif displays higher polymorphism than other Kunitz peptides. Contigs 771 (EY200101), 792 (EY200139) and 302 (EY200141) show similarity to tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI) and contain Xn-C-X(7/9)-C-X15-C-X(5/ 7)-C-X12-C-X3-C-Xn framework, which resembles the monolaris III subgroup. Contig 400 contains two Kunitz

		10	20	30	40	50
		. .				
contig_7	QLY <mark>G</mark> SSTP	C <mark>PGG<mark>PG</mark>QP</mark>	CNSG-P-	-GGQGPSNPP	NQ <mark>P</mark> GSRD <mark>P</mark> QA <mark>P</mark>	GSSRK
contig_5	DLH <mark>G</mark> ST T P	C <mark>PGG<mark>PG</mark>QP</mark>	CNSG-P-	-GGQGPSEQP	RQ <mark>P</mark> GTHS <mark>P</mark> QA <mark>P</mark>	GSSSK
contig_13	QLY <mark>G</mark> SSTP	CPGG <mark>PGE</mark> P	CDSA-P-	-GPQGPSNPS	HQ <mark>PGTHG</mark> PEAP	GSSRK
contig_14	DSY <mark>G</mark> SSTP	CPGG <mark>PGE</mark> P	CDSA-P-	-GPQGPSNPP	HQ <mark>P</mark> GTRS <mark>P</mark> QAP	GSSRS
contig_23	DSY <mark>G</mark> NS T P	CTGG <mark>PG</mark> QP	CDSA-P-	-GPQGPSNQP	QQ <mark>P</mark> GTHS <mark>P</mark> HA <mark>P</mark>	GSSSK
contig_24	DSY <mark>G</mark> SSTP	CPNG <mark>PG</mark> QF	CNSG-P-	-GGQGPSEQP	RQ <mark>P</mark> GTRN <mark>P</mark> EAP	GSSRK
contig_41	DTY <mark>G</mark> SP T P	CPGA <mark>PG</mark> QP	CGNGNP	PGAPAPSSGPNV	HQ <mark>PQDTSP</mark> P	GRK
contig_42	ETY <mark>G</mark> SP T P	C <mark>PGA<mark>PG</mark>QF</mark>	^o CGNGN <mark>P</mark> I	PGAPAPGHPPNV	HPPQNTSPP	GRK
contig_46	TSW <mark>G</mark> SSTP	CPGA <mark>PGE</mark> P	CDNGRPS	SKPSAPGSGPNI	RQPQNTSPP	GRK
contig_48	SSY <mark>G</mark> SSTP	CPGA <mark>PGE</mark> P	CDNGRPS	SKPSAPGSGPNV	HQ <mark>PQNTSP</mark> P	GRK
contig_49	TSY <mark>G</mark> SSTP	C <mark>PGA<mark>PG</mark>ES</mark>	CDNGQPS	SQPSAPGSGPNI	HPPPNTSPP	GRK
contig_50	ESW <mark>G</mark> SSTP	CPGA <mark>PG</mark> EP	CDNGRPS	SQPSAPGSGPNV	QQ <mark>P</mark> PNTS <mark>P</mark> P	GRK
contig_56	ETWGSSTP	CPSPPGEP	PCGNGNP	PGGPVQGSQPSP	QPPLDTSPP	GRK



Collagen-like secreted proteins with \geq **5 EST; alignment and expression profile**. Alignment of CLSP contigs with more than 5 EST and graphical visualization of their representation in the libraries. Exact EST number of each contig is stated in Table 4.



Basic tail secreted proteins (BTSP). Unrooted tree of BTSP family based on protein sequences and created by NJ algorithm. Only full-length sequences are included.

domains and shows high similarity to *I. pacificus* Ixolaris-2 (AAT92212). One EST (contig 807, EY200173) is related to the five-domain (penthalaris) Kunitz proteins. Although it is not a full-length clone, similarity to penthalaris group is evident (81% identity with *I. scapularis* sequence, AAY66743; e-value = 4e-86). The rate of gene duplication appears to be slower in the Kunitz-domain groups compared with the BTSP and CLSP groups, in that each species chose two or three genes for rapid multiplication. We can presume that the Kunitz-domain group diverged before speciation of the genus *Ixodes*. Kunitz domain-containing proteins function as inhibitors of serine proteases. Serine proteases can act as inhibitors of the blood clotting and coagulation systems. It has been shown that Ixolaris and Penthalaris inhibit the tissue factor pathway of blood clotting [11,12]. Monolaris subgroups can also play a role in anti-clotting and anticoagulation activity, but such activity has not been proved thus far [32]. Another function could be deduced from the similarity with snake venom dendrotoxins that function as K⁺ channel blockers [50].



Kunitz domain-containing peptides from monolaris II group. Unrooted tree of all full-length monolaris II peptides from *lxodes ricinus* and related sequences from *l. scapularis* and *l. pacificus*. The tree is based on protein sequences and created by NJ algorithm.

18.7 kDa group

Fifteen clusters containing 34 ESTs showed similarity to an 18.7 kDa group reported previously from both *I. scapularis* and *I. pacificus* [31,32]. The overexpression of 18.7 kDa ESTs in the IR24H library (Table 3) suggests the role of this group during the early phase of feeding. The most abundant cluster (Contig116, EY200914) contains 10 ESTs from the IR24H library. The 15 clusters create three main clades together with *I. scapularis* and *I. pacificus* sequences (Figure 7). The mature peptides from all the three *Ixodes* species contain 12 conserved cysteines. Four of the *I. ricinus* contigs (Contig 115, EY199897; 116, EY199123; 389, EY199138; 415, EY199200) contain the same insertion with two additional cysteines as three *I. pacificus* and one *I. scapularis* sequences found on Gen-Bank (for accession numbers see Figure 7). Contigs 115, 116 and 389 contain another insertion of six identical amino acids (YFDSHS), which appears to be unique for *I. ricinus* among all *Ixodes* species. Two contigs (Contig 450, EY199271; 477, EY199343) cluster together with three



18.7 kDa group of secreted proteins. Cladogram of 18.7 protein group includes all *I. scapularis* and *I. pacificus* sequences obtained form the GenBank. Numbers represent bootstrap support of each clade with value above 50% (1000 rep.).

sequences from *I. scapularis* (for accession numbers see Figure 7) creating a single clade, which appears to have a common ancestral gene. The remaining sequences form the last and largest clade in Figure 5.

The 18.7 kDa group is comprised of at least three different polymorphic genes that share a conserved cysteine framework and few domains that suggest the same tertiary structure. The tertiary structure could be more important for protein function than the individual amino acid composition and conservation. Although we know nothing about the function of the 18.7 kDa family, the early production after attachment is typical for proteins used against blood coagulation and platelet aggregation.

Peptides containing Arg-Gly-Asp (RGD) domain

Integrins are cell receptors responsible for cell adhesion by recognition of an RGD motif on several extracellular matrix proteins such as fibrinogen, vitronectin, collagen or Von Willebrand factor [51]. RGD-containing proteins promote cell adhesion when insolubilized in the matrix, and inhibit cell-cell associations when they are soluble. Such soluble proteins are called disintegrins and were first reported from snake venom [52]. Tick peptides containing an RGD domain were shown to inhibit platelet aggregation by targeting GPIIbIIIa receptor and integrin α IIb β 3 [53-55]. Both *I. pacificus* and *I. scapularis* produce several types of RGD motif-containing proteins that are related to snake venoms [31,32]. Peptides with homology to disintegrins were also found in *I. ricinus*. Two non-homologous groups containing RGD motif were found and may act as disintegrins. The first group (Ixodegrins) is related to Ixodegrins described previously [31] and a snake venom component dendroaspin. Proteins in the second group are similar to prokineticin.

The alignment in Figure 8 compares Ixodegrins from *I. ricinus, I. pacificus* and *I. scapularis.* Contig 934 (EY200415) shows high similarity to peptides found in other Ixodes ticks. The remaining *I. ricinus* contigs contain two insertions unique for *I. ricinus* and show high similarity to each other, suggesting another example of multigenic family. Contigs 146 (EY199187) and 147 (EY199165) contain an Arg-Ala-Asp (RAD) domain rather

	10	20	30	40	50	60
	.			••••	<mark></mark> .	
contig_567	SDVHIVLKRY	EPKEFTMDT-	-D <mark>C</mark> DRRPPHPS	SYPPCKCLPI	IRGDDSRKLC	JLSRYY
contig_128	SDVHIVLKRY	EPKE <mark>C</mark> RTDA-	-D <mark>C</mark> DRRPLHP:	SYPPCKCIPI	RGDDYTKFCE	ELSR
contig_127	SDVHIVLKRY	EPKE <mark>C</mark> TTDT-	-D <mark>C</mark> DRRPPHLS	SYPP CK<mark>C</mark>LLI	IRGDDSRKFC	JLSR
contig_129	SDAHIVLRRY	EPIE <mark>C</mark> KTDA-	-D <mark>C</mark> DRAPLHPS	SYPPCKCIPI	RGDDYTKFCE	ELSR
contig_147	SDATIVLRPY	ESRE <mark>C</mark> THHE-	-D <mark>C</mark> NSHPI	FLPFCGCIPS	RADDIRKYCO	SYTGE
contig_146	SDAHIELRPY	ASKE <mark>C</mark> THPV-	-E <mark>C</mark> RAHPI	LLPFCGCIPS	RADDIRKYCO	SYTGEY
contig_934	NSFT	ERIP <mark>C</mark> TNDT-	-E <mark>C</mark> GS	SSPG <mark>C</mark> TCKPI	RGDDFSYYCS	SIY
DQ066012.1 Ixodes scapularis	YSST	ERIP <mark>C</mark> TNNS-	-D <mark>C</mark> H(GPDL <mark>CQC</mark> RPI	RGDDFGYFCS	SEY
DQ066000.1 Ixodes scapularis	YSFT	ERIP <mark>C</mark> TNNS-	-D <mark>C</mark> H(GSDL <mark>CQC</mark> RPI	RGDGFSYFCS	SEY
DQ065971.1 Ixodes scapularis	RWEQ	PDSL <mark>C</mark> EKDE-	-D <mark>C</mark> GYLI	PLCQCLPI	RGDLPGKRC	/TI
DQ065871.1 Ixodes scapularis	NWEQ	PYSL <mark>C</mark> EEDK-	-D <mark>C</mark> GSIH	PLCRCFPI	RGDLPGKRC	/TI
DQ065868.1 Ixodes scapularis	QEIDK	LHSL <mark>C</mark> NTNE-	-D <mark>C</mark> GDPA	ALCICSPI	IRGDFPGNWCS	SER
AY674214.1 Ixodes pacificus	YSPT	EGKP <mark>C</mark> ANNT-	-D <mark>C</mark> K(GSNL <mark>CQC</mark> RPI	RGDDWRNFCS	SEY
2104176A dendroaspin	RICYNHLGTKPPTTET	QEDS <mark>C</mark> YKNIW	NTFDNI	IRRG <mark>C</mark> G <mark>C</mark> FTI	RGD 1PGPYC	CESDKCNL



Ixodegrins: Alignment and phylogram. RGD motif, typical for disintegrins is marked in black rectangle. The tree was constructed by NJ method and numbers represent bootstrap support with value above 50% (1000 rep.). Dendroaspin isolated from *Dendroaspis jamesoni* was used as an outgroup.

than a RGD. It was shown that a change from RGD to RAD can block the binding and thus disintegrin activity of the peptide [56]. Ixodegrins are strongly over-expressed 24 hours after attachment and then their expression decreases (Table 3).

Peptides in the second group contain prokineticin (PK) domain and the group contains two subgroups related to Ixodegrin-2A (AAY66752) that differ in molecular mass. The alignment and phylogram of both subgroups is shown in Figure 9. The first subgroup includes acidic peptides with a mature molecular mass of 6.4 kDa and a conserved cysteine framework C-X5-C-X4-C-C-X(9–13)-C-X9-C. These peptides have no RGD motif; however, they contain one or even two XGD motifs in the loops between the cysteines. The second subgroup of PK domain-con-

taining peptides includes acidic peptides with a molecular mass of 9.3 kDa and contain four additional cysteines at the C-terminus of 6.4 kDa subgroup creating the framework C-X5-C-X4-C-C-X(9-13)-C-X9-C-X13-C-P-C-X(4-5)-C-X(4-7)-C. The 9.3 kDa subgroup shows 36% identity and 50% similarity to astakin, a prokineticin domaincontaining peptide isolated from Pacifastacus leniusculus (Q56R11) and 31% identity and 50% similarity to a prokineticin from Bos taurus (NP_001029190). Astakin was shown to be an important hematopoietic cytokine in invertebrates [57] and prokineticin can induce intestinal contraction in mammals [58]. Prokineticin domain proteins were originally identified as non-toxic peptides from black mamba (Dendroaspis polylepis) venom and later isolated from skin secretion of the frog Bombina variegata [59]. Prokineticin domain peptides appear to be involved



Prokineticin domain-containing peptides. Alignment and phylogram of both 6.4 and 9.3 kDa groups of prokineticin domain-containing proteins from the three lxodes species. *Bombina variegata* protein Bv8 and prokineticin I from *Bos taurus* were used as an outgroup. The tree was constructed by NJ method and numbers represent bootstrap support with value above 50% (1000 rep.).

in various biological processes such as control of circadian rhythm, differentiation of endothelial cells in steroidogenic glands and promotion of angiogenesis in endocrine tissues [60]. Although RGD motifs were found in *I. pacificus* and *I. scapularis* suggesting their disintegrin function, no RGD motif was found in *I. ricinus* sequences from the 9.3 kDa group. The lack of RGD implies a different function of the 9.3 kDa subgroup in *I. ricinus*. Prokineticin domain-containing peptides from both 6.4 and 9.3 kDa appear to be expressed equally during all three stages after attachment. The function of 6.4 kDa and 9.3 kDa subgroups remains to be tested.

Trp-Cys (WC) containing proteins

A group of proteins containing a Trp-Cys (WC) doublet has been found previously in the sialome of *I. scapularis* [32] and appeared to be unique for that species. We can now provide evidence that this group is common for at least *I. scapularis* and *I. ricinus*. Most of the WC-containing proteins share a similar seven-cysteine framework C-X11-C-X(13–15)-C-X3-C-X(10–14)-C-X(6–7)-C-X(22–26)-C and several very conserved residues that could be important for proper folding or activity of the mature protein. The most significant conserved residue other than cysteine is the tryptophan residue before the last cysteine residue. It has been proposed that the WC doublet can create a hydrogen bond resulting in a bend of the peptide chain. Fifteen contigs consisting of 18 ESTs with homology to WC containing proteins were identified in all cDNA libraries except IRUF. The expression of WC peptides is increased after attachment and the distribution of ESTs is equal among the three post-attachment libraries (Table 3). The function of this group remains unknown.

Histamine-binding proteins (HBP)

Ten genes coding for the proteins from the HBP lipocalin family were found in the IR24H, IR4D and IR7D libraries. The function and evolution of these proteins were described in detail elsewhere [20,61,62]. Briefly, tick lipocalins are able to bind histamine in a binding cavity resulting in the inhibition of inflammation, as histamine is a very potent mediator of the inflammatory response [20]. All I. ricinus sequences are similar to other I. scapularis and I. pacificus HBPs except contig 972, which shows only low similarity to other tick HBP (e-value = 5E-005). Additionally, BLASTp analysis found no HBP domain within the sequence, suggesting a potentially different function yet similar ancestral origin with other HBP coding genes. Histamine-binding proteins may only be expressed during the later phases of feeding as no sequences were captured in the unfed library and only one in IR24H.

Metalloproteases

Thirteen clusters consisting of 18 ESTs showed similarity to metalloproteases. All sequences were truncated; no fulllength clones have been obtained. Contigs 218 (EY200183), 401 (EY199170) and 841 (EY200242) have extremely high identities (e-values = 1E-158, 1E-121 and 1E-97) with both *I. scapularis* and *I. pacificus* sequences, suggesting homology to coding genes. Notably, there is no feeding-induced associated overrepresentation of metalloproteases sequences (Table 3)

The main function of tick metalloproteases is probably related to anti-clotting activity at the site of attachment. Proteolytic metal-dependent activity toward fibrin(ogen), fibronectin and gelatin has been proved for *I. scapularis* saliva [23]; however, genes coding for metalloproteases have been found in 6 ixodid and 2 argasid species thus far, suggesting the presence of metalloproteases in saliva of more tick species.

Rare expressed genes similar to known proteins α -2 macroglobulin

Alpha 2 macroglobulin is a protease inhibitor with a wide range of specificity [63]. The mechanism of inhibition is based on the capturing of the protease inside the large molecule of α -2 macroglobulin. This inhibitor has been detected in the hemolymph of *I. ricinus* and *Ornithodoros moubata* and possibly functions in tick innate immune defense against some pathogens [64]. Contig 680 contained one EST (EY199886) coding for a peptide with 34% identity and 55% similarity to a receptor region of α -2 macroglobulin previously found in *I. scapularis* (AAM93645) and *I. ricinus* (unpublished). The finding of another α -2 macroglobulin domain provides evidence that there are at least two different α -2 macroglobulin homologues in *I. ricinus*.

Calreticulin

Calreticulin is a protein highly conserved throughout all animals and usually functions in calcium storage. We have found only one clone in the IR4D library (Contig 614, EY199726) with 96% identity to *I. scapularis* calreticulin (AY271305) at the nucleotide level. It has been proposed that tick calreticulin is secreted into the host and possesses an immunoactive function [65].

Defensins

Defensins are small antimicrobial peptides common for both vertebrates and invertebrates. Defensins are important in defense against various microbial pathogens including *Borrelia spp*. [66]. We found two different defensins in the IR7D library (Contig 921, EY200392 and 969, EY200491). Contig 921 is a homologue of preprodefensin 1 and 2 isolated from *I. ricinus* (ABC88432, AAP94724) suggesting polymorphism in this gene. Contig 969 shows the highest similarity to Varisin A1 from *D. variabilis* (AAO24323).

Neuropeptide-like protein (NPL) with GYG repeats

Peptides with GYG repeats were found in *Caenorhabditis elegans* and show high antimicrobial activity against certain microbial organisms [67]. Three homologues (Contig 279, 494, 935) of NPL proteins from *I. pacificus* (AAT92111, AAT92131) have been identified in IR24H, IR4D and IR7D libraries. NPL proteins could act as antimicrobial peptides at the site of attachment [30] or they may be secreted into the hemolymph and be involved in tick humoral antimicrobial defense.

Carboxypeptidase inhibitor precursor

Contig 929 (EY200408) found in IR7D library showed 66% similarity (e-value = 1E-22) to a carboxypeptidase inhibitor from *Rhipicephalus bursa* salivary glands (AAW72225). The *R. bursa* carboxypeptidase inhibitor is a potent anticoagulant which accelerates fibrinolysis in blood clots [68]. This putative *I. ricinus* carboxypeptidase inhibitor adds to the growing family of tick anticoagulants.

Ixoderin B

Ixoderins are tick lectins related to ficolins, which are responsible for complement activation, and to arthropod lectins, which act as plasma agglutination activators. In tick plasma, lectins also play a role in antimicrobial activity, potentially against transmitted pathogens [69]. There are at least two ixoderin families in *I. ricinus*: Ixoderin A, which is expressed in all tick tissues and Ixoderin B expressed only in salivary glands [70]. Contig 617 (EY199735) is homologous to Ixoderin B (AAV41827) which implies the multigenicity of ixoderin B group. As ixoderins are related to lectins, they can be involved in tick innate immunity, but specific expression of Ixoderin B in salivary glands suggests also some immunomodulatory function in the host.

Keratinocyte associated protein 2-like protein (KAP2-like)

One transcript (Contig 624, EY199752) coding for KAP2like protein was found in the IR4D library. KAP2-like proteins have been identified in almost all major groups of eukaryotes according to a tBLASTn search against the EST database of all organisms. Nothing is known about the function of KAP-2 protein, but it probably possesses important housekeeping functions as it is highly conserved among phylogenetically distant organisms.

Phospholipase A2 (PA2)

PA2 activity was found in *Ammblyoma americanum* saliva [71] and the genes homologous to the secreted type of PA2 were identified in other ixodid ticks, according to tBLASTn search against EST database. This suggests that PA2 activity in saliva is common for hard ticks. One clone (Contig 1024, EY200582) was found in the IRUF library and showed approximately 40% identity and 60% similarity to PA2 from various organisms.

Pitituary tumor transforming protein 1 interacting protein – like

Contig 982 (EY200521) displayed high similarity (45% identity, 64% similarity, e-value = 2E-30) to PTTG-1-IP from *Gallus gallus* (XP_422649). PTTG-1-IP is a protein that binds PTTG, a protein with multiple regulative functions in mitosis, gene expression, cell transformation and also angiogenesis [72]. This is the first report of PTTG-1-IP from invertebrates. The exact function of PTTG and PTTG-1-IP is not clear either for mammals or invertebrates.

Other minor secreted proteins

Many tick salivary proteins with a predicted signal peptide are novel peptides with no similarity among other organisms other than ticks or they are unique for *I. ricinus*. These proteins are named after the mature predicted molecular mass [see Additional file 1]. Many peptides are very small with molecular weight below 5 or 3 kDa. This may be due to sequencing artifacts creating false stop codons; however, small peptides can be functional in ticks. For example, there is one thrombin inhibitor isolated from the hard tick *Boophilus microplus* called microphilin with a molecular mass of about 2 kDa [73].

Conclusion

The work presented here highlights several major themes concerning tick salivary proteins. There is an enormous overrepresentation of secreted protein transcripts after attachment and a subsequent shift to the production of molecules associated with energetic metabolism. This is probably a result of increased metabolic rate associated with blood ingestion and digestion. The difference in the production of mRNAs coding for secreted proteins between unfed ticks and ticks 24 hours after attachment is remarkable. An increase of 11 fold shows that hard ticks possess mechanisms allowing a rapid switch in physiology. While many secreted proteins appear to be induced after attachment, they are probably important in the feeding process. Protein production is an energetically demanding process so these proteins should have some function either in ticks or in the host. Similar abundance of secreted proteins among the three Ixodes species gives us an idea of which proteins could be crucial for successful feeding. The most abundant protein groups (i.e., CLSP, BTSP, Kunitz-domain or 18.7 kDa groups) are common for all three species and should be the first to be tested for any activity in the host. On the other hand, some proteins that have been tested for activity by other research groups do not belong into any of the most abundant groups. For example homologs of Salp15, the only salivary protein proven to be a SAT factor (peptide facilitating pathogen transmission) were found in only seven ESTs. The same EST number was found for the anti-complement proteins related to ISAC and IRAC isolated from I. scapularis and I. ricinus. Therefore, rare transcripts should also be evaluated for functionality. Hypothetically, abundant and strongly feeding-induced peptides can be aimed against innate defense mechanisms already active in the early phase of feeding. The less abundant proteins could possess more specific immunomodulatory function and could also participate in the SAT effect.

The most abundant protein families display interesting expression profiles throughout the feeding period and show temporal control of expression of very similar molecules. Feeding phase-specific expression, as was shown in the CLSP family, is an interesting phenomenon with several possible explanations: 1) It can be a result of gene arrangement on the chromosome without any further importance; 2) There can be sequential production of functionally identical peptides with different antigenicity and finally; 3) Similar peptides can have different functions in different stages of feeding. The second explanation is very tempting, because it would be a completely new aspect of the tick-host interaction, which is common among parasitic microorganisms, but very rare among metazoan. However, some points will need to be elucidated. We must know first whether the candidate proteins for possible antigenic variation are antigenic. If these molecules are antigenic they would then need to be checked for cross-reactivity by antibody recognition.

As there is a wide range of *I. ricinus* hosts, we can discuss the possibility of expression profile differences among ticks that were fed on different hosts. It was shown that different feeding conditions, including different hosts, result in protein profile changes of the saliva [74]. Ticks used in our work were fed on guinea-pigs, which are not natural host of *I. ricinus*; however, it is widely used laboratory model in tick research. Although there is no direct evidence of differences between sialomes of ticks fed on different animals, we assume that the data obtained with ticks fed on guinea-pigs can be applied to other hosts. Future research may be needed to test the possible effects of host influences on the tick sialome.

There is a high ratio of unknown transcripts in unfed ticks. To date, only one salivary gland library from unfed Ixodid ticks (*A. americanum*) was published in the GenBank. The lack of sequences from comparable feeding stage could be the reason for such high proportion of unknown transcripts in unfed library. As the main function of tick salivary glands during the starving phase is osmoregulation [75], some of unknown proteins could be involved in the process of water balance regulation.

The presence of multigenic, highly polymorphic families supports the theory of gene conversion and duplication in tick genome evolution. Comparison of the three phylogenetically close species shows an unusually high rate of gene duplication in many multigenic families. The cause of such fast gene multiplication in hard ticks is still not known; although, there is suspicion for the role of transposition in this process. It is notable that a number of organisms that use multigenic proteins, mainly for antigenic variation, are pathogens transmitted by hard ticks. It would be worthwhile to know whether there is any relationship between tick and transmitted pathogen multigenicity.

There are several abundantly secreted and blood mealassociated proteins that are probably very important for successful feeding. All of the most abundant proteins appear to be multigenic with an amount ranging from several to tens of paralogs. There is also a high probability of polymorphism and the number of homologs is probably higher than the number found in this work. Now, we have large databases of putative proteins expressed in tick salivary glands, but for the most part, the proper function is unknown. For some proteins a prediction based on sequence homology can be made; however, it is still unclear whether similar proteins from one family possess the same function as the homologs. On the whole, there are many salivary proteins that need to be tested for their function. It appears that a high-throughput approach would be highly beneficial for functional screening of tick salivary proteins. Additionally, the contribution of new sequences into the public databases will bring benefits for all the scientific community interested in tick and vector research or comparative phylogenetic studies.

As we unfold more peculiarities about tick genetics, thanks to the sialome research, we can see that ticks are interesting – not only for study of parasite-host interaction or searching for novel pharmacoactive molecules, but they prove to be an important model organism for disclosing some mechanisms of gene and genome evolution.

Methods

Ticks and tissue isolation

Ixodes ricinus adult females were obtained from the colonies maintained at the Institute of Parasitology of Czech Academy of Sciences in Ceske Budejovice. Pathogen-free ticks were fed on the guinea pigs complying with Act No. 207/2004 Coll. and approval AVCR 51/2005 given by the committee of Czech Academy of Sciences. Approximately 10 pairs of salivary glands were dissected from both unfed and fed adult ticks. Dissections were done in phosphate buffered saline (PBS); glands from each stage were washed in sterile ice-cold PBS, pooled together into a single tube and stored in RNAlater (Ambion, USA) until mRNA isolation.

Synthesis of cDNA libraries and sequencing

Messenger RNA was isolated using Micro Fast Track mRNA isolation kit (Invitrogen, USA) according to the manufacturer protocol. Precipitated, washed and dried mRNA was diluted into 4 µl of DEPC-treated H2O and 3 μ l of mRNA were used for first strand cDNA synthesis. The construction of cDNA libraries was done using the SMART cDNA library construction kit (BD Clontech, USA) according to the protocol provided by manufacturer, with some modifications. In order to determine optimal number of cycles, two identical amplification reactions were prepared. After 10th amplification cycle the first one was stored on the ice, while the second one was used for the PCR cycles number optimization by removing 3 µl samples from the reaction every two cycles until cycle number 22. The samples were checked by visualization on an agarose gel. The optimal number of cycles with visible and equally represented products was used for the first amplification reaction (e.g. When 18 cycles were optimal, 8 additional cycles were used). The amplified DNA was treated with proteinase K, which was subsequently washed away by several washings with ultrapure water using Microcon YM-100 (Millipore). After Sfi I digestion and fractionation using a Chroma Spin-400 column (BD Clontech, USA) the fractions were checked using agarose gel and pooled into three tubes in a size-dependent man-

ner (large, medium and small PCR products). Each pooled cDNA was washed with ultrapure water and concentrated to 4-7 µl using Microcon YM-100 column (Millipore). Three microliters from each tube were used for the ligation into the λ TripleEx2 vector. The ligation reaction was packed into the phages using the Gigapack III Gold Packaging extract (Stratagene). Three libraries (large, medium, small) were constructed for each feeding phase resulting in total of 12 libraries. Each un-amplified library was plated onto LB agar plates aiming for approximately 300 clones per one 150 mm plate. Randomly selected clones were picked into the 96-well plate with 75 µl of water per well. Two plates were picked per library resulting in 6 plates for each feeding phase and 24 plates (2304 clones) for the experiment. Polymerase chain reaction with vector-specific primers (PT2F1 5'- AAGTACTCTAG-CAATTGTGAGC -3' and PT2R1 5'- CTCTTCGCTAT-TACGCCAGCTG - 3') was done on selected clones. Cleaned PCR products were used as template for cyclesequencing reaction using BigDye Terminator v3.1 cycle sequencing kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) and primer PT2F3 primer 5' CTCGforward GGAAGCGCGCCATTGT - 3'. Samples were directly sequenced on an ABI 96 capillary DNA sequencer (Applied Biosystems), or stored at -80°C.

Bioinformatics

A detailed description of the bioinformatic treatment of the data appears elsewhere [33,76]. For this analysis, EST trace files were analyzed using a customized program based on the Phred algorithm [77]. Resulting sequences with average quality score greater than 20 were retained for subsequent analysis. Primer and vector sequences were removed from the 5' and 3' ends of the ESTs. The resultant sequences were grouped into clusters using a customized program (Cluster 6) based on identity (95% identity, 64 word size) and aligned into contiguous sequences (contigs) using the CAP3 sequence assembly program [78]. BLAST searches of individual contigs and singletons using executable programs obtained from the NCBI FTP site as previously described [76,79] were conducted against the non-redundant (NR) protein database of the NCBI, the gene ontology (GO) fasta subset [43], the conserved domains database (CDD) of NCBI [80] which contains the KOG [81], Pfam [82] and Smart databases [83] and to custom-downloaded databases containing ACARI (a subset containing mite and tick sequences), mitochondrial and rRNA nucleotide sequences available from NCBI. Peptides were submitted to the SignalP server as previously described [76,84] to detect signal peptides indicative of secretion. The individual cDNA libraries were directly compared with each other using a customized program (Count Libraries) that assesses the individual contribution of each individual library to the combined contig of interest. This analysis indicates putative proteins that may be over- or under-represented at a given time point. Chi-square analysis was conducted on contigs that contained more than 5 ESTs.

Authors' contributions

JC carried out the conception and design of the work, tissue preparation, RNA isolation, cDNA libraries construction, preparation of samples for sequencing, obtained data interpretation and manuscript preparation. JMA carried out bioinformatic treatment of raw sequence data and participated in manuscript revision. JM participated in sequencing the libraries. RCJ participated in statistical evaluation of data and manuscript revision. JGV participated in the design of the work, manuscript revision and final approval of the version and JK carried out the conception and design of the work, participated in manuscript revision and approval of the final version.

Additional material

Additional file 1

Supplemental table. Zip file contains MS Office Excel table with links to text files, containing additional information on all ESTs. Click here for file [http://www.biomedcentral.com/content/supplementary/1471-2164-9-233-S1.zip]

Acknowledgements

We thank Dr. Jose M. C. Ribeiro for development of the bioinformatic programs used in this analysis and assistance with program execution, Jan Erhart for providing the ticks for this work and Nancy Shulman for editorial assistance. The work was supported in part by The Division of Intramural Research, The National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, and partially by grant 524/05/0811 from the Grant Agency of the Czech Republic. This study is a part of the research project of the Institute of Parasitology, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic (Z60220518) and the Research Centre (LC06009).

References

- Daniel M, Danielova V, Kriz B, Kott I: An attempt to elucidate the increased incidence of tick-borne encephalitis and its spread to higher altitudes in the Czech Republic. Int J Med Microbiol 2004/05/19 edition. 2004, 293 Suppl 37:55-62.
- Brossard M, Wikel SK: Tick immunobiology. Parasitology 2005/06/ 09 edition. 2004, 129 Suppl:S161-76.
- Ribeiro JM, Francischetti IM: Role of arthropod saliva in blood feeding: sialome and post-sialome perspectives. Annu Rev Entomol 2002/08/27 edition. 2003, 48:73-88.
- Wikel SK: Tick modulation of host immunity: an important factor in pathogen transmission. Int J Parasitol 1999/09/10 edition. 1999, 29(6):851-859.
- Wikel SK, Ramachandra RN, Bergman DK: Tick-induced modulation of the host immune response. Int J Parasitol 1994/02/01 edition. 1994, 24(1):59-66.
- Mejri N, Rutti B, Brossard M: Immunosuppressive effects of ixodes ricinus tick saliva or salivary gland extracts on innate and acquired immune response of BALB/c mice. Parasitol Res 2002/ 04/17 edition. 2002, 88(3):192-197.
- 7. Wikel SK: Tick modulation of host cytokines. Exp Parasitol 1996/ 11/01 edition. 1996, 84(2):304-309.

- Kovar L, Kopecky J, Rihova B: Salivary gland extract from Ixodes ricinus tick modulates the host immune response towards the Th2 cytokine profile. *Parasitol Res* 2002/11/22 edition. 2002, 88(12):1066-1072.
- Jones LD, Davies CR, Steele GM, Nuttall PA: A novel mode of arbovirus transmission involving a nonviremic host. Science 1987/08/14 edition. 1987, 237(4816):775-777.
- Pechova J, Stepanova G, Kovar L, Kopecky J: Tick salivary gland extract-activated transmission of Borrelia afzelii spirochaetes. Folia Parasitol (Praha) 2002/08/27 edition. 2002, 49(2):153-159.
- Francischetti IM, Mather TN, Ribeiro JM: Penthalaris, a novel recombinant five-Kunitz tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI) from the salivary gland of the tick vector of Lyme disease, Ixodes scapularis. Thromb Haemost 2004/04/30 edition. 2004, 91(5):886-898.
- Francischetti IM, Valenzuela JG, Andersen JF, Mather TN, Ribeiro JM: Ixolaris, a novel recombinant tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI) from the salivary gland of the tick, Ixodes scapularis: identification of factor X and factor Xa as scaffolds for the inhibition of factor VIIa/tissue factor complex. Blood 2002/05/ 03 edition. 2002, 99(10):3602-3612.
- Narasimhan S, Koski RÁ, Beaulieu B, Anderson JF, Ramamoorthi N, Kantor F, Cappello M, Fikrig E: A novel family of anticoagulants from the saliva of Ixodes scapularis. Insect Mol Biol 2002/11/08 edition. 2002, 11(6):641-650.
- Kotsyfakis M, Sa-Nunes A, Francischetti IM, Mather TN, Andersen JF, Ribeiro JM: Antiinflammatory and immunosuppressive activity of sialostatin L, a salivary cystatin from the tick lxodes scapularis. J Biol Chem 2006/06/15 edition. 2006, 281(36):26298-26307.
- Leboulle G, Crippa M, Decrem Y, Mejri N, Brossard M, Bollen A, Godfroid E: Characterization of a novel salivary immunosuppressive protein from Ixodes ricinus ticks. J Biol Chem 2002/01/ 17 edition. 2002, 277(12):10083-10089.
- Ribeiro JM, Makoul GT, Levine J, Robinson DR, Spielman A: Antihemostatic, antiinflammatory, and immunosuppressive properties of the saliva of a tick, Ixodes dammini. J Exp Med 1985/ 02/01 edition. 1985, 161(2):332-344.
- Ribeiro JM, Makoul GT, Robinson DR: Ixodes dammini: evidence for salivary prostacyclin secretion. J Parasitol 1988/12/01 edition. 1988, 74(6):1068-1069.
- Mans BJ, Gasper AR, Louw AI, Neitz AW: Purification and characterization of apyrase from the tick, Ornithodoros savignyi. Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol 2003/11/06 edition. 1998, 120(3):617-624.
- Mans BJ: Tick histamine-binding proteins and related lipocalins: potential as therapeutic agents. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 2005/11/30 edition. 2005, 6(11):1131-1135.
- Paesen GC, Adams PL, Harlos K, Nuttall PA, Stuart DI: Tick histamine-binding proteins: isolation, cloning, and three-dimensional structure. Mol Cell 1999/06/09 edition. 1999, 3(5):661-671.
- Anguita J, Ramamoorthi N, Hovius JW, Das S, Thomas V, Persinski R, Conze D, Askenase PW, Rincon M, Kantor FS, Fikrig E: Salp15, an ixodes scapularis salivary protein, inhibits CD4(+) T cell activation. *Immunity* 2002/07/18 edition. 2002, 16(6):849-859.
- Ramamoorthi N, Narasimhan S, Pal U, Bao F, Yang XF, Fish D, Anguita J, Norgard MV, Kantor FS, Anderson JF, Koski RA, Fikrig E: The Lyme disease agent exploits a tick protein to infect the mammalian host. Nature 2005/07/29 edition. 2005, 436(7050):573-577.
- Francischetti IM, Mather TN, Ribeiro JM: Cloning of a salivary gland metalloprotease and characterization of gelatinase and fibrin(ogen)lytic activities in the saliva of the Lyme disease tick vector Ixodes scapularis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2003/05/28 edition. 2003, 305(4):869-875.
- Daix V, Schroeder H, Praet N, Georgin JP, Chiappino I, Gillet L, de Fays K, Decrem Y, Leboulle G, Godfroid E, Bollen A, Pastoret PP, Gern L, Sharp PM, Vanderplasschen A: Ixodes ticks belonging to the Ixodes ricinus complex encode a family of anticomplement proteins. Insect Mol Biol 2007/02/15 edition. 2007, 16(2):155-166.
- 25. Valenzuela JG, Charlab R, Mather TN, Ribeiro JM: Purification, cloning, and expression of a novel salivary anticomplement protein from the tick, Ixodes scapularis. J Biol Chem 2000/04/06 edition. 2000, 275(25):18717-18723.

- Gillespie RD, Dolan MC, Piesman J, Titus RG: Identification of an IL-2 binding protein in the saliva of the Lyme disease vector tick, Ixodes scapularis. J Immunol 2001/03/20 edition. 2001, 166(7):4319-4326.
- Valenzuela JG: High-throughput approaches to study salivary proteins and genes from vectors of disease. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 2002/09/13 edition. 2002, 32(10):1199-1209.
- Paveglio SA, Allard J, Mayette J, Whittaker LA, Juncadella I, Anguita J, Poynter ME: The tick salivary protein, Salp15, inhibits the development of experimental asthma. J Immunol 2007/05/22 edition. 2007, 178(11):7064-7071.
- Motameni AR, Juncadella IJ, Ananthanarayanan SK, Hedrick MN, Huet-Hudson Y, Anguita J: Delivery of the immunosuppressive antigen Salp15 to antigen-presenting cells by Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium aroA mutants. Infect Immun 2004/05/25 edition. 2004, 72(6):3638-3642.
- Alarcon-Chaidez FJ, Sun J, Wikel SK: Transcriptome analysis of the salivary glands of Dermacentor andersoni Stiles (Acari: Ixodidae). Insect Biochem Mol Biol 2006/12/19 edition. 2007, 37(1):48-71.
- Francischetti IM, My Pham V, Mans BJ, Andersen JF, Mather TN, Lane RS, Ribeiro JM: The transcriptome of the salivary glands of the female western black-legged tick Ixodes pacificus (Acari: Ixodidae). Insect Biochem Mol Biol 2005/08/17 edition. 2005, 35(10):1142-1161.
- Ribeiro JM, Alarcon-Chaidez F, Francischetti IM, Mans BJ, Mather TN, Valenzuela JG, Wikel SK: An annotated catalog of salivary gland transcripts from Ixodes scapularis ticks. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 2006/01/25 edition. 2006, 36(2):111-129.
 Valenzuela JG, Francischetti IM, Pham VM, Garfield MK, Mather TN,
- Valenzuela JG, Francischetti IM, Pham VM, Garfield MK, Mather TN, Ribeiro JM: Exploring the sialome of the tick Ixodes scapularis. J Exp Biol 2002/08/15 edition. 2002, 205(Pt 18):2843-2864.
- Nene V, Lee D, Quackenbush J, Skilton R, Mwaura S, Gardner MJ, Bishop R: AvGI, an index of genes transcribed in the salivary glands of the ixodid tick Amblyomma variegatum. Int J Parasitol 2002/10/24 edition. 2002, 32(12):1447-1456.
- Huang CY, Christensen BM, Chen CC: Role of dopachrome conversion enzyme in the melanization of filarial worms in mosquitoes. *Insect Mol Biol* 2005/11/30 edition. 2005, 14(6):675-682.
- Gachet Y, Tournier S, Lee M, Lazaris-Karatzas A, Poulton T, Bommer UA: The growth-related, translationally controlled protein P23 has properties of a tubulin binding protein and associates transiently with microtubules during the cell cycle. J Cell Sci 1999/03/23 edition. 1999, 112 (Pt 8):1257-1271.
- Bommer UA, Thiele BJ: The translationally controlled tumour protein (TCTP). Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2003/12/23 edition. 2004, 36(3):379-385.
- Mulenga A, Macaluso KR, Simser JA, Azad AF: The American dog tick, Dermacentor variabilis, encodes a functional histamine release factor homolog. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 2003/08/14 edition. 2003, 33(9):911-919.
- Mulenga A, Azad AF: The molecular and biological analysis of ixodid ticks histamine release factors. Exp Appl Acarol 2005/12/ 03 edition. 2005, 37(3-4):215-229.
- Fridovich I: Fundamental aspects of reactive oxygen species, or what's the matter with oxygen? Ann N Y Acad Sci 2000/02/15 edition. 1999, 893:13-18.
- Grunclova L, Horn M, Vancova M, Sojka D, Franta Z, Mares M, Kopacek P: Two secreted cystatins of the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata: differential expression pattern and inhibitory specificity. *Biol Chem* 2006/11/30 edition. 2006, 387(12):1635-1644.
- Kopacek P, Zdychova J, Yoshiga T, Weise C, Rudenko N, Law JH: Molecular cloning, expression and isolation of ferritins from two tick species--Ornithodoros moubata and Ixodes ricinus. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 2002/12/03 edition. 2003, 33(1):103-113.
- Lewis S, Ashburner M, Reese MG: Annotating eukaryote genomes. Curr Opin Struct Biol 2000/06/14 edition. 2000, 10(3):349-354.
- 44. Werner A: Natural antisense transcripts. RNA Biol 2006/11/30 edition. 2005, 2(2):53-62.
- Werner A, Berdal A: Natural antisense transcripts: sound or silence? Physiol Genomics 2005/10/19 edition. 2005, 23(2):125-131.
- Kivirikko KI, Kishida Y, Sakakibara S, Prockop DJ: Hydroxylation of (X-Pro-Gly)n by protocollagen proline hydroxylase. Effect of chain length, helical conformation and amino acid sequence

in the substrate. Biochim Biophys Acta 1972/07/21 edition. 1972, 271(2):347-356.

- Barry JD, Ginger ML, Burton P, McCulloch R: Why are parasite contingency genes often associated with telomeres? Int J Parasitol 2003/01/28 edition. 2003, 33(1):29-45.
- Kamenetzky L, Muzulin PM, Gutierrez AM, Angel SO, Zaha A, Guarnera EA, Rosenzvit MC: High polymorphism in genes encoding antigen B from human infecting strains of Echinococcus granulosus. *Parasitology* 2005/12/13 edition. 2005, 131(Pt 6):805-815.
- Geraci NS, Spencer Johnston J, Paul Robinson J, Wikel SK, Hill CA: Variation in genome size of argasid and ixodid ticks. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 2007/04/26 edition. 2007, 37(5):399-408.
- Harvey AL: Twenty years of dendrotoxins. Toxicon 2000/08/11 edition. 2001, 39(1):15-26.
- Ruoslahti E, Pierschbacher MD: New perspectives in cell adhesion: RGD and integrins. Science 1987/10/23 edition. 1987, 238(4826):491-497.
- Gould RJ, Polokoff MA, Friedman PA, Huang TF, Holt JC, Cook JJ, Niewiarowski S: Disintegrins: a family of integrin inhibitory proteins from viper venoms. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1990/11/01 edition. 1990, 195(2):168-171.
- 53. Karczewski J, Endris R, Connolly TM: Disagregin is a fibrinogen receptor antagonist lacking the Arg-Gly-Asp sequence from the tick, Ornithodoros moubata. J Biol Chem 1994/03/04 edition. 1994, 269(9):6702-6708.
- Mans BJ, Louw AI, Neitz AW: Disaggregation of aggregated platelets by savignygrin, a alphallbeta3 antagonist from Ornithodoros savignyi. Exp Appl Acarol 2003/02/21 edition. 2002, 27(3):231-239.
- 55. Wang X, Coons LB, Taylor DB, Stevens SE Jr., Gartner TK: Variabilin, a novel RGD-containing antagonist of glycoprotein IIb-IIIa and platelet aggregation inhibitor from the hard tick Dermacentor variabilis. J Biol Chem 1996/07/26 edition. 1996, 271(30):17785-17790.
- Barry ST, Ludbrook SB, Murrison E, Horgan CM: A regulated interaction between alpha5beta1 integrin and osteopontin. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2000/02/16 edition. 2000, 267(3):764-769.
- Soderhall Í, Kim YA, Jiravanichpaisal P, Lee SY, Soderhall K: An ancient role for a prokineticin domain in invertebrate hematopoiesis. J Immunol 2005/05/10 edition. 2005, 174(10):6153-6160.
- Li M, Bullock CM, Knauer DJ, Ehlert FJ, Zhou QY: Identification of two prokineticin cDNAs: recombinant proteins potently contract gastrointestinal smooth muscle. *Mol Pharmacol* 2001/ 03/22 edition. 2001, 59(4):692-698.
- LeCouter J, Zlot C, Tejada M, Peale F, Ferrara N: Bv8 and endocrine gland-derived vascular endothelial growth factor stimulate hematopoiesis and hematopoietic cell mobilization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2004/11/19 edition. 2004, 101(48):16813-16818.
- Bullock CM, Li JD, Zhou QY: Structural determinants required for the bioactivities of prokineticins and identification of prokineticin receptor antagonists. *Mol Pharmacol* 2004/02/24 edition. 2004, 65(3):582-588.
- Mans BJ, Neitz AW: Exon-intron structure of outlier tick lipocalins indicate a monophyletic origin within the larger lipocalin family. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 2004/05/19 edition. 2004, 34(6):585-594.
- 62. Paesen GC, Adams PL, Nuttall PA, Stuart DL: Tick histamine-binding proteins: lipocalins with a second binding cavity. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2000/11/04 edition. 2000, 1482(1-2):92-101.
- Armstrong PB, Quigley JP: Alpha2-macroglobulin: an evolutionarily conserved arm of the innate immune system. Dev Comp Immunol 1999/07/30 edition. 1999, 23(4-5):375-390.
- Saravanan T, Weise C, Sojka D, Kopacek P: Molecular cloning, structure and bait region splice variants of alpha2-macroglobulin from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 2003/07/25 edition. 2003, 33(8):841-851.
- Xu G, Fang QQ, Keirans JE, Durden LA: Cloning and sequencing of putative calreticulin complementary DNAs from four hard tick species. J Parasitol 2004/03/26 edition. 2004, 90(1):73-78.
- 66. Sonenshine DE, Ceraul SM, Hynes WE, Macaluso KR, Azad AF: Expression of defensin-like peptides in tick hemolymph and midgut in response to challenge with Borrelia burgdorferi,

Escherichia coli and Bacillus subtilis. Exp Appl Acarol 2003/10/23 edition. 2002, 28(1-4):127-134.

- Nathoo AN, Moeller RA, Westlund BA, Hart AC: Identification of neuropeptide-like protein gene families in Caenorhabditiselegans and other species. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001/11/22 edition. 2001, 98(24):14000-14005.
- Arolas JL, Bronsoms S, Ventura S, Aviles FX, Calvete JJ: Characterizing the tick carboxypeptidase inhibitor: molecular basis for its two-domain nature. J Biol Chem 2006/06/09 edition. 2006, 281(32):22906-22916.
- Grubhoffer L, Hypsa V, Volf P: Lectins (hemagglutinins) in the gut of the important disease vectors. *Parasite* 1998/05/20 edition. 1997, 4(3):203-216.
- Rego RO, Hajdusek O, Kovar V, Kopacek P, Grubhoffer L, Hypsa V: Molecular cloning and comparative analysis of fibrinogenrelated proteins from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata and the hard tick Ixodes ricinus. *Insect Biochem Mol Biol* 2005/06/ 28 edition. 2005, 35(9):991-1004.
- Zhu K, Bowman AS, Dillwith JW, Sauer JR: Phospholipase A2 activity in salivary glands and saliva of the lone star tick (Acari: Ixodidae) during tick feeding. J Med Entomol 1998/08/14 edition. 1998, 35(4):500-504.
- Tfelt-Hansen J, Yano S, Bandyopadhyay S, Carroll R, Brown EM, Chattopadhyay N: Expression of pituitary tumor transforming gene (PTTG) and its binding protein in human astrocytes and astrocytoma cells: function and regulation of PTTG in U87 astrocytoma cells. Endocrinology 2004/06/05 edition. 2004, 145(9):4222-4231.
- Ciprandi A, de Oliveira SK, Masuda A, Horn F, Termignoni C: Boophilus microplus: its saliva contains microphilin, a small thrombin inhibitor. *Exp Parasitol* 2006/04/08 edition. 2006, 114(1):40-46.
- Wang H, Kaufman WR, Cui WW, Nuttall PA: Molecular individuality and adaptation of the tick Rhipicephalus appendiculatus in changed feeding environments. Med Vet Entomol 2002/01/05 edition. 2001, 15(4):403-412.
- Sauer JR, McSwain JL, Bowman AS, Essenberg RC: Tick salivary gland physiology. Annu Rev Entomol 1995/01/01 edition. 1995, 40:245-267.
- Anderson JM, Oliveira F, Kamhawi S, Mans BJ, Reynoso D, Seitz AE, Lawyer P, Garfield M, Pham M, Valenzuela JG: Comparative salivary gland transcriptomics of sandfly vectors of visceral leishmaniasis. BMC Genomics 2006/03/17 edition. 2006, 7:52.
- Ewing B, Green P: Base-calling of automated sequencer traces using phred. II. Error probabilities. Genome Res 1998/05/16 edition. 1998, 8(3):186-194.
- Huang X, Madan A: CAP3: A DNA sequence assembly program. Genome Res 1999/10/06 edition. 1999, 9(9):868-877.
- Ältschul SF, Madden TL, Schaffer AA, Zhang J, Zhang Z, Miller W, Lipman DJ: Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. Nucleic Acids Res 1997/09/01 edition. 1997, 25(17):3389-3402.
- Marchler-Bauer A, Panchenko AR, Shoemaker BA, Thiessen PA, Geer LY, Bryant SH: CDD: a database of conserved domain alignments with links to domain three-dimensional structure. Nucleic Acids Res 2001/12/26 edition. 2002, 30(1):281-283.
- Tatusov RL, Fedorova ND, Jackson JD, Jacobs AR, Kiryutin B, Koonin EV, Krylov DM, Mazumder R, Mekhedov SL, Nikolskaya AN, Rao BS, Smirnov S, Sverdlov AV, Vasudevan S, Wolf YI, Yin JJ, Natale DA: The COG database: an updated version includes eukaryotes. BMC Bioinformatics 2003/09/13 edition. 2003, 4:41.
- Bateman A, Birney E, Durbin R, Eddy SR, Howe KL, Sonnhammer EL: The Pfam protein families database. Nucleic Acids Res 1999/12/ 11 edition. 2000, 28(1):263-266.
- 83. Schultz J, Copley RR, Doerks T, Ponting CP, Bork P: **SMART:** a **web-based tool for the study of genetically mobile domains.** Nucleic Acids Res 1999/12/11 edition. 2000, **28(1):**231-234.
- Nielsen H, Engelbrecht J, Brunak S, von Heijne G: A neural network method for identification of prokaryotic and eukaryotic signal peptides and prediction of their cleavage sites. Int J Neural Syst 1999/03/05 edition. 1997, 8(5-6):581-599.

Article 2

A tick salivary protein targets cathepsin G and chymase and inhibits host inflammation and platelet aggregation

Chmelar J, Oliveira CJ, Rezacova P, Francischetti IM, Kovarova Z, Pejler G, Kopacek P, Ribeiro JM, Mares M, Kopecky J, Kotsyfakis M.

Blood. 2011 Jan 13;117(2):736-44.

DOI: 10.1182/blood-2010-06-293241

The first paper we published on *I. ricinus* serpins described serpin named IRS-2 (Ixodes ricinus serpin-2). We succeeded in the production of large quantity of LPS free recombinant protein and were therefore able to perform thorough analysis that included *in vivo* experiments on mice and structural study.

IRS-2 is a strong inhibitor of mast cell chymase and cathepsin-G. Both proteases are involved in the activation and amplification of inflammatory response, therefore we predicted some antiinflammatory activity. Indeed, IRS-2 inhibited the recruitment of neutrophils to the site of inflammation in the mouse model of paw edema induced by an injection of 2% solution of carrageenan in saline. The edema itself was also diminished. In addition, IRS-2 inhibited the aggregation of platelets induced by cathepsin G, showing also anti-hemostatic potential. Finally, we solved the crystal structure of IRS-2 in cleaved, stable state. This confirmed tyrosine in P1 site of the serpin.

The significance of this article lies in the fact that the study was published in highly impacted journal and therefore it brought tick serpins into spotlight of tick research. It was also the first publication of parasitic serpin crystal structure, which later served as a template for further structural studies on tick serpins.

Author's contribution:

Author designed the experiments, performed RT-qPCR, produced recombinant protein and performed experiments with mast cells and mast cell proteases. He analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript.



A tick salivary protein targets cathepsin G and chymase and inhibits host inflammation and platelet aggregation

Jindrich Chmelar,^{1,2} Carlo J. Oliveira,³ Pavlina Rezacova,⁴ Ivo M. B. Francischetti,⁵ Zuzana Kovarova,⁴ Gunnar Pejler,⁶ Peter Kopacek,¹ José M. C. Ribeiro,⁵ Michael Mares,⁴ Jan Kopecky,¹ and Michail Kotsyfakis¹

¹Institute of Parasitology, Biology Centre of the Academy of Sciences of Czech Republic, Ceske Budejovice, Czech Republic; ²Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, Ceske Budejovice, Czech Republic; ³Department of Biochemistry and Immunology, School of Medicine of Ribeirão Preto, University of São Paulo, Ribeirão Preto, Brazil; ⁴Institute of Organic Chemistry and Biochemistry of the Academy of Sciences of Czech Republic, Prague, Czech Republic; ⁵National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health, Rockville, MD; and ⁶Department of Anatomy, Physiology and Biochemistry, Biomedical Centre, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden

Platelet aggregation and acute inflammation are key processes in vertebrate defense to a skin injury. Recent studies uncovered the mediation of 2 serine proteases, cathepsin G and chymase, in both mechanisms. Working with a mouse model of acute inflammation, we revealed that an exogenous salivary protein of *lxodes ricinus*, the vector of Lyme disease pathogens in Europe, extensively inhibits edema formation and influx of neutrophils in the inflamed tissue. We named this tick salivary gland secreted effector as *I ricinus* serpin-2 (IRS-2), and we show that it primarily inhibits cathepsin G and chymase, while in higher molar excess, it affects thrombin activity as well. The inhibitory specificity was explained using the crystal structure, determined at a resolution of 1.8 Å. Moreover, we disclosed the ability of IRS-2 to inhibit cathepsin G-induced and thrombininduced platelet aggregation. For the first time, an ectoparasite protein is shown to exhibit such pharmacological effects and target specificity. The stringent specificity and biological activities of IRS-2 combined with the knowledge of its structure can be the basis for the development of future pharmaceutical applications. (*Blood.* 2011; 117(2):736-744)

Introduction

The first response of a vertebrate organism to a skin injury involves blood coagulation, vasoconstriction, platelet aggregation, and innate immune mechanisms, such as inflammation and complement activation, that have an important antibacterial role. Upon a tick bite, these mechanisms are activated as a first line of defense and are dependent, among others, on serine protease cascades (in blood coagulation and complement activation) or on the proteolytic activation of bioactive peptides, such as chemokines, vasoconstrictors, or protease-activated receptors (PARs). Previous studies demonstrated that these serine protease–dependent processes are regulated by endogenous inhibitors. To prevent pathophysiological conditions, proteases and inhibitors must be in balance; in the case of an exogenous inhibitor (eg, of parasitic origin) infiltrating the system, this balance will be impaired.

This phenomenon is also observed in the saliva of hematophagous arthropod ectoparasites, including ticks.¹ The saliva of ixodid ticks plays a crucial role at the tick-host interface not only because it contains numerous proteins that affect many host nonspecific defensive mechanisms, such as inflammation, blood coagulation, and platelet aggregation, but also because it can target acquired immunity.² Activation of these host physiological mechanisms immediately after a tick bite would be detrimental for tick feeding success, and therefore it is vital for the tick to overcome them. Investigation of the underlying mechanism, although time consuming, revealed salivary constituents with pharmacologic activities targeting vertebrate host defense, including molecules with antiinflammatory potential.^{3,4} This process was accelerated by recent transcript-sequencing projects on tick salivary glands (ie, sialotranscriptomics), where numerous salivary protein candidates were identified that may account for the pharmacologic properties of tick saliva.⁵⁻⁷

Of interest, a number of genes encoding for potential serine protease inhibitors were identified in *Ixodes spp* salivary glands, including serpins, the largest, most diverse family of protease inhibitors. The mode of action of serpins is unique and depends on their folding and the primary structure of specific conserved domains. The literature dealing with the structural and functional properties of serpins and the evolution of this protein family is reviewed elsewhere.^{8,9} More than 60 serpins were identified at the sequence level in ixodid ticks, largely due to the completed I scapularis genome¹⁰⁻¹⁴; however, only 1 tick serpin originating from I ricinus, the vector of Lyme disease pathogens in Europe, has been functionally characterized.14 The serpin was named I ricinus immunosuppressant (IRIS), and it targets the serine protease, elastase. Despite not bearing a classical secretion signal, it can affect vertebrate hemostasis apart from vertebrate immunity.¹⁵ Recently, Prevot and colleagues showed the involvement of an exosite domain in the anti-inflammatory activity of IRIS. Surprisingly, unlike its antihemostatic activity, the anti-inflammatory properties of IRIS are independent of its inhibitory nature.¹⁶ Thus, the inhibitory function of IRIS was not directly shown to be responsible for its observed immunomodulatory properties, so the answer-whether salivary serpins can mimic the function of vertebrate regulators and thus immunomodulate the host-

© 2011 by The American Society of Hematology

Submitted June 25, 2010; accepted September 29, 2010. Prepublished online as *Blood* First Edition paper, October 12, 2010; DOI 10.1182/blood-2010-06-293241.

The publication costs of this article were defrayed in part by page charge payment. Therefore, and solely to indicate this fact, this article is hereby marked "advertisement" in accordance with 18 USC section 1734.

The online version of this article contains a data supplement.

remained undisclosed. The same is true for the structural basis of IRIS function. Apart from IRIS, no other serpin from I ricinus has been described to date.

Here, we present the functional characterization of a novel inhibitory serpin from the saliva of the tick, I ricinus, that we named I ricinus serpin-2 (IRS-2). It bears a clear secretion signal and inhibits edema formation and neutrophil influx in the inflamed tissues in a mouse model of acute inflammation. The protein targets primarily 2 proinflammatory serine proteases, cathepsin G and mast cell chymase, and, in higher molar excess, thrombin. Because of its inhibitory activity, IRS-2 blocks cathepsin G- and thrombininduced platelet aggregation, thus playing a dual role during tick feeding, as it can interfere with both inflammation and wound healing. We also determined a high-resolution crystal structure of IRS-2 that provides structural insight into the observed inhibitory specificity. This is the first report of the crystal structure of a serpin isolated from a parasitic organism. Moreover, such a mechanism in which the parasite uses inhibition of cathepsin G and chymase to overcome the host defense system, has not been shown for any blood-feeding arthropod salivary constituent to date.

Methods

Unless otherwise indicated, standard procedures were followed,17 and experiments were performed at room temperature (25 \pm 1°C). All water used was of 18-M Ω quality produced by a MilliQ apparatus (Millipore). If not otherwise stated, all reagents were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, and all cells were cultured at 37°C under an atmosphere of 5% CO2. The procedures of gene cloning, sequence analysis, real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR), protein expression, and biochemical methods are detailed in supplemental Methods (available on the Blood Web site; see the Supplemental Materials link at the top of the online article).

Paw edema assay

Female C57BL/6 mice (6-8 weeks old) were used. The mice were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory and maintained in the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) Animal Care Facility under pathogen-free conditions in temperature-controlled rooms, receiving water and food ad libitum. All treatments were performed in accordance with the National Institutes of Health [NIH]'s Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, and the animal study protocols were approved by the Division of Intramural Research/NIAID Animal Care and Use Committee. The carrageenan-induced hind-paw inflammation model was used to investigate the potential anti-inflammatory role of IRS-2. Before each injection, the basal footpad thickness of each mouse was recorded using a caliper (Mitutoyo America Corp). Subsequently, 40 µL of carrageenan (2% in saline) was administered by intraplantar injection in each footpad in the absence or presence of different concentrations of lipopolysaccharide-free IRS-2. As a control, each group of mice received the same volume of saline (vehicle) in the presence of IRS-2 only. The same experimental design and concentrations were used for chymostatin, a generic protease inhibitor, and indomethacin, a nonsteroid anti-inflammatory compound. Each effector was coadministered with carrageenan in the mouse footpad. As an index of edema formation, paw thickness (in millimeters) was measured at 4 and 24 hours after injection, and myeloperoxidase (MPO) activity was measured to estimate the potential effect of IRS-2 on neutrophil migration. For details, please see supplemental Methods.

Isolation and cultivation of PCMCs

Animal experiments were performed in accordance with protocols approved by the local ethical committee. Peritoneal cells were obtained from 6-8-week-old C57BL/6 mice by lavage of the peritoneal cavity with ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), washed in fresh PBS, and modified Eagle medium with GlutaMAX (Gibco), 10% of conditioned media from Chinese hamster ovary cells transfected with mouse stem cell factor (a gift from Dr Marc Daeron), 10% fetal calf serum, 1% penicillinstreptomycin (Invitrogen), 1% minimum essential medium with nonessential amino acids (Gibco), and 50µM mercaptoethanol. Nonadherent cells (mainly peritoneal cell-derived mast cells [PCMCs]) were collected and resuspended in fresh medium to a concentration 10⁵ cells/mL every third day. After 6 weeks of cultivation, the enriched PCMCs were used for experiments.

Preparation of washed human platelets and platelet aggregation assays

Platelet-rich plasma was obtained by plateletpheresis from medication-free, adult, healthy platelet donors at the Department of Transfusion Medicine/ NIH blood bank under the direction of Dr S. Leitmann as described elsewhere.¹⁸ Briefly, after the addition of 0.2 U/mL apyrase, platelet-rich plasma was centrifuged at $1100 \times g$ for 15 minutes and washed twice by centrifugation in Tyrode buffer (137mM NaCl, 27mM KCl, 12mM NaHCO₃, 0.42mM NaH₂PO₄, 1mM MgCl₂, 5.55mM glucose, 0.25% bovine serum albumin; pH 7.4). Platelets were resuspended in apyrase-free Tyrode buffer and adjusted to a concentration of 200 000-400 000 platelets/ µL. Washed human platelets (300 µL) were placed in a Chrono-Log Lumi-aggregometer (Chrono-Log Corp) and stirred at 1200 rpm at 37°C for 1 minute, followed by the addition of reagents, as indicated in the figure legends. In all experiments, 1.5µM IRS-2 was preincubated for 15 minutes with the various effectors tested, and the mixture was added to platelets.

Crystallization and data collection

Details of the crystallization procedure and diffraction data collection are reported elsewhere.¹⁹ Crystals of IRS-2 were prepared at 20°C using the hanging-drop, vapor-diffusion technique. The crystallization drop consisted of 2 µL of the IRS-2 solution (3.5 mg/mL in 20mM HEPES [N-2hydroxyethylpiperazine-N'-2-ethanesulfonic acid]; pH 7.2) and 1 µL of the reservoir solution (75mM MES [2-(N-morpholino)ethanesulfonic acid], pH 6.5, 9% [wt/vol] polyethylene glycol 20 000). For data collection, crystals were soaked in reservoir solution supplemented with 20% (vol/vol) polyethylene glycol 400 and flash-cooled in liquid nitrogen. Diffraction data were collected at 100 K using the X12 EMBL beamline (DESY) and processed using the HKL-2000 suite of programs.²⁰ Crystals exhibited the symmetry of space group P43 and contained 2 molecules in the asymmetric unit. Crystal parameters and data collection statistics are given in supplemental Table 1.

Structure determination

The structure of IRS-2 was solved by molecular replacement using the MoLrep 9.2 program.²¹ The search model was derived from the structure of the equine leukocyte elastase inhibitor in R-state conformation (Protein Data Bank [PDB] code 1HLE).22 Model refinement was carried out using the program REFMAC 5.323 from the CCP4 package.24 Manual building was done using Coot.25 Tight noncrystallographic symmetry restraints were applied during initial refinement; in later stages, the restraints were loosened as guided by the behavior of $R_{\rm free}.$ The final steps included translation, libration, and screw refinement.^26 The quality of the final models was validated with MoLProbity server.27 Final refinement statistics are given in supplemental Table 1. Figures showing structural representations were prepared with the program PyMOL 0.99 (DeLano Scientific).28 The DALI server was used to search for structural homologs.²⁹ Ramachandran plot statistics were determined by PROCHECK.30

Results

Cloning of serpins from I ricinus

The sequences of numerous serine protease inhibitors from the resuspended in growth medium. The growth medium was Dulbecco serpin superfamily have been identified from various ixodid tick



Figure 1. Alignment of the 4 full-length I ricinus serpin clones with their orthologs from I scapularis obtained from the completed I scapularis genome. All serpins are compared with IRIS, the only functionally characterized tick serpin so far. Unlike IRIS, IRS-2 has a clear signal peptide (residues 1-21). The secondary structure elements are indicated according to the IRS-2 crystal structure: α-helixes (cylinders), β-strands (arrows); the hatched arrow represents the region that undergoes a conformational change from a loop to a β -strand after proteolytic cleavage of RCL. SP, signal peptide; hinge, hinge region, an important determinant of serpin inhibitory potential; RCL, reactive center loop; P1 (rectangle), predicted residue behind which the target protease cleaves the RCL

species, and it is also known that the family is represented in I ricinus salivary glands.¹⁴ However, the knowledge of I ricinus salivary serpins, and the function of tick serpins in general, is limited to IRIS, a serpin that does not follow a classical secretion pathway from the salivary glands. Therefore, with the aim to identify classically secreted I ricinus serpins (ie, those containing a clear signal peptide), we designed degenerate primers based on the 2 most conserved domains (NAIYFKG and PFLFFI) found in the alignment of 10 arthropod serpins, for which sequence data were available at that time. The obtained PCR-amplified fragment was radioactively labeled and used for the screening of a cDNA library prepared from salivary glands isolated from adult female ticks after 5 days of attachment to the host to find as many serpin clones as possible. Four different full-length serpin cDNA clones that contained signal peptide, namely, IRS-1, -2, -4, and -8 (National Center for Biotechnology Information accession numbers DQ915842, DQ915843, DQ915844, and DQ915845), were identified. Orthologs for all 4 genes can be found in the genome of I scapularis (http://iscapularis.vectorbase.org/index.php), the vector of Lyme disease pathogens in the Eastern and Central parts of the United States. Amino-acid identity between the corresponding serpin orthologs varies from 94.9% for IRS-4 to 98.8% for IRS-8. The alignment in Figure 1 compares the 4 discovered serpins with the homologous proteins from *I scapularis* and with IRIS.¹⁴ All proteins, including IRIS, display putative inhibitory features in the 50

serpin hinge region, and all proteins except IRIS bear a clear signal peptide, suggesting a classical secretory mechanism from the salivary glands. Based on their amino acid (aa) sequence and on the preliminary prediction of the P1 position of each serpin, we proceeded with further analysis of IRS-2. More specifically, the predicted P2-P2' sequence of the IRS-2-reactive center loop is Pro-Tyr-Ser-Leu with the tyrosine at the P1 position, suggesting antichymotrypsin, rather than antitrypsin, specificity. Mature IRS-2 is a 376-aa protein, weakly acidic with pI 5.53; the predicted molecular weight was 41.9 kDa. The unprocessed protein contains a 21-aa predicted signal peptide, according to the SignalP 3.0 server program.

IRS-2 expression is up-regulated after tick attachment

Next, we determined the expression profile of IRS-2 in different tick tissues throughout the feeding period of adult ticks using quantitative real-time PCR (Figure 2). IRS-2 displayed 36 times higher mRNA expression in tick salivary glands at day 6 after tick attachment to the host, compared with salivary glands derived from unfed ticks. Already, at day 2 after attachment, the expression was 9-fold higher than in unfed ticks, suggesting a role in the tick salivary glands, even in the early stage of tick feeding. The increase of IRS-2 gene expression was also notable in tick ovaries, with a 4-fold increase at day 6 after attachment. Finally, IRS-2 transcript abundance fluctuated in the tick midgut as feeding progressed.





Figure 2. Expression of IRS-2 is up-regulated after tick attachment to the host. IRS-2 transcripts accumulate rapidly in salivary glands after the attachment of an adult I ricinus female, less rapidly in its ovaries, and they remain almost unchanged in its midgut. Each bar in the graph represents the ratio between IRS-2 transcript abundance in a certain tick tissue and a given tick feeding stage, compared with the corresponding tissue from unfed ticks (ie, the black bar in the salivary glands part of the graph shows that the transcript abundance of IRS-2 mRNA is 20× higher in the salivary glands of fully fed adult female ticks than in the salivary glands of unfed females). The scale in the y-axis is logarithmic.

IRS-2 inhibits acute inflammation

Induction of IRS-2 transcription in the salivary glands upon blood feeding and the known anti-inflammatory properties of tick saliva led us to investigate whether IRS-2 could contribute to the immunomodulatory activity of tick saliva. For this purpose, we produced recombinant IRS-2 in a bacterial expression system and proceeded with lipopolysaccharide decontamination. Subsequently, we assessed its effect in a mouse model of acute inflammation. It is well described that when carrageenan is inoculated in the mouse footpad, it induces an acute inflammatory response characterized by edema formation in the paw accompanied by neutrophil influx.³¹ To investigate whether IRS-2 could modulate carrageenan-induced inflammation, carrageenan was administered in the mouse footpads in the presence or absence of IRS-2. When carrageenan was injected in the presence of IRS-2, a dose-dependent inhibition of edema formation was observed (Figure 3 A). More specifically, in the presence of 1 mg/kg of IRS-2, the thickness of the mouse paw was similar to that of negative controls; that is, PBS-injected mice (data not shown) or mice injected with IRS-2 only (Figure 3A). The decrease in edema formation reached 67.2% (P < .001) at 4 hours after injection, compared with positive control (carrageenan-injected footpads). This was not 100% because there was a background increase in paw thickness even when injecting vehicle alone, since the inoculum (40 µL of liquid) could not be completely absorbed by the footpad within 4 hours. The inhibition observed after 4 hours of carrageenan injection with IRS-2 at the concentration 0.3 mg/kg was 23.4%, compared with positive control, and it was not statistically significant (Figure 3A). At 24 hours after injection, there were no differences in edema formation in any of the experimental groups of mice. Next, we analyzed carrageenaninduced recruitment of neutrophils in the footpads by measuring tissue MPO activity. The experimental design was the same as in the paw edema experiment. MPO activity in the tissue was evaluated at 4 hours after injection, the time point at which edema peaks. Statistically significant inhibition (P < .05) of MPO activity (34.3%) was observed even when 0.3 mg/kg of IRS-2 was coadministered with carrageenan. Inhibition reached 71.6% when 1 mg/kg of IRS-2 was coadministered with carrageenan (P < .001; Figure 3B). Finally, we normalized the detected MPO activity for the number of neutrophils per milligram of inflamed tissue, and we further evaluated the effect of chymostatin (a generic inhibitor of 51



Figure 3. IRS-2 inhibits carrageenan-induced acute inflammation. Mice received carrageenan injections intraplantary in either the absence or presence of 0.3 or 1 mg/kg IRS-2. (A) Edema formation was evaluated at 4 and 24 hours after injection (abscissa) as the increase in paw thickness (in millimeters). (B) Neutrophil recruitment in inflamed footpads was evaluated by measuring tissue myeloperoxidase activity, expressed as units of activity/g of tissue (ordinate). Bar 1 (numbering left to right), activity detected when only carrageenan was administered to mice; bars 2 and 3, effect of coadministration of carrageenan with 0.3 and 1 mg of IRS-2 per 1 kg of body weight, respectively. Bar 4, IRS-2 injected without carrageenan. (C) Mice received injections of saline (-), carrageenan, carrageenan plus IRS-2 (1 mg/kg), indomethacin (0.3 and 1 mg/kg) or chymostatin (0.3 and 1 mg/kg). At 4 hours after injection, the hind paws were collected for MPO analysis and the amount of neutrophils per milligram of tissue was estimated by comparison with purified neutrophils. Asterisks represent statistically significant differences in MPO activity (*P < .05; **P < .01; and ***P < .001), compared with groups injected with carrageenan only (1-way analysis of variance followed by Tukey post-hoc test; n:4 in each group)

primarily chymotrypsin-like serine proteases) and indomethacin (a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory compound) on MPO activity/ neutrophil migration. Both effectors displayed similar inhibitory effect with IRS-2 on neutrophil migration (Figure 3C).

IRS-2 specifically targets cathepsin G and chymase

Given the observed anti-inflammatory effect of IRS-2, we proceeded to a more detailed analysis of the IRS-2 mechanism of action. Considering that serpins are potential inhibitors of serine proteases that play a role in inflammation, and that the bioinformatic analysis of IRS-2 reactive center loop (RCL) suggests an



Figure 4. Inhibitory specificity of IRS-2. IRS-2 (400nM) was tested against 16 different serine proteases in triplicates. The enzyme concentration is stated in supplemental Table 2. Bars represent the mean remaining enzymatic activity in the presence of IRS-2, while error bars represent the SEM. Enzymes with an asterisk were inhibited with a statistical significance (*t* test; P < .05).

inhibitory specificity against chymotrypsin-like, rather than trypsinlike, serine proteases, we tested the protein for inhibitory activity against a panel of pure recombinant human serine proteases. Recombinant IRS-2 was tested against an array of 14 different physiologically relevant serine proteases, in addition to α -chymotrypsin and trypsin, the 2 archetypes for chymotrypsin- and trypsin-like serine proteases. As shown in Figure 4, IRS-2 inhibited 2 trypsin-like (trypsin and thrombin) and 3 chymotrypsin-like (α -chymotrypsin, cathepsin G, and mast cell chymase) proteases significantly (P < .05), with higher activity against the latter group. IRS-2 did not inhibit a series of serine proteases related with the coagulation or inflammation, such as plasmin, factor Xa, factor XIa, or elastase and proteinase 3, suggesting a stringent specificity (Figure 4). Table 1 and Figure 5A-B summarize the concentrationdependence of IRS-2 inhibition for all 5 targeted enzymes. Table 1 further describes the binding characteristics for thrombin, cathepsin G, and chymase, 3 physiologically relevant proteases. For further details on the related biochemical analysis, please see supplemental Results and supplemental Figures 1 and 2.

IRS-2 inhibits mMCP-4

Having dissected the target specificity of IRS-2, and considering that chymase (1 of the 2 targets of IRS-2) is released from mast cells upon acute inflammation, we next investigated whether IRS-2 would bind to mouse (the animal model used for the antiinflammatory experiments) mast cell protease-4 (mMCP-4). Furthermore, mMCP-4 is the main chymotrypsin-like serine protease produced by connective tissue–type mouse mast cells and is a functional homolog to the human chymase.³² Therefore, we evaluated the effect of IRS-2 on mMCP-4. Indeed, IRS-2 was found to inhibit mMCP-4 both in vitro and ex vivo. Analogous to the inhibition observed for human chymase, purified mMCP-4 was inhibited by IRS-2 in equimolar concentrations. The estimated inhibitory concentration at half-maximum of IRS-2 against purified mMCP-4 was 5.21nM, when using a 5nM concentration of the enzyme (Figure 5C). Moreover, IRS-2 inhibited the chymotryptic activity present in the suspension of ionomycin-activated PCMCs in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 5C). We also detected the formation of covalent mMCP-4/IRS-2 complexes by Western blot. Notably, mMCP-4/IRS-2 complexes were only detected in association with the cell layer, while no complexes were detected in the conditioned medium. The number of produced complexes was dependent on the concentration of IRS-2 (Figure 5D). More specifically, at 20nM concentration of IRS-2, most of the mMCP-4 remained in the free state, while at 50 and 200nM IRS-2, higher amounts of mMCP-4 were recovered in complex with IRS-2.

IRS-2 inhibits cathepsin G- and thrombin-induced platelet aggregation

Cathepsin G, the second target of IRS-2, plays a role in platelet aggregation, which is crucial in wound-healing processes that are essential for host ability to reject a blood-feeding tick. Therefore, we evaluated the effects of IRS-2 on cathepsin G-induced platelet aggregation, which is mediated by protease-activated receptor 4 (PAR4).³³ Figure 6A shows that cathepsin G-induced shape change and platelet aggregation was completely inhibited by 15-minute incubation with IRS-2 (Figure 6A). In higher excess to the enzyme, IRS-2 inhibited also thrombin-induced platelet aggregation (Figure 6B), which is mediated by PAR1 and PAR4. Collagen-induced (Figure 6C), convulxin-induced³⁴ (Figure 6D), U46619-induced (Figure 6E), and arachidonic acid-induced (Figure 6F) platelet aggregation remained unaffected, demonstrating the specificity in IRS-2-driven inhibition of platelet aggregation. These results suggest that IRS-2 interferes with platelet aggregation by blocking their activation through PARs, thus implicating IRS-2 as an inhibitor of wound-healing processes.

Structural analysis of IRS-2

Finally, we resolved the crystal structure of IRS-2, which was determined by molecular replacement and refined using data to 1.8 Å resolution. The structure of equine leukocyte elastase inhibitor (PDB code 1HLE) was used as a search model; this homolog had the highest sequence similarity with IRS-2 (35% identity) among the serpin structures available in the PDB. The tetragonal crystal form of IRS-2 contains 2 molecules in the asymmetric unit with solvent content of 45%. The root mean square deviation (RMSD) for superposition of the main-chain atoms of these

Table 1. A tabular representation of IRS-2 inhibition characteristics for the targeted serine proteases

		-	-	
Enzyme	Amount of enzyme used, nM	IRS2 IC ₅₀ , nM	IC ₅₀ /enzyme ratio	Inhibitor characteristics
Cathepsin G	12.2	11.5 ± 0.7	0.94	Fast binding tight
Chymase	3.6	4 ± 0.2	1.11	Slow binding tight
Thrombin	0.02	170.3 ± 11	8515	Slow binding classical
α -chymotrypsin	0.038	0.38 ± 0.02	10	N/A
Trypsin	0.25	562.7 ± 27.3	2251	N/A

The amount of enzyme used in the assays as well as the inhibitory concentration at half-maximum (IC₅₀) of IRS-2 for these enzymes is stated in the first and second columns. The third column represents the ratio between IRS-2 IC₅₀ and enzyme concentration, and the last column shows the binding characteristics of the inhibitor to the targeted enzymes with the relevance in host physiology (ie, tight or classical inhibitor, fast binding, or slow binding to the enzyme). Because trypsin and α -chymotrypsin were not physiologically relevant to our studies, we did not further study their inhibition characteristics, as depicted in by N/A.

NA indicates not applicable.

Figure 5. IRS-2 is a serpin with activity against chymotrypsin-like, rather than trypsin-like, serine proteases. (A) Proteases targeted by IRS-2, a-chymotrypsin, chymase, cathepsin G, trypsin, and thrombin are inhibited by IRS-2. The amount of enzyme used is stated in Table 1. The mean remaining enzymatic activity in the presence of various concentrations of IBS-2 is represented, while the error bars represent the SEM in triplicate assays. (B) Inhibition data are normalized by plotting the remaining enzymatic activity (y-axis) against the IRS-2/enzyme ratio (x-axis). (C) Inhibition of purified mMCP-4 (5nM) or present in the suspension of activated mouse PCMCs by IRS-2. The mean remaining enzymatic activity in the presence of various concentrations of IRS-2 is presented (± SEM). (D) Western blot analysis showing covalent complex formation between IRS-2 and mMCP-4 produced by PCMCs. Notably, enzymatic activity and complexes between mMCP-4 and IRS-2 were predominantly cell associated, rather than being present in cell-free supernatants. Cells activated by ionomycin were used as positive control (+), and untreated cells were used as negative control (-). All samples with IRS-2 were activated by ionomycin.



2 molecules is 0.69 Å, a value within the range observed for different crystal structures of identical proteins.³⁵ Minor structural changes are localized in solvent-exposed loop regions. The N-terminal residue, Met1, represents a cloning artifact that is not part of the native protein sequence. Atomic coordinates of IRS-2 and experimental structure factors have been deposited in the PDB, with the accession code 3NDA.



Figure 6. IRS-2 inhibits platelet aggregation induced by cathepsin G. In all experiments, 1.5 μ M IRS-2 was incubated with the indicated amount of platelet aggregation activator for 15 minutes and the mixture was added to platelets. (-) activator only, (+) activator plus IRS-2.

Figure 7 shows the overall structure of IRS-2. It adopts a typical serpin fold composed of 3 large β -sheets and 9 α -helices. Both molecules in the asymmetric unit adopt a conformation known as the relaxed or R state of the serpins, in which the RCL is cleaved and inserted into the central β -sheet A as a strand, S4 (Figure 7A). Cleavage of RCL occurs during the crystallization process and is catalyzed by traces of contaminating proteases, as demonstrated in the crystallization study.¹⁹ The cleavage site is positioned at residue Tyr341, which represents the P1 substrate residue. In our structure, this residue has a well-defined electron density for its C-terminal carboxyl group. The P1′–P5′ residues of the cleaved RCL are disordered to various extents in the crystal structure; more specifically, residues 342-344 and 342-346 in molecules A and B, respectively, could not be modeled and are missing in the final structure.

A structural comparison of IRS-2 with structures from the serpin superfamily deposited in the PDB identified bovine antithrombin III (PDB code 1ATT) as the closest structural homolog (RMSD approximately 1.4 Å for 369 aligned residues). A lower structural similarity was found to typical representatives of the mammalian serpins, human α -1-antichymotrypsin (PDB code 2ACH, RMSD approximately 1.6 Å for 337 residues), human α -1-antitrypsin (PDB code 9API; RMSD approximately 1.8 Å for 335 residues), and to human corticosteroid-binding globulin and human plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PDB codes 2VDX and 3CVM; both RMSD approximately 1.7 Å for 363 residues). All the compared structures are in the R-state conformation; a superposition of selected structures with IRS-2 is presented in Figure 7B.

Discussion

Many *I scapularis* serpins possess Arg at the P1 position,¹⁰ which corresponds to typical cleavage sites for trypsin-like enzymes. This suggests their involvement in modulation or regulation of trypsin-like proteases involved in host-blood coagulation or tick hemo-lymph, probably with some redundancy in their function. On the



Figure 7. Crystal structure of IRS-2. (A) Overall 3-dimensional structure of IRS-2 in a cartoon representation. The central β-sheet A (magenta) and surrounding helices (cyan) are highlighted. The reactive center loop is cleaved in the relaxed (R-state) conformation of IRS-2 and forms the S4 β -strand (yellow) inserted into the β -sheet A; the termini generated by this proteolytic cleavage are marked by scissors. N- and C-termini of IRS-2 are labeled (N, C). (B) Stereo image showing a superposition of C α traces of IRS-2 (red) with 2 homologous mammalian serpins in the R-state conformation. Antithrombin III (blue; 1ATT) and α -1-antichymotrypsin (green; 2ACH) display a high level of similarity to IRS-2 with regard to structural homology and inhibitory specificity, respectively.

other hand, only 2 putative serpins that possess the aromatic aa (ie, Trp, Tyr, or Phe) at the P1 position can be found in the I scapularis genome, thus having the potential to inhibit chymase and other chymotrypsin-like proteases.³⁶ According to the nomenclature used by the VectorBase server (http://iscapularis.vectorbase.org), these serpins are encoded by the transcripts, ISCW004156-RA and ISCW011013-RA. The latter transcript is the homolog of IRS-2. Considering the preferential aa residues in the cleavage site for cathepsin G,37 we believe that IRS-2 is the only known salivary

IRS-2 interacts with proteases via a classical "suicide inhibition" mechanism of serpins. It involves cleavage of RCL and formation of S4 β -strand that is inserted in the middle of β -sheet A (Figure 7A). We determined a high-resolution crystal structure of the protease-cleaved IRS-2 that provided an experimental evidence of the Tyr residue at the P1 position. These structural data will be valuable for designing smaller peptides that may mimic IRS-2 inhibitory activities and its pharmacological actions. IRS-2 targets specifically the chymotrypsin-like proteases, cathepsin G and serpin from *I ricinus* that can target both cathepsin G and chymase. Both of these proteases are secreted after neutrophil (cathepsin G) and mast cell (chymase) activation, and they are involved in a whole range of physiological processes associated with the development of an acute inflammatory response and, in particular, in the cross-talk between neutrophils and platelets in the hemostatic process.³⁸ Cathepsin G is produced mainly by neutrophils, where it is stored in azurophile granules, but it may also be produced in low amounts by mast cells. Cathepsin G is known primarily for its ability to kill engulfed pathogens and for its role in tissue remodeling during inflammation. Furthermore, it is involved in the proteolytic activation of various chemoattractants and hormones as well as in cell signaling by cleaving PAR4, the latter having been identified as an important signaling receptor in inflammation and platelet activation.³⁹ Cleavage of PAR4 by cathepsin G is responsible for the platelet activation that leads to their aggregation and clot formation. Here, we showed, for the first time, that a tick salivary protein inhibits cathepsin G-induced platelet aggregation, which apparently helps the tick in obtaining its blood meal. In addition, we revealed that in higher molar excess, IRS-2 affects thrombin-induced platelet aggregation as well, further disclosing its multipotential role in inflammation and hemostasis through the modulation of PAR activation.

Besides preventing blood loss after an injury, activated platelets produce several chemokines and their precursors, which are further proteolyticaly processed. In this respect, the role of cathepsin G overlaps with that of chymase. Chymase is produced almost exclusively by mast cells that are resident in mucosal and connective tissues and it processes many substrates, such as angiotensin I, extracellular matrix components, and also several proinflammatory substances, such as interleukin-1ß and interleukin-18 precursors.³² Both cathepsin G and chymase activate connective tissue-activating peptide-III (CTAP-III), which is secreted by activated platelets, into an active neutrophil-activating peptide-2 (NAP-2), the chemokine responsible for further activation of neutrophils and their attraction to the site of injury. It was also shown that chymase is mainly responsible for CTAP-III/ NAP-2 conversion, and that activated mast cells displayed a 1000-fold higher conversion rate than activated neutrophils.⁴⁰ Other natural substrates for both enzymes are the big endothelins (ETs), the precursors for several vasoconstrictors with different potency. Their cleavage products are 31-aa fragments, denoted Ets (1-31), that, apart from being among the most potent vasoconstrictors, also act as chemoattractants for neutrophils and monocytes.⁴¹ Interestingly, the RCL of IRS-2 strongly resembles the chymase cleavage site in big ETs. The sequence in the P3-P3[/] region consists of VPY-SLG for IRS-2 and VPY-GLG for big ETs. We can therefore hypothesize that this is the result of convergent evolution that created almost identical recognition sites that target both cathepsin G and chymase on otherwise unrelated proteins. To our knowledge, this is the first time that a parasitic protein is shown to inhibit host proteases by mimicking host endogenous substrates. Moreover, structural comparison revealed significant structural homology of IRS-2 with α -1-antichymotrypsin, which is supposed to be a natural vertebrate host regulator of cathepsin G and mast cell chymase.

Neutrophil-derived cathepsin G and, in particular, mast cell chymase are present at the early stages of an acute inflammatory response, probably with some level of redundancy and/or cooperation in their functions. By inhibiting both enzymes, IRS-2 can significantly alter a defensive response to tissue destruction caused by a tick bite. Indeed, we demonstrated that IRS-2 inhibits carrageenan-induced acute inflammation and cathepsin G and ings relating to the biologic function of cathepsin G and mast cell chymase, we can hypothesize that both described effects may be mediated by proteolyticaly activated transducers and receptors during the early steps of inflammatory response that occurs after a tick bite. To explain the observed effects of IRS-2, we suggest that IRS-2 targets neutrophils, platelets, and mast cells at the early steps of their activation by preventing cathepsin G- or thrombin-driven platelet activation, which may lead to reduced CTAP-III release. Subsequently, IRS-2, similar to chymase inhibitors,⁴⁰ inhibits the cathepsin G- and chymase-catalyzed conversion of CTAP-III into NAP-2, resulting in impaired extravasation of neutrophils. The direct proof of the suggested, literature-based hypothesis exceeds the purpose of this work.

Here, we describe a mechanism of vertebrate host modulation that is novel not only for a tick salivary component, but to our knowledge for any parasite. Moreover, the dual specificity of IRS-2 for both cathepsin G and chymase is rare even among natural serine protease inhibitors in general. The saliva of I ricinus is a complex mixture of many proteins, including protease inhibitors with unknown specificity and function. This work describes a novel salivary protein that is unique among other salivary serpins of Ixodes spp-and proteases inhibitors in general-regarding both specificity and the mode of action in the vertebrate host. Therefore, the herein described findings contribute to our understanding of vertebrate physiology and parasite-host interaction, while the herein disclosed structural basis of IRS-2 activity can lead to the development of pharmaceutical applications in the near future.

Acknowledgments

We thank Ida Waern and Elin Rönnberg from the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences for help with mast cell experiments and the Swedish Research Council for financial support. We also thank Jan Erhart (Institute of Parasitology, Biology Center of the Academy of Sciences of Czech Republic) for providing ticks; Anderson Sá-Nunes (Institute of Biomedical Sciences, University of São Paulo) for discussions and help with the experimental design; and NIAID intramural editor Brenda Rae Marshall for assistance. We also thank the anonymous reviewers for critical and constructive comments and the editorial team of *Blood* for efficiently processing the manuscript.

This work was supported by grant no. IAA600960811 from the Grant Agency of the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, Research Center no. LC06009 from the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Czech Republic, and by grant no. Z60220518 of the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic. The structural element was supported by grant no. P207/10/2183 from the Grant Agency of the Czech Republic and research project Z40550506. Diffraction data were collected at beam line X12, EMBL-Hamburg outstation at DESY (Hamburg, Germany). I.M.B.F., J.M.C.R., and M.K. were supported by the Intramural Research Program of the Division of Intramural Research, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, NIH, and M.K. by a Jan Evengelista Purkyne fellowship of the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic.

Because I.M.B.F. and J.M.C.R. are government employees and this is a government work, the work is in the public domain in the United States. Notwithstanding any other agreements, the NIH reserves the right to provide the work to PubMedCentral for display and use by the public, and PubMedCentral may tag or modify the thrombin-induced platelet aggregation. According to recent find-55 work consistent with its customary practices. One can establish rights outside of the United States subject to a government-use license.

Authorship

Contribution: J.C., C.J.O., I.M.B.F., M.M., and M.K. designed and performed experiments, analyzed data, and wrote the manuscript;

References

- Ribeiro JM, Makoul GT, Levine J, Robinson DR, Spielman A. Antihemostatic, anti-inflammatory, and immunosuppressive properties of the saliva of a tick, Ixodes dammini. J Exp Med. 1985;161(2): 332-344.
- Francischetti IM, Sa-Nunes A, Mans BJ, Santos IM, Ribeiro JM. The role of saliva in tick feeding. *Front Biosci.* 2009;14:2051-2088.
- Deruaz M, Frauenschuh A, Alessandri AL, et al. Ticks produce highly selective chemokine binding proteins with anti-inflammatory activity. J Exp Med. 2008;205(9):2019-2031.
- Kotsyfakis M, Sa-Nunes A, Francischetti IM, Mather TN, Andersen JF, Ribeiro JM. Antiinflammatory and immunosuppressive activity of sialostatin L, a salivary cystatin from the tick, Ixodes scapularis. J Biol Chem. 2006;281(36): 26298-26307.
- Ribeiro JM, Alarcon-Chaidez F, Francischetti IM, et al. An annotated catalog of salivary gland transcripts from Ixodes scapularis ticks. *Insect Biochem Mol Biol.* 2006;36(2):111-129.
- Chmelar J, Anderson JM, Mu J, Jochim RC, Valenzuela JG, Kopecky J. Insight into the sialome of the castor bean tick, Ixodes ricinus. *BMC Genomics*. 2008;9:233.
- Francischetti IM, My Pham V, Mans BJ, et al. The transcriptome of the salivary glands of the female western black-legged tick, Ixodes pacificus (Acari: Ixodidae). *Insect Biochem Mol Biol*. 2005; 35(10):1142-1161.
- Potempa J, Korzus E, Travis J. The serpin superfamily of proteinase inhibitors: structure, function, and regulation. *J Biol Chem.* 1994;269(23): 15957-15960.
- Irving JA, Pike RN, Lesk AM, Whisstock JC. Phylogeny of the serpin superfamily: implications of patterns of amino acid conservation for structure and function. *Genome Res.* 2000; 10(12):1845-1864.
- Mulenga A, Khumthong R, Chalaire KC. Ixodes scapularis tick serine proteinase inhibitor (serpin) gene family: annotation and transcriptional analysis. *BMC Genomics*. 2009;10:217.
- Mulenga A, Khumthong R, Blandon MA. Molecular and expression analysis of a family of the Amblyomma americanum tick, Lospins. *J Exp Biol.* 2007;219(18):3188-3198.
- Sugino M, Imamura S, Mulenga A, et al. A serine proteinase inhibitor (serpin) from ixodid tick, Haemaphysalis longicornis: cloning and preliminary assessment of its suitability as a candidate for a tick vaccine. *Vaccine*. 2003;21(21-22): 2844-2851.
- Mulenga A, Tsuda A, Onuma M, Sugimoto C. Four serine proteinase inhibitors (serpin) from the brown ear tick, Rhiphicephalus appendiculatus: cDNA cloning and preliminary characterization. *Insect Biochem Mol Biol.* 2003;33(2):267-276.

- Leboulle G, Crippa M, Decrem Y, et al. Characterization of a novel salivary immunosuppressive protein from Ixodes ricinus ticks. *J Biol Chem.* 2002;277(12):10083-10089.
- Prevot PP, Adam B, Boudjeltia KZ, et al. Antihemostatic effects of a serpin from the saliva of the tick, Ixodes ricinus. *J Biol Chem.* 2006; 281(36):26361-26369.
- Prevot PP, Beschin A, Lins L, et al. Exosites mediate the anti-inflammatory effects of a multifunctional serpin from the saliva of the tick, Ixodes ricinus. *FEBS J.* 2009;276(12):3235-3246.
- Sambrook J, Fritsch EF, Maniatis T. Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual. 2nd ed. Cold Spring Harbor, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Press; 1989.
- Andersen JF, Francischetti IM, Valenzuela JG, Schuck P, Ribeiro JM. Inhibition of hemostasis by a high affinity biogenic amine-binding protein from the saliva of a blood-feeding insect. J Biol Chem. 2003;278(7):4611-4617.
- Kovářová Z, Chmelař J, Šanda M, Brynda J, Mareš M, Řezáčová P. Crystallization and diffraction analysis of the serpin, IRS-2, from the hard tick, *Ixodes ricinus. Acta Crystallogr F Struct Biol Cryst Commun.* In press.
- Minor W, Cymborowski M, Otwinowski Z, Chruszcz M. HKL-3000: the integration of data reduction and structure solution—from diffraction images to an initial model in minutes. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr. 2006;62(8):859-866.
- Vagin A, Teplyakov A. An approach to multi-copy search in molecular replacement. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr. 2000;56(12):1622-1624.
- Baumann U, Bode W, Huber R, Travis J, Potempa J. Crystal structure of cleaved equine leucocyte elastase inhibitor determined at 1.95 A resolution. J Mol Biol. 1992;226(4):1207-1218.
- Murshudov GN, Vagin AA, Dodson EJ. Refinement of macromolecular structures by the maximum-likelihood method. *Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr.* 1997;53(3):240-255.
- CCP4. The CCP4 suite: programs for protein crystallography. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr. 1994;50(5):760-763.
- Emsley P, Cowtan K. Coot: model-building tools for molecular graphics. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr. 2004;60(12,1):2126-2132.
- Winn MD, Isupov MN, Murshudov GN. Use of TLS parameters to model anisotropic displacements in macromolecular refinement. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr. 2001;57(1):122-133.
- Davis IW, Leaver-Fay A, Chen VB, et al. MolProbity: all-atom contacts and structure validation for proteins and nucleic acids. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2007;35(Web Server issue):W375-W383.
- 28. De Lano WL. The PyMOL Molecular Graphics

P.R. and Z.K. designed and performed experiments; and G.P., P.K., J.M.C.R., and J.K. designed experiments and analyzed data.

Conflict-of-interest disclosure: The authors declare no competing financial interests.

Correspondence: Michail Kotsyfakis, Institute of Parasitology, Biology Center of the Academy of Sciences of Czech Republic, Branisovska 31, 37005 Ceske Budejovice, Czech Republic; e-mail: kotsyfakis@paru.cas.cz.

System. San Carlos, CA: DeLano Scientific LLC; 2002.

- Holm L, Sander C. Searching protein structure databases has come of age. *Proteins*. 1994;19(3):165-173.
- Laskowski RA, Macarthur MW, Moss DS, Thornton JM. Procheck—a program to check the stereochemical quality of protein structures. *J Appl Cryst.* 1993;26:283-291.
- 31. Levy L. Carrageenan paw edema in the mouse. Life Sci. 1969;8(11):601-606.
- Pejler G, Abrink M, Ringvall M, Wernersson S. Mast cell proteases. *Adv Immunol.* 2007;95: 167-255.
- Sambrano GR, Huang W, Faruqi T, Mahrus S, Craik C, Coughlin SR. Cathepsin G activates protease-activated receptor-4 in human platelets. *J Biol Chem.* 2000;275(10):6819-6823.
- Francischetti IM, Saliou B, Leduc M, et al. Convulxin, a potent platelet-aggregating protein from Crotalus durissus terrificus venom, specifically binds to platelets. *Toxicon.* 1997;35(8):1217-1228.
- Betts MJ, Sternberg MJ. An analysis of conformational changes on protein-protein association: implications for predictive docking. *Protein Eng.* 1999;12(4):271-283.
- Andersson MK, Enoksson M, Gallwitz M, Hellman L. The extended substrate specificity of the human mast cell chymase reveals a serine protease with well-defined substrate recognition profile. *Int Immunol.* 2009;21(1):95-104.
- Rehault S, Brillard-Bourdet M, Juliano MA, Juliano L, Gauthier F, Moreau T. New, sensitive fluorogenic substrates for human cathepsin G based on the sequence of serpin-reactive site loops. J Biol Chem. 1999;274(20):13810-13817.
- Zarbock A, Polanowska-Grabowska RK, Ley K. Platelet-neutrophil-interactions: linking hemostasis and inflammation. *Blood Rev.* 2007;21(2): 99-111.
- McDougall JJ, Zhang C, Cellars L, Joubert E, Dixon CM, Vergnolle N. Triggering of proteinaseactivated receptor 4 leads to joint pain and inflammation in mice. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2009;60(3): 728-737.
- Schiemann F, Grimm TA, Hoch J, et al. Mast cells and neutrophils proteolytically activate chemokine precursor CTAP-III and are subject to counter-regulation by PF-4 through inhibition of chymase and cathepsin G. *Blood.* 2006;107(6): 2234-2242.
- Cui P, Tani K, Kitamura H, et al. A novel bioactive 31-amino-acid, endothelin-1, is a potent chemotactic peptide for human neutrophils and monocytes. *J Leukoc Biol.* 2001;70(2): 306-312.

Article 3

Ixodes ricinus salivary serpin IRS-2 affects Th17 differentiation via inhibition of the interleukin-6/STAT-3 signaling pathway

Páleníková J, Lieskovská J, Langhansová H, Kotsyfakis M, Chmelař J, Kopecký J.

Infect Immun. 2015 May;83(5):1949-56.

doi: 10.1128/IAI.03065-14

Since IRS-2 proved as an anti-inflammatory protein, we tried to find the mechanism behind. In this study, Jana Páleníková performed a series of assays with recombinant IRS-2 and found that it inhibited Th17 differentiation by affecting the interleukin-6 (IL-6)/STAT-3 signaling pathway. The production of IL-6 was diminished at the level of mRNA production by IRS-2 after activation with Borrelia spirochetes. This lead to attenuated STAT-3 phosphorylation and to impaired Th17 differentiation as was assessed by flow cytometry and ELISA. After IRS-2 treatment the population of Th17 cells decreased and also the production of Th17 specific cytokine IL-17A was significantly diminished. Since Th17 is a proinflammatory subset of CD4+ cells, we could assume that one of the mechanisms, how IRS-2 impair inflammatory response, is in preventing Th cells from differentiation into Th17 subset. Interestingly, the inhibition of IL-6 production was specific, other inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 β and TNF were not affected.

The significance of this study is in the disclosing of the mechanism how IRS-2 inhibits the inflammatory response.

Author's contribution:

Author produced and provided recombinant IRS-2 for the experiments and participated on writing of the manuscript.



Ixodes ricinus Salivary Serpin IRS-2 Affects Th17 Differentiation via Inhibition of the Interleukin-6/STAT-3 Signaling Pathway

Jana Páleníková,^{a,b} Jaroslava Lieskovská,^{a,b} Helena Langhansová,^{a,b} Michalis Kotsyfakis,^b Jindřich Chmelař,^{a,c} Jan Kopecký^{a,b}

Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, Branišovská, České Budějovice, Czech Republic^a; Institute of Parasitology, Biology Centre of the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, Branišovská, České Budějovice, Czech Republic^b; Department of Clinical Pathobiochemistry, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany^c

Th17 cells constitute a subset of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes that play a crucial role in protection against extracellular bacteria and fungi. They are also associated with tissue injury in autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. Here, we report that serpin from the tick *Ixodes ricinus*, IRS-2, inhibits Th17 differentiation by impairment of the interleukin-6 (IL-6)/STAT-3 signaling pathway. Following activation, mature dendritic cells produce an array of cytokines, including the pleiotropic cytokine IL-6, which triggers the IL-6 signaling pathway. The major transcription factor activated by IL-6 is STAT-3. We show that IRS-2 selectively inhibits production of IL-6 in dendritic cells stimulated with *Borrelia* spirochetes, which leads to attenuated STAT-3 phosphorylation and finally to impaired Th17 differentiation. The results presented extend the knowledge about the effect of tick salivary serpins on innate immunity cells and their function in driving adaptive immune responses.

icks are bloodsucking arthropods, major vectors of human pathogens like Borrelia burgdorferi and tick-borne encephalitis virus. Ticks from the family Ixodidae (hard ticks) require several days to fully engorge. During feeding, ixodid ticks remain tightly attached to their host (1, 2). To avoid attack from the host immune system during the feeding period, tick saliva contains two groups of molecules, the first with antihemostatic and the second with immunomodulatory properties. These groups include both proteinaceous and nonprotein molecules (3). One group of immunomodulatory proteins is represented by serine proteinase inhibitors (serpins), a large superfamily of structurally related, but functionally diverse, proteins that control essential proteolytic pathways (4, 5). Recently, three serine protease inhibitors, namely, purified human urinary trypsin inhibitor (UTI) and two synthetic serpins, gabextate mesilate (FOY) and nafamostat mesilate (FUT), which are widely used in treatment of acute inflammatory disorders, such as disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC), have been shown to attenuate allergic airway inflammation and remodeling in a murine model of chronic asthma. These effects were associated with inhibition of Th2 cytokines (interleukin-4 [IL-4], IL-5, IL-6, and IL-13) and Th17 cell functions. These serpins also inhibited NF-ĸB activation in lung tissues (6).

Until now, more than 60 serpins have been identified at the sequence level in ixodid ticks, but only two serpins from *Ixodes ricinus* have been further functionally characterized (7–9). The first known *I. ricinus* serpin, Iris (*I. ricinus* immunosuppressor), is known to preferentially target leukocyte elastase. It also interferes with the contact phase coagulation pathway, fibrinolysis, and disrupts platelet adhesion. Moreover, Iris has the ability to modulate both innate and adaptive immunity. It affects T lymphocyte and macrophage responsiveness, and it induces a Th2-type response and inhibits the production of proinflammatory cytokines. Interestingly, it was shown that the anti-inflammatory properties of the protein are independent of its proteolytic activity and are mediated through its exosite domain (10–13).

IRS-2, the second described serpin from *I. ricinus*, targets cathepsin G and chymase. Both enzymes are part of the acute inflammatory response and are produced by activated neutrophils

(cathepsin G) and mast cells (chymase). Moreover, IRS-2 is able to inhibit swelling and the migration of neutrophils into the inflamed tissue (14). The effects of IRS-2 on other cells of innate and acquired immunity have not been described so far.

Dendritic cells (DCs) are known as antigen-presenting cells and play a critical role in initiating and modulating the immune response. With their ability to recognize, process, and present antigens on their surfaces and thus activate T lymphocytes, DCs form a unique link between innate and acquired immunity (15, 16). Depending upon the recognized pathogens and other stimuli produced by activated DCs, such as cytokines and chemokines, T lymphocytes differentiate into cytotoxic CD8⁺ or helper CD4⁺ cells, which can further differentiate into various subsets (17). The IL-6/STAT-3 signaling pathway leads to differentiation of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes into the Th17 subset. IL-6, a pleiotropic cytokine produced by dendritic cells in response to invading pathogens, binds to IL-6 receptors on T cells and activates the signaling pathway, leading to phosphorylation of the transcription factor STAT-3, an essential molecule for Th17 differentiation (18, 19). Th17 cells participate in host defense against extracellular bacteria and fungi by mediating the recruitment of neutrophils and macrophages into infected tissues. It is also known that regulation of Th17 cells plays a significant role in the pathogenesis of various inflammatory and autoimmune disorders (20-22). Moreover, it was shown that Th17 cells are involved in

Received 10 December 2014 Returned for modification 1 January 2015 Accepted 20 February 2015

Accepted manuscript posted online 23 February 2015

Citation Páleníková J, Lieskovská J, Langhansová H, Kotsyfakis M, Chmelař J, Kopecký J. 2015. *Ixodes ricinus* salivary serpin IRS-2 affects Th17 differentiation via inhibition of the interleukin-6/STAT-3 signaling pathway. Infect Immun 83:1949–1956. doi:10.1128/IAI.03065-14.

Editor: A. J. Bäumler

Address correspondence to Jan Kopecký, jan@paru.cas.cz.

Copyright © 2015, American Society for Microbiology. All Rights Reserved. doi:10.1128/IAI.03065-14

the development of severe destructive arthritis caused by the Lyme disease spirochete *B. burgdorferi* (23).

The objective of this study was to analyze the effect of a tick salivary serpin on dendritic cells and its consequences for the development of proinflammatory cells, like Th17 lymphocytes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental animals. Specific-pathogen-free C57BL/6 mice (6- to 10week-old females) were purchased from Charles River Laboratories. The animals were maintained under standard conditions in the animal house facility of the Institute of Parasitology, Biology Centre AS CR, České Budějovice. All experiments were performed with permission of the Czech animal ethics committee.

Recombinant IRS-2. Recombinant serpin from *I. ricinus*, IRS-2, was overexpressed in *Escherichia coli* BL21(DE3) pLysS cells. The expressed protein accumulated in inclusion bodies, which were separated. Refolded and concentrated IRS-2 was purified using a standard chromatographic method (fast protein liquid chromatography [FPLC]) (14, 24). Lipopoly-saccharide (LPS) contamination was removed by Arvys Proteins Company using the detergent-based method.

Bacteria. *B. burgdorferi sensu stricto* ATCC 35211 isolated from *I. ricinus* was grown in Barbour-Stoenner-Kelly-H (BSK-H) medium (Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 6% rabbit serum at 34°C. The number of spirochetes was calculated by dark-field microscopy according to the method of Magnuson et al. (25). The fourth to sixth passages were used in the experiments.

Splenic DC isolation. Isolated mouse spleens were minced with scissors, digested in RPMI containing 0.25 mg/ml Liberase DL (Roche) and 0.2 mg/ml DNase I (Roche) at 37°C for 30 min, and passed through a 70- μ m nylon cell strainer (BD Falcon). The dendritic cells were isolated using magnetic beads conjugated with anti-CD11c antibody (Ab) and magnetically activated cell sorting (MACS) column separation following the manufacturer's instructions (Miltenyi Biotec). The purified dendritic cells were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal calf serum (FCS), 50 μ M 2-mercaptoethanol, 100 μ g/ml penicillin, and 100 U/ml streptomycin (all from Sigma-Aldrich). The purity of the isolated dendritic cells (~90% CD11c⁺ cells) was determined by subsequent fluorescence-activated cell sorter (FACS) analysis.

CD4⁺ T cell isolation. The fourth day after subcutaneous infection of mice with 1×10^5 *Borrelia* spirochetes, isolated mouse spleens were passed through a 70-µm nylon cell strainer (BD Falcon), and CD4⁺ T cells were isolated using magnetic beads conjugated with anti-CD4 Ab and MACS column separation following the manufacturer's instructions (Miltenyi Biotec). Purified CD4⁺ T cells were cultured in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal calf serum (FCS), 50 µM 2-mercaptoethanol, 100 µg/ml penicillin, and 100 U/ml streptomycin (all from Sigma-Aldrich). The purity of the isolated CD4⁺ T cells (≥90% CD4⁺ CD62L^{high}) was determined by FACS analysis.

Specific activation of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes. Purified splenic DCs were seeded at 5×10^4 cells per well in 96-well plates and stimulated with *Borrelia* spirochetes (5×10^5 per well) and IRS-2 (6μ M). After 24 h incubation, the medium was removed, and 3×10^5 freshly isolated *Borrelia*-primed CD4⁺ T lymphocytes in 200 µl of culture medium were added to each well. The T cells were incubated with DCs for 3 days before restimulation with phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) (20 ng/ml) and ionomycin (1 µM) (both Sigma-Aldrich). Cell-free culture supernatants for IL-17 and IL-9 assessment were harvested at 2, 6, 12, 24, and 48 h after restimulation.

To determine the number of IL-17-producing Th cells, *Borrelia*-exposed DCs and *Borrelia*-primed CD4⁺ T cells were cocultured as described above. On day 5 of coculture, the cells were restimulated with PMA and ionomycin and, after an additional 2 h, treated with monensin (2 μ M; eBiosciences). The cells were then incubated for 4 h before staining was performed with anti-IL-17 antibody conjugated with phycoerythrin (PE) (eBioscience).

Cytokine measurement. Freshly isolated dendritic cells were seeded at 2×10^5 cells per well on 96-well plates. The next day, the DCs were stimulated with *B. burgdorferi* spirochetes at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 10 (2×10^6 per well) in the presence or absence of IRS-2 (6 μ M). Cell-free culture supernatants were harvested 2, 9, 12, 24, or 48 h after stimulation and used for detection of IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-10, and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) with Ready-Set-Go! enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits (eBioscience) following the manufacturer's instructions. Cell-free culture supernatants for IL-17 and IL-9 assessment were prepared as described in "Specific activation of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes" above, and the amount of cytokines was measured with a Ready-Set-Go! ELISA kit (eBioscience) following the manufacturer's instructions. All reactions were performed in triplicate.

RNA extraction, quantitative real-time PCR, and mRNA half-life determination. To assess relative mRNA expression, DCs were seeded at 2×10^{6} cells per well in 24-well plates. The next day, the DCs were stimulated with *Borrelia* spirochetes at an MOI of 10 (2×10^7 per well) in the presence or absence of IRS-2 (6 µM) and incubated for 6 or 12 h. RNA was then isolated with the Nucleospin RNA II kit (Macherey-Nagel) following the manufacturer's instructions. The quality and concentration of the isolated RNA were assessed by measurement on a Nanophotometer P-330 (Implen). cDNA was synthesized with the High-Capacity RNA-to-cDNA kit (Applied Biosystems). Real-time PCR analysis was performed with a TaqMan gene expression set (Applied Biosystems) containing primers and probe specific for IL-6 and β -actin using a Rotor Gene 3000 and Rotor-Gene 6.0.19 software (Corbett Research). The relative expression of IL-6 mRNA was determined by the comparative threshold cycle (C_T) method (26), where the mouse β -actin gene was used as a housekeeping gene (Applied Biosystems). All reactions were performed in triplicate.

Immunoblotting. Freshly isolated dendritic cells were seeded at $1 \times$ 10⁶ cells per well in 24-well plates. The next day, the DCs were stimulated with *Borrelia* spirochetes at an MOI of 10 $(1 \times 10^7 \text{ per well})$ in the presence or absence of IRS-2 (6 µM). Following stimulation (15, 30, and 60 min for C/EBP, phosphorylated NF-KB [p-NF-KB], p-CREB, p-p-38, and p-ERK1/2 and 6 and 16 h for p-STAT-3), the cells were lysed in a modified RIPA buffer (1% Nonidet P-40, 0.25% sodium deoxycholate, 1 mM EGTA, 150 mM NaCl, and 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5) in the presence of protease and phosphatase inhibitors (10 µg/ml aprotinin, 1 µg/ml leupeptin, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride [PMSF], 1 µg/ml pepstatin, 25 mM NaF, and 2 mM NaVO₃). The protein extracts, mixed with Laemmli sample buffer, were separated by SDS-PAGE and transferred to Immobilon-P membranes. Following blocking in Tris-buffered saline (TBS)-containing 5% fat-free milk, the blots were incubated overnight with the antibodies against C/EBP, phospho-STAT-3 (Tyr⁷⁰⁵), phospho-NF-KB (Ser⁵³⁶), phospho-CREB (Ser¹³³), phospho-p38 (Thr¹⁸⁰), and phospho-ERK1/2 (Thr²⁰²) (all from Cell Signaling) and GAPDH (glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase) or β-actin (Santa Cruz Biotechnology). The proteins were visualized using enhanced chemiluminescence (Pierce), and their abundances were analyzed using a charge-coupled-device (CCD) imaging system (ChemiDoc MP Imaging System) and Image Lab software v. 4.1 (Bio-Rad).

To assess the level of phosphorylated STAT-3 in T lymphocytes, freshly isolated dendritic cells were seeded at 1. 5×10^5 per well in a 96-well plate. After 6 h, the DCs were stimulated with *Borrelia* spirochetes $(1\times10^7$ per well) in the presence or absence of IRS-2 (6 μM). The next day, cell-free culture supernatants were harvested and added to freshly isolated *Borrelia*-primed CD4⁺ T lymphocytes (9 $\times10^5$ per well). Following stimulation (15 and 30 min), the cells were lysed, and Western blotting was performed as described above with phospho-STAT-3 (Tyr^{705}) and β -actin antibodies.

Flow cytometry. CD4⁺ cells were prepared and stimulated as described in "Specific activation of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes" above. After 4 h of restimulation with PMA, ionomycin, and monensin, the cells were harvested (using cold 5 mM EDTA in PBS) and stained with anti-CD4 antibody (conjugated with allophycocyanin [APC]; eBioscience). After wash-



FIG 1 IRS-2 selectively inhibits IL-6 production by DCs. Splenic dendritic cells were stimulated with *Borrelia* spirochetes (BOR) (10 spirochetes per cell) in the presence or absence of IRS-2 (6μ M). (A) Culture supernatants were harvested 9, 12, and 24 h after stimulation, and the amount of IL-6 was determined by ELISA. Two independent experiments were performed, and data from a representative experiment are shown. The data are expressed as the mean cytokine concentrations from three wells plus standard errors of the mean (SEM). *** and ****, effects of IRS-2 on IL-6 production were significant at *P* values of <0.001 and <0.0001, respectively. (B) Culture supernatants were harvested 24 h (TNF- α) or 48 h (IL-1 β and IL-10) after stimulation, and the presence of cytokines was detected by ELISA. Three independent experiments were performed, and the data were pooled. The data are expressed as the mean cytokine concentrations from nine wells plus SEM.

ing, the cells were fixed and permeabilized with a Foxp3/transcription factor staining buffer set (eBioscience) and labeled with anti-IL-17A antibody (conjugated with PE; eBioscience). The prepared cells were resuspended in cold PBS with 1% FCS. Flow cytometry was performed on a FACSCanto II cytometer using FACS Diva software v. 5.0 (BD Biosciences).

Statistical analysis. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a Bonferroni test in GraphPad Prism, version 5.0, was used to compare the differences between control and treated groups. A *P* value of ≤ 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

IRS-2 selectively inhibits IL-6 production by DCs upon stimulation with *Borrelia* **spirochetes.** Cytokines produced by activated DCs play a key role in shifting the immune response toward particular Th subsets. To investigate the effects of IRS-2 on the production of different pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines by DCs, immature DCs were stimulated with *Borrelia* spirochetes in the presence or absence of IRS-2 for 9, 12, 24, or 48 h, and the production of IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-10, and TNF- α was measured.

Serpin significantly inhibited the production of IL-6 in DCs (Fig. 1A), whereas the production of other cytokines remained unaltered (Fig. 1B). The same inhibitory effect of IRS-2 on the production of IL-6 was also observed in the PMJ2-R cell line (macrophages) and primary neutrophils (data not shown).

IRS-2 inhibits IL-6 production at the level of mRNA. Gene expression can be regulated by many mechanisms at many stages, including chromatin accessibility, transcription activation, mRNA nuclear export, mRNA decay, and translation. To understand the



mechanism of IL-6 decline caused by IRS-2, the expression of the IL-6

gene was measured in DCs activated with Borrelia spirochetes in the

presence or absence of IRS-2. mRNA specific for IL-6 was deter-

mined by quantitative RT-PCR. As shown in Fig. 2, the IL-6 tran-

script level was slightly increased after as little as 6 h (no significant

effect of IRS-2 was observed). However, the mRNA of IL-6 was

severely suppressed by IRS-2 at a later time point (12 h). We con-

cluded that a decline in IL-6 production is the result of impaired

FIG 2 IRS-2 inhibits IL-6 production at the level of mRNA expression. Splenic dendritic cells were stimulated with *Borrelia* spirochetes (10 spirochetes per cell) in the presence or absence of IRS-2 (6 μ M). The transcript level of IL-6 was determined by quantitative PCR (qPCR) using specific primers for IL-6. The gene expression of IL-6 was normalized to the β-actin transcript. Two independent experiments were performed, and the data were pooled. The data are expressed as the average fold IL-6 mRNA increase (plus SEM) from six wells compared with the control. ****, the effect of IRS-2 on the relative expression of IL-6 mRNA was significant at a *P* value of <0.0001.



FIG 3 IRS-2 inhibits STAT-3 molecule phosphorylation. (A) Splenic dendritic cells (sDCs) were stimulated with *Borrelia* spirochetes (10 spirochetes per cell) in the presence or absence of IRS-2 ($6 \mu M$). Six and 16 h after stimulation, cell lysates were prepared and analyzed by immunoblotting with anti-phospho-STAT-3. The membranes were reprobed with antibody against β -actin. The phosphorylation of STAT-3 was quantified using chemiluminescence and normalized to the β -actin protein level. The two bands represent different isoforms (α and β) of pSTAT-3 that are present in DCs. (B) Freshly isolated *Borrelia*-primed CD4⁺ T cells were stimulated with 24-h supernatants from sDCs stimulated with *Borrelia* spirochetes (10 spirochetes per cell) in the presence or absence of IRS-2 ($6 \mu M$). Fifteen and 30 min after stimulation, cell lysates were prepared and analyzed by immunoblotting with anti-phospho-STAT-3. The membranes were reprobed with antibody against β -actin. The phosphorylation of STAT-3 was quantified using chemiluminescence and normalized to the were stimulated with 24-h supernatants from sDCs stimulated with *Borrelia* spirochetes (10 spirochetes per cell) in the presence or absence of IRS-2 ($6 \mu M$). Fifteen and 30 min after stimulation, cell lysates were prepared and analyzed by immunoblotting with anti-phospho-STAT-3. The membranes were reprobed with antibody against β -actin. The phosphorylation of STAT-3 was quantified using chemiluminescence and normalized to the β -actin protein level.

gene expression in IRS-2-exposed cells after activation with *Borrelia* spirochetes (Fig. 2).

Decreased stability of IL-6 mRNA is often responsible for a decline in IL-6 production. Moreover, inhibition of IL-6 production due to increased IL-6 mRNA decay was observed with another tick salivary protein (27). Therefore, we investigated whether the same mechanism could be responsible for the IRS-2-induced effect. Splenic DCs were stimulated with *Borrelia* spirochetes in the presence or absence of IRS-2. After 9 h, actinomycin D was added to block mRNA synthesis, cells were harvested (after 1 and 2 h), and mRNA decay was determined. The IL-6 mRNA half-life observed in the presence of IRS-2 was comparable to that of control cells stimulated only with *Borrelia* spirochetes (data not shown). This result suggests that the impaired gene expression of IL-6 is not due to impaired stability of IL-6 mRNA.

In our effort to reveal the mechanism of the IRS-2 effect on IL-6, we further tested whether signaling pathways leading to induction of IL-6 are affected by IRS-2.

Gene expression of IL-6 is controlled by several transcription factors and signaling molecules, including NF- κ B, C/EBP, CREB, and kinases p38 and ERK1/2 (28–32); therefore, the phosphorylation of these molecules was tested. DCs were stimulated with *Borrelia* in the presence or absence of IRS-2 for 15, 30, and 60 min. After stimulation, cell lysates were prepared and analyzed by immunoblotting. The phosphorylation of none of these signaling molecules was inhibited by IRS-2, so we concluded that induction of the IL-6 gene is intact and does not seem to be responsible for decreased IL-6 transcript expression (data not shown).

IRS-2 impairs Th17 differentiation via inhibition of the IL-6/STAT-3 signaling pathway. It is well known that the major transcription factor activated by IL-6 is STAT-3. STAT-3 phosphorylation is mediated through the association of IL-6 with the IL-6 receptor (IL-6R) and the signal transducer glycoprotein 130 (gp130), followed by subsequent activation of Janus kinases (19). Since the production of IL-6 in DCs was strongly inhibited by IRS-2, we expected that the phosphorylation of the STAT-3 signaling molecule would be decreased. DCs were activated with Borrelia spirochetes in the presence or absence of IRS-2, and the level of phosphorylated STAT-3 molecules was determined 6 and 16 h after activation. Indeed, a marked decrease of phospho-STAT-3 was observed (Fig. 3A). Borrelia-primed T lymphocytes were activated with supernatants from DCs (stimulated for 24 h with Borrelia spirochetes in the presence or absence of IRS-2), and the phosphorylation of STAT-3 in T lymphocytes was also decreased, likely due to diminished production of IL-6 by DCs (Fig. 3B).

The IL-6/STAT-3 signaling pathway is known to be crucial for development of the Th17 subset (18, 20). The main effector cytokines produced by Th17 cells are IL-17 (IL-17A), which is a hallmark of the subpopulation; IL-21; IL-22; and IL-9 (22, 33, 34). We predicted that the inhibition of IL-6/STAT-3 signaling by IRS-2 could lead to impaired Th17 differentiation, and therefore, the number of Th17-producing cells and the amounts of IL-17 and



FIG 4 IRS-2 reduces the number of IL-17-producing $CD4^+$ T cells. Splenic dendritic cells were stimulated with *Borrelia* spirochetes (10 spirochetes per cell) in the presence or absence of IRS-2 (6 μ M). After 24 h, freshly isolated *Borrelia*-primed CD4⁺ T cells were added to the cultured DCs, and the cells were cocultured for 5 days. Then, T lymphocytes were restimulated with PMA and ionomycin, treated with monensin, and stained for IL-17. (A) Flow cytometry dot plots of T lymphocytes treated with DCs stimulated with *Borrelia* in the presence or absence of IRS-2. Quadrant 2 (Q2) shows CD4⁺ IL-17⁺ cells. (B) The percentage of IL-17-producing cells was determined in live CD4⁺ cells. The data are expressed as the mean percentages of CD4⁺ IL-17⁺ cells from triplicate wells plus SEM. **, the effect of IRS-2 on the presence of IL-17-producing cells was significant at a *P* value of <0.01.

IL-9 were determined. Splenic DCs were stimulated with *Borrelia* spirochetes in the presence or absence of IRS-2. After 24 h, freshly isolated *Borrelia*-primed CD4⁺ T cells were added to the cultured DCs, and the cells were cocultured for the next 5 days. Afterward, the cells were restimulated with PMA and ionomycin. To detect the Th17 subset, intracellular staining for IL-17A was performed, and the cells were analyzed by flow cytometry. To block cellular transport, monensin was added to the restimulated cells. As seen in Fig. 4A and B, the number of IL-17-producing CD4⁺ T cells was significantly decreased by IRS-2.

To measure the production of IL-17 and IL-9 cytokines, the coculture of DCs and *Borrelia*-primed CD4⁺ T cells lasted 3 days before restimulation with PMA and ionomycin. The supernatants were then collected at various time points and analyzed. The levels of both IL-17 and IL-9 were significantly decreased in the presence of IRS-2 (Fig. 5A and B). The reduced levels of the measured cytokines, together with the decreased number of IL-17-producing CD4⁺ T cells, in the presence of IRS-2 clearly indicate that IRS-2 inhibits Th17 differentiation.

DISCUSSION

During coevolution with their hosts, ticks evolved various mechanisms enabling them to avoid the hosts' hemostatic and immune systems and successfully finish their blood meals.

In recent years, attention has been focused on identification and functional characterization of particular tick salivary proteins that are responsible for antihemostatic and immunomodulatory effects (3).

Thanks to this intensive research, many tick salivary substances that have immunomodulatory effects on various immune cell populations have been identified. Among these substances, molecules that can affect DC functions seem to play important roles, since DCs are among the first cells present at the site of inflammation and can further modulate or shift the immune response by driving T cell differentiation.

Here, we describe specific and extensive inhibitory effects of the tick salivary serpin IRS-2 from the hard tick *I. ricinus* on Th17 differentiation mediated by impairment of the IL-6/STAT-3 signaling pathway.

Proteins from the serpin superfamily are involved in fundamental biological processes, such as blood coagulation, complement activation, fibrinolysis, angiogenesis, inflammation, and tumor suppression (35, 36). From this enumeration, it is apparent that tick serpins can be expected to play a role in tick feeding, suppressing both the antihemostatic and immune responses of the host. To date, only two *I. ricinus* serpins have been functionally characterized (12, 14).

We showed that IRS-2 decreased IL-6 at the protein and mRNA levels in spleen dendritic cells activated by *B. burgdorferi*. A decrease by Sapl15, the best-studied tick salivary protein, in the IL-6 level in response to *B. burgdorferi* was also observed. Salp15 binds to DCs via the DC-SIGN receptor, which results in activa-



FIG 5 IRS-2 reduces levels of Th17 cytokines. Splenic dendritic cells were stimulated with *Borrelia* spirochetes (10 spirochetes per cell) in the presence or absence of IRS-2 (6 μ M). After 24 h, freshly isolated *Borrelia*-primed CD4⁺ T cells were added to the cultured DCs, and the cells were cocultured for the next 3 days. Afterward, the cells were restimulated with PMA and ionomycin, and the production of cytokines was analyzed at various time points. (A) Cell supernatants for IL-17 assessment were harvested 2, 6, 12, 24, and 48 h after restimulation and analyzed by ELISA. The data are expressed as the mean cytokine concentrations from triplicate wells plus SEM. Two independent experiments were performed, and data from a representative experiment are shown. ****, the effect of IRS-2 on the IL-17 level was significant at a *P* value of <0.0001. (B) IL-9 production was assessed by ELISA 24 h after restimulation. The data are expressed as the mean cytokine concentrations from triplicate wells plus SEM. ***, the effect of IRS-2 on IL-9 production was significant at a *P* value of <0.001.

tion of the serine/threonine kinase Raf-1/mitogen-activated protein kinase (MEK)-dependent signaling pathway and subsequently in a decrease of IL-6 and TNF-a mRNA stability and impaired nucleosome remodeling at the IL-12p35 promoter in human DCs activated with B. burgdorferi (27). However, the authors point to the fact that the addition of rabbit polyclonal anti-Salp15 antibodies abrogates the capacity of I. ricinus saliva to inhibit IL-12, but not IL-6 and TNF- α , which might be due to the presence of other molecules in tick saliva that are able to block IL-6 and TNF- α . In our study, we proved that one of these molecules, which can be responsible for IL-6 inhibition, is the salivary serpin IRS-2. To reveal the possible mechanism of IRS-2 effects, mRNA for IL-6 was assessed. However, it turned out that, in contrast to Salp15, IRS-2 does not act through impaired stability of IL-6 mRNA. In addition, monitoring of signaling pathways important for induction of IL-6 did not show any defect that led us to the conclusion that gene induction is not impaired. There is a positive-feedback loop in IL-6/STAT-3 signaling (IL-6 binds to IL-6R on a cell and activates phosphorylation of the STAT-3 molecule, which in turn boosts the production of autocrine IL-6), so direct inhibition of STAT-3 phosphorylation by IRS-2 could explain the observed decrease in IL-6 mRNA expression and, subsequently, IL-6 production (37). However, this option was also excluded (data not shown). Thus, we did not reveal the precise mechanism of the IRS-2 effect.

It has been shown that tick saliva and tick salivary proteins, like Salp15, Japanin, and sialostatin L, can modulate the T cell response by modulating DC accessory functions or directly by interaction with $CD4^+$ T cells. It was well demonstrated that tick saliva or salivary gland extract (SGE) diminishes the production of Th1-related cytokines and increases the production of Th2-related cytokines. Salp15 specifically binds to CD4 molecules on the surfaces of CD4⁺ T (helper) cells, which results in inhibition of T cell receptor-mediated signaling, leading to reduced IL-2 production and impaired T cell proliferation (38). Japanin, a lipocalin from *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus*, specifically reprograms the response of DCs to a wide variety of stimuli *in vitro*, altering their expression of costimulatory and coinhibitory transmembrane molecules and secretion of proinflammatory, anti-inflammatory, and T cell-polarizing cytokines (it blocks LPS-induced secretion

of Th17- and Th1-promoting cytokines); it also inhibits the differentiation of DCs from monocytes (39). Recently, Horka et al. showed that cystatin from *I. scapularis*, sialostatin L, which also inhibits several dendritic cell functions, can inhibit IL-9 production by Th9 cells, thus preventing the development of experimental asthma (40). Another cystatin, OmC2 from the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*, can also suppress the host adaptive immune response by reducing TNF- α and IL-12 production and the proliferation of antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cells (41).

In line with these reports, our data show that the serpin IRS-2 is another tick salivary protein that is able to modulate T cell differentiation. We demonstrated that inhibition of Borrelia-induced IL-6 production in the presence of IRS-2 in DCs was accompanied by decreased phosphorylation of the STAT-3 signaling molecule, which is essential for the development of Th17 cells. Indeed, the impairment by IRS-2 of Th17 development was observed and was demonstrated by a decreased amount of IL-17 produced and by flow cytometry assessment of intracellular IL-17 in CD4⁺ T lymphocytes cocultured with activated DCs. Similar results, showing that tick saliva inhibits the Th17 subset, were reported by Skallova and colleagues, who showed that saliva-exposed DCs failed to induce efficient Th1 and Th17 polarization and promoted development of Th2 responses (42). Interestingly, treatment with Salp15, which also inhibits IL-6 production in dendritic cells, was shown to increase the differentiation of Th17 cells in vivo, as evidenced by higher IL-17 production from PLP139-151-specific CD4⁺ T cells isolated from the central nervous system and the periphery (43).

Th17 cells, a quite recently described subpopulation of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes, can be characterized by production of the hallmark cytokine IL-17. Overproliferation of Th17 cells is connected with many severe autoimmune diseases, like human psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis, multiple sclerosis, inflammatory bowel disease, asthma, and some bacterial and fungal infections. However, it is well established that Th17 cells not only play an important role in autoimmunity, but also function in the clearance of specific types of pathogens that require a massive inflammatory response and are not adequately dealt with by Th1 or Th2 immunity. Thus, the Th17 response can be triggered by many bacteria, including *Borrelia* spirochetes (22). Infante-Duarte showed that *B. burgdorferi* lysate is able to induce massive amounts of IL-17 in T cell cultures and that microbe-induced IL-17 production can mediate infection-induced immunopathology in Lyme disease (44). Involvement of the Th17 subset in the development of severe destructive arthritis in patients with Lyme disease was also demonstrated by Burchill et al. (23). A causative protein, neutrophil-activating protein A (NapA) from *B. burgdorferi*, which is able to stimulate IL-17 production in synovial-fluid-derived T cells and could thus be crucial for the induction and maintenance of Lyme arthritis, was identified (45). Moreover, it is well described that synthetic or human-derived serpins, which are commonly used in the treatment of many autoimmune diseases, are able to decrease Th17 differentiation (6).

All these findings highlight the importance and potential of the *I. ricinus* serpin IRS-2 described here as a prospective molecule in many pharmaceutical applications.

In conclusion, here, we present a newly described ability of the *I. ricinus* salivary serpin IRS-2 to inhibit Th17 differentiation upon *B. burgdorferi* exposure via inhibition of the IL-6/STAT-3 signaling pathway, thus extending the knowledge about the effect of tick salivary serpins on innate immunity cells and their function in driving the adaptive immune response. This paper contributes to the understanding of tick saliva-mediated modulation of the host immune system.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the Grant Agency of the Czech Republic (grant P302/12/2208 and grant 14-25799S) and by the Grant Agency of the University of South Bohemia project 155/2013/P.

REFERENCES

- 1. Anderson JF, Magnarelli LA. 2008. Biology of ticks. Infect Dis Clin North Am 22:195–215, v. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.idc.2007.12.006.
- 2. Parola P, Raoult D. 2001. Ticks and tickborne bacterial diseases in humans: an emerging infectious threat. Clin Infect Dis 32:897–928. http://dx .doi.org/10.1086/319347.
- 3. Francischetti IM, Sa-Nunes A, Mans BJ, Santos IM, Ribeiro JM. 2009. The role of saliva in tick feeding. Front Biosci (Landmark ed) 14:2051–2088. http://dx.doi.org/10.2741/3363.
- Gettins PG. 2002. Serpin structure, mechanism, and function. Chem Rev 102:4751–4804. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/cr010170+.
- Silverman GA, Bird PI, Carrell RW, Church FC, Coughlin PB, Gettins PG, Irving JA, Lomas DA, Luke CJ, Moyer RW, Pemberton PA, Remold-O'Donnell E, Salvesen GS, Travis J, Whisstock JC. 2001. The serpins are an expanding superfamily of structurally similar but functionally diverse proteins. Evolution, mechanism of inhibition, novel functions, and a revised nomenclature. J Biol Chem 276:33293–33296. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R100016200.
- Lin CC, Lin LJ, Wang SD, Chiang CJ, Chao YP, Lin J, Kao ST. 2014. The effect of serine protease inhibitors on airway inflammation in a chronic allergen-induced asthma mouse model. Mediators Inflamm 2014:879326. http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2014/879326.
- Mulenga A, Khumthong R, Blandon MA. 2007. Molecular and expression analysis of a family of the Amblyomma americanum tick Lospins. J Exp Biol 210:3188–3198. http://dx.doi.org/10.1242/jeb.006494.
- Mulenga A, Khumthong R, Chalaire KC. 2009. Ixodes scapularis tick serine proteinase inhibitor (serpin) gene family; annotation and transcriptional analysis. BMC Genomics 10:217. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-10-217.
- Mulenga A, Tsuda A, Onuma M, Sugimoto C. 2003. Four serine proteinase inhibitors (serpin) from the brown ear tick, Rhiphicephalus appendiculatus; cDNA cloning and preliminary characterization. Insect Biochem Mol Biol 33:267–276. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0965-1748(02)00240-0.
- Leboulle G, Crippa M, Decrem Y, Mejri N, Brossard M, Bollen A, Godfroid E. 2002. Characterization of a novel salivary immunosuppressive protein from Ixodes ricinus ticks. J Biol Chem 277:10083–10089. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111391200.

- Prevot PP, Adam B, Boudjeltia KZ, Brossard M, Lins L, Cauchie P, Brasseur R, Vanhaeverbeek M, Vanhamme L, Godfroid E. 2006. Antihemostatic effects of a serpin from the saliva of the tick Ixodes ricinus. J Biol Chem 281:26361–26369. http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M604197200.
- Prevot PP, Beschin A, Lins L, Beaufays J, Grosjean A, Bruys L, Adam B, Brossard M, Brasseur R, Zouaoui Boudjeltia K, Vanhamme L, Godfroid E. 2009. Exosites mediate the anti-inflammatory effects of a multifunctional serpin from the saliva of the tick Ixodes ricinus. FEBS J 276:3235– 3246. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2009.07038.x.
- Prevot PP, Couvreur B, Denis V, Brossard M, Vanhamme L, Godfroid E. 2007. Protective immunity against Ixodes ricinus induced by a salivary serpin. Vaccine 25:3284–3292. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.01.008.
- 14. Chmelar J, Oliveira CJ, Rezacova P, Francischetti IM, Kovarova Z, Pejler G, Kopacek P, Ribeiro JM, Mares M, Kopecky J, Kotsyfakis M. 2011. A tick salivary protein targets cathepsin G and chymase and inhibits host inflammation and platelet aggregation. Blood 117:736–744. http://dx .doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-06-293241.
- Banchereau J, Steinman RM. 1998. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. Nature 392:245–252. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/32588.
- Granucci F, Foti M, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P. 2005. Dendritic cell biology. Adv Immunol 88:193–233. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2776(05)88006-X.
- Lipscomb MF, Masten BJ. 2002. Dendritic cells: immune regulators in health and disease. Physiol Rev 82:97–130. http://dx.doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00023 .2001.
- Kimura A, Kishimoto T. 2010. IL-6: regulator of Treg/Th17 balance. Eur J Immunol 40:1830–1835. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/eji.201040391.
- Heinrich PC, Behrmann I, Haan S, Hermanns HM, Muller-Newen G, Schaper F. 2003. Principles of interleukin (IL)-6-type cytokine signalling and its regulation. Biochem J 374:1–20. http://dx.doi.org/10.1042/BJ20030407.
- Stockinger B, Veldhoen M. 2007. Differentiation and function of Th17 T cells. Curr Opin Immunol 19:281–286. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2007 .04.005.
- Stockinger B, Veldhoen M, Martin B. 2007. Th17 T cells: linking innate and adaptive immunity. Semin Immunol 19:353–361. http://dx.doi.org /10.1016/j.smim.2007.10.008.
- Korn T, Bettelli E, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK. 2009. IL-17 and Th17 Cells. Annu Rev Immunol 27:485–517. http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908 .132710.
- Burchill MA, Nardelli DT, England DM, DeCoster DJ, Christopherson JA, Callister SM, Schell RF. 2003. Inhibition of interleukin-17 prevents the development of arthritis in vaccinated mice challenged with Borrelia burgdorferi. Infect Immun 71:3437–3442. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/IAI .71.6.3437-3442.2003.
- Kovarova Z, Chmelar J, Sanda M, Brynda J, Mares M, Rezacova P. 2010. Crystallization and diffraction analysis of the serpin IRS-2 from the hard tick Ixodes ricinus. Acta Crystallogr Sect F Struct Biol Cryst Commun 66:1453–1457. http://dx.doi.org/10.1107/S1744309110032343.
- Magnuson HJ, Eagle H, Fleischman R. 1948. The minimal infectious inoculum of Spirochaeta pallida (Nichols strain) and a consideration of its rate of multiplication in vivo. Am J Syph Gonorrhea Vener Dis 32:1–18.
- Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD. 2001. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) method. Methods 25:402–408. http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/meth.2001.1262.
- Hovius JW, de Jong MA, den Dunnen J, Litjens M, Fikrig E, van der Poll T, Gringhuis SI, Geijtenbeek TB. 2008. Salp15 binding to DC-SIGN inhibits cytokine expression by impairing both nucleosome remodeling and mRNA stabilization. PLoS Pathog 4:e31. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371 /journal.ppat.0040031.
- Libermann TA, Baltimore D. 1990. Activation of interleukin-6 gene expression through the NF-kappa B transcription factor. Mol Cell Biol 10:2327–2334.
- Akira S, Isshiki H, Sugita T, Tanabe O, Kinoshita S, Nishio Y, Nakajima T, Hirano T, Kishimoto T. 1990. A nuclear factor for IL-6 expression (NF-IL6) is a member of a C/EBP family. EMBO J 9:1897–1906.
- 30. Wen AY, Sakamoto KM, Miller LS. 2010. The role of the transcription factor CREB in immune function. J Immunol 185:6413–6419. http://dx .doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1001829.
- 31. Chae HJ, Chae SW, Chin HY, Bang BG, Cho SB, Han KS, Kim SC, Tae KC, Lee KH, Kim DE, Im MK, Lee SJ, Chang JY, Lee YM, Kim HM, Kim HH, Lee ZH, Kim HR. 2001. The p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway regulates interleukin-6 synthesis in response to tumor necrosis factor in osteoblasts. Bone 28:45–53. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016 /S8756-3282(00)00413-0.

- 32. Tuyt LM, Dokter WH, Birkenkamp K, Koopmans SB, Lummen C, Kruijer W, Vellenga E. 1999. Extracellular-regulated kinase 1/2, Jun Nterminal kinase, and c-Jun are involved in NF-kappa B-dependent IL-6 expression in human monocytes. J Immunol 162:4893–4902.
- 33. Li H, Rostami A. 2010. IL-9: basic biology, signaling pathways in CD4+ T cells and implications for autoimmunity. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol 5:198–209. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11481-009-9186-y.
- 34. Elyaman W, Bradshaw EM, Uyttenhove C, Dardalhon V, Awasthi A, Imitola J, Bettelli E, Oukka M, van Snick J, Renauld JC, Kuchroo VK, Khoury SJ. 2009. IL-9 induces differentiation of TH17 cells and enhances function of FoxP3+ natural regulatory T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:12885–12890. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0812530106.
- 35. van Gent D, Sharp P, Morgan K, Kalsheker N. 2003. Serpins: structure, function and molecular evolution. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 35:1536–1547. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1357-2725(03)00134-1.
- Huntington JA. 2011. Serpin structure, function and dysfunction. J Thromb Haemost 9(Suppl 1):S26–S34. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1538 -7836.2011.04360.x.
- Chang Q, Daly L, Bromberg J. 2014. The IL-6 feed-forward loop: a driver of tumorigenesis. Semin Immunol 26:48–53. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j .smim.2014.01.007.
- 38. Anguita J, Ramamoorthi N, Hovius JW, Das S, Thomas V, Persinski R, Conze D, Askenase PW, Rincon M, Kantor FS, Fikrig E. 2002. Salp15, an Ixodes scapularis salivary protein, inhibits CD4(+) T cell activation. Immunity 16:849–859. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00325-4.
- Preston SG, Majtan J, Kouremenou C, Rysnik O, Burger LF, Cabezas Cruz A, Chiong Guzman M, Nunn MA, Paesen GC, Nuttall PA, Austyn JM. 2013. Novel immunomodulators from hard ticks selectively reprogramme human dendritic cell responses. PLoS Pathog 9:e1003450. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1003450.

- 40. Horka H, Staudt V, Klein M, Taube C, Reuter S, Dehzad N, Andersen JF, Kopecky J, Schild H, Kotsyfakis M, Hoffmann M, Gerlitzki B, Stassen M, Bopp T, Schmitt E. 2012. The tick salivary protein sialostatin L inhibits the Th9-derived production of the asthma-promoting cytokine IL-9 and is effective in the prevention of experimental asthma. J Immunol 188:2669–2676. http://dx.doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1100529.
- 41. Salat J, Paesen GC, Rezacova P, Kotsyfakis M, Kovarova Z, Sanda M, Majtan J, Grunclova L, Horka H, Andersen JF, Brynda J, Horn M, Nunn MA, Kopacek P, Kopecky J, Mares M. 2010. Crystal structure and functional characterization of an immunomodulatory salivary cystatin from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata. Biochem J 429:103–112. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1042/BJ20100280.
- 42. Skallova A, Iezzi G, Ampenberger F, Kopf M, Kopecky J. 2008. Tick saliva inhibits dendritic cell migration, maturation, and function while promoting development of Th2 responses. J Immunol 180:6186–6192. http://dx.doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.180.9.6186.
- 43. Juncadella IJ, Bates TC, Suleiman R, Monteagudo-Mera A, Olson CM, Jr, Navasa N, Olivera ER, Osborne BA, Anguita J. 2010. The tick saliva immunosuppressor, Salp15, contributes to Th17-induced pathology during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 402:105–109. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.09.125.
- 44. Infante-Duarte C, Horton HF, Byrne MC, Kamradt T. 2000. Microbial lipopeptides induce the production of IL-17 in Th cells. J Immunol 165: 6107–6115. http://dx.doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.165.11.6107.
- 45. Codolo G, Amedei A, Steere AC, Papinutto E, Cappon A, Polenghi A, Benagiano M, Paccani SR, Sambri V, Del Prete G, Baldari CT, Zanotti G, Montecucco C, D'Elios MM, de Bernard M. 2008. Borrelia burgdorferi NapA-driven Th17 cell inflammation in Lyme arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 58:3609–3617. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/art.23972.

Article 4

Iripin-3, a New Salivary Protein Isolated From Ixodes ricinus Ticks, Displays Immunomodulatory and Anti-Hemostatic Properties *In Vitro*

Chlastáková A, Kotál J, Beránková Z, Kaščáková B, Martins LA, Langhansová H, Prudnikova T, Ederová M, Kutá Smatanová I, Kotsyfakis M, **Chmelař J**.

Front Immunol. 2021 Mar 1;12:626200.

doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.626200

Next functionally characterized serpin from *I. ricinus* was published 10 years after IRS-2. In between, we changed the names of *I. ricinus* serpins from IRS to Iripins due to possible confusion with the abbreviation for insulin receptor substrate (IRS). Iripin-3 inhibited predominantly kallikrein, matriptase, trypsin and thrombin, with which it formed covalent complexes. Iripin-3 was upregulated by blood feeding in the salivary glands and was detected directly in tick saliva by immunodetection methods. Iripin-3 was the first tick serpin to inhibit extrinsic pathway of coagulation, however its most interesting activity was in immunomodulation. The serpin reduces the number of surviving T and B cells and the proliferation and differentiation of surviving T cells was strongly diverged from proinflammatory Th1, as assessed by flow cytometry, RT-qPCR and ELISA. On the other hand, regulatory and anti-inflammatory T cells (Tregs) were promoted. Moreover the production of IL-6 by macrophages was decreased after the treatment with the serpin. Overall, Iripin-3 showed a pluripotency in its activities with the ability to inhibit the development of proinflammatory Th1 cell subpopulation and to impair coagulation. The 3D structure of cleaved serpin was solved at the resolution of 1,95 Å.

This study brought strong immunological approach to study serpins' activities and it appeared to be fruitful. Iripin-3 is one of the first tick salivary proteins that modulates host immune response from pro- to anti-inflammatory.

Author's contribution:

Author designed and coordinated the study and participated on the writing and revising of the manuscript





Iripin-3, a New Salivary Protein Isolated From *Ixodes ricinus* Ticks, Displays Immunomodulatory and Anti-Hemostatic Properties *In Vitro*

Adéla Chlastáková¹, Jan Kotál^{1,2}, Zuzana Beránková¹, Barbora Kaščáková³, Larissa Almeida Martins², Helena Langhansová¹, Tatyana Prudnikova³, Monika Ederová¹, Ivana Kutá Smatanová³, Michail Kotsyfakis^{1,2*} and Jindřich Chmelař^{1*}

¹ Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice, České Budějovice, Czechia, ² Laboratory of Genomics and Proteomics of Disease Vectors, Institute of Parasitology, Biology Centre of the Czech Academy of Sciences, České Budějovice, Czechia, ³ Laboratory of Structural Chemistry, Institute of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice, České Budějovice, Czechia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Nathalie Boulanger, Université de Strasbourg, France

Reviewed by:

Quentin Bernard, Tufts University School of Medicine, United States Yi-Pin Lin, Wadsworth Center, United States

*Correspondence:

Jindřich Chmelař chmelar@prf.jcu.cz Michail Kotsyfakis mich_kotsyfakis@yahoo.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 05 November 2020 Accepted: 06 January 2021 Published: 01 March 2021

Citation:

Chlastáková A, Kotál J, Beránková Z, Kaščáková B, Martins LA, Langhansová H, Prudnikova T, Ederová M, Kutá Smatanová I, Kotsyfakis M and Chmelař J (2021) Iripin-3, a New Salivary Protein Isolated From Ixodes ricinus Ticks, Displays Immunomodulatory and Anti-Hemostatic Properties In Vitro. Front. Immunol. 12:626200. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.626200 Tick saliva is a rich source of pharmacologically and immunologically active molecules. These salivary components are indispensable for successful blood feeding on vertebrate hosts and are believed to facilitate the transmission of tick-borne pathogens. Here we present the functional and structural characterization of Iripin-3, a protein expressed in the salivary glands of the tick lxodes ricinus, a European vector of tick-borne encephalitis and Lyme disease. Belonging to the serpin superfamily of protease inhibitors, Iripin-3 strongly inhibited the proteolytic activity of serine proteases kallikrein and matriptase. In an in vitro setup, Iripin-3 was capable of modulating the adaptive immune response as evidenced by reduced survival of mouse splenocytes, impaired proliferation of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes, suppression of the T helper type 1 immune response, and induction of regulatory T cell differentiation. Apart from altering acquired immunity, Iripin-3 also inhibited the extrinsic blood coagulation pathway and reduced the production of pro-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-6 by lipopolysaccharide-stimulated bone marrow-derived macrophages. In addition to its functional characterization, we present the crystal structure of cleaved Iripin-3 at 1.95 Å resolution. Iripin-3 proved to be a pluripotent salivary serpin with immunomodulatory and anti-hemostatic properties that could facilitate tick feeding via the suppression of host anti-tick defenses. Physiological relevance of Iripin-3 activities observed in vitro needs to be supported by appropriate in vivo experiments.

Keywords: tick, serpin, X-ray crystallography, blood coagulation, inflammation, adaptive immunity, Ixodes ricinus, saliva

INTRODUCTION

The European tick *Ixodes ricinus* (Acari: Ixodidae) is an obligate blood-sucking ectoparasite that transmits several medically important pathogens such as Lyme disease spirochetes from the *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato complex and tick-borne encephalitis virus (1). The insertion of the tick hypostome and two chelicerae into host skin disrupts the surrounding tissue and capillaries, to

67

which the host responds by activating a series of physiological defense processes including hemostasis and innate and adaptive immune responses (2-5). Cutaneous tissue injury and tick antigens are sensed by cells in the vicinity of the tick attachment site, such as keratinocytes, fibroblasts endothelial cells, mast cells, macrophages and dendritic cells (3). These cells release proinflammatory and chemotactic molecules that stimulate the recruitment of neutrophils and other immune cells to the area of tick feeding (3, 4, 6). Moreover, Langerhans cells and macrophages trap tick antigens and present them to T cells, which triggers T cell proliferation and ultimately results in the development of the acquired immune response (7). If unopposed, the host defense reaction rejects the tick via detrimental effects on tick viability and reproduction (8). Therefore, ticks surpass the host response by secreting hundreds of bioactive molecules via their saliva into the wound (9-11). Since these salivary molecules can target hemostasis and almost every branch of the immune response, they might be useful in the development of novel pharmaceuticals for the treatment of immune-mediated inflammatory diseases, hypercoagulable states, diseases associated with excessive complement activation, or even cancer (11-14). Moreover, tick salivary proteins represent potential targets for the development of anti-tick and/or transmission blocking vaccines (15).

Protease inhibitors form the largest functional group of tick salivary proteins (16). Based on their specificity, tick protease inhibitors can be divided into inhibitors of cysteine proteases (e.g., cystatins) and inhibitors of serine proteases (e.g., Kunitz domain-containing proteins and serpins) (17). Serpins (serine protease inhibitors) are mid-sized proteins consisting of about 330–500 amino acids (18, 19) with a conserved serpin domain and an exposed region near the carboxyl-terminal end referred to as the reactive center loop (RCL) (20). Cleavage of the scissile P1-P1' bond in the RCL by a target serine protease results in the formation of a covalent serpin-protease complex and permanent inactivation of both the serpin and the protease (18, 20).

Serpins have been identified in many species of hard-bodied ticks of medical and veterinary importance such as Amblyomma americanum (21), Haemaphysalis longicornis (22), I. ricinus (23), I. scapularis (24), Rhipicephalus appendiculatus (25), and Rhipicephalus microplus (26, 27). Some of the functionally characterized tick serpins have been shown to suppress the enzymatic activity of blood clotting factors (mainly thrombin and factor Xa) and consequently inhibit the intrinsic and common coagulation pathways (28-31). Tick serpins that inhibit thrombin and cathepsin G can block platelet aggregation triggered by these two serine proteases (30-33). In addition to anti-hemostatic activities, many of the functionally characterized tick serpins interfere with the host innate immunity, since they inhibit the enzymatic activity of mast cell and neutrophil serine proteases, reduce vascular permeability and paw edema formation, suppress neutrophil migration in vivo and attenuate the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines by activated innate immune cells, such as macrophages and dendritic cells (32, 34-37). Last but not least, tick serpins can modify the host adaptive immune response via suppression of T

lymphocyte proliferation and inhibition of Th1 and Th17 cell differentiation (35, 37–40). A number of RNA interference and vaccination experiments have demonstrated the important role of tick serpins in successful completion of a blood meal by prolonging the feeding period, reducing engorgement weight, or resulting in higher mortality rates or impaired oviposition (41–45).

To date, only two serpins from the tick I. ricinus have been assigned functions: Iris (I. ricinus immunosuppressor) (38) and IRS-2 (I. ricinus serpin-2) (32). Due to possible confusion arising from the previously used abbreviation IRS for I. ricinus serpins (32) (with insulin receptor substrates), we decided to name I. ricinus serpins Iripins (Ixodes ricinus serpins). Here we present the structural and functional characterization of Iripin-3 (I. ricinus serpin-3). Iripin-3 primarily inhibited two trypsinlike serine proteases, kallikrein and matriptase. When tested in various in vitro assays, Iripin-3 displayed several distinct functions: it inhibited the extrinsic blood coagulation pathway, attenuated interleukin-6 (IL-6) production by LPS-activated bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs), impaired the survival and proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells, and suppressed the Th1 immune response. The presence of Iripin-3 protein in tick saliva suggests that this serpin could play a role at the tick-host interface by suppressing various aspects of the host defense to I. ricinus feeding. Further in vivo studies, however, are necessary to confirm herein presented results. Finally, we determined the crystal structure of cleaved Iripin-3 at 1.95 Å resolution.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

C57BL/6N mice were purchased from Velaz, Ltd (Praha-Lysolaje, Czechia). C3H/HeN mice and OT-II transgenic mice were obtained from Charles River Laboratories (Wilmington, MA). Mice were maintained under standard, pathogen-free conditions in the animal house facility of the Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice, Czech Republic. Guinea pigs utilized for I. ricinus feeding and a rabbit used for the production of anti-Iripin-3 antibodies were bred and maintained at the Institute of Parasitology, Biology Centre of the Czech Academy of Sciences (IP BC CAS), Czech Republic. All animal experiments were performed in accordance with the Animal Protection Law of the Czech Republic No. 246/1992 Sb. (ethics approval No. 34/2018) and protocols approved by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Czech Republic (protocol No. 19085/2015-3) and the responsible committee of the IP BC CAS. Pathogen-free I. ricinus ticks were obtained from the tick colony maintained at the IP BC CAS.

Bioinformatics Analyses

The molecular weight and isoelectric point of Iripin-3 were computed by ProtParam (46). The presence of a signal peptide was predicted using the SignalP 4.1 server (47). The ScanProsite tool (48) was utilized to identify the serpin signature motif

Immunomodulatory Tick Serpin Iripin-3

PS00284 as well as two other consensus amino acid motifs N-[AT]-[VIM]-[YLH]-F-[KRT]-[GS] and [DERQ]-[VL]-[NDS]-E-[EVDKQ]-G (26, 49). The reactive central loop together with the amino acid residue at the P1 site were determined based on the eight-residue pattern p17[E]-p16[E/K/R]-p15[G]p14[T/S]-p13[X]-p12-9[AGS]-p8-1[X]-p1'-4' [X] (26, 49). NetNGlyc 1.0 (Gupta et al., unpublished) and NetOGlyc 4.0 (50) servers were used to predict potential N-glycosylation and O-glycosylation sites, respectively. To compare Iripin-3 with other known serpins, the Iripin-3 protein sequence was tested against the GenBank database of non-redundant protein sequences using BLASTP (51). Alignment of IRS-2 and Iripin-3 amino acid sequences was conducted with ClustalW (52). Visualization of the alignment and addition of secondary structure elements were performed using ESPript 3.0 (53).

Crystal Structure Determination

The production of recombinant Iripin-3 in an Escherichia coli expression system is detailed in the Supplementary Materials. Crystallization experiments were conducted using the sittingdrop vapor diffusion technique, and the obtained crystals were used to collect X-ray diffraction data on the beamline BL14.1 at the BESSY II electron storage ring operated by the Helmholtz-Zentrum Berlin (54). The structure of Iripin-3 was solved by the molecular replacement method, in which the known structure of IRS-2 (Protein Data Bank (PDB) code 3NDA) (32) was used as a search model. The whole procedure of Iripin-3 structure determination, starting with crystallization and ending with structure refinement and validation, is described in detail in the Supplementary Materials. Complete data processing and refinement statistics are summarized in Supplementary Table 1. Atomic coordinates were deposited in the PDB under accession code 7AHP.

Phylogenetic Analysis

For the purpose of phylogenetic analysis, the amino acid sequences of 27 tick serpins and one human serpin were retrieved from GenBank. Accession numbers of these sequences are provided in Supplementary Table 2. Retrieved sequences were aligned and edited manually using BioEdit 7.2.5 (55). Evolutionary history was deduced from the protein sequences without a signal peptide by using the maximum likelihood method and Jones-Taylor-Thornton (JTT) matrixbased model (56). Initial trees for the heuristic search were obtained automatically by applying the neighbor-joining (57) and BIONJ (58) algorithms to a matrix of pairwise distances estimated using the JTT model, and then the topology with a superior log likelihood value was selected. The reliability of individual branches was determined by bootstrapping. Bootstrap values were calculated for 1000 replicates. Evolutionary analyses were conducted in MEGA X (59).

Iripin-3 Expression in Ticks

I. ricinus nymphs were fed on C3H/HeN mice for 1 day, 2 days, and until full engorgement (3–4 days). *I. ricinus* adult females were fed on guinea pigs for 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, and 8 days. Tick removal from host animals at given time points was followed by the

dissection of nymphs and adult female salivary glands, midguts, and ovaries under RNase-free conditions. RNA was isolated from tick tissues using TRI Reagent (Molecular Research Center, Inc., Cincinnati, OH), and 1 µg of total RNA was reverse transcribed into cDNA using the Transcriptor First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Roche Applied Science, Penzberg, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Five-fold diluted cDNA mixed with FastStart Universal SYBR Green Master (Roche Applied Science) and gene-specific primers were used for the analysis of iripin-3 expression in the Rotor-Gene 6000 thermal cycler (Corbett Research, Saffron Walden, UK). Cycling conditions were 95°C for 10 min followed by 45 cycles of 95°C for 15 s, 60°C for 10 s and 72°C for 30 s. The relative quantification of *iripin-3* transcripts in tick tissues was performed using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method (60). The I. ricinus gene encoding ribosomal protein S4 (rps4, GenBank accession number MN728897.1) was utilized as a reference gene for the calculation of relative expression ratios (61, 62). Nucleotide sequences of forward and reverse primers as well as amplicon lengths are provided in Supplementary Table 3.

Presence of Iripin-3 in Tick Saliva

Polyclonal antibodies against Iripin-3 were produced in a rabbit injected subcutaneously with 100 μ g of purified Iripin-3 in 500 μ l of complete Freund's adjuvant. The first immunization was followed by another two injections of Iripin-3 in 500 μ l of incomplete Freund's adjuvant at 14-day intervals. On day 14 after the last injection, the rabbit was sacrificed, and its blood was collected. Prepared rabbit antiserum to Iripin-3 was subsequently utilized for the detection of Iripin-3 in tick saliva by indirect ELISA and western blotting. The saliva was collected from *I. ricinus* ticks feeding for 6–7 days on guinea pigs as described previously (63). ELISA and western blot analyses are detailed in the **Supplementary Materials**.

Inhibition of Serine Proteases

Preliminary screening of Iripin-3 inhibitory activity against a set of 17 serine proteases was performed as described previously (32), with the exception of factor VIIa (FVIIa). Human FVIIa (Haematologic Technologies, Inc., Essex Junction, VT) at 20 nM concentration was pre-incubated for 10 min at 30°C with 400 nM Iripin-3 before the addition of 250 μ M fluorogenic substrate Boc-QAR-AMC. The assay buffer used consisted of 20 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, 0.01% Triton X-100, 5 mM CaCl₂, and 0.1% polyethylene glycol 6000, pH 8.0. After the determination of the substrate hydrolysis rate, the six most strongly inhibited proteases were chosen for more detailed analysis. The assessment of covalent complex formation between Iripin-3 and selected serine proteases and the determination of second-order rate constants of protease inhibition are detailed in the **Supplementary Materials**.

Blood Coagulation

The effect of Iripin-3 on blood coagulation was tested by prothrombin time (PT), activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT), and thrombin time (TT) assays. All chemicals were purchased from Technoclone (Vienna, Austria). Citrated human plasma (Coagulation Control N) was mixed either with $6 \mu M$
Iripin-3 or with five different Iripin-3 concentrations and then incubated for 10 min at room temperature. To perform the PT test, 100 μ l of plasma with added Iripin-3 was incubated for 1 min at 37°C before the addition of 200 μ l of Technoplastin HIS pre-warmed to 37°C. Plasma clotting time was measured on the Ceveron four coagulometer (Technoclone). In the aPTT test, the incubation of 100 μ l of plasma mixed with Iripin-3 at 37°C for 1 min was followed by the addition of 100 μ l of Dapttin TC. After incubating the mixture of plasma and Dapttin at 37°C for 2 min, 100 μ l of 25 mM CaCl₂ was added to initiate the coagulation cascade. Plasma clotting time was determined as described above. To perform the TT test, 200 μ l of plasma mixed with Iripin-3 was incubated at 37°C for 1 min. At the end of incubation, 200 μ l of thrombin reagent was added, and plasma clotting time was measured as in the PT and aPTT assays.

Pro-Inflammatory Cytokine Production by BMDMs

Bone marrow cells were isolated from femurs and tibias of C57BL/6N mice. Both ends of the bones were cut with scissors, and bone marrow was flushed with complete medium. The complete medium was prepared by supplementation of RPMI 1640 medium containing glutamine (Biosera) with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS, Biosera), 50 µM 2-mercaptoethanol (Sigma Aldrich, St Louis, MO), 100 U/ml penicillin G (Biosera, Kansas City, MO) and 100 µg/ ml streptomycin (Biosera). After erythrocyte lysis in RBC lysis buffer (eBioscience, San Diego, CA), bone marrow cells resuspended in complete medium were seeded into 10 cm Petri dishes and incubated in the presence of 10 ng/ml granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF, Sigma Aldrich) at 37°C and 5% CO2 for 10 days. On days 4 and 7, non-adherent cells were removed and the medium was replaced with fresh complete medium containing 10 ng/ml GM-CSF. On day 10, adherent cells (macrophages) were collected, resuspended in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented only with 0.5% bovine serum albumin (BSA, Biosera), and seeded into 24well culture plates $(2 \times 10^5$ cells in 500 µl of culture medium per well). After 5 h incubation at 37°C and 5% CO₂, the medium was replaced with fresh RPMI 1640 medium containing 0.5% BSA, and BMDMs were pre-incubated for 40 min with 3 μ M or 6 μ M Iripin-3. Finally, 100 ng/ml of LPS (Sigma Aldrich; E. coli serotype O111:B4) was added, and macrophages were incubated in the presence of Iripin-3 and LPS for another 24 h. At the end of incubation, cells and cell-free supernatants were collected for RNA isolation and protein quantification, respectively. Relative expression of Tnf, Il6, and Il1b in macrophages was determined by RT-qPCR and concentrations of tumor necrosis factor (TNF), IL-6, and interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) cytokines in collected supernatants were measured by DuoSet ELISA Development Kits (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) according to the manufacturer's instructions with only minor modifications. The RT-qPCR analysis is described in detail in the Supplementary Materials.

Splenocyte Isolation and Culture in the Presence of Iripin-3

Spleens harvested from OT-II mice were forced through a Corning 70 μm cell strainer to obtain a single cell suspension. Red blood

cells (RBCs) were removed from the suspension by the addition of 1× RBC lysis buffer (eBioscience), and the erythrocyte-free spleen cells were resuspended in RPMI 1640 medium with stable glutamine (Biosera) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FBS (Biosera), 50 μ M 2-mercaptoethanol (Sigma Aldrich), 100 U/ml penicillin G (Biosera), and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin (Biosera). Splenocytes were then seeded into 24-well or 96-well culture plates and pre-incubated with 3 μ M or 6 μ M Iripin-3 for 2 h. Pre-incubation with Iripin-3 was followed by the addition of ovalbumin (OVA) peptide 323–339 (Sigma Aldrich) at a concentration of 100 ng/ml. Splenocytes were incubated in the presence of Iripin-3 and OVA peptide at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for either 20 h (assessment of cell survival) or 72 h (analysis of cell proliferation and transcription factor expression).

Survival of B and T Cells

Mouse splenocytes were seeded into 96-well culture plates $(5 \times 10^5 \text{ cells in } 200 \text{ } \mu\text{l} \text{ of complete medium per well})$, preincubated with Iripin-3, and stimulated with OVA peptide. After 20 h incubation at 37°C and 5% CO2, cells were harvested for flow cytometry analysis. First, splenocytes were stained with fixable viability dye eFluor 780 (eBioscience). Subsequently, Fc receptors were blocked with anti-CD16/CD32 antibody (eBioscience, clone 93), and surface antigen staining was performed with following monoclonal antibodies purchased from eBioscience: anti-CD45-PerCP-Cyanine5.5 (clone 30-F11), anti-CD19-PE (clone eBio1D3(1D3)), and anti-CD3e-APC (clone 145-2C11). Finally, the active form of caspase 3 in splenocytes was labeled using the FITC Active Caspase-3 Apoptosis Kit (BD Biosciences). The percentage of live CD19⁺ and CD3e⁺ splenocytes as well as the level of active caspase 3 were analyzed on the BD FACSCanto II flow cytometer using BD FACSDiva software version 6.1.3 (BD Biosciences).

Proliferation of CD4⁺ T Cells

Erythrocyte-free splenocytes were stained with red fluorescent dye eFluor 670 (eBioscience), which allows monitoring of individual cell divisions. The stained splenocytes were seeded into 96-well culture plates (5 x 10^5 cells in 200 µl of complete medium per well), pre-incubated with Iripin-3, and stimulated with OVA peptide. Cells were allowed to proliferate for 72 h and then were harvested for flow cytometry analysis. Collected cells were stained with FITC-labelled anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody (clone GK1.5, eBioscience) and propidium iodide (eBioscience), and the percentage of proliferating live CD4⁺ splenocytes was measured on the BD FACSCanto II flow cytometer using BD FACSDiva software version 6.1.3 (BD Biosciences).

Transcription Factor Expression in CD4⁺ T Cells (RT-qPCR)

Splenocytes were seeded into 24-well culture plates (4.5 x 10^6 cells in 500 µl of complete medium per well), pre-incubated with Iripin-3, and stimulated with OVA peptide. At the end of 72 h incubation, non-adherent cells were collected, stained with FITC-labeled anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody (clone GK1.5, eBioscience), and CD4⁺ splenocytes were separated from the rest of the cell population using

the S3e Cell Sorter (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA). RNA was extracted from CD4⁺ cells with the help of NucleoSpin RNA isolation kit (Macherey-Nagel, Düren, Germany), and 1 µg of total RNA was reverse transcribed into cDNA using the Transcriptor First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Roche Applied Science). RT-qPCR was performed in the CFX384 Touch thermal cycler (Bio-Rad) by utilizing five-fold diluted cDNA, SsoAdvanced Universal SYBR Green Supermix (Bio-Rad), and gene-specific primers. The PCR cycling conditions were 95°C for 3 min followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 10 s and 60°C for 30 s. The relative quantification of Tbx21 (Tbet), Gata3, Rorc, and Foxp3 transcripts in CD4⁺ splenocytes was performed using Pfaffl's mathematical model (64). Based on the results of geNorm analysis (65), Actb and Gapdh were utilized as reference genes for the calculation of relative expression ratios. Nucleotide sequences of forward and reverse primers as well as amplicon lengths are given in Supplementary Table 3.

Transcription Factor Expression in CD4⁺ T Cells (Flow Cytometry)

Splenocytes were seeded into 24-well culture plates (2 x 10⁶ cells in 500 µl of complete medium per well), pre-incubated with Iripin-3, and stimulated with OVA peptide. After 68 h incubation at 37°C and 5% CO2, 20 ng/ml of phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA; Sigma Aldrich) together with 1 µM ionomycin (Sigma Aldrich) were added to re-stimulate the cells. Brefeldin A (eBioscience) at a concentration of 3 µg/ml was added 1 h later, and splenocytes were incubated in the presence of PMA, ionomycin, and brefeldin A for another 4 h. At the end of incubation, non-adherent cells were collected and stained with fixable viability dyes eFluor 520 and eFluor 780 (eBioscience). Subsequently, Fc receptors were blocked with anti-CD16/CD32 antibody (eBioscience, clone 93), and surface antigen staining was performed with anti-CD4-Alexa Fluor 700 (BD Biosciences, clone RM4-5) and anti-CD25-PerCP-Cyanine5.5 (eBioscience, clone PC61.5) monoclonal antibodies. Surface antigen staining was followed by intracellular staining of transcription factors and cytokine IFN-y, for which the Foxp3/Transcription Factor Staining Buffer Set (eBioscience) was used in conjunction with following monoclonal antibodies: anti-Tbet-APC (clone eBio4B10 (4B10)), anti-GATA-3-PE (clone TWAJ), anti-RORyt-PE-CF594 (clone Q31-378), anti-Foxp3-PE-Cyanine7 (clone FJK-16s), and anti-IFN-y-PE (clone XMG1.2). All antibodies were purchased from eBioscience except for the anti-RORyt antibody, which was obtained from BD Biosciences. Analysis was performed on the BD FACSCanto II flow cytometer using BD FACSDiva software version 6.1.3 (BD Biosciences).

Statistical Analyses

Data are presented in all graphs as mean \pm the standard error of the mean (SEM). Differences between the mean values of two groups were analyzed by the unpaired two-tailed *t*-test. Differences between the mean values of three or more groups were analyzed by one-way ANOVA or randomized block ANOVA, which involved two variables: a fixed effect factor (treatment) and a random effect factor/block (an experimental run) (66). In the case of a statistically significant result (p < 0.05), Dunnett's *post hoc* test was performed to compare the mean of a control group with the means of experimental groups. All statistical tests were conducted using the software package STATISTICA 12 (StatSoft, Inc.). Statistically significant differences between groups are marked with asterisks (* p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001).

RESULTS

Iripin-3 Belongs to the Serpin Superfamily

A full-length nucleotide sequence of Iripin-3 was obtained during a salivary gland transcriptome project (16) and was submitted to GenBank under accession number GADI01004776.1. This sequence, consisting of 1182 base pairs, encodes a 377-amino acid (AA) protein with predicted molecular weight of approximately 42 kDa and with theoretical isoelectric point (pI) 5.23. The SignalP 4.1 server found a 16-AA signal peptide at the N terminus of the protein sequence (Figure 1A), which indicates that Iripin-3 is a potentially secreted protein. Using ScanProsite, the serpin signature motif PS00284 was identified at AA positions 366-376 (Figure 1A). Moreover, two other serpin consensus AA motifs N-[AT]-[VIM]-[YLH]-F-[KRT]-[GS] and [DERQ]-[VL]-[NDS]-E-[EVDKQ]-G were recognized: NAMYFKG at AA positions 183-189 and EVNEEG at AA positions 338-343 (Figure 1A), suggesting that Iripin-3 belongs to the serpin superfamily. The hinge region of the Iripin-3 RCL has glycine at the P15 position, threonine at the P14 position, and residues with short side chains (alanine and valine) at positions P12-P9 (Figure 1A), which correspond to the RCLs of inhibitory serpins (68). The P1 site is occupied with the basic amino acid residue arginine (Figure 1A), suggesting Iripin-3 might target trypsin-like rather than chymotrypsin-like or elastase-like serine proteases (69). Using NetNGlyc 1.0 and NetOGlyc 4.0 servers, the Iripin-3 AA sequence was predicted to contain two potential Nglycosylation sites (N-X-[S/T]) and one putative O-glycosylation site (Figure 1A).

Iripin-3 Adopts a Typical Serpin Fold

Employing X-ray crystallography, we determined the 3D structure of Iripin-3 at 1.95 Å resolution. The crystal used exhibited symmetry of the P6222 space group and contained one molecule in the asymmetric unit with a solvent content of 42.68%. The tertiary structure of Iripin-3 matched the 3D structures of other serpins, including the tick serpin IRS-2 (Figure 1B), with which it had the highest sequence similarity of all the serpin structures currently deposited in the PDB. More specifically, the Iripin-3 tertiary structure was composed of ten α -helices and three β -sheets, which were sequentially arranged in the order $\alpha 1-\beta 1-\alpha 2-\alpha 3-\alpha 4-\alpha 5-\beta 2-\alpha 6-\beta 3-\alpha 7-\beta 4-\beta 5-\beta 6-\beta 7-\beta 8 \alpha 8 - \alpha 9 - \beta 9 - \beta 10 - \alpha 10 - \beta 11 - \beta 12 - \beta 13 - \beta 14 - \beta 15$ (Figures 1A, 2). The sheet A consisted of six β -strands (β 2, β 3, β 4, β 10, β 11, β 12), sheet B of five β -strands (β 1, β 7, β 8, β 14, β 15), and sheet C of four β -strands (β 5, β 6, β 9, β 13) (Figure 2). Iripin-3 in the crystal adopted a conformation known as the relaxed (R) state, since its RCL was probably cleaved by some contaminating



proteases before or during the crystallization experiment. A protein sample can contain traces of contaminating cysteine and serine proteases, as demonstrated previously (70). The cleavage of the RCL led to the insertion of the RCL hinge region into the β -sheet A as an additional β -strand S4 (Figure 2). The 3D structure of Iripin-3 contained 367 amino acid residues. The first 19 residues, which basically corresponded to the signal peptide of the protein, were missing. Moreover, the region 356LRSGSFD362, in which the cleavage occurred, could not be modelled in the Iripin-3 structure due to its absence in the electron-density map. To compare the tertiary structure of Iripin-3 with that of IRS-2, the molecular structure of Iripin-3 was superposed with Cα atoms of IRS-2 with root-mean-square deviation of 0.8085 Å. The secondary structure elements were well conserved in both serpins, but there was a certain degree of divergence in disordered loop regions (Figure 1B).

Iripin-3 Is Most Closely Related to Serpins From *I. scapularis*

The BLASTP search of the GenBank non-redundant protein sequences identified three *I. scapularis* serpins (accession numbers XP_029826754.1, EEC19555.1, and AAV80788.1)

whose sequences were highly similar to the Iripin-3 sequence (percentage identities 95.4%, 94.9%, and 93.6%, respectively). These homologs have not been functionally characterized. The phylogenetic relationship of Iripin-3 with 26 tick serpins, whose function was deciphered either by using recombinant protein or at least by gene knockdown via RNA interference in ticks, was determined by using the maximum likelihood method and JTT matrix-based model. The resulting phylogenetic tree, with human alpha-1-antitrypsin as an outgroup, showed two distinct groups of tick serpins (Figure 3A). The first group at the bottom of the tree included eight serpins without a signal peptide with presumably intracellular function (Figure 3A). Notably, these serpins usually contained one or more cysteines and methionines in their RCL (Figure 3B). The second, larger group at the top of the tree comprised 19 serpins with a signal peptide, including Iripin-3 (Figure 3A). Iripin-3 formed a small branch with one serpin from I. scapularis (IxscS-1E1) and one serpin from I. ricinus (IRS-2) (Figure 3A). In addition to the construction of the phylogenetic tree, we aligned the RCLs of the serpins used in the phylogenetic analysis (Figure 3B). Serpins that clustered together usually had similar RCLs, and the RCL of Iripin-3 resembled that of IxscS-1E1 (Figure 3B).



loops are colored wheat. The insertion of the RCL hinge region between β-strands S3 and S5 (depicted in blue) resulted in the formation of an additional β-strand S4 (depicted in pink). Cleavage sites are marked with asterisks.

Iripin-3 Is Expressed in Feeding Ticks and Is Secreted Into Tick Saliva

In order to see how iripin-3 expression changes during blood feeding, nymphal and adult ticks were allowed to feed on blood from host animals for various periods of time, and the amount of *iripin-3* transcript in tick tissues was subsequently determined by RT-qPCR. Overall, *iripin-3* expression was significantly induced in response to blood feeding in nymphs as well as in the salivary glands and ovaries of adult females (Figure 4A). In adults, the highest levels of iripin-3 mRNA were detected in the salivary glands (Figure 4A). To prove the presence of Iripin-3 protein in tick saliva, we collected saliva from ticks that were feeding for 6 to 7 days on guinea pigs. By ELISAs, markedly higher optical density values were obtained after exposure of tick saliva to anti-Iripin-3 serum than to pre-immune serum (Figure 4B), suggesting that Iripin-3 is a salivary protein. This result was further confirmed by western blotting. Rabbit pre-immune serum did not recognize recombinant Iripin-3, and there was no band of appropriate size (around 42 kDa) in tick saliva (Figure 4C). Conversely, the use of anti-Iripin-3 serum led to the recognition of recombinant Iripin-3 and appearance of an approximately 45 kDa band in tick saliva, which might represent native Iripin-3 (Figure 4D). The difference in the sizes of native and recombinant Iripin-3 was probably caused by the fact that native Iripin-3 is glycosylated, whereas recombinant Iripin-3 was prepared in the E. coli expression system and therefore lacks glycosylation. The other bands with sizes greater or less than 45 kDa that appeared in the lanes with tick saliva after exposure of membranes to either pre-immune serum or anti-Iripin-3 serum are most likely a result of non-specific binding of antibodies to some components of tick saliva (Figures 4C, D).

Iripin-3 Primarily Inhibits Kallikrein and Matriptase

An initial screen for Iripin-3 inhibitory activity was carried out against 17 different serine proteases. Statistically significant reductions in enzymatic activity were observed for ten proteases, but only six of these, namely kallikrein, matriptase, trypsin, plasmin, thrombin, and FVIIa, had their proteolytic activity reduced by >20% (Figure 5A). Iripin-3 formed covalent complexes, typical for the serpin "suicide" mechanism of inhibition (71), with kallikrein, matriptase, thrombin, and trypsin, as shown by SDS-PAGE (Figure 5B). There was no visible complex between Iripin-3 and plasmin on the gel (Figure 5B). It is possible that the complex was hidden within an approximately 70 kDa protein band, which was also present in the lane with plasmin only (Figure 5B). Moreover, no SDS- and heat-stable complex was formed between Iripin-3 and FVIIa in the absence or presence of tissue factor under given conditions (Supplementary Figure 1), suggesting Iripin-3 probably does not reduce the proteolytic activity of FVIIa through the classic serpin inhibitory mechanism. Finally, the second-order rate constants k_2 for the interactions between Iripin-3 and kallikrein, matriptase, thrombin, and trypsin were measured by a discontinuous method under pseudo first-order conditions. Iripin-3 most potently inhibited kallikrein with $k_2 = 8.46 \pm 0.51 \times 10^4 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ (Figure 5C). The k_2 for the interactions between Iripin-3 and matriptase and trypsin were determined as 5.93 \pm 0.39 x 10⁴ $M^{-1} s^{-1}$ and 4.65 ± 0.32 x 10⁴ $M^{-1} s^{-1}$, respectively (**Figures 5D, F**). Thrombin was inhibited by Iripin-3 with the lowest potency $(k_2 = 1.37 \pm 0.21 \times 10^3 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1})$ (Figure 5E). Interface analysis between the active sites of matriptase, thrombin, kallikrein and trypsin and the P4-P4' part of Iripin-3 RCL revealed possible polar interactions that could indicate the binding selectivity of

Chlastáková et al

00



0.20

FIGURE 3 | Phylogenetic analysis of selected tick serpins. Protein sequences of previously characterized tick serpins were aligned and analyzed to determine phylogenetic relationships. (A) A phylogenetic tree was built using the maximum likelihood method and JTT matrix-based model. Alpha-1-antitrypsin (A1AT) was utilized as an outgroup to root the tree. The branch length represents the number of substitutions per site. The reliability of individual branches, assessed by bootstrapping, is expressed as a percentage of trees in which a given topology was present out of 1,000 replications. Iripin-3 is boxed. (B) Alignment of reactive center loop (RCL) regions of 27 tick serpins and one human serpin was performed using BioEdit. RCLs were determined based on the eight-residue pattern p17[E]-p16[E/K/R]-p15[G]-p14[T/S]-p13[X]-p12-9[AGS]-p8-1[X]-p1'-4' [X] typical for inhibitory serpins (68). Amino acid residues at the predicted P1 site are highlighted in blue.



Iripin-3 for target proteases (Supplementary Figure 2). The strongest interaction with the catalytic triad was calculated for matriptase, followed by trypsin, kallikrein and thrombin (data not shown). According to this analysis, thrombin and kallikrein should be inhibited by Iripin-3 with similar potency. This, however, was not supported by enzyme-substrate kinetic analyses (Figures 5C-F), in which kallikrein displayed 60 times higher k_2 value than thrombin. Therefore, the specificity of Iripin-3 is probably dependent on more factors. As shown in Supplementary Figure 3, matriptase and trypsin have open and shallow active sites, easily accessible to various substrates, including Iripin-3 RCL. Thrombin and kallikrein, on the other hand, possess narrower and deeper cavities with the catalytic triad (Supplementary Figure 3). It is possible that some subtle differences in spatial arrangement hinder the access of Iripin-3 RCL to the thrombin's active site, while facilitating its access to the kallikrein's active site cleft.

Iripin-3 Prolongs Plasma Clotting Time in the Prothrombin Time Assay

Since tick serpins commonly inhibit the host coagulation system (72), we tested the effect of Iripin-3 on the extrinsic coagulation pathway, intrinsic coagulation pathway, and common

coagulation pathway by using prothrombin time (PT), activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT), and thrombin time (TT) tests, respectively (73). Iripin-3 at 6 μ M final concentration did not significantly prolong plasma clotting time in the aPTT and TT assays (data not shown). However, there was a statistically significant delay in blood clot formation in the PT test when plasma was treated with 1.5, 3, and 6 μ M Iripin-3 (**Figure 6**). The highest Iripin-3 concentration prolonged the prothrombin time by 8.8 s when compared to control plasma (**Figure 6**). These results therefore indicate that Iripin-3 slightly inhibits the extrinsic pathway while not affecting the intrinsic and common pathways of blood coagulation.

Iripin-3 Decreases Production of IL-6 by BMDMs

Serpins secreted in tick saliva can facilitate blood meal uptake not only by inhibiting coagulation but also by suppressing host inflammatory responses (37, 72, 74). Therefore, we next investigated whether Iripin-3 attenuates pro-inflammatory cytokine production by LPS-stimulated BMDMs. The production of TNF, IL-6, and IL-1 β was assessed at the mRNA level by RT-qPCR as well as at the protein level by ELISA. Iripin-



FIGURE 5 | Iripin-3 suppresses the enzymatic activities of kallikrein, matriptase, thrombin, and trypsin through the classic serpin inhibitory mechanism. (A) The residual enzymatic activities of 17 selected serine proteases in the presence of 400 nM Iripin-3. The experiment was performed in triplicate, and data are expressed as mean \pm SEM. The enzymatic activities of individual proteases in the absence of Iripin-3 (control groups) were considered as 100%, and differences between control groups and Iripin-3-treated groups were analyzed by the unpaired two-tailed *t*-test. Enzymes labelled with an asterisk were inhibited with statistical significance (p < 0.05). (B) Formation of SDS-and heat-stable complexes between Iripin-3 and kallikrein, matriptase, plasmin, thrombin, and trypsin. Proteins were resolved on 4 to 12% NuPAGE Bis-Tris gels and visualized by silver staining. Covalent complexes between Iripin-3 and target proteases are marked with black arrows. (C–F) The apparent first-order rate constant k_{obs} was plotted against Iripin-3 concentration, and linear regression was performed to obtain the line of best fit. The slope of the line represents the second-order rate constant k_2 for the inhibition of kallikrein (C), matriptase (D), thrombin (E), and trypsin (F) by Iripin-3. For each determination, the standard error of the slope is given.

3 caused a dose-dependent and statistically significant reduction in the transcription of all three genes (**Figures 7A–C**). However, decreases in the transcription of *Tnf* and *Il1b* did not result in corresponding changes in the concentrations of these two proinflammatory cytokines at the protein level (**Figures 7D, F**). Conversely, Iripin-3 was an efficient inhibitor of both IL-6 synthesis and secretion (**Figure 7E**).

Iripin-3 Impairs B and T Cell Viability In Vitro

In addition to inhibiting innate immune mechanisms, tick serpins can alter the host adaptive immune response (35, 37,

72). First, we tested whether Iripin-3 had an effect on B and T lymphocyte viability. Incubation of splenocytes derived from OT-II mice for 20 h in the presence of two different concentrations of Iripin-3 (3 μ M and 6 μ M) resulted in a pronounced dose-dependent reduction in the viability of both B cells (CD45⁺ CD19⁺ splenocytes) and T cells (CD45⁺ CD3e⁺ splenocytes), with B cell survival more negatively affected by the serpin presence than T cell survival (**Figures 8A–D**). B and T cell viability was impaired irrespective of whether the splenocytes were left unstimulated or were stimulated with OVA peptide (**Figures 8C, D**). Conversely, Iripin-3 did not reduce the viability of BMDMs or dendritic cells (**Supplementary Figures 4A, B**),



FIGURE 6 | Iripin-3 inhibits the extrinsic pathway of blood coagulation. Human plasma was treated with no Iripin-3 or with 0.375, 0.75, 1.5, 3, and 6 μ M Iripin-3 and the time required for blood clot formation in the prothrombin time assay was subsequently determined on a coagulometer. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments (***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001).

and the viability of LPS-activated neutrophils was impaired only in the presence of the highest (6 μ M) concentration of Iripin-3 (**Supplementary Figure 4C**). Therefore, Iripin-3 might selectively induce B and T cell death. To investigate the possibility that Iripin-3 triggers lymphocyte apoptosis, we measured active caspase-3 levels in both unstimulated and OVA peptide-stimulated splenocytes. Treatment of splenocytes with Iripin-3 did not lead to a statistically significant increase in the level of active caspase-3 (**Figures 8E, F**). Therefore, Iripin-3 probably does not induce B and T cell death through activation of a caspase-3-dependent pathway.

Iripin-3 Inhibits *In Vitro* CD4⁺ T Cell Proliferation

Since Iripin-3 reduced T cell viability, we tested whether it also affected the survival and proliferation of CD4⁺ helper T cells. OT-II splenocytes were pre-incubated with 3 μ M or 6 μ M Iripin-3 for 2 h before being stimulated with OVA peptide for 72 h. Propidium iodide staining in combination with the application of anti-CD4 antibody revealed a lower percentage of live CD4⁺ cells in Iripin-3-treated groups than in the control group (**Figure 9A**), suggesting Iripin-3 has a negative effect on CD4⁺ T cell viability. After the exclusion of dead cells, we assessed the



FIGURE 7 | Iripin-3 inhibits the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in LPS-stimulated BMDMs. Macrophages derived from bone marrow cells isolated from C57BL/6N mice were pre-incubated with 3 μ M or 6 μ M Iripin-3 for 40 min and were then stimulated with LPS (100 ng/ml) for 24 h. (A–C) At the end of 24 h incubation, cells were harvested for RNA extraction and the expression of *Tnf* (A), *II*6 (B), and *II1*b (C) was determined by RT-qPCR. Relative expression values were calculated using the delta-delta Ct (Livak) method (60), with *Gapdh* serving as a reference gene. Cells incubated only in the presence of LPS were utilized as a calibrator during calculations. Data are presented as mean ± SEM of four independent experiments (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001). (D–F) Supernatants were collected, and TNF, IL-6, and IL-1 β concentrations in these supernatants were measured by sandwich ELISA. TNF (D), IL-6 (E), and IL-1 β (F) production by Iripin-3-treated BMDMs is expressed as the percentage of the cytokine production by control macrophages, since there were large differences in the concentrations of the same cytokine between three independent repeats of the experiment. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM, and statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) are marked with an asterisk.



treated with Iripin-3 (left) or were treated with 3 μ M (middle) or 6 μ M (right) Iripin-3. (**C**, **D**, **F**) The percentage of live B cells (**C**), live T cells (**D**), and median fluorescence intensity (MFI) corresponding to the level of active caspase-3 (**F**) after incubating the splenocytes for 20 h in the absence of Iripin-3 or in the presence of 3 μ M and 6 μ M Iripin-3. The cells were left either unstimulated or were stimulated with 100 ng/ml of OVA peptide. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments (**p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001). (**E**) Histograms showing the level of active caspase-3 in either unstimulated splenocytes (left) or splenocytes stimulated with OVA peptide (right). Splenocytes were incubated for 20 h without Iripin-3 or were treated with 3 μ M or 6 μ M Iripin-3.

proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells. Unstimulated CD4⁺ cells did not proliferate at all (**Figure 9C**), whereas addition of OVA peptide triggered proliferation in approximately 95% of cells (**Figures 9B, D**). Treatment with Iripin-3 caused a dose-dependent decrease in CD4⁺ splenocyte proliferation (**Figure 9B**). While about 84% of cells proliferated in the presence of 3 μ M Iripin-3 (**Figures 9B, E**), only 35% of cells were capable of proliferation after addition of 6 μ M Iripin-3 (**Figures 9B, F**). Therefore, Iripin-3 impairs both the viability and proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells.

Iripin-3 Inhibits a Th1 Immune Response and Promotes Differentiation of Regulatory T Cells (Tregs) *In Vitro*

To examine whether Iripin-3 alters the differentiation of naïve $CD4^+$ T cells into Th1, Th2, Th17, or Treg subpopulations, we evaluated the expression of transcription factors T-bet, GATA-3, ROR γ t, and Foxp3 in OVA peptide-stimulated CD4⁺ splenocytes by RT-qPCR and flow cytometry. T-bet, GATA-3, ROR γ t, and

Foxp3 are considered lineage-specifying transcription factors that govern Th1, Th2, Th17, and Treg differentiation, respectively (75-79). Iripin-3 markedly and dose-dependently inhibited the expression of T-bet in CD4⁺ T cells at both the mRNA and protein levels (Figures 10A-C). Since T-bet controls Ifng transcription (76), we also tested the ability of Iripin-3 to inhibit the production of this hallmark Th1 cytokine. As with Tbet, Iripin-3 induced a pronounced and dose-dependent reduction in the percentage of CD4⁺ T cells producing IFN-γ (Figures 10D, E). Despite the inhibition of the Th1 immune response, we did not observe significant changes in the differentiation of T cells into Th2 or Th17 subpopulations (Figures 10F-K). GATA-3 expression was slightly increased only in CD4⁺ T cells treated with 3 μ M Iripin-3 (Figures 10G, H). Similarly, both Iripin-3 concentrations induced only a small and non-significant increase in the percentage of CD4⁺ T cells expressing RORyt (Figures 10J, K). Finally, Iripin-3 moderately stimulated the expression of Foxp3 at both the mRNA and protein levels (Figures 10L-N). Therefore, Iripin-3 might



CD4⁺ cells (B) after exposure to 3 μ M or 6 μ M lripin-3. Cells not treated with lripin-3 were used as control. After 2 h pre-incubation with lripin-3, cells were cultured in the presence of OVA peptide (100 ng/ml) for 72 h. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01). (C-F) Histograms showing the number of live CD4⁺ cells that managed to divide once (blue), twice (light blue), 3 times (pink), 4 times (rose), 5 times (plum), or did not divide at all (gray) within the 72 h culture period. Cells were incubated in the absence of Iripin-3 and OVA peptide (C), in the presence of OVA peptide only (D), or were treated with the combination of 3 μ M Iripin-3 and OVA peptide (F).

induce the differentiation of Tregs in addition to inhibiting Th1 cell development.

Iripin-3 Is Not Essential for Feeding Success of *I. ricinus* Nymphs

Since *iripin-3* expression is induced in nymphs in response to blood feeding, we decided to assess the role of this serpin in the blood-feeding process by silencing iripin-3 expression in nymphs via RNA interference. Iripin-3 expression in iripin-3 dsRNAtreated ticks was 34% when compared to gfp dsRNA-treated ticks (data not shown), suggesting that the knockdown of the target gene was successful. Despite diminished iripin-3 expression, the time course of blood feeding and overall feeding success (i.e. the number of nymphs that reached full engorgement) did not significantly differ between control ticks and iripin-3 dsRNAtreated ticks (Supplementary Table 4). The weight of fully engorged nymphs was not significantly affected by iripin-3 silencing as well (Supplementary Table 4). Therefore, we can conclude that the deficiency of Iripin-3 alone is not sufficient to impair the blood meal acquisition and processing by nymphal I. ricinus ticks.

DISCUSSION

Tick saliva contains hundreds to thousands of proteins from diverse protein families (80). These salivary proteins are

differentially expressed over the course of blood feeding and enable ticks to feed to repletion by maintaining blood fluidity and suppressing host defense responses (80). Serpins form one of four serine protease inhibitor families that have been discovered in ticks (72). Serpins are particularly intriguing to study, not only due to their unique trapping inhibitory mechanism but also because they regulate a variety of physiological processes in many organisms. The functional diversity of the serpin superfamily is exemplified by the widely studied human serpins, which have been shown to regulate blood pressure, transport hormones, and control blood coagulation, fibrinolysis, angiogenesis, programmed cell death, inflammation, or complement activation (81-84). We presume that ticks employ some of their serpins to modulate host defenses, as evidenced by several tick serpins with anti-platelet, anti-coagulant, anti-inflammatory, and/or immunomodulatory properties that have been shown to be secreted via saliva into the host (34-37, 72).

Here we determined the structure and partially deciphered the function of *Ixodes ricinus* serpin Iripin-3 by using several *in vitro* models. The size (377 amino acids), molecular weight (42 kDa), and 3D structure of Iripin-3, consisting of three β sheets, ten α -helices, and a cleaved RCL, correspond to the structural parameters of typical serpins (18, 20, 71). *Iripin-3* expression was induced by blood feeding in both nymphs and adult females, suggesting Iripin-3 contributes to feeding success in both developmental stages. Of the three organs of adult ticks, the highest levels of *iripin-3* transcript were detected in the



FIGURE 10 | Iripin-3 alters the expression of CD4⁺ T cell transcription factors at both the mRNA and protein levels. (**A**, **F**, **I**, **L**) Expression of *Tbx21* (**A**), *Gata3* (**F**), *Rorc* (**I**), and *Foxp3* (**L**) in CD4⁺ cells stimulated with OVA peptide for 72 h. Cells were untreated with Iripin-3 or were treated with 3 μ M or 6 μ M Iripin-3. Cells incubated only in the presence of OVA peptide were utilized as a calibrator during calculations of relative expression values. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM of four independent experiments (* p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01). (**B**, **D**, **G**, **J**, **M**) Representative contour plots showing the proportion of OVA peptide-stimulated CD4⁺ splenocytes expressing T-bet (**B**), IFN- γ (**D**), GATA-3 (**G**), ROR γ t (**J**) and the combination of CD25 and Foxp3 (**M**). The cells were incubated in the absence of Iripin-3 (left) or in the presence of two different Iripin-3 concentrations: 3 μ M (middle) and 6 μ M (right). (**C**, **E**, **H**, **K**, **N**) The percentage of CD4⁺ T cells producing the cytokine IFN- γ (**E**) and expressing transcription factors T-bet (**C**), GATA-3 (**H**), ROR γ t (**K**), and Foxp3 together with CD25 (**N**). Cells were cultured in the presence of Iripin-3 (3 μ M or 6 μ M) and OVA peptide for 72 h. Cells incubated without Iripin-3 were used as control. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM of three or four independent experiments (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001).

salivary glands. The presence of Iripin-3 protein in the saliva of partially engorged adults was confirmed by immunodetection. Thus, we can assume that Iripin-3 is secreted via saliva into the tick attachment site where it interferes with host anti-tick defenses. Statistically significant increase of *iripin-3* expression in response to blood feeding occurred not only in the salivary glands but also in the ovaries of adult ticks, which indicates that Iripin-3 might be somehow involved in the reproductive process. The role of serpins in tick reproduction has been evidenced recently by *Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides* serpin RHS-8, the knockdown of which impaired oocyte maturation due to the inability of oocytes to uptake adequate amount of vitellogenin (45).

The presence of the basic amino acid residue arginine at the P1 site of the Iripin-3 RCL indicates that Iripin-3 might inhibit trypsin-like rather than chymotrypsin-like or elastase-like serine proteases (69, 85). Indeed, out of 17 selected serine proteases, Iripin-3 most potently inhibited trypsin-like serine proteases kallikrein and matriptase and exhibited weaker inhibitory activity against trypsin, thrombin, plasmin, and factor VIIa. Kallikrein participates in the activation of the intrinsic blood coagulation pathway, promotes fibrinolysis, and is also responsible for the release of the potent inflammatory mediator bradykinin, which further induces vasodilation, increases vascular permeability, and evokes pain and itch (86, 87). Matriptase is a type II transmembrane serine protease that is primarily expressed in epithelial cells and is essential for the maintenance of skin barrier function (88). Moreover, matriptase seems to be involved in cutaneous wound healing (89, 90) and might contribute to the amplification and perpetuation of the inflammatory response through the activation of proteaseactivated receptor-2 (PAR-2) (91). Therefore, we speculate that Iripin-3-mediated inhibition of kallikrein and matriptase contributes to tick feeding success by suppressing the inflammatory response and consequent itch and pain and by impairing wound healing.

A phylogenetic analysis of 27 functionally characterized tick serpins revealed a close phylogenetic relationship between Iripin-3 and I. scapularis serpin IxscS-1E1. Both serpins possess arginine at the P1 site and inhibit trypsin and thrombin (30). However, while IxscS-1E1 prolonged plasma clotting time in aPTT and TT assays and had no effect on blood clot formation in the PT assay (30), Iripin-3 inhibited only the extrinsic coagulation pathway. This indicates that the Iripin-3-mediated inhibition of kallikrein and thrombin was not sufficient to significantly impair the intrinsic and common coagulation pathways. Other blood clotting factors (XIIa, XIa, Xa) involved in the intrinsic and common pathways were not markedly inhibited by Iripin-3. Several tick serpins are capable of inhibiting the common (and perhaps intrinsic) pathway of blood coagulation (28-31, 41, 92); however, none have shown any effect on the extrinsic coagulation pathway. The extrinsic coagulation pathway is initiated by damage to a blood vessel and subsequent formation of a FVIIa/tissue factor (TF) complex, which further activates factor X (93). In view of the fact that Iripin-3 exhibited weak inhibitory activity only in the PT test and not in the aPTT test or TT test, we hypothesized that it might target either FVIIa or TF, since these two proteins are the only unique components of the extrinsic pathway. FVIIa seemed to be a more likely target for Iripin-3 given that it is a serine protease (94), and some human serpins, such as antithrombin III or protein C inhibitor, have been shown to inhibit the proteolytic activity of FVIIa (95-97). In our hands, Iripin-3 did not form a covalent complex with FVIIa either in the absence or in the presence of TF. However, the proteolytic activity of FVIIa was

reduced by approximately 30% in the presence of 400 nM Iripin-3 in the kinetic enzyme-substrate assay. Therefore, the prolongation of blood clot formation in the PT assay might be caused by the non-canonical inhibition of FVIIa by Iripin-3. Alternatively, a possible interaction between Iripin-3 and TF could also prevent FVIIa/TF complex formation, leading to a lower rate of FXa generation and inhibition of blood coagulation.

In addition to the inhibition of blood coagulation, Iripin-3 displayed anti-inflammatory activity in vitro, since it significantly and dose-dependently attenuated the production of proinflammatory cytokine IL-6 by LPS-stimulated bone marrowderived macrophages. The decreased IL-6 production was probably caused by the inhibition of Il6 transcription and not by reduced viability of macrophages, since the metabolic activity of macrophages remained unchanged in the presence of Iripin-3. Several tick serpins have been shown to inhibit IL-6 transcription and secretion (37-39, 74, 98), which can occur as a result of serpin-mediated inhibition of proteases such as cathepsin G and cathepsin B (37). However, the inhibition of pro-inflammatory cytokine production does not have to be dependent on serpin anti-protease activity because some serpins, like Iris and α -1antitrypsin, can alter pro-inflammatory cytokine production by binding to immune cells via exosites (98, 99). An inflammatory environment with reduced IL-6 might favor differentiation of Tregs (100-102). Splenocytes, incubated in the presence of Iripin-3 for 72 h, increased the expression of Treg-specific transcription factor Foxp3 (77, 78), suggesting that Iripin-3 indeed induces the differentiation of naïve CD4⁺ T cells into anti-inflammatory Tregs. Tregs would facilitate the suppression of the host immune response (103), which would be beneficial for feeding ticks. There is scarce evidence that tick saliva induces Treg differentiation (104, 105). The results of our *in vitro* assay indicate that salivary serpins could contribute to this particular activity of tick saliva.

Besides the reduction in IL-6 production and increase in Foxp3 expression, Iripin-3 caused a pronounced, dosedependent decrease in B and T cell viability in vitro. This effect appears to be B and T cell-specific since macrophage and dendritic cell survival was not affected by Iripin-3 and the viability of LPS-stimulated neutrophils was slightly impaired only at the highest (6 µM) concentration of Iripin-3. Serpins usually protect cells from dying by reducing the proteolytic activity of enzymes (such as granzymes and caspases) involved in programmed cell death (106). However, certain serpins, e.g., kallikrein-binding protein, pigment epithelium-derived factor, or maspin, induce apoptosis of endothelial cells and some cancer cells through distinct mechanisms such as the activation of the Fas/FasL/caspase-8 signaling pathway or the permeabilization of the outer mitochondrial membrane followed by a loss of transmembrane potential (107-111). Active caspase-3 levels were only slightly and non-significantly increased in Iripin-3treated splenocytes. Therefore, the induction of caspasedependent apoptosis was not the main cause of impaired splenocyte viability. Various forms of caspase-independent cell death have been described such as autophagy, paraptosis, necroptosis, or necrosis (112, 113). Elucidation of the exact

mechanism behind the extensive splenocyte death in the presence of Iripin-3 is, however, beyond the scope of this paper.

I. ricinus saliva and salivary gland extracts inhibit T cell proliferation and suppress Th1 cell differentiation while simultaneously augmenting the Th2 immune response (114-117). Iripin-3 might contribute to this immunomodulatory effect of saliva, since in our in vitro assays it inhibited CD4⁺ T lymphocyte proliferation and impaired the differentiation of naïve CD4⁺ T cells into Th1 cells. Impaired Th1 cell generation was evidenced by decreased expression of the Th1 lineagespecifying transcription factor T-bet and a reduced percentage of CD4⁺ T cells producing the hallmark Th1 cytokine IFN-y. Several studies have reported inhibition of splenocyte and peripheral blood mononuclear cell proliferation in the presence of tick serpins (35, 37, 38, 40). Interestingly, the inhibition of mitosis observed in these studies was usually accompanied by decreased IFN-y production (35, 38, 40), which might indicate, among other things, the suppression of Th1 cell differentiation. The causative mechanism of reduced cell proliferation and impaired Th1 cell differentiation in the presence of tick serpins remains unknown, but it could be associated with decreased production of certain cytokines such as IL-2, IL-12, and IFN-y. In the case of Iripin-3, there might be a connection between the inhibition of cell proliferation and impaired viability of splenocytes, i.e., the mechanism behind B and T cell death could be also responsible for the suppression of CD4⁺ T cell division. Iripin-3-mediated differentiation of naïve CD4⁺ T cells into Tregs might also contribute to the reduction in CD4⁺ T cell proliferation, since Tregs can inhibit cell multiplication by various mechanisms including the production of immunosuppressive cytokines TGF-B and IL-35, consumption of IL-2, and conversion of ATP to adenosine (103, 118).

It is worth mentioning that the Iripin-3 concentrations used in *in vitro* experiments (3 μ M and 6 μ M) are probably higher than the amount of Iripin-3 at the tick feeding site. This fact, however, does not make the anticoagulant, ant-inflammatory and immunomodulatory activities of Iripin-3 observed in vitro physiologically irrelevant. Tick saliva is a complex mixture of proteins from the same or different protein families, and some of these salivary proteins can share the same function (119). Therefore, even a low concentration of one tick protein may be sufficient to achieve a desired effect at the tick attachment site if this protein acts in concert with other tick proteins (119). For instance, the ability of *I. ricinus* saliva to inhibit CD4⁺ T cell proliferation is probably a result of combined action of more proteins with antiproliferative properties, such as the serpins Iripin-3 and Iris, the cystatin Iristatin and the Kunitz domain-containing protein IrSPI (38, 120, 121). That I. ricinus saliva may contain other proteins possessing Iripin-3-like activities was demonstrated by the RNA interference experiment. Iripin-3 knockdown did not significantly affect the overall feeding success, time course of blood feeding and weight of fully engorged nymphs, which indicates that other similarly acting salivary proteins might compensate for the loss of *iripin-3* expression.

It is also important to note that native Iripin-3 is most likely glycosylated. However, recombinant Iripin-3 was prepared in an

E. coli expression system, and therefore it lacks glycosylation. Glycosylation has been shown to reduce the propensity of serpins for polymerization (122) and increase the stability and half-life of circulating serpins by conferring resistance to proteolytic degradation (123, 124). The impact of glycosylation on the biological function of serpins is less clear. Recombinant Iripin-3 inhibited the proteolytic activity of some serine proteases, suggesting that its functions dependent on anti-protease activity (like anticoagulant properties) may not be affected by missing glycosylation. However, the absence of glycosylation might have an impact on anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory activities of Iripin-3 mediated by its binding to cell surfaces and soluble immune mediators. For example, only glycosylated, but not non-glycosylated, α -1-antitrypsin was capable of binding IL-8, thus inhibiting IL-8-CXCR1 interaction (125).

CONCLUSION

To conclude, Iripin-3 is a pluripotent salivary protein secreted by I. ricinus ticks via saliva into the feeding site, where it might suppress various aspects of host anti-tick defenses. The attenuation of IL-6 production, suppression of CD4⁺ T cell proliferation, and inhibition of Th1 immune responses have also been observed with other tick serpins and are consistent with the previously reported immunomodulatory effects of I. ricinus saliva and salivary gland extracts (114-117). On the other hand, our study is the first to describe the inhibition of the extrinsic pathway of blood coagulation, impaired B and T cell survival, and the induction of Treg differentiation by a tick serpin. The pluripotency and redundancy in Iripin-3 functions are consistent with the theory about the importance of these protein features for successful tick feeding (119). Although several distinct in vitro activities of Iripin-3 were observed in this study, their physiological relevance, mechanisms behind them and potential of Iripin-3 to be a candidate for drug or vaccine development remain to be determined. Therefore, further in vivo experiments and mechanistic studies are needed to validate and elucidate the Iripin-3 functions described in this work.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data sets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/ **Supplementary Material**.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All animal experiments were performed in accordance with the Animal Protection Law of the Czech Republic No. 246/1992 Sb. (ethics approval no. 34/2018) and protocols approved by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Czech Republic (protocol no. 19085/2015-3) and the responsible committee of

the IP BC CAS. Pathogen-free *I. ricinus* ticks were obtained from the tick colony maintained at the IP BC CAS.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AC designed and performed experiments, analyzed data, and wrote the manuscript. JK, ZB, BK, LAM, HL, TP, ME, and IKS designed and performed experiments and analyzed data. MK edited the manuscript. JC directed the study, designed experiments, analyzed data, and edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was financed by the Grant Agency of the Czech Republic (grant 19-14704Y to JC and grant 19-382 07247S to

REFERENCES

- Rizzoli A, Silaghi C, Obiegala A, Rudolf I, Hubálek Z, Földvári G, et al. *Ixodes ricinus* and its transmitted pathogens in urban and peri-urban areas in Europe: new hazards and relevance for public health. *Front Public Health* (2014) 2:251. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2014.00251
- Castelli E, Caputo V, Morello V, Tomasino RM. Local reactions to tick bites. Am J Dermatopathol (2008) 30:241–8. doi: 10.1097/DAD.0b013e3181676b60
- Heinze DM, Carmical JR, Aronson JF, Thangamani S. Early immunologic events at the tick-host interface. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e47301. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0047301
- Boppana DKV, Wikel SK, Raj DG, Manohar MB, Lalitha J. Cellular infiltration at skin lesions and draining lymph nodes of sheep infested with adult *Hyalomma anatolicum anatolicum* ticks. *Parasitology* (2005) 131:657–67. doi: 10.1017/S0031182005008243
- Mbow ML, Rutti B, Brossard M. Infiltration of CD4+ CD8+ T cells, and expression of ICAM-1, Ia antigens, IL-1 alpha and TNF-alpha in the skin lesion of BALB/c mice undergoing repeated infestations with nymphal *Ixodes ricinus* ticks. *Immunology* (1994) 82:596–602.
- Glatz M, Means T, Haas J, Steere AC, Müllegger RR. Characterization of the early local immune response to *Ixodes ricinus* tick bites in human skin. *Exp Dermatol* (2017) 26:263–9. doi: 10.1111/exd.13207
- Nithiuthai S, Allen JR. Langerhans cells present tick antigens to lymph node cells from tick-sensitized guinea-pigs. *Immunology* (1985) 55:157–63.
- Kazimírová M, Štibrániová I. Tick salivary compounds: their role in modulation of host defences and pathogen transmission. Front Cell Infect Microbiol (2013) 3:43. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2013.00043
- Šimo L, Kazimirova M, Richardson J, Bonnet SI. The essential role of tick salivary glands and saliva in tick feeding and pathogen transmission. Front Cell Infect Microbiol (2017) 7:281. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00281
- Mans BJ. Chemical equilibrium at the tick-host feeding interface: a critical examination of biological relevance in hematophagous behavior. *Front Physiol* (2019) 10:530. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00530
- Štibrániová I, Bartíková P, Holíková V, Kazimírová M. Deciphering biological processes at the tick-host interface opens new strategies for treatment of human diseases. *Front Physiol* (2019) 10:830. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2019.00830
- Hovius JWR, Levi M, Fikrig E. Salivating for knowledge: potential pharmacological agents in tick saliva. *PLoS Med* (2008) 5:e43. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0050043
- Chmelar J, Calvo E, Pedra JHF, Francischetti IMB, Kotsyfakis M. Tick salivary secretion as a source of antihemostatics. *J Proteomics* (2012) 75:3842–54. doi: 10.1016/j.jprot.2012.04.026

MK) and by the Grant Agency of the University of South Bohemia (grant 105/2019/P to AC). It was also supported by ERDF no. CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/15_003/0000441 to IKS.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Mr. Jan Erhart for tick provision and technical assistance. X-ray diffraction data were collected on the beamline BL14.1 at the BESSY II electron storage ring operated by the Helmholtz-Zentrum Berlin.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021. 626200/full#supplementary-material

- Chmelař J, Kotál J, Kovaříková A, Kotsyfakis M. The use of tick salivary proteins as novel therapeutics. *Front Physiol* (2019) 10:812. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2019.00812
- Rego ROM, Trentelman JJA, Anguita J, Nijhof AM, Sprong H, Klempa B, et al. Counterattacking the tick bite: towards a rational design of anti-tick vaccines targeting pathogen transmission. *Parasit Vectors* (2019) 12:229. doi: 10.1186/s13071-019-3468-x
- Schwarz A, von Reumont BM, Erhart J, Chagas AC, Ribeiro JMC, Kotsyfakis M. *De novo Ixodes ricinus* salivary gland transcriptome analysis using two next-generation sequencing methodologies. *FASEB J* (2013) 27:4745–56. doi: 10.1096/fj.13-232140
- Martins LA, Kotál J, Bensaoud C, Chmelař J, Kotsyfakis M. Small protease inhibitors in tick saliva and salivary glands and their role in tick-hostpathogen interactions. *Biochim Biophys Acta Proteins Proteom* (2020) 1868:140336. doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2019.140336
- Law RH, Zhang Q, McGowan S, Buckle AM, Silverman GA, Wong W, et al. An overview of the serpin superfamily. *Genome Biol* (2006) 7:216. doi: 10.1186/gb-2006-7-5-216
- Heit C, Jackson BC, McAndrews M, Wright MW, Thompson DC, Silverman GA, et al. Update of the human and mouse SERPIN gene superfamily. *Hum Genomics* (2013) 7:22. doi: 10.1186/1479-7364-7-22
- Khan MS, Singh P, Azhar A, Naseem A, Rashid Q, Kabir MA, et al. Serpin inhibition mechanism: a delicate balance between native metastable state and polymerization. *J Amino Acids* (2011) 2011:606797. doi: 10.4061/2011/ 606797
- Porter L, Radulovic Z, Kim T, Braz GRC, Da Silva Vaz I, Mulenga A. Bioinformatic analyses of male and female *Amblyomma americanum* tick expressed serine protease inhibitors (serpins). *Ticks Tick Borne Dis* (2015) 6:16–30. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2014.08.002
- 22. Tirloni L, Islam MS, Kim TK, Diedrich JK, Yates JR, Pinto AFM, et al. Saliva from nymph and adult females of *Haemaphysalis longicornis*: a proteomic study. *Parasit Vectors* (2015) 8:338. doi: 10.1186/s13071-015-0918-y
- 23. Kotsyfakis M, Schwarz A, Erhart J, Ribeiro JMC. Tissue- and timedependent transcription in *Ixodes ricinus* salivary glands and midguts when blood feeding on the vertebrate host. *Sci Rep* (2015) 5:9103. doi: 10.1038/srep09103
- Mulenga A, Khumthong R, Chalaire KC. *Ixodes scapularis* tick serine proteinase inhibitor (serpin) gene family; annotation and transcriptional analysis. *BMC Genomics* (2009) 10:217. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-10-217
- 25. de Castro MH, de Klerk D, Pienaar R, Latif AA, Rees DJG, Mans BJ. De novo assembly and annotation of the salivary gland transcriptome of *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus* male and female ticks during blood feeding. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis* (2016) 7:536–48. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2016.01.014

- Tirloni L, Seixas A, Mulenga A, da Silva Vaz I, Termignoni C. A family of serine protease inhibitors (serpins) in the cattle tick *Rhipicephalus* (*Boophilus*) microplus. Exp Parasitol (2014) 137:25–34. doi: 10.1016/ j.exppara.2013.12.001
- Rodriguez-Valle M, Xu T, Kurscheid S, Lew-Tabor AE. *Rhipicephalus microplus* serine protease inhibitor family: annotation, expression and functional characterisation assessment. *Parasit Vectors* (2015) 8:7. doi: 10.1186/s13071-014-0605-4
- Prevot P-P, Adam B, Boudjeltia KZ, Brossard M, Lins L, Cauchie P, et al. Anti-hemostatic effects of a serpin from the saliva of the tick *Ixodes ricinus*. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281:26361–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M604197200
- Yu Y, Cao J, Zhou Y, Zhang H, Zhou J. Isolation and characterization of two novel serpins from the tick *Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides*. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis* (2013) 4:297–303. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2013.02.001
- 30. Ibelli AMG, Kim TK, Hill CC, Lewis LA, Bakshi M, Miller S, et al. A blood meal-induced *Ixodes scapularis* tick saliva serpin inhibits trypsin and thrombin, and interferes with platelet aggregation and blood clotting. *Int J Parasitol* (2014) 44:369–79. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpara.2014.01.010
- 31. Kim TK, Tirloni L, Radulovic Z, Lewis L, Bakshi M, Hill C, et al. Conserved Amblyomma americanum tick Serpin19, an inhibitor of blood clotting factors Xa and XIa, trypsin and plasmin, has anti-haemostatic functions. Int J Parasitol (2015) 45:613–27. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpara.2015.03.009
- 32. Chmelar J, Oliveira CJ, Rezacova P, Francischetti IMB, Kovarova Z, Pejler G, et al. A tick salivary protein targets cathepsin G and chymase and inhibits host inflammation and platelet aggregation. *Blood* (2011) 117:736–44. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-06-293241
- 33. Tirloni L, Kim TK, Coutinho ML, Ali A, Seixas A, Termignoni C, et al. The putative role of *Rhipicephalus microplus* salivary serpins in the tick-host relationship. *Insect Biochem Mol Biol* (2016) 71:12–28. doi: 10.1016/ j.ibmb.2016.01.004
- 34. Tirloni L, Kim TK, Berger M, Termignoni C, da Silva Vaz I, Mulenga A. Amblyomma americanum serpin 27 (AAS27) is a tick salivary antiinflammatory protein secreted into the host during feeding. PloS Negl Trop Dis (2019) 13:e0007660. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0007660
- 35. Coutinho ML, Bizzarro B, Tirloni L, Berger M, Freire Oliveira CJ, Sá-Nunes A, et al. *Rhipicephalus microplus* serpins interfere with host immune responses by specifically modulating mast cells and lymphocytes. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis* (2020) 11:101425. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2020.101425
- 36. Kim TK, Tirloni L, Berger M, Diedrich JK, Yates JR, Termignoni C, et al. Amblyomma americanum serpin 41 (AAS41) inhibits inflammation by targeting chymase and chymotrypsin. Int J Biol Macromol (2020) 156:1007–21. doi: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2020.04.088
- Wang F, Song Z, Chen J, Wu Q, Zhou X, Ni X, et al. The immunosuppressive functions of two novel tick serpins, HlSerpin-a and HlSerpin-b, from *Haemaphysalis longicornis. Immunology* (2020) 159:109–20. doi: 10.1111/ imm.13130
- Leboulle G, Crippa M, Decrem Y, Mejri N, Brossard M, Bollen A, et al. Characterization of a novel salivary immunosuppressive protein from *Ixodes ricinus* ticks. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277:10083–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111391200
- Páleníková J, Lieskovská J, Langhansová H, Kotsyfakis M, Chmelař J, Kopecký J. *Ixodes ricinus* salivary serpin IRS-2 affects Th17 differentiation via inhibition of the interleukin-6/STAT-3 signaling pathway. *Infect Immun* (2015) 83:1949–56. doi: 10.1128/IAI.03065-14
- 40. Toyomane K, Konnai S, Niwa A, Githaka N, Isezaki M, Yamada S, et al. Identification and the preliminary *in vitro* characterization of IRIS homologue from salivary glands of *Ixodes persulcatus* Schulze. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis* (2016) 7:119–25. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2015.09.006
- Imamura S, Da Silva Vaz I, Sugino M, Ohashi K, Onuma M. A serine protease inhibitor (serpin) from *Haemaphysalis longicornis* as an anti-tick vaccine. *Vaccine* (2005) 23:1301–11. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.08.041
- Prevot P-P, Couvreur B, Denis V, Brossard M, Vanhamme L, Godfroid E. Protective immunity against *Ixodes ricinus* induced by a salivary serpin. *Vaccine* (2007) 25:3284–92. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.01.008
- Kim TK, Radulovic Z, Mulenga A. Target validation of highly conserved *Amblyomma americanum* tick saliva serine protease inhibitor 19. *Ticks Tick* Borne Dis (2016) 7:405–14. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2015.12.017
- 44. Xu Z, Yan Y, Cao J, Zhou Y, Zhang H, Xu Q, et al. A family of serine protease inhibitors (serpins) and its expression profiles in the ovaries of *Rhipicephalus*

haemaphysaloides. Infect Genet Evol (2020) 84:104346. doi: 10.1016/ j.meegid.2020.104346

- 45. Xu Z, Yan Y, Zhang H, Cao J, Zhou Y, Xu Q, et al. A serpin from the tick *Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides*: involvement in vitellogenesis. *Vet Parasitol* (2020) 279:109064. doi: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2020.109064
- 46. Gasteiger E, Hoogland C, Gattiker A, Duvaud S, Wilkins MR, Appel RD, et al. Protein Identification and Analysis Tools on the ExPASy Server. In: JM Walker, editor. *The Proteomics Protocols Handbook Springer Protocols Handbooks*. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press (2005). p. 571–607. doi: 10.1385/ 1-59259-890-0:571
- Petersen TN, Brunak S, von Heijne G, Nielsen H. SignalP 4.0: discriminating signal peptides from transmembrane regions. *Nat Methods* (2011) 8:785–6. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.1701
- de Castro E, Sigrist CJA, Gattiker A, Bulliard V, Langendijk-Genevaux PS, Gasteiger E, et al. ScanProsite: detection of PROSITE signature matches and ProRule-associated functional and structural residues in proteins. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2006) 34:W362–5. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl124
- Mulenga A, Khumthong R, Blandon MA. Molecular and expression analysis of a family of the *Amblyomma americanum* tick Lospins. *J Exp Biol* (2007) 210:3188–98. doi: 10.1242/jeb.006494
- Steentoft C, Vakhrushev SY, Joshi HJ, Kong Y, Vester-Christensen MB, Schjoldager KT-BG, et al. Precision mapping of the human O-GalNAc glycoproteome through SimpleCell technology. *EMBO J* (2013) 32:1478–88. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2013.79
- Altschul SF, Gish W, Miller W, Myers EW, Lipman DJ. Basic local alignment search tool. J Mol Biol (1990) 215:403–10. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2836(05) 80360-2
- Larkin MA, Blackshields G, Brown NP, Chenna R, McGettigan PA, McWilliam H, et al. Clustal W and Clustal X version 2.0. *Bioinformatics* (Oxford Engl) (2007) 23:2947–8. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btm404
- Robert X, Gouet P. Deciphering key features in protein structures with the new ENDscript server. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2014) 42:W320–4. doi: 10.1093/ nar/gku316
- 54. Mueller U, Förster R, Hellmig M, Huschmann FU, Kastner A, Malecki P, et al. The macromolecular crystallography beamlines at BESSY II of the Helmholtz-Zentrum Berlin: current status and perspectives. *Eur Phys J Plus* (2015) 130:141. doi: 10.1140/epjp/i2015-15141-2
- Hall TA. BioEdit: a user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/NT. Nucleic Acids Symp Ser (1999) 41:95–8. doi: 10.14601/Phytopathol_Mediterr-14998u1.29
- Jones DT, Taylor WR, Thornton JM. The rapid generation of mutation data matrices from protein sequences. *Comput Appl Biosci* (1992) 8:275–82. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/8.3.275
- Saitou N, Nei M. The neighbor-joining method: a new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. *Mol Biol Evol* (1987) 4:406–25. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.molbev.a040454
- Gascuel O. BIONJ: an improved version of the NJ algorithm based on a simple model of sequence data. *Mol Biol Evol* (1997) 14:685–95. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.molbev.a025808
- Kumar S, Stecher G, Li M, Knyaz C, Tamura K. MEGA X: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis across computing platforms. *Mol Biol Evol* (2018) 35:1547–9. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msy096
- Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods* (2001) 25:402–8. doi: 10.1006/meth.2001.1262
- Vechtova P, Fussy Z, Cegan R, Sterba J, Erhart J, Benes V, et al. Catalogue of stage-specific transcripts in *Ixodes ricinus* and their potential functions during the tick life-cycle. *Parasit Vectors* (2020) 13:311. doi: 10.1186/ s13071-020-04173-4
- Koči J, Šimo L, Park Y. Validation of internal reference genes for real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction studies in the tick, *Ixodes* scapularis (Acari: Ixodidae). J Med Entomol (2013) 50:79–84. doi: 10. 1603/me12034
- Kýcková K, Kopecký J. Effect of tick saliva on mechanisms of innate immune response against *Borrelia afzelii*. J Med Entomol (2006) 43:1208–14. doi: 10.1093/jmedent/43.6.1208
- 64. Pfaffl MW. A new mathematical model for relative quantification in realtime RT–PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2001) 29:e45. doi: 10.1093/nar/29.9.e45

- 65. Vandesompele J, De Preter K, Pattyn F, Poppe B, Van Roy N, De Paepe A, et al. Accurate normalization of real-time quantitative RT-PCR data by geometric averaging of multiple internal control genes. *Genome Biol* (2002) 3:research0034.1. doi: 10.1186/gb-2002-3-7-research0034
- Lew M. Good statistical practice in pharmacology Problem 2. Br J Pharmacol (2007) 152:299–303. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0707372
- Schechter I, Berger A. On the size of the active site in proteases. I. Papain. Biochem Biophys Res Commun (1967) 27:157–62. doi: 10.1016/s0006-291x (67)80055-x
- Hopkins PC, Carrell RW, Stone SR. Effects of mutations in the hinge region of serpins. *Biochemistry* (1993) 32:7650–7. doi: 10.1021/bi00081a008
- Olsen JV, Ong S-E, Mann M. Trypsin cleaves exclusively C-terminal to arginine and lysine residues. *Mol Cell Proteomics* (2004) 3:608–14. doi: 10.1074/mcp.T400003-MCP200
- Kovářová Z, Chmelař J, Šanda M, Brynda J, Mareš M, Řezáčová P. Crystallization and diffraction analysis of the serpin IRS-2 from the hard tick *Ixodes ricinus*. Acta Crystallogr Sect F Struct Biol Cryst Commun (2010) 66:1453–7. doi: 10.1107/S1744309110032343
- Gettins PGW. Serpin structure, mechanism, and function. Chem Rev (2002) 102:4751–804. doi: 10.1021/cr010170+
- Chmelař J, Kotál J, Langhansová H, Kotsyfakis M. Protease inhibitors in tick saliva: the role of serpins and cystatins in tick-host-pathogen interaction. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* (2017) 7:216. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00216
- Raber MN. Coagulation Tests, in: *Clinical Methods: The History, Physical,* and Laboratory Examinations. Boston: Butterworths. Available at: http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK265/ (Accessed October 12, 2020).
- 74. Bakshi M, Kim TK, Porter L, Mwangi W, Mulenga A. Amblyomma americanum ticks utilizes countervailing pro and anti-inflammatory proteins to evade host defense. PLoS Pathog (2019) 15:e1008128. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1008128
- Zheng W, Flavell RA. The transcription factor GATA-3 is necessary and sufficient for Th2 cytokine gene expression in CD4+ T cells. *Cell* (1997) 89:587–96. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80240-8
- Szabo SJ, Kim ST, Costa GL, Zhang X, Fathman CG, Glimcher LH. A novel transcription factor, T-bet, directs Th1 lineage commitment. *Cell* (2000) 100:655–69. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80702-3
- Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:330– 6. doi: 10.1038/ni904
- Hori S, Nomura T, Sakaguchi S. Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. *Science* (2003) 299:1057–61. doi: 10.1126/ science.1079490
- Ivanov II, McKenzie BS, Zhou L, Tadokoro CE, Lepelley A, Lafaille JJ, et al. The orphan nuclear receptor RORγt directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. *Cell* (2006) 126:1121–33. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.035
- Francischetti IMB, Sá-Nunes A, Mans BJ, Santos IM, Ribeiro JMC. The role of saliva in tick feeding. *Front Biosci* (2009) 14:2051–88. doi: 10.2741/3363
- O'Reilly MS. Antiangiogenic antithrombin. Semin Thromb Hemost (2007) 33:660–6. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-991533
- Rau JC, Beaulieu LM, Huntington JA, Church FC. Serpins in thrombosis, hemostasis and fibrinolysis. J Thromb Haemost (2007) 5:102–15. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2007.02516.x
- Gál P, Dobó J, Beinrohr L, Pál G, Závodszky P. Inhibition of the serine proteases of the complement system. Adv Exp Med Biol (2013) 735:23–40. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-4118-2_2
- Mkaouar H, Akermi N, Kriaa A, Abraham A-L, Jablaoui A, Soussou S, et al. Serine protease inhibitors and human wellbeing interplay: new insights for old friends. *PeerJ* (2019) 7:e7224. doi: 10.7717/peerj.7224
- Harris JL, Backes BJ, Leonetti F, Mahrus S, Ellman JA, Craik CS. Rapid and general profiling of protease specificity by using combinatorial fluorogenic substrate libraries. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2000) 97:7754–9. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.140132697
- Björkqvist J, Jämsä A, Renné T. Plasma kallikrein: the bradykinin-producing enzyme. *Thromb Haemost* (2013) 110:399–407. doi: 10.1160/TH13-03-0258
- Paterson KJ, Zambreanu L, Bennett DLH, McMahon SB. Characterisation and mechanisms of bradykinin-evoked pain in man using iontophoresis. *Pain* (2013) 154:782–92. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2013.01.003

- List K, Bugge TH, Szabo R. Matriptase: potent proteolysis on the cell surface. Mol Med (2006) 12:1–7. doi: 10.2119/2006-00022.List
- Chen Y-W, Wang J-K, Chou F-P, Wu B-Y, Hsiao H-C, Chiu H, et al. Matriptase regulates proliferation and early, but not terminal, differentiation of human keratinocytes. *J Invest Dermatol* (2014) 134:405–14. doi: 10.1038/ jid.2013.320
- Bardou O, Menou A, François C, Duitman JW, von der Thüsen JH, Borie R, et al. Membrane-anchored serine protease matriptase is a trigger of pulmonary fibrogenesis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2016) 193:847–60. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201502-0299OC
- 91. Seitz I, Hess S, Schulz H, Eckl R, Busch G, Montens HP, et al. Membranetype serine protease-1/matriptase induces interleukin-6 and -8 in endothelial cells by activation of protease-activated receptor-2: potential implications in atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2007) 27:769–75. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000258862.61067.14
- 92. Sugino M, Imamura S, Mulenga A, Nakajima M, Tsuda A, Ohashi K, et al. A serine proteinase inhibitor (serpin) from ixodid tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis*; cloning and preliminary assessment of its suitability as a candidate for a tick vaccine. *Vaccine* (2003) 21:2844–51. doi: 10.1016/S0264-410X(03)00167-1
- 93. Palta S, Saroa R, Palta A. Overview of the coagulation system. Indian J Anaesth (2014) 58:515–23. doi: 10.4103/0019-5049.144643
- 94. Larsen KS, Østergaard H, Bjelke JR, Olsen OH, Rasmussen HB, Christensen L, et al. Engineering the substrate and inhibitor specificities of human coagulation Factor VIIa. *Biochem J* (2007) 405:429–38. doi: 10.1042/BJ20061901
- Lawson JH, Butenas S, Ribarik N, Mann KG. Complex-dependent inhibition of factor VIIa by antithrombin III and heparin. J Biol Chem (1993) 268:767– 70. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9258(18)53998-3
- Rao LV, Rapaport SI, Hoang AD. Binding of factor VIIa to tissue factor permits rapid antithrombin III/heparin inhibition of factor VIIa. *Blood* (1993) 81:2600–7. doi: 10.1182/blood.V81.10.2600.2600
- Fortenberry YM, Hlavacek AC, Church FC. Protein C inhibitor inhibits factor VIIa when bound to tissue factor. J Thromb Haemost (2011) 9:861–3. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2011.04196.x
- Prevot P-P, Beschin A, Lins L, Beaufays J, Grosjean A, Bruys L, et al. Exosites mediate the anti-inflammatory effects of a multifunctional serpin from the saliva of the tick *Ixodes ricinus*. *FEBS J* (2009) 276:3235–46. doi: 10.1111/ j.1742-4658.2009.07038.x
- Aldonyte R, Jansson L, Janciauskiene S. Concentration-dependent effects of native and polymerised α1-antitrypsin on primary human monocytes, *in vitro*. BMC Cell Biol (2004) 5:11. doi: 10.1186/1471-2121-5-11
- 100. Bettelli E, Carrier Y, Gao W, Korn T, Strom TB, Oukka M, et al. Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector Th17 and regulatory T cells. *Nature* (2006) 441:235–8. doi: 10.1038/nature04753
- 101. Korn T, Mitsdoerffer M, Croxford AL, Awasthi A, Dardalhon VA, Galileos G, et al. IL-6 controls Th17 immunity *in vivo* by inhibiting the conversion of conventional T cells into Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:18460–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0809850105
- 102. Chen X, Das R, Komorowski R, Beres A, Hessner MJ, Mihara M, et al. Blockade of interleukin-6 signaling augments regulatory T-cell reconstitution and attenuates the severity of graft-versus-host disease. *Blood* (2009) 114:891–900. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-01-197178
- Plitas G, Rudensky AY. Regulatory T cells: differentiation and function. Cancer Immunol Res (2016) 4:721–5. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0193
- 104. Ferreira BR, Silva JS. Successive tick infestations selectively promote a Thelper 2 cytokine profile in mice. *Immunology* (1999) 96:434–9. doi: 10.1046/ j.1365-2567.1999.00683.x
- 105. Heinze DM, Wikel SK, Thangamani S, Alarcon-Chaidez FJ. Transcriptional profiling of the murine cutaneous response during initial and subsequent infestations with *Ixodes scapularis* nymphs. *Parasit Vectors* (2012) 5:26. doi: 10.1186/1756-3305-5-26
- Ashton-Rickardt PG. An emerging role for Serine Protease Inhibitors in T lymphocyte immunity and beyond. *Immunol Lett* (2013) 152:65–76. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2013.04.004
- 107. Gao G, Shao C, Zhang SX, Dudley A, Fant J, Ma J-X. Kallikrein-binding protein inhibits retinal neovascularization and decreases vascular leakage. *Diabetologia* (2003) 46:689–98. doi: 10.1007/s00125-003-1085-9

- Latha K, Zhang W, Cella N, Shi HY, Zhang M. Maspin mediates increased tumor cell apoptosis upon induction of the mitochondrial permeability transition. *Mol Cell Biol* (2005) 25:1737–48. doi: 10.1128/MCB.25.5.1737-1748.2005
- 109. Chen L, Zhang SS-M, Barnstable CJ, Tombran-Tink J. PEDF induces apoptosis in human endothelial cells by activating p38 MAP kinase dependent cleavage of multiple caspases. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2006) 348:1288–95. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.07.188
- Becerra SP, Notario V. The effects of PEDF on cancer biology: mechanisms of action and therapeutic potential. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2013) 13:258–71. doi: 10.1038/nrc3484
- 111. Yao Y, Li L, Huang X, Gu X, Xu Z, Zhang Y, et al. SERPINA3K induces apoptosis in human colorectal cancer cells via activating the Fas/FasL/caspase-8 signaling pathway. *FEBS J* (2013) 280:3244–55. doi: 10.1111/febs.12303
- Bröker LE, Kruyt FAE, Giaccone G. Cell death independent of caspases: a review. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11:3155–62. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-2223
- Dhuriya YK, Sharma D. Necroptosis: a regulated inflammatory mode of cell death. J Neuroinflamm (2018) 15:199. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1235-0
- 114. Kovár L, Kopecký J, Ríhová B. Salivary gland extract from *Ixodes ricinus* tick polarizes the cytokine profile toward Th2 and suppresses proliferation of T lymphocytes in human PBMC culture. *J Parasitol* (2001) 87:1342–8. doi: 10.1645/0022-3395(2001)087[1342:SGEFIR]2.0.CO;2
- 115. Kovár L, Kopecký J, Ríhová B. Salivary gland extract from *Ixodes ricinus* tick modulates the host immune response towards the Th2 cytokine profile. *Parasitol Res* (2002) 88:1066–72. doi: 10.1007/s00436-002-0714-4
- 116. Mejri N, Rutti B, Brossard M. Immunosuppressive effects of *Ixodes ricinus* tick saliva or salivary gland extracts on innate and acquired immune response of BALB/c mice. *Parasitol Res* (2002) 88:192–7. doi: 10.1007/ s00436-001-0515-1
- 117. Skallová A, Iezzi G, Ampenberger F, Kopf M, Kopecky J. Tick saliva inhibits dendritic cell migration, maturation, and function while promoting development of Th2 responses. *J Immunol* (2008) 180:6186–92. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.9.6186
- 118. Arce-Sillas A, Álvarez-Luquín DD, Tamaya-Domínguez B, Gomez-Fuentes S, Trejo-García A, Melo-Salas M, et al. Regulatory T cells: molecular actions on effector cells in immune regulation. *J Immunol Res* (2016) 2016:1720827. doi: 10.1155/2016/1720827

- Chmelař J, Kotál J, Kopecky J, Pedra JH, Kotsyfakis M. All for one and one for all on the tick-host battlefield. *Trends Parasitol* (2016) 32:368–77. doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2016.01.004
- 120. Kotál J, Stergiou N, Buša M, Chlastáková A, Beránková Z, Řezáčová P, et al. The structure and function of Iristatin, a novel immunosuppressive tick salivary cystatin. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2019) 76:2003–13. doi: 10.1007/s00018-019-03034-3
- 121. Blisnick AA, Šimo L, Grillon C, Fasani F, Brûlé S, Le Bonniec B, et al. The immunomodulatory effect of IrSPI, a tick salivary gland serine protease inhibitor involved in *Ixodes ricinus* tick feeding. *Vaccines (Basel)* (2019) 7:148. doi: 10.3390/vaccines7040148
- 122. Visentin C, Broggini L, Sala BM, Russo R, Barbiroli A, Santambrogio C, et al. Glycosylation tunes neuroserpin physiological and pathological properties. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 21:3235. doi: 10.3390/ijms21093235
- 123. Sarkar A, Wintrode PL. Effects of glycosylation on the stability and flexibility of a metastable protein: the human serpin α (1)-antitrypsin. *Int J Mass Spectrom* (2011) 302:69–75. doi: 10.1016/j.ijms.2010.08.003
- 124. Kwon KS, Yu MH. Effect of glycosylation on the stability of alphalantitrypsin toward urea denaturation and thermal deactivation. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (1997) 1335:265–72. doi: 10.1016/s0304-4165 (96)00143-2
- 125. Bergin DA, Reeves EP, Meleady P, Henry M, McElvaney OJ, Carroll TP, et al. α-1 Antitrypsin regulates human neutrophil chemotaxis induced by soluble immune complexes and IL-8. *J Clin Invest* (2010) 120:4236–50. doi: 10.1172/ JCI41196

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Chlastáková, Kotál, Beránková, Kaščáková, Martins, Langhansová, Prudnikova, Ederová, Kutá Smatanová, Kotsyfakis and Chmelař. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Article 5

Structural and biochemical characterization of the novel serpin Iripin-5 from Ixodes ricinus

Kascakova B, Kotal J, Martins LA, Berankova Z, Langhansova H, Calvo E, Crossley JA, Havlickova P, Dycka F, Prudnikova T, Kuty M, Kotsyfakis M, **Chmelar J**, Kuta Smatanova I

Acta Crystallogr D Struct Biol. 2021 Sep 1;77(Pt 9):1183-1196.

doi: 10.1107/S2059798321007920.

In the collaboration with the group of Prof. Kutá-Smatanová, we published an article about iripin-5, the most abundantly expressed serpin in *I. ricinus*. The article is mostly structural analysis of the serpin and its complexes with target proteases, which are mostly neutrophil elastase and protease 3 and with lesser affinity also cathepsin G, trypsin, chymotrypsin and chymase. Docking studies *in silico* showed that amino acid glutamin at the position 310 could be important for the interaction between proteases and the inhibitor. Iripin-5 inhibited neutrophil migration and the production of nitric oxide by activated macrophages. Moreover it proved to be an inhibitor of complement dependent erythrocyte lysis. The structure of Iripin-3 was solved in its cleaved and most stable state, which proved arginine in its P1 site

Author's contribution:

Author designed and coordinated the immunological part of study and participated on the writing and revising of the manuscript





ISSN 2059-7983

Received 26 January 2021 Accepted 2 August 2021

Edited by R. J. Read, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom

Keywords: serpins; serine protease inhibitors; Iripin-5; X-ray structure; *Ixodes ricinus*; tick saliva.

PDB reference: Iripin-5, 7b2t

Supporting information: this article has supporting information at journals.iucr.org/d



research papers

Structural and biochemical characterization of the novel serpin Iripin-5 from *Ixodes ricinus*

Barbora Kascakova,^a Jan Kotal,^{b,c} Larissa Almeida Martins,^c Zuzana Berankova,^b Helena Langhansova,^b Eric Calvo,^d Joel A. Crossley,^a Petra Havlickova,^a Filip Dycka,^a Tatyana Prudnikova,^a Michal Kuty,^a Michail Kotsyfakis,^{b,c} Jindrich Chmelar^b* and Ivana Kuta Smatanova^a*

^aDepartment of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia in Ceske Budejovice, 370 05 Ceske Budejovice, Czech Republic, ^bDepartment of Medical Biology, Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia in Ceske Budejovice, 370 05 Ceske Budejovice, Czech Republic, ^cInstitute of Parasitology, Biology Centre of the Czech Academy of Sciences, 370 05 Ceske Budejovice, Czech Republic, and ^dLaboratory of Malaria and Vector Research, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health, Rockville, MD 20852, USA. *Correspondence e-mail: chmelar@jcu.cz, ivanaks@seznam.cz

Iripin-5 is the main *Ixodes ricinus* salivary serpin, which acts as a modulator of host defence mechanisms by impairing neutrophil migration, suppressing nitric oxide production by macrophages and altering complement functions. Iripin-5 influences host immunity and shows high expression in the salivary glands. Here, the crystal structure of Iripin-5 in the most thermodynamically stable state of serpins is described. In the reactive-centre loop, the main substrate-recognition site of Iripin-5 is likely to be represented by Arg342, which implies the targeting of trypsin-like proteases. Furthermore, a computational structural analysis of selected Iripin-5–protease complexes together with interface analysis revealed the most probable residues of Iripin-5 involved in complex formation.

1. Introduction

The castor bean tick (Ixodes ricinus) has a wide geographical distribution throughout the Northern Hemisphere of Europe, Asia and Africa that points towards its resistance to various environmental conditions. This has helped this tick to become one of the major factors in the spread of zoonotic diseases, as it serves as a vector for multiple vector-borne pathogens (Tirloni et al., 2014; Francischetti et al., 2009). These include tick-borne diseases such as Lyme disease, Helvetica spotted fever, tick-borne meningoencephalitis, babesiosis and tick paralysis (Sprong et al., 2018). I. ricinus represents a model organism used in the development of new sustainable tickcontrol approaches such as acaricides and repellents. The saliva of ticks helps them to stay attached to the host until the long-lasting blood-feeding process is finished. This is facilitated by many immunomodulatory, anti-inflammatory and antihemostatic proteins, peptides and nonpeptide molecules in the saliva (Francischetti et al., 2009; Kotál et al., 2015).

Serpins (serine protease inhibitors) are the largest superfamily of protease inhibitors and are broadly distributed in nature (Silverman *et al.*, 2001; Spence *et al.*, 2021). The vast majority of serpins act as serine protease inhibitors, but during evolution some serpins switched to non-inhibitory functions such as molecular chaperones (for example heat-shock serpin 47; Nagata, 1996), tumour suppressors (for example maspin; Zou *et al.*, 1994), storage proteins (for example ovalbumin;

research papers

Mellet et al., 1996; Law et al., 2006) and hormone-binding globulins (for example thyroxine-binding globulin and cortisol-binding globulin; Pemberton et al., 1988). The typical process of serpin inhibition is irreversible and leads to substrate suicide: inactivation of both the serpin and the target protease. At the beginning of the inhibitory pathway, serpins form a Michaelis complex with the protease (Huntington, 2011). Subsequently, translocation of the reactive-centre loop (RCL) with the bound protease takes place and leads to the formation of a covalent complex with the trapped protease and the addition of a new strand in β -sheet A (Silverman *et al.*, 2001). Inhibitory serpins vary in function according to their specificities, and their importance can be illustrated by serpinopathies, diseases caused by serpin dysfunction or deficiency (Belorgey et al., 2007). Many well known diseases, for example emphysema, cirrhosis, angioedema, hypertension and familial dementia, are caused at least partially by serpin dysfunction (Law et al., 2006; Huntington, 2011). This makes serpins interesting candidates for drug design and development, for which a high-resolution structure is necessary. All serpins possess a structurally similar core domain consisting of \sim 380 residues. This domain is made up of three β -sheets (A, B and C) and eight or more α -helices (hA-hI; Gettins, 2002). Another typical characteristic feature of serpins is the presence of an exposed, extended RCL that acts as a bait for the target protease during inhibition. The RCL consists of ~ 17 residues and is located between β -sheet A and β -sheet C (Dunstone & Whisstock, 2011). It was found that serpins show different structural conformations such as native (S, stressed state), cleaved (R, relaxed state), latent (a result of autoinactivation due to a mutation or self-stabilization) and the δ -conformation (inappropriate partial insertion of the RCL due to a mutation) as well as the possible formation of complexes as a result of the inhibitory mechanism (Dunstone & Whisstock, 2011). The inhibitory mechanism can result in successful inhibition by covalent complex formation with the target protease or a cleaved conformation. During conformational change of both states, and the incorporation of the RCL into β -sheet A, energy release occurs and a rise in serpin stability is reported as a consequence of this transition. In the case where this process is not sufficiently fast, it results in unsuccessful inhibition of the protease and its release from the acyl-intermediate, followed by the formation of a cleaved conformation of the serpin (Gettins, 2002; Gettins & Olson, 2016; Yamasaki et al., 2002).

Tick salivary serpins play important roles in tick physiology. They are necessary to modulate the immune-system responses of the host and to inhibit various defence mechanisms such as hemostasis, which can result in the facilitated transmission of the aforementioned tick-borne pathogens (Kotál *et al.*, 2015). High structural conservation of serpins across tick species has been observed (Porter *et al.*, 2015). The tick *I. ricinus* expresses over 30 serpins with different specificities, of which only Iris, IRS-2 and Iripin-3 have been characterized in detail functionally, while IRS-2 and Iripin-3 have also been structurally characterized (Prevot *et al.*, 2006; Chmelař *et al.*, 2011; Páleníková *et al.*, 2015; Chlastáková *et al.*, 2021). Here, we present the structural, biochemical and functional characterization of the serpin from *I. ricinus* named Iripin-5 (*I. ricinus* serpin-5) that is highly expressed in the salivary glands of the tick; its expression is induced by feeding on blood and it displays anti-inflammatory and anticomplement features. Structural analysis revealed that Iripin-5 crystallized in a cleaved conformation and its structure was solved at 1.50 Å resolution. The structure was used for interface and computational analyses of its complexes with chosen proteases.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Protein cloning, expression and purification

The full-length Iripin-5 sequence was cloned into pET-17b vector and transformed into Escherichia coli strain BL21pLysS (Novagen, USA). 61 LB medium (100 µg ml⁻¹ ampicillin and 34 μ g ml⁻¹ chloramphenicol) was inoculated with an overnight culture of BL21-pLysS cells containing the Iripin-5 gene. Protein overexpression was induced by 1 mM isopropyl β -D-1-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) on reaching an OD₆₀₀ of 0.6 and the cells were harvested 3 h after induction. Inclusion bodies were isolated by sonication in 20 mM Tris-buffered saline (TBS), 150 mM NaCl pH 8.0 with 1%(v/v) Triton X-100 buffer and washed three times with TBS to remove traces of Triton X-100. The inclusion bodies were dissolved in 20 mMTBS, 6 M guanidine-HCl pH 8 and undissolved impurities were removed by centrifugation (12 000g). Refolding was achieved by rapid dilution in a 160-fold excess of 50 mM Tris, 300 mM NaCl, 0.8 mM KCl, 250 mM L-arginine pH 8.5 with 0.25 g wet inclusion bodies per litre of refolding buffer. After filtration, Iripin-5 was purified by ion-exchange and sizeexclusion chromatography (Supplementary Figs. S1 and S2). Pure protein was decontaminated from lipopolysaccharide (LPS) by Arvys Proteins (Trumbull, USA) using a detergentbased method. The LPS was removed from the sample because of its proven activation effect on cells, especially the stimulation of cells responsible for immune responses. This would interfere in subsequent experiments. The final concentration of protein was 1.14 mg ml^{-1} in 20 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl pH 8.0 buffer and the protein was stored at -80° C.

2.2. Nitric oxide production by IC-21 macrophages

Macrophages of the IC-21 cell line were pre-incubated with various concentrations of Iripin-5 for 4 h. After stimulation with 100 ng ml⁻¹ LPS and 5 ng ml⁻¹ interferon- γ (IFN γ), the cells were incubated for 24 or 48 h. The nitric oxide (NO) concentration was assessed after incubation with a modified Griess reagent (Sigma–Aldrich, Germany).

2.3. Antiprotease selectivity

Assays were performed according to a previous publication (Chmelar *et al.*, 2011). The enzyme concentrations do not reflect their ratio in the plasma or skin of the tick host. The used concentrations were chosen based on the biochemical

Table 1Antiprotease selectivity of Iripin-5.

Enzyme	Amount of enzyme used (nM)	Remaining enzymatic activity (%)
Thrombin	0.01	952 + 32
Factor Xa	0.33	97.6 ± 4
Kallikrein	0.04	100.9 ± 2.5
Chymase	0.45	100.9 ± 2.3 81 1 + 3 3
Trypsin	0.15	55.9 ± 1.5
α -Chymotrypsin	0.05	68.6 ± 1.4
β -Tryptase	0.01	104.2 ± 1.4
Human neutrophil elastase	0.06	13 ± 2.2
Cathepsin G	8.8	80 ± 1.8
u-PA	0.5	101 ± 1.5
Plasmin	1.2	94.1 ± 2.2
Matriptase	0.03	100 ± 1.9
Factor XIa	0.06	98.8 ± 3
Factor XIIa	0.1	98.8 ± 1.2
t-PA	0.02	100.8 ± 3.7
Proteinase 3	1.7	$\textbf{4.6} \pm \textbf{0.8}$

properties of particular proteases in order to detect substrate hydrolysis and do not reach saturation of reaction at the same time. Generally, the assay conditions were chosen as half of the $V_{\rm max}$ of each particular protease. Briefly, assays were performed at 30°C and tested in triplicate. The used protein concentration in the reaction was from 400 n*M* and the serpin was pre-incubated with the target enzyme (listed in Table 1) for 10 min before adding substrate (250 µ*M* final concentration). For each target enzyme, appropriate buffers at different final concentrations were used. The substrate-hydrolysis rate was determined using an Infinite 200 PRO 96-well plate fluorescence reader (Tecan, Switzerland; excitation at 365 nm, emission at 450 nm).

2.4. Complement assay

Fresh rabbit erythrocytes were collected in Alsever's solution from the rabbit marginal ear artery, washed three times in an excess of PBS buffer (1.8 mM KH₂PO₄, 137 mM NaCl, 10 mM Na₂HPO₄·7H₂O) and finally diluted to a final 2%(v/v)suspension. Fresh human serum was obtained from three healthy individuals. The assay was performed in a 96-well round-bottomed microtiter plate (Nunc, Denmark). In each well, a concentration of 50% human serum in PBS premixed with different concentrations of Iripin-5 (156 nM to 5 μ M) was added to a volume of 100 µl. After 10 min of incubation at room temperature, 100 µl of erythrocyte suspension was added. Since the human serum lysed rabbit erythrocytes immediately after their addition to the reaction, we used only 50% concentration (i.e. a 25% final serum concentration after addition of the erythrocyte suspension); the final dilution had been empirically established as optimal. Reaction wells were observed individually under a Olympus SZX7 stereomicroscope with oblique illumination (Olympus KL 1500) using an aluminium pad. The time needed for erythrocyte lysis was measured using a chronometer. When full lysis was achieved, the reaction mixture turned from opaque to transparent. Negative controls did not contain either serpin or human serum. Additional controls were performed with heat-inactivated serum (56°C, 30 min) and the serpin Iripin-3 (156 n*M* to $10 \mu M$). The assay was evaluated in technical and biological triplicates.

2.5. Neutrophil-migration assay

Neutrophils were obtained from the bone marrow of C57BL/6J mice by magnetic separation using a Neutrophil Isolation Kit (Miltenyi Biotec, Germany). Isolated neutrophils were pre-incubated in RPMI1640 growth medium containing 0.5%(m/v) bovine serum albumin (BSA) in the presence or absence of Iripin-5 (3 μ M) for 1 h at 37°C and 5% CO₂. The cells were then seeded on the upper inserts of 3.0 μ m pore Corning Transwell chambers (24-well format; Sigma–Aldrich, Germany). Chemoattractant solution (1 μ M *N*-formyl-L-methionyl-L-leucyl-phenylalanine-fMLP in RPMI1640 with 0.5% BSA) was placed in the lower compartments. After incubation for 1 h at 37°C and 5% CO₂, migration was determined by counting the cells in the lower chamber using a hemocytometer (Meopta, Czech Republic).

2.6. Iripin-5 expression profiles

I. ricinus nymphs were fed on C3H/HeN mice for one day, two days and until full engorgement (3-4 days); I. ricinus females were fed on guinea pigs for one, two, three, four, six and eight days. Adult salivary glands, midguts and ovaries, as well as nymph whole bodies, were dissected under RNAsefree conditions and total RNA was isolated using TriReagent (MRC). cDNA preparations were made from 1 µg total RNA from independent biological triplicates using a Transcriptor First Strand cDNA Synthesis kit (Roche, Czech Republic) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The cDNA was subsequently used for the analysis of Iripin-5 transcription by qPCR in a RotorGene 6000 cycler (Corbett Research, UK) using Fast Start Universal SYBR Green Master Mix (Roche, Czech Republic), forward primer 5'-CGA GAA CGC AAC CAC TAA GA-3' and reverse primer 5'-GCT CAA CGT GAC CAA TGT AAT C-3'. Iripin-5 expression profiles were calculated using Livak's mathematical model (Livak & Schmittgen, 2001) and normalized to I. ricinus elongation factor 1α (ef1 α ; GU074829.1; forward primer 5'-CTG GGT GTG AAG CAG ATG AT-3' and reverse primer 5'-GTA GGC AGA CAC TTC CTT CTG-3'). The amplicon lengths were $ef1\alpha$, 105 bp; Iripin-5, 251 bp.

2.7. Protein crystallization, X-ray data collection and processing

Crystallization screening using commercial kits (JCSG++ from Jena Bioscience, SG1 and PGA Screen from Molecular Dimensions, and PEGRx and PEG/Ion from Hampton Research, USA) was carried out at room temperature (20° C) and at 4°C by the sitting-drop vapour-diffusion method using an OryxNano crystallization robot (Douglas Instruments). A suitable protein concentration for crystallization screening was determined using the Pre-Crystallization Test (Hampton Research, California, USA) as 1.14 mg ml⁻¹. Drops of protein solution composed of 20 m*M* Tris, 150 m*M* NaCl pH 8.0 buffer $(1 \ \mu l)$ mixed with reservoir solution $(1 \ or \ 0.5 \ \mu l)$ were equilibrated against 50 μl reservoir solution and sealed in 96-well Swissci MRC 2-drop crystallization plates (Molecular Dimensions).

For data collection, crystals of Iripin-5 that grew for about one month were flash-cooled in liquid nitrogen with 20%(v/v)glycerol as an additional cryoprotectant. Measurements were carried out on beamline BL14.1 at the BESSY II electronstorage ring operated by Helmholtz-Zentrum Berlin (Mueller *et al.*, 2012). Collection of diffraction data was performed at 100 K with a 295.165 mm crystal-to-detector (PILATUS 6M) distance. Diffraction intensity data were processed using *XDS* (Kabsch, 2010) with the *XDSAPP* graphical user interface (Sparta *et al.*, 2016). Data-collection statistics are summarized in Table 2.

2.8. Structure determination and refinement

Crystallographic and structural analyses were performed using the CCP4 package (Winn et al., 2011). The structure of Iripin-5 was solved by the molecular-replacement method using MOLREP (Vagin & Teplyakov, 2010) with the structure of the serpin IRS-2 (PDB entry 3nda; Chmelar et al., 2011) as the search model. The structure was refined with REFMAC5 (Murshudov et al., 2011) and further manually in Coot (Emsley et al., 2010) from evaluation of the electron-density peaks. The improvement during refinement was monitored by structure validation throughout the refinement process. Water molecules were added to the model using the REFMAC5 interface. Accepted solvent molecules had tolerable hydrogen-bonding geometry contacts of 2.5-3.5 Å with protein atoms or with existing solvent. At this point, residues with two possible conformations were included and their alternative conformations were added for further refinement. In the last steps of refinement, glycerol was built into the appropriate $(2F_0 - F_c)$ and $(F_{o} - F_{c})$ electron-density maps using coordinates from the ligand data bank in Coot (Emsley et al., 2010). The MolProbity server (Williams et al., 2018) and wwPDB validation server (Berman et al., 2003) were used for final qualitative validation of the model. All figures were prepared using PyMOL (DeLano, 2002). A summary of the data-collection and refinement statistics is given in Table 2.

2.9. Structural analysis and molecular dynamics of the modelled Michaelis complexes

The structures of the predominantly inhibited proteases proteinase 3 and human neutrophil elastase were fetched from the PDB as PDB entries 1fuj at 2.20 Å resolution (Fujinaga *et al.*, 1996) and 3q76 at 1.86 Å resolution (Hansen *et al.*, 2011), respectively. The cleaved Iripin-5 crystal structure was modelled to match the native conformation of serpins. The inserted RCL from β -sheet A was modelled above the Iripin-5 structure and the missing residues (Leu343, Ile344, Glu345, Val346 and Pro347) were modelled into the structure to complete the native structure. The crystal structures of the chosen proteases were modified by removing alternative conformations of the amino-acid side chains, ligands and ions

Table 2

X-ray data-collection and refinement statistics.

Values in parentheses are for the highest resolution shell.

X-ray diffraction sourceBL14.1, BESSY II, GermanyWavelength (Å)0.9184DetectorPILATUS 6MCrystal-to-detector distance (mm)295.165Rotation range per image (°)0.1Total rotation range (°)360Exposure time per image (s)0.1Resolution range (Å)48.09–1.50 (1.59–1.50)Space groupP12 ₁ 1Molecules in asymmetric unit2 a, b, c (Å)76.24, 63.78, 81.99 α, β, γ (°)0.0Mosaicity (°)0.199Total No. of reflections752984 (117495)No. of unique reflections112133 (17637)Multiplicity6.72Average $I/\sigma(I)$ 11.17 (1.41)Completeness (%)98.7 (96.5)CC _{1/2} 99.8 (61.3)Rmeast (%)10.024 (7612)Final R‡/R _{free} § (%)0.153/0.185Mean B value (Å)17.725No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit1097Protein6010Water1097Magnesium4Chlorine6Total7117R.m.s. deviations11.672Mods (Å)0.012Angles (°)1.672Average B factor (Å ²)16.72Average B factor (Å ²)98.64Allowed (%)100.00PDB code7b2t	Data collection	
Wavelength (Å)0.9184DetectorPILATUS 6MCrystal-to-detector distance (mm)295.165Rotation range per image (°)0.1Total rotation range (°)360Exposure time per image (s)0.1Resolution range (Å)48.09–1.50 (1.59–1.50)Space groupP12,1Molecules in asymmetric unit2 a, b, c (Å)76.24, 63.78, 81.99 α, β, γ (°)90.0, 116.78, 90.0Mosaicity (°)0.199Total No. of reflections752984 (117495)No. of unique reflections112133 (17637)Multiplicity6.72Average $l/\sigma(l)$ 11.17 (1.41)Completeness (%)98.7 (96.5)CC _{1/2} 99.8 (61.3)Rmeast (%)11.0 (124.1)Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Ų)24.46RefinementResolution range (Å)Resolution range (Å)10.024 (7612)Final $R‡/R_{free}$ (%)0.153/0.185Mean B value (Å)17.725No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unitProtein6010Water1097Magnesium4Chlorine6Total7117R.m.s. deviations1672Average B factor (Ų)1.672Average B factor (Ų)17.517Ramachandran plot40.012Most favoured (%)98.64Allowed (%)100.00PDB code7b2t	X-ray diffraction source	BL14.1, BESSY II, Germany
DetectorPILATUS 6MCrystal-to-detector distance (mm)295.165Rotation range per image (°)0.1Total rotation range (Å)360Exposure time per image (\$)0.1Resolution range (Å)48.09–1.50 (1.59–1.50)Space group $P12_11$ Molecules in asymmetric unit2 a, b, c (Å)76.24, 63.78, 81.99 α, β, γ (°)90.0, 116.78, 90.0Mosaicity (°)0.199Total No. of reflections752984 (117495)No. of unique reflections112133 (17637)Multiplicity6.72Average $I/\sigma(I)$ 11.17 (1.41)Completeness (%)98.7 (96.5)CC _{1/2} 99.8 (61.3) R_{meas}^+ (%)11.0 (124.1)Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Å ²)24.46RefinementResolution range (Å)48.09–1.50No. of reflections in working set110024 (7612)Final R^{\pm}/R_{free} (%)0.153/0.185Mean B value (Å)17.725No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unitProtein6010Water1097Magnesium4Chlorine6Total7.117R.m.s. deviations1.672Bonds (Å)0.012Angles (°)1.672Average B factor (Å ²)98.64Allowed (%)100.00PDB code7b2t	Wavelength (Å)	0.9184
Crystal-to-detector distance (mm)295.165Rotation range per image (°)0.1Total rotation range (°)360Exposure time per image (s)0.1Resolution range (Å)48.09–1.50 (1.59–1.50)Space groupP12,1Molecules in asymmetric unit2 a, b, c (Å)76.24, 63.78, 81.99 α, β, γ (°)0.199Total No. of reflections752984 (117495)No. of unique reflections112133 (17637)Multiplicity6.72Average $I/\sigma(I)$ 11.17 (1.41)Completeness (%)98.7 (96.5)CC1/299.8 (61.3) R_{meas}^+ (%)11.0 (124.1)Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Ų)24.46Refinement10024 (7612)Final R^{\pm}/R_{free} (%)0.153/0.185Mean B value (Å)17.725No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unitProtein6010Water1097Magnesium4Chlorine6Total7117R.m.s. deviationsBonds (Å)0.012Angles (°)1.672Average B factor (Ų)16.72Average B factor (Ų)100.00PDB code7b2t	Detector	PILATUS 6M
Rotation range per image (°)0.1Total rotation range (°)360Exposure time per image (s)0.1Resolution range (Å)48.09–1.50 (1.59–1.50)Space group $P12_11$ Molecules in asymmetric unit2 a, b, c (Å)76.24, 63.78, 81.99 α, β, γ (°)90.0, 116.78, 90.0Mosaicity (°)0.199Total No. of reflections752984 (117495)No. of unique reflections112133 (17637)Multiplicity6.72Average $I/\sigma(I)$ 11.17 (1.41)Completeness (%)98.7 (96.5)CC _{1/2} 99.8 (61.3) R_{meas}^+ (%)11.0 (124.1)Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Ų)24.46Refinement110024 (7612)Resolution range (Å)48.09–1.50No. of reflections in working set110024 (7612)Final R^+/R_{tree} (%)0.153/0.185Mean B value (Å)17.725No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unitProtein6Magnesium4Chlorine6Total7117R.m.s. deviations0.012Bonds (Å)0.012Angles (°)1.672Average B factor (Ų)17.517Ramachandran plotMost favoured (%)Most favoured (%)98.64Allowed (%)100.00PDB code7b2t	Crystal-to-detector distance (mm)	295.165
Total rotation range (°) 360 Exposure time per image (s) 0.1 Resolution range (Å) 48.09–1.50 (1.59–1.50) Space group P12,1 Molecules in asymmetric unit 2 a, b, c (Å) 76.24, 63.78, 81.99 α, β, γ (°) 90.0, 116.78, 90.0 Mosaicity (°) 0.199 Total No. of reflections 752984 (117495) No. of unique reflections 112133 (17637) Multiplicity 6.72 Average $I/\sigma(I)$ 11.17 (1.41) Completeness (%) 98.7 (96.5) CC _{1/2} 99.8 (61.3) R_{meas}^+ (%) 11.0 (124.1) Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Å ²) 24.46 Refinement Resolution range (Å) 48.09–1.50 No. of reflections in working set 110024 (7612) Final R^{\pm}/R_{free} (%) 0.153/0.185 Mean B value (Å) 17.725 No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit Protein Protein 6 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations	Rotation range per image (°)	0.1
Exposure time per image (s)0.1Resolution range (Å) $48.09-1.50 (1.59-1.50)$ Space group $P12_{1}1$ Molecules in asymmetric unit2 a, b, c (Å) $76.24, 63.78, 81.99$ α, β, γ (°)90.0, 116.78, 90.0Mosaicity (°)0.199Total No. of reflections $752984 (117495)$ No. of unique reflections $112133 (17637)$ Multiplicity 6.72 Average $I/\sigma(I)$ $11.17 (1.41)$ Completeness (%)98.7 (96.5)CC _{1/2} 99.8 (61.3) R_{meas}^{+} (%) $11.0 (124.1)$ Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Ų)24.46Refinement $Resolution range (Å)$ Resolution range (Å) $48.09-1.50$ No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unitProtein 6010 Water 1007 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 6 Bonds (Å) 0.012 Angles (°) 1.672 Average B factor (Ų) 1.572 Average B factor (Ų) 1.5717 Ramachandran plot $Most favoured (\%)$ Most favoured (%) 98.64 Allowed (%) 100.00 PDB code $7b2t$	Total rotation range (°)	360
Resolution range (Å) $48.09-1.50 (1.59-1.50)$ Space group $P12_11$ Molecules in asymmetric unit 2 a, b, c (Å) $76.24, 63.78, 81.99$ a, β, γ (°) $90.0, 116.78, 90.0$ Mosaicity (°) 0.199 Total No. of reflections $752984 (117495)$ No. of unique reflections $112133 (17637)$ Multiplicity 6.72 Average $I/\sigma(I)$ $11.17 (1.41)$ Completeness (%) $98.7 (96.5)$ CC _{1/2} $99.8 (61.3)$ R_{meas}^+ (%) $11.0 (124.1)$ Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Å ²) 24.46 Refinement Resolution range (Å) $48.09-1.50$ No. of reflections in working set $110024 (7612)$ Final R^{\pm}/R_{free} § (%) $0.153/0.185$ Mean B value (Å) 17.725 No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit $Protein$ Protein 6010 Water 1007 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 0.012 Bo	Exposure time per image (s)	0.1
Space group $P12_11$ Molecules in asymmetric unit 2 a, b, c (Å) 76.24, 63.78, 81.99 a, β, γ (°) 90.0, 116.78, 90.0 Mosaicity (°) 0.199 Total No. of reflections 752984 (117495) No. of unique reflections 112133 (17637) Multiplicity 6.72 Average $I/\sigma(I)$ 11.17 (1.41) Completeness (%) 98.7 (96.5) CC _{1/2} 99.8 (61.3) R_{meas}^+ (%) 11.0 (124.1) Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Å ²) 24.46 Refinement Resolution range (Å) 48.09–1.50 No. of reflections in working set 110024 (7612) Final R^{\pm}/R_{free} (%) 0.153/0.185 Mean B value (Å) 17.725 No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit Protein Protein 6010 Water 1097 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 0.012 Bonds (Å) 0.012 Angles (°) 1.672 Average B f	Resolution range (Å)	48.09-1.50 (1.59-1.50)
Molecules in asymmetric unit 2 a, b, c (Å) 76.24, 63.78, 81.99 α, β, γ (°) 90.0, 116.78, 90.0 Mosaicity (°) 0.199 Total No. of reflections 752984 (117495) No. of unique reflections 112133 (17637) Multiplicity 6.72 Average $I/\sigma(I)$ 11.17 (1.41) Completeness (%) 98.7 (96.5) CC _{1/2} 99.8 (61.3) R_{meas}^+ (%) 11.0 (124.1) Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Å ²) 24.46 Refinement Resolution range (Å) 48.09–1.50 No. of reflections in working set 110024 (7612) Final R^{\ddagger}/R_{free} (%) 0.153/0.185 Mean B value (Å) 17.725 No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit Protein Protein 6010 Water 1097 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 0.012 Bonds (Å) 0.012 Angles (°) 1.672 Average B factor (Å ²) 17.517 R	Space group	P12 ₁ 1
a, b, c (Å) 76.24, 63.78, 81.99 α, β, γ (°) 90.0, 116.78, 90.0 Mosaicity (°) 0.199 Total No. of reflections 752984 (117495) No. of unique reflections 112133 (17637) Multiplicity 6.72 Average $I/\sigma(I)$ 11.17 (1.41) Completeness (%) 98.7 (96.5) CC _{1/2} 99.8 (61.3) R_{meas}^+ (%) 11.0 (124.1) Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Å ²) 24.46 Refinement 10024 (7612) Final $R^{\ddagger}/R_{free}^{\$}$ (%) 0.153/0.185 Mean B value (Å) 17.725 No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit Protein Protein 6010 Water 1097 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 0.012 Bonds (Å) 0.012 Angles (°) 1.672 Average B factor (Å ²) 17.517 Ramachandran plot Most favoured (%) 98.64 Allowed (%) 100.00 PDB code 7b2t	Molecules in asymmetric unit	2
$\alpha, \beta, \gamma(^{\circ})$ 90.0, 116.78, 90.0 Mosaicity (°) 0.199 Total No. of reflections 752984 (117495) No. of unique reflections 112133 (17637) Multiplicity 6.72 Average $I/\sigma(I)$ 11.17 (1.41) Completeness (%) 98.7 (96.5) CC _{1/2} 99.8 (61.3) R_{meas}^{\dagger} (%) 11.0 (124.1) Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Å ²) 24.46 Refinement 11.0024 (7612) Final $R^{\ddagger}/R_{free}^{\$}$ (%) 0.153/0.185 Mean B value (Å) 17.725 No. of reflections in the asymmetric unit Protein Protein 6010 Water 1097 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 0.012 Angles (°) 1.672 Average B factor (Å ²) 17.517 Ramachandran plot Most favoured (%) 98.64 Allowed (%) 100.00 PDB code 7b2t	a, b, c (Å)	76.24, 63.78, 81.99
Mosaicity (°) 0.199 Total No. of reflections 752984 (117495) No. of unique reflections 112133 (17637) Multiplicity 6.72 Average $I/\sigma(I)$ 11.17 (1.41) Completeness (%) 98.7 (96.5) CC _{1/2} 99.8 (61.3) R_{meas}^+ (%) 11.0 (124.1) Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Å ²) 24.46 Refinement 110024 (7612) Final $R^{\ddagger}/R_{free}^{\$}$ (%) 0.153/0.185 Mean B value (Å) 17.725 No. of on-H atoms in the asymmetric unit Protein Protein 6010 Water 1097 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 0.012 Angles (°) 1.672 Average B factor (Å ²) 17.517 Ramachandran plot Most favoured (%) 98.64 Allowed (%) 100.00 PDB code 7b2t	α, β, γ (°)	90.0, 116.78, 90.0
Total No. of reflections 752984 (117495) No. of unique reflections 112133 (17637) Multiplicity 6.72 Average $I/\sigma(I)$ 11.17 (1.41) Completeness (%) 98.7 (96.5) CC _{1/2} 99.8 (61.3) R_{meas}^+ (%) 11.0 (124.1) Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Å ²) 24.46 Refinement 10024 (7612) Final $R^{\ddagger}/R_{free}^{\$}$ (%) 0.153/0.185 No. of reflections in working set 110024 (7612) Final $R^{\ddagger}/R_{free}^{\$}$ (%) 0.153/0.185 Mean B value (Å) 17.725 No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit Protein Protein 6010 Water 1097 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 16.72 Bonds (Å) 0.012 Angles (°) 1.672 Average B factor (Å ²) 17.517 Ramachadran plot Most favoured (%) 98.64 Allowed (%) 100.00 PDB code 7b2t	Mosaicity (°)	0.199
No. of unique reflections 112133 (17637) Multiplicity 6.72 Average $I/\sigma(I)$ 11.17 (1.41) Completeness (%) 98.7 (96.5) CC _{1/2} 99.8 (61.3) R_{meas}^+ (%) 11.0 (124.1) Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Å ²) 24.46 Refinement 10024 (7612) Final $R^{\ddagger}/R_{free}^{\$}$ (%) 0.153/0.185 No. of reflections in working set 110024 (7612) Final $R^{\ddagger}/R_{free}^{\$}$ (%) 0.153/0.185 Mean B value (Å) 17.725 No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit Protein Protein 6010 Water 1097 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 1.672 Bonds (Å) 0.012 Average B factor (Å ²) 1.7517 Ramachandran plot $Most favoured (\%)$ Most favoured (%) 98.64 Allowed (%) 100.00 PDB code 7b2t	Total No. of reflections	752984 (117495)
Multiplicity 6.72 Average $I/\sigma(I)$ 11.17 (1.41) Completeness (%) 98.7 (96.5) CC _{1/2} 99.8 (61.3) R_{meas}^+ (%) 11.0 (124.1) Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Å ²) 24.46 Refinement Resolution range (Å) $48.09-1.50$ No. of reflections in working set 110024 (7612) Final R^{\pm}/R_{free} (%) $0.153/0.185$ Mean B value (Å) 17.725 No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit Protein Protein 6010 Water 1097 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 572 Bonds (Å) 0.012 Average B factor (Å ²) 17.517 Ramachandran plot $Most favoured (\%)$ 98.64 Allowed (%) 100.00 $9DB$ code	No. of unique reflections	112133 (17637)
Average $I\sigma(I)$ 11.17 (1.41) Completeness (%) 98.7 (96.5) CC _{1/2} 99.8 (61.3) R_{meas}^+ (%) 11.0 (124.1) Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Å ²) 24.46 Refinement Resolution range (Å) 48.09–1.50 No. of reflections in working set 110024 (7612) Final R^{\ddagger}/R_{free} § (%) 0.153/0.185 Mean B value (Å) 17.725 No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit Protein Protein 6010 Water 10997 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 0.012 Bonds (Å) 0.012 Average B factor (Å ²) 17.517 Ramachandran plot Most favoured (%) 98.64 Allowed (%) 100.00 PDB code 7b2t	Multiplicity	6.72
Completeness (%) 98.7 (96.5) $CC_{1/2}$ 99.8 (61.3) R_{meas}^+ (%) 11.0 (124.1) Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Å ²) 24.46 Refinement 10024 (7612) Final R‡/R free§ (%) 0.153/0.185 Mean B value (Å) 17.725 No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit Protein Protein 6010 Water 10997 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 0.012 Bonds (Å) 1.672 Average B factor (Å ²) 17.517 Ramachandran plot Most favoured (%) 98.64 Allowed (%) 100.00 PDB code 7b2t	Average $I/\sigma(I)$	11.17 (1.41)
$CC_{1/2}$ 99.8 (61.3) R_{meas}^+ (%) 11.0 (124.1) Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Å ²) 24.46 Refinement Resolution range (Å) 48.09–1.50 No. of reflections in working set 110024 (7612) Final R^+_7/R_{free}^8 (%) 0.153/0.185 Mean B value (Å) 17.725 No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit Protein Protein 6010 Water 1097 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 0.012 Bonds (Å) 0.012 Average B factor (Å ²) 17.517 Ramachandran plot Most favoured (%) 98.64 Allowed (%) 100.00 PDB code 7b2t	Completeness (%)	98.7 (96.5)
R_{meas}^{+} (%) 11.0 (124.1) Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Å ²) 24.46 Refinement Resolution range (Å) 48.09–1.50 No. of reflections in working set 110024 (7612) Final R^{+}_{+}/R_{free}^{+} (%) 0.153/0.185 Mean B value (Å) 17.725 No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit Protein Protein 6010 Water 1097 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 1.672 Average B factor (Å ²) 17.517 Ramachandran plot Most favoured (%) 98.64 Allowed (%) 100.00 PDB code 7b2t	CC _{1/2}	99.8 (61.3)
Overall B factor from Wilson plot (Å2)24.46RefinementRefinementResolution range (Å) $48.09-1.50$ No. of reflections in working set 110024 (7612)Final R^{\ddagger}/R_{free} § (%) $0.153/0.185$ Mean B value (Å) 17.725 No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit 1097 Protein 6010 Water 1097 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 0.012 Angles (°) 1.672 Average B factor (Å2) 17.517 Ramachandran plot $Most favoured$ (%)Most favoured (%) 98.64 Allowed (%) 100.00 PDB code $7b2t$	R_{meas} † (%)	11.0 (124.1)
RefinementResolution range (Å) $48.09-1.50$ No. of reflections in working set 110024 (7612)Final R_{\ddagger}/R_{free} § (%) $0.153/0.185$ Mean B value (Å) 17.725 No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit 1097 Protein 6010 Water 1097 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 0.012 Angles (°) 1.672 Average B factor (Å ²) 17.517 Ramachandran plot $Most favoured$ (%)Most favoured (%) 98.64 Allowed (%) 100.00 PDB code $7b2t$	Overall <i>B</i> factor from Wilson plot ($Å^2$)	24.46
Resolution range (Å) $48.09-1.50$ No. of reflections in working set 110024 (7612) Final $R_{\ddagger}/R_{free}^{\$}$ (%) $0.153/0.185$ Mean B value (Å) 17.725 No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit 7725 Protein 6010 Water 1097 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 572 Average B factor (Å ²) 17.517 Ramachandran plot $Most favoured (\%)$ Most favoured (%) 98.64 Allowed (%) 100.00	Refinement	
No. of reflections in working set 110024 (7612) Final $R^{\ddagger}/R_{free}^{\$}$ (%) 0.153/0.185 Mean B value (Å) 17.725 No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit	Resolution range (Å)	48.09-1.50
Final R_{\dagger}^*/R_{free} \$ (%) 0.153/0.185 Mean B value (Å) 17.725 No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit 17.725 Protein 6010 Water 1097 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 0.012 Bonds (Å) 0.012 Angles (°) 1.672 Average B factor (Å ²) 17.517 Ramachandran plot	No. of reflections in working set	110024 (7612)
Mean B value (Å)17.725No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit Protein6010Water1097Magnesium4Chlorine6Total7117R.m.s. deviations0.012Bonds (Å)0.012Angles (°)1.672Average B factor (Å ²)17.517Ramachandran plot98.64Allowed (%)100.00PDB code7b2t	Final $R\ddagger/R_{\text{free}}$ (%)	0.153/0.185
No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit Protein 6010 Water 1097 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 0.012 Bonds (Å) 0.012 Angles (°) 1.672 Average B factor (Å ²) 17.517 Ramachandran plot $Wost favoured (\%)$ 98.64 Allowed (%) 100.00 PDB code $7b2t$	Mean B value (Å)	17.725
Protein 6010 Water 1097 Magnesium 4 Chlorine 6 Total 7117 R.m.s. deviations 0.012 Bonds (Å) 0.012 Angles (°) 1.672 Average B factor (Å ²) 17.517 Ramachandran plot	No. of non-H atoms in the asymmetric unit	
Water1097Magnesium4Chlorine6Total7117R.m.s. deviations $Bonds (Å)$ 0.012Angles (°)1.672Average B factor (Å ²)17.517Ramachandran plot $Wost favoured (\%)$ 98.64Allowed (%)100.00PDB code7b2t	Protein	6010
Magnesium4Chlorine6Total7117R.m.s. deviationsBonds (Å)0.012Angles (°)1.672Average B factor (Å ²)17.517Ramachandran plotMost favoured (%)98.64Allowed (%)100.00PDB code7b2t	Water	1097
Chlorine6Total7117R.m.s. deviations 0.012 Bonds (Å) 0.012 Angles (°) 1.672 Average B factor (Å ²) 17.517 Ramachandran plot $Wost favoured (\%)$ Most favoured (%) 98.64 Allowed (%) 100.00 PDB code $7b2t$	Magnesium	4
Total7117R.m.s. deviations0.012Bonds (Å)0.012Angles (°)1.672Average B factor (Ų)17.517Ramachandran plot $Wost favoured (\%)$ Most favoured (%)98.64Allowed (%)100.00PDB code7b2t	Chlorine	6
R.m.s. deviationsBonds (Å) 0.012 Angles (°) 1.672 Average B factor (Ų) 17.517 Ramachandran plot $Wost favoured (\%)$ Most favoured (%) 98.64 Allowed (%) 100.00 PDB code $7b2t$	Total	7117
Bonds (Å) 0.012 Angles (°) 1.672 Average B factor (Ų) 17.517 Ramachandran plot $Wost favoured (\%)$ Most favoured (%) 98.64 Allowed (%) 100.00 PDB code $7b2t$	R.m.s. deviations	
Angles (°)1.672Average B factor (Å2)17.517Ramachandran plot 8.64 Most favoured (%)98.64Allowed (%)100.00PDB code7b2t	Bonds (Å)	0.012
Average B factor (Å2) 17.517 Ramachandran plot98.64Most favoured (%)100.00PDB code7b2t	Angles (°)	1.672
Ramachandran plotMost favoured (%)98.64Allowed (%)100.00PDB code7b2t	Average <i>B</i> factor $(Å^2)$	17.517
Most favoured (%) 98.64 Allowed (%) 100.00 PDB code 7b2t	Ramachandran plot	
Allowed (%) 100.00 PDB code 7b2t	Most favoured (%)	98.64
PDB code 7b2t	Allowed (%)	100.00
	PDB code	7b2t

† $R_{\text{meas}} = \sum_{hkl} \{N(hkl)/[N(hkl) - 1]\}^{1/2} \sum_i |I_i(hkl) - \langle I(hkl) \rangle | / \sum_{hkl} \sum_i I_i(hkl)$, where the average intensity $\langle I(hkl) \rangle$ is taken over all symmetry-equivalent measurements and $I_i(hkl)$ is the measured intensity for the *i*th observation of reflection hkl. ‡ $R = \sum_{hkl} |I_{cosk}| - |F_{calc}| | / \sum_{hkl} |F_{obs}|$, where F_{obs} and F_{calc} are the observed and calculated structure factors, respectively. § R_{free} is equivalent to the R value but is calculated for 1.87% of the reflections that were chosen at random and omitted from the refinement process.

from the structures as required for further docking calculations using the prepared native Iripin-5 model. The *HADDOCK2.2* web server (van Zundert *et al.*, 2016) was used for Michaelis complex docking and the best results were used to run molecular-dynamics (MD) simulations. MD simulations were performed using the *GROMACS* simulation suite (Berendsen *et al.*, 1995) with the CHARMM27 all-atom force field and the SPC/E (extended simple point charge) model for water (Feller & MacKerell, 2000; Klauda *et al.*, 2005). Both Michaelis complex models were prepared for simulation by removing the solvent and were then solvated using the SPC/E water model (Berendsen *et al.*, 1987) in a rhombic dodecahedral box. The protein was centred in the box and the size of the box was such that the protein was at least 1 nm from all edges. Na⁺ ions were added to the system at a concentration of 150 mM together with an appropriate amount of Cl^{-} ions to neutralize the system. The entire system was minimized using a steepest-descent minimization procedure. The energyminimized structure was then further equilibrated in two phases for 100 ps each: first under an NVT ensemble (constant number of particles, volume and temperature) followed by an NPT ensemble (constant number of particles, pressure and temperature) to ensure that the system remained stable. Simulations were then performed for 100 ns each, during which time equilibrium of the system was achieved. MD simulations were performed fully in triplicate (i.e. from the minimization to production run) to ensure reproducibility. The results of the molecular simulations were analyzed using VMD (Humphrey et al., 1996) with the use of the r.m.s.d. trajectory tool. An interface analysis of the resulting structures (the final frames of each simulation) was then performed using the PDBePISA web server (Krissinel & Henrick, 2007).

2.10. Structural analysis and protein docking of modelled covalent complex conformations

Structures were analyzed and compared with those of the other I. ricinus serpins using PyMOL version 2.0 (DeLano, 2002; Schrödinger). The HADDOCK2.2 web server (van Zundert et al., 2016) was used for protein docking to generate covalent complexes. The possible target proteases selected as the best candidates from the antiprotease selectivity assays, namely proteinase 3, human neutrophil elastase, trypsin, α -chymotrypsin, cathepsin G and chymase, were used for analysis. The crystal structures of the human proteases were taken from the Protein Data Bank: PDB entries 1fuj at 2.20 Å resolution (Fujinaga et al., 1996), 3q76 at 1.86 Å resolution (Hansen et al., 2011), 1h4w at 1.70 Å resolution (Katona et al., 2002), 4cha at 1.68 Å resolution (Tsukada & Blow, 1985), 1au8 at 1.90 Å resolution (F. J. Medrano, W. Bode, A. Banbula & J. Potempa, unpublished work) and 3n7o at 1.80 Å resolution (Kervinen et al., 2010). Alternative conformations of the amino-acid side chains, ligands and ions were removed from the structures as required. Interface analysis was performed using the PDBePISA (Krissinel & Henrick, 2007) and COCOMAPS (Vangone et al., 2011) web servers.

2.11. PDB deposition

The atomic coordinates of Iripin-5 have been deposited in the Protein Data Bank with accession code 7b2t.

2.12. Statistical analyses

All immunological experiments were performed as at least three biological replicates. Data are presented as mean \pm standard error of mean (SEM) in all graphs. Student's *t*-test or one-way ANOVA were used to calculate statistical differences between two or more groups, respectively. Statistically significant results are marked as follows in the figures: *, $p \le 0.05$; **, $p \le 0.01$; ***, $p \le 0.001$; n.s., not significant.

3. Results

3.1. Iripin-5 expression profiles

Expression of the Iripin-5 gene was upregulated during tick feeding in all tested tissues. The highest expression was found in semi-engorged nymphs (D2), and expression was also high in fully engorged nymphs (D3) as well as in female salivary glands during finishing of the blood meal (D6 and D8; Fig. 1). Furthermore, the Iripin-5 transcripts in engorged nymphs and female salivary glands were the most abundant among all tested tick serpins (data not shown). Thus, Iripin-5 is likely to be the most abundant serpin that is secreted from the salivary glands to the host.

3.2. Antiprotease selectivity and neutrophil migration

In the protease-selectivity assay, Iripin-5 needed to be in a high excess compared with the target enzyme in order to obtain even a low level of inhibition. The remaining protease inhibition after 10 min incubation with 200 nM Iripin-5 is given in Table 1. Iripin-5 showed the highest inhibitory specificity against two neutrophil proteases: human neutrophil elastase (87% inhibition) and proteinase 3 (95% inhibition). Statistically significant results are noted in bold. Based on



Figure 1

Iripin-5 expression is upregulated in *I. ricinus* nymphs and adults during feeding. The analysis was performed on tissues of flat, semi-engorged and fully engorged nymphs and female salivary glands, midguts and ovaries. RT-qPCR expression data are normalized against elongation factor 1α (efl α) and the highest expression was set as 100%. The data represent mean + SEM from three biological replicates. D0–D8: days of feeding.



Figure 2

Iripin-5 inhibits neutrophil migration. Mouse bone-marrow neutrophils were pre-incubated with $3 \mu M$ Iripin-5 and subjected to migration towards fMLP in a Transwell chamber. The average of three independent experiments (\pm SEM) is shown. *, $p \leq 0.05$



Figure 3

Iripin-5 decreased NO production by activated IC-21 macrophages. Iripin-5 inhibited NO production by IC-21 macrophages when used at high concentration. Macrophages were pre-incubated with 1 and 5 μ M Iripin-5, stimulated with LPS and IFN- γ , and the NO concentration was assessed after 24 or 48 h. The mean of three independent experiments (±SEM) is shown. ***, $p \leq 0.001$; n.s., not significant.

physiologically relevant proteases for tick-host interaction, it was found that only chymase and cathepsin G were inhibited significantly, and only very weakly. Another two inhibited proteases, trypsin and α -chymotrypsin, show importance during digestion.

Since Iripin-5 primarily inhibited neutrophil proteases, the effect on neutrophil functions was also studied. Static migration was tested using a Transwell chamber and purified mouse neutrophils isolated from bone marrow. Pre-incubation with 3 μ M Iripin-5 led to a greater than 70% decrease in neutrophil migration, thus showing a significant antineutrophil effect of Iripin-5 (Fig. 2).

3.3. NO production by IC-21 macrophages

The incubation of macrophages in the presence of Iripin-5 led to a decrease in NO production in a dose-dependent manner. At a concentration of 1 μ M, Iripin-5 inhibited NO production slightly, but not significantly, at 24 h, but not at



Figure 4

Inhibition of complement by Iripin-5 compared with another *I. ricinus* salivary serpin, Iripin-3. Human plasma was pre-incubated with an increasing concentration of Iripin-5 (156 n*M* to 5 μ *M*) or Iripin-3 (312 n*M* to 10 μ *M*). After the addition of rabbit erythrocytes, their lysis time by complement was measured. For each point in the graph, the mean of three independent experiments (±SEM) is shown. *, $p \le 0.05$; **, $p \le 0.01$; ***, $p \le 0.001$.

48 h. At a higher concentration of 5 μ *M*, Iripin-5 significantly decreased the amount of NO at both time points: by 35% and 36%, respectively (Fig. 3).

3.4. Complement assay

Since Iripin-5 affected two major immune-cell types involved in innate immune response, the interference of the tested serpin with another innate immune mechanism involved in antitick immunity of the complement was tested. Iripin-5 inhibited the lysis of erythrocytes by human complement. Human plasma was pre-incubated with different concentrations of Iripin-5 from 156 nM to $5 \mu M$. After the addition of rabbit erythrocytes, their lysis time by complement was measured. A statistically significant reduction in complement-driven lysis activity against erythrocytes when incubating human plasma with Iripin-5 at concentrations of 625 nM and higher was observed. No lysis of any erythrocytes was detected when using $5 \mu M$ Iripin-5. The results were compared with those for another serpin, Iripin-3 (Chlastáková et al., 2021), which had no effect on complement activity, demonstrating the specificity of our assay. The lysis of rabbit erythrocytes in the presence of 25% human serum was achieved within 7 min 57 s \pm 0.12 s on average in the control group, which corresponds to the zero value in the graph (Fig. 4).

3.5. Crystal structure of Iripin-5

In order to obtain a deeper view into the mechanisms of Iripin-5 activity, a detailed structural analysis was performed. To generate a protein structure of Iripin-5, crystallization experiments were performed and the structure of the serpin was solved from the best-diffacting crystals to a resolution of 1.5 Å. Iripin-5 crystals with a monoclinic shape (Fig. 5) grew after one month at 4°C in a precipitant composed of 0.2 *M* magnesium chloride hexahydrate pH 8.5, 0.1 *M* Tris, 30% (*w*/*v*) PEG 4000 (condition No. 1-1 of SG1 from Molecular Dimensions). The crystal space group and unit-cell parameters are reported in Table 2.

The structure of Iripin-5 was solved by molecular replacement using the previously published structure of the serpin



Figure 5

Crystals of Iripin-5 from *I. ricinus*. (a) Crystals of protein grown in 0.2 *M* magnesium chloride hexahydrate pH 8.5, 0.1 *M* Tris, 30%(w/v) PEG 4000. (b) The same crystallization droplet is shown under UV light. (c) Focus on the best-shaped crystals for diffraction measurements. (a) was taken using an Olympus SZX9 microscope and (b) and (c) were taken using a Minstrel Desktop Crystal Imaging System (Rigaku, Japan). The scale bar represents 100 μ m.

IRS-2 (PDB entry 3nda) as the model structure, which has a sequence identity of 55.70% (Chmelar *et al.*, 2011). The crystal structure contains two molecules per asymmetric unit, with a solvent content of 39.97% and a Matthews coefficient of $2.05 \text{ Å}^3 \text{ Da}^{-1}$. The Iripin-5 structure has a typical cleaved serpin secondary-structure fold in both molecules. The struc-

ture consists of a mixed $\alpha\beta$ secondary structure with an N-terminal helical region and a C-terminal β -sheet fold (Huntington, 2011; Fig. 6). The structure is composed of eight α -helices and three β -sheets sequentially arranged in the order $\alpha1-\beta1-\alpha2-\alpha3-\beta2-\alpha4-\beta3-\alpha5-\beta4-\beta5-\beta6-\beta7-\beta8-\alpha6-\alpha7-\beta9-\beta10-\alpha8-\beta11-\beta12-\beta13-\beta14-\beta15$. Sheet A consists of six β -strands



Figure 6

Cleaved protein form with colour-distinguished β -sheets: sheet A (blue), sheet B (magenta) and sheet C (violet). The insertion of the RCL between β -strands S3 and S5 (blue) is marked as β -strand S4 (dark pink). The location of protease cleavage is marked with black stars.

(β 2, β 3, β 4, β 10, β 11 and β 12), sheet B of five β -strands (β 1, β 7, β 8, β 14 and β 15) and sheet C of four β -strands (β 5, β 6, β 9 and β 13) (Fig. 6).

The final model of Iripin-5 contains 373 residues in chain A and chain B out of a total of 378, with five missing residues (Leu343-Thr347) in both chains. The missing residues in the crystal structure were detected as an absence of electron density due to the high flexibility of the cleaved regions (Fig. 6), and thus these regions were not modelled in the final structure. The cleavage is probably a consequence of the presence of protease, most probably during storage. The cleavage of the sample used for crystallization was confirmed by MALDI mass-spectrometric protein analysis (Supplementary Fig. S3), and led to the structural change and thus to the insertion of the cleavage site inside the β -sheet to form the extra β -strand (S4). The cleavage site is homologous to the RCL of other serpin inhibitors and the cleaved state is the most stable, so-called hyperstable or R form, of inhibitory serpins



Figure 7

All-atom r.m.s.d. of MD simulations of Michaelis complex models. (a) R.m.s.d. for the Iripin-5–neutrophil elastase Michaelis complex and (b) r.m.s.d. for the Iripin-5–proteinase 3 Michaelis complex, each for 100 ns simulation. Triplicates are distinguished by different colours (corresponding to the visualization of Michaelis complex models in Fig. 8).

(Huntington, 2011; Fig. 6). Moreover, analysis of the protein interfaces by *PDBePISA* (Krissinel & Henrick, 2007) did not

reveal any specific interactions resulting in the formation of stable quaternary structures. Most probably the structures do



Figure 8

Results of MD simulation of the Michaelis complex. The structures are shown at the 100 ns point of simulation for each triplicate of the chosen target protease. The Iripin-5 (magenta) structures are aligned to show the RCL dynamics. Triplicates are distinguished by different colours for the target protease: neutrophil elastase, blue, green and yellow; proteinase 3, grey, orange and yellow. The Iripin-5 RCL is also distinguished in a corresponding colour to the interacting protease. A detailed view of the Michaelis complex interfaces is presented in Supplementary Fig. S6.

not form any complexes in solution (Schlee *et al.*, 2019).

3.6. Structural analysis and molecular dynamics of the theoretical Michaelis complex

To identify the specific interactions that are potentially responsible for the mechanism of inhibition between the target proteases and Iripin-5, protein docking and subsequent MD simulations of the Michaelis complexes were performed. Three simulations for modelled Michaelis complexes with both neutrophil elastase and proteinase 3, each 100 ns long, were performed.

The stability of the complex was monitored by r.m.s.d. evaluation (Fig. 7). The results showed that triplicates of both simulated complexes reached equilibrium within the simulation time and the average r.m.s.d.s from the initial starting structure for the Michaelis complexes were 5.3 Å (Fig. 7b, orange), 6.7 Å (Fig. 7b, grev) and 8.0 Å (Fig. 7b, yellow) for the Iripin-5-proteinase 3 complex and 8.4 Å (Fig. 7a, blue), 9.6 Å (Fig. 7a, yellow) and 5.8 Å (Fig. 7a, green) for the Iripin-5-neutrophil elastase complex. The difference between the average r.m.s.d. of the Iripin-5-

Table 3

Area of the accessible surface interface between Iripin-5 and the tested proteases in the Michaelis complex conformation, the number of hydrogen bonds and the number of salt bridges formed after 100 ns of MD simulation (from *PDBePISA*; Krissinel & Henrick, 2007).

Protease	Surface interface (Å ²)	No. of hydrogen bonds	No. of sal bridges
Human neutrophil elastase	684.9	5	4
rr	662.9	4	5
	655.7	2	2
Proteinase 3	864.2	4	2
	804.2	3	2
	827.0	2	2

Table 4

Area of the accessible surface interface between Iripin-5 and the tested proteases, the number of hydrogen bonds and the number of salt bridges formed (from *PDBePISA*; Krissinel & Henrick, 2007).

Protease	Surface interface (Å ²)	No. of hydrogen bonds	No. of salt bridges
Proteinase 3	892.8	13	10
Human neutrophil elastase	733.6	8	4
Trypsin	919.5	12	10
α-Chymotrypsin	787.5	7	1
Cathepsin G	947.1	8	4
Chymase	849.8	5	6

proteinase 3 complex triplicates was 3.8 Å and that for the Iripin-5–neutrophil elastase complex was 2.7 Å.

Representations of the Michaelis complexes between Iripin-5 and neutrophil elastase and proteinase 3 are shown in Fig. 8. Structural alignment performed by *PyMOL* (DeLano, 2002) showed that the average r.m.s.d. between the Iripin-5– neutrophil elastase triplicates was 1.709 Å and that between the Iripin-5–proteinase 3 triplicates was 1.958 Å. These results show the flexibility of the Michaelis complex conformation and, more precisely, the flexibility of the Iripin-5 RCL (Fig. 8).

The interface analysis of the Michaelis complex triplicates is summarized in Table 3. The data in bold indicate the importance of the interface for complex formation (*PDBePISA*; Krissinel & Henrick, 2007). A more detailed summary of the interacting residues is presented in Supplementary Table S3.

3.7. Structural analysis of theoretical protein-protease covalent complex conformation

To test the hypothesis of the presence of polar contacts between Iripin-5 and six chosen proteases (proteinase 3, human neutrophil elastase, trypsin, α -chymotrypsin, cathepsin G and chymase), docking calculations of protein–protein interactions were performed using *HADDOCK* (van Zundert *et al.*, 2016). The results of the docking studies of interacting residues at the Iripin-5–protease complex interfaces, listed in Table 4 and shown in Fig. 9, show different characters for the interactions in complexes.

Only the α -chymotrypsin catalytic triad interacted with Arg342; thus, the potential Iripin-5 P1 site was a candidate for binding the protease. However, the proteinase 3 and chymase side-chain residues of the catalytic triad were not in contact

with Arg342 of Iripin-5. The remaining proteases (cathepsin G, elastase and trypsin) interacted with Arg342 of Iripin-5 via side-chain residues other than the catalytic triad (Supplementary Fig. S5). Detailed information about atomic interface analysis is shown in Supplementary Table S2. These results were calculated using *PDBePISA* (Krissinel & Henrick, 2007).

4. Discussion

The *I. ricinus* sialome (transcriptome from the salivary glands) contains four major types of protease inhibitors, cystatins, TIL-domain inhibitors, Kunitz inhibitors and serpins, which are proven or presumed to be modulators of host-defence mechanisms (Chmelař et al., 2017). Among them, the serpins stand out thanks to their omnipresence across all living organisms and their indispensability for many crucial biochemical pathways, such as coagulation or complement and other fundamental functions (Huntington, 2011; Law et al., 2006). Considering the fact that tick serpins usually do not form multigenic families, as are typical for other salivary protease inhibitors such as Kunitz-domain and TIL-domain inhibitors, they seem to be suitable candidates for targeting in tick-control attempts. Moreover, the structural conservation and use of serpins by vertebrates makes them promising candidates for novel drug development combined with the use of protein engineering (Chmelař et al., 2017). Tick serpins can be utilized as specific regulators of dysregulated processes, such as inflammation, immune-system regulation or hemostasis. Several tick serpins have been shown to interfere with vertebrate immunity (Chmelař et al., 2017). To date, three of them have been functionally characterized in I. ricinus. It has been shown that the salivary serpin Iris modulates host innate and acquired immunity (Leboulle et al., 2002). Likewise, IRS-2 and Iripin-3 modulated adaptive immune responses (Chmelar et al., 2011; Chlastáková et al., 2021). Moreover, crystal structures were determined for the last two, which are the only two tick serpins with resolved 3D structures to date.

Iripin-5 belongs to the salivary serpins, the role of which is considered to be as modulators of host defence mechanisms. Iripin-5 seems to be one of the main salivary serpins since its mRNA expression is by far the highest compared with other I. ricinus serpins. This serpin is massively induced by the blood meal. Here, several effects supporting immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory roles of Iripin-5 are reported. The observed inhibition of neutrophil migration suggests antiinflammatory activity at the very beginning of the immune reaction. Macrophages play an important role in the interaction between ticks, the immune system of the host and transmitted pathogens. Activated macrophages secrete signalling molecules such as cytokines or NO to recruit immune cells to sites of inflammation or towards pathogens (Laroux et al., 2001). The saliva of different tick species has been shown to suppress the ability of macrophages to produce NO (Kýčková & Kopecký, 2006). Since Iripin-5 inhibits this very feature of macrophages, Iripin-5 is likely to be at least partially responsible for this activity observed in I. ricinus saliva.

research papers

The inhibition of complement described here is interesting, but not surprising, as vertebrate serpins are natural regulators of the complement cascade (Bos *et al.*, 2002). There are other tick salivary protein families in which the members have been described as complement inhibitors (Daix *et al.*, 2007; Tyson *et al.*, 2008), but our case is the first observation of complement inhibition by a tick serpin. This finding confirms the hypotheses about the functional redundancy of tick salivary proteins (Chmelař *et al.*, 2016).

Structural analysis of Iripin-5 shows the typical serpin fold in the relaxed state that was observed in other known crystal structures of *I. ricinus* serpins (IRS-2 and Iripin-3; Chmelař *et al.*, 2017; Chlastáková *et al.*, 2021). The relaxed cleaved state of Iripin-5 was caused by the presence of contaminating proteases, probably during protein storage, and this cleavage has been observed previously (Kovářová *et al.*, 2010). The crystal structure of Iripin-5 was compared with those of IRS-2 (PDB entry 3nda; Chmelar *et al.*, 2011) and Iripin-3 (PDB



Figure 9

Cartoon representation of the docking results of Iripin-5 (magenta) with chosen proteases: cathepsin G (violet), trypsin (cyan), elastase (hot pink), α -chymotrypsin (blue), chymase (orange) and proteinase 3 (lemon). The residues interacting with the protease catalytic triad are shown in detail in Supplementary Fig. S5.

Iripin-5 0000000000 Iripin-5 IRS-2 Iripin-3 α4 Iripin-5 200000000 100 Iripin-5 IRS-2 Iripin-3 Iripin-5 llll 150 170 200 210 Iripin-5 IRS-2 Iripin-3 ß10 00000 Iripin-5 -00000000000 *220 27 280 Iripin-5 IRS-2 Iripin-3 YKLLI YRFE HNSE B12 η3 222 Iripin-5 → lllll 320 331 340 Iripin-5 IRS-2 Iripin-3 GPEPV β13 Iripin-5 тт 370 Iripin-5 IRS-2 Iripin-3 (a)Iripin-3 IRS-2 Iripin-5 -5.000 5.000

entry 7ahp; Chlastáková *et al.*, 2021) both by sequence alignment (Fig. 10*a*) and structural superimposition (Fig. 10*b*). The

comparison of *I. ricinus* serpins with known structures reveals an almost identical fold (Fig. 10b) with some divergence in the

Figure 10

(a) Amino-acid sequence alignment between the serpins IRS-2, Iripin-3 and Iripin-5. Well conserved amino-acid motifs are indicated in red and the P1 site of the RCL is marked as a bold rectangle. This sequence alignment was obtained using *Clustal Omega* (Madeira *et al.*, 2019) and *ESPript* (http:// espript.ibcp.fr; Robert & Gouet, 2014). (b) Superposition of *I. ricinus* crystal structures, namely Iripin-5 (magenta), IRS-2 (blue) and Iripin-3 (cyan). (c) Comparison of the electrostatic potentials of IRS-2 (PDB entry 3nda), Iripin-5 (PDB entry 7b2t) and Iripin-3 (PDB entry 7ahp). As shown in the figure, blue indicates positive potential and red indicates negative potential.

(c)

loop regions. The r.m.s.d. between molecules was calculated by PyMOL (DeLano, 2002). On alignment of Iripin-5 and Iripin-3 the r.m.s.d. was 0.616 Å, while the r.m.s.d. between Iripin-5 and IRS-2 was 0.804 Å across all atoms. In contrast, sequence alignments of Iripin-3 and IRS-2 with Iripin-5 showed only 53.89% and 55.70% sequence identity, respectively (Fig. 10a). Electrostatic surface potentials support complex formation and stability and consequently the inhibition of proteases. This can be achieved by charge-charge repulsion or attraction in accordance with their function as a protease substrate or inhibitor (Marijanovic et al., 2019). A comparison of surface electrostatics among I. ricinus serpins reveals that Iripin-5 has a more negatively charged surface than the other two aforementioned serpins; Iripin-3 has only a slightly more negatively charged surface than Iripin-5, but shows much greater inhibition (Fig. 10c).

The amino acids of the RCL, specifically the P1 residue, determine the protease specificity (Marijanovic et al., 2019). This was confirmed by structural analysis of the I. ricinus salivary serpins IRS-2, Iripin-3 and Iripin-5. Iris, with Met340 at the P1 site, is an inhibitor of leukocyte elastase and elastaselike serine proteases (Prevot et al., 2007), although its inhibition is managed by several exosites in α -helices A and D (Prevot et al., 2009). However, IRS-2 has Tyr341 at its P1 site, which signifies the inhibition of chymotrypsin-like proteases (Chmelař et al., 2017), and Iripin-3 has Arg342 at the P1 site, indicating its trypsin-like protease inhibition (Chlastáková et al., 2021). Nevertheless, diverse RCL residues can represent potential cleavage sites, but only a few residues (16-17 residues from the C-terminal β -sheet) manage to successfully inhibit the target protease (Gettins, 2002). For Iripin-5, the last visible residue of the inserted RCL is Arg342 (Supplementary Table S1 and Fig. S4), which is the potential P1 site, suggesting the targeting of trypsin-like proteases preferring Arg or Lys side chains at the P1 site rather than elastase-like (Ala, Gly and Val) or chymotrypsin-like (Tyr, Phe and Trp) proteases (Barrett et al., 2004). However, Iripin-5 mainly inhibited neutrophil elastase and proteinase 3, which is the previously described behaviour of some serpins that inhibited serine proteases, despite that fact that these serpins have an inappropriate P1 recognition site and should have inhibited different proteases (Gettins, 2002). The presence of Arg at the P1 site is common for salivary serpins from prostriate ticks (Mulenga et al., 2009) and led to the proposal of an interaction with blood-coagulation proteases.

Michaelis and covalent complex studies were performed to reveal the possible residues responsible for the inhibition of target proteases. The Michaelis complex is the initial step of protease inhibition; more specifically, it enables the cleavage of the scissile bond and the subsequent acylation step, and therefore represents the most informative structural conformation of serpins (Gettins, 2002). Apart from the primary recognition site of the serpin, some serpins also employ specific surface regions called exosites that can specify protease inhibition (Gettins & Olson, 2016). For this reason, MD simulations of Michaelis complexes were performed. No exosites were found to be directly involved in formation of the Michaelis complex (Fig. 8). In Iripin-5-neutrophil elastase the Michaelis complex was observed to involve engagement of Glu330 in the Iripin-5 RCL to form salt bridges with Arg36 of neutrophil elastase. Similarly, in Iripin-5-proteinase 3 the Michaelis complex was observed to involve the formation of salt bridges between Glu345 in the Iripin-5 RCL and Lys103 of proteinase 3 and between Val340 of the RCL and Glu101 after the MD simulation in triplicate. The two resulting structures of the Iripin-5-neutrophil elastase Michaelis complex and the single structure of the Iripin-5-proteinase 3 Michaelis complex were confirmed to involve interfaces that play important roles in complex formation (PDBePISA; Krissinel & Henrick, 2007). Previously, it was observed that not only the position of the specific residues in RCL but also the dynamics of the RCL play an important role in protease inhibition by serpins (Marijanovic et al., 2019). It is probable that these two aspects are responsible for protease inhibition of the I. ricinus serpin Iripin-5.

Docking studies of covalent complexes revealed probable interactions between the chosen proteases and Iripin-5. The docking covalent complexes exhibit quite a large interface area, as observed previously for serpin-trypsin covalent complexes, with around 12 interacting interface residues. In the Iripin-5-trypsin complex more residues were involved in the formation of hydrogen bonds compared with other Iripin-5-protease complexes. These results are similar to the results of interface interaction comparison of antithrombintrypsin and antithrombin-elastase complexes, in which the complex with trypsin made more hydrogen bonds (Rashid et al., 2015). This could probably explain the important role of Glu310 in Iripin-5, which forms salt bridges in the complex with protease. Moreover, some residues of Iripin-5 were involved in hydrogen-bond formation more frequently, namely Gln299, Asp301, Glu51, Lys288, Glu294 and the abovementioned Glu310 and Arg342. We propose that these residues should play an important role in the formation of a covalent complex between Iripin-5 and protease.

5. Conclusions

The continuing structural studies of arthropod (ectoparasite) serpins provide an understanding of their specific functions and protease targets. Structural information on complexes with targets and cofactors would help to understand the exact mechanism of action of these functionally diverse serpins. Iripin-5 is the third described crystal structure of a tick serpin, and despite its cleaved form it provides important experimental proof of the specificity of Iripin-5 and its possible interactions with proteases. Iripin-5 appears to be an immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory protein used by I. ricinus ticks to overcome host defensive mechanisms. The presence of Arg at the P1 site led to the proposal of an interaction with blood-coagulation proteases. MD simulations of the Michaelis complex revealed flexibility of the RCL to be one of the factors responsible for inhibition. A more detailed study of the dynamic behaviour of Iripin-5 during the inhibition mechanism may be beneficial for a better understanding of

6. Related literature

The following references are cited in the supporting information for this article: Cox & Mann (2008), Cox *et al.* (2011), Rappsilber *et al.* (2007) and Shevchenko *et al.* (2006).

Acknowledgements

The diffraction data were collected on BL14.1 at the BESSY II electron-storage ring operated by Helmholtz-Zentrum Berlin (HZB). We thank HZB for the allocation of synchrotronradiation beam time. Author contributions were as follows. IKS, JC and MK designed the project. JK performed the cloning, expression and purification and determined the antiprotease selectivity and NO production. LAM performed the complement assay. ZB performed the neutrophil migration assay. HL determined Iripin-5 expression profiles. BK, PH and TP carried out crystallization experiments and performed X-ray diffraction analysis. BK analyzed the crystallographic data, solved the structure and drafted the manuscript. BK, MK and JAC performed the docking and analyzed the docking data.

Funding information

Funding for this research was provided by: European Regional Development Fund-Project, MEYS (No. CZ.02.1.01/ 0.0/0.0/15_003/0000441); Grantová Agentura České Republiky (grant No. 19-14704Y); Jihočeská Univerzita v Českých Budějovicích (grant No. 105/2019/P; grant No. 04-039/2019/P).

References

- Barrett, A. J., Rawlings, N. D. & Woessner, J. F. (2004). *Handbook of Proteolytic Enzymes*, 2nd ed, Vol. 1. London: Academic Press.
- Belorgey, D., Hägglöf, P., Karlsson-Li, S. & Lomas, D. A. (2007). *Prion*, **1**, 15–20.
- Berendsen, H. J. C., Grigera, J. R. & Straatsma, T. P. (1987). J. Phys. Chem. 91, 6269–6271.
- Berendsen, H. J. C., van der Spoel, D. & van Drunen, R. (1995). Comput. Phys. Commun. 91, 43–56.
- Berman, H., Henrick, K. & Nakamura, H. (2003). Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 10, 980.
- Bos, I. G. A., Hack, C. E. & Abrahams, J. P. (2002). *Immunobiology*, **205**, 518–533.
- Chlastáková, A., Kotál, J., Beránková, Z., Kaščáková, B., Martins, L. A., Langhansová, H., Prudnikova, T., Ederová, M., Kutá Smatanová, I., Kotsyfakis, M. & Chmelař, J. (2021). Front. Immunol. 12, 626200.
- Chmelař, J., Kotál, J., Kopecký, J., Pedra, J. H. F. & Kotsyfakis, M. (2016). *Trends Parasitol.* **32**, 368–377.
- Chmelař, J., Kotál, J., Langhansová, H. & Kotsyfakis, M. (2017). *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* **7**, 216.

_____. · ·

research papers

- Chmelar, J., Oliveira, C. J., Rezacova, P., Francischetti, I. M. B., Kovarova, Z., Pejler, G., Kopacek, P., Ribeiro, J. M. C., Mares, M., Kopecky, J. & Kotsyfakis, M. (2011). *Blood*, **117**, 736–744.
- Cox, J. & Mann, M. (2008). Nat. Biotechnol. 26, 1367-1372.
- Cox, J., Neuhauser, N., Michalski, A., Scheltema, R. A., Olsen, J. V. & Mann, M. (2011). J. Proteome Res. 10, 1794–1805.
- Daix, V., Schroeder, H., Praet, N., Georgin, J.-P., Chiappino, I., Gillet, L., de Fays, K., Decrem, Y., Leboulle, G., Godfroid, E., Bollen, A., Pastoret, P.-P., Gern, L., Sharp, P. M. & Vanderplasschen, A. (2007). *Insect Mol. Biol.* 16, 155–166.
- DeLano, W. L. (2002). PyMOL. http://www.pymol.org.
- Dunstone, M. A. & Whisstock, J. C. (2011). *Methods Enzymol.* 501, 63–87.
- Emsley, P., Lohkamp, B., Scott, W. G. & Cowtan, K. (2010). Acta Cryst. D66, 486–501.
- Feller, S. E. & MacKerell, A. D. (2000). J. Phys. Chem. B, 104, 7510-7515.
- Francischetti, I. M. B., Sa-Nunes, A., Mans, B. J., Santos, I. M. & Ribeiro, J. M. C. (2009). Front. Biosci. 14 2051–2088.
- Fujinaga, M., Chernaia, M. M., Halenbeck, R., Koths, K. & James, M. N. G. (1996). J. Mol. Biol. 261, 267–278.
- Gettins, P. G. W. (2002). Chem. Rev. 102, 4751-4804.
- Gettins, P. G. W. & Olson, S. T. (2016). Biochem. J. 473, 2273-2293.
- Hansen, G., Gielen-Haertwig, H., Reinemer, P., Schomburg, D.,
- Harrenga, A. & Niefind, K. (2011). J. Mol. Biol. 409, 681–691.
- Humphrey, W., Dalke, A. & Schulten, K. (1996). J. Mol. Graph. 14, 33–38.
- Huntington, J. A. (2011). J. Thromb. Haemost. 9, Suppl. 1, 26-34.
- Kabsch, W. (2010). Acta Cryst. D66, 133-144.
- Katona, G., Berglund, G. I., Hajdu, J., Gráf, L. & Szilágyi, L. (2002). J. Mol. Biol. **315**, 1209–1218.
- Kervinen, J., Crysler, C., Bayoumy, S., Abad, M. C., Spurlino, J., Deckman, I., Greco, M. N., Maryanoff, B. E. & de Garavilla, L. (2010). *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 80, 1033–1041.
- Klauda, J. B., Brooks, B. R., MacKerell, A. D., Venable, R. M. & Pastor, R. W. (2005). J. Phys. Chem. B, 109, 5300–5311.
- Kotál, J., Langhansová, H., Lieskovská, J., Andersen, J. F., Francischetti, I. M. B., Chavakis, T., Kopecký, J., Pedra, J. H. F., Kotsyfakis, M. & Chmelař, J. (2015). J. Proteomics, 128, 58–68.
- Kovářová, Z., Chmelař, J., Šanda, M., Brynda, J., Mareš, M. & Řezáčová, P. (2010). Acta Cryst. F66, 1453–1457.
- Krissinel, E. & Henrick, K. (2007). J. Mol. Biol. 372, 774-797.
- Kýčková, K. & Kopecký, J. (2006). J. Med. Entomol. 43, 1208-1214.
- Laroux, F. S., Pavlick, K. P., Hines, I. N., Kawachi, S., Harada, H., Bharwani, S., Hoffman, J. M. & Grisham, M. B. (2001). Acta Physiol. Scand. 173, 113–118.
- Law, R. H. P., Zhang, Q., McGowan, S., Buckle, A. M., Silverman, G. A., Wong, W., Rosado, C. J., Langendorf, C. G., Pike, R. N., Bird, P. I. & Whisstock, J. C. (2006). *Genome Biol.* 7, 216.
- Leboulle, G., Crippa, M., Decrem, Y., Mejri, N., Brossard, M., Bollen, A. & Godfroid, E. (2002). J. Biol. Chem. 277, 10083–10089.
- Livak, K. J. & Schmittgen, T. D. (2001). Methods, 25, 402-408.
- Madeira, F., Park, Y. M., Lee, J., Buso, N., Gur, T., Madhusoodanan, N., Basutkar, P., Tivey, A. R. N., Potter, S. C., Finn, R. D. & Lopez, R. (2019). Nucleic Acids Res. 47, W636–W641.
- Marijanovic, E. M., Fodor, J., Riley, B. T., Porebski, B. T., Costa, M. G. S., Kass, I., Hoke, D. E., McGowan, S. & Buckle, A. M. (2019). Sci. Rep. 9, 3870.
- Mellet, P., Michels, B. & Bieth, J. G. (1996). J. Biol. Chem. 271, 30311– 30314.
- Mueller, U., Darowski, N., Fuchs, M. R., Förster, R., Hellmig, M., Paithankar, K. S., Pühringer, S., Steffien, M., Zocher, G. & Weiss, M. S. (2012). J. Synchrotron Rad. 19, 442–449.
- Mulenga, A., Khumthong, R. & Chalaire, K. C. (2009). BMC Genomics, 10, 217.
- Murshudov, G. N., Skubák, P., Lebedev, A. A., Pannu, N. S., Steiner, R. A., Nicholls, R. A., Winn, M. D., Long, F. & Vagin, A. A. (2011). *Acta Cryst.* D67, 355–367.

Nagata, K. (1996). Trends Biochem. Sci. 21, 23-26.

- Páleníková, J., Lieskovská, J., Langhansová, H., Kotsyfakis, M., Chmelař, J. & Kopecký, J. (2015). *Infect. Immun.* 83, 1949–1956.
- Pemberton, P. A., Stein, P. E., Pepys, M. B., Potter, J. M. & Carrell, R. W. (1988). *Nature*, **336**, 257–258.
- Porter, L., Radulović, Ž., Kim, T., Braz, G. R. C., Da Silva Vaz, I. & Mulenga, A. (2015). *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 6, 16–30.
- Prevot, P.-P., Adam, B., Boudjeltia, K. Z., Brossard, M., Lins, L., Cauchie, P., Brasseur, R., Vanhaeverbeek, M., Vanhamme, L. & Godfroid, E. (2006). J. Biol. Chem. 281, 26361–26369.
- Prevot, P.-P., Beschin, A., Lins, L., Beaufays, J., Grosjean, A., Bruys, L., Adam, B., Brossard, M., Brasseur, R., Zouaoui Boudjeltia, K., Vanhamme, L. & Godfroid, E. (2009). *FEBS J.* 276, 3235–3246.
- Prevot, P.-P., Couvreur, B., Denis, V., Brossard, M., Vanhamme, L. & Godfroid, E. (2007). *Vaccine*, 25, 3284–3292.
- Rappsilber, J., Mann, M. & Ishihama, Y. (2007). Nat. Protoc. 2, 1896–1906.
- Rashid, Q., Kapil, C., Singh, P., Kumari, V. & Jairajpuri, M. A. (2015). *J. Biomol. Struct. Dyn.* **33**, 1352–1362.
- Robert, X. & Gouet, P. (2014). Nucleic Acids Res. 42, W320-W324.
- Schlee, S., Straub, K., Schwab, T., Kinateder, T., Merkl, R. & Sterner, R. (2019). *Proteins*, 87, 815–825.
- Shevchenko, A., Tomas, H., Havlis, J., Olsen, J. V. & Mann, M. (2006). *Nat. Protoc.* 1, 2856–2860.
- Silverman, G. A., Bird, P. I., Carrell, R. W., Church, F. C., Coughlin, P. B., Gettins, P. G., Irving, J. A., Lomas, D. A., Luke, C. J., Moyer, R. W., Pemberton, P. A., Remold-O'Donnell, E., Salvesen, G. S., Travis, J. & Whisstock, J. C. (2001). J. Biol. Chem. 276, 33293–33296.
- Sparta, K. M., Krug, M., Heinemann, U., Mueller, U. & Weiss, M. S. (2016). J. Appl. Cryst. 49, 1085–1092.

- Spence, M. A., Mortimer, M. D., Buckle, A. M., Minh, B. Q. & Jackson, C. J. (2021). *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 38, 2915–2929.
- Sprong, H., Azagi, T., Hoornstra, D., Nijhof, A. M., Knorr, S., Baarsma, M. E. & Hovius, J. W. (2018). *Parasites Vectors*, **11**, 145.
- Tirloni, L., Seixas, A., Mulenga, A., da Silva Vaz, I. Jr & Termignoni, C. (2014). Exp. Parasitol. 137, 25–34.
- Tsukada, H. & Blow, D. M. (1985). J. Mol. Biol. 184, 703-711.
- Tyson, K. R., Elkins, C. & de Silva, A. M. (2008). J. Immunol. 180, 3964–3968.
- Vagin, A. & Teplyakov, A. (2010). Acta Cryst. D66, 22-25.
- Vangone, A., Spinelli, R., Scarano, V., Cavallo, L. & Oliva, R. (2011). Bioinformatics, 27, 2915–2916.
- Williams, C. J., Headd, J. J., Moriarty, N. W., Prisant, M. G., Videau, L. L., Deis, L. N., Verma, V., Keedy, D. A., Hintze, B. J., Chen, V. B., Jain, S., Lewis, S. M., Arendall, W. B., Snoeyink, J., Adams, P. D., Lovell, S. C., Richardson, J. S. & Richardson, D. C. (2018). *Protein Sci.* 27, 293–315.
- Winn, M. D., Ballard, C. C., Cowtan, K. D., Dodson, E. J., Emsley, P., Evans, P. R., Keegan, R. M., Krissinel, E. B., Leslie, A. G. W., McCoy, A., McNicholas, S. J., Murshudov, G. N., Pannu, N. S., Potterton, E. A., Powell, H. R., Read, R. J., Vagin, A. & Wilson, K. S. (2011). Acta Cryst. D67, 235–242.
- Yamasaki, M., Arii, Y., Mikami, B. & Hirose, M. (2002). J. Mol. Biol. 315, 113–120.
- Zou, Z., Anisowicz, A., Hendrix, M. J., Thor, A., Neveu, M., Sheng, S., Rafidi, K., Seftor, E. & Sager, R. (1994). *Science*, **263**, 526–529.
- Zundert, G. C. P. van, Rodrigues, J. P. G. L. M., Trellet, M., Schmitz, C., Kastritis, P. L., Karaca, E., Melquiond, A. S. J., van Dijk, M., de Vries, S. J. & Bonvin, A. M. J. J. (2016). *J. Mol. Biol.* **428**, 720– 725.

Article 6

Ixodes ricinus Salivary Serpin Iripin-8 Inhibits the Intrinsic Pathway of Coagulation and Complement

Kotál J, Polderdijk SGI, Langhansová H, Ederová M, Martins LA, Beránková Z, Chlastáková A, Hajdušek O, Kotsyfakis M, Huntington JA, **Chmelař J**.

Int J Mol Sci. 2021 Aug 31;22(17):9480.

doi: 10.3390/ijms22179480.

Iripin-8 may be the most interesting tick serpin. It displayed blood-meal-induced mRNA expression that peaked in nymphs and on day 8 of feeding in the salivary glands of adult females. Iripin-8 inhibited multiple proteases involved in blood coagulation and blocked the intrinsic and common pathways of the coagulation cascade *in vitro*. Moreover, Iripin-8 inhibited erythrocyte lysis by complement, and knock-down by RNA interference in tick nymphs delayed the feeding time. Interestingly, Iripin-8 did not show any immunomodulatory effects, therefore it seems to be mostly anti-hemostatic protein. We further resolved the crystal structure of Iripin-8 at 1.89 Å resolution. The structure revealed unusually long and rigid reactive center loop that is surprisingly conserved among several tick species. The P1 Arg residue is held in place, far from the serpin body by a conserved poly-Pro element on the P' side. The conservation of the RCL of Iripin-8 is intriguing and deserves more attention, as well as its unusual shape. Moreover, cavities that are able to bind small molecules, such as PEG from the crystallization buffer, were found in Iripin-8, including one deep cavity. This finding can have important functional relevance. Finally, Iripin-8 is the first tick serpin crystal structure in the native state.

Iripin-8 displays several unusual properties like long and rigid RCL, which is conserved among different tick species or the presence of cavities that are able to bind small molecules. The inhibitory specificity suggests a role either in host as an anti-coagulant or in tick as a regulator of hemolymph coagulation.

Author's contribution:

Author designed and coordinated the study and participated on the writing and revising of the manuscript



Article Ixodes ricinus Salivary Serpin Iripin-8 Inhibits the Intrinsic Pathway of Coagulation and Complement

Jan Kotál ^{1,2}^(D), Stéphanie G. I. Polderdijk ³^(D), Helena Langhansová ¹, Monika Ederová ¹, Larissa A. Martins ²^(D), Zuzana Beránková ¹, Adéla Chlastáková ¹^(D), Ondřej Hajdušek ⁴, Michail Kotsyfakis ^{1,2}^(D), James A. Huntington ³ and Jindřich Chmelař ^{1,*}^(D)

- ¹ Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice, Branišovská 1760c, 37005 České Budějovice, Czech Republic; jan.kotal@nih.gov (J.K.); hlanghansova@prf.jcu.cz (H.L.); ederom01@prf.jcu.cz (M.E.); beranz02@prf.jcu.cz (Z.B.); chlasa00@prf.jcu.cz (A.C.); kotsyfakis@paru.cas.cz (M.K.)
- ² Laboratory of Genomics and Proteomics of Disease Vectors, Institute of Parasitology, Biology Center CAS, Branišovská 1160/31, 37005 České Budějovice, Czech Republic; larissa.martins@nih.gov
- ³ Cambridge Institute for Medical Research, Department of Haematology, University of Cambridge, The Keith Peters Building, Hills Road, Cambridge CB2 0XY, UK; stephanie.polderdijk@cantab.net (S.G.I.P.); jah52@cam.ac.uk (J.A.H.)
- ⁴ Laboratory of Vector Immunology, Institute of Parasitology, Biology Center CAS, Branišovská 1160/31, 37005 České Budějovice, Czech Republic; hajdus@paru.cas.cz
- * Correspondence: chmelar@prf.jcu.cz

Abstract: Tick saliva is a rich source of antihemostatic, anti-inflammatory, and immunomodulatory molecules that actively help the tick to finish its blood meal. Moreover, these molecules facilitate the transmission of tick-borne pathogens. Here we present the functional and structural characterization of Iripin-8, a salivary serpin from the tick Ixodes ricinus, a European vector of tick-borne encephalitis and Lyme disease. Iripin-8 displayed blood-meal-induced mRNA expression that peaked in nymphs and the salivary glands of adult females. Iripin-8 inhibited multiple proteases involved in blood coagulation and blocked the intrinsic and common pathways of the coagulation cascade in vitro. Moreover, Iripin-8 inhibited erythrocyte lysis by complement, and Iripin-8 knockdown by RNA interference in tick nymphs delayed the feeding time. Finally, we resolved the crystal structure of Iripin-8 at 1.89 Å resolution to reveal an unusually long and rigid reactive center loop that is conserved in several tick species. The P1 Arg residue is held in place distant from the serpin body by a conserved poly-Pro element on the P' side. Several PEG molecules bind to Iripin-8, including one in a deep cavity, perhaps indicating the presence of a small-molecule binding site. This is the first crystal structure of a tick serpin in the native state, and Iripin-8 is a tick serpin with a conserved reactive center loop that possesses antihemostatic activity that may mediate interference with host innate immunity.

Keywords: blood coagulation; crystal structure; Ixodes ricinus; parasite; saliva; serpin; tick

1. Introduction

Ticks are blood-feeding ectoparasites and vectors of human pathogens, including agents of Lyme disease and tick-borne encephalitis. *Ixodes ricinus* is a species of European tick in the Ixodidae (hard tick) family found also in northern Africa and the Middle East [1]. *I. ricinus* ticks feed only once in each of their three developmental stages (larva, nymph, imago), and their feeding course can last over a week in adult females [2]. In order to stay attached to the host for such extended periods of time, ticks counteract host defense mechanisms that would otherwise lead to tick rejection or death.

Insertion of tick mouthparts into host skin causes mechanical injury that immediately triggers the hemostatic mechanisms of blood coagulation, vasoconstriction, and platelet aggregation to prevent blood loss [3]. Consequently, innate immunity is activated as

103



Citation: Kotál, J.; Polderdijk, S.G.I.; Langhansová, H.; Ederová, M.; Martins, L.A.; Beránková, Z.; Chlastáková, A.; Hajdušek, O.; Kotsyfakis, M.; Huntington, J.A.; et al. *Ixodes ricinus* Salivary Serpin Iripin-8 Inhibits the Intrinsic Pathway of Coagulation and Complement. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 2021, 22, 9480. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijms22179480

Academic Editor: József Tőzsér

Received: 23 June 2021 Accepted: 26 August 2021 Published: 31 August 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/).

2 of 18

noted by inflammation with edema formation, inflammatory cell infiltration, and itching at tick feeding sites. Long-term feeding and/or repeated exposures of the host to ticks also activate adaptive immunity [4]. As an adaptation to host defenses, ticks modulate and suppress host immune responses and hemostasis by secreting a complex cocktail of pharmacoactive substances via their saliva into the host. For further information on this topic, we refer readers to several excellent reviews describing the impact of saliva and salivary components on the host [4–8].

Blood coagulation is a cascade driven by serine proteases that leads to the production of a fibrin clot. It can be initiated via the extrinsic or intrinsic pathway [9]. The extrinsic pathway starts with blood vessel injury and complex formation between activated factor VII (fVIIa) and tissue factor (TF). The TF/fVIIa complex then activates factor X (fX) either directly or via activation of factor IX (fIX), which in turn activates fX. The intrinsic pathway is triggered by the activation of factor XII (fXII) via kallikrein. Activated fXII (fXIIa) activates factor XI (fXI), which next activates fIX and results in the activation of fX, followed by a common pathway that terminates the coagulation process through the activation of thrombin (fII) and the cleavage of fibrinogen to fibrin, the primary component of the clot [9,10].

Similar to blood coagulation, the complement cascade is based on serine proteases. Complement represents a fast and robust defense mechanism against bacterial pathogens, which are lysed or opsonized by complement to facilitate their killing by other immune mechanisms [11,12]. Complement can be activated via three pathways: the classical pathway, responding to antigen–antibody complexes; the lectin pathway, which needs a lectin to bind to specific carbohydrates on the pathogen surface; and the alternative pathway, which is triggered by direct binding of C3b protein to a microbial surface [12]. All three pathways result in the cleavage of C3 by C3 convertases to C3a and C3b fragments. C3b then triggers a positive feedback loop to amplify the complement response and opsonize pathogens for phagocytosis. Together with other complement components, C3b forms C5 convertase, which cleaves C5 to C5a and C5b fragments. C5b initiates membrane attack complex (MAC) formation, leading to lysis of a target cell. Small C3a and C5a subunits promote inflammation by recruiting immune cells to the site of injury [11].

Both processes, coagulation and complement, are detrimental to feeding ticks, so their saliva contains many anticoagulant and anticomplement molecules, often belonging to the group of <u>ser</u>ine protease <u>in</u>hibitors (serpins) [13–16]. Serpins form the largest and most ubiquitous family of protease inhibitors in nature and can be found in viruses, prokaryotes, and eukaryotes [17,18]. Serpins are irreversible inhibitors with a unique inhibitory mechanism and highly conserved tertiary structure [19,20] classified in the I4 family of the MEROPS database [21]. Similar to other serine protease inhibitors, the serpin structure contains a reactive center loop (RCL) that serves as bait for the protease. The RCL amino acid sequence determines serpin's inhibitory specificity [22].

Arthropod serpins have mostly homeostatic and immunological functions. They regulate hemolymph coagulation or activation of the phenoloxidase system in insects [23]. Additionally, serpins from blood-feeding arthropods can modulate host immunity and host hemostasis [23]. Indeed, over 20 tick salivary serpins have been functionally characterized with described effects on coagulation or immunity [13]. However, according to numerous transcriptomic studies, the total number of tick serpins is significantly higher [13,24–27]. In *I. ricinus*, at least 36 serpins have been identified based on transcriptomic data, but only 3 of them have been characterized at the biochemical, immunomodulatory, anticoagulatory, or antitick vaccine levels [13,28–32].

Interestingly, one serpin has a fully conserved RCL across various tick species [24]. Homologs of this serpin have been described in *Amblyomma americanum* as AAS19 [33], *Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides* as RHS8 [34], *Rhipicephalus microplus* as RmS-15 [35], and *I. ricinus* as IRS-8 [30], and it can also be found among transcripts of other tick species in which the serpins have not yet been functionally characterized.

2. Results

Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2021, 22, 9480

2.1. Iripin-8 Is Predominantly a Salivary Protein with Increased Expression during Tick Feeding

Analysis of Iripin-8 mRNA expression levels revealed its highest abundance in tick nymphs with a peak during the first day of feeding (Figure 1A). In salivary glands, increased Iripin-8 transcription positively correlated with the length of tick feeding on fts¹⁸ host. A similar increasing trend was also observed in tick midguts; however, the total number of Iripin-8 transcripts was lower than in the salivary glands. Iripin-8 transcript

levels mere low psteighten evenietionall the treated tits of property of the prime service of the evening the evening of the evening of the event of the evening of the event of the even of the even

nyiBpind wnithe species altrainge theores and your for the angle of the species and the specie



Figure 1. Iripin-8 expression in ticks and its presence in tick saliva. (A) Pools of *I. ricinus* salivary glands, midguts, and ovaries from female ticks and whole bodies from nymphs were dissected under RNase-free conditions. cDNA was subsequently prepared as a template for qRT-PCR. Iripin-8 expression was normalized to elongation factor 1α and compared between all values with the highest expression set to 100% (*y*-axis). The data show an average of three biological replicates for adult ticks and six replicates for nymphs (\pm SEM). SG = salivary glands; MG = midguts; OVA = ovaries; UF = unfed ticks; 1 d, 2 d, 3 d, 4 d, 6 d, 8 d = ticks after 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, or 8 days of feeding. For nymphs, the last column represents fully fed nymphs. All feeding points for each development stage/tissue are compared with the unfed ticks of the respective group. (**B**) Iripin-8 can be detected in tick saliva by Western blotting. Saliva from ticks after 6 days of feeding and recombinant Iripin-8 protein were visualized by Western blotting using serum from naïve and Iripin-8-immunized rabbits. Sal = tick saliva; 1 ng, 10 ng = Iripin-8 recombinant protein at 1 ng and 10 ng load. N: native Iripin-8, C: cleaved Iripin-8.

Next, we performed Western blot analysis and confirmed the presence of Iripin-8 protein in tick saliva (Figure 1B). We detected two bands of the recombinant protein, representing the full-length native serpin (N) and a molecule cleaved in its RCL near the C-terminus, likely due to bacterial protease contamination (C). The proteolytic cleavage of RCL has previously been documented for serpins from various organisms, including ticks [36–38]. The ~5 kDa difference in molecular weight observed between native and
recombinant Iripin-8 was probably due to glycosylation, since two N-glycosylation sites are predicted to exist in this serpin. The signal at ~90 kDa in saliva was also detected when using serum from a naïve rabbit (data not shown) and is probably caused by nonspecific antibody binding.

Based on these results, we proceeded to test how Iripin-8 affects host defense mechanisms as a component of tick saliva. Despite the highest expression being observed in the salivary glands, activity in other tissues cannot be ruled out.

2.2. Sequence Analysis and Production of Recombinant Iripin-8

The full transcript encoding Iripin-8 was obtained using cDNA from tick salivary glands. Following sequencing, we found a few amino acid mutations (K10 \rightarrow E10, L36 \rightarrow F36, P290 \rightarrow T290, and F318 \rightarrow S318) compared with the sequence of Iripin-8 (IRS-8) published as a supplement in our previous work [30] (GenBank No. DQ915845.1; ABI94058.1), probably as a result of intertick variability. The RCL was identical to other homologous tick serpins [34], with arginine at the P1 position (Supplementary Figure S1A); however, the remainder of the sequence had undergone evolution, separating species-specific sequences in strongly supported groups (Supplementary Figure S1B). Iripin-8 has a predicted MW of 43 kDa and a pI of 5.85, with two predicted N-linked glycosylation sites.

Iripin-8 was expressed in 2 L of medium with a yield of 45 mg of protein at >90% purity, as analyzed by pixel density analysis in ImageJ software, where a majority was formed from the native serpin and a fraction from a serpin cleaved at its RCL (Supplementary Figure S2). This mixed sample of native and cleaved serpin was used for all subsequent analyses because the molecules were inseparable by common chromatographic techniques. Proper folding of Iripin-8 was verified by CD spectroscopy (Supplementary Data) [39,40] and subsequently by activity assays against serine proteases, as presented below. Recombinant Iripin-8 protein solution was tested for the presence of LPS, which was detected at 0.038 endotoxin unit/mL, below the threshold for a pyrogenic effect [41,42].

2.3. Iripin-8 Inhibits Serine Proteases Involved in Coagulation

Based on sequence analysis of Iripin-8 and the presence of arginine in the RCL P1 position, we focused on analyzing its inhibitory specificity towards serine proteases related to blood coagulation. Considering the covalent nature of the serpin mechanism of inhibition, we analyzed by SDS-PAGE whether Iripin-8 forms covalent complexes with selected proteases. Figure 2 shows covalent inhibitory complex formation between Iripin-8 and 10 out of 11 tested proteases: thrombin, fVIIa, fIXa, fXa, fXIa, fXIIa, plasmin, APC, kallikrein, and trypsin. We did not detect complexes between Iripin-8 and chymotrypsin. All inhibited proteases could also partially cleave Iripin-8 as indicated by a C-terminal fragment and a stronger signal of cleaved serpin molecule. Chymotrypsin cleaved Iripin-8 in its RCL completely. Inhibition rates of Iripin-8 against these proteases were subsequently determined and are shown in Table 1. Among the tested proteases, plasmin was inhibited significantly faster than other proteases, with a second-order rate constant (k_2) of >200,000 M⁻¹ s⁻¹. Trypsin, kallikrein, fXIa, and thrombin were inhibited with a k_2 in the tens of thousands range and the other proteases with lower k_2 values.



Figure 2. Formation of covalent complexes between hippin 8 and serine proteases. hippin 8 and selected serine proteases were incubated for 1 h and subsequently analyzed of for complex formation by reducing 505-PAGE. A GE is a strategies of gels with different polyaerylamide contents. Gels show the profile of Iripin-8 serpin above, various serine proteases alone, and proteases incubated with Iripin-8. Complex formation between (VII) and and Iripin-8 serpin alone, various serine proteases alone, and proteases incubated with Iripin-8. Complex formation between fVIIa and Iripin-8 serpin alone, various serine proteases alone, and proteases incubated with Iripin-8. Complex formation between fVIIa and Iripin-8 was 8 was tested in the presence of tissue factor (TF) at an equimolar concentration. Covalent complexes between Iripin-8 and protease are marked with a red arrow. N: native Iripin-8, C: cleaved Iripin-8.

Protease	$k_2 (M^{-1} s^{-1})$	±SE
Plestense	$k_2 (M_2^2 5_{50}^{-1} 4_{-1}^{-1})$	± \$£ ,183
Thapsiin	2252996447	14,133508
Kathikosan	29, 16, 682	35018119
Katiktein	16,882328	111948
Thrombin	13794 16,328	948 ¹⁰⁴⁰
fXIIa Thrombin	3324	409
fXa	2088	115
ÁPC	523	40935
fVIIa ⁴ TF	²⁰⁸ 456	¹¹⁵ 35
f fXR	52 N /A	35N/A
fVIIa + TF	456	35

 Table 1. Inhibition rate of Iripin-8 against selected serine proteases.

 Table 1. Inhibition rate of Iripin-8 against selected serine proteases.

2.4. Iripin-8 Inhibits the Intrinsic and Common Pathways of Blood Coagulation N/A

Given the in vitro inhibition of coagulation proteases by Iripin-8, we tested its activity

in three coagulation, the activated partial thrombonlastin time (aPTT) represents the inway of coagulation, the activated partial thrombonlastin time (aPTT) represents the intrinsic (contact) pathway, and thrombin time (TT) represents the final common stage of in three coagulation assays. The prothomory time (TT) assay simulates the extinsic coagulation, fripin-8 had no significant effect on PT, which increased from 15.3 to 16.7 s pathway of coagulation, the activated partial thrombonlastin time (aPTT) represents the final common stage of in three coagulation, the activated partial thrombonlastin time (aPTT) assay simulates the extinsic coagulation, fripin-8 had no significant effect on PT, which increased from 15.3 to 16.7 s pathway of coagulation, the activated partial thrombonlastin time (aPTT) in a dose-dependent intrinsic (contact) pathway and thrombin time (TT) represents the final common stage of coagulation. Initiaties that ho significant effect on PT, which increased from 15.3 to 16.7 s pathway of coagulation assays. The activated partial thrombonlastin time (aPTT) in a dose-dependent intrinsic (contact) pathway and thrombin time (TT) represents the final common stage of coagulation. Inipin-8 had no significant effect on PT, which are as a final common stage of coagulation. Inipin-8 had no significant effect on the effect of the activated partial thrombon and thrombon time (TT) represents the final common stage of coagulation as a significant effect on the effect of the activated part of the activated partial thrombon and thrombon time (TT) represents the final common stage of coagulation as a significant effect on the activated part of the activated p

completely at concentrations of 800 nM and higher (Figure 3B). The other serpins presempletely at concentrations of 200 Miandorisher (Figure 2B) of the other concentrations are exceed the comparisoon profigure and addition the souther the comparison of the the inhibition of PT by Iripin-3, which we published elsewhere [32].



Figure 3. Inhibition of complement and coagulation pathways by Iripin-8. (A) Iripin-8 inhibits the intrinsic coagulation Figure 3. Hhibitioplasmanyls perihanda codgylabion cratsing xo by chipines. (A) hipines (94 itivis chevit) to wig characterian Pathered Human plasma wad preince hazed with increasing conceptrations of Irinin-Bals and MA Sanzylation was triggered by the addition of Daptin reagent and CaCle formation time was measured. A sample without Iripin-8 was used as a control for statistical purposes. (b) Tripin-8 delays fibrin clot formation in a thrombin time assay in a dose-dependent manner. Coagulation of human plasma was initiated by thrombin reagent preincubated with various dependent manner. Coagulation of human plasma was initiated by thrombin reagent preincubated with various concentrations of Iripin-8 and thrombin time was measured. Samples without Iripin-8 thrombin reagent preincubated with various dependent manner, and thrombin time was measured. Samples without Iripin-8 were used as a control for statistical purpose (a samples without Iripin-8 and thrombin time was measured. Samples without Iripin-8 were used as a control for statistical purpose (a samples without Iripin-8 were used as a control for statistical purpose) and thrombin time was measured. Samples without Iripin-8 were used as a control for statistical purpose (a samples without Iripin-8 and thrombin time was measured. Samples without Iripin-8 were used as a control for statistical purpose (a samples without Iripin-8 were used as a control for statistical purpose) (a sample source (a samples without Iripin-8 were used as a control for statistical purpose) (a sample source (a samples without Iripin-8 were used as a control for statistical purpose) (a sample source (a sample source) (a sample source purposes. (C) Iripin-8 inhibits erythrocyte lysis by human complement. Human plasma was preincubated with increasing concentrations of Aripin-32,53 and & \$3,64 2 Mod 10 MMA french and dition of raphiber threates the interior surgery the interior surgery the interior of the i was measured suffet was appresent and provide a transmission of the second second provident of the control group. * $p \le 0.05; ** p \le 0.001; *** p \le 0.0001.$

2.5. Anticomplement Activity of Iripin-8

The complement pathway readily lyses erythrocytes from various mammals, and those from rabbits were found to be the best complement activators [43]. We used human serum and rabbiliterythrocytest of test the effect of the constraints on the neticity of briman complement in vitroit för sente tromplement cas case ate diven by serine protesses weste sted the potential effect of leip in Prasia sensal computing ulators that a statistically significent geduction in complement previous against ergthree to the summer plasma plasing wated with letining at son sentrations of 2.5 is Mrane higher (Figure 3 Figure 3 E). wenased Tripin-a with the theory of the solivary and the solivary in the solivary of the soliv had lower activity. Iripin-8 had lower activity.

2.6. Iripin-8 Knockdown Influences Tick Feeding but Not Borrelia Transmission
2.6. Iripin-8 Knockdown Influences Tick Feeding but Not Borrelia Transmission
Since Iripin-8 is predominantly expressed in tick nymphs (Figure 1A), we decided to Since Iripin-8 is predominantly expressed in tick nymphs (Figure 1A), we decided to investigate its importance in tick feeding by KNA interference (RNA!) in the nymphal stage. investigate its importance in tick feeding by RNA interference (RNAi) in the nymphal Knockgown efficiency was 87% for transcript down egulation. Ticks with down regulated traps. Sexpression stowed a significantly lower feeding success late and higher thousantly. regulated tripin-8 23 pression showed a significantly lower feeding success rate and higher mottality or with a share of the state of the state of the second part of the state čentrel group Mergever in ticks that tini spect feeding the feeding time was longer campriced with front reliance (Figure 4A) and snith the spite of a number of the spite abserves stor affect affection of RNAi con the weight of t or on *B. afzelii* transmission from infected nymphs to mice in any of the tested mouse tissues (Figure 4C).



Figure 4. Effect of RNAi on tick fitness and Borrelia transmission. (A) RNAi of Iripin-8 prolonged Fignerelen Effect pfreshini apriisk fürensgeronsprecht wan uniscionrol Arbitaki apriise werglerserelity the elengthe of Lyricinus numphiles king compared with the control group (Gille) (B) Weight P. (Eullyresengoiged nymphs with Iripin-8 knockdown was not different from the control group (GFP). (C) presence of *B. afzelii* spirochetes in mouse tissues after infestation with infected *I. ricinus* nymphs. There Presence of *B. afzelii* spirochetes in mouse tissues after infestation with infected *I. ricinus* nymphs. There were no significant differences between Iripin-8 knockdown and GFP control groups in any of the there were no significant differences between Iripin-8 knockdown and GFP control groups in any of the tested tissues. *P*** $p \leq 0.001$; n.s., not significant.

2.7. Role of Iripin-8 in Modulating Host Immunity 2.7. Role of Iripin-8 in Modulating Host Immunity Next, we evaluated a possible role for Iripin-8 in the modulation of the host immune respertsevie excluseed ago is it lorals for towin and the speculation of the enstimation response tostick spectrogyvies two area with by antiger and the provide the provided the provide model cusing spleneaxterior of the term of the provident of the second poster of the second terms and terms a chempattyactanta(fMI,Pi) in which sweph aripins by seven effects thith states (45) in the seven of the seven ivary protesse inhibitors (the perpindripen 3632) and (the systation tristation 1453). However, there was no inhibition by Iripin-8 in either assay (Supplementary Figure S4).

2.8. Structural Features of Iripin-8

2.8. Structured Footmose of his asymmetric unit contained a single molecule of native Iripin-8

(datad sitys Sallpy explaint as y Trablet 62) utile ctuota ided sity ingle of oleffidie of qatility I tip in elle (detailesiid Septetamentato Table-62) milestrincle inity the antife RCE initian allowed introduced all residens from Berry to the Co-RMBD (spontal as ing the rentire RCIn) Ioholo & A as the synd calith natheexenheity fails an pinadiphRMBD (tryptsine (Aslastu 242 das 352 versi date 9 Figuera fabre intost the analysis is a series of the provident of the provided and the provided the prov rensituableateaguteoun thipihestlys at thongerein, (110ressigutes 1Bhzerg364H218' Sidu; therithan extends areaid non the ATAT of extend phy and ormation is not see used a self of a mast taken the contact; P1rathenie for me ATE Pasisexten real above to the the REL of a symmetry stated and evel a subthe Supplementer va Figure S5), sthe Brite tension contains a stortch of proline desidues that (Supprenerver 1) Frederer Sinethelin expersions consistent and rextending the Pleseniderenavay to from the body of brinner a figure of Brilly equinter from this there tended as a frofeather by a fripping (in solution), and that it has frunctional can request estimated rectining

protease specificity and/or inhibitory promiscuity.

Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2021, 22, 9480

feature of native Iripin-8 in solution and that it has functional consequences in dete ing protease specificity and/or inhibitory promiscuity.

We also observed several molecules of PEG (polyethylene glycol) originating We also observed several molecules of PEG (polyethylene glycol) originating from a deep 1 the crystallization buffer bound to Iripin & the binding sites was a plene intary Figure S6 cavity in the core structure between that the bind seal of the binding sites was a plene intary Figure S6 observation suggests that Iripin & can bind small, molecules, which may have functional implications. The coordinates and structure factors are deposited in the Protein Data and under accession code XXX (note: will be submitted before publication).



Figure 5. Crystal structure of native Iripin-8. (**A**) Stereo view of a ribbon diagram of Iripin-8 (gray with yellow RCL and red beta sheet A) superimposed with alpha-1-antitrypsin (PDB code 3ne4). The P1 side chains of both molecules are represented as sticks, and the distance between their C α atoms is shown. (**B**) Stereo view of a close-up of the P' region with surrounding electron density (contoured at 1 times the RMSD of the map), forming a rigid type II polyproline helix.

3. Discussion

Similar to other characterized tick salivary serpins [13], we found that Iripin-8 can modulate host complement and coagulation cascades to facilitate tick feeding [46].

Structurally, Iripin-8 has an unusually long, exposed, and rigid RCL, with an Arg in its P1 position. This potentially enables it to inhibit a range of proteases, as the RCL can interact independently from the body of the serpin molecule. We characterized Iripin-8 as an in vitro inhibitor of at least 10 serine proteases. The interference with the coagulation cascade through inhibition of kallikrein, thrombin, fVIIa, fIXa, fXa, fXIa, and fXIIa in vivo would be beneficial for tick feeding [3,47].

Iripin-8 also inhibited trypsin and kallikrein. Trypsin has a role in meal digestion and has also been linked to skin inflammation [48,49]. Potentially, trypsin inhibition in the host skin could be another mechanism by which the tick impairs the host immune response. Kallikrein has a role in the development of inflammation and pain. It is an activator of the nociceptive mediator bradykinin in the kinin–kallikrein system [50]. Through its inhibition, a deleterious inflammatory response could be altered to the tick's advantage.

Iripin-8 showed the greatest inhibition of plasmin, a protease involved in fibrin degradation and clot removal [51]. This was surprising, as clot removal should be beneficial for ticks. On the other hand, it is not fully understood whether fibrin clot formation occurs at a tick feeding site in the presence of tick anticoagulant molecules [52]. Apart from fibrinolysis, plasmin also modulates several immunological processes, interacting with leukocytes, endothelial cells, extracellular matrix components, and immune system factors [51,53,54]. Excessive plasmin generation can even lead to pathophysiological inflammatory processes [54]. Considering the proinflammatory role of plasmin, its inhibition by tick salivary serpin could be more relevant to the tick than unimpaired fibrinolysis. Although we did not see any effect of Iripin-8 in two immune assays, we cannot exclude the possibility that Iripin-8 exerts an immunomodulatory effect.

The anticomplement activity of tick saliva or its protein components has been known for decades and is described in numerous publications [14,15,55–57]. Although the active molecules originate from either unique tick protein families [58–62] or lipocalins [16], anticomplement activity has only recently been reported for a tick salivary serpin [44] as the only tick protease inhibitor with such activity. Since complement products might directly damage the tick hypostome or initiate a stronger immune response [11], we propose that the role of Iripin-8 is to attenuate these mechanisms. At the same time, an impaired complement system cannot effectively fight pathogens entering the wound at the same time as tick saliva [14]. In this context, we wanted to test a potential effect of Iripin-8 transcriptional downregulation on *Borrelia* transmission from ticks to the host. Although we saw some effect of RNA interference (RNAi) on tick fitness, it had no effect on the amount of *Borrelia* in host tissues. Such a result can be explained by a redundancy in tick salivary molecules, as ticks secrete a variety of effectors against the same host defense mechanism and knockdown of one molecule can be substituted by the activity of others [63].

The increased tick mortality after Iripin-8 knockdown might be due to a potential role for Iripin-8 within the tick body. As an anticoagulant, Iripin-8 can help to keep ingested blood in the tick midgut in an unclotted state for later intracellular digestion [64–66]. A similar principle has previously been suggested for other midgut serpins in various tick species [67]. Other potential functions of Iripin-8 include a role in hemolymph clotting [68,69] or in reproduction and egg development [70,71].

The broad inhibitory specificity combined with a conserved, long, and rigid RCL implies that Iripin-8's role does not necessarily have to only be the modulation of host defense mechanisms. The function of a protruded RCL can be adapted to fit the active site of an unknown protease of tick origin, independently of the serpin body, thus regulating physiological processes in the tick itself, such as melanization and immune processes, which are also regulated by serpins in arthropods.

Interestingly, several PEG molecules from the crystallization buffer bind to Iripin-8, including one in a deep cavity, perhaps indicating the presence of a small-molecule binding

site. Considering that serpins can act as transport proteins independently of their inhibitory properties [72,73], the binding properties of Iripin-8 could have physiological relevance in ticks or their tick–host interactions.

By comparing Iripin-8 with other members of the tick serpin group with an identical RCL, we confirmed that the anticoagulant features have also been reported for AAS19 [33] and RmS-15 [35]. RNAi knockdown of Iripin-8 reduced feeding success, while RNAi of AAS19 decreased the blood intake and morphological deformation of ticks [74], and RNAi of RHS8 had an effect on body weight, feeding time, and vitellogenesis [34]. However, these findings are difficult to correlate due to the use of different tick species and life stages. Although Iripin-8 was detected in tick saliva and therefore most likely plays a role in the regulation of host defense mechanisms, further experiments to define Iripin-8 functions in tick tissues would be of interest. Similar to AAS19 [74], Iripin-8 might also regulate hemolymph clotting in the tick body, which is naturally regulated by serpins [67]. Iripin-8 could also contribute to maintaining ingested blood in the tick midgut in an unclotted state to preserve availability for intracellular digestion [64,66].

Although the concentration of Iripin-8 in tick saliva is not known, we can expect it to be lower than most of the concentrations used in our assays. Tick saliva, as a complex mixture, contains an abundance of bioactive molecules that are redundant in their activities and contribute to the inhibition of host defense mechanisms [63]. Therefore, despite the fact that the concentrations of Iripin-8 used in our experiments do not reflect a physiological situation, they can reflect the overall concentration of functionally redundant salivary proteins.

We conclude that the tick serpin Iripin-8 is secreted into the host as a component of *I. ricinus* saliva. Based on its inhibitory activity, mainly of proteases of the coagulation cascade [47], we suggest that its main role as a salivary protein is in the modulation of host blood coagulation and complement activity, with possible function in regulating the immune response. As such, Iripin-8 alters host defense mechanisms and most likely facilitates tick feeding on hosts.

Nevertheless, a more detailed comparative study of tick serpins with conserved RCLs might shed some light on the role of this particular subgroup in different tick species. The conservation of Iripin-8 among tick species suggests a potential for targeting this serpin as a tick control strategy.

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Ticks and Laboratory Animals

All animal experiments were carried out in accordance with the Animal Protection Law of the Czech Republic No. 246/1992 Coll., ethics approval No. MSMT-19085/2015-3, and protocols approved by the responsible committee of the Institute of Parasitology, Biology Center of the Czech Academy of Sciences (IP BC CAS). Male and female adult *I. ricinus* ticks were collected by flagging in a forest near České Budějovice in the Czech Republic and kept in 95% humidity chambers under a 12 h light/dark cycle at laboratory temperature. Tick nymphs were obtained from the tick rearing facility of the IP BC CAS. C3H/HeN mice were purchased from Velaz s.r.o. (Prague, Czech Republic). Mice were housed in individually ventilated cages under a 12 h light/dark cycle and used at 6–12 weeks. Laboratory rabbits were purchased from Velaz and housed individually in cages in the animal facility of the Institute of Parasitology. Guinea pigs were bred and housed in cages in the animal facility of the Institute of Parasitology. All mammals were fed a standard pellet diet and given water ad libitum.

4.2. Gene Expression Profiling

I. ricinus nymphs were fed on C3H/HeN mice for 1 day, 2 days, and until full engorgement (3–4 days); *I. ricinus* females were fed on guinea pigs for 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, and 8 days. Adult salivary glands, midguts, and ovaries, as well as whole nymph bodies, were dissected under RNase-free conditions, and total RNA was isolated using TRI Reagent solution (MRC, Cincinnati, OH, USA). cDNA was prepared using 1 µg of total RNA from pools of ticks fed on three different guinea pigs using the Transcriptor First Strand cDNA Synthesis kit (Roche, Basel, Switzerland) according to the manufacturer 's instructions. The cDNA was subsequently used for the analysis of *Iripin-8* expression by qPCR in a Rotor-Gene 6000 cycler (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) using FastStart Universal SYBR[®] Green Master Mix (Roche). *Iripin-8* expression profiles were calculated using the Livak and Schmittgen mathematical model [75] and normalized to *I. ricinus* elongation factor 1 α (ef1; GenBank No. GU074829.1) [76,77]. Primer sequences are shown in Supplementary Table S1.

4.3. RNA Silencing and Borrelia Transmission

Borrelia afzelii-infected *I. ricinus* nymphs were prepared as described previously [78,79]. A fragment of the *Iripin-8* gene was amplified from *I. ricinus* cDNA using primers containing restriction sites for ApaI and XbaI (Supplementary Table S1; Iripin-8 RNAi) and cloned into the pll10 vector with two T7 promoters in reverse orientations [80]. Double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) of *Iripin-8* and dsRNA of green fluorescent protein (*gfp*) used for control were synthesized using the MEGAscript T7 transcription kit (Ambion, Austin, TX, USA), as described previously [81]. The dsRNA (32 nl; 3 μ g/ μ L) was injected into the hemocoel of sterile or infected nymphs using a Nanoject II instrument (Drummond Scientific, Broomall, PA). After 3 days of rest in a humid chamber at laboratory temperature, ticks were fed on C3H/HeN mice (15–20 nymphs per mouse) until full engorgement. Two weeks later, mice were sacrificed, and the numbers of *Borrelia* spirochetes in the earlobe, urinary bladder, heart tissue, and ankle joint were estimated by qPCR [82] and normalized to the number of mouse genomes [83] (primer and probe sequences in Supplementary Table S1). The level of gene knockdown was checked by qPCR in an independent experiment.

4.4. Cloning, Expression, and Purification of Iripin-8

The full cDNA sequence of the gene encoding Iripin-8 was amplified with the primers presented in Supplementary Table S1 using cDNA prepared from the salivary glands of female *I. ricinus* ticks fed for 3 and 6 days on rabbits as a template. The Iripin-8 gene without a signal peptide was cloned into a linearized Champion[™] pET SUMO expression vector (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA) using NEBuilder[®] HiFi DNA Assembly Master Mix (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA) and transformed into *Escherichia coli* strain Rosetta 2(DE3)pLysS (Novagen, Merck Life Science, Darmstadt, Germany) for expression. Bacterial cultures were fermented in autoinduction TB medium supplemented with 50 mg/L kanamycin at 25 °C for 24 h.

SUMO-tagged Iripin-8 was purified from clarified cell lysate using a HisTrap FF column (GE Healthcare, Chicago, IL, USA) and eluted with 200 mM imidazole. After the first purification, His and SUMO tags were cleaved using a SUMO protease (1:100 w/w) overnight at laboratory temperature. Samples were then reapplied to the HisTrap column to separate tags from the native serpin. This step was followed by ion exchange chromatography using a HiTrap Q HP column (GE Healthcare) and by size exclusion chromatography using a HiLoad 16/60 Superdex 75 column (GE Healthcare) to ensure sufficient protein purity.

4.5. SDS-PAGE of Complex Formation

Iripin-8 and proteases were incubated at 1 μ M final concentrations in a buffer corresponding to each protease (please see below) for 1 h at laboratory temperature. For the assay with fVIIa, we added 1 μ M tissue factor (TF). Covalent complex formation was then analyzed in a reducing SDS-PAGE using 4–12% and 12% NuPAGE gels, followed by silver staining.

4.6. Determination of Inhibition Constants

Second-order rate constants of protease inhibition were measured by a discontinuous method under pseudo first-order conditions, using at least a 20-fold molar excess of serpin

over protease. Reactions were incubated at laboratory temperature and were stopped at each time point by the addition of the chromogenic/fluorogenic substrate appropriate for the protease used. The slope of the linear part of absorbance/fluorescence increase over time gave the residual protease activity at each time point. The apparent (observed) first-order rate constant k_{obs} was calculated from the slope of a plot of the natural log of residual protease activity over time. k_{obs} was measured for 5–6 different serpin concentrations, each of them consisting of 8 different time points and plotted against serpin concentration. The slope of this linear plot gave the second-order rate constant k_2 . For each determination, the standard error of the mean is given.

The assay buffer was 20 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM CaCl₂, 0.2% BSA, 0.1% PEG 8000, pH 7.4 for thrombin, fXa, and fXIa; 20 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM CaCl₂, 0.1% PEG 6000, 0.01% Triton X-100, pH 7.5 for activated protein C (APC), fVIIa, fIXa, fXIIa, plasmin, and chymotrypsin; 20 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, 0.02% Triton X-100, pH 8.5 for kallikrein and trypsin.

Substrates were: 400 μ M S-2238 (Diapharma, Chester, OH, USA) for thrombin; 400 μ M S-2222 for fXa (Diapharma); 400 μ M S-2366 (Diapharma) for fXIa; 250 μ M Boc-QAR-AMC for fVIIa; 250 μ M D-CHA-GR-AMC for fXIIa; 250 μ M Boc-VPR-AMC for kallikrein, trypsin, and APC; 250 μ M D-VLK-AMC for plasmin; and 250 μ M Boc-G(OBzl)GR-AMC for fIXa.

Final concentrations and origin of human proteases were as follows: 2 nM thrombin (Haematologic Technologies, Essex Junction, VT, USA), 20 nM fVIIa (Haematologic Technologies), 20 nM TF (BioLegend), 200 nM fIXa (Haematologic Technologies), 5 nM fXa (Haematologic Technologies), 2 nM fXIa (Haematologic Technologies), 10 nM fXIIa (Molecular Innovations, Novi, MI), 8 nM plasma kallikrein (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA), 1.25 nM plasmin (Haematologic Technologies), 15 nM APC (Haematologic Technologies), 20 pM trypsin (RnD); 10 nM chymotrypsin (Merck).

4.7. Anti-Iripin-8 Serum Production and Western Blotting

Serum with antibodies against Iripin-8 was produced by immunization of a rabbit with pure recombinant protein as described previously [84]. Tick saliva was collected from ticks fed for 6 days on guinea pigs by pilocarpine induction as described previously [85]. Tick saliva was separated by reducing electrophoresis using NuPAGETM 4–12% Bis-Tris gels. Proteins were either visualized using Coomassie staining or transferred onto PVDF membranes (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Subsequently, membranes were blocked in 5% skimmed milk in Tris-buffered saline (TBS) with 0.1% Tween 20 (TBS T) for 1 h at laboratory temperature. Membranes were then incubated with rabbit anti-Iripin-8 serum diluted in 5% skimmed milk in TBS-T (1:100) overnight at 4 °C. After washing in TBS-T, the membranes were incubated with secondary antibody (goat anti-rabbit) conjugated with horseradish peroxidase (Cell Signaling Technology; Danvers, MA, USA; 1:2000). Proteins were visualized using the enhanced chemiluminescent substrate WesternBrightTM Quantum (Advansta, San Jose, CA, USA) and detected using a CCD imaging system (Uvitec, Cambridge, UK).

4.8. Coagulation Assays

All assays were performed at 37 °C using preheated reagents (Technoclone, Vienna, Austria). Normal human plasma (Coagulation Control N) was preincubated with Iripin-8 for 10 min prior to coagulation initiation. All assays were analyzed using the Ceveron four coagulometer (Technoclone).

For prothrombin time (PT) estimation, 100 μ L plasma was preincubated with 6 μ M Iripin-8, followed by the addition of 200 μ L Technoplastin[®] HIS solution and estimation of fibrin clot formation time. For activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT), 100 μ L plasma was preincubated with various concentrations of Iripin-8 (94 nM–6 μ M), followed by the addition of 100 μ L of Dapttin[®] TC and incubation for 2 min. Coagulation was triggered by the addition of 100 μ L 25 mM CaCl₂ solution. For thrombin time (TT), 200 μ L of thrombin reagent was incubated with various concentrations of Iripin-8 for 10 min and subsequently added to 200 μ L of plasma to initiate clot formation.

4.9. Crystal Structure Determination

Iripin-8 was concentrated to 6.5 mg/mL and dialyzed into 20 mM Tris pH 7.4, 20 mM NaCl. Crystals were obtained from the PGA screen [86] (Molecular Dimensions, Maumee, OH) in 0.1 M Tris pH 7.8, 5% PGA-LM, 30% *v/v* PEG 550 MME. Crystals were flash-frozen in liquid nitrogen straight from the well condition without additional cryoprotection. Data were collected at the Diamond Light Source (Didcot) on a beamline I04-1 and processed using the CCP4 suite [87] as follows: integration by Mosflm [88] and scaling and merging with Aimless [89]. The structure was solved by molecular replacement with Phaser [90]. The template for molecular replacement was generated from the structure of conserpin (PDB ID 5CDX [91]), which was truncated to remove flexible regions and mutated using Chainsaw [92] based on a sequence alignment to Iripin-8 using Expresso [93]. The structure was refined with Refmac [94]. Model quality was assessed by MolProbity [95,96], and figures were generated using PyMOL [97].

4.10. Complement Assay

Fresh rabbit erythrocytes were collected in Alsever's solution from the rabbit marginal ear artery, washed three times in excess PBS buffer, and finally diluted to a 2% suspension (v/v). Fresh human serum was obtained from three healthy individuals. The assay was performed in a 96-well round-bottomed microtiter plate (Nunc, Thermo Fisher Scientific). Each well contained 100 µL 50% human serum in PBS premixed with different concentrations of Iripin-8 (315 nM–10 µM). After 10 min incubation at laboratory temperature, 100 µL of erythrocyte suspension was added (i.e., 25% final serum concentration after the addition of erythrocyte suspension to a final 1%). Reaction wells were observed individually under a stereomicroscope using oblique illumination and an aluminum pad, and the time needed for erythrocyte lysis was measured. When full lysis was achieved, the reaction mixture turned from opaque to transparent. Negative controls did not contain either Iripin-8 or human serum. Additional controls were performed with heat-inactivated serum (56 °C, 30 min). The assay was evaluated in technical and biological triplicates.

4.11. Immunological Assays

Both the CD4⁺ T cell proliferation assay and neutrophil migration assay were performed following the protocols described by Kotál et al. [45]. Briefly, for the CD4⁺ T cell proliferation assay, splenocytes were isolated from OT-II mice, fluorescently labeled, pre-incubated with serpin for 2 h, and their proliferation stimulated by the addition of OVA peptide. After 72 h, cells were labelled with anti-CD4 antibody and analyzed by flow cytometry. For the migration assay, neutrophils were isolated from mouse bone marrow by immunomagnetic separation and preincubated with serpin for 1 h. Cells were then seeded in the inserts of 5 µm pore Corning[®] Transwell[®] chambers (Corning, Corning, NY, USA) and were allowed to migrate towards an fMLP (Sigma-Aldrich) gradient for 1 h. The migration rate was determined by cell counting using the Neubauer chamber.

4.12. Statistical Analysis

All experiments were performed as three biological replicates. Data are presented as mean \pm standard error of mean (SEM) in all graphs. Student's *t*-test or one-way ANOVA was used to calculate statistical differences between two or more groups, respectively. For RT-PCR, data for nymphs, salivary glands, midgut, and ovaries were analyzed separately using one-way ANOVA, followed by Dunnett's post hoc test. Statistically significant results are marked: * $p \le 0.05$; ** $p \le 0.01$; *** $p \le 0.001$; n.s., not significant.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at https://www.mdpi.com/article/ 10.3390/ijms22179480/s1: Supplementary Table S1: List of primers; Supplementary Table S2: Data processing, refinement, and model; phylogenetic analysis of Iripin-8 group between tick species; Supplementary Figure S1: Alignment and phylogenetic analysis of Iripin-8; Supplementary Figure S2: Analysis of Iripin-8 purity by SDS-PAGE; circular dichroism (CD) spectroscopy; Supplementary Figure S3: CD spectrogram of Iripin-8; Supplementary Figure S4: Effect of Iripin-8 on T cell proliferation and neutrophil migration; Supplementary Figure S5: A ribbon diagram of two Iripin-8 symmetry-related molecules; Supplementary Figure S6: Ribbon diagram of Iripin-8 with highlighted molecules of PEG; Supplementary methods: Evolutionary analysis by the maximum likelihood method.

Author Contributions: J.K. designed and performed experiments, performed the analyses, and wrote the manuscript; H.L., M.E., L.A.M., Z.B., A.C., and O.H. designed and performed experiments; S.G.I.P. and J.A.H. solved, refined, and analyzed the structure; J.C. designed experiments, performed analyses, and edited the manuscript; M.K. revised the manuscript. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This work was supported by the Grant Agency of the Czech Republic (grant 19-14704Y to J.C.) and by ERD Funds and and Ministry of Education, Youth, and Sport, Czech Republic (MEYS), project "Centre for Research of Pathogenicity and Virulence of Parasites" (No. 384 CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/ 16_019/0000759 to M.K. and O.H.).

Institutional Review Board Statement: All animal experiments were carried out in accordance with the Animal Protection Law of the Czech Republic No. 246/1992 Coll., ethics approval no. MSMT-19085/2015-3, and protocols approved by the responsible committee of the Institute of Parasitology, Biology Center of the Czech Academy of Sciences.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: All data are either contained within the manuscript and supporting information or available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Acknowledgments: We thank Jan Erhart and Miroslava Čenková from the tick rearing facility of the Institute of Parasitology, Biology Center, for providing the ticks and assisting during the experiments.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest. The funders had no role in the design of the study; in the collection, analyses, or interpretation of data; in the writing of the manuscript; or in the decision to publish the results.

References

- 1. Lindgren, E.; Talleklint, L.; Polfeldt, T. Impact of climatic change on the northern latitude limit and population density of the disease-transmitting European tick Ixodes ricinus. *Environ. Health Perspect.* **2000**, *108*, 119–123. [CrossRef]
- 2. Sonenshine, D.E. *Biology of Ticks*, 2nd ed.; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2014.
- 3. Chmelar, J.; Calvo, E.; Pedra, J.H.; Francischetti, I.M.; Kotsyfakis, M. Tick salivary secretion as a source of antihemostatics. *J Proteom.* **2012**, *75*, 3842–3854. [CrossRef]
- 4. Kotal, J.; Langhansova, H.; Lieskovska, J.; Andersen, J.F.; Francischetti, I.M.; Chavakis, T.; Kopecky, J.; Pedra, J.H.; Kotsyfakis, M.; Chmelar, J. Modulation of host immunity by tick saliva. *J. Proteom.* **2015**, *128*, 58–68. [CrossRef]
- 5. Kazimirova, M.; Stibraniova, I. Tick salivary compounds: Their role in modulation of host defences and pathogen transmission. *Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol.* **2013**, *3*, 43. [CrossRef]
- 6. Simo, L.; Kazimirova, M.; Richardson, J.; Bonnet, S.I. The Essential Role of Tick Salivary Glands and Saliva in Tick Feeding and Pathogen Transmission. *Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol.* **2017**, *7*, 281. [CrossRef]
- Stibraniova, I.; Bartikova, P.; Holikova, V.; Kazimirova, M. Deciphering Biological Processes at the Tick-Host Interface Opens New Strategies for Treatment of Human Diseases. *Front. Physiol.* 2019, 10, 830. [CrossRef]
- Krober, T.; Guerin, P.M. An in vitro feeding assay to test acaricides for control of hard ticks. *Pest Manag. Sci.* 2007, 63, 17–22. [CrossRef]
- Bajda, S.; Dermauw, W.; Panteleri, R.; Sugimoto, N.; Douris, V.; Tirry, L.; Osakabe, M.; Vontas, J.; Van Leeuwen, T. A mutation in the PSST homologue of complex I (NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase) from Tetranychus urticae is associated with resistance to METI acaricides. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 2017, 80, 79–90. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 10. Amara, U.; Rittirsch, D.; Flierl, M.; Bruckner, U.; Klos, A.; Gebhard, F.; Lambris, J.D.; Huber-Lang, M. Interaction between the coagulation and complement system. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* **2008**, *632*, 71–79. [PubMed]
- 11. Manning, J.E.; Cantaert, T. Time to Micromanage the Pathogen-Host-Vector Interface: Considerations for Vaccine Development. *Vaccines* **2019**, *7*, 10. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 12. Pingen, M.; Schmid, M.A.; Harris, E.; McKimmie, C.S. Mosquito Biting Modulates Skin Response to Virus Infection. *Trends Parasitol.* **2017**, *33*, 645–657. [CrossRef]
- 13. Chmelar, J.; Kotal, J.; Langhansova, H.; Kotsyfakis, M. Protease Inhibitors in Tick Saliva: The Role of Serpins and Cystatins in Tick-host-Pathogen Interaction. *Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol.* **2017**, *7*, 216. [CrossRef]
- 14. Wikel, S. Ticks and tick-borne pathogens at the cutaneous interface: Host defenses, tick countermeasures, and a suitable environment for pathogen establishment. *Front. Microbiol.* **2013**, *4*, 337. [CrossRef]

- 15. Schroeder, H.; Skelly, P.J.; Zipfel, P.F.; Losson, B.; Vanderplasschen, A. Subversion of complement by hematophagous parasites. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.* **2009**, *33*, 5–13. [CrossRef]
- 16. Nunn, M.A.; Sharma, A.; Paesen, G.C.; Adamson, S.; Lissina, O.; Willis, A.C.; Nuttall, P.A. Complement inhibitor of C5 activation from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata. *J. Immunol.* **2005**, *174*, 2084–2091. [CrossRef]
- 17. Huntington, J.A. Serpin structure, function and dysfunction. J. Thromb. Haemost. JTH 2011, 9 (Suppl. 1), 26–34. [CrossRef]
- 18. Law, R.H.; Zhang, Q.; McGowan, S.; Buckle, A.M.; Silverman, G.A.; Wong, W.; Rosado, C.J.; Langendorf, C.G.; Pike, R.N.; Bird, P.I.; et al. An overview of the serpin superfamily. *Genome Biol.* **2006**, *7*, 216. [CrossRef]
- Silverman, G.A.; Whisstock, J.C.; Bottomley, S.P.; Huntington, J.A.; Kaiserman, D.; Luke, C.J.; Pak, S.C.; Reichhart, J.M.; Bird, P.I. Serpins flex their muscle: I. Putting the clamps on proteolysis in diverse biological systems. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2010, 285, 24299–24305. [CrossRef]
- Whisstock, J.C.; Silverman, G.A.; Bird, P.I.; Bottomley, S.P.; Kaiserman, D.; Luke, C.J.; Pak, S.C.; Reichhart, J.M.; Huntington, J.A. Serpins flex their muscle: II. Structural insights into target peptidase recognition, polymerization, and transport functions. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2010, 285, 24307–24312. [CrossRef]
- 21. Rawlings, N.D.; Barrett, A.J.; Thomas, P.D.; Huang, X.; Bateman, A.; Finn, R.D. The MEROPS database of proteolytic enzymes, their substrates and inhibitors in 2017 and a comparison with peptidases in the PANTHER database. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2018**, *46*, D624–D632. [CrossRef]
- 22. Whisstock, J.C.; Bottomley, S.P. Molecular gymnastics: Serpin structure, folding and misfolding. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* 2006, 16, 761–768. [CrossRef]
- 23. Meekins, D.A.; Kanost, M.R.; Michel, K. Serpins in arthropod biology. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 2017, 62, 105–119. [CrossRef]
- 24. Porter, L.; Radulovic, Z.; Kim, T.; Braz, G.R.; Da Silva Vaz, I., Jr.; Mulenga, A. Bioinformatic analyses of male and female Amblyomma americanum tick expressed serine protease inhibitors (serpins). *Ticks Tick-Borne Dis.* **2015**, *6*, 16–30. [CrossRef]
- 25. Karim, S.; Ribeiro, J.M. An Insight into the Sialome of the Lone Star Tick, Amblyomma americanum, with a Glimpse on Its Time Dependent Gene Expression. *PLoS ONE* 2015, *10*, e0131292. [CrossRef]
- Gaj, T.; Gersbach, C.A.; Barbas, C.F., 3rd. ZFN, TALEN, and CRISPR/Cas-based methods for genome engineering. *Trends Biotechnol.* 2013, 31, 397–405. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 27. Tirloni, L.; Kim, T.K.; Pinto, A.F.M.; Yates, J.R., 3rd; da Silva Vaz, I., Jr.; Mulenga, A. Tick-Host Range Adaptation: Changes in Protein Profiles in Unfed Adult Ixodes scapularis and Amblyomma americanum Saliva Stimulated to Feed on Different Hosts. *Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol.* **2017**, *7*, 517. [CrossRef]
- 28. Leboulle, G.; Crippa, M.; Decrem, Y.; Mejri, N.; Brossard, M.; Bollen, A.; Godfroid, E. Characterization of a novel salivary immunosuppressive protein from Ixodes ricinus ticks. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2002**, *277*, 10083–10089. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Prevot, P.P.; Adam, B.; Boudjeltia, K.Z.; Brossard, M.; Lins, L.; Cauchie, P.; Brasseur, R.; Vanhaeverbeek, M.; Vanhamme, L.; Godfroid, E. Anti-hemostatic effects of a serpin from the saliva of the tick Ixodes ricinus. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2006, 281, 26361–26369. [CrossRef]
- Chmelar, J.; Oliveira, C.J.; Rezacova, P.; Francischetti, I.M.; Kovarova, Z.; Pejler, G.; Kopacek, P.; Ribeiro, J.M.; Mares, M.; Kopecky, J.; et al. A tick salivary protein targets cathepsin G and chymase and inhibits host inflammation and platelet aggregation. *Blood* 2011, 117, 736–744. [CrossRef]
- Palenikova, J.; Lieskovska, J.; Langhansova, H.; Kotsyfakis, M.; Chmelar, J.; Kopecky, J. Ixodes ricinus salivary serpin IRS-2 affects Th17 differentiation via inhibition of the interleukin-6/STAT-3 signaling pathway. *Infect. Immun.* 2015, 83, 1949–1956. [CrossRef]
- 32. Chlastakova, A.; Kotal, J.; Berankova, Z.; Kascakova, B.; Martins, L.A.; Langhansova, H.; Prudnikova, T.; Ederova, M.; Kuta Smatanova, I.; Kotsyfakis, M.; et al. Iripin-3, a New Salivary Protein Isolated From Ixodes ricinus Ticks, Displays Immunomodulatory and Anti-Hemostatic Properties In Vitro. *Front. Immunol.* **2021**, *12*, 626200. [CrossRef]
- 33. Kim, T.K.; Tirloni, L.; Radulovic, Z.; Lewis, L.; Bakshi, M.; Hill, C.; da Silva Vaz, I., Jr.; Logullo, C.; Termignoni, C.; Mulenga, A. Conserved Amblyomma americanum tick Serpin19, an inhibitor of blood clotting factors Xa and XIa, trypsin and plasmin, has anti-haemostatic functions. *Int. J. Parasitol.* **2015**, *45*, 613–627. [CrossRef]
- 34. Xu, Z.; Yan, Y.; Zhang, H.; Cao, J.; Zhou, Y.; Xu, Q.; Zhou, J. A serpin from the tick Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides: Involvement in vitellogenesis. *Vet. Parasitol.* **2020**, *279*, 109064. [CrossRef]
- 35. Xu, T.; Lew-Tabor, A.; Rodriguez-Valle, M. Effective inhibition of thrombin by Rhipicephalus microplus serpin-15 (RmS-15) obtained in the yeast Pichia pastoris. *Ticks Tick-Borne Dis.* **2016**, *7*, 180–187. [CrossRef]
- 36. Kovarova, Z.; Chmelar, J.; Sanda, M.; Brynda, J.; Mares, M.; Rezacova, P. Crystallization and diffraction analysis of the serpin IRS-2 from the hard tick Ixodes ricinus. *Acta Crystallogr. Sect. F Struct. Biol. Cryst. Commun.* **2010**, *66 Pt 11*, 1453–1457. [CrossRef]
- Ellisdon, A.M.; Zhang, Q.; Henstridge, M.A.; Johnson, T.K.; Warr, C.G.; Law, R.H.; Whisstock, J.C. High resolution structure of cleaved Serpin 42 Da from Drosophila melanogaster. *BMC Struct. Biol.* 2014, 14, 14. [CrossRef]
- 38. Schreuder, H.A.; de Boer, B.; Dijkema, R.; Mulders, J.; Theunissen, H.J.; Grootenhuis, P.D.; Hol, W.G. The intact and cleaved human antithrombin III complex as a model for serpin-proteinase interactions. *Nat. Struct. Biol.* **1994**, *1*, 48–54. [CrossRef]
- 39. Akazawa, T.; Ogawa, M.; Hayakawa, S.; Hirata, M.; Niwa, T. Structural change of ovalbumin-related protein X by alkali treatment. *Poult. Sci.* **2018**, *97*, 1730–1737. [CrossRef]
- 40. Yang, L.; Irving, J.A.; Dai, W.; Aguilar, M.I.; Bottomley, S.P. Probing the folding pathway of a consensus serpin using single tryptophan mutants. *Sci. Rep.* **2018**, *8*, 2121. [CrossRef]

- 41. Pereira, M.H.; Souza, M.E.; Vargas, A.P.; Martins, M.S.; Penido, C.M.; Diotaiuti, L. Anticoagulant activity of Triatoma infestans and Panstrongylus megistus saliva (Hemiptera/Triatominae). *Acta Trop.* **1996**, *61*, 255–261. [CrossRef]
- 42. Lestinova, T.; Rohousova, I.; Sima, M.; de Oliveira, C.I.; Volf, P. Insights into the sand fly saliva: Blood-feeding and immune interactions between sand flies, hosts, and Leishmania. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **2017**, *11*, e0005600. [CrossRef]
- 43. Hoffman, M. Remodeling the blood coagulation cascade. J. Thromb. Thrombolysis 2003, 16, 17–20. [CrossRef]
- 44. Kascakova, B.; Kotal, J.; Martins, L.A.; Berankova, Z.; Langhansova, H.; Calvo, E.; Crossley, J.A.; Havlickova, P.; Dycka, F.; Prudnikova, T.; et al. Structural and biochemical characterization of the novel serpin Iripin-5 from Ixodes ricinus. *Acta Crystallogr. Sect. D* **2021**, 77. [CrossRef]
- Kotal, J.; Stergiou, N.; Busa, M.; Chlastakova, A.; Berankova, Z.; Rezacova, P.; Langhansova, H.; Schwarz, A.; Calvo, E.; Kopecky, J.; et al. The structure and function of Iristatin, a novel immunosuppressive tick salivary cystatin. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci. CMLS* 2019, 76, 2003–2013. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 46. Ricklin, D.; Hajishengallis, G.; Yang, K.; Lambris, J.D. Complement: A key system for immune surveillance and homeostasis. *Nat. Immunol.* **2010**, *11*, 785–797. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 47. Oliveira, F.; de Carvalho, A.M.; de Oliveira, C.I. Sand-fly saliva-leishmania-man: The trigger trio. *Front. Immunol.* **2013**, *4*, 375. [CrossRef]
- 48. Awuoche, E.O. Tsetse fly saliva: Could it be useful in fly infection when feeding in chronically aparasitemic mammalian hosts. *Open Vet. J.* **2012**, *2*, 95–105.
- Caljon, G.; Van Den Abbeele, J.; Sternberg, J.M.; Coosemans, M.; De Baetselier, P.; Magez, S. Tsetse fly saliva biases the immune response to Th2 and induces anti-vector antibodies that are a useful tool for exposure assessment. *Int. J. Parasitol.* 2006, 36, 1025–1035. [CrossRef]
- 50. Kashuba, E.; Bailey, J.; Allsup, D.; Cawkwell, L. The kinin-kallikrein system: Physiological roles, pathophysiology and its relationship to cancer biomarkers. *Biomark. Biochem. Indic. Expo. Response Susceptibility Chem.* **2013**, *18*, 279–296. [CrossRef]
- 51. Caljon, G.; De Ridder, K.; De Baetselier, P.; Coosemans, M.; Van Den Abbeele, J. Identification of a tsetse fly salivary protein with dual inhibitory action on human platelet aggregation. *PLoS ONE* **2010**, *5*, e9671. [CrossRef]
- 52. Mans, B.J. Chemical Equilibrium at the Tick-Host Feeding Interface: A Critical Examination of Biological Relevance in Hematophagous Behavior. *Front. Physiol.* **2019**, *10*, 530. [CrossRef]
- 53. Calvo, E.; Dao, A.; Pham, V.M.; Ribeiro, J.M. An insight into the sialome of Anopheles funestus reveals an emerging pattern in anopheline salivary protein families. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 2007, 37, 164–175. [CrossRef]
- 54. Draxler, D.F.; Sashindranath, M.; Medcalf, R.L. Plasmin: A Modulator of Immune Function. *Semin. Thromb. Hemost.* **2017**, *43*, 143–153. [CrossRef]
- Cong, L.; Ran, F.A.; Cox, D.; Lin, S.; Barretto, R.; Habib, N.; Hsu, P.D.; Wu, X.; Jiang, W.; Marraffini, L.A.; et al. Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. *Science* 2013, 339, 819–823. [CrossRef]
- 56. Lawrie, C.H.; Sim, R.B.; Nuttall, P.A. Investigation of the mechanisms of anti-complement activity in Ixodes ricinus ticks. *Mol. Immunol.* 2005, 42, 31–38. [CrossRef]
- 57. Miller, J.C.; Tan, S.; Qiao, G.; Barlow, K.A.; Wang, J.; Xia, D.F.; Meng, X.; Paschon, D.E.; Leung, E.; Hinkley, S.J.; et al. A TALE nuclease architecture for efficient genome editing. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2011**, *29*, 143–148. [CrossRef]
- Valenzuela, J.G.; Charlab, R.; Mather, T.N.; Ribeiro, J.M. Purification, cloning, and expression of a novel salivary anticomplement protein from the tick, Ixodes scapularis. J. Biol. Chem. 2000, 275, 18717–18723. [CrossRef]
- 59. Tyson, K.; Elkins, C.; Patterson, H.; Fikrig, E.; de Silva, A. Biochemical and functional characterization of Salp20, an Ixodes scapularis tick salivary protein that inhibits the complement pathway. *Insect Mol. Biol.* **2007**, *16*, 469–479. [CrossRef]
- 60. Tyson, K.R.; Elkins, C.; de Silva, A.M. A novel mechanism of complement inhibition unmasked by a tick salivary protein that binds to properdin. *J. Immunol.* **2008**, *180*, 3964–3968. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Daix, V.; Schroeder, H.; Praet, N.; Georgin, J.P.; Chiappino, I.; Gillet, L.; de Fays, K.; Decrem, Y.; Leboulle, G.; Godfroid, E.; et al. Ixodes ticks belonging to the Ixodes ricinus complex encode a family of anticomplement proteins. *Insect Mol. Biol.* 2007, 16, 155–166. [CrossRef]
- 62. Schuijt, T.J.; Coumou, J.; Narasimhan, S.; Dai, J.; Deponte, K.; Wouters, D.; Brouwer, M.; Oei, A.; Roelofs, J.J.; van Dam, A.P.; et al. A tick mannose-binding lectin inhibitor interferes with the vertebrate complement cascade to enhance transmission of the lyme disease agent. *Cell Host Microbe* **2011**, *10*, 136–146. [CrossRef]
- 63. Chmelar, J.; Kotal, J.; Kopecky, J.; Pedra, J.H.; Kotsyfakis, M. All For One and One For All on the Tick-Host Battlefield. *Trends Parasitol.* **2016**, *32*, 368–377. [CrossRef]
- 64. Sojka, D.; Franta, Z.; Horn, M.; Caffrey, C.R.; Mares, M.; Kopacek, P. New insights into the machinery of blood digestion by ticks. *Trends Parasitol.* **2013**, *29*, 276–285. [CrossRef]
- 65. Franta, Z.; Frantova, H.; Konvickova, J.; Horn, M.; Sojka, D.; Mares, M.; Kopacek, P. Dynamics of digestive proteolytic system during blood feeding of the hard tick Ixodes ricinus. *Parasites Vectors* **2010**, *3*, 119. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 66. Lara, F.A.; Lins, U.; Bechara, G.H.; Oliveira, P.L. Tracing heme in a living cell: Hemoglobin degradation and heme traffic in digest cells of the cattle tick Boophilus microplus. *J. Exp. Biol.* **2005**, *208 Pt 16*, 3093–3101. [CrossRef]
- 67. Blisnick, A.A.; Foulon, T.; Bonnet, S.I. Serine Protease Inhibitors in Ticks: An Overview of Their Role in Tick Biology and Tick-Borne Pathogen Transmission. *Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol.* **2017**, *7*, 199. [CrossRef]

- 68. Mulenga, A.; Tsuda, A.; Onuma, M.; Sugimoto, C. Four serine proteinase inhibitors (serpin) from the brown ear tick, Rhiphicephalus appendiculatus; cDNA cloning and preliminary characterization. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 2003, 33, 267–276. [CrossRef]
- Imamura, S.; da Silva Vaz Junior, I.; Sugino, M.; Ohashi, K.; Onuma, M. A serine protease inhibitor (serpin) from Haemaphysalis longicornis as an anti-tick vaccine. *Vaccine* 2005, *23*, 1301–1311. [CrossRef]
- Rodriguez-Valle, M.; Vance, M.; Moolhuijzen, P.M.; Tao, X.; Lew-Tabor, A.E. Differential recognition by tick-resistant cattle of the recombinantly expressed Rhipicephalus microplus serine protease inhibitor-3 (RMS-3). *Ticks Tick-Borne Dis.* 2012, *3*, 159–169. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 71. Rodriguez-Valle, M.; Xu, T.; Kurscheid, S.; Lew-Tabor, A.E. Rhipicephalus microplus serine protease inhibitor family: Annotation, expression and functional characterisation assessment. *Parasites Vectors* **2015**, *8*, 7. [CrossRef]
- 72. Schussler, G.C. The thyroxine-binding proteins. *Thyroid* 2000, 10, 141–149. [CrossRef]
- Lin, H.Y.; Muller, Y.A.; Hammond, G.L. Molecular and structural basis of steroid hormone binding and release from corticosteroidbinding globulin. *Mol. Cell Endocrinol.* 2010, 316, 3–12. [CrossRef]
- Kim, T.K.; Radulovic, Z.; Mulenga, A. Target validation of highly conserved Amblyomma americanum tick saliva serine protease inhibitor 19. *Ticks Tick-Borne Dis.* 2016, 7, 405–414. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 75. Mans, B.J. Tick histamine-binding proteins and related lipocalins: Potential as therapeutic agents. *Curr. Opin. Investig. Drugs* **2005**, *6*, 1131–1135.
- Mans, B.J.; Louw, A.I.; Neitz, A.W. Evolution of hematophagy in ticks: Common origins for blood coagulation and platelet aggregation inhibitors from soft ticks of the genus Ornithodoros. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 2002, 19, 1695–1705. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 77. Maraganore, J.M.; Chao, B.; Joseph, M.L.; Jablonski, J.; Ramachandran, K.L. Anticoagulant activity of synthetic hirudin peptides. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1989**, 264, 8692–8698. [CrossRef]
- Stepanova-Tresova, G.; Kopecky, J.; Kuthejlova, M. Identification of Borrelia burgdorferi sensu stricto, Borrelia garinii and Borrelia afzelii in Ixodes ricinus ticks from southern Bohemia using monoclonal antibodies. *Zent. Bakteriol. Int. J. Med. Microbiol.* 2000, 289, 797–806.
- 79. Pospisilova, T.; Urbanova, V.; Hes, O.; Kopacek, P.; Hajdusek, O.; Sima, R. Tracking of Borrelia afzelii transmission from infected Ixodes ricinus nymphs to mice. *Infect. Immun.* **2019**, *87*, e00896-18. [CrossRef]
- 80. Fong, S.W.; Kini, R.M.; Ng, L.F.P. Mosquito Saliva Reshapes Alphavirus Infection and Immunopathogenesis. J. Virol. 2018, 92, e01004-17. [CrossRef]
- 81. Stibraniova, I.; Lahova, M.; Bartikova, P. Immunomodulators in tick saliva and their benefits. *Acta Virol.* **2013**, *57*, 200–216. [CrossRef]
- 82. Guerrero, D.; Cantaert, T.; Misse, D. Aedes Mosquito Salivary Components and Their Effect on the Immune Response to Arboviruses. *Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol.* 2020, *10*, 407. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 83. Dai, J.; Wang, P.; Adusumilli, S.; Booth, C.J.; Narasimhan, S.; Anguita, J.; Fikrig, E. Antibodies against a tick protein, Salp15, protect mice from the Lyme disease agent. *Cell Host Microbe* **2009**, *6*, 482–492. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 84. Kopacek, P.; Zdychova, J.; Yoshiga, T.; Weise, C.; Rudenko, N.; Law, J.H. Molecular cloning, expression and isolation of ferritins from two tick species–Ornithodoros moubata and Ixodes ricinus. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **2003**, *33*, 103–113. [CrossRef]
- Kyckova, K.; Kopecky, J. Effect of tick saliva on mechanisms of innate immune response against Borrelia afzelii. J. Med. Entomol. 2006, 43, 1208–1214. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 86. Ribeiro, J.M.; Arca, B.; Lombardo, F.; Calvo, E.; Phan, V.M.; Chandra, P.K.; Wikel, S.K. An annotated catalogue of salivary gland transcripts in the adult female mosquito, Aedes aegypti. *BMC Genom.* **2007**, *8*, 6. [CrossRef]
- Friedrich, T.; Kroger, B.; Bialojan, S.; Lemaire, H.G.; Hoffken, H.W.; Reuschenbach, P.; Otte, M.; Dodt, J. A Kazal-type inhibitor with thrombin specificity from Rhodnius prolixus. *J. Biol. Chem.* 1993, 268, 16216–16222. [CrossRef]
- 88. Lange, U.; Keilholz, W.; Schaub, G.A.; Landmann, H.; Markwardt, F.; Nowak, G. Biochemical characterization of a thrombin inhibitor from the bloodsucking bug Dipetalogaster maximus. *Haemostasis* **1999**, *29*, 204–211. [CrossRef]
- Bussacos, A.C.; Nakayasu, E.S.; Hecht, M.M.; Parente, J.A.; Soares, C.M.; Teixeira, A.R.; Almeida, I.C. Diversity of anti-haemostatic proteins in the salivary glands of Rhodnius species transmitters of Chagas disease in the greater Amazon. *J. Proteom.* 2011, 74, 1664–1672. [CrossRef]
- Cappello, M.; Bergum, P.W.; Vlasuk, G.P.; Furmidge, B.A.; Pritchard, D.I.; Aksoy, S. Isolation and characterization of the tsetse thrombin inhibitor: A potent antithrombotic peptide from the saliva of Glossina morsitans morsitans. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 1996, 54, 475–480. [CrossRef]
- Cappello, M.; Li, S.; Chen, X.; Li, C.B.; Harrison, L.; Narashimhan, S.; Beard, C.B.; Aksoy, S. Tsetse thrombin inhibitor: Bloodmealinduced expression of an anticoagulant in salivary glands and gut tissue of Glossina morsitans morsitans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 1998, 95, 14290–14295. [CrossRef]
- Chagas, A.C.; Oliveira, F.; Debrabant, A.; Valenzuela, J.G.; Ribeiro, J.M.; Calvo, E. Lundep, a sand fly salivary endonuclease increases Leishmania parasite survival in neutrophils and inhibits XIIa contact activation in human plasma. *PLoS Pathog.* 2014, 10, e1003923. [CrossRef]
- Kato, H.; Gomez, E.A.; Fujita, M.; Ishimaru, Y.; Uezato, H.; Mimori, T.; Iwata, H.; Hashiguchi, Y. Ayadualin, a novel RGD peptide with dual antihemostatic activities from the sand fly Lutzomyia ayacuchensis, a vector of Andean-type cutaneous leishmaniasis. *Biochimie* 2015, 112, 49–56. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 94. Maraganore, J.M.; Bourdon, P.; Jablonski, J.; Ramachandran, K.L.; Fenton, J.W. 2nd, Design and characterization of hirulogs: A novel class of bivalent peptide inhibitors of thrombin. *Biochemistry* **1990**, *29*, 7095–7101. [CrossRef]
- 95. USAN Council. List No. 374. New names. Bivalirudin. Desirudin. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 1995, 58, 241. [CrossRef]
- 96. Poulin, R. Evolutionary Ecology of Parasites, 2nd ed.; Princeton University Press: Princeton, NJ, USA, 2007.
- 97. Schrodinger, LLC. The PyMOL Molecular Graphics System; Version 1.8; Schrodinger, LLC: New York, NY, USA, 2015.

Review 1

Modulation of host immunity by tick saliva

Kotál J, Langhansová H, Lieskovská J, Andersen JF, Francischetti IM, Chavakis T, Kopecký J, Pedra JH, Kotsyfakis M, Chmelař J.

J Proteomics. 2015 Oct 14;128:58-68.

doi: 10.1016/j.jprot.2015.07.005

Since 1985, when the first works about tick saliva were published, many studies were carried out that attempted to decipher the role of tick saliva or salivary gland extracts (SGE) in tick-host interaction. These experiments more or less ended with rapid development of molecular techniques, including transcriptomics, which allowed researchers to use reverse genetic approach and search for individual molecules rather than for the effect of crude saliva or even SGE. Because it was obvious that the "era of saliva" was over, we decided to summarize up to date knowledge about saliva related modulation of host innate and adaptive immune system. The review was intended to serve as a reference for functional characterization of the numerous genes and proteins expressed in tick salivary glands with an ultimate goal to develop novel vector and pathogen control strategies.

We overviewed in this review all known interactions of tick saliva with the vertebrate immune system. The provided information is important, given the recent developments in high-throughput transcriptomic and proteomic analysis of gene expression in tick salivary glands. It may serve as a reference or a guide for the functional characterization of the numerous newly-discovered genes expressed in tick salivary glands.

Author's contribution:

Author designed the structure of the review and participated on writing and revising of the manuscript

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Proteomics

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jprot





Review Article Modulation of host immunity by tick saliva



Jan Kotál ^{a,b}, Helena Langhansová ^a, Jaroslava Lieskovská ^a, John F. Andersen ^c, Ivo M.B. Francischetti ^c, Triantafyllos Chavakis ^d, Jan Kopecký ^a, Joao H.F. Pedra ^e, Michail Kotsyfakis ^{b,*,1}, Jindřich Chmelař ^{a,d,1}

^a Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice, Budweis, Czech Republic

^b Laboratory of Genomics and Proteomics of Disease Vectors, Institute of Parasitology, Biology Centre, Czech Academy of Sciences, Budweis, Czech Republic

^c Section of Vector Biology, Laboratory of Malaria and Vector Research, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA

^d Department of Clinical Pathobiochemistry, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany

^e Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 29 May 2015 Received in revised form 30 June 2015 Accepted 12 July 2015 Available online 17 July 2015

Keywords: Adaptive immunity Innate immunity Saliva Salivary glands Tick

ABSTRACT

Next generation sequencing and proteomics have helped to comprehensively characterize gene expression in tick salivary glands at both the transcriptome and the proteome level. Functional data are, however, lacking. Given that tick salivary secretions are critical to the success of the tick transmission lifecycle and, as a consequence, for host colonization by the pathogens they spread, we thoroughly review here the literature on the known interactions between tick saliva (or tick salivary gland extracts) and the innate and adaptive vertebrate immune system. The information is intended to serve as a reference for functional characterization of the numerous genes and proteins expressed in tick salivary glands with an ultimate goal to develop novel vector and pathogen control strategies.

Significance: We overview all the known interactions of tick saliva with the vertebrate immune system. The provided information is important, given the recent developments in high-throughput transcriptomic and proteomic analysis of gene expression in tick salivary glands, since it may serve as a guideline for the functional characterization of the numerous newly-discovered genes expressed in tick salivary glands.

© 2015 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	;9
2.	The role of tick saliva in modulating host hemostasis and complement	50
3.	Innate immunity and tick saliva \ldots	50
4.	Interaction of macrophages and monocytes with tick saliva $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	50
5.	Dendritic cells and tick saliva \ldots	51
6.	Mast cells and tick saliva \ldots	51
7.	Granulocytes and tick saliva	;3
8.	Basophils and tick saliva	;3
9.	Eosinophils and tick saliva \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	;3
10.	Neutrophils and tick saliva \ldots	; 4
11.	T and B lymphocytes and tick saliva \ldots	; 4

E-mail address: mich_kotsyfakis@yahoo.com (M. Kotsyfakis).

¹ Both authors contributed equally to this work.

List of abbreviations: Akt, protein kinase B; BMDMs, bone marrow-derived macrophages; BSA, bovine serum albumin; cAMP, cyclic adenosine monophosphate; CCL, chemokine (C–C motif) ligand; CCR, C–C motif receptor; CD, cluster of differentiation; ConA, concanavalin A; CTL, cytotoxic T lymphocytes; CXCL, chemokine (C–X–C motif) ligand; DC, dendritic cell; ERK, extracellular signal-regulated kinase; IDO, indoleamine 2,3 deoxygenase; IFN, interferon; Ig, immunoglobulin; IL, interleukin; IRAK, interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase; LC, Langerhans cell; LFA-1, leukocyte function-associated antigen-1; LPS, lipoplysaccharide; MC, mast cell; MCP, monocyte chemotactic protein; MIP, macrophage inflammatory protein; NET, neutrophil extracellular trap; NF+KB, nuclear factor kappa light chain-enhancer of activated B cells; NK, natural killer; NO, nitric oxide; PBL, peripheral blood leukocytes; PGE₂, prostaglandin E₂; Pl3k, phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase; PMNs, polymorphonuclear lymphocytes; RANTES, regulated upon activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SGE, salivary gland extract; STAT, signal transducer and activator of transcription; sTNFRI, soluble TNF receptor 1; TGF, transforming growth factor; Th, helper T cell; TLR, toll-like receptor; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; VLA-4, very late activation-4.

^{*} Corresponding author at: Biology Center, Czech Academy of Sciences, Institute of Parasitology, Laboratory of Genomics and Proteomics of Disease Vectors, Branisovska 31, CZ 37005, Budweis, Czech Republic.

12.	Natural killer cells and tick saliva	65
13.	Conclusions	65
Ackn	owledgments	65
Refer	ences	66

1. Introduction

Ticks are obligatory blood-feeding arthropods that belong to the subclass *Acari*, order Ixodida, and three families: *Ixodidae* (hard ticks), *Argasidae* (soft ticks), and Nuttallielidae. Soft ticks feed repeatedly for minutes to hours, while hard ticks usually stay attached to their hosts and feed for several days or even weeks, but only once in each life stage [1,2]. The amount of blood ingested is species and life-stage specific, with females of some tick species increasing their volume up to 200 times by the end of blood feeding [3].

Ticks are important vectors that transmit a wide range of pathogens. The most common tick-borne pathogens are viruses and bacteria, but fungi, protozoa, and helminths can also be transmitted [4]. Clinically and epidemiologically, the most important tick-borne diseases are: tick-borne encephalitis (TBE), caused by the TBE virus; Lyme disease, caused by spirochetes belonging to the Borrelia burgdorferi sensu lato complex in Europe and B. burgdorferi sensu stricto in the USA; tickborne spotted fever, caused by *Rickettsia* spp.; anaplasmosis, caused by Anaplasma spp.; and babesiosis, caused by Babesia spp. protozoa [5,6]. Pathogens have different life cycles, but the transmission usually begins with a tick biting an infected vertebrate host and pathogen uptake by the tick in the blood meal. Pathogens, e.g. Borrelia spp. spirochetes then stay in the midgut and wait until next feeding, which triggers their proliferation and migration through the midgut wall to hemocoel and, ultimately, to the salivary glands. Moreover, spirochetes interact with some midgut and salivary components that induce Borrelia proliferation or increase their infectious potential [7]. When the tick bites its next vertebrate host, pathogens are transmitted via tick saliva. In some tick species the pathogens are transmitted transovarially from the female to laid eggs, thus keeping the level of prevalence in the tick population [8]. Tick saliva has been shown to facilitate pathogen transfer to the vertebrate host by virtue of its pharmacological properties, including modulation of the vertebrate immune system [9–11]. Moreover, tick saliva contains toxins belonging to families also found in venomous animals, such as spiders or snakes, and that can induce paralysis and other toxicoses [12].

To secure uninterrupted blood uptake, ticks suppress and evade the complex physiological host immune and homeostatic responses that are raised against them. Hemostasis, which includes coagulation, vasoconstriction, and platelet aggregation, is the first innate host defense mechanism against the mechanical injury caused by intrusion of tick mouthparts into the host skin. This early vertebrate host response further includes complement activation and inflammation, with the host inflammatory response including, among other factors, rapid leukocyte infiltration after skin injury [13]. Keratinocytes, endothelial cells, and resident leukocytes such as mast cells, dendritic cells, and macrophages make immediate contact with tick saliva or the tick hypostome and are activated. Pro-inflammatory chemokines and cytokines including interleukin-8 (IL-8), tumor necrosis factor (TNF), and IL-1B are released to recruit neutrophils and other inflammatory cells to the area of tick infestation [14]. Following tick feeding, there is activation of both the cellular and humoral branches of vertebrate adaptive immunity [15]. Activated memory T and B cells (in the case of secondary infestation) amplify the host inflammatory response to ticks by releasing specific cytokines and producing antibodies that target tick salivary or mouthpart-derived antigens to activate complement or sensitize mast cells and basophils [9,14,15]. The strength and specificity of the host immune response and its effect on tick physiology depend on the host and tick species, the host's health, and its genotype [16]. The same is true for tick defense mechanisms, since both tick salivary components and host immune mechanisms have been co-evolving. As a result, the tick-host interaction can be considered an "arms race" between the new defense mechanisms developed by the host and the evasion strategies developed by ticks [17]. As an adaptation to blood feeding, ticks secrete a complex mixture of immunomodulatory substances in their saliva that suppress both innate and adaptive host immune responses that can cause pain, itch, blood flow disruption in the tick feeding cavity, or even direct damage to the tick, thereby subverting tick rejection and death [18–20]. Despite the specificity of tick salivary component targets, there is also redundancy at the molecular, cellular, and functional level [9, 13]. The richness and diversity of tick salivary compounds have been established in several transcriptomic studies over the last 15 years and, more recently, by next generation sequencing (NGS) studies.

The rapid developments in NGS and proteomics are reflected in the recent progress made in tick research, in which several transcriptomic and proteomic studies have been published over the last few years. These studies represent a rich data source that provides the basis for functional studies and investigation of gene expression dynamics during tick feeding and different physiological states. For instance, significant differences in the salivary proteome of partially and fully engorged female Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) microplus ticks have been described [21]. More recently, a transcriptomic study described over 800 immuno-proteins in Amblyomma americanum saliva during 24-48 h of feeding [22]. A transcriptomic analysis of Dermacentor and ersoni salivary glands resulted in over 500 singletons and 200 clusters in which a number of sequences with similarity to mammalian genes associated with immune response regulation, tumor suppression, and wound healing were identified [23]. By combining transcriptomic and proteomic approaches, nearly 700 proteins were identified in D. andersoni saliva after 2 and 5 days of feeding, from which 157 were postulated to be involved in immunomodulation and blood feeding [24]. Schwarz and colleagues performed a comprehensive study of Ixodes ricinus salivary and midgut transcriptomes and proteomes and found that the transcriptomic and proteomic dynamics did not 100% overlap in different tick tissues [25]. A recent study by Kotsyfakis and colleagues characterized transcriptional dynamics in the *I. ricinus* female and nymph salivary glands and midguts at various feeding time points [26], and established that some gene families show stage- and time-specific expression, possibly via epigenetic control. In addition, the genes encoding secreted proteins exhibited a high mutation rate, possibly representing a mechanism of antigenic variation, and analysis of the midgut transcriptome revealed several novel enzymes, transporters, and antimicrobial peptides [26]. A transcriptomic analysis of Amblyomma maculatum salivary glands revealed almost 3500 contigs with a secretory function [27]. Another sialome (salivary gland transcriptome) of Amblyomma ticks was published by Garcia and colleagues [28]: the authors analyzed samples from Amblyomma triste nymphs and females, Amblyomma cajennese females, and Amblyomma parvum females and focused on putative transcripts encoding anticoagulants, immunosuppressants, and antiinflammatory molecules. A further study characterized A. americanum nymph and adult proteomes and compared the data with other Amblyomma species [29]. A Rhipicephalus pulchellus tick sialome study revealed differences between males and females [30], with the sequences identified used for a preliminary proteomic study to identify 460 male and over 2000 female proteins. A sialomic study was also performed in Haemaphysalis flava that revealed tens of thousands of genes, some of which were putative secreted salivary proteins thought to be involved with blood feeding and ingestion [31].

A *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* salivary proteome showed recycling of host proteins and their secretion back into the host [32]. Lewis and colleagues used a transcriptomic approach to characterize immunogenic *lxodes scapularis* salivary proteins present after 24 h of feeding [33]; these appeared to be involved in tick feeding even before the majority of pathogens could be transmitted.

In addition to the analysis of secreted tick salivary proteins, tickfeeding lesions on the host have been analyzed by high-throughput and histological methods. Recently, the feeding lesion of D. andersoni was described in detail together with microarray analysis of host gene expression dynamics, thereby characterizing the inflammatory infiltrate at the feeding site and the changes occurring in the epidermal and dermal compartments near the tick [34,35]. The skin lesions examined from rats infested by Ornithodoros brasiliensis showed edema, muscle degeneration, and hemorrhage [36], with the rats themselves presenting with a bleeding tendency and signs of toxicosis. O. brasiliensis salivary gland homogenates delayed wound healing and had antiproliferative or even cytotoxic activity on cultured epithelial cells [37]. An analysis of skin-draining lymph nodes in goats repeatedly infested with A. cajennese nymphs revealed an increased number of antigen presenting cells (APCs) such as B lymphocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells [38]. A skin lesion from a human infested with female Amblyomma testudinarium was characterized by an inflammatory infiltrate and an eosinophilic cement in the center of the lesion [39]. Feeding lesions from rabbits injected with salivary gland extract (SGE) collected from R. sanguineus ticks after 2, 4, and 6 days of feeding showed signs of inflammation, especially at day four [40], suggesting that molecules present in R. sanguineus SGE have high immunogenicity and that immune reaction raised against SGE is stronger than the immunomodulatory action of R. sanguineus salivary effectors.

Such high-throughput studies in both ticks and hosts and complemented with histological information and detailed characterization of salivary components have made a valuable contribution to our knowledge of the dynamic processes occurring at the tick-host interface. However, experiments with saliva or SGE highlight the complexity of host modulation by the tick in vivo. Characterizing individual salivary components can help link specific pathophysiological events to particular molecules to provide a complete picture of tick-host interactions. In this review, we focus on the immunomodulatory actions of whole tick saliva or salivary gland extracts (SGE) rather than the effects of the individual salivary components, since these are reviewed elsewhere [13,41,42].

2. The role of tick saliva in modulating host hemostasis and complement

Ticks have developed various mechanisms to counteract the hemostatic responses of the host so that they can successfully feed on blood for many days [13,19]. Serine proteases are key players in host hemostasis and, therefore, are specifically targeted by the wide range of serine protease inhibitors present in tick saliva. The net result is that the physiological balance between host proteases and endogenous anti-proteases is impaired. Tick salivary secretions also contain vasodilators, platelet activation inhibitors, and coagulation modulators, as reviewed elsewhere [14,43,44].

Complement is a cascade of proteolytically-activated components that eventually leads to the creation of pores in the walls of microbes, leading to their destruction. There are three main complement activation pathways: classical, alternative, and lectin; the central reaction in all pathways is the conversion of complement component C3 to C3a and C3b [45,46]. The inhibition of the host alternative complement pathway is crucial for tick feeding and, indeed, the saliva of several *lxodes* species inhibits this pathway [47,48]. In an in vitro study, the ability of tick saliva to counteract complement activity varied according to the animal species source of serum, with specificity shown towards the most common hosts for each *lxodes* species

[49]. Several anti-complement molecules have been identified to date; however, a detailed description is beyond the scope of this review. Further information about the role of complement in tick-host interactions can be found in the reviews by Schroeder and colleagues [50] or Wikel [14].

3. Innate immunity and tick saliva

Innate immune responses against tick feeding involve the activation of resident immune cells that initiate and promote the local inflammatory response as a reaction to skin damage. The resident leukocytes are macrophages, Langerhans cells (LCs), mast cells, or innate lymphoid cells, and pro-inflammatory mediators are also released by endothelial cells and keratinocytes [51]. These mediators and complement components are chemotactic for circulating inflammatory cells including neutrophils and monocytes.

4. Interaction of macrophages and monocytes with tick saliva

Macrophages are APCs as well as cytokine and chemokine producers [52]. They can be further divided into two different subpopulations: (i) bone marrow-derived hematopoietic macrophages, which circulate as monocytes and, after extravasation at the site of inflammation, differentiate into pro-inflammatory [53] or alternatively-activated macrophages [54] and (ii) tissue-resident macrophages of yolk sac origin that are found in many organs including the skin; the latter tend to be more immune-modulatory [55]. These macrophage subpopulations differ with respect to cytokine production, receptor expression, and their overall effect on any subsequent immune response [54,56,57].

Numerous interactions have been identified between macrophages, tick saliva or SGE, and pathogens, suggesting that they play a major role in host defenses against ticks and tick-borne infectious agents. The effects of saliva or SGE on macrophages are summarized in Fig. 1.

I. ricinus SGE inhibited superoxide and nitric oxide (NO) production by *Borrelia afzelii*-activated macrophages, which led to the inhibition of *Borrelia* killing in a murine host [58]. *I. ricinus* SGE also reduced phagocytosis of *B. afzelii* spirochetes by murine macrophages and inhibited IFN-γ- and *B. afzelii*-stimulated TNF production by macrophages [59]. It was recently shown that *I. ricinus* saliva could induce the production of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) and macrophage inflammatory protein 2 (MIP-2) in splenocytes [60]. MCP-1 attracts



Fig. 1. The effects of saliva and SGE on macrophages. Red lines represent inhibition, green lines enhancement. Tick saliva inhibits production of IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, TNF, IFN- γ , NO, superoxide, and CCL5, as well as expression of sTNFRI and phagocytosis. Tick saliva increases production of IL-4, IL-10, and PGE₂ and macrophage migration. Tick SGE inhibits production of IL-12p40, TNF, IFN- γ , and NO, expression of CD40, CD69, CD80, and CD86, and phagocytosis.

monocytes, and MIP-2 is a chemokine secreted by monocytes and macrophages that is chemotactic for neutrophils.

Similarly, *I. scapularis* saliva inhibited TNF, IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-12p40 production by murine bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) after stimulation with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or *Anaplasma phagocytophilum*. It was further reported to inhibit IL-8 secretion by human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) after TNF stimulation [61] and NO synthesis upon LPS stimulation [62].

Incubation with SGE isolated from *R. microplus*, a tick of veterinary importance, resulted in diminished expression of the co-stimulatory molecules CD80, CD86, CD40, and CD69 on the surface of bovine macrophages after 24 h of LPS stimulation, which was accompanied by a decrease in TNF, IFN-γ, and IL-12 production [63]. Conversely, CD86 expression was increased in the murine macrophage cell line RAW 264.7 in response to R. microplus SGE and LPS but not SGE alone. Furthermore, SGE had no effect on CD40 and CD80 expression [64]. However, both bovine primary macrophages and murine macrophage cell line displayed an increase of CD86 expression after 6 h incubation with LPS and SGE. [64]. These partially contradictory observations may be attributed to the host specific response. The difference may also originate from altered signaling in immortalized cell line, as CD86 upregulation was shown to be at least partially dependent on the ERK1/2 pathway and may, therefore, promote polarization of the immune response towards a less pro-inflammatory Th2 profile (see below) [64]. In another study, R. sanguineus saliva diminished NO production by IFN-yactivated macrophages and thus impaired Trypanosoma cruzi killing. The authors suggested that decreased NO production was due to a saliva-induced cytokine imbalance, leading to decreased NO synthase activity [65]. Similar to the results with primary macrophages, SGE from Rhipicephalus appendiculatus affected cytokine production by the murine macrophage cell line JA-4. SGE from R. appendiculatus inhibited the transcription of IL-1 α , IL-10, and TNF after macrophage stimulation with LPS. NO production was also lower, in accordance with the similar effect observed with I. ricinus saliva [58,66].

Dermatocentor variabilis (Table 1) saliva has been shown to impair phagocytosis and alter gene expression in the murine macrophage cell line IC-21, as well as increase basal and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)-stimulated macrophage migration and the expression of the Th2-specific cytokines IL-4 and IL-10 [67].

The tick salivary component prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) subverted macrophage secretion of pro-inflammatory mediators and was able to recruit fibroblasts to heal tick-bite wound [68]. In addition to PGE₂ from tick saliva, the saliva of *D. variabilis* upregulated PGE₂ secretion in IC-21 murine peritoneal macrophages and reduced secretion of the pro-inflammatory mediators CCL5, TNF, and soluble TNF receptor I (sTNFRI) via a PGE₂-dependent mechanism mediated by cAMP [68].

In summary, the tick saliva of various tick species inhibits the proinflammatory activities of macrophages, supporting a major role for macrophages in anti-tick defenses.

5. Dendritic cells and tick saliva

Dendritic cells (DCs) are APCs and are part of the innate immune system. After immature (unstimulated) DCs recognize and phagocytose pathogens, they mature and migrate to draining lymph nodes where they present antigens derived from the processed pathogen to CD4 + T cells, which subsequently launch an adaptive immune response. Thus, DCs initiate host adaptive immunity via presentation of pathogenic antigens. Two DC states exist: an immature form present in skin or mucosae and a mature form in lymphoid tissues. Langerhans cells (LCs) are a specialized resident cell type found in the vertebrate skin. Similar to macrophages, LCs have two origins and share many properties with macrophages [69]; therefore, they are sometimes considered to be a subtype of tissue macrophage [57]. Immature DCs primarily have an antigen uptake and presenting function, while mature DCs effectively stimulate T cells but have limited phagocytic activity. Several studies suggest that there are interactions between tick saliva and DCs [70–72]. For a review of the interactions between DCs, tick saliva, and *Borrelia*, see [73].

Oliveira and colleagues studied the effect of R. saguineus saliva on DC migration and function, and found that tick saliva reduced immature DC migration towards macrophage inflammatory proteins MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β but not MIP-3 β [74]. Tick saliva also inhibited the chemokine RANTES by reducing expression of its surface receptor CCR5 [74]. DC maturation was impaired via toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling [75]. However, the inhibition of migration was limited to immature DCs. DC maturation and differentiation was inhibited in the presence of A. cajennese saliva [76]; in this study, the DCs showed reduced expression of CCR5 and CCR7 and, therefore, diminished migration towards the corresponding chemokines. Furthermore, tick saliva polarized cytokine production towards a Th2 phenotype. The authors suggested that most of the observed effects were due to the presence of PGE₂ in tick saliva [76]. I. scapularis saliva has displayed various effects on bone marrow-derived DCs: it inhibited TNF and IL-12 production upon stimulation of different TLRs, in particular TLR-2, TLR-4, or TLR-9 [77], and the DC's ability to stimulate antigen-specific CD4 + proliferation and IL-2 production was also suppressed [77]. LC-deficient mice induced Th1 responses after *I. scapularis* infestation, demonstrating the requirement for LCs in attenuating tick-mediated Th1 responses in regional lymph nodes [78].

CD40 or TLR3, 7, and 9 ligation impaired DC maturation, and I. ricinus saliva inhibited DC migration in vivo and antigen presentation [79]. I. ricinus saliva has also been shown to impair Th1 and Th17 polarization in DCs [79] and activation of specific CD4 + T lymphocyte subsets by Borrelia-exposed DCs [80]. In the latter study, I. ricinus saliva decreased DC phagocytosis of B. afzelii. Interestingly, I. ricinus saliva inhibited DC production of both Th1 cytokines (TNF and IL-6) and the Th2 cytokine IL-10 after 48 h (but not 24 h) of incubation with *B. afzelii* [80]. I. ricinus saliva also impaired DC maturation and production of TNF and IL-6 in response to infection with TBE virus [81]. Lieskovská and Kopecky studied the signaling pathways activated in DCs via TLR-2 ligand and *B. afzelii* in the presence of tick saliva [82]; upon both types of activation, the NF-KB and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt pathways were inhibited by I. ricinus saliva. When activated by Borrelia spirochetes, TNF levels decreased in DCs due to selective suppression of ERK1/2, Akt, and NF-KB as a result of tick saliva mimicking the native inhibitors. Tick saliva also attenuated IFN- β production, and IFN- β triggered signal transducer and activator of transcription-1 (STAT-1) activation [83]. A summary of the known interactions between DCs and tick saliva is shown in Fig. 2.

6. Mast cells and tick saliva

Mast cells serve as sentinel cells and reside in many tissues. They are divided into two main types based on the presence of mast cell-specific proteases: connective tissue mast cells, which produce both tryptase and chymase (MC_{TC}), and mucosal mast cells, which produce only tryptase (MC_T) [84]; skin mast cells are of the first type. Upon exposure to pathogens or other stimuli, activated mast cells degranulate and release a variety of pre-stored mediators including vasoactive compounds, serine proteases, histamine, and cytokines. Activated mast cells also secrete newly synthesized mediators to recruit more inflammatory cells [85].

The immunological importance of mast cells in tick–host interactions remains unclear. Mast cell numbers increase after secondary or subsequent tick infestations, but remain unchanged during primary tick infestations [86–88]. The number of degranulated mast cells is also significantly higher after repeated tick infestations. Mast cell-deficient mice have been shown to develop some resistance to *D. variabilis* after repeated exposure, similar to wild type mice [89]. On the other hand, mast cell-deficient mice were not resistant to *Haemaphysalis longicornis*, with tick resistance re-established after mast cell injection [90,91]. Such

Table 1

The effects of tick saliva, SGE, or feeding on immune cell populations.

m: 1			D.C.
lick	Saliva/SGE/Feeding	Effect	Reference
Macrophages			
Dermatocentor variabilis	Saliva	Impaired phagocytosis and altered gene expression, stimulation of migration	[67]
	005	Stimulation of PGE ₂ production, inhibition of cytokine production	[68]
lxodes ricinus	SGE	Inhibition of superoxide and NU production	[58]
Ivodes scanularis	Saliva	Infibilion of cytokine production	[59]
ixoues scupularis	JdllVd	Inhibition of NO production	[62]
Rhinicephalus	SGE	Inhibition of cytokine and NO production	[66]
appendiculatus			[]
Rhipicephalus microplus	SGE	Altered surface molecule expression, inhibition of cytokine production	[63,64]
Rhipicephalus sanguineus	Saliva	Inhibition of NO production	[65]
Dendritic cells	6 I'		(70)
Ambiyomma cajennese	Saliva	innibited maturation and differentiation; reduced migration due to decreased expression of receptors;	[/6]
I ricinus	Saliva	Inhibited maturation migration and antigen presentation: blocked Th1 and Th17 polarization	[79]
i. ricinus	Sunvu	Inhibited proliferation, phagocytosis and cytokine production	[80]
		Impaired maturation and cytokine production	[81]
		Inhibition of signaling pathways	[82,83]
I. scapularis	Saliva	Inhibition of proliferation and cytokine production	[77]
R. sanguineus	Saliva	Reduced migration, maturation and cytokine production	[74,75]
D 11			
Basophils	Facilian	In an and an an at her a hile in facting south.	[101]
Ambiyomma dubitatu	Feeding	Increased amount of basophilis in feeding cavity	[121]
Ambiyomma aubitata	recuing	increased amount of basoprin's in recently cavity	[121]
Eosinophils			
Soft and hard ticks	Feeding	Increased amount of eosinophils in feeding cavity	[36,88,120-122]
Hard ticks	SGE	Inhibition of attraction to the feeding site	[123,124]
I. ricinus	Saliva	Basophil activation via MCP-1 released from splenocytes	[60]
N7 . 11			
Neutrophils	CCF		[122,120]
Solt and hard ticks	SGE	Altered duramics of chamelying activity	[125,130]
I ricinus	Saliva	Decrease in ROS production	[125]
I. scapularis	Saliva	Inhibition of granule release, infiltration, phagocytosis	[133]
nocupatano	builtu	Reduced adhesion of polymorphonuclear leukocytes	[134]
R. appendiculatus	SGE	Altered cytokines mRNA production by peripheral blood leukocytes	[170]
R. microplus	SGE	Inhibition of phagocytosis	[135]
Lymphocytes	Colling CCD		100 71 100 150 101
SOIT and hard ticks	SdIIVd, SGE	Polarization of the minute response towards The via cytokines	[00,71,139,159,101, 162,171,172]
Amhlvomma variegatum	SGE	Inhibition of lymphocyte proliferation	[142]
Dermacentor andersoni	SGE	Reduced T cells proliferation	[149,150]
		Reduced Th1 cytokine production	[173,174]
	Saliva, SGE, feeding	Inhibition of integrin expression	[163]
	SGE, feeding	Increased IL-4 and IL-10 levels	[164]
Haemaphysalis bispinosa	Feeding	Reduction in T lymphocyte count and proliferation, increased CD4 + /CD8 + ratio	[153]
Hyalomma anatolicum	Feeding	Reduction in T lymphocyte count and proliferation, increased $CD4 + /CD8 + ratio, increase in circulating$	[153]
I ricinus	SGF	ס זיזוויזווטראני נטעווע Inhibition of lymphocyte proliferation	[142]
1. 11011105	JGE	Suppression of B cell proliferation inhibition of IL-10 production reduction of markers on the surface of T	[143]
		and B cells	1 101
	Saliva	Inhibition of T cell proliferation	[144]
		Induction of Th2 differentiation of CD4 + T cells via dendritic cells	[71]
	Feeding	Increased CD4 $+$ /CD8 $+$ ratio	[147]
		Inhibited proliferation and responsiveness	[145]
Lecanularia	Calina	Reduced amount of specific ig against antigen, no change in total ig amount	[148,157]
i. scupulul is	Feeding	Inhibition of Th17 immunity priming of a mixed Th1/Th2 response during secondary infestation	[02,140,141]
	SGE, feeding	Increased IL-4 levels	[165]
R. appendiculatus	SGE	Inhibition of lymphocyte proliferation	[142]
R. microplus	Feeding	Decreased T and B lymphocyte percentage among PBLs	[151]
	Saliva	Decreased PBL responsiveness to phytohemagglutinin	[151]
		Inhibition of the blastogenic response of mononuclear cells	[175]
к. sanguineus	reeding	Suppressed response to mitogens	[152]
	SGF	Suppressed to production by PRI	[152] [156]
	JGL	Suppressed is production by i be	[130]
NK cells			
A. variegatum	SGE	Decreased NK cell activity	[168]
Dermatocentor reticulatus	SGE	Decreased NK cell activity	[167]
ниетарпуsälis inermis L ricinus	SCE	Decreased NK cell activity Suppression of NK cell cutotoxicity	[108] [160]
1. 110111113	JUL	Suppression of the conclusion	[103]



Fig. 2. The effects of saliva on dendritic cells. Red lines represent inhibition, green lines enhancement. Tick saliva inhibits production of IL-6, IL-12, TNF, IFN-β, and RANTES cytokines. It also inhibits expression of CCR5 and CCR7, DC migration, proliferation, maturation, and phagocytosis, and STAT-1, PI3K/Akt, Erk1/2, and NF-κB signaling pathways. The saliva induces Th2 polarization while suppressing Th1 and Th17 differentiation.

differences might be due to species-specific host responses or other unknown factors. Highly tick-resistant zebuine cattle breeds have more dermal mast cells than taurine breeds [92]. F2 crossbreeds of these two cattle were resistant to *R. microplus* infestation, and infestation with *R. micropplus* larvae induced significant increases in dermal mast cell numbers. Mast cells are major producers of the inflammatory mediator histamine, and ticks can affect histamine actions by either binding histamine via histamine-binding lipocalins [93,94] or by promoting its secretion via histamine release factor [95], further evidence of the ambiguous role for mast cells in tick feeding responses. One explanation for histamine binding followed by its release can be explained by the need to suppress inflammatory responses at the early stage of feeding, followed by an increased need for vascular permeability during the rapid engorgement phase of tick feeding.

7. Granulocytes and tick saliva

Granulocytes are bone marrow-derived myeloid leukocytes that contain granules in their cytoplasm. The granulocyte group consists of three major cell types: basophils, eosinophils, and neutrophils [96].

8. Basophils and tick saliva

Basophils are IgE-activated granulocytes that, unlike tissue-resident mast cells, circulate in the blood. They play a critical role in the IgE-



Fig. 3. The effects of saliva and SGE on neutrophils. Red lines represent inhibition, green lines enhancement. Tick saliva inhibits neutrophil recruitment, phagocytosis, adhesion, granule release, and production of ROS.



Fig. 4. The effects of saliva and SGE on B and T lymphocytes. Red lines represent inhibition, green lines enhancement. Tick saliva inhibits T cell proliferation, CD69 expression, and production of IL-2, IL-12, TNF, and IFN- γ by lymphocytes. In contrast, it increases production of IL-4, IL-6, and IL-10. Tick SGE has the same effects as tick saliva and, furthermore, suppresses LFA-1 and VLA-4 expression, proliferation of B cells, and total Ig and IgA production.

mediated development of chronic allergic reactions and inflammation [97,98], and they can also promote polarization towards Th2 responses by IgE-independent antigen presentation in mice [99,100]. Basophils are recruited to a tick-feeding site and accumulate in the host skin during second and consequent (but not primary) tick infestation, where they act as important tick rejection factors [101,102]. After migration to the site of injury, basophils degranulate and release mediators such as histamine to reject ticks in a host reaction known as cutaneous basophil hypersensitivity [103]. Similar to mast cells, histamine release from basophils can be mediated by tick histamine release factor binding [95]. Several studies have confirmed the role of basophils in acquired immunity against ticks in mice [102,104,105]. Basophils expressing the immunoglobulin Fc receptor were found to be responsible for antibodymediated acquisition of *H. longicornis* resistance [102], with selective basophil ablation by diphtheria toxin leading to loss of resistance to H. longicornis feeding in subsequent tick infestations [102]. Basophils appear to play a non-redundant role in antibody-mediated acquired immunity against ticks [102].

As noted above, *I. ricinus* saliva increased MCP-1 production by stimulated splenocytes [60]. MCP-1 is a potent basophil activator that triggers their degranulation and histamine release [106].

Basophils can cause cutaneous basophilia, a mechanism of tick resistance [104,105]. The susceptibility or resistance of cattle to ticks (*R. microplus*) was associated with the number of basophils at the feeding site, with skin biopsies from tick-resistant breeds contain significantly more basophils than biopsies from susceptible breeds [107–109].

9. Eosinophils and tick saliva

Eosinophils are mainly present in mucosal areas in contact with the external environment such as the gut or lung mucosae. Their circulating levels are relatively low in healthy organisms, but increase during allergic reactions or parasitic infections [46]. Eosinophils produce cytokines, chemokines, and other mediators, some of which (e.g., indoleamine 2,3 deoxygenase; IDO) induce apoptosis and inhibit T cell proliferation [110,111]. Eosinophils are also rich in granules that contain cytotoxic effectors such as eosinophil peroxidase, eosinophil cationic protein, eosinophil-derived neurotoxin, or major basic protein, which can cause mast cell (and probably also basophil) degranulation [112]. Finally, eosinophils are an important source of inflammatory and tissue repair-related molecules such as the transforming growth factors TGF- α and TGF- β 1 and the extracellular matrix glycoprotein tenascin [113,114].

Repeated exposure to both soft and hard tick species raised eosinophil levels at the feeding site in many host species including cattle [115,116], dogs [117], guinea pigs [118,119], rabbits [86], mice [88], woolless lambs [120], rats [36], capybaras [121], and even anteaters and armadillos [122]. The relationship between eosinophil number and tick resistance is not clear. Similar to mast cells, the susceptibility or resistance to ticks in cattle was associated with the number of eosinophils (and basophils) at the feeding site. Cattle breeds with more eosinophils (*Bos taurus indicus*, Nelores breed) appeared to be more resistant to *R. microplus* feeding than the *B. taurus taurus* Holstein breed with fewer eosinophils [107]. In contrast, the tick count on Nguni and Bonsmara cattle was positively correlated with the eosinophil count in skin biopsies from tick feeding sites, while the correlation was negative in the case of mast cells and basophils [109].

Ticks inhibit the chemokine-mediated attraction of eosinophils to tick feeding sites. SGE from many tick species blocked CCL3, CCL5, or CCL11 (eotaxin) eosinophil chemoattractant activity [123–126].

10. Neutrophils and tick saliva

Neutrophils are granulocytes with both phagocytosis and degranulation roles. They are highly motile cells and they have a relatively short lifespan. Neutrophils play an important role in the early stages of vertebrate immune homeostasis, such as during acute inflammation, but they also play a role in some chronic inflammatory diseases. Neutrophils are generally activated by pathogens and secrete effectors and mediators that promote inflammation by recruiting other leukocytes, and they also directly kill pathogens by releasing their granules [46,127]. They can also phagocytose and kill pathogens intracellularly [127].

Tick saliva modulates a local cutaneous immune response at the tick feeding site almost immediately after tick attachment, as shown by gene expression analysis of skin biopsies taken at several time points after the initiation of *I. scapularis* nymph feeding [128]. The expression of neutrophil-specific chemokines (CXCL1 and 5) was induced as early as 12 h after tick attachment to the host [128]. Neutrophil abundance in the skin was high during the first tick infestation compared to other cell types but decreased during subsequent tick infestations of the same host [120,129]. It is unknown whether the absence of neutrophils affects resistance of the host to ticks.

Saliva or SGE from soft and hard ticks have been shown to attenuate neutrophil functions such as recruitment by interfering with the neutrophil chemoattractants CXCL8 (IL-8) or CCL3 [123,124,126,130,131]. In one study, I. ricinus saliva significantly decreased neutrophil reactive oxygen species (ROS) production [132]. In contrast, the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), which are formed by extrusion of neutrophil DNA and can retain and kill bacteria, was not affected by saliva [132]. I. scapularis (published as Ixodes dammini) saliva inhibited granule release and neutrophil infiltration and had an inhibitory effect on neutrophil phagocytosis of B. burgdorferi [133]. I. scapularis saliva also reduced polymorphonuclear leukocyte (PMN) adhesion by downregulating B2-integrin expression and signaling, which decreased proinflammatory functions of PMNs [134]. Finally, SGE from R. microplus inhibited neutrophil phagocytic activity in cattle [135]. These data show that tick saliva inhibits several pro-inflammatory neutrophil properties that are deleterious to tick feeding but does not affect antibacterial NET formation, suggesting that tick salivary activity is specific. The effects of tick saliva and SGE on neutrophils are illustrated in Fig. 3.

11. T and B lymphocytes and tick saliva

Adaptive immunity relies on a wide range of antigen receptors (with varying antigen recognition specificities), which are clonally distributed in two types of lymphocytes: T cells and B cells. The induction of a specific immune response is only possible when a foreign antigen is recognized by the corresponding receptor. This first recognition signal is consolidated by the interaction of co-stimulatory molecules on T or B cells with those on APCs — such as dendritic cells or macrophages — that belong to the innate immune system. In this way, links are made

between the cell populations that play dominant roles in the two branches of vertebrate immunity [136].

T cells are produced in the bone marrow from lymphoid progenitors and differentiate in the thymus. Mature T cells then migrate to the peripheral lymphoid tissues; they also circulate throughout the body [46]. Two major T cell subpopulations are recognized based on the coreceptor molecule expressed at the cell surface: CD4 + (T helper cells)and CD8 + T cells (which develop into cytotoxic T lymphocytes, CTLs). According to the secreted cytokine profile, CD4 + T helper cells can be further divided into several subpopulations that have different roles in immune responses [137], with Th1 and Th2 populations the most thoroughly studied in tick–host interactions thus far. Th1 populations are associated with host cellular and inflammatory responses, and Th2 populations with host humoral responses against ticks [138,139]. Fig. 4 illustrates how tick saliva and SGE influence T and B cell functions.

In 1985, *I. scapularis* (*dammini*) tick saliva was shown to inhibit IL-2 production by T lymphocytes, with PGE_2 proposed to be responsible for this effect [140]. Urioste and colleagues confirmed diminished IL-2 levels in the presence of *I. scapularis* saliva, and showed profoundly inhibited splenic T cell proliferation in response to stimulation with concanavalin A (ConA) or phytohemagglutinin in the presence of saliva [62]; however, they disproved the PGE₂ hypothesis, providing evidence that IL-2 is in fact inhibited by a proteinaceous salivary component. Later, in 2001, an unknown salivary component from *I. scapularis* was reported to bind IL-2 and inhibit T lymphocyte proliferation [141].

The inhibition of lymphocyte proliferation by SGE has also been reported in other tick species such as I. ricinus, Amblyomma variegatum, and R. appendiculatus, with species- and sex-specific differences shown for the effects of tick salivary gland antigens on human lymphocyte proliferation [142]. I. ricinus SGE suppressed isolated B cell proliferation and IL-10 production in response to LPS. CD69 activation marker expression on both activated T and B cells was also reduced [143]. I. ricinus saliva inhibited splenic T cell proliferation in response to ConA, and both SGE and saliva reduced the responsiveness of T cells draining to lymph nodes and sensitized splenic T cells [144]. The same observation was made with naïve splenic T cells [145]. T lymphocytes from mice infested 9 days previously with I. ricinus nymphs displayed suppressed responses to ConA stimulation compared to cells from naïve mice [145]. In contrast, the lymph node cell response to LPS was increased in infested mice compared to naïve mice [145]. The authors attributed the observed effect to increased B lymphocyte numbers or activity [145]. On the other hand, soluble salivary gland antigens derived from female *I. ricinus* ticks stimulated lymph node T cells from mice infested with I. ricinus larvae or nymphs, but not those infested with Amblyomma hebraeum nymphs [146]. A 65 kDa protein fraction (IrSG65) isolated from the salivary glands of partially fed I. ricinus females induced specific T cell proliferation in lymph node cells obtained from mice infested with I. ricinus nymphs [146]. Feeding of I. ricinus nymphs on BALB/c mice revealed that CD4 + T cells were more abundant than CD8 + cells [147], which changed from 2:1 upon primary tick infestation to 7:1 in tertiary tick infestation. The ratio of CD3 + and CD4 + T lymphocytes was identical in *I. ricinus* infested and control mice [148].

D. andersoni SGE reduced ConA-induced proliferation of T cells [149, 150]. *R. microplus* feeding on cattle decreased the T lymphocyte percentage in peripheral blood lymphocytes (PBLs) [151], with the B lymphocyte percentage only lowering after repeated heavy infestations [151]. *R. microplus* saliva also suppressed PBL responsiveness to phytohemag-glutinin [151]. *R. sanguineus* feeding on dogs suppressed ConA, phytohemagglutinin, and pokeweed mitogen-induced lymphocyte responses [152]. In the same study, SGE also suppressed all mitogen-stimulated blastogenic responses of lymphocytes from healthy dogs in vitro. Feeding of the *Haemaphysalis bispinosa* and *Hyalomma anatolicum* as tick feeding progressed [153]. The authors showed that depletion of CD8 + populations and increased CD4 + T cell levels accounted for the observed effects [153]. Feeding of these two ticks also suppressed in vitro

proliferation of T cells isolated from the tick-infested animals [153]. The CD4 +/CD8 + and B/T lymphocyte ratios were increased in all sheep during infestation with either *H. bispinosa* and *H. anatolicum anatolicum* [153]. Interestingly, reduced CD4/CD8 T cell ratios were observed in skin biopsies taken at primary and secondary infestation with *H. anatolicum anatolicum* ticks on sheep compared to healthy skin biopsies [154].

B cells also originate from lymphoid progenitors in the bone marrow [46]. Their further differentiation involves migration from the bloodstream to the spleen, where they develop into mature B cells. Mature B cells circulate between the spleen and lymph nodes. The role of B cells lies in the surface expression and secretion of immunoglobulins upon activation [155]. In immunity against ticks, B cells produce specific antibodies against tick salivary and gut antigens.

Both primary and secondary infestations of sheep with H. anatolicum anatolicum ticks caused a significant increase in circulating B lymphocytes over several days [153]. In dogs, R. sanguineus SGE was shown to suppress total immunoglobulin and IgA (but not IgM) production by PBLs in vitro upon activation with LPS or pokeweed mitogen [156]. It has also been observed that anti-BSA IgG and IgM levels decreased in mice immunized with BSA during *I. ricinus* feeding [148]. However, anti-BSA IgG and IgM production was not decreased when BSA was injected prior to tick infestation. Interestingly, this study did not demonstrate a shift towards the Th2-type immune response when anti-BSA IgG1 and IgG2a antibody levels were compared between mice groups [148]. It was later shown that total IgG and IgM antibody levels were not reduced in animal sera by tick infestation, anti-BSA antibody production was not delayed, and memory cell formation did not appear to be inhibited by tick saliva [157]. Tick saliva did not affect memory B cell production of either anti-BSA IgG or IgM [157].

Experiments with tick saliva or SGE have shown polarization of the immune response from Th1 to Th2 branches by suppression of Th1 and upregulation of Th2 cytokines in both mice and humans. This polarization leads to an attenuated inflammatory response, which is beneficial for tick survival and feeding [15,158]. Briefly, saliva or SGE inhibited secretion of IL-2, IL-12, TNF, and IFN-γ. In contrast, IL-4, IL-6, and IL-10 secretion was stimulated [66,139,159]. IL-10-specific neutralizing antibodies abrogated the suppressive effect of I. ricinus SGE on IFN- γ production [160]. IL-1 α secretion was inhibited in IA-4 macrophage cells exposed to R. appendiculatus SGE [66]. In contrast, and in spite of their pro-inflammatory properties, IL-1 α and IL-1 β production was increased by Th1 lymphocytes and splenocytes after treatment with I. ricinus SGE [161,162]. This can be explained by the fact that IL-1 can also act as a co-stimulator for Th2 lymphocyte proliferation. One of the mechanisms described for the action of I. ricinus saliva involves a negative effect on DCs, which then prime naive CD4 + T cells to induce Th2 cell differentiation in vitro and in vivo [71].

Feeding of *D. andersoni* decreased expression of two integrins, leukocyte function-associated antigen-1 (LFA-1) and very late activation-4 (VLA-4), by lymphocytes [163]. The same effect was achieved by exposing tick-naïve mouse lymphocytes to both *D. andersoni* saliva and SGE [163]. Infestation with *D. andersoni* nymphs or intradermal administration of female or male tick SGE increased IL-4 and IL-10 transcript levels in the draining lymph nodes and skin of the host [164]. Intracellular IL-4 levels were significantly increased in CD4 + T cells [164], and increased IL-4 levels were also observed during *I. scapularis* nymph feeding or by intradermal application of SGE [165]. Primary *I. scapularis* infestation on mice was characterized by late induction of an innate immune response and by inhibition of pro-inflammatory Th17 immunity. During secondary tick infestation, a mixed Th1/Th2 response was elicited [35].

Ticks have evolved in various ways to circumvent adaptive immunity. Their saliva inhibits lymphocyte proliferation to reduce immune responses. Furthermore, ticks actively direct the immune response towards the Th2 arm that favors their feeding. The immunosuppressive properties of tick saliva also include inhibition of antibody production by B cells that could damage tick mouthparts and activate other cells or complement. The effects of tick saliva and SGE on lymphocytes are illustrated in Fig. 4.

12. Natural killer cells and tick saliva

Despite their lymphoid origin, natural killer (NK) cells are part of the innate immune system [46]. Their main function is microbial or tumor cell killing and the regulation of endothelial cell, dendritic cell, and macrophage interactions with T lymphocytes [166]. SGE from female *Dermatocentor reticulatus* ticks that fed for 3–6 days on mice decreased human NK cell activity, while SGE from unfed or 1 day-fed ticks had no effect. Weaker activity was reported for SGE from *A. variegatum* and *Haemaphysalis inermis* ticks [167,168], and NK cell cytotoxicity was suppressed after treatment with *I. ricinus* SGE [169].

13. Conclusions

Tick saliva clearly contains numerous different pharmacologicallyactive molecules that affect various immune cell populations and facilitate tick feeding. In this "systems biology" era, the effects of tick saliva described in this review can help in the design of experiments to discover specific salivary molecules that account for those effects. Although molecular biology and biochemical methods such as transcriptome and proteome analyses have provided excellent information about the genes expressed in the salivary glands of different tick species, the number of identified and functionally characterized salivary molecules remains limited. Ultimately, the goal is to fully uncover the complexity of how ticks modulate the host immune system so that this information can be used to pioneer the development of novel control strategies for ticks and tick-borne diseases and aid drug discovery.

Acknowledgments

We thank Nextgenediting (www.nextgenediting.com) for providing editorial assistance and the anonymous reviewers for their constructive comments. This work was supported by the Grant Agency of the Czech Republic (GACR grant P502/12/2409 to MK), the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic (grant no. RVO60077344 to the Biology Center-Institute of Parasitology), and the 7th Framework Program of the European Union (EU FP7; Marie Curie Reintegration grant PIRG07-GA-2010-268177 to MK). This publication reflects only the authors' views and the European Union is not liable for any use that may be made of the information contained herein. MK and JHFP were supported by the National Institutes of Health (R01 AI093653) and JHFP was supported by start-up funds provided by the University of Maryland, Baltimore School of Medicine. JFA and IMBF were supported by the Intramural Research Program of the Division of Intramural Research, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID). National Institutes of Health (NIH; USA). MK received support from the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic (Jan Evangelista Purkyne Fellowship).

Because JFA and IMBF are government employees and this is a government work, the work is in the public domain in the United States. Notwithstanding any other agreements, the NIH reserves the right to provide the work to PubMedCentral for display and be use by the public, and PubMedCentral may tag or modify the work consistent with its customary practices. Rights can be established outside of the United States subject to a government use license.

The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Conflicts of interest

The authors declare that no conflicts of interest exist.

66

References

- [1] R.C. Brusca, G.J. Brusca, Invertebrates, 2nd ed. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, Mass, 2003.
- [2] D.E. Sonenshine, R.M. Roe, Biology of Ticks, 2nd ed. Oxford University Press, New York, 2013.
- [3] J.L. Capinera, Encyclopedia of Entomology, 2nd ed. Springer, New York, 2008.
- H. Mehlhorn, Encyclopedia of Parasitology, 3rd. ed. Springer, New York, 2008.
 D.E. Sonenshine, R.M. Roe, Biology of Ticks, 2nd ed. Oxford University Press, New
- York, 2014. [6] P. Parola, D. Raoult, Ticks and tickborne bacterial diseases in humans; an emerging
- [7] K. Tilly, P.A. Rosa, P.E. Stewart, Biology of infection with *Borrelia burgdorferi*, Infect.
- [7] K. Hin, P.A. Rosa, P.E. Stewart, Biology of Infection with Borrena Dargaonjeri, Infect Dis, Clin, N. Am. 22 (2008) 217–234 (v).
- [8] J.M. Howell, M.W. Ueti, G.H. Palmer, G.A. Scoles, D.P. Knowles, Transovarial transmission efficiency of *Babesia bovis* tick stages acquired by *Rhipicephalus* (*Boophilus*) *microplus* during acute infection, J. Clin. Microbiol. 45 (2007) 426–431.
 [9] A.S. Bowman, P.A. Nuttall, Ticks: Biology, Disease and Control. Cambridge, UK,
- Cambridge University Press, New York, 2008.[10] N. Ramamoorthi, S. Narasimhan, U. Pal, F. Bao, X.F. Yang, D. Fish, et al., The Lyme disease agent exploits a tick protein to infect the mammalian host, Nature 436
- (2005) 573–577.[11] X.Y. Liu, S.I. Bonnet, Hard tick factors implicated in pathogen transmission, PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 8 (2014) e2566.
- [12] A. Cabezas-Cruz, J.J. Valdes, Are ticks venomous animals? Front. Zool. 11 (2014) 47.
- [13] I.M. Francischetti, A. Sa-Nunes, B.J. Mans, I.M. Santos, J.M. Ribeiro, The role of saliva in tick feeding, Front. Biosci. (Landmark Ed) 14 (2009) 2051–2088.
- [14] S. Wikel, Ticks and tick-borne pathogens at the cutaneous interface: host defenses, tick countermeasures, and a suitable environment for pathogen establishment, Front. Microbiol. 4 (2013) 337.
- [15] M. Brossard, S.K. Wikel, Tick immunobiology, Parasitology 129 (Suppl.) (2004) S161–S176.
- [16] B.R. Ferreira, M.J. Szabo, K.A. Cavassani, G.H. Bechara, J.S. Silva, Antigens from *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* ticks elicit potent cell-mediated immune responses in resistant but not in susceptible animals, Vet. Parasitol. 115 (2003) 35–48.
- [17] B.B. Andrade, C.R. Teixeira, A. Barral, M. Barral-Netto, Haematophagous arthropod saliva and host defense system: a tale of tear and blood, An. Acad. Bras. Cienc. 77 (2005) 665–693.
- [18] J.W. Hovius, Spitting image: tick saliva assists the causative agent of Lyme disease in evading host skin's innate immune response, J. Invest. Dermatol. 129 (2009) 2337–2339.
- [19] J.M. Ribeiro, I.M. Francischetti, Role of arthropod saliva in blood feeding: sialome and post-sialome perspectives, Annu. Rev. Entomol. 48 (2003) 73–88.
- [20] J. Chmelar, C.J. Oliveira, P. Rezacova, I.M. Francischetti, Z. Kovarova, G. Pejler, et al., A tick salivary protein targets cathepsin G and chymase and inhibits host inflammation and platelet aggregation, Blood 117 (2011) 736–744.
- [21] L. Tirloni, J. Reck, R.M. Terra, J.R. Martins, A. Mulenga, N.E. Sherman, et al., Proteomic analysis of cattle tick *Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) microplus* saliva: a comparison between partially and fully engorged females, PLoS One 9 (2014) e94831.
- [22] Z.M. Radulovic, T.K. Kim, L.M. Porter, S.H. Sze, L. Lewis, A. Mulenga, A 24–48 h fed Amblyomma americanum tick saliva immuno-proteome, BMC Genomics 15 (2014) 518.
- [23] F.J. Alarcon-Chaidez, J. Sun, S.K. Wikel, Transcriptome analysis of the salivary glands of *Dermacentor andersoni* Stiles (*Acari: Ixodidae*), Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 37 (2007) 48–71.
- [24] L. Mudenda, S.A. Pierle, J.E. Turse, G.A. Scoles, S.O. Purvine, C.D. Nicora, et al., Proteomics informed by transcriptomics identifies novel secreted proteins in *Dermacentor andersoni* saliva, Int. J. Parasitol. 44 (2014) 1029–1037.
- [25] A. Schwarz, S. Tenzer, M. Hackenberg, J. Erhart, A. Gerhold-Ay, J. Mazur, et al., A systems level analysis reveals transcriptomic and proteomic complexity in *Ixodes ricinus* midgut and salivary glands during early attachment and feeding, Mol. Cell. Proteomics MCP 13 (2014) 2725–2735.
- [26] M. Kotsyfakis, A. Schwarz, J. Erhart, J.M. Ribeiro, Tissue- and time-dependent transcription in *lxodes ricinus* salivary glands and midguts when blood feeding on the vertebrate host, Sci. Rep. 5 (2015) 9103.
- [27] S. Karim, P. Singh, J.M. Ribeiro, A deep insight into the sialotranscriptome of the gulf coast tick, *Amblyomma maculatum*, PLoS One 6 (2011) e28525.
- [28] G.R. Garcia, L.G. Gardinassi, J.M. Ribeiro, E. Anatriello, B.R. Ferreira, H.N. Moreira, et al., The sialotranscriptome of *Amblyomma triste*, *Amblyomma parvum* and *Amblyomma cajennense* ticks, uncovered by 454-based RNA-seq, Parasit. Vectors. 7 (2014) 430.
- [29] M. Villar, M. Popara, A.J. Mangold, J. de la Fuente, Comparative proteomics for the characterization of the most relevant *Amblyomma* tick species as vectors of zoonotic pathogens worldwide, J. Proteomics 105 (2014) 204–216.
- [30] A.W. Tan, I.M. Francischetti, M. Slovak, R.M. Kini, J.M. Ribeiro, Sexual differences in the sialomes of the zebra tick, *Rhipicephalus pulchellus*, J. Proteomics 117 (2015) 120–144.
- [31] X.L. Xu, T.Y. Cheng, H. Yang, F. Yan, Y. Yang, De novo sequencing, assembly and analysis of salivary gland transcriptome of *Haemaphysalis flava* and identification of sialoprotein genes, Infect. Genet. Evol. 32 (2015) 135–142.
- [32] C.J. Oliveira, E. Anatriello, I.K. de Miranda-Santos, I.M. Francischetti, A. Sa-Nunes, B.R. Ferreira, et al., Proteome of *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* tick saliva induced by the secretagogues pilocarpine and dopamine, Ticks Tick Borne Dis. 4 (2013) 469–477.
- [33] LA. Lewis, Z.M. Radulovic, T.K. Kim, L.M. Porter, A. Mulenga, Identification of 24 h Ixodes scapularis immunogenic tick saliva proteins, Ticks Tick Borne Dis. 6 (3) (Apr 2015) 424–434, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ttbdis.2015.03.012 (Epub 2015 Mar 29).

- [34] D.M. Heinze, J.R. Carmical, J.F. Aronson, F. Alarcon-Chaidez, S. Wikel, S. Thangamani, Murine cutaneous responses to the rocky mountain spotted fever vector, *Dermacentor andersoni*, feeding, Front. Microbiol. 5 (2014) 198.
- [35] D.M. Heinze, S.K. Wikel, S. Thangamani, F.J. Alarcon-Chaidez, Transcriptional profiling of the murine cutaneous response during initial and subsequent infestations with *lxodes scapularis* nymphs, Parasit. Vectors. 5 (2012) 26.
- [36] J. Reck, P. Bandarra, S. Pavarini, C. Termignoni, D. Driemeier, J.R. Martins, et al., Experimentally induced tick toxicosis in rats bitten by *Ornithodoros brasiliensis* (*Chelicerata: Argasidae*): a clinico-pathological characterization, Toxicon 88 (2014) 99–106.
- [37] J. Reck, F.S. Marks, C. Termignoni, J.A. Guimaraes, J.R. Martins, Ornithodoros brasiliensis (mouro tick) salivary gland homogenates inhibit in vivo wound healing and in vitro endothelial cell proliferation, Parasitol. Res. 112 (2013) 1749–1753.
- [38] G.E. Monteiro, G.H. Bechara, A.M. Franzin, I.K. de Miranda Santos, Antigen-presenting cells in draining lymph nodes of goats repeatedly infested by the Cayenne tick *Amblyomma cajennense* nymphs, Exp. Appl. Acarol. 53 (2011) 63–69.
- [39] J. Kim, H.A. Kang, S.S. Kim, H.S. Joo, W.S. Chong, Perianal tick-bite lesion caused by a fully engorged female *Amblyomma testudinarium*, Korean J. Parasitol. 52 (2014) 685–690.
- [40] L.M. Hebling, K.C. Furquim, G.H. Bechara, M.I. Camargo-Mathias, Inoculation of salivary gland extracts obtained from female of *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* (Latreille, 1806) (*Acari, Ixodidae*) with 2, 4, and 6 days of feeding in rabbit: I—histopathology of the feeding lesion, Parasitol. Res. 112 (2013) 577–584.
- [41] M. Kazimirova, I. Stibraniova, Tick salivary compounds: their role in modulation of host defences and pathogen transmission, Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 3 (2013) 43.
- [42] I. Stibraniova, M. Lahova, P. Bartikova, Immunomodulators in tick saliva and their benefits, Acta Virol. 57 (2013) 200–216.
- [43] I.M. Francischetti, Platelet aggregation inhibitors from hematophagous animals, Toxicon 56 (2010) 1130–1144.
- [44] J. Chmelar, E. Calvo, J.H. Pedra, I.M. Francischetti, M. Kotsyfakis, Tick salivary secretion as a source of antihemostatics, J. Proteomics 75 (2012) 3842–3854.
- [45] K. Rother, G.O. Till, G.M. Hansch, The Complement System, 2nd rev. ed. Springer, Berlin, New York, 1998.
- [46] K. Murphy, C.A. Janeway, A. Mowat, Janeway's Immunobiology, 8th ed. Garland Science, New York, 2012.
- [47] J.M. Ribeiro, Role of saliva in blood-feeding by arthropods, Annu. Rev. Entomol. 32 (1987) 463–478.
- [48] C.H. Lawrie, R.B. Sim, P.A. Nuttall, Investigation of the mechanisms of anticomplement activity in *Ixodes ricinus* ticks, Mol. Immunol. 42 (2005) 31–38.
- [49] C.H. Lawrie, S.E. Randolph, P.A. Nuttall, *Ixodes* ticks: serum species sensitivity of anticomplement activity, Exp. Parasitol. 93 (1999) 207–214.
- [50] H. Schroeder, P.J. Skelly, P.F. Zipfel, B. Losson, A. Vanderplasschen, Subversion of complement by hematophagous parasites, Dev. Comp. Immunol. 33 (2009) 5–13.
- [51] W.R. Heath, F.R. Carbone, The skin-resident and migratory immune system in steady state and memory: innate lymphocytes, dendritic cells and T cells, Nat. Immunol. 14 (2013) 978–985.
- [52] A. Mantovani, A. Sica, S. Sozzani, P. Allavena, A. Vecchi, M. Locati, The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization, Trends Immunol. 25 (2004) 677–686.
- [53] A. Dey, J. Allen, P.A. Hankey-Giblin, Ontogeny and polarization of macrophages in inflammation: blood monocytes versus tissue macrophages, Front. Immunol. 5 (2014) 683.
- [54] U.M. Gundra, N.M. Girgis, D. Ruckerl, S. Jenkins, L.N. Ward, Z.D. Kurtz, et al., Alternatively activated macrophages derived from monocytes and tissue macrophages are phenotypically and functionally distinct, Blood 123 (2014) e110–e122.
- [55] E. Gomez Perdiguero, K. Klapproth, C. Schulz, K. Busch, E. Azzoni, L. Crozet, et al., Tissue-resident macrophages originate from yolk-sac-derived erythro-myeloid progenitors, Nature 518 (2015) 547–551.
- [56] P.R. Taylor, L. Martinez-Pomares, M. Stacey, H.H. Lin, G.D. Brown, S. Gordon, Macrophage receptors and immune recognition, Annu. Rev. Immunol. 23 (2005) 901–944.
- [57] L.C. Davies, S.J. Jenkins, J.E. Allen, P.R. Taylor, Tissue-resident macrophages, Nat. Immunol. 14 (2013) 986–995.
- [58] M. Kuthejlova, J. Kopecky, G. Stepanova, A. Macela, Tick salivary gland extract inhibits killing of *Borrelia afzelii* spirochetes by mouse macrophages, Infect. Immun. 69 (2001) 575–578.
- [59] K. Kyckova, J. Kopecky, Effect of tick saliva on mechanisms of innate immune response against *Borrelia afzelii*, J. Med. Entomol. 43 (2006) 1208–1214.
- [60] H. Langhansova, T. Bopp, E. Schmitt, J. Kopecky, Tick saliva increases production of three chemokines including monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, a histaminereleasing cytokine, Parasite Immunol. 37 (2015) 92–96.
- [61] G. Chen, M.S. Severo, M. Sohail, O.S. Sakhon, S.K. Wikel, M. Kotsyfakis, et al., *Ixodes scapularis* saliva mitigates inflammatory cytokine secretion during *Anaplasma phagocytophilum* stimulation of immune cells, Parasit. Vectors. 5 (2012) 229.
- [62] S. Urioste, L.R. Hall, S.R. Telford 3rd, R.G. Titus, Saliva of the Lyme disease vector, *Ixodes dammini*, blocks cell activation by a nonprostaglandin E2-dependent mechanism, J. Exp. Med. 180 (1994) 1077–1085.
- [63] D.K. Brake, A.A. Perez de Leon, Immunoregulation of bovine macrophages by factors in the salivary glands of *Rhipicephalus microplus*, Parasit. Vectors 5 (2012) 38.
- [64] D.K. Brake, S.K. Wikel, J.P. Tidwell, A.A. Perez de Leon, *Rhipicephalus microplus* salivary gland molecules induce differential CD86 expression in murine macrophages, Parasit. Vectors. 3 (2010) 103.
- [65] B.R. Ferreira, J.S. Silva, Saliva of *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* tick impairs T cell proliferation and IFN-gamma-induced macrophage microbicidal activity, Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 64 (1998) 279–293.

- [66] P. Gwakisa, K. Yoshihara, T. Long To, H. Gotoh, F. Amano, E. Momotani, Salivary gland extract of *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus* ticks inhibits in vitro transcription and secretion of cytokines and production of nitric oxide by LPS-stimulated JA-4 cells, Vet. Parasitol. 99 (2001) 53–61.
- [67] C.D. Kramer, N.M. Poole, L.B. Coons, J.A. Cole, Tick saliva regulates migration, phagocytosis, and gene expression in the macrophage-like cell line, IC-21, Exp. Parasitol. 127 (2011) 665–671.
- [68] N.M. Poole, G. Mamidanna, R.A. Smith, L.B. Coons, J.A. Cole, Prostaglandin E(2) in tick saliva regulates macrophage cell migration and cytokine profile, Parasit. Vectors. 6 (2013) 261.
- [69] G. Hoeffel, Y. Wang, M. Greter, P. See, P. Teo, B. Malleret, et al., Adult Langerhans cells derive predominantly from embryonic fetal liver monocytes with a minor contribution of yolk sac-derived macrophages, J. Exp. Med. 209 (2012) 1167–1181.
- [70] K.A. Cavassani, J.C. Aliberti, A.R. Dias, J.S. Silva, B.R. Ferreira, Tick saliva inhibits differentiation, maturation and function of murine bone-marrow-derived dendritic cells, Immunology 114 (2005) 235–245.
- [71] N. Mejri, M. Brossard, Splenic dendritic cells pulsed with *Ixodes ricinus* tick saliva prime naive CD4 + T to induce Th2 cell differentiation in vitro and in vivo, Int. Immunol. 19 (2007) 535–543.
- [72] S. Nithiuthai, J.R. Allen, Langerhans cells present tick antigens to lymph node cells from tick-sensitized guinea-pigs, Immunology 55 (1985) 157–163.
- [73] L.M. Mason, C.C. Veerman, T.B. Geijtenbeek, J.W. Hovius, Menage a trois: Borrelia, dendritic cells, and tick saliva interactions, Trends Parasitol. 30 (2014) 95–103.
- [74] C.J. Oliveira, K.A. Cavassani, D.D. More, G.P. Garlet, J.C. Aliberti, J.S. Silva, et al., Tick saliva inhibits the chemotactic function of MIP-1alpha and selectively impairs chemotaxis of immature dendritic cells by down-regulating cell-surface CCR5, Int. J. Parasitol. 38 (2008) 705–716.
- [75] C.J. Oliveira, W.A. Carvalho, G.R. Garcia, F.R. Gutierrez, I.K. de Miranda Santos, J.S. Silva, et al., Tick saliva induces regulatory dendritic cells: MAP-kinases and Tolllike receptor-2 expression as potential targets, Vet. Parasitol. 167 (2010) 288–297.
- [76] T. Carvalho-Costa, M. Mendes, M. da Silva, T. da Costa, M. Tiburcio, A. Anhe, et al., Immunosuppressive effects of *Amblyomma cajennense* tick saliva on murine bone marrow-derived dendritic cells, Parasit. Vectors. 8 (2015) 22.
- [77] A. Sa-Nunes, A. Bafica, D.A. Lucas, T.P. Conrads, T.D. Veenstra, J.F. Andersen, et al., Prostaglandin E2 is a major inhibitor of dendritic cell maturation and function in *Ixodes scapularis* saliva, J. Immunol. 179 (2007) 1497–1505.
- [78] D.L. Vesely, D. Fish, M.J. Shlomchik, D.H. Kaplan, L.K. Bockenstedt, Langerhans cell deficiency impairs *lxodes scapularis* suppression of Th1 responses in mice, Infect. Immun. 77 (2009) 1881–1887.
- [79] A. Skallova, G. Iezzi, F. Ampenberger, M. Kopf, J. Kopecky, Tick saliva inhibits dendritic cell migration, maturation, and function while promoting development of Th2 responses, J. Immunol. 180 (2008) 6186–6192.
- [80] M. Slamova, A. Skallova, J. Palenikova, J. Kopecky, Effect of tick saliva on immune interactions between *Borrelia afzelii* and murine dendritic cells, Parasite Immunol. 33 (2011) 654–660.
- [81] A. Fialova, Z. Cimburek, G. lezzi, J. Kopecky, *Ixodes ricinus* tick saliva modulates tickborne encephalitis virus infection of dendritic cells, Microbes Infect. 12 (2010) 580–585.
- [82] J. Lieskovska, J. Kopecky, Effect of tick saliva on signalling pathways activated by TLR-2 ligand and *Borrelia afzelii* in dendritic cells, Parasite Immunol. 34 (2012) 421–429.
- [83] J. Lieskovska, J. Kopecky, Tick saliva suppresses IFN signalling in dendritic cells upon *Borrelia afzelii* infection, Parasite Immunol. 34 (2012) 32–39.
- [84] G. Pejler, E. Ronnberg, I. Waern, S. Wernersson, Mast cell proteases: multifaceted regulators of inflammatory disease, Blood 115 (2010) 4981–4990.
- [85] D.D. Metcalfe, D. Baram, Y.A. Mekori, Mast cells, Physiol. Rev. 77 (1997) 1033-1079.
- [86] M. Brossard, V. Fivaz, *Ixodes ricinus* L: mast cells, basophils and eosinophils in the sequence of cellular events in the skin of infested or re-infested rabbits, Parasitology 85 (Pt 3) (1982) 583–592.
- [87] H.S. Gill, Kinetics of mast cell, basophil and eosinophil populations at *Hyalomma* anatolicum anatolicum feeding sites on cattle and the acquisition of resistance, Parasitology 93 (Pt 2) (1986) 305–315.
- [88] H. Ushio, N. Watanabe, Y. Kiso, S. Higuchi, H. Matsuda, Protective immunity and mast cell and eosinophil responses in mice infested with larval *Haemaphysalis longicornis* ticks, Parasite Immunol. 15 (1993) 209–214.
- [89] E.B. Steeves, J.R. Allen, Tick resistance in mast cell-deficient mice: histological studies, Int. J. Parasitol. 21 (1991) 265–268.
- [90] H. Matsuda, K. Fukui, Y. Kiso, Y. Kitamura, Inability of genetically mast cell-deficient W/Wv mice to acquire resistance against larval *Haemaphysalis longicornis* ticks, J. Parasitol. 71 (1985) 443–448.
- [91] H. Matsuda, T. Nakano, Y. Kiso, Y. Kitamura, Normalization of anti-tick response of mast cell-deficient W/Wv mice by intracutaneous injection of cultured mast cells, J. Parasitol. 73 (1987) 155–160.
- [92] J.R. Engracia Filho, G.H. Bechara, R.L. Teodoro, Dermal mast cell counts in F2 Holstein × Gir crossbred cattle artificially infested with the tick *Boophilus microplus* (*Acari: Ixodidae*), Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1081 (2006) 476–478.
- [93] G.C. Paesen, P.L. Adams, P.A. Nuttall, D.L. Stuart, Tick histamine-binding proteins: lipocalins with a second binding cavity, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1482 (2000) 92–101.
- [94] G.C. Paesen, P.L. Adams, K. Harlos, P.A. Nuttall, D.I. Stuart, Tick histamine-binding proteins: isolation, cloning, and three-dimensional structure, Mol. Cell 3 (1999) 661–671.
- [95] J. Dai, S. Narasimhan, L. Zhang, L. Liu, P. Wang, E. Fikrig, Tick histamine release factor is critical for *Ixodes scapularis* engorgement and transmission of the Lyme disease agent, PLoS Pathog. 6 (2010) e1001205.
- [96] P.J. Delves, I.M. Roitt, Encyclopedia of Immunology, 2nd ed. Academic Press, San Diego, 1998.

- [97] K. Mukai, K. Matsuoka, C. Taya, H. Suzuki, H. Yokozeki, K. Nishioka, et al., Basophils play a critical role in the development of IgE-mediated chronic allergic inflammation independently of T cells and mast cells, Immunity 23 (2005) 191–202.
- [98] K. Obata, K. Mukai, Y. Tsujimura, K. Ishiwata, Y. Kawano, Y. Minegishi, et al., Basophils are essential initiators of a novel type of chronic allergic inflammation, Blood 110 (2007) 913–920.
- [99] C.L. Sokol, N.Q. Chu, S. Yu, S.A. Nish, T.M. Laufer, R. Medzhitov, Basophils function as antigen-presenting cells for an allergen-induced T helper type 2 response, Nat. Immunol. 10 (2009) 713–720.
- [100] T. Yoshimoto, K. Yasuda, H. Tanaka, M. Nakahira, Y. Imai, Y. Fujimori, et al., Basophils contribute to T(H)2-IgE responses in vivo via IL-4 production and presentation of peptide-MHC class II complexes to CD4 + T cells, Nat. Immunol. 10 (2009) 706–712.
- [101] B.M. Oltean, M. Ernst, S. Renneker, M.A. Bakheit, U. Seitzer, J. Ahmed, Whole antigenic lysates of *Ixodes ricinus*, but not Der-p2 allergen-like protein, are potent inducers of basophil activation in previously tick-exposed human hosts, Transbound. Emerg. Dis. 60 (Suppl. 2) (2013) 162–171.
- [102] T. Wada, K. Ishiwata, H. Koseki, T. Ishikura, T. Ugajin, N. Ohnuma, et al., Selective ablation of basophils in mice reveals their nonredundant role in acquired immunity against ticks, J. Clin. Invest. 120 (2010) 2867–2875.
- [103] S.J. Brown, P.W. Askenase, Rejection of ticks from guinea pigs by anti-haptenantibody-mediated degranulation of basophils at cutaneous basophil hypersensitivity sites: role of mediators other than histamine, J. Immunol. 134 (1985) 1160–1165.
- [104] G.E. Monteiro, G.H. Bechara, Cutaneous basophilia in the resistance of goats to *Amblyomma cajennense* nymphs after repeated infestations, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1149 (2008) 221–225.
- [105] F.S. Otavio, G.H. Bechara, Guinea pigs develop cutaneous basophilia after repeated infestations by nymphs of the tick *Amblyomma triste*, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1149 (2008) 226–229.
- [106] S.C. Bischoff, M. Krieger, T. Brunner, C.A. Dahinden, Monocyte chemotactic protein 1 is a potent activator of human basophils, J. Exp. Med. 175 (1992) 1271–1275.
- [107] W.A. Carvalho, A.M. Franzin, A.R. Abatepaulo, C.J. de Oliveira, D.D. More, J.S. da Silva, et al., Modulation of cutaneous inflammation induced by ticks in contrasting phenotypes of infestation in bovines, Vet. Parasitol. 167 (2010) 260–273.
- [108] W.A. Carvalho, S.R. Maruyama, A.M. Franzin, A.R. Abatepaulo, J.M. Anderson, B.R. Ferreira, et al., *Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) microplus*: clotting time in tick-infested skin varies according to local inflammation and gene expression patterns in tick salivary glands, Exp. Parasitol. 124 (2010) 428–435.
- [109] M.C. Marufu, K. Dzama, M. Chimonyo, Cellular responses to *Rhipicephalus microplus* infestations in pre-sensitised cattle with differing phenotypes of infestation, Exp. Appl. Acarol. 62 (2014) 241–252.
- [110] S.O. Odemuyiwa, A. Ghahary, Y. Li, L. Puttagunta, J.E. Lee, S. Musat-Marcu, et al., Cutting edge: human eosinophils regulate T cell subset selection through indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, J. Immunol. 173 (2004) 5909–5913.
- [111] P. Terness, T.M. Bauer, L. Rose, C. Dufter, A. Watzlik, H. Simon, et al., Inhibition of allogeneic T cell proliferation by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-expressing dendritic cells: mediation of suppression by tryptophan metabolites, J. Exp. Med. 196 (2002) 447-457.
- [112] M.E. Rothenberg, S.P. Hogan, The eosinophil, Annu. Rev. Immunol. 24 (2006) 147–174.
- [113] A.E. Elovic, H. Ohyama, A. Sauty, J. McBride, T. Tsuji, M. Nagai, et al., IL-4-dependent regulation of TGF-alpha and TGF-beta1 expression in human eosinophils, J. Immunol. 160 (1998) 6121–6127.
- [114] S. Phipps, P. Flood-Page, A. Menzies-Gow, Y.E. Ong, A.B. Kay, Intravenous anti-IL-5 monoclonal antibody reduces eosinophils and tenascin deposition in allergenchallenged human atopic skin, J. Invest. Dermatol. 122 (2004) 1406–1412.
- [115] J.R. Allen, B.M. Doube, D.H. Kemp, Histology of bovine skin reactions to *Ixodes holocyclus* Neumann, Can. J. Comp. Med. 41 (1977) 26–35.
- [116] A.V. Schleger, D.T. Lincoln, R.V. McKenna, D.H. Kemp, J.A. Roberts, *Boophilus microplus*: cellular responses to larval attachment and their relationship to host resistance, Aust. J. Biol. Sci. 29 (1976) 499–512.
- [117] M.P. Szabo, G.H. Bechara, Sequential histopathology at the *Rhipicephalus* sanguineus tick feeding site on dogs and guinea pigs, Exp. Appl. Acarol. 23 (1999) 915–928.
- [118] S.J. Brown, P.W. Askenase, Blood eosinophil and basophil responses in guinea pigs parasitized by *Amblyomma americanum* ticks, Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 31 (1982) 593–598.
- [119] S.J. Brown, M.J. Worms, P.W. Askenase, *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus*: larval feeding sites in guinea pigs actively sensitized and receiving immune serum, Exp. Parasitol. 55 (1983) 111–120.
- [120] C.C. Prosdocimi, G.H. Bechara, D.J. Luduverio, F.M. Otavio, R.E. Del Vecchio, Innate immunity in wooless lamb to larvae of *Amblyomma cajennense* tick (Fabricius, 1787) (*Acari: Ixodidae*), Transbound. Emerg. Dis. 57 (2010) 75–76.
- [121] K.M. van der Heijden, M.P. Szabo, M.I. Egami, M.C. Pereira, E.R. Matushima, Histopathology of tick-bite lesions in naturally infested capybaras (*Hydrochoerus hydrochaeris*) in Brazil, Exp. Appl. Acarol. 37 (2005) 245–255.
- [122] M.F. Lima e Silva, M.P. Szabo, G.H. Bechara, Microscopic features of tick-bite lesions in anteaters and armadillos: Emas National Park and the Pantanal region of Brazil, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1026 (2004) 235–241.
- [123] V. Hajnicka, I. Vancova, P. Kocakova, M. Slovak, J. Gasperik, M. Slavikova, et al., Manipulation of host cytokine network by ticks: a potential gateway for pathogen transmission, Parasitology 130 (2005) 333–342.
- [124] I. Vancova, V. Hajnicka, M. Slovak, P. Kocakova, G.C. Paesen, P.A. Nuttall, Evasin-3-like anti-chemokine activity in salivary gland extracts of ixodid ticks during blood-feeding: a new target for tick control, Parasite Immunol. 32 (2010) 460–463.

- [125] I. Vancova, M. Slovak, V. Hajnicka, M. Labuda, L. Simo, K. Peterkova, et al., Differential anti-chemokine activity of *Amblyomma variegatum* adult ticks during bloodfeeding, Parasite Immunol. 29 (2007) 169–177.
- [126] M. Deruaz, A. Frauenschuh, A.L. Alessandri, J.M. Dias, F.M. Coelho, R.C. Russo, et al., Ticks produce highly selective chemokine binding proteins with antiinflammatory activity, J. Exp. Med. 205 (2008) 2019–2031.
- [127] P. Scapini, J.A. Lapinet-Vera, S. Gasperini, F. Calzetti, F. Bazzoni, M.A. Cassatella, The neutrophil as a cellular source of chemokines, Immunol. Rev. 177 (2000) 195–203.
- [128] D.M. Heinze, J.R. Carmical, J.F. Aronson, S. Thangamani, Early immunologic events at the tick-host interface, PLoS One 7 (2012) e47301.
- [129] H.S. Gill, A.R. Walker, Differential cellular responses at *Hyalomma anatolicum anatolicum* feeding sites on susceptible and tick-resistant rabbits, Parasitology 91 (Pt 3) (1985) 591–607.
- [130] V. Hajnicka, P. Kocakova, M. Slavikova, M. Slovak, J. Gasperik, N. Fuchsberger, et al., Anti-interleukin-8 activity of tick salivary gland extracts, Parasite Immunol. 23 (2001) 483–489.
- [131] K. Peterkova, I. Vancova, V. Hajnicka, M. Slovak, L. Simo, P.A. Nuttall, Immunomodulatory arsenal of nymphal ticks, Med. Vet. Entomol. 22 (2008) 167–171.
- [132] C. Menten-Dedoyart, C. Faccinetto, M. Golovchenko, I. Dupiereux, P.B. Van Lerberghe, S. Dubois, et al., Neutrophil extracellular traps entrap and kill *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu stricto spirochetes and are not affected by *Ixodes ricinus* tick saliva, J. Immunol. 189 (2012) 5393–5401.
- [133] J.M. Ribeiro, J.J. Weis, S.R. Telford 3rd., Saliva of the tick *Ixodes dammini* inhibits neutrophil function, Exp. Parasitol. 70 (1990) 382–388.
- [134] R.R. Montgomery, D. Lusitani, Chevance A. De Boisfleury, S.E. Malawista, Tick saliva reduces adherence and area of human neutrophils, Infect. Immun. 72 (2004) 2989–2994.
- [135] C. Turni, R.P. Lee, L.A. Jackson, Effect of salivary gland extracts from the tick, *Boophilus microplus*, on leucocytes from Brahman and Hereford cattle, Parasite Immunol. 24 (2002) 355–361.
- [136] R. Medzhitov, C.A. Janeway Jr., Innate immunity: the virtues of a nonclonal system of recognition, Cell 91 (1997) 295–298.
- [137] E.E. Kara, I. Comerford, K.A. Fenix, C.R. Bastow, C.E. Gregor, D.R. McKenzie, et al., Tailored immune responses: novel effector helper T cell subsets in protective immunity, PLoS Pathog. 10 (2014) e1003905.
- [138] M.M. Davis, M. Krogsgaard, M. Huse, J. Huppa, B.F. Lillemeier, Q.J. Li, T cells as a self-referential, sensory organ, Annu. Rev. Immunol. 25 (2007) 681–695.
- [139] B.R. Ferreira, J.S. Silva, Successive tick infestations selectively promote a T-helper 2 cytokine profile in mice, Immunology 96 (1999) 434–439.
- [140] J.M. Ribeiro, G.T. Makoul, J. Levine, D.R. Robinson, A. Spielman, Antihemostatic, antiinflammatory, and immunosuppressive properties of the saliva of a tick, *Ixodes dammini*, J. Exp. Med. 161 (1985) 332–344.
- [141] R.D. Gillespie, M.C. Dolan, J. Piesman, R.G. Titus, Identification of an IL-2 binding protein in the saliva of the Lyme disease vector tick, *Ixodes scapularis*, J. Immunol. 166 (2001) 4319–4326.
- [142] T. Rolnikova, M. Kazimirova, M. Buc, Modulation of human lymphocyte proliferation by salivary gland extracts of ixodid ticks (*Acari: Ixodidae*): effect of feeding stage and sex, Folia Parasitol. (Praha) 50 (2003) 305–312.
- [143] S. Hannier, J. Liversidge, J.M. Sternberg, A.S. Bowman, *Ixodes ricinus* tick salivary gland extract inhibits IL-10 secretion and CD69 expression by mitogenstimulated murine splenocytes and induces hyporesponsiveness in B lymphocytes, Parasite Immunol. 25 (2003) 27–37.
- [144] N. Mejri, B. Rutti, M. Brossard, Immunosuppressive effects of *lxodes ricinus* tick saliva or salivary gland extracts on innate and acquired immune response of BALB/c mice, Parasitol. Res. 88 (2002) 192–197.
- [145] F. Ganapamo, B. Rutti, M. Brossard, Immunosuppression and cytokine production in mice infested with *Ixodes ricinus* ticks: a possible role of laminin and interleukin-10 on the in vitro responsiveness of lymphocytes to mitogens, Immunology 87 (1996) 259–263.
- [146] F. Ganapamo, B. Rutti, M. Brossard, Identification of an *Ixodes ricinus* salivary gland fraction through its ability to stimulate CD4 T cells present in BALB/c mice lymph nodes draining the tick fixation site, Parasitology 115 (Pt 1) (1997) 91–96.
- [147] M.L. Mbow, B. Rutti, M. Brossard, Infiltration of CD4 + CD8 + T cells, and expression of ICAM-1, Ia antigens, IL-1 alpha and TNF-alpha in the skin lesion of BALB/c mice undergoing repeated infestations with nymphal *Ixodes ricinus* ticks, Immunology 82 (1994) 596–602.
- [148] C. Menten-Dedoyart, B. Couvreur, O. Thellin, P.V. Drion, M. Herry, O. Jolois, et al., Influence of the *lxodes ricinus* tick blood-feeding on the antigen-specific antibody response in vivo, Vaccine 26 (2008) 6956–6964.
- [149] R.N. Ramachandra, S.K. Wikel, Modulation of host-immune responses by ticks (*Acari: Ixodidae*): effect of salivary gland extracts on host macrophages and lymphocyte cytokine production, J. Med. Entomol. 29 (1992) 818–826.
- [150] S.K. Wikel, Influence of Dermacentor andersoni infestation on lymphocyte responsiveness to mitogens, Ann. Trop. Med. Parasitol. 76 (1982) 627–632.

- [151] H. Inokuma, R.L. Kerlin, D.H. Kemp, P. Willadsen, Effects of cattle tick (*Boophilus microplus*) infestation on the bovine immune system, Vet. Parasitol. 47 (1993) 107–118.
- [152] H. Inokuma, T. Aita, K. Ohno, T. Onishi, Effects of infestation by *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* on lymphocyte blastogenic responses to mitogens in dogs, J. Vet. Med. Sci. 60 (1998) 1013–1016.
- [153] D.K. Boppana, G. Dhinakar Raj, L. John, S.K. Wikel, B.R. Latha, S. Gomathinayagam, In vivo immunomodulatory effects of ixodid ticks on ovine circulating T- and B-lymphocytes, Parasite Immunol. 26 (2004) 83–93.
- [154] D.K. Boppana, S.K. Wikel, D.G. Raj, M.B. Manohar, J. Lalitha, Cellular infiltration at skin lesions and draining lymph nodes of sheep infested with adult *Hyalomma* anatolicum anatolicum ticks, Parasitology 131 (2005) 657–667.
- [155] R. Carsetti, M.M. Rosado, H. Wardmann, Peripheral development of B cells in mouse and man, Immunol. Rev. 197 (2004) 179–191.
- [156] K. Matsumoto, H. Inokuma, M. Okuda, T. Onishi, Effects of salivary gland extract from *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* on IgG subclass production and cytokine mRNA expression in mononuclear cells of canine peripheral blood, J. Vet. Med. Sci. 65 (2003) 137–140.
- [157] C. Menten-Dedoyart, B. Couvreur, O. Jolois, P.B. Van Lerberghe, L. Duwez, P. Drion, et al., Kinetic study of the antibody response during the blood meal of *Ixodes ricinus*: implication on plasma cell maturation in vivo and for anti-*Ixodes* vaccination, Vaccine 29 (2011) 2044–2050.
- [158] S.K. Wikel, Tick modulation of host cytokines, Exp. Parasitol. 84 (1996) 304-309.
- [159] N. Mejri, N. Franscini, B. Rutti, M. Brossard, Th2 polarization of the immune response of BALB/c mice to *lxodes ricinus* instars, importance of several antigens in activation of specific Th2 subpopulations, Parasite Immunol. 23 (2001) 61–69.
- [160] J. Kopecky, M. Kuthejlova, J. Pechova, Salivary gland extract from *lxodes ricinus* ticks inhibits production of interferon-gamma by the upregulation of interleukin-10, Parasite Immunol. 21 (1999) 351–356.
- [161] L. Kovar, J. Kopecky, B. Rihova, Salivary gland extract from *Ixodes ricinus* tick polarizes the cytokine profile toward Th2 and suppresses proliferation of T lymphocytes in human PBMC culture, J. Parasitol. 87 (2001) 1342–1348.
- [162] L. Kovar, J. Kopecky, B. Rihova, Salivary gland extract from *lxodes ricinus* tick modulates the host immune response towards the Th2 cytokine profile, Parasitol. Res. 88 (2002) 1066–1072.
- [163] K.R. Macaluso, S.K. Wikel, *Dermacentor andersoni*: effects of repeated infestations on lymphocyte proliferation, cytokine production, and adhesion-molecule expression by BALB/c mice, Ann. Trop. Med. Parasitol. 95 (2001) 413–427.
- [164] V.D. Boppana, S. Thangamani, F.J. Alarcon-Chaidez, A.J. Adler, S.K. Wikel, Blood feeding by the Rocky Mountain spotted fever vector, *Dermacentor andersoni*, induces interleukin-4 expression by cognate antigen responding CD4+ T cells, Parasit. Vectors. 2 (2009) 47.
- [165] U.U. Muller-Doblies, S.S. Maxwell, V.D. Boppana, M.A. Mihalyo, S.J. McSorley, A.T. Vella, et al., Feeding by the tick, *Ixodes scapularis*, causes CD4(+) T cells responding to cognate antigen to develop the capacity to express IL-4, Parasite Immunol. 29 (2007) 485–499.
- [166] E. Vivier, E. Tomasello, M. Baratin, T. Walzer, S. Ugolini, Functions of natural killer cells, Nat. Immunol. 9 (2008) 503–510.
- [167] M. Kubes, N. Fuchsberger, M. Labuda, E. Zuffova, P.A. Nuttall, Salivary gland extracts of partially fed *Dermacentor reticulatus* ticks decrease natural killer cell activity in vitro, Immunology 82 (1994) 113–116.
- [168] M. Kubes, P. Kocakova, M. Slovak, M. Slavikova, N. Fuchsberger, P.A. Nuttall, Heterogeneity in the effect of different ixodid tick species on human natural killer cell activity, Parasite Immunol. 24 (2002) 23–28.
- [169] J. Kopecky, M. Kuthejlova, Suppressive effect of *lxodes ricinus* salivary gland extract on mechanisms of natural immunity in vitro, Parasite Immunol. 20 (1998) 169–174.
- [170] N. Fuchsberger, M. Kita, V. Hajnicka, J. Imanishi, M. Labuda, P.A. Nuttall, Ixodid tick salivary gland extracts inhibit production of lipopolysaccharide-induced mRNA of several different human cytokines, Exp. Appl. Acarol. 19 (1995) 671–676.
- [171] F. Ganapamo, B. Rutti, M. Brossard, In vitro production of interleukin-4 and interferon-gamma by lymph node cells from BALB/c mice infested with nymphal *Ixodes ricinus* ticks, Immunology 85 (1995) 120–124.
- [172] J. Wu, Y. Wang, H. Liu, H. Yang, D. Ma, J. Li, et al., Two immunoregulatory peptides with antioxidant activity from tick salivary glands, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (2010) 16606–16613.
- [173] D.K. Bergman, R.N. Ramachandra, S.K. Wikel, *Dermacentor andersoni*: salivary gland proteins suppressing T-lymphocyte responses to concanavalin A in vitro, Exp. Parasitol. 81 (1995) 262–271.
- [174] D.K. Bergman, R.N. Ramachandra, S.K. Wikel, Characterization of an immunosuppressant protein from *Dermacentor andersoni* (*Acari: Ixodidae*) salivary glands, J. Med. Entomol. 35 (1998) 505–509.
- [175] H. Inokuma, D.H. Kemp, P. Willadsen, Prostaglandin E2 production by the cattle tick (*Boophilus microplus*) into feeding sites and its effect on the response of bovine mononuclear cells to mitogen, Vet. Parasitol. 53 (1994) 293–299.

Review 2

All For One and One For All on the Tick-Host Battlefield

Chmelař J, Kotál J, Kopecký J, Pedra JH, Kotsyfakis M.

Trends Parasitol. 2016 May;32(5):368-77

doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2016.01.004

The saliva of ixodid ticks contains a mixture of bioactive molecules that target a wide spectrum of host defense mechanisms to allow ticks to feed on the vertebrate host for several days. Tick salivary proteins cluster in multigene protein families, and individual family members display redundancy and pluripotency in their action to ameliorate or evade host immune responses. Members of different protein families can target the same cellular or molecular pathway of the host physiological response to tick feeding. At the same time, some proteins can display more activities. In this opinion paper, we presented and discussed our hypotheses that redundancy and pluripotency of tick salivary immunomodulators evolved in order to evade immune recognition by the host while retaining the immunomodulatory potential of their saliva. In the review, several examples of redundancy and pluripotency were described as well as some implication, such as the need of relatively high amount of pharmacoactive proteins, when they are tested in recombinant form. It is possible that *in vivo*, the redundancy leads to diminishing of efficacy of individual proteins, because usually they work in a concert.

This work was important, as it gathered and comprehensively presented several hypotheses that were circulating among researchers.

Author's contribution:

Author designed the structure of the review, wrote the text, created the figures and revised the manuscript.

Opinion All For One and One For All on the Tick-Host Battlefield

Jindřich Chmelař,¹ Jan Kotál,^{1,2} Jan Kopecký,¹ Joao H.F. Pedra,³ and Michail Kotsyfakis^{2,*}

The saliva of ixodid ticks contains a mixture of bioactive molecules that target a wide spectrum of host defense mechanisms to allow ticks to feed on the vertebrate host for several days. Tick salivary proteins cluster in multigenic protein families, and individual family members display redundancy and pluripotency in their action to ameliorate or evade host immune responses. It is now clear that members of different protein families can target the same cellular or molecular pathway of the host physiological response to tick feeding. We present and discuss our hypothesis that redundancy and pluripotency evolved in tick salivary immunomodulators to evade immune recognition by the host while retaining the immunomodulatory potential of their saliva.

Multigenic Protein Families in Ticks - Many Questions, Few Answers

Ticks are obligatory blood-feeding ecto-parasitic arthropods. There are two major tick families: Argasidae (soft ticks) and Ixodidae (hard ticks). Hard ticks remain attached to their hosts for up to 2 weeks, during which time they are exposed to host homeostatic and defense mechanisms [1]. To complete their blood meal, ticks need to evade host immune surveillance and/or suppress the host immune response. The evasion of host immune system is mediated mainly via tick salivary secretions that are injected into the tick-feeding cavity [2]: ixodid tick saliva is a highly complex natural mixture of low and high molecular weight bioactive molecules. The pharmacological effects of tick saliva and its individual components have been studied for almost half a century, and research in this field can be divided into the periods before and after transcriptomes, but this journey was outlined elsewhere [3] and its description exceeds the scope of this article. Transcriptomic studies have shown that secreted salivary proteins cluster in multigenic protein families (see Glossary) containing as many as 200 individual members differing by only a few amino acids [4,5]. Only a small number of family members have been functionally characterized at the protein level, recombinant or native. Therefore, the roles of individual family members remain to be elucidated. Moreover, a significant portion of the identified transcripts fall into the category of hypothetical proteins, without any relationship or similarity to known proteins from any living organism. Therefore, their (potentially important) role in the tick life cycle is currently unknown.

The existence of multigenic salivary protein families raises many questions. Which host homeostatic functions are affected by individual tick proteins? Do members of a given tick protein family target different, similar, or identical host physiological processes? Why are such a large number of functionally and structurally similar proteins produced, and what is the mechanism of their gene expression regulation? Although we can hypothesize that multigenic families exist to meet the need for large numbers of immunomodulatory proteins to block specific host defense mechanisms, is their effect additive and what are the immunological consequences? Indeed, expressing small quantities of many different antigens (at once or sequentially during tick feeding) can diminish immune recognition as a result of low-dose tolerance and/or antigenic competition Trends

A major aim for tick research is the development of anti-tick or transmission-blocking vaccines.

Given the redundancy and pluripotency of tick salivary proteins, the biggest challenge in this area of research is unraveling the key immunomodulatory molecules to be targeted for anti-tick vaccine development.

Antigenic variation during tick feeding should be also considered as an important factor in the development of both anti-tick and transmission-blocking vaccines.

In addition to vaccine development, the discovery of powerful immunomodulatory proteins in tick salivary glands presents another important direction in tick research that might enrich the current repertoire of biotherapeutic molecules.

¹Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice, Budweis, Czech Republic ²Institute of Parasitology, Biology Center, Czech Academy of Sciences, Budweis, Czech Republic ³Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

*Correspondence: mich_kotsyfakis@yahoo.com (M. Kotsvfakis).



CellPress

effects, and impair immune cell activation [6]. As research has progressed in this field, it is now clear that tick salivary proteins display both **pluripotency** and **redundancy** in their actions. Recent publications show that the high level of redundancy, identified at the mRNA level, translates into the proteomic profile of the saliva [7,8]. In this short Opinion article we suggest that multigenic families of tick salivary secreted proteins evolved to reduce the **immunogenicity** of immunomodulatory tick effectors by lowering the amount of each individual antigen in tick salivary secretions.

Redundancy and Pluripotency in the Action of Tick Salivary Immunomodulators

To remain attached to their host and successfully complete their long (up to 2 weeks) feeding course, ticks block the actions of many host immune system components. From an evolutionary point of view, an efficient mechanism must exist to evolve high numbers of proteins with novel functions in the 'arms race' between ticks and their multiple and diverse hosts. There has been extensive research on how proteins with novel functions evolve after gene duplication events [9,10]. According to phylogenetic analyses, gene duplication is usually followed by rapid evolution driven by positive selection rather than by the accumulation of neutral mutations [10,11]. The concepts of redundancy and pluripotency in the action of tick salivary immunomodulators represent strategies that fulfill the need for many different low-immunogenicity effectors, while simultaneously reflecting evolutionary mechanisms and constraints such as the requirement for providing an evolutionary advantage [12]. Moreover, a single pluripotent tick salivary protein may exert multiple effects on the host either by targeting more than one mechanism or pathway in the same immune cell type or by targeting different functions in different cell types. For instance, particular tick inhibitors of vertebrate proteases usually target more than one protease involved in host immunity (Figure 1A). The evolutionary mechanisms by which protease inhibitors gain new specificities are well described in general [13], as well as for tick salivary protease inhibitors of the Kunitz family [14,15] where a positive evolutionary pressure on inhibitor functionality is known to exist. An additional element in host immunomodulation by tick saliva is redundancy (or overlap) in actions, in other words when a specific component of host immunity is targeted by more than one salivary protein (Figure 1A,B). Characterization of secreted tick salivary proteins has revealed at least two types of functional redundancy: (i) different tick proteins (from the same or different multigenic protein families) target an identical host cellular mechanism (Figure 1B), or (ii) different tick proteins affect different parts of the same cellular pathway to produce an identical final outcome and phenotype (Figure 1C). A combination of redundancy and pluripotency of secreted tick salivary proteins enables tick saliva to interfere with a wide range of host defense mechanisms (such as hemostasis, inflammation, and antigen-dependent acquired immunity) while evading the host response to compromised homeostasis due to the intrusion of tick mouthparts into the host skin. In the following sections we illustrate the aforementioned concepts with specific examples. Redundancy in targeting hemostasis, such as coagulation and platelet aggregation, has been already well described [16,17], and we therefore focus only on proteins with immunomodulatory features.

Pluripotency and Redundancy - Some Practical Examples

Thorough functional characterization of several individual recombinant tick salivary-secreted proteins has revealed their pluripotent immunomodulatory activities (Figure 1B). One example is the *lxodes scapularis* salivary cystatin sialostatin L (SialoL), which is an inhibitor of human cathepsins with highest affinity for cathepsin L. Early SialoL studies in a mouse model of acute inflammation revealed its anti-inflammatory potential and inhibitory effect on cytotoxic T cells [18,19]. A follow-up study showed that SialoL also inhibited the proliferation of CD4⁺ T helper cells, dendritic cell (DC) maturation, and the production of proinflammatory cytokines [19]. It was later shown that SialoL diminished interleukin-9 (IL-9) production in type 9 T helper (Th9) lymphocytes and mast cells [20,21]. Finally, SialoL impaired production of interferon- β (IFN- β) in DCs

Glossary

Antigenic variation: a mechanism developed independently by different parasitic species to evade or exhaust the host immune system. A parasite systematically switches the expression of antigens present at the host-parasite interface. The genetic mechanism underlying this phenomenon varies between different parasites. In ticks, the antigens present at the host-parasite interface are on the tick salivary proteins. Accordingly, different antigens are expressed either once or sequentially during tick feeding. The phenomena of silent antigens and antigenic variation in tick saliva are most likely interconnected.

Gene duplication: one of the dominant mechanisms in gene evolution. Gene duplication occurs due to recombination, and is followed either by positive or negative (purifying) selection. Positive selection results in a protein with a novel function, while negative selection eliminates the duplicated gene. Immunogenicity: the ability of an antigen to induce humoral or cellular antigen-specific immune responses. Several factors influence immunogenicity: the type of molecule (proteins are usually the best antigens), molecular weight (larger proteins display higher immunogenicity), and concentration (low and high concentrations of antigens can induce immunotolerance or anergy, respectively).

Multigenic protein family: a group of phylogenetically closely related proteins that evolved from a single gene ancestor by the process of multiple gene duplications and subsequent evolution due to the pressure of positive selection. Individual members of one multigenic family can exert identical, similar, or completely different functions. Pluripotency: in the context of this review, pluripotency means that a single salivary protein displays more than one function. For instance, a protease inhibitor can target more proteases with variable specificity and thus inhibit more physiological processes. Pluripotency can be misidentified if two different observed effects of a given tick protein actually result from the inhibition of the same upstream process.

CellPress



Redundancy: several redundancy scenarios in tick salivary protein function can be anticipated and observed: two or more proteins from one or several different multigenic families (i) target an identical cellular mechanism, or (ii) target different modules of the same cellular or physiological pathway to exert the same final effect on host physiology. Silent antigen: an antigen present on a tick salivary protein that can efficiently raise an antibody response when injected at high concentrations in recombinant form, but is unable to elicit such a response as a part of the physiological salivary mixture. This might be due to the lower concentration of the antigen in tick saliva. The concentration of a given effector in tick saliva is low due to the combination of functionally identical but antigenically different salivary proteins

Trends in Parasitology

Figure 1. Redundancy and Pluripotency in the Action of Tick Salivary Proteins on Host Cellular Processes. Different members of different tick protein families target the same host immune function, or the same protein targets different modules of the host immune response. (A) By inhibiting different immune cell-derived proteases with specific inhibitors, Ixodes spp. ticks can block multiple defense mechanisms. The anti-inflammatory serpin IRS-2 (Ixodes ricinus serpin-2) inhibits mast cell chymase and neutrophil cathepsin G. Both proteases are known to be involved in promoting inflammation. The second of the three major neutrophil serine proteases involved in inflammatory responses, elastase, is inhibited by another serpin, Iris (Ixodes ricinus immunosuppressor). Sialostatin L and L2 are inhibitors of the intracellular cysteine proteases cathepsin L and cathepsin S that contribute to NLRP3 inflammasome activation and the production of the proinflammatory cytokines interleukin-1ß (IL-1ß) and IL-18 in macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs). (B) The cystatin from *lxodes* scapularis, sialostatin L, was shown to inhibit the production of proinflammatory cytokines from DCs, the proliferation of T cells, and the production of IL-9 from type 9 T helper (Th9) cells and mast cells. Another member of an I. scapularis protein family, Salp (Salivary protein) 15, inhibited proliferation of T cells and the production of proinflammatory cytokines from DCs. Finally, the tick salivary serpin Iris also inhibited T cell proliferation. (C) Redundant inhibition of different modules of the interferon- β (IFN- β) signaling pathway by two members of the same multigenic family. Sialostatin L, unlike sialostatin L2, inhibits IFN-β production by DCs. Sialostatin L2, however, inhibits the phosphorylation of STAT-3 in the JAK/ STAT signaling pathway and subsequent expression of several genes downstream from IFN-β-dependent DC activation.

activated by *Borrelia burgdorferii* spirochetes [22]. When this latter study is evaluated in light of the data from another study [23], it appears that two members of the same multigenic family of *I. scapularis* cystatins (namely sialostatin L and sialostatin L2) target different modules of the same pathway. Specifically, the activity of sialostatin L2 (SialoL2) differed from that of SialoL: unlike SialoL, SialoL2 did not affect IFN- β production but instead attenuated STAT phosphorylation in spleen DCs, thus inhibiting JAK/STAT signaling downstream of IFN- β -dependent signaling. As a result, SialoL2 also inhibited IFN- β -dependent expression of the neutrophilattracting chemokines MIP-1 α and IP-10 in DCs [23] (Figure 1C). In summary, these two sialostatins demonstrate that: (i) a single protein can exert several functions, and (ii) members of

CellPress

the same multigenic family, despite sequence similarity, can differ in their activities but have complementary effects (Figure 1B,C).

A second example of a pluripotent tick immunomodulator is the salivary protein (Salp) 15 (Figure 1B), a glycoprotein that belongs to another large protein family present in several *Ixodes* species [24]. Similarly to SialoL, Salp15 displays an effect on both CD4⁺T cells and DCs [25] and it carries out several activities, the most prominent being the direct binding of Salp15 to the CD4 receptor and subsequent inhibition of T cell activation, proliferation, and IL-2 production [26,27]. In DCs, Salp15 interacts with adhesion and receptor molecule DC-SIGN, leading to the inhibition of proinflammatory cytokine production (IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor, TNF) [28]. Inhibition of CD4⁺ T cell proliferation has also been observed with another *lxodes* species-specific protein, the serpin Iris (Ixodes ricinus immunosuppressor) [29]. Therefore, SialoL, Salp15, and Iris represent another type of redundancy in which specific host functions are targeted by phylogenetically distinct proteins (Figure 1B). The concept of pluripotency and redundancy of tick salivary proteins is supported by many other examples: two related lipocalins from Ornithodoros savignyi, tick salivary gland protein (TSGP) 2 and TSGP3, bind to and inhibit complement by inhibiting C5 convertase and also bind to the neutrophil chemoattractant leukotriene B4 [30]. Three lipocalins from Rhipicephalus appendiculatus, Ra-HBP-1, 2, and 3, display histaminebinding features [31], while two members of the Salp16-like family from *Ixodes persulcatus*, Salp16-Iper1 and 2, inhibit neutrophil migration and reactive oxygen species production [32], similarly to two disintegrin members from the ADAMTS (a disintegrin and metalloprotease with thrombospondin motifs) family (ISL 929 and ISL 1373) isolated from I. scapularis [33]. Because they are present in many ixodid species, Salp16-like and ADAMTS protein families represent another example of functional redundancy among different protein family members and among members of a single protein family. It is important to note that not every observed tick salivary protein effect on host immunity has a known mechanistic explanation. Therefore, some effects of a given recombinant tick protein may be indirect rather than direct, in other words they may be caused by modulating upstream components of the same molecular pathway or via pathway crosstalk. For instance, the I. ricinus salivary serpin IRS-2 (Ixodes ricinus serpin-2) was shown to inhibit T cell differentiation into Th17 cells [34]. This effect, however, resulted from upstream inhibition of DC-derived production of the proinflammatory cytokine IL-6 [34]. More detailed mechanistic studies are therefore necessary to determine the primary in vivo targets for each tick salivary protein in question.

When testing tick salivary recombinant proteins in vitro or ex vivo, especially candidate immunodulators, high concentrations of pure recombinant proteins are often needed to achieve a detectable effect. Such high protein concentrations are not usually observed in pure tick saliva, raising the question of whether these proteins really are responsible for the physiological immunomodulatory effects of tick saliva observed both in vivo and in vitro. The observed redundancy in tick salivary immunodulators could explain this need for high protein concentrations in vitro. Because each protein family contains many members with high sequence similarity, it is likely that many of these members share the same function. Therefore, although each protein is present only at low concentrations in the tick saliva, they may act in concert and display an additive (or even synergistic) functional effect that is quantitatively equivalent to a higher concentration of a single protein. Salivary proteins in recombinant form are usually biologically active at concentrations as high as $1-6 \mu M$ [22,28,34]. In the complex salivary mixture, this effective concentration could be achieved by combining numerous redundant proteins (Figure 2A). The functional characterization of five anti-complement multigenic family members from I. ricinus, IxAC-B1-B5, supports this hypothesis [35]: all five proteins inhibit the alternatively activated complement pathway by preventing C3 convertase complex formation despite their differing primary structures [35] and also their epitope structures (Figure 2A). By contrast, some other tick salivary activities are detected at much lower recombinant protein

CellPress



Trends in Parasitology

Figure 2. Redundancy in a Single Multigenic Family and Antigenic Variability. (A) Five members of the anticomplement protein multigenic family IxAC-B1-5 affect the same process: they bind to properdin and thus inhibit the stabilization of the C3 convertase complex which, in consequence, inhibits the activation of the alternative pathway of complement. Because there is a divergence in the primary structures of individual members of IxAC-B family, it is likely that there is epitope variability and, therefore, different antigenicity across family members, while all members exert the same function on the host. Indeed, the study of Couvreur and colleagues supports such a suggestion because the sera raised against IxAC-B1 did not recognize other members of the family [35]. The observed functional (but not antigenic) identity results in a reduction in the amount of protein of each family member that is needed to achieve inhibition of host complement, which in consequence leads to lower immunogenicity and helps to evade effective recognition by the host immune system (amount effect). By contrast, when a single recombinant family member (e.g., IxAC-B4, panel A) is tested in a functional bioassay, its concentration would need to be higher to achieve an observable effect, according to our hypothesis. E1-E5, epitopes 1-5. (B) The sequential expression of members from one multigenic family during feeding results in continuous antigenic shift, while the targeted host process remains blocked. Owing to this change in epitope exposure, an effective and timely antigen-specific response cannot be mounted against the tick salivary immunomodulators. Similarly to other parasites such as Plasmodium spp., Trypanosoma spp., and Schistosoma spp., the antigen switch takes place at the parasite-host interface, which - in the case of ticks - is between the blood and tick saliva. Both simultaneous and sequential expression of several antigenically different family members can result in a silent antigen phenomenon. M1-M5, members 1-5 of a hypothetical multigenic family.

concentrations. This might be explained by the hypothesis that a particular host function, although targeted by these proteins, is not blocked by numerous other tick salivary effectors (and thus assistance in their action is not provided by other salivary effectors) or that the mechanism in question is the primary target of a given salivary effector (the protein is a key modulator of the specific host homeostatic mechanism or pathway). For example, the *l. ricinus* serpin Iris significantly inhibited TNF production in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells at concentrations as low as 25 nM [36], but the contact phase of coagulation and fibrinolysis was affected at much higher concentrations (3–6 μ M) [37]. The serpin superfamily, expressed in *lxodes* spp. salivary glands, contains over 40 members [38]; the Iris reactive center loop with methionine at its main active site, the P1 site, however, is somewhat unique among them. We can therefore speculate that the inhibition of TNF production represents a major Iris function, whereas its anti-hemostatic activity plays only a minor role in concert with other tick inhibitors more specialized for hemostasis inhibition.

Antigenic Variation

The genetic mechanism that drives multigenic family evolution in ticks is a combination of multiple gene duplications and subsequent mutations [15,39,40]. This mechanism, ubiquitous in eukaryotes [41], was also proposed as a hypothesis for multigenic evolution in ticks [42]. This was subsequently supported by a phylogenetic analysis [30] and confirmed experimentally by

CellPress

the analysis of synonymous versus non-synonymous mutation rates in salivary proteins [43]. The latter analysis revealed significantly higher non-synonymous mutation rates in putative secreted proteins compared to other protein groups. During the evolution, newly emerging functional proteins/mutants either retain their original function or gain novel features/activities via a process of positive selection rather than by the accumulation of neutral mutations [10]. Although retaining their original function, divergent (in primary structure) proteins can change their epitope structure and immunogenicity by altering a few amino acids. A similar model was introduced in an attempt to experimentally decrease epitope immunogenicity of hirudin, a medically interesting anticoagulant of parasite origin [44,45]. Another participant in the race to evade and/or exhaust the host immune system is **antigenic variation**, the simultaneous or sequential change in multiple antigens upon host immune system exposure. The mechanism of immune system exhaustion by continuous antigen switching is known to occur in Trypanosoma brucei, the causative agent of sleeping sickness, which can sequentially express around 2000 different surface antigens [46]. Every newly expressed antigen stimulates a massive immune reaction that eliminates the majority of parasites, but some of the surviving individuals with altered surface antigen expression escape from the host antigen-specific reaction and start a new round of multiplication. This results in the typical wave-like course of the disease [47]. Similarly, malarial protozoa Plasmodium spp. also use antigenic diversity to evade immune recognition and elimination by the host immune system [48]. Among non-protozoan pathogens, antigenic variability is exploited by Schistosoma spp. [49] and it also plays an important role in pathogenesis of certain bacteria [50]. Interestingly, antigenic variability mechanisms have evolved several times independently, in other words the molecular and genetic mechanisms underpinning antigenic variability in parasites and pathogens are different. However, all these parasites have in common their contact with blood and the host immune system. All the aforementioned examples relate to endoparasites, and thus the variable antigens are expressed on their surface (which is in contact with host immunity). The equivalent in blood-feeding ectoparasites, such as ixodid ticks, should be the antigenic variability of the salivary proteins that are found at the actual interface between the host immune system and the tick. Indeed, as described in previous sections, similar mechanisms of antigenic variation do seem to exist in ectoparasites, as suggested by several transcriptomic analyses of tick salivary glands throughout feeding. Several multigenic protein family members are expressed sequentially during the progression of tick feeding; at each time-point during feeding a different multigenic family member is expressed in tick salivary glands and secreted into the host [43,51,52] (Figure 2B). The concept of antigenic variability, as a conserved mechanism to evade host immune recognition and responses, may therefore also be applied to blood-feeding ectoparasites, and may represent a ubiquitous mechanism exploited by parasites from very distant phylogenetic groups.

Recombinant Protein Versus Saliva - The Difference in Immunogenicity

In our study from 2008 we describe a discrepancy in the immunogenicity of a recombinant tick salivary protein that was artificially injected into the host at high concentrations versus when it was delivered naturally by multiple exposures of the host to tick saliva as a result of natural tick feeding [53]. Specifically, the tick salivary protein SialoL2 was highly immunogenic in recombinant form, and guinea pig vaccination with high amounts of the protein and subsequent exposure of the guinea pigs to ticks resulted in a strong anti-tick response and significantly higher tick rejection. However, natural exposure of guinea pigs to tick saliva by repeated tick feeding did not lead to SialoL2 recognition by their sera unless the animals were previously artificially vaccinated/sensitized with recombinant protein [53]. The observed discrepancy can have several causes. First, immunogenicity is correlated with antigen concentration, therefore exposure to low levels of an antigen can lead to immunotolerance. Similarly, time-dependent expression of different multigenic protein family members in tick salivary glands limits the time and intensity of the exposure of a given tick antigen to the host immune system, and thus reduces the likelihood of a host developing immunity to a specific protein (Figure 2A,B). Salivary

TREPAR 1476 No. of Pages 10

Trends in Parasitology

proteins are often of relatively low molecular weight, which is also an important factor that, in general, negatively correlates with antigen immunogenicity. Furthermore, the salivary proteins in native state could undergo post-translational modifications that diminish their immunogenicity. To summarize, the low molecular weight, post-translational modifications, time-limited exposure of a single antigen, and low antigen concentration due to the presence of several members of the same protein family in tick saliva (displaying the same function, but not antigenicity) impair



Trends in Parasitology

Figure 3. A Complex Network of Actions in the Vertebrate Host Is Mediated by Tick Salivary Proteins. Pluripotency and redundancy in the action of tick salivary effectors drive the formation of a complex network of molecular interactions between ticks and the hosts they parasitize. Host anti-tick defenses can be schematically divided into four branches - hemostasis (HEM), inflammation (INF), complement (COM), and antigen-specific acquired immune response (AI). Tick saliva contains multigenic protein families with known or unknown function that can together target all host defense mechanisms (the effect on host defense mechanisms is shown as a 'tentacle' in the figure). There is redundancy in their actions both in the frame of a single family and among the members of different families. The individual members of single family can exert the same effect on the host while expressing different antigenic epitopes (as shown in the example of the cystatin family), which leads to immune system evasion. Some pluripotent proteins (e.g., Iris, Sialo L, or Salp15 in the figure, and other so far uncharacterized proteins) could be considered as key factors because they can target more than one branch of immune reaction. We hypothesize that, by targeting these proteins with vaccines, the functional network of tick salivary immunomodulators could be disrupted, leading to stronger host resistance to ticks and to the pathogens that ticks transmit. Abbreviations: ADAMTS, a disintegrin and metalloprotease with thrombospondin motifs; Iris, Ixodes ricinus immunosuppressor; IRS, Ixodes ricinus serpin; RGD, proteins containing the integrin-binding motif (Arg-Gly-Asp); Salp, salivary protein; Sialo, sialostatin; IxAC, Ixodes anti-complement.

Trends in Parasitology, Month Year, Vol. xx, No. yy 7

CellPress

CellPress

antibody production and T cell activation. This could explain why immunomodulatory proteins in tick saliva do not elicit humoral responses despite their immunogenic potential in the recombinant form.

Concluding Remarks

Several important questions persist in tick-host interaction research and the functional characterization of tick secreted salivary proteins, especially in testing them as candidate immunomodulators. Why are these proteins members of large multigenic families? What is the reason for sequential expression of individual family members during tick feeding? What is the purpose of redundancy and pluripotency in salivary protein function and what impact does it have on host humoral recognition and immune response? What are the implications of performing functional characterization of tick salivary proteins in recombinant form? In this article we have attempted to answer these questions by presenting the evidence-base for the herein proposed hypothesis. We hypothesize that the 'raison d'être' of multigenic families among tick salivary secreted proteins lies in their ability to provide sufficient amount of members with the same function, but different antigenicity. Combined with the pluripotency of some key salivary effectors, we can identify a very powerful network of salivary proteins that are functionally interconnected by the pluripotency and redundancy in their actions (Figure 3). This in turn leads to efficient suppression and modulation of important anti-tick defenses of the host, while the antigen-specific immune responses are diminished due to the presence of silent antigens; these silent antigens do not elicit a strong immune response because of their low amount in the tick saliva and low molecular weight. Our hypothesis brings possible explanation to (and is supported by) the fact that researchers need to use relatively high concentrations of pure recombinant tick candidate immunomodulators in bioassays (3-6 µM) to observe an effect [34,37]. Moreover, it prompts the suggestion that some pluripotent proteins (such as Iris, SialoL, Salp15, and other as yet uncharacterized proteins) could be considered as key factors because they can target more than one branch of the host immune response (Figure 3). We hypothesize that the functional network of tick salivary immunomodulators could be disrupted by targeting these proteins with vaccines, leading to stronger host resistance to ticks and to the pathogens that ticks transmit. To prove or disprove this hypothesis is one of the many possible future directions in anti-tick vaccine development (see Outstanding Questions).

Despite the fact that a larger body of experimental evidence from bioassays and/or *in silico* work on transcriptomic and proteomic datasets will be necessary to validate these hypotheses, there is already sufficient accumulated knowledge and data to at least direct the way of designing and developing anti-tick vaccines and to better understand the interface at which pathogen acquisition and/or transmission occur upon tick feeding.

Acknowledgments

We thank Nextgenediting (www.nextgenediting.com) for providing editorial assistance. This work was supported by the Grant Agency of the Czech Republic (GACR grant P502/12/2409 to M.K.), the Czech Academy of Sciences (grant RVO60077344 to the Biology Center – Institute of Parasitology), the 7th Framework Program of the European Commission (FP7; Marie Curie Reintegration grant PIRG07-GA-2010-268177 to M.K. and 16-07117Y to J.C.) and internal grant of the Faculty of Science at the University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice. This publication reflects only the authors' views and the European Commission is not liable for any use that may be made of the information contained herein. M.K. and J.H. F.P. were supported by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) (R01 Al093653), and J.H.F.P. was supported by start-up funds provided by the University of Maryland-Baltimore, School of Medicine. M.K. received support from the Czech Academy of Sciences (Jan Evangelista Purkyně Fellowship). Because this is a governmental work, the work is in the public domain in the USA. Notwithstanding any other agreements, the NIH reserves the right to provide the work to PubMed-Central for display and be use by the public, and PubMedCentral may tag or modify the work consistent with its customary practices. Rights can be established outside the USA subject to a government use license. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Outstanding Questions

Are there some crucial tick salivary components that serve as cornerstones, without which tick feeding would be significantly disrupted?

What is the mechanism behind the regulation of sequential expression of individual protein family members? Is it dependent on tick feeding status?

How can we incorporate the antigenic shuffle during the progress of tick feeding into anti-tick vaccine development?

Are tick-borne pathogens adapted to the change in salivary protein expression and how?
TREPAR 1476 No. of Pages 10

Trends in Parasitology

CelPress

References

- University Press
- 2. Kotal, J. et al. (2015) Modulation of host immunity by tick saliva, J. Proteomics
- 3. Chmelar, J. et al. (2015) Sialomes and mialomes: a systemsbiology view of tick tissues and tick-host interactions. Trends Parasitol. Published online October 28, 2015. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/i.pt.2015.10.002
- 4. Karim, S. et al. (2011) A deep insight into the sialotranscriptome of the gulf coast tick. Amblyomma maculatum, PLoS ONE 6. e28525
- 5. Schwarz, A. et al. (2013) De novo Ixodes ricinus salivary gland transcriptome analysis using two next-generation sequencing methodologies. FASEB J. 27, 4745-4756
- 6. Murphy, K.P. et al. (2012) Janeway's Immunobiology, Garland
- 7. Schwarz, A. et al. (2014) A systems level analysis reveals transcriptomic and proteomic complexity in *Ixodes ricinus* midgut and salivary glands during early attachment and feeding. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 13, 2725-2735
- 8. Francischetti, I.M. et al. (2008) An insight into the salivary transcriptome and proteome of the soft tick and vector of epizootic bovine abortion, Ornithodoros coriaceus. J. Proteomics 71, 493-512
- 9. Hughes, A.L. (1994) The evolution of functionally novel proteins after gene duplication. Proc. Biol. Sci. 256, 119-124
- 10. Kondrashov, F.A. et al. (2002) Selection in the evolution of gene duplications. Genome Biol. 3, RESEARCH0008
- 11. Kondrashov, F.A. (2012) Gene duplication as a mechanism of genomic adaptation to a changing environment. Proc. Biol. Sci. 279. 5048-5057
- 12. Otto, S.P. and Yong, P. (2002) The evolution of gene duplicates. Adv. Genet. 46, 451-483
- 13. Christeller, J.T. (2005) Evolutionary mechanisms acting on proteinase inhibitor variability. FEBS J. 272, 5710-5722
- 14. Schwarz, A. et al. (2014) Understanding the evolutionary structural variability and target specificity of tick salivary Kunitz peptides using next generation transcriptome data. BMC Evol. Biol. 14, 4
- 15. Dai, S.X. et al. (2012) Evolution, expansion and expression of the Kunitz/BPTI gene family associated with long-term blood feeding in Ixodes scapularis, BMC Evol. Biol. 12, 4
- 16. Chmelar, J. et al. (2012) Tick salivary secretion as a source of antihemostatics. J. Proteomics 75, 3842-3854
- 17. Kazimírová, M. (2007) Bioactive compounds in ticks acting on host thrombohemostasis. In Thrombohemostatic Disease Research pp. 02 95-113 (Wiwanitkit, V., ed.), Nova Science Publishers
- 18. Kotsyfakis, M. et al. (2006) Antiinflammatory and immunosuppressive activity of sialostatin L, a salivary cystatin from the tick Ixodes scapularis. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 26298-26307
- 19. Sa-Nunes, A. et al. (2009) The immunomodulatory action of sialostatin L on dendritic cells reveals its potential to interfere with autoimmunity. J. Immunol. 182, 7422-7429
- 20. Horka, H. et al. (2012) The tick salivary protein sialostatin L inhibits the Th9-derived production of the asthma-promoting cytokine IL-9 and is effective in the prevention of experimental asthma, J. Immunol. 188, 2669-2676
- 21. Klein, M. et al. (2015) Tick salivary sialostatin L represses the initiation of immune responses by targeting IRF4-dependent transcription in murine mast cells. J. Immunol. 195,
- 22. Lieskovska, J. et al. (2015) Tick sialostatins L and L2 differentially influence dendritic cell responses to Borrelia spirochetes. Parasites Vectors 8, 275
- 23. Lieskovska, J. et al. (2015) Tick salivary cystatin sialostatin L2 suppresses IFN responses in mouse dendritic cells. Parasite mmunol. 37, 70–78
- 24. Wang, X. et al. (2014) Genetic diversity of Salp15 in the Ixodes ricinus complex (Acari: Ixodidae). PLoS ONE 9, e94131

- 1. Sonenshine, D.E. and Roe, R.M. (2014) Biology of Ticks, Oxford 25. Ramamoorthi, N. et al. (2005) The Lyme disease agent exploits a tick protein to infect the mammalian host. Nature 436. 573-577
 - 26. Garg, R. et al. (2006) Cutting edge: CD4 is the receptor for the tick saliva immunosuppressor, Salp15. J. Immunol. 177, 6579-6583
 - 27. Anguita, J. et al. (2002) Salp15, an Ixodes scapularis salivary protein, inhibits CD4⁺ T cell activation, Immunity 16, 849-859
 - 28. Hovius, J.W. et al. (2008) Salp15 binding to DC-SIGN inhibits cytokine expression by impairing both nucleosome remodeling and mRNA stabilization. PLoS Pathog. 4, e31
 - 29. Leboulle, G. et al. (2002) Characterization of a novel salivary immunosuppressive protein from Ixodes ricinus ticks. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 10083-10089
 - 30. Mans, B.J. and Ribeiro, J.M. (2008) Function, mechanism and evolution of the moubatin-clade of soft tick lipocalins. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 38, 841-852
 - 31. Paesen, G.C. et al. (1999) Tick histamine-binding proteins; isolation, cloning, and three-dimensional structure. Mol. Cell 3, 661-671
 - 32. Hidano, A. et al. (2014) Suppressive effects of neutrophil by Salp16-like salivary gland proteins from Ixodes persulcatus Schulze tick. Insect Mol. Biol. 23, 466-474
 - 33. Guo, X. et al. (2009) Inhibition of neutrophil function by two tick salivary proteins. Infect. Immun. 77, 2320-2329
 - 34. Palenikova, J. et al. (2015) Ixodes ricinus salivary serpin IRS-2 affects Th17 differentiation via inhibition of the interleukin-6/STAT-3 signaling pathway. Infect. Immun. 83, 1949-1956
 - 35. Couvreur, B. et al. (2008) Variability and action mechanism of a family of anticomplement proteins in Ixodes ricinus. PLoS ONE 3, e1400
 - 36. Prevot, P.P. et al. (2009) Exosites mediate the anti-inflammatory effects of a multifunctional serpin from the saliva of the tick Ixodes ricinus. FEBS J. 276, 3235-3246
 - 37. Prevot. P.P. et al. (2006) Anti-hemostatic effects of a seroin from the saliva of the tick Ixodes ricinus, J. Biol. Chem. 281. 26361-26369
 - 38. Mulenga, A. et al. (2009) Ixodes scapularis tick serine proteinase inhibitor (serpin) gene family; annotation and transcriptional analysis. BMC Genomics 10, 217
 - 39. Mans, B.J. et al. (2002) Evolution of hematophagy in ticks: common origins for blood coagulation and platelet aggregation inhibitors from soft ticks of the genus Ornithodoros. Mol. Biol. Evol. 19, 1695-1705
 - 40. Mans, B.J. et al. (2008) Comparative sialomics between hard and soft ticks: implications for the evolution of blood-feeding behavior. Insect Biochem, Mol. Biol. 38, 42-58
 - 41. Andersson, D.I. et al. (2015) Evolution of new functions de novo and from preexisting genes, Cold Spring Harb, Perspect, Biol, 7, a017996
 - 42. Mans, B.J. and Neitz, A.W. (2004) Adaptation of ticks to a bloodfeeding environment: evolution from a functional perspective. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 34, 1-17
 - 43. Kotsyfakis, M. et al. (2015) Tissue- and time-dependent transcription in Ixodes ricinus salivary glands and midguts when blood feeding on the vertebrate host. Sci. Rep. 5, 9103
 - 44, Asgari, S. et al. (2015) Rational design of stable and functional hirudin III mutants with lower antigenicity. Biologicals 43, 479-491
 - 45. Cai, Y. et al. (2015) Computational design, functional analysis and antigenic epitope estimation of a novel hybrid of 12 peptides of hirudin and reteplase. J. Mol. Model. 21, 2774
 - 46. McCulloch, R. and Field, M.C. (2015) Quantitative sequencing confirms VSG diversity as central to immune evasion by Trypanosoma brucei. Trends Parasitol. 31, 346-349
 - 47. Tabel, H. et al. (2008) T cells and immunopathogenesis of experimental African trypanosomiasis. Immunol. Rev. 225, 128-139
 - 48. Guizetti, J. and Scherf, A. (2013) Silence, activate, poise and switch! Mechanisms of antigenic variation in Plasmodium falciparum. Cell. Microbiol. 15, 718-726

TREPAR 1476 No. of Pages 10

Trends in Parasitology



- tosome worms generated by differential splicing of micro-exon gene transcripts. Genome Res. 20, 1112-1121
- 50. Palmer, G.H. et al. (2009) 'Nothing is permanent but change' 53. Kotsyfakis, M. et al. (2008) Cutting edge: Immunity against a antigenic variation in persistent bacterial pathogens. Cell. Microbiol. 11, 1697-1705
- 51. Chmelar, J. et al. (2008) Insight into the sialome of the castor bean tick, Ixodes ricinus. BMC Genomics 9, 233
- 49. DeMarco, R. et al. (2010) Protein variation in blood-dwelling schis- 52. Ribeiro, J.M. et al. (2006) An annotated catalog of salivary gland transcripts from Ixodes scapularis ticks. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 36, 111-129
 - 'silent' salivary antigen of the Lyme vector Ixodes scapularis impairs its ability to feed. J. Immunol. 181, 5209-5212

Review 3

Sialomes and Mialomes: A Systems-Biology View of Tick Tissues and Tick-Host Interactions

Chmelař J, Kotál J, Karim S, Kopacek P, Francischetti IM, Pedra JH, Kotsyfakis M.

Trends Parasitol. 2016 Mar;32(3):242-54

doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2015.10.002

High-throughput approach helped us to comprehensively characterize gene expression in tick salivary glands at both the transcriptome and the proteome level. Primary focus on salivary glands turned also to other organs, such as mid-gut, which is crucial from the blood digestion point of view. The start of employing transcriptomic analyses has been a milestone in the field of tick research, especially with the rapid development of next-generation sequencing (NGS). Furthermore, the application of quantitative proteomics to ticks with unknown genomes has provided deeper insights into the molecular mechanisms underlying tick hematophagy, pathogen transmission, and tick–host–pathogen interactions. In this review, we summarized current knowledge on the transcriptomics and proteomics of tick tissues from a systems-biology perspective. We overviewed different methodical pipelines for the identification of tick salivary proteins and discussed future challenges in the field. We covered all transcriptomic studies available to date and proposed different comparative studies, for which the transcriptomics and proteomics could be used.

Author's contribution:

Author designed the structure of the review, wrote the text, created the figures and revised the manuscript.

Special Issue: Vectors

Review

Sialomes and Mialomes: A Systems-Biology View of Tick Tissues and Tick–Host Interactions

Jindřich Chmelař,^{1,2} Jan Kotál,^{1,3} Shahid Karim,⁴ Petr Kopacek,³ Ivo M.B. Francischetti,⁵ Joao H.F. Pedra,⁶ and Michail Kotsyfakis^{3,*}

Tick saliva facilitates tick feeding and infection of the host. Gene expression analysis of tick salivary glands and other tissues involved in host-pathogen interactions has revealed a wide range of bioactive tick proteins. Transcriptomic analysis has been a milestone in the field and has recently been enhanced by next-generation sequencing (NGS). Furthermore, the application of quantitative proteomics to ticks with unknown genomes has provided deeper insights into the molecular mechanisms underlying tick hematophagy, pathogen transmission, and tick-host-pathogen interactions. We review current knowledge on the transcriptomics and proteomics of tick tissues from a systems-biology perspective and discuss future challenges in the field.

Ticks, Hosts, and Pathogens

Ticks are obligatory ectoparasitic blood feeders that parasitize reptiles, birds, and mammals. Ticks are medically important because they transmit a plethora of pathogenic agents that cause human diseases, including anaplasmosis, ehrlichiosis, babesiosis, rickettsiosis, and others (www.cdc.gov/ticks/diseases/). Lyme borreliosis is a common tick-borne disease worldwide, while tick-borne encephalitis is a public health concern in Europe and Asia (http://ecdc.europa. eu/en/healthtopics/emerging_and_vector-borne_diseases/tick_borne_diseases/tick_borne_encephalitis/pages/index.aspx). Ticks are divided into two major groups: soft ticks (family Argasidae) and hard ticks (family Ixodidae), which differ in their life cycles and blood-feeding strategies [1,2] and, as a consequence, are exposed to different host homeostatic responses. Hemostasis and acute inflammation are common responses to both groups of ticks and form the basis of the host anti-tick response. Hard ticks, however, must also counteract chronic inflammatory responses and specific humoral and cellular immunity [3].

Bellum Omnium Contra Omnes

Dynamic, multi-directional interactions occur between ticks, hosts, and transmitted pathogens in both the tick and host environments, affecting all three members (Figure 1). These can be regarded as a continuous *bellum omnium contra omnes*, or war of all against all. When a tick ingests host blood, hemoglobin is digested and detoxified in the tick gut [4–6], and proteases of host or pathogenic origin are neutralized [7]. Tick midgut proteins and cells interact with ingested tick-borne pathogens, which migrate via the midgut and haemocoel [8–10] to invade the salivary

Trends

The development of high-throughput NGS methodologies has revolutionized research at the vector-pathogen-host interface.

The decrease in sequencing costs and in the quantity of required starting material, as well as higher transcriptome coverage, have improved drastically our understanding of gene expression regulation in tick tissues involved (or not) in pathogen transmission.

High-throughput quantitative proteomics are now feasible even for disease vectors with an unknown genome and have provided deeper insights into the molecular mechanisms underlying hematophagy, pathogen transmission, and tick-pathogen-host interactions.

Emerging high-throughput gene sequencing methodologies and other 'omics' methodologies, such as metabolomics, may soon be applied to this field.

¹Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice, Budweis, Czech Republic ²Department of Clinical Pathobiochemistry, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany ³Institute of Parasitology, Biology Center, Czech Academy of Sciences,

Budweis, Czech Republic







⁴Department of Biological Sciences, The University of Southern Mississippi, Hattiesburg, MS, USA ⁵Section of Vector Biology, Laboratory of Malaria and Vector Research, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health, Rockville, MD, USA ⁶Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

*Correspondence: mich_kotsyfakis@yahoo.com (M. Kotsyfakis).

Trends in Parasitology

Figure 1. The Complex Interactions Between Ticks, Hosts, and Tick-Borne Pathogens. In ticks, the toxic properties of hemoglobin and the deleterious activities of leukocyte-derived proteins are attenuated by protease inhibition, enzymatic digestion of hemoglobin, and toxic iron scavenging [4,7,76]. Ingested pathogens interact with midgut proteins [11,12] and host blood-derived factors before migrating through the tick midgut and hemolymph to interact with the innate immune system of the tick [8,9]. Next, the pathogens migrate to the tick salivary glands, where they proliferate and acquire salivary proteins on their surface [13,14]. Pathogens are then injected into the host along with tick saliva, and tick salivary components begin to suppress the local host homeostatic response that is immediately raised against the tick bite-induced injury, the 'foreign' tick salivary antigens, and the tick-borne pathogens [3,3,16,19,77]. The overall outcome is facilitation of tick feeding and pathogen colonization of the tick, the host, or both.

glands, proliferate, and acquire salivary proteins on their surface. For example, the midgut proteins TROSPA (tick receptor for ospA) and Ixofin3D (*Ixodidae* fibronectin type III domaincontaining tick gut protein) bind to *Borrelia* spirochetes and facilitate midgut colonization and subsequent pathogen transmission to the host [11,12]. Proteins of the Salp15 (salivary protein 15)-like multigene family are produced in the tick salivary glands and bind to *Borrelia* spirochetes to modulate host immunity, thus facilitating infection of the host [13,14]. Tick saliva secreted into the host suppresses local host immune responses, primarily to enable blood acquisition; however, the resulting host immunosuppression facilitates host infection [15–18]. Because tick salivary secretions are the main mediators of host immunosuppression or immunomodulation, salivary composition plays a crucial role in tick-borne pathogen transmission and represents a major topic of interest to researchers in the field [3].

High-throughput approaches such as transcriptomics and proteomics have facilitated the systematic characterization of salivary composition and gene expression dynamics throughout tick feeding. Moreover, high-throughput technologies are useful for investigating the effects of other biological factors such as the sex or developmental stage of ticks or the presence/absence of pathogens in their tissues. We review and discuss the new high-throughput techniques used to study tick–host–pathogen interactions.

On the Path to Sialome Analysis

Tick saliva research has steadily progressed over the past three decades (Figure 2). The known immunomodulatory properties of tick saliva or salivary gland extracts (SGE) (recently reviewed by Kotál and colleagues [19]) has enabled the adoption of a 'function to protein' approach (Figure 2A), in which crude tick saliva fractions or SGEs that retain the biological activity of the starting material have been purified and isolated [20,21]. However, in the best-case scenario, this approach requires large amounts of starting material and only leads to the identification of individual salivary proteins [22,23].

Early reverse genetics approaches (Figure 2B) enabled the search for specific genes by nucleic acid hybridization-based screening of cDNA libraries produced from tick salivary glands [24–26]. Protein-coding cDNAs of interest were cloned, overexpressed using various systems, and their function characterized in bioassays [27,28].

These two low-throughput approaches were subsequently supplemented and supplanted by the rapid development of high-throughput approaches. These have led to the discovery of a hugely diverse set of salivary and midgut proteins acting at the interface of pathogen transmission in both the vector and host (Figure 2C). The terms '**sialome**' and '**mialome**' (see Glossary) were introduced to describe projects that identified hundreds of transcribed genes in tick salivary glands and the midgut, respectively, which were then extensively annotated and catalogued [29–36]. As the tick research community started to embrace transcriptomics many sialomes were published and hundreds of sequences were disclosed in GenBank, which was a real



Trends in Parasitology

Figure 2. A Schematic of the Four Methodological Pipelines for Tick Salivary Protein Identification. (A) Activity to protein identification approach. (B) cDNA library screening for specific genes of interest. (C) Random cDNA library sequencing combined with proteomics. (D) Direct RNA sequencing with next-generation sequencing (NGS) combined with advanced reverse phase liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry [(RP)-LC-MS/MS] proteomics. Main text for details.

Glossary

Contig: consensual DNA sequence assembled from several ESTs during bioinformatics analysis of transcriptomes. Contigs that encode proteins of the same family form clusters. The number of contigs per cluster is used in quantitative analyses, such as for describing gene expression dynamics or comparisons of gene expression at different tick developmental stages.

Edman degradation: Edman

sequencing is still the most robust and fastest approach to sequencing the N terminus of peptides or proteins. Developed by Pehr Edman, in this method, the amino-terminal residue is labeled and cleaved from the peptide without disrupting the peptide bonds between other amino acid residues.

Expressed sequence tag (EST): a single sequence read, usually used in the context of classical Sanger sequencing.

Hemocytome: a hemocyte transcriptome.

Mialome: a midgut transcriptome sometimes coupled with its proteomic analysis. Derived from sialome and midgut.

Next-generation sequencing

(NGS): general term for a group of sequencing platforms that enable massive sequencing of RNA or DNA. Platforms commonly used in this field are 454 pyrosequencing (Roche), Illumina dye sequencing (Illumina, Solexa), and SOLiD sequencing (Life Technologies). Their strength lies in the production of huge numbers of short sequence reads (70–150 nt for Illumina, 200–500 nt for 454) and powerful assembly software that allows the assembly of individual reads into contigs.

Proteomics informed by

transcriptomics (PIT): protein identification based on a transcript sequence database.

(Reverse phase) liquid

chromatography followed by tandem mass spectrometry (RP)-LC-MS/MS: a high-throughput proteomic analysis technique in which proteins are separated by liquid chromatography, followed by two rounds of MS for detection.

Sanger sequencing: the classical sequencing method used in most biological applications before NGS development. Sanger sequencing is based on the incorporation of

breakthrough: for the first time the complexity of gene regulation in tick salivary glands had been itemized. Similarly to earlier reverse genetics strategies, genes of interest were then expressed as recombinant proteins and extensively characterized at the biochemical and biological levels [37–42].

The next important development in studying tick–host–pathogen interactions was the introduction of **next-generation sequencing** (NGS) (Figure 2D). Compared to classical **Sanger sequencing**, NGS platforms such as Illumina or 454 provided unprecedented transcriptome coverage, making them pioneering tools for quantitative analysis of gene expression dynamics in different tick tissues (see below). Some transcriptomics projects were complemented with proteomics (Figures 2C,D). Early proteomic analysis of tick saliva employed **Edman degrada-tion** protein sequencing; in most cases, individual SDS-PAGE gel bands were used for subsequent protein sequencing [29,43]. As transcriptomic coverage improved using NGS, more sensitive mass spectrometry (MS) methods such as **liquid chromatography followed by tandem mass spectrometry** (RP-LC-MS/MS) have simultaneously allowed more thorough and comprehensive analysis of protein expression dynamics [44–46]. This combination of transcriptomics and proteomics is referred to as a 'systems-biology approach' or systems-level analysis.

In the following sections we summarize the knowledge gained over 13 years of tick transcriptomics and proteomics research, and discuss the questions that can now be answered using new high-throughput analyses. Each advance in available technology over time was significant in its own right. As the theme of this review attests, the newest tools are always heralded as the greatest advances. Owing to space constraints, we focus on tick salivary glands, the midgut, and hemocytes.

Finding Missing Pieces of the Puzzle

Early transcriptomics projects on Ixodes spp. [29-31,33,35] provided insights into the qualitative aspects of tick salivary gene expression. Hundreds of transcripts were identified and the mechanisms and trends in salivary protein evolution were described. This provided a foundation for building a comprehensive overview of the molecular interface between ticks, hosts, and transmitted pathogens, which was further facilitated by the functional characterization of the discovered transcripts and proteins. The first tick sialome work by Valenzuela and colleagues revealed various mechanisms of host immune system evasion mediated by the salivary secretions of *lxodes scapularis* and the existence of multigene protein families in secreted saliva [29]. These protein families were subsequently confirmed in other tick species [30,32,34–36,47]. The major groups of secreted proteins common in most tick species are described in Figure 3. Despite efforts to identify as many transcripts as possible using transcriptomics, new family members were still being identified using more specific approaches such as cDNA library screening with gene-specific probes or RT-PCR with degenerate primers [38,48]. It was clear, therefore, that coverage of genetic diversity using expensive Sanger sequencing alone was insufficient. Nevertheless, the annotated sequencing data supported the adoption of proteomics informed by transcriptomics (PIT), in other words, the identification of salivary proteins (mainly by Edman degradation) based on the discovered transcript sequences. The main qualitative improvement brought by NGS was the ability to detect large numbers of novel transcripts because of its capacity to detect even weakly expressed genes by extensive transcriptomic coverage. NGS has thus provided a more complete picture of tick gene expression and its regulation, and in doing so confirmed the presence of major protein families across tick species, the most represented (in terms of diversity and transcription rate) being Kunitzdomain proteins, lipocalins, metalloproteases, and basic tail proteins [49-51]. These families contain tens to hundreds of members of varying sequence similarity. The initial discovery of

fluorescently labeled dideoxynucleotides that stop polymerase activity and label DNA fragments, which are subsequently subjected to capillary electrophoresis and laser detection of fluorescence. The advantage of this method is the resulting long reads; one read can cover up to 1000 nt. Sialome: a salivary gland transcriptome, sometimes coupled with its proteome analysis; usually used in the context of hematophagous arthropods. Sialome is a composite of the Greek word for saliva (sialos) and 'transcriptome'. Unique transcript: a cDNA sequence originating from the reverse transcription of mRNA and coding for

a single protein.



Trends in Parasitology

Figure 3. Major Multigene Families Identified by High-Throughput Transcriptomic Analysis of Tick Salivary Glands and their Effect on Host Homeostasis. These families include serine protease inhibitors [serpins: Kunitz or trypsin inhibitor-like (TIL)-domain proteins], cystatins, lipocalins (histamine-binding proteins), disintegrins, metalloproteases, and several novel protein families with little or no similarity to other proteins: basic tail, salivary protein 15 (Salp15), and evasins. Many other multigene families, although less abundant, are found in sialomes. Yellow-red rectangles represent the tick salivary contents.

multigene families in early transcriptomic studies provided the basis for efforts to decipher the function of each individual family member at the protein level [17,52,53]. The higher transcriptomic coverage and greater insights into the expression dynamics of individual transcripts provided by NGS significantly improved our ability to predict the function and importance of individual family members in tick survival and pathogen transmission.

Evolutionary Insights

High sequence similarity between members of multigene salivary protein families suggests that they originate from common ancestors that underwent multiple gene duplication events and subsequent mutations with divergent evolution [2,54,55]. Recent NGS-based *lxodes ricinus* transcriptome analysis have provided convincing experimental support for this hypothesis [56]. The authors analyzed synonymous (Syn) and non-synonymous (NS) mutation rates for several multigene families. The highest NS mutation rate was detected in genes coding for unknown, secreted, and immunity-related proteins, suggesting an accelerated mutation rate in these gene groups. Phylogenetic analysis across tick species showed that certain branches (clades) of the phylogenetic tree were preferentially occupied by family members originating from a single tick species [49,50]; in other words, most gene duplications (and thus most proteins) in multigene families are tick lineage-specific, in accordance with previously published studies [55]. Thanks to the much higher transcriptomic coverage by NGS and new computational and bioinformatics approaches, phylogenetic analyses provide more information about multigene protein family evolution [57]. Furthermore, two NGS projects provided solid evidence that accelerated tick



evolution is related to hematophagy. In the first, Ribeiro and colleagues showed that nonhematophagous adult *Antricola delacruzi* females displayed the highest divergence from other hematophagous species with respect to secreted salivary proteins [58]. In the second, comparison of male and female *Rhipicephalus pulchellus* revealed a list of hematophagyrelated genes because males do not feed on blood [46]. These examples show that large transcriptomic datasets can provide the foundation for studying the evolution of hematophagy in arthropods.

When More Is Better

The main advantage of NGS-based transcriptomics, however, lies in its ability to quantitatively describe transcriptome dynamics. Gene discovery from classical Sanger sequencing and NGS projects are compared in Table 1. The most extensive Sanger sequencing analysis revealed 13 643 and 12 319 unique transcripts in mixed libraries from Rhipicephalus microplus [47] and Amblyomma americanum [59], respectively; the usual number of unique sequences in similar projects is around 1000. NGS-based transcriptome projects, by contrast, can produce hundreds of thousands of assembled contigs [50] and over 50 000 unique transcripts [46,60]. On average, around 16 000 unique transcripts have been discovered in NGS projects on ticks, around 10-fold higher than Sanger sequencing in terms of novel transcript identification, and around 100-200-fold higher in terms of total contigs. The latter number is particularly important for the quantitative analysis of tick physiology: the unprecedented transcriptome coverage by NGS enables statistically reliable analysis of gene expression dynamics of secreted salivary proteins throughout the course of tick feeding, the comparison of tissue- and developmental stage-specific transcript accumulation, and metabolic pathway analysis [55,56]. Furthermore, different physiological conditions can be compared, for example changes in transcriptional regulation in the presence or absence of tickborne pathogens and the influence of different host species on gene regulation in different tick tissues (see below and Figure 4).

Gene Expression Dynamics During Tick Feeding

One of the most important questions in tick-host-pathogen interactions is how tick salivary gland gene expression contributes to host homeostasis, pathogen transmission, and disease. In 2006, Ribeiro and colleagues observed that there were 20 genes at least twofold more abundant than expected in the cDNA library originating from the salivary glands of adult *I. scapularis* females 18-24 h after attachment [31]. These transcripts were collagen-like proteins, Kunitz domain-containing proteins, basic tail proteins, and several proteins of unknown function. Similarly, seven genes significantly differed from random in ticks 3-4 days after host feeding, but each transcript belonged to a different family. Interestingly, different members of the same protein family were expressed at different time-points of tick feeding [31]. Similarly, individual collagen-like protein family members were preferentially transcribed at specific tick feeding phases in the first *I. ricinus* sialome project [35]. This time-dependent preferential gene expression was recently confirmed in an NGS transcriptional analysis of metalloproteases, Kunitz domain-containing proteins, and lipocalins [56]. In the same study, greater than 10-fold tick feeding time dependent difference was observed for 1447 genes expressed in the salivary glands, of which 1135 encoded secreted proteins. The most represented protein families were Kunitz domain-containing proteins followed by Salp15/ixostatin family members, lipocalins, metalloproteases, and several novel protein family members of unknown function [56]. A very recent NGS study analyzed Amblyomma americanum salivary glands at four feeding time-points and confirmed time-dependent preferential gene expression in another medically important tick [61]. The genetic mechanisms underpinning sequential expression of individual members of a multigene family are unknown. However, transposable elements and genes of viral origin are consistently being detected in sialomes, suggesting that there are active changes in the tick genomic structure [49,56]. Together with the observed influence of histone modifications on

Trends in Parasitology

CellPress

Table I	. Companson	Dermeen C	lassical Saliyer Se	equencing and	1001003	Flationis	(454 and 110	mina)
Year	Sequencing Method	Tissue	Species	Total Reads	Average Read Length	Good Quality EST	Unique Sequences	Refs
2002	Sanger	SG	lxodes scapularis	735	-	735	410	[29]
2004	Sanger	SG	Rhipicephalus appendiculatus	28 416	670/780	19 046	7359	[66]
2004	Sanger	SG	Rhipicephalus microplus	-	-	324	188	[78]
2004	Sanger	HC	Rhipicephalus microplus	-	-	196	157	[78]
2005	Sanger	SG	lxodes pacificus	-	487	1068	557	[30]
2006	Sanger	SG	lxodes scapularis	8150	-	7476	3020	[31]
2007	Sanger	SG	Dermacentor andersoni	1440	600	1299	762	[32]
2007	Sanger	ML	Rhipicephalus microplus	42 512	-	-	13 643	[47]
2008	Sanger	SG	Amblyomma cajannense	1920	472	1754	1234	[79]
2008	Sanger	MG	Dermacentor variabilis	2304	-	1679	835	[33]
2008	Sanger	SG	Ixodes ricinus	2304	503	1881	1274	[35]
2008	Sanger	SG	Ornithodoros coriaceus	-	-	1089	726	[43]
2008	Sanger	SG	Ornithodoros parkeri	-	-	1 529	649	[34]
2009	Sanger	SG	Amblyomma americanum	-	-	3868	2002	[36]
2010	Sanger	SG	Rhipicephalus sanguineus	-	-	2034	1024	[80]
2010	454	AF	Dermacentor variabilis	233 335	203	-	38 683	[67]
2011	Sanger	SG	Hyalomma marginatum rufipes	-	-	2084	1167	[81]
2011	454	SG	Amblyomma maculatum	1 626 969	-	190 646	15 814	[49]
2011	454	AF	Ixodes ricinus	60 186	227	-	-	[74]
2012	Sanger	Larvae	Rhipicephalus microplus	-	-	-	775	[68]
2012	Sanger	SG	Antricola delacruzi	-	-	1147	923	[58]
2013	Sanger	ML	Amblyomma americanum	20 256	-	15 390	12 319	[59]
2013	Sanger	MG	Rhipicephalus microplus	5000	-	4054	1628	[82]
2013	Illumina	Nymphs	Ixodes ricinus	162 000 000	101	-	-	[72]
2013	454	SG	Ixodes ricinus	441 381	518	93 331	34 560 ^b	[50]
2013	Illumina	SG	Ixodes ricinus	67 703 183	90	269 600	34 560 ^b	[50]
2014	Illumina	SG	Amblyomma americanum	18 800 000	-	-	17 593	[64]

Table 1. Comparison Between Classical Sanger Sequencing and Two NGS Platforms (454 and Illumina)^a

Trends in Parasitology

CellPress

Table 1.	(continued)

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							
Year	Sequencing Method	Tissue	Species	Total Reads	Average Read Length	Good Quality EST	Unique Sequences	Refs
2014	Illumina	Larvae	Dermacentor reticulatus	21 677 414	207	18 946	3808	[45]
2014	Illumina	SG + MG	lxodes ricinus	585 000 000	-	198 504	25 808	[44]
2014	454	SG	Amblyomma cajennense	67 677	-	-	4604	[51]
2014	454	SG	Amblyomma parvum	104 817	-	-	3796	[51]
2014	454	SG	Amblyomma triste	442 756	-	-	1124	[51]
2014	454	SG	lxodes ricinus	778 598	379	-	24 539	[70]
2015	454	HC	Ixodes ricinus	926 596	498	-	15 716 ^b	[65]
2015	Illumina	HC	lxodes ricinus	49 328 982	148	-	15 716 ^b	[65]
2015	Illumina	SG	Amblyomma americanum	344 909 378	101	-	5792	[61]
2015	Illumina	SG	Haemaphysalis flava	162 912 848	100	70 542	54 357	[60]
2015	Illumina	SG + MG	lxodes ricinus	268 914 130	-	-	25 808	[56]
2015	Illumina	SG	lxodes scapularis	28 000 000	101	-	11 105	[71]
2015	Illumina	MG	lxodes scapularis	26 000 000	101	-	12 651	[71]
2015	Illumina	Nymphs	lxodes scapularis	31 000 000	101	-	16 083	[71]
2015	Illumina	AF	lxodes scapularis	3 700 000	-	-	9134	[63]
2015	Illumina	SG	Rhipicephalus pulchellus	241 229 128	-	-	50 460	[46]

^aAbbreviations: AF, adult female, whole body; HC, hemocytes; MG, midgut; ML, mixed library from several tissues; SG, salivary gland; '-', not indicated in the study.

^bSum of transcripts identified by both 454 and Illumina sequencing.

gene expression in *Amblyomma maculatum* [62], we can hypothesize that sequential transcriptional regulation is epigenetically regulated [56]. The benefit of shifts in sequential gene expression between different members of the same protein family is still only speculative but may reflect the need to evade immune recognition by the host.

Tissue- and Life Stage-Specific Transcriptional Regulation

Quantitative transcriptomic analysis has also been performed in *l. ricinus* according to tissue (salivary glands vs midgut) and developmental stage (nymphs vs adults). Multiple pairwise comparisons between nymph and adult female midguts and salivary glands at different tick feeding time-points revealed over 8300 genes with at least 10-fold differences in gene expression in salivary glands and midguts [56]. A systems-biology analysis of *l. ricinus* salivary glands and midguts revealed some discrepancies between the transcriptomic and proteomic analyses [44]: of a total of 1510 genes were expressed at both transcriptomic and proteomic levels in the specific tick tissues, 373 proteins were more abundant in the salivary glands than in the midgut, but only 110 of these displayed corresponding transcript accumulation in the same tissue. Conversely, 217 proteins were significantly upregulated in the tick midgut versus salivary glands, but only 93 had a similar transcriptional pattern. The authors explained this discrepancy by the delay between activation of the transcriptional and translational machinery or by tissue-specific pre-synthesis (or secretion) of some tick proteins. More detailed analysis revealed that the majority of over-represented salivary gland proteins were secreted proteins or connected to the



Trends in Parasitology

parisons that Can Be Performed by Next-Generation Sequencing. (A) Comparisons were made between various tick developmental stages, [51,56] and as a function of tick blood feeding progress [50,56,60,61,64]. Differences in gene expression regulation were analyzed in the presence (infected ticks shown with green color in the figure) or absence of pathogens in ticks [70,71,82]. Transcriptional regulation was also compared between male and female adult ticks [63], and between adult female ticks upon primary (feeding on naive host) or secondary infestation of the same host (the host was exposed to ticks for the second time) [46]. Comparisons of transcription regulation in tick salivary glands (SG), midgut (MG), and hemocytes (HC) (see inset) were performed at different tick developmental stages either infected or non-infected with various tick-borne pathogens [44,56,65]. Other tick tissues analyzed by transcriptomics include synganglia and male and female reproductive organs; owing to space constraints we do not discuss these projects further, but details can be found in [78,83-87]. (B) The analysis of various tick-dwelling microorganisms (tick microbiome analysis and exploring host species-dependent pathogen diversity in ticks) revealed a high number of bacteria and protozoa in ticks [72,73,75].

protein modification machinery, while over-represented midgut proteins were mainly metabolic [44]. While transcriptomics provides only putative (although often precise) information on salivary composition, proteomics reveals the actual composition, making these two approaches complementary.

The experimental design of transcriptomic projects largely depends on the question being asked. Therefore, we can expect future NGS transcriptomic or systems level analyses to focus on specific questions concerning individual genes, protein families, or physiological phenomena related to the tick life cycle. For instance, Lewis and colleagues constructed and sequenced a cDNA library of tick immunogens by phage-display library screening of *I. scapularis* females fed for 24 h with serum collected from rabbits sensitized by repeat exposure to ticks. They found 182 contigs that were considered immunogenic and usable for potential vaccine development [63]. A similar approach was used to identify 895 potential immunogens in the salivary glands of *Ammblyoma americanum* [64]. The influence of stress on unfed *Dermacentor reticulatus* gene expression was studied using a systems-biology approach and revealed hundreds of stress-activated genes that could be potentially targeted to develop novel tick-control methods [45].

In addition to the midgut and salivary glands, hemocytes also appear to be an important interface between the tick and pathogens. Characterization of the *l. ricinus* hemocyte transcriptome (**hemocytome**) revealed the existence of important immune-related proteins in these ancient phagocytic ancestors of mammalian leukocytes [65]. The identified transcripts encoded proteins similar to defensins, pattern recognition receptors, proteases, protease inhibitors, and others. However, in contrast to 8300 genes with more than 10-fold difference in expression in salivary



glands or the midgut, only 327 were expressed at least fivefold more in hemocytes compared to other tissues [65].

Ticks Versus Pathogens

The question of how pathogens affect tick gene expression has been addressed in several studies. In 2004, Nene and colleagues compared the sialomes of Rhipicephalus appendiculatus ticks with or without Theileria parva infection but did not find any significant differences in gene expression [66]. Ribeiro and colleagues identified ten differentially expressed contigs in I. scapularis nymph salivary glands with or without Borrelia burgdorferi infection [31], and these belonged to the 5.3 kDa family, the basic tail protein family, or were histamine-binding proteins in the lipocalin superfamily. Notably, some lipocalin genes were overexpressed in infected ticks and others in uninfected ticks. Jaworski and colleagues used 454 pyrosequencing to characterize the immune response of Dermacentor variabilis after injection with different bacterial species [67]. In whole-body sample analyses, the authors identified over 30 immune-responsive genes, including genes encoding serpins, calreticulin, superoxide dismutase, galectin, and defensins. Interestingly, transcriptional upregulation in response to bacterial infection was only confirmed in seven genes by RT-PCR [67]. Similarly, 26 differentially expressed genes were identified by cDNA library subtraction and classical Sanger sequencing after infection of Rhipicephalus microplus with Babesia bovis [68]. The upregulated genes were mostly related to metabolism and tick immunity, indicating that Babesia bovis is a physiological burden in infected ticks. In contrast to the low number of genes identified in these studies, infection of R. microplus with Anaplasma marginale affected the expression of 888 midgut genes and 146 salivary gland genes, mostly of unknown function, as reveled by microarray analysis [69]. In another study, infection of I. ricinus with Bartonella henselae resulted in transcriptional upregulation of 829 genes and downregulation of 517 genes in salivary glands [70]. Similar to the observations of Ribeiro et al. [31], these genes belonged to the same multigene families, with particular members being upregulated and others downregulated on infection. In the same study, Liu and colleagues revealed that IrSPI (I. ricinus serine protease inhibitor 1), a Kunitz protease inhibitor, was most upregulated after infection with B. henselae. IrSPI was shown to facilitate tick feeding and the proliferation of the pathogen in the tick salivary glands [70]. A very thorough NGS-based analysis focused on apoptotic pathway changes in I. scapularis infected with Anaplasma phagocytophilum [71]. The authors revealed pathogen-driven inhibition of apoptosis that facilitated establishment of the pathogen via upregulation of Janus kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK/STAT) signaling in the tick. This is an excellent example of how huge NGS datasets can be used to answer specific questions. Such analyses of specific metabolic and signaling pathways can be useful not only for disclosing differences in gene expression between two physiological states (e.g., non-infected vs infected ticks) but also for detailed characterization of the molecular pathways that mediate tick physiology.

An NGS approach was also successfully used to analyze the spectrum of pathogens present in *I. ricinus* [72]. In total, 12 bacterial pathogens were identified, including known pathogens such as *Borrelia afzeli, B. garini, B. burgdorferi* s.s., *Anaplasma phagocytophilum*, but also new and unexpected species such as *Borrelia miyamotoi* or *Bartonella henselae*, *Bartonella graham*, and *Rickettsia felis*. The same group used the same dataset to identify protozoan parasites [73]. Similarly, both known and unknown species infecting *I. ricinus* were revealed by data analysis. Carpi and colleagues combined *I. ricinus* 454 pyrosequencing data and cDNA libraries to identify over 100 bacterial genera, both pathogenic and symbiotic [74]. These projects highlight the potential of NGS for tick-borne pathogen identification. NGS has also been used several times in tick research to analyze symbiotic bacteria and the midgut microbiome, as recently reviewed by Narasimhan and Fikrig [75].

Concluding Remarks

Tick transcriptomics has undergone rapid and impressive progress owing to technical developments in NGS and proteomics; this, in turn, has allowed not only the identification of tick transcripts but also the detailed analysis of transcriptional and translational dynamics. It is now feasible to describe the detailed proteome dynamics of tick salivary glands and midguts for over 1500 proteins in ticks with unknown genomes [44]. Therefore, the latest technical developments have resulted in at least an order of magnitude increase in the number of identified transcripts and proteins compared to early sialome and mialome projects. There is no doubt that there is room for further research in this field, regardless of whether the focus is on the evolution of the tripartite interaction between ticks, hosts, and tick-borne pathogens, the gene expression dynamics of hematophagy-related genes, or even the physiological or ecological aspects of tick biology (see Outstanding Questions). Furthermore, there remains an open question about the real-time changes occurring in tick tissues in response to gene and protein expression changes in the host skin and in lymph nodes draining the bite site. More importantly, there are still many topics in disease vector genomics that remain barely investigated, such as the role of epigenetics, non-coding genomic regions, and non-coding RNAs in the tripartite interaction. Finally, we anticipate the development of research projects that employ single-cell/singlemolecule sequencing methodologies and do not require nucleic acid amplification. Furthermore, other '-omics' approaches such as metabolomics may shed additional light on the physiology of this tripartite interaction. The increasing impact of vector-borne diseases in human and veterinary public health mandates the use of cutting-edge technologies to rapidly develop novel control methods and tools.

Acknowledgments

We thank Nextgenediting (nextgenediting.com) for providing editorial assistance. This work was supported by the Grant Agency of the Czech Republic (GACR grant P502/12/2409 to M.K. and grant 13-11043S to P.K.), the Czech Academy of Sciences (grant RVO60077344 to the Biology Center, Institute of Parasitology), and the 7th Framework Program of the European Commission (FP7; Marie Curie Reintegration grant PIRG07-GA-2010-268177 to M.K.). This publication reflects only the view of the authors; the European Commission is not liable for any use that may be made of the information contained herein. M.K. and J.H.F.P. were supported by the National Institutes of Health (R01 Al093653) and J.H.F.P. was supported by start-up funds provided by the University of Maryland-Baltimore, School of Medicine. I.M.B.F. was supported by the Intramural Research Program of the Division of Intramural Research, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID), National Institutes of Health (NIH; USA). M.K. received support from the Czech Academy of Sciences (Jan Evangelista Purkyne Fellowship). Because I.M.B.F. is a government employee and this is a government work, the work is in the public domain in the USA. Notwithstanding any other agreements, the NIH reserves the right to provide the work to PubMedCentral for display and be use by the public, and PubMedCentral may tag or modify the work consistent with its customary practices. Rights can be established outside the USA subject to a government use license. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Resources

- ⁱ 454: http://454.com/downloads/GSFLXApplicationFlyer_FINALv2.pdf
- ⁱⁱ Illumina: www.illumina.com/technology/next-generation-sequencing.html
- ⁱⁱⁱ Ion Torrent: www.thermofisher.com/gr/en/home/brands/ion-torrent.html
- ^{iv} PacBio: www.pacificbiosciences.com/
- ^v Nanopore sequencing: https://nanoporetech.com/applications/dna-nanopore-sequencing

References

- edn), Oxford University Press
- feeding environment: evolution from a functional perspective. Insect. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 34, 1-17
- interface: host defenses, tick countermeasures, and a suitable environment for pathogen establishment. Front. Microbiol. 4, 337
- 1. Sonenshine, D.E. and Roe, R.M. (2014) Biology of Ticks. (2nd 4. Sojka, D. et al. (2013) New insights into the machinery of blood digestion by ticks. Trends Parasitol. 29, 276-285
- 2. Mans, B.J. and Neitz, A.W. (2004) Adaptation of ticks to a blood- 5. Horn, M. et al. (2009) Hemoglobin digestion in blood-feeding ticks: mapping a multipeptidase pathway by functional proteomics. Chem. Biol. 16, 1053-1063
- 3. Wikel, S. (2013) Ticks and tick-borne pathogens at the cutaneous 6. Franta, Z. et al. (2010) Dynamics of digestive proteolytic system during blood feeding of the hard tick Ixodes ricinus. Parasit. Vectors 3, 119

Outstanding Questions

Will the new, emerging nucleotide sequence analysis methods improve assembly of transcriptome reads into contigs for organisms with an unknown genome by providing longer sequencing reads?

What changes in knowledge can we expect from transcriptomic and proteomic analyses at the individual tick level, which are now becoming feasible given the decreased amount of starting material needed in such analyses?

Decreasing costs will boost the adoption of systems-biology approaches and genome sequencing projects in this field. How much of an impact will this have on our understanding of the tick life cycle and hematophagy in molecular and evolutionary terms?

What real-time changes occur in tick tissues in response to gene and protein expression changes in the host skin and the lymph notes draining the bite site?

How soon will we be able to deploy other '-omics' approaches, such as metabolomics, in this field?

- Buresova, V. et al. (2009) IrAM an alpha2-macroglobulin from the hard tick kodes ricinus: characterization and function in phagocytosis of a potential pathogen *Chryseobacterium indologenes*. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.* 33, 489–498
- Kopacek, P. et al. (2012) Tick as a model for the study of a primitive complement system. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 710, 83–93
- Hajdusek, O. et al. (2013) Interaction of the tick immune system with transmitted pathogens. Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol. 3, 26
- de Silva, A.M. et al. (2009) Molecular characterization of the tick– Borrelia interface. Front. Biosci. (Landmark Ed) 14, 3051–3063
- 11. Pal, U. *et al.* (2004) TROSPA, an *Ixodes scapularis* receptor for *Borrelia burgdorferi. Cell* 119, 457–468
- Narasimhan, S. et al. (2014) A tick gut protein with fibronectin III domains aids Borrelia burgdorferi congregation to the gut during transmission. PLoS Pathog. 10, e1004278
- Ramamoorthi, N. et al. (2005) The Lyme disease agent exploits a tick protein to infect the mammalian host. Nature 436, 573–577
- Wang, X. et al. (2014) Genetic diversity of Salp15 in the lxodes ricinus complex (Acari: lxodidae). PLoS ONE 9, e94131
- Liu, X.Y. and Bonnet, S.I. (2014) Hard tick factors implicated in pathogen transmission. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 8, e2566
- Kazimirova, M. and Stibraniova, I. (2013) Tick salivary compounds: their role in modulation of host defences and pathogen transmission. Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol. 3, 43
- Kotsyfakis, M. et al. (2010) The crystal structures of two salivary cystatins from the tick *lxodes scapularis* and the effect of these inhibitors on the establishment of *Borrelia burgdorferi* infection in a murine model. *Mol. Microbiol.* 77, 456–470
- Schuijt, T.J. et al. (2011) A tick mannose-binding lectin inhibitor interferes with the vertebrate complement cascade to enhance transmission of the lyme disease agent. *Cell Host Microbe* 10, 136–146
- Kotal, J. *et al.* (2015) Modulation of host immunity by tick saliva. J. Proteomics 128, 58–68
- Viljoen, G.J. et al. (1986) Isolation of a neurotoxin from the salivary glands of female *Rhipicephalus evertsi evertsi*. J. Parasitol. 72, 865–874
- Ribeiro, J.M. (1987) Ixodes dammini: salivary anti-complement activity. Exp. Parasitol. 64, 347–353
- Liu, Z. et al. (2008) Purification and cloning of a novel antimicrobial peptide from salivary glands of the hard tick, *Ixodes sinensis*. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B: Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 149, 557–561
- Karczewski, J. et al. (1994) Disagregin is a fibrinogen receptor antagonist lacking the Arg-Gly-Asp sequence from the tick, Ornithodoros moubata. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 6702–6708
- Leboulle, G. et al. (2002) Isolation of Ixodes ricinus salivary gland mRNA encoding factors induced during blood feeding. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 66, 225–233
- Zhang, H. *et al.* (2011) Identification of a cysteine-rich antimicrobial peptide from salivary glands of the tick *Rhipicephalus haemaphy*saloides. *Peptides* 32, 441–446
- Lu, X. et al. (2010) A novel defensin-like peptide from salivary glands of the hard tick, *Haemaphysalis longicornis. Protein Sci.* 19, 392–397
- Leboulle, G. et al. (2002) Characterization of a novel salivary immunosuppressive protein from *lxodes ricinus* ticks. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 10083–10089
- Deruaz, M. et al. (2008) Ticks produce highly selective chemokine binding proteins with antiinflammatory activity. J. Exp. Med. 205, 2019–2031
- Valenzuela, J.G. et al. (2002) Exploring the sialome of the tick lxodes scapularis. J. Exp. Biol. 205, 2843–2864
- Francischetti, I.M. et al. (2005) The transcriptome of the salivary glands of the female western black-legged tick *Ixodes pacificus* (Acari: Ixodidae). *Insect. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 35, 1142–1161
- Ribeiro, J.M. et al. (2006) An annotated catalog of salivary gland transcripts from *Ixodes scapularis* ticks. *Insect. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 36, 111–129
- Alarcon-Chaidez, F.J. *et al.* (2007) Transcriptome analysis of the salivary glands of *Dermacentor andersoni Stiles* (Acari: Ixodidae). *Insect. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 37, 48–71

- 33. Anderson, J.M. et al. (2008) Exploring the mialome of ticks: an annotated catalogue of midgut transcripts from the hard tick, Dermacentor variabilis (Acari: Ixodidae). BIMC Genomics 9, 552
- Francischetti, I.M. et al. (2008) An insight into the sialome of the soft tick, Ornithodorus parkeri. Insect. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 38, 1–21
- Chmelar, J. et al. (2008) Insight into the sialome of the castor bean tick, Ixodes ricinus. BMC Genomics 9, 233
- Aljamali, M.N. et al. (2009) Transcriptome analysis of the salivary glands of the female tick Amblyomma americanum (Acari: Ixodidae). Insect. Mol. Biol. 18, 129–154
- Hidano, A. et al. (2014) Suppressive effects of neutrophil by Salp16-like salivary gland proteins from Ixodes persulcatus Schulze tick. Insect. Mol. Biol. 23, 466–474
- Chmelar, J. et al. (2011) A tick salivary protein targets cathepsin G and chymase and inhibits host inflammation and platelet aggregation. Blood 117, 736–744
- Kotsyfakis, M. et al. (2006) Antiinflammatory and immunosuppressive activity of sialostatin L, a salivary cystatin from the tick *lxodes* scapularis. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 26298–26307
- Lieskovska, J. et al. (2015) Tick sialostatins L and L2 differentially influence dendritic cell responses to *Borrelia* spirochetes. *Parasit. Vectors* 8, 275
- Palenikova, J. et al. (2015) Ixodes ricinus salivary serpin IRS-2 affects Th17 differentiation via inhibition of the interleukin-6/STAT-3 signaling pathway. Infect. Immun. 83, 1949–1956
- Ibelli, A.M. et al. (2014) A blood meal-induced lxodes scapularis tick saliva serpin inhibits trypsin and thrombin, and interferes with platelet aggregation and blood clotting. Int. J. Parasitol. 44, 369–379
- Francischetti, I.M. et al. (2008) An insight into the salivary transcriptome and proteome of the soft tick and vector of epizootic bovine abortion, Ornithodoros coriaceus. J. Proteomics 71, 493–512
- 44. Schwarz, A. et al. (2014) A systems level analysis reveals transcriptomic and proteomic complexity in *Ixodes ricinus* midgut and salivary glands during early attachment and feeding. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 13, 2725–2735
- Villar, M. et al. (2014) A systems biology approach to the characterization of stress response in *Dermacentor reticulatus* tick unfed larvae. *PLoS ONE* 9, e89564
- Tan, A.W. et al. (2015) Sexual differences in the sialomes of the zebra tick, Rhipicephalus pulchellus. J. Proteomics 117, 120–144
- Wang, M. et al. (2007) Global comparative analysis of ESTs from the southern cattle tick, *Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) microplus*. *BMC Genomics* 8, 368
- Mulenga, A. et al. (2007) Molecular and expression analysis of a family of the Amblyomma americanum tick Lospins. J. Exp. Biol. 210, 3188–3198
- Karim, S. et al. (2011) A deep insight into the sialotranscriptome of the gulf coast tick, Amblyomma maculatum. PLoS ONE 6, e28525
- Schwarz, A. et al. (2013) De novo lxodes ricinus salivary gland transcriptome analysis using two next-generation sequencing methodologies. FASEB J. 27, 4745–4756
- Garcia, G.R. et al. (2014) The sialotranscriptome of Amblyomma triste, Amblyomma parvum and Amblyomma cajennense ticks, uncovered by 454-based RNA-seq. Parasit. Vectors 7, 430
- Guo, X. et al. (2009) Inhibition of neutrophil function by two tick salivary proteins. Infect. Immun. 77, 2320–2329
- 53. Francischetti, I.M. et al. (2002) Ixolaris, a novel recombinant tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI) from the salivary gland of the tick, *Ixodes scapularis*: identification of factor X and factor Xa as scaffolds for the inhibition of factor VIIa/tissue factor complex. *Blood* 99, 3602–3612
- Dai, S.X. et al. (2012) Evolution, expansion and expression of the Kunitz/BPTI gene family associated with long-term blood feeding in *lxodes scapularis*. BMC Evol. Biol. 12, 4
- Mans, B.J. et al. (2008) Comparative sialomics between hard and soft ticks: implications for the evolution of blood-feeding behavior. Insect. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 38, 42–58

Trends in Parasitology

- Kotsyfakis, M. et al. (2015) Tissue- and time-dependent transcription in *Ixodes ricinus* salivary glands and midguts when blood feeding on the vertebrate host. *Sci. Rep.* 5, 9103
- Schwarz, A. et al. (2014) Understanding the evolutionary structural variability and target specificity of tick salivary Kunitz peptides using next generation transcriptome data. BMC Evol. Biol. 14, 4
- Ribeiro, J.M. et al. (2012) The sialotranscriptome of Antricola delacruzi female ticks is compatible with non-hematophagous behavior and an alternative source of food. Insect. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 42, 332–342
- Gibson, A.K. et al. (2013) Why so many unknown genes? Partitioning orphans from a representative transcriptome of the lone star tick Amblyomma americanum. BMC Genomics 14, 135
- 60. Xu, X.L. et al. (2015) De novo sequencing, assembly and analysis of salivary gland transcriptome of *Haemaphysalis flava* and identification of sialoprotein genes. *Infect. Genet. Evol.* 32, 135–142
- Karim, S. and Ribeiro, J.M. (2015) An insight into the sialome of the lone star tick, *Amblyomma americanum*, with a glimpse on its time dependent gene expression. *PLoS ONE* 10, e0131292
- 62. Adamson, S.W. et al. (2013) Knockdown of selenocysteine-specific elongation factor in Amblyomma maculatum alters the pathogen burden of Rickettsia parkeri with epigenetic control by the Sin3 histone deacetylase corepressor complex. PLoS ONE 8, e82012
- Lewis, L.A. et al. (2015) Identification of 24 h Ixodes scapularis immunogenic tick saliva proteins. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 6, 424–434
- Radulovic, Z.M. et al. (2014) A 24–48 h fed Amblyomma americanum tick saliva immuno-proteome. BMC Genomics 15, 518
- Kotsyfakis, M. et al. (2015) Deep sequencing analysis of the Ixodes ricinus haemocytome. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 9, e0003754
- Nene, V. et al. (2004) Genes transcribed in the salivary glands of female Rhipicephalus appendiculatus ticks infected with Theileria parva. Insect. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 34, 1117–1128
- Jaworski, D.C. et al. (2010) Pyrosequencing and characterization of immune response genes from the American dog tick, *Dermacentor variabilis* (L). *Insect. Mol. Biol.* 19, 617–630
- Heekin, A.M. *et al.* (2012) Analysis of *Babesia bovis* infectioninduced gene expression changes in larvae from the cattle tick, *Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) microplus. Parasit. Vectors* 5, 162
- Mercado-Curiel, R.F. et al. (2011) Temporal characterisation of the organ-specific *Rhipicephalus microplus* transcriptional response to *Anaplasma marginale* infection. *Int. J. Parasitol.* 41, 851–860
- Liu, X.Y. et al. (2014) IrSPI, a tick serine protease inhibitor involved in tick feeding and Bartonella henselae infection. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 8, e2993
- Ayllon, N. et al. (2015) Systems biology of tissue-specific response to Anaplasma phagocytophilum reveals differentiated apoptosis in the tick vector lxodes scapularis. PLoS Genet. 11, e1005120

 Vayssier-Taussat, M. et al. (2013) Next generation sequencing uncovers unexpected bacterial pathogens in ticks in western Europe. PLoS ONE 8, e81439 CelPress

- Bonnet, S. et al. (2014) Identification of parasitic communities within European ticks using next-generation sequencing. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 8, e2753
- Carpi, G. *et al.* (2011) Metagenomic profile of the bacterial communities associated with *Ixodes ricinus* ticks. *PLoS ONE* 6, e25604
- Narasimhan, S. and Fikrig, E. (2015) Tick microbiome: the force within. *Trends Parasitol.* 31, 315–323
- Hajdusek, O. et al. (2009) Knockdown of proteins involved in iron metabolism limits tick reproduction and development. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 106, 1033–1038
- Chmelar, J. et al. (2012) Tick salivary secretion as a source of antihemostatics. J. Proteomics 75, 3842–3854
- Santos, I.K. et al. (2004) Gene discovery in Boophilus microplus, the cattle tick: the transcriptomes of ovaries, salivary glands, and hemocytes. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1026, 242–246
- Batista, I.F. et al. (2008) Expressed sequence tags (ESTs) from the salivary glands of the tick Amblyomma cajennense (Acari: Ixodidae). Toxicon 51, 823–834
- Anatriello, E. et al. (2010) An insight into the sialotranscriptome of the brown dog tick, *Rhipicephalus sanguineus*. *BMC Genomics* 11, 450
- Francischetti, I.M. et al. (2011) An insight into the sialotranscriptome and proteome of the coarse bontlegged tick, Hyalomma marginatum rufipes. J. Proteomics 74, 2892–2908
- Heekin, A.M. et al. (2013) Gut transcriptome of replete adult female cattle ticks, *Rhipicephalus* (*Boophilus*) microplus, feeding upon a *Babesia bovis*-infected bovine host. *Parasitol. Res.* 112, 3075–3090
- Lees, K. et al. (2010) Transcriptome analysis of the synganglion from the brown dog tick, *Rhipicephalus sanguineus*. Insect. Mol. Biol. 19, 273–282
- Bissinger, B.W. et al. (2011) Synganglion transcriptome and developmental global gene expression in adult females of the American dog tick, *Dermacentor variabilis* (Acari: Ixodidae). *Insect. Mol. Biol.* 20, 465–491
- 85. Egekwu, N. et al. (2014) Transcriptome of the female synganglion of the black-legged tick *lxodes scapularis* (Acari: lxodidae) with comparison between Illumina and 454 systems. *PLoS ONE* 9, e102667
- Sonenshine, D.E. *et al.* (2011) First transcriptome of the testis-vas deferens-male accessory gland and proteome of the spermatophore from *Dermacentor variabilis* (Acari: Ixodidae). *PLoS ONE* 6, e24711
- Heekin, A.M. et al. (2013) The ovarian transcriptome of the cattle tick, Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) microplus, feeding upon a bovine host infected with Babesia bovis. Parasit. Vectors 6, 276

Review 4

Protease Inhibitors in Tick Saliva: The Role of Serpins and Cystatins in Tick-host-Pathogen Interaction

Chmelař J, Kotál J, Langhansová H, Kotsyfakis M.

Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol., 29 May 2017

doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00216

Thanks to long term collaboration with Dr. Michail Kotsyfakis, our attention has been focus time from time also to cystatins and not only on serpins. Therefore in 2017 we decided to sum up the knowledge about the role of these two families of protease inhibitors in the tick-host-pathogen interaction. Since both serpins and cystatins have their endogenous relatives in vertebrate host, often with crucial and indispensable function, we focused on the possibility of the use of tick inhibitors in the development of novel immunomodulators with the use in medicine and pharmacy.

Author's contribution:

Author designed the structure of the review, participated from large part on text writing, created the figures and revised the manuscript.



Protease Inhibitors in Tick Saliva: The Role of Serpins and Cystatins in Tick-host-Pathogen Interaction

Jindřich Chmelař^{1*†}, Jan Kotál^{1,2†}, Helena Langhansová^{1,2} and Michail Kotsyfakis^{2*}

¹ Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice, České Budějovice, Czechia, ² Institute of Parasitology, Biology Center, Czech Academy of Sciences, České Budějovice, Czechia

The publication of the first tick sialome (salivary gland transcriptome) heralded a new era of research of tick protease inhibitors, which represent important constituents of the proteins secreted via tick saliva into the host. Three major groups of protease inhibitors are secreted into saliva: Kunitz inhibitors, serpins, and cystatins. Kunitz inhibitors are anti-hemostatic agents and tens of proteins with one or more Kunitz domains are known to block host coagulation and/or platelet aggregation. Serpins and cystatins are also anti-hemostatic effectors, but intriguingly, from the translational perspective, also act as pluripotent modulators of the host immune system. Here we focus especially on this latter aspect of protease inhibition by ticks and describe the current knowledge and data on secreted salivary serpins and cystatins and their role in tick-host-pathogen interaction triad. We also discuss the potential therapeutic use of tick protease inhibitors.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ard Menzo Nijhof, Freie Universität Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

Ben J. Mans, Agricultural Research Council of South Africa (ARC-SA), South Africa Jianfeng Dai, Soochow University, China Shahid Karim, University of Southern Mississippi, United States

*Correspondence:

Jindřich Chmelař chmelar@jcu.cz Michail Kotsyfakis mich_kotsyfakis@yahoo.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Received: 25 February 2017 Accepted: 11 May 2017 Published: 29 May 2017

Citation:

Chmelař J, Kotál J, Langhansová H and Kotsyfakis M (2017) Protease Inhibitors in Tick Saliva: The Role of Serpins and Cystatins in Tick-host-Pathogen Interaction. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 7:216. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00216 Keywords: tick-host interaction, immunomodulation, protease inhibitors, serpins, cystatins

SERPINS AND CYSTATINS AS HOMEOSTATIC REGULATORS

Proteases (also proteinases or peptidases) are ubiquitous enzymes that cleave proteins to smaller peptides and amino acids. Proteases participate in a range of physiological processes including extracellular digestion, protein degradation, and tissue development (Rawlings and Salvesen, 2013). Relevant to this review, however, is the fact that many proteases, in particular highly substrate-specific endopeptidases, mediate defense and homeostatic processes in both vertebrates and invertebrates. Proteolytic pathways rely on the precise and tightly regulated activation and inhibition of these endopeptidases. As a result of this evolutionary need, many crucial pathophysiological processes are regulated via proteolytic cascades, with notable examples being coagulation of plasma (or haemolymph in arthropods), bacterial wall perforation with complement, or melanization in arthropods (Amara et al., 2008; Tang, 2009; Gulley et al., 2013). Each step involves proteolytic activation of another downstream protease, and all proteases in such cascades usually have their own endogenous inhibitors that balance the system. The role of arthropod protease inhibitors in the defense is supported by the fact that the expression of serpins and cystatins in Ixodes scapularis nymphs was attenuated upon infection with Anaplasma phagocytophilum, as seen in the transcriptomic data (Ayllon et al., 2015). On the other hand, the expression of protease inhibitors in salivary glands and midguts of adult females differed among individual inhibitors, i.e., some cystatins and serpins were upregulated upon the infection and vice versa (Ayllon et al., 2015). Similar data were collected from Ixodes ricinus infected with Bartonella henselae (Liu et al., 2014). Therefore, precise involvement of every individual inhibitor in tick infection would have to be evaluated experimentally.

Other intracellular and extracellular processes, such as cytokine activation, phagocytosis, intracellular signaling, and antigen processing, are also dependent on proteolysis (Muller et al., 2012). Serpins and cystatins are the two main superfamilies of endogenous serine and cysteine protease inhibitors involved in the regulation of these processes. It is therefore unsurprising that both groups of inhibitors are well represented in parasites and are important in their interactions with hosts (Schwarz et al., 2012; Meekins et al., 2017). In order to obtain a blood meal, ticks secrete hundreds of different pharmacoactive molecules into the host via their saliva. These molecules have anti-hemostatic, anti-inflammatory, anti-complement and immunomodulatory properties and their function is to overcome or evade host defense mechanisms including immune response (Brossard and Wikel, 2004; Chmelar et al., 2012). Moreover, tick saliva and also several salivary compounds were found to facilitate and enhance the establishment of tick-borne pathogens in the host (Anguita et al., 2002; Pal et al., 2004; Kazimirova and Stibraniova, 2013; Wikel, 2013). Inhibitors of proteases represent the most prominent protein families in tick salivary secretion that are responsible for alteration of many different host defense pathways.

SERINE PROTEASE INHIBITORS IN TICKS

Four groups of serine protease inhibitors have been described in ticks: Kunitz domain inhibitors, Kazal domain inhibitors, trypsin inhibitor-like cysteine rich domain (TIL) inhibitors, and serpins. Inhibitors with 1-7 Kunitz domains mostly act as anti-hemostatic proteins and form a large multigenic family of secreted salivary proteins in ticks that have probably played a crucial role in the development of tick hematophagy (Corral-Rodriguez et al., 2009; Dai et al., 2012; Schwarz et al., 2014). Moreover, single Kunitzdomain inhibitors in other organisms are involved in ion channel blockade and may play a similar role in ticks (Frazao et al., 2012; Valdes and Moal, 2014). Kazal domain inhibitors are described in hematophagous insects such as mosquitoes and triatomine bugs (Rimphanitchayakit and Tassanakajon, 2010), but they are only rarely reported in ticks, in which their function is still unknown (Zhou et al., 2006a; Mulenga et al., 2007a, 2008). TIL-domain inhibitors represent an interesting group of small inhibitors with a conserved 5-disulphide bridge structure that were first reported in Apis melifera (Bania et al., 1999) and have also been detected in ticks (Fogaca et al., 2006; Sasaki et al., 2008). The sequences of over 80 TIL-domain inhibitors have been found in arthropod genomes (Zeng et al., 2014), and the unique features of TILdomain proteins make them an excellent model for designing novel serine protease inhibitors and antimicrobial peptides (Li et al., 2007).

Serpins

Serpins form the largest superfamily of protease inhibitors, and they are ubiquitously distributed in nature including viruses and prokaryotes. With over 1,500 members, serpins are the most studied protease inhibitors (Law et al., 2006), also helped by their unique and highly intriguing mechanism of inhibition (Whisstock et al., 2010) and the evolutionary changes that turned inhibitory serpins into non-inhibitory proteins with completely different functions (Law et al., 2006; Silverman et al., 2010). For example, there are 29 inhibitory and seven non-inhibitory serpins in humans and 60 functional serpin genes in mice (Heit et al., 2013). Angiotensinogen is a non-inhibitory serpin that is proteolytically activated by renin into several oligopeptides (angiotensins) that regulate vasoconstriction and blood pressure (Lu et al., 2016). Cortisol and thyroxine-binding proteins (human SERPINA6 and SERPINA7) are also notable serpins that act as major transport proteins for glucocorticoids and progesterone (Carrell and Read, 2016). Inhibitory serpins have very diverse functions depending on their specificity, but their importance is highlighted by the serpinopathies-diseases caused by serpin dysfunction or deficiency (Belorgey et al., 2007). Emphysema, cirrhosis, angioedema, hypertension, and even familial dementia are caused at least in part by serpin dysfunction (Kim et al., 1995; Davis et al., 1999; Ekeowa et al., 2009; Huntington and Li, 2009; Lomas et al., 2016).

Arthropod serpins have mostly immunological and hemostatic functions. Serpins have been shown to regulate haemolymph coagulation, are involved in phenoloxidase system activation in insects, and regulate an immune toll pathway in haemolymph (Kanost, 1999; Gulley et al., 2013; Meekins et al., 2017). Furthermore, in bloodfeeding arthropods, serpins can act as modulators of host hemostasis and/or immune responses. Indeed, several insect serpins act as anti-coagulants, anti-complement proteins and immunosuppressors (Stark and James, 1995, 1998; Colinet et al., 2009; Calvo et al., 2011; Ooi et al., 2015). Serpins are abundant in ticks, and one of their functions is to modulate host immune system. Recent advances in this area have been facilitated by the publication of I. scapularis genome (Gulia-Nuss et al., 2016) and several next-generation sequencing transcriptome studies that added tens of unique sequences from different tick species to already existing and long list of tick serpins. In 2009, Mulenga and colleagues found 45 serpins in the genome of I. scapularis (Mulenga et al., 2009). Two years earlier, the same group described 17 serpins (Lospins) in Amblyomma americanum (Mulenga et al., 2007b). This number was, however, substantially broadened by the combination of several approaches up to approximately 120 serpins (Karim and Ribeiro, 2015; Porter et al., 2015, 2017). In the work of Porter and colleagues (Porter et al., 2015), the authors compare homologous serpins across tick species, showing both conserved and species-specific inhibitors. The conservation seems to be higher in serpins with basic or polar uncharged amino acid residues at P1 site (Porter et al., 2015). Other 32 serpin transcripts from the Amblyomma genus were found in Amblyomma maculatum (Karim et al., 2011) and 50 in Amblyomma sculptum (Moreira et al., 2017). Two groups described 18 and 22 serpins in R. microplus, respectively (Tirloni et al., 2014b; Rodriguez-Valle et al., 2015) and at least 36 serpins were found in several published trancriptomes from I. ricinus (our own unpublished data based on the analysis of transcriptomes) (Schwarz et al., 2013; Kotsyfakis et al., 2015a,b; Perner et al., 2016). Another recent publication described 10 different serpin transcripts in the sialotranscriptome of the tick Hyalomma excavatum (Ribeiro et al., 2017). Despite high number of identified transcripts, only small portion was characterized functionally.

Tick Serpins with Known Function

To date, almost 20 tick serpins from different tick species have been functionally validated by *in vitro* assays, *in vivo* experimental models, vaccination and by RNA interference (RNAi) experiments (**Table 1**). These are detailed below.

AamS6 (A. americanum)

Only two serpins (AamS6 and AAS19) have been characterized thus far in *A. americanum*, despite the overall high number of serpins identified in this tick (Porter et al., 2015). *A. americanum* serpin 6 (AamS6) is upregulated during first 3 days of feeding and is likely to be injected into the host during feeding; however, RNAi did not affect tick feeding ability (Chalaire et al., 2011). Recombinant AamS6 inhibited the serine proteases trypsin, chymotrypsin, elastase, and chymase and the cysteine protease papain in a dose-dependent manner (Chalaire et al., 2011). AamS6 also reduced platelet aggregation and delayed plasma clotting time, suggesting that this serpin facilitates blood feeding by ticks (Mulenga et al., 2013). The complement activation pathway, however, was not affected (Mulenga et al., 2013).

AAS19 (A. americanum)

AAS19 is an anti-coagulant that was shown to inhibit five of the eight serine protease blood clotting factors. AAS19 inhibited thrombin—but not ADP—and cathepsin G-activated platelet aggregation and delayed clotting in re-calcification and thrombin time assays (Kim et al., 2015). AAS19 RNAi halved the blood intake and resulted in morphological deformation of ticks (Kim et al., 2016). In rabbits, immunized with AAS19, tick feeding was faster, but smaller blood volumes were ingested, and tick ability to lay eggs was impaired (Kim et al., 2016).

HLS-1 and 2 (Haemaphysalis longicornis)

Sugino and colleagues isolated a serpin from *H. longicornis* in 2003 (HLS1) (Sugino et al., 2003). Recombinant HLS1 displayed anticoagulant activity, and nymph and adult tick feeding on immunized rabbits resulted in 43.9 and 11.2% tick mortality, respectively. Antibodies raised against tick saliva did not react with recombinant HSL1, suggesting that the serpin was not secreted (Sugino et al., 2003). Moreover, HLS1 expression was detected in the midgut rather than the salivary glands, and HLS1 was therefore considered a concealed antigen, similar to the first commercially used anti-tick vaccine based on the Bm86 tick protein (Willadsen et al., 1995). HLS1 does not contain a signal peptide. Therefore, it is likely that HLS1 is not a secreted protein playing an immunomodulatory or anti-hemostatic role in the host during tick feeding.

A second serpin from *H. longicornis* (HLS2) possesses a signal sequence and seems to be secreted by hemocytes into the haemolymph but not by the salivary glands or midgut (Imamura et al., 2005). HLS2 prolonged the coagulation time in a dose-dependent manner (Imamura et al., 2005), and rabbit vaccination with HLS2 resulted in greater immunization than with HLS1 and almost 50% mortality of feeding nymphs and adults (Imamura et al., 2005). This might be explained by better accessibility

and inactivation of extracellular HLS2 in the haemolymph by antibodies from the ingested blood of immunized animals.

Ipis-1 (Ixodes persulcatus)

To date, Ipis-1 is the only characterized salivary serpin from tick *I. persulcatus* (Toyomane et al., 2016). Ipis-1 transcripts were detected only in salivary glands of ticks at same level throughout all phases of feeding. It significantly reduced IFN- γ production and the proliferation of bovine PBMC cells after ConA stimulation. Authors suggest that Ipis-1 could inhibit T cells function by direct interaction with this cell population (Toyomane et al., 2016).

Iris (I. ricinus)

The first tick serpin to be described that had an effect on host defense mechanisms was named Iris (Ixodes ricinus immunosuppressor) (Leboulle et al., 2002a,b). Iris displayed several notable and important features. First, Iris was noted to inhibit T cell and splenocyte proliferation and altered peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC)-derived cytokine levels (Leboulle et al., 2002a). Second, Iris showed antihemostatic properties including suppression of coagulation and fibrinolysis (Prevot et al., 2006). Finally, Iris was shown to bind to monocytes/macrophages and suppress the secretion of TNF (Prevot et al., 2009). Interestingly, these activities were independent on the protease inhibitory function of Iris. Of note, Iris, together with HLS1 and several other proteins, belongs to a group of serpins in Ixodes spp. that have methionine and cysteine in their reactive center loop (RCL) and lack a signaling peptide, suggesting intracellular rather than extracellular function. However, Iris has been detected in tick saliva using a polyclonal serum raised against recombinant protein (Leboulle et al., 2002a; Prevot et al., 2007), and vaccination of rabbits with recombinant Iris increased the mortality of feeding ticks and lowered weight after engorgement (Prevot et al., 2007). This contradictory observation might be explained by cross-reactivity with another secreted serpin or by the action of another, non-classical secretory mechanism (Nickel, 2003). Nevertheless, Iris represents a pleiotropic protein that affects multiple processes simultaneously via independent mechanisms.

IRS-2 (I. ricinus)

IRS-2 (*Ixodes ricinus* serpin-2) was the second serpin to be characterized in *I. ricinus*. IRS-2 has tryptophan in its P1 site, confirmed by its resolved crystal structure (Kovarova et al., 2010; Chmelar et al., 2011). IRS-2 displayed inhibitory specificity against mast cell chymase and cathepsin G, two proteases involved in inflammatory responses (Chmelar et al., 2011), with its anti-inflammatory function evidenced by *in vivo* paw edema experiments, in which IRS-2 significantly decreased paw swelling and neutrophil recruitment in treated animals (Chmelar et al., 2011). Moreover, IRS-2 inhibited the production of proinflammatory cytokine IL-6 in dendritic cells (DC) and impaired IL-6-dependent JAK/STAT3 signaling in T-helper (Th) cells, inhibiting the maturation of proinflammatory Th17 lymphocytes (Palenikova et al., 2015). IRS-2 also inhibited

TABLE 1	Tick serpins with know	n function.				
Serpin	Tick species	Secreted	Effect (where known)	Tissue/stage	Target enzyme	References
AamS6	A. americanum	Yes	Reduced platelet aggregation and delayed plasma clotting time	SG, MG, OVA, CA	Plasmin, papain, elastase, chymase	Chalaire et al., 2011; Mulenga et al., 2013
AAS19	A. americanum	Yes	Anti-coagulant protein, delayed clotting in recalcification and thrombin time assays		Trypsin, plasmin, flXa, fXa, fXla, fXlla, thrombin, tryptase, chymotrypsin	Kim et al., 2015; Porter et al., 2015
			RNAi led to smaller blood meals and deformed ticks	SG, MG, OVA, SYN, CA, MT		Kim et al., 2016
			Feeding on immunized rabbits led to smaller blood meals and disrupted egg laying			
HLS1	H. longicomis	No	Feeding on immunized animals increased tick mortality rate	MG		Sugino et al., 2003
HLS2	H. longicomis	No	Prolonged coagulation, Immunization of rabbits increased tick mortality	LY		Imamura et al., 2005
Ipis-1	I. persulcatus	Yes	Inhibited proliferation and IFN- γ production of bovine PBMCs	SG		Toyomane et al., 2016
Iris	I. ricinus	Yes	Disrupted blood coagulation and fibrinolysis	SG, saliva	Elastase, thrombin, t-PA, fXa, trypsin	Prevot et al., 2006
			Suppressed T cell and splenocyte proliferation			Leboulle et al., 2002a
			Attered cytokine secretion by PBMC			Prevot et al., 2009
			Bound monocytes/macrophages and inhibited TNF secretion			Prevot et al., 2007
			Vaccination resulted in higher mortality and lower engorgement			
IRS-2	I. ricinus	Yes	Inflammation inhibitor, bound mast cell protease-4, blocked induced platelet aggregation	SG, OVA, MG	Cathepsin G, chymase, thrombin, trypsin, a-chymotrypsin	Chmelar et al., 2011
			Inhibited Th17 differentiation by reduced production of IL-6 in DC			Palenikova et al., 2015
lxscS-1E1	I. scapularis	Yes	Inhibited platelet aggregation and plasma clotting	SG, MG	Thrombin, trypsin, cathepsin G, fXa	Mulenga et al., 2009; Ibelli et al., 2014
RAS-1, 2	R. appendiculatus	No	Feeding on immunized animals increased tick mortality rate			Imamura et al., 2006
RAS-3, 4	R. appendiculatus	Yes	Feeding on immunized animals increased tick mortality rate and delayed Theleria infection			Imamura et al., 2008
RHS-1	R. haemaphysaloides	Yes	Anticoagulation activity, RNAi disrupted tick feeding	SG	Chymotrypsin, thrombin, fXa	Yu et al., 2013
RHS-2	R. haemaphysaloides	No	RNAi disrupted tick feeding	MG	Chymotrypsin, thrombin, fXa	Yu et al., 2013
RmS-3	R. microplus	Yes	Reduced platelet aggregation Feeding of ticks with RMS-3 antibodies impaired reproduction	SG, MG, CA	Chymotrypsin, cathepsin G, elastase, chymase	Tirloni et al., 2014b, 2016; Rodriguez-Valle et al., 2012, 2015
RmS-6	R. microplus	Yes		SG, MG, OVA, CA	Trypsin, plasmin, fXa, fXla, chymotrypsin	Tirloni et al., 2014b, 2016
RmS-15	R. microplus	Yes	Delayed plasma clotting	SG, OVA, CA	Thrombin	Tirloni et al., 2014b; Xu et al., 2016
RmS-17	R. microplus	Yes	Delayed plasma clotting, reduced platelet aggregation	SG, MG, OVA, CA	Trypsin, plasmin, cythepsin G, chymotrypsin, fXla	Tirloni et al., 2014b, 2016
rSerpin	R. microplus	Yes	Feeding on immunized animals increased feeding time and tick mortality and reduced tick engorgement and egg mass	SG		Kaewhom et al., 2007; Jittapalapong et al., 2010
SG, salivary	· glands; MG, midgut; OVA, c	ovaries; FB, fat	body; HE, hemocytes; MAL, Malpighian tubules; DC, dendritic cells.			

platelet aggregation induced by cathepsin G but not other inducers such as collagen or arachidonic acid derivatives (Chmelar et al., 2011).

IxscS-1E1 (I. scapularis)

A blood meal-induced salivary serpin IxscS-1E1 from *I. scapularis* has been shown to trap thrombin and trypsin in SDS- and heat-stable complexes, reduce their activity and inhibit the activities of cathepsin G and factor Xa, although protease/inhibitor complexes were not detected (Ibelli et al., 2014). Furthermore, IxscS-1E1 inhibited adenosine diphosphate- and thrombin-activated platelet aggregation and delayed plasma clotting time, suggesting an anti-hemostatic role (Ibelli et al., 2014). IxscS-1E1 had no effect on the classical complement activation pathway (Ibelli et al., 2014).

RAS-1, 2, 3, 4 (Rhipicephalus appendiculatus)

Four serpin cDNAs, two putatively secreted (RAS-3 and RAS-4) and two putatively intracellular (RAS-1 and RAS-2), were identified in and isolated from the salivary glands of R. appendiculatus (Mulenga et al., 2003). Although RAS-1 and RAS-2 are expressed in the salivary glands, antibodies against them were not found at the bite site as determined by the reactivity of anti-tick saliva sera to recombinant RAS-1 and RAS-2 (Imamura et al., 2006). This finding is, however, consistent with their predicted intracellular location (Imamura et al., 2006). Vaccination of cattle with a RAS-1/RAS-2 cocktail resulted in a 61.4% reduction in nymph engorgement rate and a 28 and 43% increase in mortality rate in female and male adult ticks, respectively (Imamura et al., 2006). Similar results were obtained when cattle were vaccinated with a mixture of two secreted serpins RAS-3 and RAS-4 and a 36-kDa immunodominant cement protein RIM36 (Imamura et al., 2008): immunization resulted in 40% mortality rate for R. appendiculatus ticks and almost 50% for Theileria parva-infected female ticks (Imamura et al., 2008). However, no significant protective effect against infection with T. parva was observed in spite of a 1-2 day delay in the detection of pathogens in the host peripheral blood after immunization (Imamura et al., 2008).

RHS-1 and 2 (Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides)

Two serpins (RHS-1 and RHS-2) have been identified and characterized from *R. haemaphysaloides* (Yu et al., 2013), both of which were expressed in the salivary glands and midguts of ticks fed for 4 days. Both inhibited chymotrypsin, and RHS-1 also inhibited thrombin (Yu et al., 2013). Consistent with their inhibitory activity, only RHS-1 exhibited anticoagulation activity based on the activated partial thrombin time assay (Yu et al., 2013). Only RHS-1 seems to be secreted into the saliva and the host, as only RHS-1 was detected by serum from rabbits that were exposed to ticks and only RHS-1 possesses a signal peptide sequence (Yu et al., 2013). Nevertheless, RNAi of both serpins negatively affected the attachment rate after 24 h and decreased the engorgement rate (Yu et al., 2013).

RmS-3, 6, 15, 17 (R. microplus)

Serpin RmS-3 from *R. microplus* displayed anti-elastase and anti-chymotrypsin inhibitory activities (Rodriguez-Valle et al.,

2015). Tirloni and colleagues subsequently confirmed this specificity (albeit with much lower inhibitory activity), tested more proteases, and found the highest inhibitory activity against chymase and cathepsin G (Tirloni et al., 2016). RmS-3 is likely to be secreted into the saliva and the host as evidenced by differential antibody responses of tick-resistant and tick-susceptible cattle (Rodriguez-Valle et al., 2012). RmS-3 is expressed in nymphs and in the salivary glands of adult ticks, data on RmS-3 transcription in ovaries differ between the two studies (Tirloni et al., 2014b; Rodriguez-Valle et al., 2015). Capillary feeding of ticks with a RmS-3 antibody reduced tick reproductive capacity (Rodriguez-Valle et al., 2012, 2015).

In addition to RmS-3, three other recombinant R. microplus serpins were produced for enzymatic and functional characterization (Tirloni et al., 2014a,b; Xu et al., 2016). RmS-6 inhibited factor Xa, factor XIa and plasmin, suggesting an anticoagulant function, while RmS-17 showed weaker inhibitory activity against chymotrypsin, cathepsin G, trypsin, and plasmin (Tirloni et al., 2016). Both RmS-3 and RmS-17 inhibited cathepsin G-induced platelet aggregation. Interestingly, RmS-3, -6, and -17 from R. microplus were recognized by antibodies raised by the saliva of A. americanum, I. scapularis, and Rhipicephalus sanguineus, suggesting a potential use for these proteins as an universal tick vaccine (Tirloni et al., 2016) but also highlighting the pitfall of false-positive detection of serpins in tick saliva. RmS-15 was identified as a thrombin inhibitor and, together with RmS-17, delayed plasma clotting in a re-calcification time assay (Tirloni et al., 2016; Xu et al., 2016). Moreover, RmS-15 is an immunogen, as the infestation of cattle with R. microplus resulted in increased anti-RmS-15 IgG titers (Xu et al., 2016).

rSerpin (R. microplus)

Rabbits immunized with putatively secreted serpin (rSerpin) from *R. microplus* (Kaewhom et al., 2007) led to extended feeding time, an 83% reduction in adult engorgement, 67% mortality of engorged females and a 34% reduction in egg mass weight (Jittapalapong et al., 2010).

Cystatins

Cystatins form a superfamily of tight-binding reversible inhibitors of papain-like cysteine proteases and legumains and, similar to serpins, they are present in all organisms including prokaryotes (Kordis and Turk, 2009). Cystatins regulate many physiological processes including immunity-related mechanisms such as antigen presentation, phagocytosis, and cytokine expression (Zavasnik-Bergant, 2008). There are four cystatin subgroups: type 1 (stefins), type 2, type 3 (kininogens), and type 4 cystatins (fetuins) (Rawlings and Barrett, 1990). Cystatins' target proteases are usually lysosomal cathepsins involved in protein degradation, but they also target those involved in degradation of antigens presented via MHCII to lymphocytes or in the activation of caspase 1 and thus inflammasome regulation (Jin and Flavell, 2010; Turk et al., 2012).

Cystatins with Known Function

Similarly to serpins, there are around 20 tick cystatins described in the literature and only type 1 and type 2 cystatins have thus far been reported in ticks. While stefins lack a secretory signal and are most likely involved in the intracellular digestion of hemoglobin or in developmental processes, type 2 cystatins are secreted and expressed in both the midgut and salivary glands (Schwarz et al., 2012). Tick cystatins either regulate hemoglobin digestion, which is driven by cathepsins (Horn et al., 2009), or they can be secreted as immunomodulators into the host with saliva. The majority (84%) of tick cystatin transcripts that are conserved across tick species, belong to the extracellular group, suggesting predominantly immunomodulatory role (Ibelli et al., 2013) Tick cystatins with experimentally validated functions are listed in **Table 2** and detailed below.

Bmcystatin (R. microplus)

Bmcystatin from *R. microplus* is specifically expressed in the salivary glands, ovaries, and fat bodies. Bmcystatin did not inhibit papain but inhibited human cathepsin L and tick vitellindegrading cysteine endopeptidase (VDTCE), suggesting a role in regulating tick embryogenesis (Lima et al., 2006).

BrBmcys2a, b, c, d, e, (R. microplus)

In addition to Bmcystatin, another five cystatins (BrBmcys2a, b, c, d, e) were identified in the cattle tick R. microplus. Their expression differs among various developmental stages and tissues, but since their presence has only been assessed by immunodetection methods, cross reactivity between antibodies is possible and has indeed been reported (Imamura et al., 2013). This study also examined the inhibitory specificity of two cystatins: while BrBmcys2b targeted cathepsins B, C, and L, BrBmcys2c only inhibited cathepsins C and L (Parizi et al., 2015). Antibodies raised against recombinant proteins detected BrBmcys2b in all tick tissues, while anti-BrBmcys2c serum only recognized the protein in the gut from partially engorged females and in the ovaries, salivary glands, and fat bodies from fully engorged females (Parizi et al., 2015). The expression patterns suggest rather homeostatic function of these cystatins in ticks than immunomodulatory activity in the host (Imamura et al., 2013).

Cystatin (A. americanum)

One cystatin was detected in the salivary glands and midguts of unfed and partially fed *A. americanum* ticks (Karim et al., 2005). RNAi of this cystatin led to a 90 and 50% reduction in transcript abundance in the early and late phases of feeding, respectively. RNAi knockdown decreased tick body weight, killed ticks during feeding, and disrupted feeding to full engorgement. Rabbits preexposed to dsRNA-injected ticks were re-exposed to naïve ticks, which led to detachment of 34% ticks after 1 day and over 50% mortality of attached ticks (Karim et al., 2005). No such effect was observed in the control group, in which rabbits were pre-exposed to normal ticks. Such a strong immune response indicates an important immunomodulatory function for silenced cystatin that impairs responses to salivary antigens and leads to an overall less intense immune reaction (Karim et al., 2005).

HISC-1 (H. longicornis)

HISC-1 is a type 2 cystatin detected in *H. longicornis* (Yamaji et al., 2009b). It is found mainly in the acinar cells of the tick

salivary glands and is therefore likely to be secreted into the host. The number of transcripts was found to be approximately 5-fold higher in the salivary glands than in the midgut, with strong upregulation in early phase of blood feeding and with a pattern suggestive of importance in the feeding process. HISC-1 inhibited cathepsins L and papain but not cathepsin B (Yamaji et al., 2009b).

Hlcyst-1, 2 and 3 (H. longicornis)

While Hlcyst-1 is a type 1 intracellular cystatin with specificity against papain and cathepsin L (Zhou et al., 2009), Hlcyst-2 and Hlcyst-3 are secreted type 2 cystatins (Zhou et al., 2006b, 2010). Hlcyst-2 has been shown to inhibit cathepsin L and cathepsin B, with transcripts found mainly in the midgut and hemocytes of all tick developmental stages. Expression increased with tick development and was induced by blood feeding (Zhou et al., 2006b). Moreover, Hlcyst-2 expression was induced by injecting ticks with LPS or Babesia gibsoni, suggesting a role in tick immunity. In vitro cultivation of B. gibsoni in the presence of Hlcyst-2 significantly inhibited pathogen growth (Zhou et al., 2006b). Hlcyst-1 and Hlcyst-2 also inhibited cysteine protease HlCPL-A with hemoglobinase activity, isolated from H. longicornis, which can act as natural target of these cystatins, suggesting an involvement of both the protease and its inhibitors in blood digestion (Yamaji et al., 2009a). Hlcyst-3 inhibited papain and cathepsin L, and its expression was detected preferentially in the midgut (Zhou et al., 2010).

JpIocys2 (Ixodes ovatum)

JpIocys2 was isolated from *I. ovatum* and was shown to modulate the enzymatic activity of cathepsins B, C, and L with cathepsin L as the preferred target (Parizi et al., 2015). Similar to BrBmcys2b and BrBmcys2c, JpIocys2 is considered to be involved in tick homeostasis and egg development.

JpIpcys2a, *b*, *c* (*I. persulcatus*)

Three novel cystatins from *I. persulcatus*, JpIpcys2a, b, and c, have recently been described in terms of sequence and structural analysis and expression profile (Rangel et al., 2017). All three possess a signal peptide and two disulfide bridges in their mature form. Although varying in their tertiary structure, all three *I. persulcatus* cystatins should bind human cathepsin L and papain, based on *in silico* analyses. Transcripts of all three cystatins were detected in almost all tissues (salivary glands, midgut, carcass) and stages (larvae, nymphs, adults) of tick development. The only exception was absence of JpIpcys2c transcripts in unfed larvae. Furthermore, vaccination of hamsters with a structurally similar BrBmcys2c cystatin from *R. microplus* did not show any cross-reactivity and did not lead to impaired *I. persulcatus* feeding or reproduction (Rangel et al., 2017).

Om-cystatin 1 and 2 (Ornithodoros moubata)

Om-cystatin 1 and 2 were described in a soft tick *O. moubata* (Grunclova et al., 2006). While Om-cystatin 1 transcripts were found only in the midguts of unfed ticks, Om-cystatin 2 mRNA was present in all tissues. Transcript levels were rapidly suppressed after tick feeding. Both possessed inhibitory activity against cathepsins B, C, and H and papain (Grunclova et al.,

Cystatin	Tick species	Secreted	Effect (where known)	Tissue/stage	Target enzyme	References
Bmcystatin BrBmcvs2a	R. microplus R. microplus	No Yes		sg, ova, fb Mg. ova. fb	Cathepsin L, VDTCE	Lima et al., 2006 Imamura et al., 2013
BrBmcys2b	R. microplus	Yes		MG	Cathepsin B, C, L	Imamura et al., 2013; Parizi et al., 2015
BrBmcys2c	R. microplus	Yes		MG	Cathepsin C, L	Imamura et al., 2013; Parizi et al., 2015
BrBmcys2d, e	R. microplus	Yes		larvae		Imamura et al., 2013
Cystatin	A. americanum	Yes	RNAi caused decreased tick body weight, dying of ticks during feeding or disrupted feeding to the fully engorged state	MG, SG		Karim et al., 2005
HISC-1	H. longicornis	Yes		SG	Cathepsin L, papain	Yamaji et al., 2009b
Hlcyst-1	H. longicornis	No	Regulated hemoglobin degradation	MG	Cathepsin B, H, L, papain, HICPL-A	Zhou et al., 2006b, 2009; Yamaji et al., 2009a, 2010
Hlcyst-2	H. longicornis	Yes	Regulated hemoglobin degradation, inhibited Babesia growth in vitro	MG, SG, OVA, HE, FB	Cathepsin L, papain, HICPL-A	Zhou et al., 2006b; Yamaji et al., 2009a, 2010
Hlcyst-3	H. longicornis	Yes		MG, SG, OVA, HE, FB	Cathepsin L, papain	Zhou et al., 2006b, 2010
Jplocys2	I. ovatum	Yes		Assumed MG	Cathepsin B, C, L	Parizi et al., 2015
Jplpcys2a, b, c	I. persulcatus	Yes		SG, MG / larvae, nymphs, adult	Cathapsin L, papain	Rangel et al., 2017
Om cystatin 1	O. moubata	Yes		MG	Cathepsin B, C, H	Grunclova et al., 2006
Om cystatin 2	O. moubata	Yes	Inhibited TNF- α and IL-12 production by DC and proliferation of CD4+ T cells, immunization decreased tick feeding success	SG, OVA, MAL, MG	Cathepsin B, C, H, L, S, papain	Grunclova et al., 2006; Kotsyfakis et al., 2010
RHcyst-1	R. haemaphysaloides	No	Inhibitors, RNAi of RHcyst-1 impaired tick attachment rate and decreased hatching rate	Egg, larvae	Cathepsin B, C, H, L, S, papain	Wang et al., 2015b
RHcyst-2	R. haemaphysaloides	Yes		Egg, adult MG, SG, OVA, FB	Cathepsin B, C, H, L, S, papain	Wang et al., 2015a
Rmcystatin3	R. microplus	Yes		FB, HE	Cathepsin B, L, BmCl1	Lu et al., 2014
Sialostatin L	l. scapularis	Yes	Inhibited CTL proliferation, anti-inflammatory effects	SG	Cathepsin C, L, V, X, papain	Valenzuela et al., 2002
			Impaired DC maturation and differentiation and T cells proliferation		Binds cathepsin S	Kotsyfakis et al., 2006
			Prevented experimental asthma, inhibited IL-9 production by Th9 cells and mast cells by targeting IRF-4			Sa-Nunes et al., 2009
			Decreased IFN-β production in DC and DC maturation			Horka et al., 2012; Klein et al., 2015
			Attenuated IFN-8-triggered JAK/STAT signaling pathway in dendritic cells			Lieskovska et al., 2015a
						Lieskovska et al., 2015b
Sialostatin L2	I. scapularis	Yes	RNAi caused tick mortality, reduced weight and less eggs	SG, MG	Cathepsin C, L, S, V	Kotsyfakis et al., 2007
			Immunization caused decreased feeding ability of nymphs			Kotsyfakis et al., 2008
			Enhanced establishment of Borrelia infection			Kotsyfakis et al., 2010
			Inhibited caspase-1 maturation and diminished IL-18 and IL-18 secretion by macrophages during <i>Anaplasma phagocytophilum</i> infection			Chen et al., 2014
			Attenuated IFN-B-triggered JAK/STAT signaling in DC and promotes TBEV replication. decreases MIP-a and IP-10 production by DC			Lieskovska et al., 2015a,b
SG. salivarv alands	s: MG. midaut: OVA. ovaries	s: FB. fat body	r. HE. hemocytes; MAL. Malpidhian tubules; VDTCE. vitellin-degrading cysteine end	opeptidases: DC, dendriti	c cell: TBEV, tick-borne encephall	itis virus.

TABLE 2 | Tick cystatins with known function.

2006). Om-cystatin 2 was further functionally and structurally characterized under the name OmC2 (Salát et al., 2010). OmC2 inhibited the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF and IL-12 by DC after LPS stimulation and reduced antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cell proliferation induced by DC (Salát et al., 2010). Exposing OmC2 immunized mice to *O. moubata* nymphs reduced feeding ability and increased mortality during nymphal development to the next stage. Interestingly, nymphs mortality was positively correlated with higher titers of anti-OmC2 antibodies in the serum (Salát et al., 2010).

RHcyst-1 and RHcyst-2 (R. haemaphysaloides)

Two cystatins have been described in *R. haemaphysaloides*, RHcyst-1 and RHcyst-2. RHcyst-1 is an intracellular type 1 cystatin that inhibited cathepsins L, B, C, H, and S and papain, with strongest affinity to cathepsin S (Wang et al., 2015b). RHcyst-1 was expressed at all developmental stages but was most abundant in tick eggs, and its expression decreased throughout the development. RNAi of RHcyst-1 reduced the attachment rate of adult ticks and decreased hatching rate (Wang et al., 2015b). RHcyst-2 is a secreted type 2 cystatin that inhibited the same cathepsins as RHcyst-1 (Wang et al., 2015a) and was again present at all developmental stages with highest expression in eggs. However, RHcyst-2 expression increased during blood feeding, and RHcyst-2 was secreted to the host during tick feeding according to immunodetection methods (Wang et al., 2015a).

Rmcystatin3 (R. microplus)

Rmcystatin3 inhibited cathepsins L and B and <u>Boophilus</u> <u>microplus</u> <u>c</u>athepsin <u>L</u>-<u>1</u> (BmCl1) (Lu et al., 2014). Bmcystatin3 transcripts were found in tick hemocytes, fat bodies, and salivary glands, but protein was only detected in hemocytes and the fat bodies by western blotting. Infection of ticks with *E. coli* significantly downregulated Bmcystatin3 expression (Lu et al., 2014) but increased efficacy of pathogen clearance, suggesting that Rmcystatin3 may be a negative regulator of tick immune responses, probably by regulating cysteine proteases responsible for the production of antimicrobial effectors in hemocytes (Lu et al., 2014).

Sialostatin L (I. scapularis)

One of the best studied tick cystatins is sialostatin L, a type 2 cystatin detected in *I. scapularis*. Sialostatin L has preferential specificity for cathepsin L; however, cathepsins V, C, X, S, and papain were also inhibited in enzymatic assays (Kotsyfakis et al., 2006). In the same study, sialostatin L inhibited the proliferation of the cytotoxic T lymphocyte cell line CTLL-2, suggesting its effect on adaptive immunity. Moreover, the anti-inflammatory activity of sialostatin L was confirmed in a mouse model of carrageenan-induced paw edema, in which sialostatin L reduced edema and neutrophil myeloperoxidase activity (Kotsyfakis et al., 2006).

Sialostatin L has been shown to inhibit IL-2 and IL-9 production by Th9 lymphocytes (Horka et al., 2012). IL-9 production by Th cells is IL-2 dependent (Schmitt et al., 1994), but the addition of exogenous IL-2 did not rescue IL-9 synthesis, suggesting that mechanisms other than IL-2 reduction may be

involved in IL-9 inhibition (Horka et al., 2012). Nevertheless, the impairment of Th9 cells by sialostatin L abrogated the eosinophilia and airway hyperresponsiveness of mice challenged with OVA antigen (Horka et al., 2012). The inhibition of IL-9 production together with reduced expression of IL-1ß and IRF4 (interferon regulating factor 4) was also observed in mast cells, with IL-9 production rescued by the application of exogenous IL-1β (Klein et al., 2015). The inhibition of IL-9 was IRF4 or IL-1β dependent, as proven by the fact that IRF4deficient or IL-1 receptor-deficient mast cells failed to produce IL-9. The transcription factor IRF4 binds to IL-1B and IL-9 promoters, implying that sialostatin L inhibits IL-9 production via its effect on IRF4 (Klein et al., 2015). Furthermore, mice with IRF4 knockdown in mast cells or mice administered with sialostatin L showed a strong reduction in eosinophilia and airway hyperresponsiveness, important symptoms of asthma. Conversely, sialostatin L did not affect mast cell degranulation or IL-6 expression (Klein et al., 2015).

Sialostatin L inhibits cathepsin S, resulting in reduced antigenspecific CD4⁺ T cell proliferation *in vitro* and *in vivo*; sialostatin L treatment during OVA immunization impaired early T cell expansion of splenocytes in OT-II mice and late recall immune responses by impairing the proliferation of lymph node cells (Sa-Nunes et al., 2009). Sialostatin L also potently prevented symptoms of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice accompanied by impaired IFN- γ and IL-17 production and specific T cell proliferation (Sa-Nunes et al., 2009).

In addition to modulating T cells, sialostatin L inhibited DC maturation and reduced the production of IL-12 and TNF by DC (Sa-Nunes et al., 2009). These effects on DC can also be attributed to anti-cathepsin S activity, as cathepsin S plays a role in an invariant chain processing (Pierre and Mellman, 1998) and its inhibition thus leads to poor antigen presentation by DC (Sa-Nunes et al., 2009). Similar to another *I. scapularis* cystatin Sialostatin L2 (Lieskovska et al., 2015b), sialostatin L attenuated IFN- β -triggered JAK/STAT signaling in DC (Lieskovska et al., 2015a). However, unlike Sialostatin L2, it did not suppress expression of the IP-10 chemokine or IRF-7, suggesting that these two cystatins can produce the same phenotype by impairing different pathways in the same cell (Chmelar et al., 2016). It also decreased IFN- β production in DC activated by either *Borrelia* or TLR-7 ligand (Lieskovska et al., 2015a).

Sialostatin L2 (I. scapularis)

Sialostatin L2 is an *I. scapularis* cystatin similar in sequence to sialostatin L but with different anti-protease potency, antigenicity, and expression pattern. Unlike sialostatin L, sialostatin L2 transcripts accumulate in the salivary glands during tick feeding (Kotsyfakis et al., 2007). Its target proteases are cathepsins L, V, S, and C with preferential affinity for cathepsins L and V (Kotsyfakis et al., 2007). Sialostatin L2 was shown to inhibit inflammasome formation during infection with *A. phagocytophilum* (Chen et al., 2014) via sialostatin L2-driven inhibition of caspase-1 maturation, leading to diminished IL-1β and IL-18 secretion by macrophages after stimulation with *A. phagocytophilum* (Chen et al., 2014). However, the mechanism was not due to direct caspase-1 or cathepsin L inhibition, but was instead dependent on reactive oxygen species (ROS) production by NADPH oxidase that was affected by the Loop2 domain of the cystatin (Chen et al., 2014). As mentioned above, sialostatin L2 interfered with JAK/STAT signaling in DC (Lieskovska et al., 2015b), attenuating STAT phosphorylation upon IFN-β treatment and thus inhibiting the IFN-ß stimulated IP-10 and IRF7 chemokine genes (Lieskovska et al., 2015b). No interference with the IFN-ß receptor was observed, so the downstream components of the pathway were most likely affected. Moreover, this activity enhanced the replication of tick borne encephalitis virus in DC (Lieskovska et al., 2015b). Sialostatin L2 decreased the production of specific DC chemokines MIP-1a and IP-10 in response to Borrelia (Lieskovska et al., 2015a). Upon LTA/TLR2 stimulation of DC, sialostatin L2 attenuated Erk1/2 phosphorylation, inhibited the PI3K pathway by reducing Akt phosphorylation, and also reduced NF-kB phosphorylation. Impaired Erk1/2 phosphorylation was the only effect observed for sialostatin L2 after stimulation of DC with Borrelia spirochetes (Lieskovska et al., 2015a).

The role of sialostatin L2 in Borrelia transmission and tick feeding has also been addressed. RNAi of sialostatin L2 led to 40% mortality in tick feeding, reduced tick size, and reduced the number of eggs by about 70% (Kotsyfakis et al., 2007). Similar effects were seen when I. scapularis nymphs were exposed to guinea pigs immunized with sialostatin L2 (Kotsyfakis et al., 2008). The rejection rate of nymphs fed on immunized animals was three times higher compared to controls, and the time needed to finish a blood meal was prolonged by approximately 1 day (Kotsyfakis et al., 2008). Moreover, IgG isolated from immunized animals reduced sialostatin L2 inhibitory activity against cathepsin L (Kotsyfakis et al., 2008). Of note, sialostatin L2 has been referred to as a "silent antigen," meaning that corresponding antibodies cannot be found in naïve animals exposed to ticks despite an increased titer of specific antibodies in animals pre-immunized with recombinant protein. This can be explained by the amount of sialostatin L2 injected via the saliva into the host being too small to elicit a response (Kotsyfakis et al., 2008). Sialostatin L2 has also been shown to play an important role in Borrelia infection (Kotsyfakis et al., 2010). The skin of mice simultaneously injected with Borrelia and sialostatin L2 contained six-times more spirochetes than controls. Sialostatin L2 does not appear to bind spirochetes directly and had no effect on Borrelia growth in vitro, so the mechanism of Borrelia growth boost in skin remains unknown (Kotsyfakis et al., 2010).

PROTEASE INHIBITORS AT THE TICK-HOST INTERFACE

Tick cystatins and serpins can obviously affect many intracellular pathways and thus impair the functions of host immune cells. Moreover, they can also interfere with extracellular proteolysis, thereby inhibiting hemostasis (**Figure 1**). These activities take place at the site of attachment, where they cause local immunosuppression and inhibition of blood clotting. Of note, different inhibitors can cause similar phenotypes by targeting different pathways or even different components of the same pathway. Their actions are therefore redundant. Conversely, more than one effect is usually observed for a single inhibitor. Such concept of redundancy and pluripotency is probably a strategy developed by ticks during long-term co-evolution with their hosts (Chmelar et al., 2016). There is no doubt that salivary secretion at the tick-host interface is beneficial for the tick and deleterious for the host. From this perspective, tick inhibitors represent an important and interesting research field for the development of anti-tick vaccines and tick control strategies.

As shown on vaccination experiments, tick serpins and cystatins can contribute to the establishment of pathogens in the host (Imamura et al., 2008; Kotsyfakis et al., 2010). Such role of serpins is in accordance with observed positive effect of activated plasminogen activation system (PAS) with upregulated serpin PAI-2 on the establishment of Borrelia burgdorferi infection. The facilitation of infection resulted from direct enhancement of Borrelia dissemination and from the inhibition of inflammatory infiltration to the site of exposure (Haile et al., 2006). Borrelia recurrentis was shown to bind host serpin-C1 inhibitor-on its surface and thus inhibit complement activation (Grosskinsky et al., 2010). On contrary, mammalian cystatins were shown as regulators of cysteine proteases like cathepsin S and L, which contribute to the establishment of several viral infections (Kopitar-Jerala, 2012). Thus, the involvement of cystatins in the establishment of microbial and viral infection is not clear and cannot be easily addressed without experimental evidence.

TICK PROTEASE INHIBITORS AS NOVEL DRUGS

Cystatins

The inhibition of target proteases with tick-derived inhibitors can, however, be beneficial in different scenarios. Almost all the mammalian serine and cysteine proteases that are targets of tick inhibitors described in this review play important roles in various human diseases and pathologies. For a long time, the functions of lysosomal cysteine cathepsins (B, C, F, H, K, L, O, S, V, X, and W) were thought to be strictly limited to intracellular protein degradation and cellular metabolism. Recently, many cathepsins have been shown to be involved in multiple pathological processes. For example, increased serum levels of cathepsin L are associated with metastatic stage of different cancer types and poor patient prognosis (Tumminello et al., 1996; Chen et al., 2011). Tumor cells can produce high amounts of cathepsin L, leading to high serum level, which is considered as blood marker of cancer (Denhardt et al., 1987). High concentration of cathepsin L in tumor and its vicinity leads to extracellular matrix degradation, higher tumor invasiveness, and several cancer-related health complications (Sudhan and Siemann, 2015). Other cysteine cathepsins may also participate in tumor invasion and metastasis (Kuester et al., 2008; Tan et al., 2013), so cystatins are considered possible effectors that could block the deleterious activity of cysteine cathepsins in cancer (Cox, 2009; Hap et al., 2011). Cysteine cathepsins also contribute to neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, and Huntington's disease and amyotrophic lateral



sclerosis (**Figure 2A**; Pislar and Kos, 2014). The leakage of lysosomal cathepsins induces neuronal apoptosis and can also increase the inflammatory milieu in the central nervous system (Pislar and Kos, 2014). Cysteine cathepsins are also implicated in the pathogenesis of psoriasis (Kawada et al., 1997), muscular dystrophy (Takeda et al., 1992), abdominal aortic aneurysm and atherosclerosis (Liu et al., 2006), osteoporosis and rheumatoid arthritis (Yasuda et al., 2005), and acute pancreatitis (Halangk et al., 2000). Relatively recent data are accumulating to suggest that cysteine cathepsins are promising therapeutic targets (Kos et al., 2014; Sudhan and Siemann, 2015). The wide spectrum of tick cystatins with varying specificities provides an opportunity to take advantage of this rich source of natural cathepsin inhibitors.

Serpins

Serine proteases are best known as the building blocks of proteolytic cascades in the blood such as coagulation (**Figure 1**) or complement activation. The portfolio of their activities, however, is much wider. Neutrophils, mast cells, natural killer cells, and cytotoxic T cells all produce serine proteases

responsible for extracellular matrix remodeling, microbe killing, cytokine activation, signaling via protease-activated receptors (PARs), or chemoattraction of leukocytes. As regulators of many processes, serine proteases often contribute to disease pathologies. Some diseases, in which serine proteases are implicated, are shown in Figure 2B. Signaling via PARs and the activation of coagulation in the tumor microenvironment link coagulation proteases with some of the complications seen in cancer (Shi et al., 2004; Han et al., 2011; Lima and Monteiro, 2013). Neutrophil proteases from azurophilic granules, namely cathepsin G, elastase, and protease 3 (PR3), play crucial roles in neutrophil anti-microbial activity and are indispensable for the clearance of some pathogens (Hahn et al., 2011; Steinwede et al., 2012). Many studies have also described neutrophil proteases as important regulators of inflammatory and immune processes (Pham, 2006, 2008), albeit with deleterious effects in some cases. For instance, due to the large amounts of elastin present in the lung connective tissue, lungs are very sensitive to dysregulation and/or increased levels of elastolytic proteases such as neutrophil elastase (Sandhaus and Turino,



2013), which results in several lung diseases. Elastase and cathepsin G facilitate the spreading of metastases to the lungs due to the degradation of antitumorigenic factor thrombospondin-1 (El Rayes et al., 2015). Furthermore, neutrophil proteases have been implicated in the pathogenesis of cystic fibrosis (Twigg et al., 2015; Wagner et al., 2016), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (Shapiro, 2002; Owen, 2008), and emphysema (Ekeowa et al., 2009). In anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibody (ANCA)-associated vasculitides such as Wegener's granulomatosis, neutrophils are activated by auto-antibodies against PR3 (Niles et al., 1989), leading to the production of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) containing PR3 and to necrosis (Kessenbrock et al., 2009). Cathepsin G is chemotactic for monocytes in rheumatoid arthritis (Miyata et al., 2007), and the inhibition of neutrophil elastase improved some of the symptoms of this disease (Di Cesare Mannelli et al., 2016). Interestingly, obesity and metabolic syndrome also seem to be affected by neutrophil proteases (Talukdar et al., 2012; Mansuy-Aubert et al., 2013). Mast cells are another significant source of several serine proteases, mainly chymases and tryptases, which are involved in extracellular matrix remodeling, chemoattraction of neutrophils, and protein processing and activation (Pejler et al., 2010). Mast cell chymase and tryptase have been shown to be involved in the pathogenesis of abdominal aortic aneurysm (Sun et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2011) and atherosclerosis (Sun et al., 2007; Bot et al., 2015).

Due to these diverse and clinically relevant effects of serine proteases, their potential use as therapeutic targets is being thoroughly discussed by scientific community (Guay et al., 2006; Quinn et al., 2010; Caughey, 2016). Tick salivary glands express a large number of serine protease inhibitors with different specificities that could be used as novel drugs against malfunctioning proteases.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Novel pharmacoactive compounds are being developed either by artificial synthesis or by isolating potential candidates from various organisms including parasites (Cherniack, 2011). For instance, hirudin (a thrombin inhibitor from leeches) and its congener bivalrudin have been useful in the treatment of blood coagulation disorders (Kennedy et al., 2012). Ticks are parasites that have evolved multiple ways to evade or manipulate host immune and hemostatic systems (Chmelar et al., 2012). Tick saliva contains hundreds of proteins not only with antihemostatic features (Maritz-Olivier et al., 2007) but also with anti-complement, anti-inflammatory, and immunomodulatory effects on the host (Kazimirova and Stibraniova, 2013).

As discussed in this review, salivary cystatins and serpins display such features and their functions have been studied thoroughly. Moreover, both superfamilies are represented in the vertebrate host and the functions of their members are often known. Therefore, we can predict at least to some degree, which processes or pathways will be targeted by tick proteins. An important advantage of cystatins and serpins is their functional specificity; for example, sialostatins L and L2 cause similar phenotypes (inhibition of IFN-β signaling) either by inhibiting the IFN- β production (sialostatin L) or by inhibiting STAT3 phosphorylation downstream from IFN-β (sialostatin L2) (Lieskovska et al., 2015a,b). The possibility of targeting specific processes is crucial for the development of "patient-tailored" immunotherapeutic strategies (Scherer et al., 2010; Stephenson et al., 2016). Furthermore, tick cystatins and serpins are not the only families in ticks that deserve attention, since there are many tick-specific proteins secreted into the saliva of unknown function. Characterizing ticks using the transcriptomic approach has created a broad field and data

repository, which we can search for novel drugs and potential therapeutics.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JC and JK wrote the manuscript, JK prepared the tables, JC prepared the figures, HL and MK edited and revised the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Amara, U., Rittirsch, D., Flierl, M., Bruckner, U., Klos, A., Gebhard, F., et al. (2008). Interaction between the coagulation and complement system. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 632, 71–79. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-78952-1_6
- Anguita, J., Ramamoorthi, N., Hovius, J. W., Das, S., Thomas, V., Persinski, R., et al. (2002). Salp15, an ixodes scapularis salivary protein, inhibits CD4(+) T cell activation. *Immunity* 16, 849–859. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00325-4
- Ayllon, N., Villar, M., Galindo, R. C., Kocan, K. M., Sima, R., Lopez, J. A., et al. (2015). Systems biology of tissue-specific response to *Anaplasma phagocytophilum* reveals differentiated apoptosis in the tick vector Ixodes scapularis. *PLoS Genet.* 11:e1005120. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1005120
- Bania, J., Stachowiak, D., and Polanowski, A. (1999). Primary structure and properties of the cathepsin G/chymotrypsin inhibitor from the larval hemolymph of *Apis mellifera*. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 262, 680–687. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-1327.1999.00406.x
- Belorgey, D., Hagglof, P., Karlsson-Li, S., and Lomas, D. A. (2007). Protein misfolding and the serpinopathies. *Prion* 1, 15–20. doi: 10.4161/pri.1.1.3974
- Bot, I., Shi, G. P., and Kovanen, P. T. (2015). Mast cells as effectors in atherosclerosis. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 35, 265–271. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.303570
- Brossard, M., and Wikel, S. K. (2004). Tick immunobiology. *Parasitology* 129 (Suppl.), S161–S176. doi: 10.1017/S0031182004004834
- Calvo, E., Mizurini, D. M., Sa-Nunes, A., Ribeiro, J. M., Andersen, J. F., Mans, B. J., et al. (2011). Alboserpin, a factor Xa inhibitor from the mosquito vector of yellow fever, binds heparin and membrane phospholipids and exhibits antithrombotic activity. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 27998–28010. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.247924
- Carrell, R. W., and Read, R. J. (2016). How serpins transport hormones and regulate their release. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 62, 133–141. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb. 2016.12.007
- Caughey, G. H. (2016). Mast cell proteases as pharmacological targets. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 778, 44–55. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2015.04.045
- Chalaire, K. C., Kim, T. K., Garcia-Rodriguez, H., and Mulenga, A. (2011). *Amblyomma americanum* (L.) (Acari: Ixodidae) tick salivary gland serine protease inhibitor (serpin) 6 is secreted into tick saliva during tick feeding. J. *Exp. Biol.* 214, 665–673. doi: 10.1242/jeb.052076
- Chen, G., Wang, X., Severo, M. S., Sakhon, O. S., Sohail, M., Brown, L. J., et al. (2014). The tick salivary protein sialostatin L2 inhibits caspase-1-mediated inflammation during *Anaplasma phagocytophilum* infection. *Infect. Immun.* 82, 2553–2564. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01679-14
- Chen, Q., Fei, J., Wu, L., Jiang, Z., Wu, Y., Zheng, Y., et al. (2011). Detection of cathepsin B, cathepsin L, cystatin C, urokinase plasminogen activator and urokinase plasminogen activator receptor in the sera of lung cancer patients. *Oncol. Lett.* 2, 693–699. doi: 10.3892/ol.2011.302
- Cherniack, E. P. (2011). Bugs as drugs, part two: worms, leeches, scorpions, snails, ticks, centipedes, and spiders. *Altern. Med. Rev.* 16, 50–58.
- Chmelar, J., Calvo, E., Pedra, J. H., Francischetti, I. M., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2012). Tick salivary secretion as a source of antihemostatics. J. Proteomics 75, 3842–3854. doi: 10.1016/j.jprot.2012.04.026
- Chmelar, J., Kotal, J., Kopecky, J., Pedra, J. H., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2016). All for one and one for all on the tick-host battlefield. *Trends Parasitol.* 32, 368–377. doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2016.01.004
- Chmelar, J., Oliveira, C. J., Rezacova, P., Francischetti, I. M., Kovarova, Z., Pejler, G., et al. (2011). A tick salivary protein targets cathepsin G and chymase

FUNDING

This work was supported by Grant agency of the Czech Republic (grant 16-07117Y to JC), by Grant agency of the University of South Bohemia to JK (grant 038/2016/P) and by intramural institutional support from the Institute of Parasitology, Biology Center of the Czech Academy of Sciences [RVO 60077344] to MK and JK.

and inhibits host inflammation and platelet aggregation. *Blood* 117, 736–744. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-06-293241

- Colinet, D., Dubuffet, A., Cazes, D., Moreau, S., Drezen, J. M., and Poirie, M. (2009). A serpin from the parasitoid wasp *Leptopilina boulardi* targets the Drosophila phenoloxidase cascade. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.* 33, 681–689. doi: 10.1016/j.dci.2008.11.013
- Corral-Rodriguez, M. A., Macedo-Ribeiro, S., Barbosa Pereira, P. J., and Fuentes-Prior, P. (2009). Tick-derived Kunitz-type inhibitors as antihemostatic factors. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 39, 579–595. doi: 10.1016/j.ibmb.2009. 07.003
- Cox, J. L. (2009). Cystatins and cancer. Front. Biosci. (Landmark Ed) 14, 463–474. doi: 10.2741/3255
- Dai, S. X., Zhang, A. D., and Huang, J. F. (2012). Evolution, expansion and expression of the Kunitz/BPTI gene family associated with long-term blood feeding in Ixodes Scapularis. *BMC Evol. Biol.* 12:4. doi: 10.1186/1471-2148-12-4
- Davis, R. L., Shrimpton, A. E., Holohan, P. D., Bradshaw, C., Feiglin, D., Collins, G. H., et al. (1999). Familial dementia caused by polymerization of mutant neuroserpin. *Nature* 401, 376–379. doi: 10.1038/43894
- Denhardt, D. T., Greenberg, A. H., Egan, S. E., Hamilton, R. T., and Wright, J. A. (1987). Cysteine proteinase cathepsin L expression correlates closely with the metastatic potential of H-ras-transformed murine fibroblasts. *Oncogene* 2, 55–59.
- Di Cesare Mannelli, L., Micheli, L., Cinci, L., Maresca, M., Vergelli, C., Pacini, A., et al. (2016). Effects of the neutrophil elastase inhibitor EL-17 in rat adjuvant-induced arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 55, 1285–1294. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kew055
- Ekeowa, U. I., Gooptu, B., Belorgey, D., Hagglof, P., Karlsson-Li, S., Miranda, E., et al. (2009). alpha1-Antitrypsin deficiency, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and the serpinopathies. *Clin. Sci.* 116, 837–850. doi: 10.1042/CS20080484
- El Rayes, T., Catena, R., Lee, S., Stawowczyk, M., Joshi, N., Fischbach, C., et al. (2015). Lung inflammation promotes metastasis through neutrophil proteasemediated degradation of Tsp-1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 112, 16000–16005. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1507294112
- Fogaca, A. C., Almeida, I. C., Eberlin, M. N., Tanaka, A. S., Bulet, P., and Daffre, S. (2006). Ixodidin, a novel antimicrobial peptide from the hemocytes of the cattle tick Boophilus microplus with inhibitory activity against serine proteinases. *Peptides* 27, 667–674. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2005.07.013
- Frazao, B., Vasconcelos, V., and Antunes, A. (2012). Sea anemone (Cnidaria, Anthozoa, Actiniaria) toxins: an overview. *Mar. Drugs* 10, 1812–1851. doi: 10.3390/md10081812
- Grosskinsky, S., Schott, M., Brenner, C., Cutler, S. J., Simon, M. M., and Wallich, R. (2010). Human complement regulators C4b-binding protein and C1 esterase inhibitor interact with a novel outer surface protein of *Borrelia recurrentis*. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 4:e698. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0000698
- Grunclova, L., Horn, M., Vancova, M., Sojka, D., Franta, Z., Mares, M., et al. (2006). Two secreted cystatins of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*: differential expression pattern and inhibitory specificity. *Biol. Chem.* 387, 1635–1644. doi: 10.1515/BC.2006.204
- Guay, C., Laviolette, M., and Tremblay, G. M. (2006). Targeting serine proteases in asthma. Curr. Top. Med. Chem. 6, 393–402. doi: 10.2174/156802606776287054
- Gulia-Nuss, M., Nuss, A. B., Meyer, J. M., Sonenshine, D. E., Roe, R. M., Waterhouse, R. M., et al. (2016). Genomic insights into the Ixodes scapularis tick vector of Lyme disease. *Nat. Commun.* 7:10507. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10507

- Gulley, M. M., Zhang, X., and Michel, K. (2013). The roles of serpins in mosquito immunology and physiology. J. Insect Physiol. 59, 138–147. doi: 10.1016/j.jinsphys.2012.08.015
- Hahn, I., Klaus, A., Janze, A. K., Steinwede, K., Ding, N., Bohling, J., et al. (2011). Cathepsin G and neutrophil elastase play critical and nonredundant roles in lung-protective immunity against *Streptococcus pneumoniae* in mice. *Infect. Immun.* 79, 4893–4901. doi: 10.1128/IAI.05593-11
- Haile, W. B., Coleman, J. L., and Benach, J. L. (2006). Reciprocal upregulation of urokinase plasminogen activator and its inhibitor, PAI-2, by *Borrelia burgdorferi* affects bacterial penetration and host-inflammatory response. Cell. *Microbiol.* 8, 1349–1360. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2006.00717.x
- Halangk, W., Lerch, M. M., Brandt-Nedelev, B., Roth, W., Ruthenbuerger, M., Reinheckel, T., et al. (2000). Role of cathepsin B in intracellular trypsinogen activation and the onset of acute pancreatitis. *J. Clin. Invest.* 106, 773–781. doi: 10.1172/JCI9411
- Han, N., Jin, K., He, K., Cao, J., and Teng, L. (2011). Protease-activated receptors in cancer: a systematic review. *Oncol. Lett.* 2, 599–608. doi: 10.3892/ol.2011.291
- Hap, A., Kielan, W., Grzebieniak, Z., Siewinski, M., Rudnicki, J., Tarnawa, R., et al. (2011). Control of active B and L cathepsins in tissues of colorectal cancer using cystatins isolated from chicken egg proteins: *in vitro* studies. *Folia Histochem. Cytobiol.* 49, 670–676. doi: 10.5603/FHC.2011.0075
- Heit, C., Jackson, B. C., Mcandrews, M., Wright, M. W., Thompson, D. C., Silverman, G. A., et al. (2013). Update of the human and mouse SERPIN gene superfamily. *Hum. Genomics* 7:22. doi: 10.1186/1479-7364-7-22
- Horka, H., Staudt, V., Klein, M., Taube, C., Reuter, S., Dehzad, N., et al. (2012). The tick salivary protein sialostatin L inhibits the Th9-derived production of the asthma-promoting cytokine IL-9 and is effective in the prevention of experimental asthma. *J. Immunol.* 188, 2669–2676. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1100529
- Horn, M., Nussbaumerova, M., Sanda, M., Kovarova, Z., Srba, J., Franta, Z., et al. (2009). Hemoglobin digestion in blood-feeding ticks: mapping a multipeptidase pathway by functional proteomics. *Chem. Biol.* 16, 1053–1063. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2009.09.009
- Huntington, J. A., and Li, W. (2009). Structural insights into the multiple functions of protein C inhibitor. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 66, 113–121. doi: 10.1007/s00018-008-8371-0
- Ibelli, A. M., Hermance, M. M., Kim, T. K., Gonzalez, C. L., and Mulenga, A. (2013). Bioinformatics and expression analyses of the Ixodes scapularis tick cystatin family. *Exp. Appl. Acarol.* 60, 41–53. doi: 10.1007/s10493-012-9613-2
- Ibelli, A. M., Kim, T. K., Hill, C. C., Lewis, L. A., Bakshi, M., Miller, S., et al. (2014). A blood meal-induced Ixodes scapularis tick saliva serpin inhibits trypsin and thrombin, and interferes with platelet aggregation and blood clotting. *Int. J. Parasitol.* 44, 369–379. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpara.2014.01.010
- Imamura, S., Da Silva Vaz Junior, I., Sugino, M., Ohashi, K., and Onuma, M. (2005). A serine protease inhibitor (serpin) from *Haemaphysalis longicornis* as an anti-tick vaccine. *Vaccine* 23, 1301–1311. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.08.041
- Imamura, S., Konnai, S., Vaz Ida, S., Yamada, S., Nakajima, C., Ito, Y., et al. (2008). Effects of anti-tick cocktail vaccine against *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus*. *Jpn. J. Vet. Res.* 56, 85–98. doi: 10.14943/jjvr.56.2.85
- Imamura, S., Konnai, S., Yamada, S., Parizi, L. F., Githaka, N., Vaz Ida, S. Jr., et al. (2013). Identification and partial characterization of a gut *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus* cystatin. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 4, 138–144. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2012.11.001
- Imamura, S., Namangala, B., Tajima, T., Tembo, M. E., Yasuda, J., Ohashi, K., et al. (2006). Two serine protease inhibitors (serpins) that induce a bovine protective immune response against *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus* ticks. *Vaccine* 24, 2230–2237. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.10.055
- Jin, C., and Flavell, R. A. (2010). Molecular mechanism of NLRP3 inflammasome activation. J. Clin. Immunol. 30, 628–631. doi: 10.1007/s10875-010-9440-3
- Jittapalapong, S., Kaewhom, P., Pumhom, P., Canales, M., De La Fuente, J., and Stich, R. W. (2010). Immunization of rabbits with recombinant serine protease inhibitor reduces the performance of adult female *Rhipicephalus microplus*. *Transbound. Emerg. Dis.* 57, 103–106. doi: 10.1111/j.1865-1682.2010.01108.x
- Kaewhom, P., Sirinarumitr, T., Chantakru, S., and Jittapalapong, S. (2007). Cloning and characterization of cDNA encoding a serine protease inhibitor from salivary glands of thai cattle tick (*Boophilus microplus*). *Kasetsart J. (Nat. Sci.*) 41, 74–80.

- Kanost, M. R. (1999). Serine proteinase inhibitors in arthropod immunity. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 23, 291–301. doi: 10.1016/S0145-305X(99)00012-9
- Karim, S., Miller, N. J., Valenzuela, J., Sauer, J. R., and Mather, T. N. (2005). RNAi-mediated gene silencing to assess the role of synaptobrevin and cystatin in tick blood feeding. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 334, 1336–1342. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.07.036
- Karim, S., and Ribeiro, J. M. (2015). An Insight into the Sialome of the Lone Star Tick, *Amblyomma americanum*, with a Glimpse on its time dependent gene expression. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0131292. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0131292
- Karim, S., Singh, P., and Ribeiro, J. M. (2011). A deep insight into the sialotranscriptome of the gulf coast tick, *Amblyomma maculatum*. *PLoS ONE* 6:e28525. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0028525
- Kawada, A., Hara, K., Kominami, E., Hiruma, M., Noguchi, H., and Ishibashi, A. (1997). Processing of cathepsins L, B and D in psoriatic epidermis. Arch. Dermatol. Res. 289, 87–93. doi: 10.1007/s004030050160
- Kazimirova, M., and Stibraniova, I. (2013). Tick salivary compounds: their role in modulation of host defences and pathogen transmission. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 3:43. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2013.00043
- Kennedy, B., Gargoum, F. S., Kennedy, L., Khan, F., Curran, D. R., and O'connor, T. M. (2012). Emerging anticoagulants. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 19, 3388–3416. doi: 10.2174/092986712801215847
- Kessenbrock, K., Krumbholz, M., Schonermarck, U., Back, W., Gross, W. L., Werb, Z., et al. (2009). Netting neutrophils in autoimmune small-vessel vasculitis. *Nat. Med.* 15, 623–625. doi: 10.1038/nm.1959
- Kim, H. S., Krege, J. H., Kluckman, K. D., Hagaman, J. R., Hodgin, J. B., Best, C. F., et al. (1995). Genetic control of blood pressure and the angiotensinogen locus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 92, 2735–2739. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.7.2735
- Kim, T. K., Radulovic, Z., and Mulenga, A. (2016). Target validation of highly conserved *Amblyomma americanum* tick saliva serine protease inhibitor 19. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 7, 405–414. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2015.12.017
- Kim, T. K., Tirloni, L., Radulovic, Z., Lewis, L., Bakshi, M., Hill, C., et al. (2015). Conserved *Amblyomma americanum* tick Serpin19, an inhibitor of blood clotting factors Xa and XIa, trypsin and plasmin, has anti-haemostatic functions. *Int. J. Parasitol.* 45, 613–627. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpara.2015.03.009
- Klein, M., Bruhl, T. J., Staudt, V., Reuter, S., Grebe, N., Gerlitzki, B., et al. (2015). Tick salivary sialostatin L represses the initiation of immune responses by targeting IRF4-dependent transcription in murine mast cells. *J. Immunol.* 195, 621–631. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1401823
- Kopitar-Jerala, N. (2012). The role of cysteine proteinases and their inhibitors in the host-pathogen cross talk. *Curr. Protein Pept. Sci.* 13, 767–775. doi: 10.2174/138920312804871102
- Kordis, D., and Turk, V. (2009). Phylogenomic analysis of the cystatin superfamily in eukaryotes and prokaryotes. BMC Evol. Biol. 9:266. doi: 10.1186/1471-2148-9-266
- Kos, J., Mitrovic, A., and Mirkovic, B. (2014). The current stage of cathepsin B inhibitors as potential anticancer agents. *Future Med. Chem.* 6, 1355–1371. doi: 10.4155/fmc.14.73
- Kotsyfakis, M., Anderson, J. M., Andersen, J. F., Calvo, E., Francischetti, I. M., Mather, T. N., et al. (2008). Cutting edge: immunity against a "silent" salivary antigen of the Lyme vector Ixodes scapularis impairs its ability to feed. J. Immunol. 181, 5209–5212. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.8.5209
- Kotsyfakis, M., Horka, H., Salat, J., and Andersen, J. F. (2010). The crystal structures of two salivary cystatins from the tick *Ixodes scapularis* and the effect of these inhibitors on the establishment of Borrelia burgdorferi infection in a murine model. *Mol. Microbiol.* 77, 456–470. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2010.07220.x
- Kotsyfakis, M., Karim, S., Andersen, J. F., Mather, T. N., and Ribeiro, J. M. (2007). Selective cysteine protease inhibition contributes to blood-feeding success of the tick *Ixodes scapularis*. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 29256–29263. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M703143200
- Kotsyfakis, M., Kopacek, P., Franta, Z., Pedra, J. H., and Ribeiro, J. M. (2015a). Deep Sequencing Analysis of the Ixodes ricinus Haemocytome. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 9:e0003754. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0003754
- Kotsyfakis, M., Sa-Nunes, A., Francischetti, I. M., Mather, T. N., Andersen, J. F., and Ribeiro, J. M. (2006). Antiinflammatory and immunosuppressive activity of sialostatin L, a salivary cystatin from the tick Ixodes scapularis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 26298–26307. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M513010200

- Kotsyfakis, M., Schwarz, A., Erhart, J., and Ribeiro, J. M. (2015b). Tissue- and timedependent transcription in Ixodes ricinus salivary glands and midguts when blood feeding on the vertebrate host. *Sci. Rep.* 5:9103. doi: 10.1038/srep09103
- Kovarova, Z., Chmelar, J., Sanda, M., Brynda, J., Mares, M., and Rezacova, P. (2010). Crystallization and diffraction analysis of the serpin IRS-2 from the hard tick Ixodes ricinus. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. F Struct. Biol. Cryst. Commun. 66, 1453–1457. doi: 10.1107/S1744309110032343
- Kuester, D., Lippert, H., Roessner, A., and Krueger, S. (2008). The cathepsin family and their role in colorectal cancer. *Pathol. Res. Pract.* 204, 491–500. doi: 10.1016/j.prp.2008.04.010
- Law, R. H., Zhang, Q., Mcgowan, S., Buckle, A. M., Silverman, G. A., Wong, W., et al. (2006). An overview of the serpin superfamily. *Genome Biol.* 7:216. doi: 10.1186/gb-2006-7-5-216
- Leboulle, G., Crippa, M., Decrem, Y., Mejri, N., Brossard, M., Bollen, A., et al. (2002a). Characterization of a novel salivary immunosuppressive protein from Ixodes ricinus ticks. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 10083–10089. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111391200
- Leboulle, G., Rochez, C., Louahed, J., Ruti, B., Brossard, M., Bollen, A., et al. (2002b). Isolation of Ixodes ricinus salivary gland mRNA encoding factors induced during blood feeding. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 66, 225–233. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.2002.66.225
- Li, J., Zhang, C., Xu, X., Wang, J., Yu, H., Lai, R., et al. (2007). Trypsin inhibitory loop is an excellent lead structure to design serine protease inhibitors and antimicrobial peptides. *FASEB J.* 21, 2466–2473. doi: 10.1096/fj.06-7966com
- Lieskovska, J., Palenikova, J., Langhansova, H., Campos Chagas, A., Calvo, E., Kotsyfakis, M., et al. (2015a). Tick sialostatins L and L2 differentially influence dendritic cell responses to Borrelia spirochetes. *Parasit. Vectors* 8:275. doi: 10.1186/s13071-015-0887-1
- Lieskovska, J., Palenikova, J., Sirmarova, J., Elsterova, J., Kotsyfakis, M., Campos Chagas, A., et al. (2015b). Tick salivary cystatin sialostatin L2 suppresses IFN responses in mouse dendritic cells. *Parasite Immunol.* 37, 70–78. doi: 10.1111/pim.12162
- Lima, C. A., Sasaki, S. D., and Tanaka, A. S. (2006). Bmcystatin, a cysteine proteinase inhibitor characterized from the tick *Boophilus microplus*. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 347, 44–50. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.06.018
- Lima, L. G., and Monteiro, R. Q. (2013). Activation of blood coagulation in cancer: implications for tumour progression. *Biosci. Rep.* 33:pii: e00064. doi: 10.1042/BSR20130057
- Liu, J., Sukhova, G. K., Yang, J. T., Sun, J., Ma, L., Ren, A., et al. (2006). Cathepsin L expression and regulation in human abdominal aortic aneurysm, atherosclerosis, and vascular cells. *Atherosclerosis* 184, 302–311. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2005.05.012
- Liu, X. Y., De La Fuente, J., Cote, M., Galindo, R. C., Moutailler, S., Vayssier-Taussat, M., et al. (2014). IrSPI, a tick serine protease inhibitor involved in tick feeding and Bartonella henselae infection. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 8:e2993. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0002993
- Lomas, D. A., Hurst, J. R., and Gooptu, B. (2016). Update on alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency: new therapies. *J. Hepatol.* 65, 413–424. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2016.03.010
- Lu, H., Cassis, L. A., Kooi, C. W., and Daugherty, A. (2016). Structure and functions of angiotensinogen. *Hypertens. Res.* 39, 492–500. doi: 10.1038/hr.2016.17
- Lu, S., Soares, T. S., Vaz Junior, I. S., Lovato, D. V., and Tanaka, A. S. (2014). Rmcystatin3, a cysteine protease inhibitor from Rhipicephalus microplus hemocytes involved in immune response. *Biochimie* 106, 17–23. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2014.07.012
- Mansuy-Aubert, V., Zhou, Q. L., Xie, X., Gong, Z., Huang, J. Y., Khan, A. R., et al. (2013). Imbalance between neutrophil elastase and its inhibitor alpha1antitrypsin in obesity alters insulin sensitivity, inflammation, and energy expenditure. *Cell Metab.* 17, 534–548. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.03.005
- Maritz-Olivier, C., Stutzer, C., Jongejan, F., Neitz, A. W., and Gaspar, A. R. (2007). Tick anti-hemostatics: targets for future vaccines and therapeutics. *Trends Parasitol.* 23, 397–407. doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2007.07.005
- Meekins, D. A., Kanost, M. R., and Michel, K. (2017). Serpins in arthropod biology. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 62, 105–119. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2016. 09.001
- Miyata, J., Tani, K., Sato, K., Otsuka, S., Urata, T., Lkhagvaa, B., et al. (2007). Cathepsin G: the significance in rheumatoid arthritis as a monocyte

chemoattractant. Rheumatol Int. 27, 375–382. doi: 10.1007/s00296-006-0210-8

- Moreira, H. N., Barcelos, R. M., Vidigal, P. M., Klein, R. C., Montandon, C. E., Maciel, T. E., et al. (2017). A deep insight into the whole transcriptome of midguts, ovaries and salivary glands of the *Amblyomma sculptum* tick. *Parasitol. Int.* 66, 64–73. doi: 10.1016/j.parint.2016.10.011
- Mulenga, A., Blandon, M., and Khumthong, R. (2007a). The molecular basis of the Amblyomma americanum tick attachment phase. Exp. Appl. Acarol. 41, 267–287. doi: 10.1007/s10493-007-9064-3
- Mulenga, A., Khumthong, R., and Blandon, M. A. (2007b). Molecular and expression analysis of a family of the *Amblyomma americanum* tick Lospins. *J. Exp. Biol.* 210, 3188–3198. doi: 10.1242/jeb.006494
- Mulenga, A., Khumthong, R., and Chalaire, K. C. (2009). Ixodes scapularis tick serine proteinase inhibitor (serpin) gene family; annotation and transcriptional analysis. *BMC Genomics* 10:217. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-10-217
- Mulenga, A., Khumthong, R., Chalaire, K. C., Strey, O., and Teel, P. (2008). Molecular and biological characterization of the *Amblyomma americanum* organic anion transporter polypeptide. *J. Exp. Biol.* 211, 3401–3408. doi: 10.1242/jeb.022376
- Mulenga, A., Kim, T., and Ibelli, A. M. (2013). Amblyomma americanum tick saliva serine protease inhibitor 6 is a cross-class inhibitor of serine proteases and papain-like cysteine proteases that delays plasma clotting and inhibits platelet aggregation. *Insect. Mol. Biol.* 22, 306–319. doi: 10.1111/imb. 12024
- Mulenga, A., Tsuda, A., Onuma, M., and Sugimoto, C. (2003). Four serine proteinase inhibitors (serpin) from the brown ear tick, Rhiphicephalus appendiculatus; cDNA cloning and preliminary characterization. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 33, 267–276. doi: 10.1016/S0965-1748(02) 00240-0
- Muller, S., Dennemarker, J., and Reinheckel, T. (2012). Specific functions of lysosomal proteases in endocytic and autophagic pathways. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1824, 34–43. doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2011.07.003
- Nickel, W. (2003). The mystery of nonclassical protein secretion. A current view on cargo proteins and potential export routes. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 270, 2109–2119. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-1033.2003.03577.x
- Niles, J. L., Mccluskey, R. T., Ahmad, M. F., and Arnaout, M. A. (1989). Wegener's granulomatosis autoantigen is a novel neutrophil serine proteinase. *Blood* 74, 1888–1893.
- Ooi, C. P., Haines, L. R., Southern, D. M., Lehane, M. J., and Acosta-Serrano, A. (2015). Tsetse GmmSRPN10 has anti-complement activity and is important for successful establishment of trypanosome infections in the fly midgut. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 9:e3448. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0003448
- Owen, C. A. (2008). Roles for proteinases in the pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Int. J. Chron. Obstruct. Pulmon. Dis.* 3, 253–268. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S2089
- Pal, U., Li, X., Wang, T., Montgomery, R. R., Ramamoorthi, N., Desilva, A. M., et al. (2004). TROSPA, an Ixodes scapularis receptor for *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *Cell* 119, 457–468. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2004.10.027
- Palenikova, J., Lieskovska, J., Langhansova, H., Kotsyfakis, M., Chmelar, J., and Kopecky, J. (2015). Ixodes ricinus salivary serpin IRS-2 affects Th17 differentiation via inhibition of the interleukin-6/STAT-3 signaling pathway. *Infect. Immun.* 83, 1949–1956. doi: 10.1128/IAI.03065-14
- Parizi, L. F., Sabadin, G. A., Alzugaray, M. F., Seixas, A., Logullo, C., Konnai, S., et al. (2015). *Rhipicephalus microplus* and *Ixodes ovatus* cystatins in tick blood digestion and evasion of host immune response. *Parasit. Vectors* 8:122. doi: 10.1186/s13071-015-0743-3
- Pejler, G., Ronnberg, E., Waern, I., and Wernersson, S. (2010). Mast cell proteases: multifaceted regulators of inflammatory disease. *Blood* 115, 4981–4990. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-01-257287
- Perner, J., Provaznik, J., Schrenkova, J., Urbanova, V., Ribeiro, J. M., and Kopacek, P. (2016). RNA-seq analyses of the midgut from blood- and serum-fed Ixodes ricinus ticks. *Sci. Rep.* 6:36695. doi: 10.1038/srep36695
- Pham, C. T. (2006). Neutrophil serine proteases: specific regulators of inflammation. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 6, 541–550. doi: 10.1038/nri1841
- Pham, C. T. (2008). Neutrophil serine proteases fine-tune the inflammatory response. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 40, 1317–1333. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2007.11.008

- Pierre, P., and Mellman, I. (1998). Developmental regulation of invariant chain proteolysis controls MHC class II trafficking in mouse dendritic cells. *Cell* 93, 1135–1145. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81458-0
- Pislar, A., and Kos, J. (2014). Cysteine cathepsins in neurological disorders. Mol. Neurobiol. 49, 1017–1030. doi: 10.1007/s12035-013-8576-6
- Porter, L. M., Radulovic, Z. M., and Mulenga, A. (2017). A repertoire of protease inhibitor families in *Amblyomma americanum* and other tick species: inter-species comparative analyses. *Parasit. Vectors* 10:152. doi: 10.1186/s13071-017-2080-1
- Porter, L., Radulovic, Z., Kim, T., Braz, G. R., Da Silva Vaz, I. Jr., and Mulenga, A. (2015). Bioinformatic analyses of male and female *Amblyomma americanum* tick expressed serine protease inhibitors (serpins). *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 6, 16–30. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2014.08.002
- Prevot, P. P., Adam, B., Boudjeltia, K. Z., Brossard, M., Lins, L., Cauchie, P., et al. (2006). Anti-hemostatic effects of a serpin from the saliva of the tick Ixodes ricinus. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 26361–26369. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M604197200
- Prevot, P. P., Beschin, A., Lins, L., Beaufays, J., Grosjean, A., Bruys, L., et al. (2009). Exosites mediate the anti-inflammatory effects of a multifunctional serpin from the saliva of the tick *Ixodes ricinus. FEBS J.* 276, 3235–3246. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2009.07038.x
- Prevot, P. P., Couvreur, B., Denis, V., Brossard, M., Vanhamme, L., and Godfroid, E. (2007). Protective immunity against Ixodes ricinus induced by a salivary serpin. *Vaccine* 25, 3284–3292. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.01.008
- Quinn, D. J., Weldon, S., and Taggart, C. C. (2010). Antiproteases as therapeutics to target inflammation in cystic fibrosis. *Open Respir. Med. J.* 4, 20–31. doi: 10.2174/1874306401004010020
- Rangel, C. K., Parizi, L. F., Sabadin, G. A., Costa, E. P., Romeiro, N. C., Isezaki, M., et al. (2017). Molecular and structural characterization of novel cystatins from the taiga tick Ixodes persulcatus. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 8, 432–441. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2017.01.007
- Rawlings, N. D., and Barrett, A. J. (1990). Evolution of proteins of the cystatin superfamily. J. Mol. Evol. 30, 60–71. doi: 10.1007/BF02102453
- Rawlings, N. D., and Salvesen, G. (2013). *Handbook of Proteolytic Enzymes, 3rd Edn.* London; Boston: Academic Press.
- Ribeiro, J. M., Slovak, M., and Francischetti, I. M. (2017). An insight into the sialome of *Hyalomma excavatum*. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 8, 201–207. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2016.08.011
- Rimphanitchayakit, V., and Tassanakajon, A. (2010). Structure and function of invertebrate Kazal-type serine proteinase inhibitors. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.* 34, 377–386. doi: 10.1016/j.dci.2009.12.004
- Rodriguez-Valle, M., Vance, M., Moolhuijzen, P. M., Tao, X., and Lew-Tabor, A. E. (2012). Differential recognition by tick-resistant cattle of the recombinantly expressed Rhipicephalus microplus serine protease inhibitor-3 (RMS-3). *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 3, 159–169. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2012.03.002
- Rodriguez-Valle, M., Xu, T., Kurscheid, S., and Lew-Tabor, A. E. (2015). *Rhipicephalus microplus* serine protease inhibitor family: annotation, expression and functional characterisation assessment. *Parasit. Vectors* 8:7. doi: 10.1186/s13071-014-0605-4
- Salát, J., Paesen, G. C., Rezácová, P., Kotsyfakis, M., Kovárová, Z., Sanda, M., et al. (2010). Crystal structure and functional characterization of an immunomodulatory salivary cystatin from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata. *Biochem. J.* 429, 103–112. doi: 10.1042/BJ20100280
- Sandhaus, R. A., and Turino, G. (2013). Neutrophil elastase-mediated lung disease. COPD 10 (Suppl. 1), 60–63. doi: 10.3109/15412555.2013.764403
- Sa-Nunes, A., Bafica, A., Antonelli, L. R., Choi, E. Y., Francischetti, I. M., Andersen, J. F., et al. (2009). The immunomodulatory action of sialostatin L on dendritic cells reveals its potential to interfere with autoimmunity. *J. Immunol.* 182, 7422–7429. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900075
- Sasaki, S. D., De Lima, C. A., Lovato, D. V., Juliano, M. A., Torquato, R. J., and Tanaka, A. S. (2008). BmSI-7, a novel subtilisin inhibitor from *Boophilus microplus*, with activity toward Pr1 proteases from the fungus *Metarhizium anisopliae. Exp. Parasitol.* 118, 214–220. doi: 10.1016/j.exppara.2007. 08.003
- Scherer, H. U., Dorner, T., and Burmester, G. R. (2010). Patient-tailored therapy in rheumatoid arthritis: an editorial review. *Curr. Opin. Rheumatol.* 22, 237–245. doi: 10.1097/BOR.0b013e328337b832
- Schmitt, E., Germann, T., Goedert, S., Hoehn, P., Huels, C., Koelsch, S., et al. (1994). IL-9 production of naive CD4+ T cells depends on IL-2, is

synergistically enhanced by a combination of TGF-beta and IL-4, and is inhibited by IFN-gamma. *J. Immunol.* 153, 3989–3996.

- Schwarz, A., Cabezas-Cruz, A., Kopecky, J., and Valdes, J. J. (2014). Understanding the evolutionary structural variability and target specificity of tick salivary Kunitz peptides using next generation transcriptome data. *BMC Evol. Biol.* 14:4. doi: 10.1186/1471-2148-14-4
- Schwarz, A., Valdes, J. J., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2012). The role of cystatins in tick physiology and blood feeding. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 3, 117–127. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2012.03.004
- Schwarz, A., Von Reumont, B. M., Erhart, J., Chagas, A. C., Ribeiro, J. M., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2013). *De novo* Ixodes ricinus salivary gland transcriptome analysis using two next-generation sequencing methodologies. *FASEB J.* 27, 4745–4756. doi: 10.1096/fj.13-232140
- Shapiro, S. D. (2002). Proteinases in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 30, 98–102. doi: 10.1042/bst0300098
- Shi, X., Gangadharan, B., Brass, L. F., Ruf, W., and Mueller, B. M. (2004). Protease-activated receptors (PAR1 and PAR2) contribute to tumor cell motility and metastasis. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 2, 395–402. Available online at: http://mcr. aacrjournals.org/content/2/7/395.article-info
- Silverman, G. A., Whisstock, J. C., Bottomley, S. P., Huntington, J. A., Kaiserman, D., Luke, C. J., et al. (2010). Serpins flex their muscle: I. Putting the clamps on proteolysis in diverse biological systems. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 24299–24305. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R110.112771
- Stark, K. R., and James, A. A. (1995). A factor Xa-directed anticoagulant from the salivary glands of the yellow fever mosquito Aedes aegypti. Exp. Parasitol. 81, 321–331. doi: 10.1006/expr.1995.1123
- Stark, K. R., and James, A. A. (1998). Isolation and characterization of the gene encoding a novel factor Xa-directed anticoagulant from the yellow fever mosquito, *Aedes aegypti. J. Biol. Chem.* 273, 20802–20809. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.33.20802
- Steinwede, K., Maus, R., Bohling, J., Voedisch, S., Braun, A., Ochs, M., et al. (2012). Cathepsin G and neutrophil elastase contribute to lung-protective immunity against mycobacterial infections in mice. *J. Immunol.* 188, 4476–4487. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1103346
- Stephenson, E., Savvatis, K., Mohiddin, S. A., and Marelli-Berg, F. M. (2016). Tcell immunity in myocardial inflammation: pathogenic role and therapeutic manipulation. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* doi: 10.1111/bph.13613
- Sudhan, D. R., and Siemann, D. W. (2015). Cathepsin L targeting in cancer treatment. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 155, 105–116. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2015.08.007
- Sugino, M., Imamura, S., Mulenga, A., Nakajima, M., Tsuda, A., Ohashi, K., et al. (2003). A serine proteinase inhibitor (serpin) from ixodid tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis*; cloning and preliminary assessment of its suitability as a candidate for a tick vaccine. *Vaccine* 21, 2844–2851. doi: 10.1016/S0264-410X(03) 00167-1
- Sun, J., Sukhova, G. K., Wolters, P. J., Yang, M., Kitamoto, S., Libby, P., et al. (2007). Mast cells promote atherosclerosis by releasing proinflammatory cytokines. *Nat. Med.* 13, 719–724. doi: 10.1038/nm1601
- Sun, J., Zhang, J., Lindholt, J. S., Sukhova, G. K., Liu, J., He, A., et al. (2009). Critical role of mast cell chymase in mouse abdominal aortic aneurysm formation. *Circulation* 120, 973–982. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.849679
- Takeda, A., Jimi, T., Wakayama, Y., Misugi, N., Miyake, S., and Kumagai, T. (1992). Demonstration of cathepsins B, H and L in xenografts of normal and Duchenne-muscular-dystrophy muscles transplanted into nude mice. *Biochem. J.* 288 (Pt 2), 643–648. doi: 10.1042/bj2880643
- Talukdar, S., Oh, D. Y., Bandyopadhyay, G., Li, D., Xu, J., Mcnelis, J., et al. (2012). Neutrophils mediate insulin resistance in mice fed a high-fat diet through secreted elastase. *Nat. Med.* 18, 1407–1412. doi: 10.1038/nm.2885
- Tan, G. J., Peng, Z. K., Lu, J. P., and Tang, F. Q. (2013). Cathepsins mediate tumor metastasis. World J. Biol. Chem. 4, 91–101. doi: 10.4331/wjbc.v4.i4.91
- Tang, H. (2009). Regulation and function of the melanization reaction in Drosophila. *Fly (Austin)* 3, 105–111. doi: 10.4161/fly.3.1.7747
- Tirloni, L., Kim, T. K., Coutinho, M. L., Ali, A., Seixas, A., Termignoni, C., et al. (2016). The putative role of *Rhipicephalus microplus* salivary serpins in the tick-host relationship. *Insect. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 71, 12–28. doi: 10.1016/j.ibmb.2016.01.004
- Tirloni, L., Reck, J., Terra, R. M., Martins, J. R., Mulenga, A., Sherman, N. E., et al. (2014a). Proteomic analysis of cattle tick Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) microplus

saliva: a comparison between partially and fully engorged females. *PLoS ONE* 9:e94831. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0094831

- Tirloni, L., Seixas, A., Mulenga, A., Vaz Ida, S. Jr., and Termignoni, C. (2014b). A family of serine protease inhibitors (serpins) in the cattle tick Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) microplus. *Exp. Parasitol.* 137, 25–34. doi: 10.1016/j.exppara.2013.12.001
- Toyomane, K., Konnai, S., Niwa, A., Githaka, N., Isezaki, M., Yamada, S., et al. (2016). Identification and the preliminary *in vitro* characterization of IRIS homologue from salivary glands of *Ixodes persulcatus* Schulze. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 7, 119–125. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2015.09.006
- Tumminello, F. M., Leto, G., Pizzolanti, G., Candiloro, V., Crescimanno, M., Crosta, L., et al. (1996). Cathepsin D, B and L circulating levels as prognostic markers of malignant progression. *Anticancer Res.* 16, 2315–2319.
- Turk, V., Stoka, V., Vasiljeva, O., Renko, M., Sun, T., Turk, B., et al. (2012). Cysteine cathepsins: from structure, function and regulation to new frontiers. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1824, 68–88. doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2011. 10.002
- Twigg, M. S., Brockbank, S., Lowry, P., Fitzgerald, S. P., Taggart, C., and Weldon, S. (2015). The Role of Serine Proteases and Antiproteases in the Cystic Fibrosis Lung. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2015:293053. doi: 10.1155/2015/293053
- Valdes, J. J., and Moal, I. H. (2014). Prediction of Kunitz ion channel effectors and protease inhibitors from the Ixodes ricinus sialome. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 5, 947–950. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2014.07.016
- Valenzuela, J. G., Francischetti, I. M., Pham, V. M., Garfield, M. K., Mather, T. N., and Ribeiro, J. M. (2002). Exploring the sialome of the tick *Ixodes scapularis*. *J. Exp. Biol.* 205, 2843–2864. Available online at: http://jeb.biologists.org/content/ 205/18/2843.article-info
- Wagner, C. J., Schultz, C., and Mall, M. A. (2016). Neutrophil elastase and matrix metalloproteinase 12 in cystic fibrosis lung disease. *Mol Cell Pediatr* 3:25. doi: 10.1186/s40348-016-0053-7
- Wang, Y., Yu, X., Cao, J., Zhou, Y., Gong, H., Zhang, H., et al. (2015a). Characterization of a secreted cystatin from the tick *Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides. Exp. Appl. Acarol.* 67, 289–298. doi: 10.1007/s10493-015-9946-8
- Wang, Y., Zhou, Y., Gong, H., Cao, J., Zhang, H., Li, X., et al. (2015b). Functional characterization of a cystatin from the tick Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides. *Parasit. Vectors* 8:140. doi: 10.1186/s13071-015-0725-5
- Whisstock, J. C., Silverman, G. A., Bird, P. I., Bottomley, S. P., Kaiserman, D., Luke, C. J., et al. (2010). Serpins flex their muscle: II. Structural insights into target peptidase recognition, polymerization, and transport functions. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 24307–24312. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R110.141408
- Wikel, S. (2013). Ticks and tick-borne pathogens at the cutaneous interface: host defenses, tick countermeasures, and a suitable environment for pathogen establishment. *Front. Microbiol.* 4:337. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2013. 00337
- Willadsen, P., Bird, P., Cobon, G. S., and Hungerford, J. (1995). Commercialisation of a recombinant vaccine against *Boophilus microplus*. *Parasitology* 110 (Suppl.), S43–S50. doi: 10.1017/S0031182000001487
- Xu, T., Lew-Tabor, A., and Rodriguez-Valle, M. (2016). Effective inhibition of thrombin by Rhipicephalus microplus serpin-15 (RmS-15) obtained in the yeast *Pichia pastoris. Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 7, 180–187. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2015.09.007
- Yamaji, K., Tsuji, N., Miyoshi, T., Hatta, T., Alim, M. A., Anisuzzaman, et al. (2010). Hlcyst-1 and Hlcyst-2 are potential inhibitors of HlCPL-A in the midgut

of the ixodid tick Haemaphysalis longicornis. J. Vet. Med. Sci. 72, 599-604. doi: 10.1292/jvms.09-0561

- Yamaji, K., Tsuji, N., Miyoshi, T., Islam, M. K., Hatta, T., Alim, M. A., et al. (2009a). Hemoglobinase activity of a cysteine protease from the ixodid tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis. Parasitol. Int.* 58, 232–237. doi:10.1016/j.parint.2009.05.003
- Yamaji, K., Tsuji, N., Miyoshi, T., Islam, M. K., Hatta, T., Alim, M. A., et al. (2009b). A salivary cystatin, HISC-1, from the ixodid tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis* play roles in the blood-feeding processes. *Parasitol. Res.* 106, 61–68. doi: 10.1007/s00436-009-1626-3
- Yasuda, Y., Kaleta, J., and Bromme, D. (2005). The role of cathepsins in osteoporosis and arthritis: rationale for the design of new therapeutics. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 57, 973–993. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2004.12.013
- Yu, Y., Cao, J., Zhou, Y., Zhang, H., and Zhou, J. (2013). Isolation and characterization of two novel serpins from the tick *Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides*. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 4, 297–303. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2013.02.001
- Zavasnik-Bergant, T. (2008). Cystatin protease inhibitors and immune functions. *Front. Biosci.* 13, 4625–4637. doi: 10.2741/3028
- Zeng, X. C., Liu, Y., Shi, W., Zhang, L., Luo, X., Nie, Y., et al. (2014). Genome-wide search and comparative genomic analysis of the trypsin inhibitor-like cysteine-rich domain-containing peptides. *Peptides* 53, 106–114. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2013.08.012
- Zhang, J., Sun, J., Lindholt, J. S., Sukhova, G. K., Sinnamon, M., Stevens, R. L., et al. (2011). Mast cell tryptase deficiency attenuates mouse abdominal aortic aneurysm formation. *Circ. Res.* 108, 1316–1327. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.243758
- Zhou, J., Liao, M., Gong, H., Xuan, X., and Fujisaki, K. (2010). Characterization of Hlcyst-3 as a member of cystatins from the tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis*. *Exp. Appl. Acarol.* 51, 327–333. doi: 10.1007/s10493-010-9336-1
- Zhou, J., Liao, M., Hatta, T., Tanaka, M., Xuan, X., and Fujisaki, K. (2006a). Identification of a follistatin-related protein from the tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis* and its effect on tick oviposition. *Gene* 372, 191–198. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2005.12.020
- Zhou, J., Liao, M., Ueda, M., Gong, H., Xuan, X., and Fujisaki, K. (2009). Characterization of an intracellular cystatin homolog from the tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis. Vet. Parasitol.* 160, 180–183. doi:10.1016/j.vetpar.2008.10.086
- Zhou, J., Ueda, M., Umemiya, R., Battsetseg, B., Boldbaatar, D., Xuan, X., et al. (2006b). A secreted cystatin from the tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis* and its distinct expression patterns in relation to innate immunity. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 36, 527–535. doi: 10.1016/j.ibmb.2006. 03.003

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Chmelař, Kotál, Langhansová and Kotsyfakis. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Review 5

Serpins in Tick Physiology and Tick-Host Interaction

Abbas MN, Chlastáková A, Jmel MA, Giannakoudaki EI, Chmelař J and Kotsyfakis M.

Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol., 2022 May;

doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2022.892770

Last submitted review focused solely on the serpins, this time in tick physiology and tick-host interaction. As a difference from the previous review, instead of 17 serpins, we covered 30 serpins and the review was more thorough. The role of serpins in tick development, blood digestion and tick immunity as well as their role at the tick-host interface as anti-hemostatics, anti-inflammatory molecules and immunomodulators was discussed in this comprehensive review. In order to make it more complex, the mechanism of serpin inhibition of the proteases was also described.

Author's contribution:

Author participated in writing of the text and the creation of the figures and revised the manuscript.



Serpins in Tick Physiology and Tick-Host Interaction

Muhammad Nadeem Abbas¹, Adéla Chlastáková^{2,4}, Mohamed Amine Jmel³, Evangelia Iliaki-Giannakoudaki⁵, Jindřich Chmelař^{2*} and Michail Kotsyfakis^{3*}

¹ State Key Laboratory of Silkworm Genome Biology, Key Laboratory of Sericultural Biology and Genetic Breeding, Ministry of Agriculture, Southwest University, Chongqing, China, ² Department of Medical Biology, Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice, České Budějovice, Czechia, ³ Laboratory of Genomics and Proteomics of Disease Vectors, Institute of Parasitology, Biology Centre of the Czech Academy of Sciences, České Budějovice, Czechia, ⁴ Laboratory of Molecular Biology of Ticks, Institute of Parasitology, Biology Centre of the Czech Academy of Sciences, České Budějovice, České Budějovice, České Budějovice, Czechia, ⁴ Laboratory of Molecular Biology of Ticks, Institute of Parasitology, Biology Centre of the Czech Academy of Sciences, České Budějovice, Czechia, ⁵ General Hospital of Heraklion Venizeleio-Pananeio, Heraklion, Greece

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jeroen P. J. Saeij, University of California, Davis, United States

Reviewed by:

Shahid Karim, University of Southern Mississippi, United States Ivo Francischetti, The Johns Hopkins Hospital, United States

*Correspondence:

Jindřich Chmelař chmelar@jcu.cz Michail Kotsyfakis mich_kotsyfakis@yahoo.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Parasite and Host, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology

Received: 09 March 2022 Accepted: 22 April 2022 Published: 19 May 2022

Citation:

Abbas MN, Chlastáková A, Jmel MA, Iliaki-Giannakoudaki E, Chmelař J and Kotsyfakis M (2022) Serpins in Tick Physiology and Tick-Host Interaction. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 12:892770. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2022.892770 Tick saliva has been extensively studied in the context of tick-host interactions because it is involved in host homeostasis modulation and microbial pathogen transmission to the host. Accumulated knowledge about the tick saliva composition at the molecular level has revealed that serine protease inhibitors play a key role in the tick-host interaction. Serpins are one highly expressed group of protease inhibitors in tick salivary glands, their expression can be induced during tick blood-feeding, and they have many biological functions at the tick-host interface. Indeed, tick serpins have an important role in inhibiting host hemostatic processes and in the modulation of the innate and adaptive immune responses of their vertebrate hosts. Tick serpins have also been studied as potential candidates for therapeutic use and vaccine development. In this review, we critically summarize the current state of knowledge about the biological role of tick serpins in shaping tick-host interactions with emphasis on the mechanisms by which they modulate host immunity. Their potential use in drug and vaccine development is also discussed.

Keywords: tick saliva, serpins, immunomodulation, therapeutic effects, anti-tick vaccine, tick host interaction

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Tick-Host-Pathogen Triad

Ticks (order Ixodida) are ectoparasitic arthropods with a wide global distribution which serve as vectors of a broad spectrum of transmitted pathogens, including bacteria, viruses, and parasites. Ticks are medically considered the second most important vector of disease (Dantas-Torres et al., 2012). Ticks comprise two main families, soft ticks (Argasidae) and hard ticks (Ixodidae), with different lifestyles and life cycles, but both are obligate blood-feeders, entirely dependent on parasitic life. Their feeding strategies differ markedly; while hard ticks feed for several days until complete engorgement and repletion, soft ticks can complete their blood meal in less than one hour. Both groups of ticks alternately inject saliva and suck blood cells occurs, and subsequent digestion of proteins, including hemoglobin and other blood components, occurs intracellularly in the epithelial cells of the midgut. The process is driven by a cascade of intracellular endopeptidases and

exopeptidases, in particular Cathepsins B, C, D, L and legumain, and leads to protein digestion down to single amino acids (Sojka et al., 2013).

Ticks penetrate the vertebrate skin with their saw-like hypostome, which serves to inject saliva and to draw blood but also opens the host skin to the external environment, leading to exposure to secondary infection. The resulting injury, transmitted pathogens, and superimposed infection trigger a host immune response. To avoid it, the tick releases its pharmacologically potent salivary constituents (Ribeiro and Mans, 2020) into the skin wound and alters all kinds of host immune responses. This action facilitates both tick feeding and pathogen transmission. The passage of transmitted pathogens within the tick tissues is usually described as pathogens entering the midgut from an infected host via the blood meal, then crossing the digestive epithelium and infiltrating the hemocoel, from where the pathogens can enter the salivary glands and infect the host while contained in tick saliva during the next feeding cycle (Šimo et al., 2017).

1.2 An Overview of Serpins

Serpins form the richest group of serine (but they have been reported also as cysteine) protease inhibitors, consisting of 350-500 amino acid residues and ranging in molecular weight from 40 to 60 kDa. Recent and the most extensive phylogenetic study on serpins analyzed more than 18 000 unique protein sequences, extracted from public protein databases. Around 10 000 sequences differed by more than 25% in their amino acid sequence, showing enormous abundance of serpins among the organisms (Spence et al., 2021). Serpins are found mostly in eukaryotes, but they can also be detected in archaea, bacteria, and viruses, although in much smaller numbers than in eukaryotes, and many of them have also been functionally characterized. (Silverman et al., 2001; Gettins, 2002; Irving et al., 2002; Silverman et al., 2010; Spence et al., 2021). The number of serpin genes may vary in different animal species, and their distribution patterns in eukaryotes indicate that they appeared early in eukaryotic evolution (Logsdon et al., 1998). Inhibitory serpins usually play an important role in the regulation of physiological pathways controlled by serine proteases in vertebrates and invertebrates, including blood and hemolymph clotting, fibrinolysis, inflammation, complement activation, or regulation of the enzyme phenoloxidase in the Toll pathway in arthropods (Silverman et al., 2001; Rau et al., 2007; Gulley et al., 2013). Moreover, serpins are implicated in diverse biological processes in invertebrates, including immunoregulation, dorsalventral formation, development, and the regulation of apoptosis (Levashina Elena et al., 1999; Ligoxygakis et al., 2003; Pak et al., 2004; Kausar et al., 2017; Kausar et al., 2018). In plants, serpins are involved in the defense against insect pests and are studied for their application potential in agriculture (Alvarez-Alfageme et al., 2011; Clemente et al., 2019). In addition to their inhibitory role, serpins have been shown to modulate biological processes such as blood pressure or hormone transport in humans (Gettins, 2002; Zhou et al., 2006a; Whisstock et al., 2010). Interestingly, the hormone release mechanism is also dependent on the dynamics of serpin conformational changes

(Zhou et al., 2008). Serine protease inhibitors are phylogenetically grouped by species rather than by their biological role in animals. Thus, rather than coevolution with serine proteases, the evolution of serine protease inhibitors appears to be driven by speciation in order to fulfill the species-specific biological roles (Krem and Di Cera, 2003). Despite relatively low sequence homology, all serpins have almost identical three-dimensional structure. This feature was explored in a recent phylogenetic study that suggested that convergent evolution has occurred several times in different taxa for serpins to acquire similar structure and function. The same study showed a high degree of conservation among intracellular serpins from both prokaryotes and eukaryotes, presumably with some key homeostatic function, whereas secreted serpins formed more species-specific branches (Spence et al., 2021). Thanks to protein crystallography, we have gained substantial insights into the molecular mechanism of serpin mode of action, which is termed suicidal because serpins form covalent complexes with the target protease(s) and are ultimately eliminated by a protein degradation mechanism (Whisstock et al., 2010; Huntington, 2011; Mahon and McKenna, 2018). As shown in Figure 1, serpins are composed of conserved β sheets and α -helices and several coils that form a typical tertiary structure. Proper amino acid composition of specific region, called hinge region, allows the serpin to undergo necessary conformational changes that are crucial for their activity as protease inhibitors. A flexible, Reactive Center Loop (RCL) with P1 site functions as a bait for the target serine protease. It is exposed at the top of the serpin molecule and forms an intermediate Michaelis-Menten complex, which can further lead to the formation of covalent complex with the target protease. The final conformation of the serpin in the complex results from the insertion of the RCL into the β -sheet A to form one additional β-strand (Silverman et al., 2001; Gettins, 2002; Huntington, 2011). In case the inhibitory complex is not produced, cleaved serpin becomes inactive and active protease is released.

Despite the acronym serpin (Serine Protease Inhibitor) suggesting that serpins inhibit only serine proteases, it was experimentally shown that they could act as 'cross-class' inhibitors of proteases (Bao et al., 2018). For example, CrmA, a viral serine protease inhibitor, can inhibit caspase-1 protein (Komiyama et al., 1994) and SERPINB3 can inhibit cathepsins S, K, and L, which are papain-like cysteine proteases (Schick et al., 1998). In addition, miropin, a human pathogenic bacterial serpin, has been reported to inhibit a variety of both serine proteases, such as pancreatic and neutrophil elastases, cathepsin G, trypsin, plasmin or subtilisin and the cysteine proteases cathepsin L and papain (Ksiazek et al., 2015; Goulas et al., 2017; Sochaj-Gregorczyk et al., 2020). Such a wide inhibitory range could represent an adaptation strategy to the highly proteolytic environment of the subgingival plaque, which is constantly exposed to a number of host proteases in the inflammatory exudate. Under such environmental conditions, miropin is thought to play a key role as a virulence factor by protecting bacterial pathogens from the damaging activity of neutrophil serine proteases (Ksiazek et al., 2015). Miropin or


ChimeraX (Pettersen et al., 2021). Asterisk in the alignment represents the stop codon.

CrmA are examples of the use of serpins by pathogens to invade and survive in the host. However, serpins are also used by bloodfeeding arthropod ectoparasites to evade the host immune response and facilitate blood uptake.

2 SERINE PROTEASE INHIBITORS IN TICKS

Since the discovery of the serpin superfamily of serine protease inhibitors (Hunt and Dayhoff, 1980), many biological roles of serpins from different organisms have been discovered. Among other animals, many tick serpins have been identified using classical molecular methods, cDNA library screening or transcriptomic approaches (Ribeiro et al., 2012; Yu et al., 2013; Chmelař et al., 2016). In this review, we discuss tick serpins and their role in tick physiology and tick-host interactions in detail. We will focus on their anti-hemostatic, anti-inflammatory, anticomplement, and immunomodulatory functions in the host, and how these activities are important for pathogen transmission. Observed effects on the host are summarized in **Table 1** and inhibitory specificities, expressed by measured Ki values, are summarized in **Table 2**.

2.1 Expression of Serpin Genes in Ticks

In ticks, serpins are usually expressed in different developmental stages and tissues but with some degree of stage and/or tissue specificity. For example, the serpin gene RHS8 has been shown to be expressed in all developmental stages, with mRNA levels being higher in *Rhipicephalus haemaphysaloides* larvae and

TABLE 1 | Tick serpins examined in the current review article.

Serpin name	GenBank accession number	Tick species	Expression profile	Inhibited proteases	Biological processes affected by a serpin	Vaccination experiments	References
AamS6	ABS87358.1	A. americanum	Adult females, SG, saliva, MG, OVA	Trypsin, chymotrypsin, elastase, chymase, plasmin, papain	Platelet plug formation Coagulation cascade	-	Mulenga et al., 2007 Chalaire et al., 2011 Mulenga et al., 2013
AAS19	JAI08902.1	A. americanum	Adult females, SG, saliva, MG, OVA, SYN, MT	Trypsin, plasmin, fXa, fXla, fXla, fIXa, thrombin, chymotrypsin, tryptase, papain	Platelet plug formation Coagulation cascade	Immunization of rabbits Reduced engorgement weight and impaired oviposion in adult female ticks	Porter et al., 2015 Kim et al., 2015 Kim et al., 2016 Radulović and Mulenga, 2017
AAS27	JAI08961.1	A. americanum	Eggs, larvae, nymphs, adults, SG, saliva, MG, CAR, OVA, SYN, MT	Trypsin, plasmin, chymotrypsin	Inflammation	_	Porter et al., 2015 Tirloni et al., 2019 Bakshi et al., 2019
AAS41	JAI08957.1	A. americanum	Eggs, larvae, nymphs, adults, SG, MG, CAR	Chymase, mast cell protease-1, chymotrypsin, papain	Inflammation	-	Porter et al., 2015 Bakshi et al., 2019 Kim et al., 2020
HLS-1	-	H. longicornis	Adult ticks, MG	-	Coagulation cascade	Immunization of rabbits Increased mortality rate in nymphs and adults	Sugino et al., 2003
HLS2	BAD11156.1	H. longicornis	Nymphs, adults, hemolymph	Thrombin	Coagulation cascade	Immunization of rabbits Prolonged feeding time and higher mortality rate in nymphs and adults, impaired oviposition	lmamura et al., 2005
HISerpin- a	QFQ50847.1	H. longicornis	-	Cathepsin G, cathepsin B, fXa, papain	Inflammation Adaptive immunity	_	Wang et al., 2020
HISerpin- b	QFQ50848.1	H. longicornis	-	Cathepsin G, fXa, papain	Inflammation Adaptive	-	Wang et al., 2020
lpis-1	BAP59746.1	l. persulcatus	Adult females, SG	-	Adaptive	-	Toyomane
Iripin-3	JAA69032.1	I. ricinus	Nymphs, adult females, SG, saliva, OVA	Kallikrein, matriptase, thrombin, trypsin	Coagulation cascade Inflammation Adaptive immunity	-	Chlastáková et al., 2021
Iripin-5	JAA71155.1	I. ricinus	Nymphs, adult females, SG	Trypsin, elastase, proteinase-3	Inflammation Complement system	_	Kascakova et al., 2021
Iripin-8	ABI94058.1	I. ricinus	Nymphs, adult females, SG, saliva, MG	Thrombin, fVIIa, fIXa, fXa, fXIa, fXIIa, plasmin, activated protein C, kallikrein, trypsin	Coagulation cascade Complement system	-	Kotál et al., 2021
Iris	CAB55818.2	I. ricinus	Nymphs, adult females, SG, saliva	Elastase, tissue plasminogen activator, fXa, thrombin, trypsin	Platelet plug formation Coagulation cascade Fibrinolysis Inflammation	Immunization of rabbits Higher mortality and lower weight gain in nymphs, prolonged feeding period and higher mortality rate in adult females	Leboulle et al., 2002a Prevot et al., 2006 Prevot et al., 2007

(Continued)

Serpin name	GenBank accession number	Tick species	Expression profile	Inhibited proteases	Biological processes affected by a serpin	Vaccination experiments	References
IRS-2	ABI94056.2	I. ricinus	Adult females, SG, MG, OVA	Chymotrypsin, cathepsin G, chymase, thrombin, trypsin, and other proteases	Adaptive immunity Platelet plug formation Inflammation Adaptive immunity	-	Prevot et al., 2009 Chmelar et al., 2011 Páleníková et al., 2015 Pongprayoon et al., 2020 Fu et al., 2021
IxscS- 1E1	AID54718.1	l. scapularis	SG, saliva, MG	Thrombin, trypsin, cathepsin G, fXa	Platelet plug formation Coagulation	-	Mulenga et al., 2009 Ibelli et al., 2014
RAS-1	AAK61375.1	R. appendiculutus	Larvae, nymphs,	-	-	Immunization of cattle with a	Mulenga
RAS-2	AAK61376.1	R. appendiculutus	adults, SG, MG Larvae, nymphs, adults, SG, MG	-	-	combination of RAS-1 and RAS-2 Decreased engorgement rate in nymphs, higher mortality in nymphs	et al., 2003 Imamura et al., 2006
RAS-3	AAK61377.1	R. appendiculutus	Male and female	-	-	Immunization of cattle with a	Mulenga
RAS-4	AAK61378.1	R. appendiculutus	adults, SG, MG Male and female	-	-	combination of RAS-3, RAS-4, and RIM36	et al., 2003 Imamura
RHS-1	AFX65224.1	<i>R.</i>	adults, SG, MG SG, saliva	Chymotrypsin, thrombin	Coagulation	Higher mortality in female ticks –	et al., 2008 Yu et al.,
RHS-2	AFX65225.1	haemaphysaloides R.	MG	Chymotrypsin	cascade Adaptive	-	2013 Yu et al.,
		haemaphysaloides			immunity		2013 Xu et al.,
RHS8	QHU78941.1	R. haemaphysaloides	Eggs, larvae, nymphs, adults, SG, OVA, fat bodies	-	Tick reproduction (vitellogenesis)	-	2019 Xu et al., 2020
RmS-3	AHC98654.1	R. microplus	Nymphs, adult females, SG, saliva, MG, OVA	Chymotrypsin, cathepsin G, elastase, chymase, mast cell protease-1	Platelet plug formation Inflammation Adaptive immunity	_	Rodriguez- Valle et al., 2012 Rodriguez- Valle et al., 2015 Tirloni et al., 2014 Tirloni et al., 2014 Tirloni et al., 2016 Coutinho et al., 2020 Pongprayoon et al. 2021
RmS-6	AHC98657.1	R. microplus	Adult females, SG, saliva, MG, OVA	Trypsin, chymotrypsin, plasmin, fXa, fXla	Inflammation	_	Tirloni et al., 2014 Tirloni et al., 2014 Rodriguez- Valle et al., 2015 Tirloni et al., 2016 Coutinho et al., 2020

TABLE 1 | Continued

TABLE 1 | Continued

Serpin name	GenBank accession number	Tick species	Expression profile	Inhibited proteases	Biological processes affected by a serpin	Vaccination experiments	References
RmS-15	AHC98666.1	R. microplus	Eggs, nymphs, adult females, SG, saliva, MG, OVA	Thrombin	Coagulation – cascade		Tirloni et al., 2014 Tirloni et al., 2014 Rodriguez- Valle et al., 2015 Xu et al., 2016
RmS-17	AHC98668.1	R. microplus	Adult females, SG, saliva, MG, OVA	Trypsin, chymotrypsin, cathepsin G, plasmin, fXla	Platelet plug – formation Coagulation cascade Inflammation Adaptive immunity		Tirloni et al., 2014 Tirloni et al., 2014 Rodriguez- Valle et al., 2015 Tirloni et al., 2016 Coutinho et al., 2020

SG, salivary glands; MG, midgut; OVA, ovaries; SYN, synganglion; MT, Malpighian tubules; CAR, carcass; RIM36, Rhipicephalus immunodominant molecule 36 (a putative cement protein of R. appendiculatus ticks).

nymphs (Yu et al., 2013; Xu et al., 2020). Similarly, serpins have been found to be transcribed in a number of tick tissues, suggesting a role either in tick physiology or in tick-host interactions. Such an interaction can occur either in the host or in the tick midgut. As an example, a study by Tirloni and coworkers analyzed the expression profiles of 18 serpins from *Rhipicephalus microplus* and found that 16 of them are transcribed in all tissues, but with quantitative differences for different serpins (Tirloni et al., 2014). Similarly, serpins from the Lone Star tick *Amblyomma americanum*, named Lospins, were also expressed in multiple tissues but with a tissue preference for individual serpins (Mulenga et al., 2007; Porter et al., 2015).

TABLE 2 | Second-order rate constants of the interaction between tick serpins and serine proteases.

Serpin name	Tick species	Protease	Second-order rate constant (M ⁻¹ s ⁻¹)	References
AAS27	A. americanum	trypsin	$6.46 \pm 1.24 \times 10^4$	Tirloni et al., 2019
AAS41	A. americanum	chymase	$5.6 \pm 0.37 \times 10^3$	Kim et al., 2020
		α-chymotrypsin	$1.6 \pm 0.41 \times 10^4$	
Iripin-3	I. ricinus	kallikrein	$8.46 \pm 0.51 \times 10^4$	Chlastáková et al., 2021
		matriptase	$5.93 \pm 0.39 \times 10^4$	
		trypsin	$4.65 \pm 0.32 \times 10^4$	
		thrombin	$1.37 \pm 0.21 \times 10^3$	
Iripin-8	I. ricinus	plasmin	$2.25 \pm 0.14 \times 10^5$	Kotál et al., 2021
		trypsin	$2.94 \pm 0.35 \times 10^4$	
		kallikrein	$1.67 \pm 0.11 \times 10^4$	
		fXla	$1.63 \pm 0.09 \times 10^4$	
		thrombin	$1.38 \pm 0.1 \times 10^4$	
		fXIIa	$3.32 \pm 0.41 \times 10^3$	
		fXa	$2.09 \pm 0.12 \times 10^3$	
		activated protein C	$5.23 \pm 0.35 \times 10^2$	
		fVIIa + tissue factor	$4.56 \pm 0.35 \times 10^2$	
Iris	I. ricinus	leukocyte elastase	$4.7 \pm 0.64 \times 10^{6}$	Prevot et al., 2006
		pancreatic elastase	$2.2 \pm 0.15 \times 10^5$	
		tissue plasminogen activator	$2.9 \pm 0.15 \times 10^5$	
		fXa	$1.7 \pm 0.36 \times 10^5$	
		thrombin	$2.5 \pm 0.42 \times 10^4$	
		trypsin	$1.5 \pm 0.42 \times 10^4$	
RmS-15	R. microplus	thrombin	$9.3 \pm 0.5 \times 10^4$	Xu et al., 2016

All tick serpins with available data are presented.

The varying levels of expression across tissues suggest that serpins may have a broader biological role, i.e. serpins may be involved in development (present in the ovary) and in the regulation of blood digestion (present in the midgut). In addition, their expression and presence in salivary glands and/ or saliva suggest that they play a role in tick feeding, possibly influencing host resistance mechanisms and facilitating pathogen transmission (Jmel et al., 2021). Therefore, in order to determine the role of individual serpins, we must not only investigate their capabilities in experimental models in vitro and/or in vivo, but we must also consider developmental stage and tissue specific expression, taking into consideration also the time during tick feeding that gene expression present peak(s). It is difficult to determine the concentration of tick salivary proteins in a host as the tick feeding site is a very complex and dynamic environment where the concentrations of both host and tick proteins constantly change (Mans, 2019). Therefore, we can only estimate roughly that the concentration of serpins can vary from nanomolar to micromolar range.

3 SERPINS MODULATE TICK BIOLOGICAL PROCESSES RELATED TO DISEASE VECTOR PHYSIOLOGY

As discussed in the previous section, the pattern of serpin expression in different tick developmental stages and tissues may suggest a biological significance in tick physiology (**Figure 2** and **Table 1**). The first area in which serpins have a definite role is in the biology and physiology of ticks.

3.1 Serpins in Tick Hemolymph

In ticks and arthropods in general, hemolymph clotting is a key defense mechanism that reduces hemolymph loss and blocks entry into the wound, thereby preventing entry of microbial pathogens and tick infection/death. To date, several tick serpins have been identified as being involved in hemolymph clotting. The RAS-3 and RAS-4 serpins of the tick Rhipicephalus appendiculatus have been found to share some degree of similarity with the horseshoe crab hemolymph clotting factors LICI-1 and LICI-2, suggesting that they also have hemolymph clotting potential (Mulenga et al., 2003). Serpin HLS2, which is comparable to serpins from R. appendiculatus, was found to be produced only in the hemolymph, indicating that it likely controls processes in the hemolymph of this tick species (Mulenga et al., 2001; Imamura et al., 2005). Apart from exceptions, such as HLS2, it is not known, whether hemolymph serpins are produced by hemocytes or secreted there by other organs. Anyway, serpins are definitely produced in arthropod hemocytes, as they can be found by BLAST in hemocytomes not only from ticks (Kotsyfakis et al., 2015), but also from Drosophila melanogaster (BioProject database at NCBI, no. PRIEB33170).

In addition to coagulation, innate immunity processes are also present in the tick hemolymph. These processes contribute to the protection of ticks from pathogens and thus, are important factors in determining vector competence (Hajdušek et al., 2013). Several inhibitors of serine proteases have been reported to control the innate immune response in tick hemolymph, either by direct antimicrobial activity (Fogaça et al., 2006) or by a more complex role in arthropod immune response (Kopacek et al., 2012; Blisnick et al., 2017). Although serpins have not been



Serpins in Tick-Host Interaction

experimentally proven to be involved in the tick immune response, their role in arthropod defense system was shown in *Anopheles stephensi*, in which serpin AsSRPN6 expression was induced by common microbiota bacterium *Enterobacter cloacae* and this correlated with inhibited development of *Plasmodium berghei* (Eappen et al., 2013). Thus, serpins can affect the composition of arthropod microbiota, which has direct implication in the defense against pathogens. Moreover, serpins are directly involved in the regulation of intracellular immune pathways, such as Toll pathway or myeloperoxidase production (Meekins et al., 2017). However, the main role of serpins in tick hemolymph appears to be in the regulation of proteolytic cascades, such as clot formation, rather than in the immune response *per se*.

3.2 Serpins as Regulators of Tick Reproduction

Another process related to tick physiology in which serpins play a role is oviposition. Serpins appear to be involved in tick reproduction alongside other key proteins such as vitellogenin or lipophorin (Tufail and Takeda, 2009). To date, many serpins have been identified as highly expressed in tick eggs and larvae (Andreotti et al., 2001; Sasaki et al., 2004). For example, the serpin RmS-3 is transcribed in the ovaries of R. microplus (Rodriguez-Valle et al., 2012; Rodriguez-Valle et al., 2015). In vitro feeding assays revealed that female ticks fed with anti-RmS-3 sheep serum had reduced egg weight and larval hatching rates, suggesting that RmS-3 is likely to be involved in tick reproduction and egg development (Rodriguez-Valle et al., 2012). The R. microplus serpins RmS-6, RmS-19, and RmS-20 might also play a role in tick embryogenesis or vitellogenesis (Rodriguez-Valle et al., 2015). The R. haemaphysaloides serpin RHS8 appears to stabilize vitellogenin by inhibiting serine protease activity since the knockdown of this serpin caused a significant reduction of vitellogenin protein levels, impaired oocyte maturation, and reduced fecundity (Xu et al., 2020). Similar evidence of serpin involvement in tick reproduction has been observed in H. longicornis (Zhou et al., 2006b) and A. americanum (Kim et al., 2016) when analyzing the effects of serpins on tick reproduction and development by vaccination experiments against tick serpins or RNA interference targeting serpin genes in these ticks.

3.3 Serpins as Regulators of Blood Fluidity and Digestion in Tick Midgut

Tick serpins might also be involved in the regulation of blood fluidity and digestion in tick midgut. This claim is supported by the fact that many serpins, some of which are known to possess anti-coagulant activity, have been found to be expressed in the midgut of feeding ticks (see **Table 1**). However, these functions have not yet been experimentally demonstrated. By employing a transcriptomic approach, Tirloni and his co-workers identified a total of 22 serpins in *R. microplus* (Tirloni et al., 2014; Rodriguez-Valle et al., 2015) with some of them (e.g. RmS-1, RmS-19, RmS-20, and RmS-21) being expressed in both the salivary glands and midgut, suggesting that certain *R. microplus* serpins might maintain blood in a fluid state at both the feeding site and in tick midgut and could regulate the process of blood meal digestion. Likewise, many serpins have been found to be expressed in both the salivary glands and midgut of feeding *A. americanum* ticks (Mulenga et al., 2007; Porter et al., 2015), and the same also applies to some *I. scapularis* serpins (Bakshi et al., 2018). HLS-1, the serpin of the tick *H. longicornis*, was revealed to be expressed only in the midgut of partially-fed ticks and had anti-coagulant activity in the aPTT (Activated Partial Thromboplastin Time) assay, which indicates that this particular serpin might be involved in maintaining blood fluidity in the midgut (Sugino et al., 2003).

4 THE IMPORTANCE OF TICK SALIVARY SERPINS IN TICK-HOST INTERACTION

Saliva is a complex mixture of various peptidic and non-peptidic components that are crucial for successful tick attachment. There are many reviews on the effects of tick saliva (Kotál et al., 2015; Šimo et al., 2017) and its individual components (Kazimírová and Štibrániová, 2013), including serine protease inhibitors (Blisnick et al., 2017; Chmelař et al., 2017). Serpins target hemostasis and the innate and adaptive branches of the host immune system. In the following sections, we will focus on the role of serpins in tick attachment success and how they modulate host immunity.

4.1 Tick Serpins Inhibit Host Hemostasis 4.1.1 Host Hemostatic Response Against Tick Feeding

The first battle that a feeding tick must win is the battle against host hemostasis, a complex of host defense mechanisms that respond immediately to prevent blood loss from the physical injury caused by the tick mouthparts (once intruded into the host skin). Host hemostasis consists of vasoconstriction, plasma coagulation, and platelet aggregation. A number of cellular and biochemical processes take place in response to injury (LaPelusa and Dave, 2022). More specifically, after the resulting injury of the vascular epithelium, extrinsic clotting signaling is activated as epithelial cells begin to produce Tissue Factor (TF) to induce the clotting process. Tissue Factor interacts with pre-existing factor VIIa to form the TF-VIIa complex, which causes the cleavage of factor X. Factor XII activates a second intrinsic pathway in which high molecular weight kininogen and prekallikrein (PK) stimulate the cleavage of factors XI, IX, and the formation of the factor IXa-VIIIa complex, and the cascade ends with cleavage of factor X. Based on the above, it is clear that the activation cleavage of factor X to Xa is the target site of both coagulation pathways. The final product of both pathways is factor Xa, which binds to its cofactor Va and induces the prothrombinase complex. Finally, the factor Xa-Va complex converts factor II (prothrombin) to factor IIa (thrombin), which converts fibrinogen to fibrin and induces blood clotting (Jagadeeswaran et al., 2005; Kim et al., 2009).

Another process in hemostasis is platelet aggregation, which is an essential part of vertebrate defense against injury (Chmelar et al., 2011). Platelets are activated by contact with the extracellular matrix, which contains large amounts of adhesive macromolecules such as collagens and fibronectin (Jackson and Schoenwaelder, 2003; Furie and Furie, 2005; Watson et al., 2005). A number of surface protein interactions lead to the binding of the platelet GPVI receptor to collagen (Jandrot-Perrus et al., 2000). This causes integrins (e.g., $\alpha 2\beta 1$) to switch to a highaffinity state, allowing them to mediate tight platelet adhesion to collagen while promoting the release of TXA2 and ADP, which are pro-inflammatory mediators (Jackson and Schoenwaelder, 2003; Furie and Furie, 2005; Watson et al., 2005). Vasoconstriction is the third hemostatic process mediated by smooth muscle cells and it is controlled by the vascular endothelium. Endothelial cells release molecules such as endothelin that control contractile properties of the blood vessels. Damaged blood vessels constrict to limit the amount of blood loss and the extent of bleeding. The presence of collagen exposed at the site of the damaged blood vessel promotes platelet adhesion. Salivary gland extract has been shown to impair vasoconstriction (Charkoudian, 2010; Pekáriková et al., 2015).

4.1.2 Tick Serpins Target Host Blood Coagulation Factors

Ticks have developed a variety of molecules that they inject into the host *via* saliva to stop blood clotting (Chmelar et al., 2012). Since coagulation is a cascade of serine protease-dependent activations, inhibitors of serine proteases, including serpins, are the major regulatory factors involved in this process. In this section, we will discuss the molecular mechanisms that serpins use to inhibit blood clotting and to facilitate blood feeding (Figure 3 and Table 1).

4.1.2.1 Tick Serpins Interact With Host Thrombin

In vertebrates, thrombin is the main coagulation enzyme that catalyzes the conversion of fibrinogen to fibrin. Tick serpins are key regulators of this enzyme, as they control the balance between active and inactive thrombin. In ticks (but also in other hematophagous species), many thrombin inhibitors have evolved from different protein families, including serpins.

Of several serpins described and isolated from R. microplus (Rodriguez-Valle et al., 2015), only RmS-15 was found to substantially inhibit thrombin activity, as demonstrated by detailed enzymatic analysis (Xu et al., 2016). In addition, plasma clotting increased in the absence of serpin RmS-15, and higher titers of IgG antibodies to RmS-15 were detected in bovine serum after prolonged exposure to R. microplus challenge, suggesting its presence in tick saliva and its high immunogenicity (Rodriguez-Valle et al., 2015; Xu et al., 2016). The serpin RHS-1, which was identified from the closely related species R. haemaphysaloides, displayed strong expression in the salivary glands of fed ticks and inhibited chymotrypsin and thrombin activity in vitro (Yu et al., 2013). Consistent with its capacity to inhibit thrombin, RHS-1 prolonged plasma clotting time in the aPTT assay (Yu et al., 2013). These data suggest that RHS-1 may be involved in the inhibition of blood coagulation. Similarly, IxscS-1E1 is produced in both the salivary glands and midgut of I. scapularis, and its expression is increased after the first 24 h of tick feeding (Mulenga et al., 2009; Ibelli et al., 2014). This serpin formed stable complexes with thrombin and trypsin,



inhibited platelet aggregation, and prolonged plasma clotting time, as demonstrated by *in vitro* experiments (Ibelli et al., 2014). The serpin Iripin-8 from *I. ricinus* also inhibited thrombin and other proteases of the coagulation cascade and it has been shown to be a potent inhibitor of the intrinsic and common pathways of the coagulation cascade, as evidenced by aPTT and TT (Thrombin Time) assays (Kotál et al., 2021). Other, rather weak inhibitors of thrombin from the same tick species are Iris (Prevot et al., 2006), IRS-2 (Chmelar et al., 2011), and Iripin-3 (Chlastáková et al., 2021). However, additional data on these serpins suggest a role other than anticoagulation.

4.1.2.2 Tick Serpins Regulate Host Blood Coagulation via Inhibition of FX(A) and Other Blood Clotting Factors

Activated factor X (FXa) is a central enzyme of coagulation that stands at the intersection of both coagulation activation pathways and is responsible for the activation of thrombin (Borensztajn et al., 2008). To date, several FX(a) inhibitors, including serpins, have been described in various tick species. In 2002, the first serpin named Iris (Ixodes ricinus immunosuppressor) was isolated from the tick I. ricinus (Leboulle et al., 2002b). Besides other immunomodulatory effects and the aforementioned inhibition of thrombin, Iris inhibited factor FXa in a dose-dependent manner and with higher specificity than thrombin (Prevot et al., 2006). Serpin Iripin-8 also inhibits factor FXa and other proteases of the coagulation cascade, including factors fVIIa, fIXa, fXIa, fXIIa, APC (activated protein C), kallikrein, and thrombin, demonstrating that it is an inhibitor of coagulation by targeting many different host enzymes at the same time (Kotál et al., 2021). Iripin-3 has also been shown to block coagulation, but only the extrinsic pathway. Thus, Iripin-3 was the first tick serpin to inhibit this type of coagulation activation (Chlastáková et al., 2021). The serpin AAS19, which was originally identified by RNA sequencing of A. americanum and is expressed in the salivary glands and midgut during tick feeding (Porter et al., 2015), was found to be able to inhibit a wide range of proteases of the coagulation cascade, such as FXa and FXIa. Reduced activity of the same serpin was also reported against FXIIa, FIXa and thrombin (Kim et al., 2015).

4.1.2.3 Inhibition of Fibrinolysis by Tick Serpins

Fibrinolysis is a highly regulated enzymatic process that prevents the unnecessary accumulation of intravascular fibrin and enables the removal of thrombi (Chapin and Hajjar, 2015). The cleavage of insoluble fibrin polymers into soluble fibrin degradation products is mediated by plasmin that is generated from the zymogen plasminogen by either tissue-type plasminogen activator (tPA) or urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) (Schaller and Gerber, 2011; Chapin and Hajjar, 2015). Plasmin, tPA, and uPA are serine proteases whose enzymatic activity is commonly regulated by serpins, such as plasminogen activator inhibitor-1, plasminogen activator inhibitor-2, and α 2antiplasmin (Schaller and Gerber, 2011; Chapin and Hajjar, 2015). Some tick serpins, e.g. *A. americanum* serpins AAS19 and AAS27 (Kim et al., 2015; Tirloni et al., 2019). *I. ricinus* serpin Iripin-8 (Kotál et al., 2021), and *R. microplus* serpin RmS-17 (Tirloni et al., 2016), reduced the proteolytic activity of plasmin in vitro; however, their effect on fibrinolysis has not been tested. The only tick serpin that has been shown to inhibit fibrinolysis thus far is Iris derived from the tick I. ricinus (Prevot et al., 2006). The anti-fibrinolytic effect of Iris is probably mediated though its ability to inhibit tPA since Iris devoid of any anti-protease activity due to a mutated RCL did not significantly affect fibrinolysis time (Prevot et al., 2006). Even though tick serpins can reduce the enzymatic activity of plasmin and tPA, the inhibition of fibrin clot dissolution makes no sense in the context of blood feeding since it is in tick's best interest to maintain host blood in a fluid state both at the feeding site and in tick midgut. However, beyond fibrinolysis, plasmin is also involved in the inflammatory response (Syrovets et al., 2012), as described later in this review in the section 4.2.2., dedicated to the effects of tick serpins on host inflammation. Unlike the aforementioned inhibition of fibrin clot dissolution, attenuation of inflammation by targeting plasmin might be beneficial for feeding ticks.

4.1.2.4 Tick Serpins and Their Interaction With Glycosaminoglycans

The inhibitory activity of some serpins involved in the regulation of blood coagulation and fibrinolysis can be altered by their interaction with glycosaminoglycans (GAGs), such as heparin or heparan sulfate (Gettins, 2002; Huntington, 2003; Rau et al., 2007). GAGs can influence the anti-proteolytic activity of serpins in two ways. First, they can simultaneously bind both the serpin and the protease, bringing them together in an appropriate orientation for the productive interaction of the serpin's RCL with the protease active site (Gettins, 2002). Second, GAGs binding to the serpin can lead to the alteration of the serpin conformation to one in which the serpin is more reactive toward the target protease (Gettins, 2002). The A. americanum serpin AAS19 has four predicted GAG-binding sites on its surface, suggesting it could be responsive to GAGs (Kim et al., 2015). Indeed, binding of heparan sulfate/heparin to AAS19 caused pronounced changes in the inhibitory profile of the serpin in that AAS19 inhibitory activity was significantly increased against thrombin and FIXa and was considerably reduced against FXa and FXIIa. Overall, AAS19 interaction with GAGs enhanced the capacity of this serpin to suppress the coagulation cascade (Radulović and Mulenga, 2017). It is likely that this observation is just an example of how glycosaminoglycans are involved in the regulation of tick serpins activity and more examples would be found if we focused in that direction.

4.1.3 Platelet Aggregation and Tick Serpins

Platelet aggregation is necessary for the formation of hemostatic plugs. It is a complex and dynamic multistep adhesion process involving various receptors and adhesion molecules, especially integrins (Jackson, 2007; Li et al., 2012). Importantly, platelet aggregation can be triggered by certain serine proteases, such as cathepsin G and thrombin. Cathepsin G, which is released by activated neutrophils, can induce platelet aggregation through the activation of protease-activated receptor-4 (PAR-4) (Sambrano et al., 2000), and blood clotting factor thrombin can trigger platelet aggregation by activating PAR-1 and PAR-4 (Lisman et al., 2005). Tick serpins that were shown to reduce the enzymatic activity of cathepsin G and/or thrombin, such as A. americanum serpin AAS19 (Kim et al., 2015), I. ricinus serpin IRS-2 (Chmelar et al., 2011), I. scapularis serpin IxscS-1E1 (Ibelli et al., 2014), or R. microplus serpins RmS-3 and RmS-17 (Tirloni et al., 2016) inhibited in vitro platelet aggregation triggered by these two serine proteases (see **Table 1**). This suggests that tick serpins can suppress primary hemostasis through their capacity to inhibit serine proteases involved in the activation of platelet aggregation. However, the inhibitory effect of some tick serpins on platelet plug formation might be independent of their antiproteolytic activity. For example, the RCL mutants of the serpin Iris from the tick I. ricinus lost their anticoagulant activity but still managed to inhibit platelet adhesion (Prevot et al., 2006). As discussed in this particular study, serpins may interact via exosites with other proteins such as von Willebrand factor and integrins to block platelet adhesion on endothelial cells (Prevot et al., 2006; Berber et al., 2014). Overall, tick serpins appear to have an important role in inhibiting platelet adhesion, thus blocking the specific host response to tick feeding, but other salivary protein families are also known to mediate the same effect.

4.2 Tick Serpins Regulate Host Innate Immunity

Injury caused by a tick hypostome, together with concomitant and/or transmitted infections, induces a host immune response, which begins with the activation of pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) by pathogen- or danger-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs or DAMPs). Activated resident cells begin to produce cytokines and chemokines that recruit from the bloodstream to the site of injury/infection various innate immune cells, such as neutrophils and monocytes. Complement activation further amplifies the local inflammatory response. The feeding period, which extends to several days in Ixodidae, provides sufficient time for the development of adaptive immunity, which includes both humoral and cellular branches. To prevent rejection by the host, ticks use a mixture of pharmacologically active molecules at the site of injury to manipulate all types of host immune responses. Many excellent and thorough review articles have been published describing both the immune response against tick attachment and the effects of tick saliva or of individual salivary compounds on the host immune system (Hovius et al., 2008; Francischetti et al., 2009; Kazimírová and Štibrániová, 2013; Kotál et al., 2015; Chmelař et al., 2016; Chmelař et al., 2017; Kazimírová et al., 2017; Šimo et al., 2017; Chmelař et al., 2019; Wen et al., 2019; Aounallah et al., 2020; Martins et al., 2020; Fogaça et al., 2021; Jmel et al., 2021; Narasimhan et al., 2021; Wikel, 2021; Wang and Cull, 2022). In the following section, we discuss how tick salivary serpins contribute to the evasion of immunity-mediated host defense mechanisms - both innate (Figure 4) and adaptive (Figure 5).

4.2.1 Tick Serpins and Host Complement

The vertebrate complement system enhances the ability of phagocytic cells to remove microbial pathogens and damaged cells by opsonization, by promoting inflammation and by directly attacking cell membrane components of pathogens (Kimura et al., 2009; Cagliani et al., 2016). Tick saliva and its protein components possess anti-complement activity, which has been reported in several publications (Schroeder et al.,





2009; Miller et al., 2011; Cong et al., 2013; Wikel, 2013). So far, a number of anti-complement proteins have been discovered in the saliva of several tick species. A well-characterized complement inhibitor that binds the C5 component and thereby inhibits its activation by C5 convertase has been isolated from the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata* (Fredslund et al., 2008). It inhibited complement-mediated hemolytic activity as well as the development of pathological features in a rodent model of myasthenia gravis (Hepburn et al., 2007). Other tick complement inhibitors, such as Isac, Irac-1, and -2, and Salp20, belong to the ISAC/IRAC family of proteins and inhibit the alternative complement pathway by binding and displacing properdin, thereby inhibiting C3 convertase production (Valenzuela et al., 2000; Schroeder et al., 2007; Tyson et al., 2007).

Recently (and for the first time in ticks), anti-complement activities have been described for two *I. ricinus* serpins, namely Iripin-5 and Iripin-8 (Kascakova et al., 2021; Kotál et al., 2021), and their anti-complement activity was comparable to that of vertebrates serpins (Bos et al., 2002; Kascakova et al., 2021; Kotál et al., 2021). Iripin-5 has a dose-dependent inhibitory activity against complement system, as evidenced by a decrease in erythrocyte lysis when incubated with increasing concentrations of Iripin-5 (Kascakova et al., 2021). Iripin-8 serpin exhibited a similar effect, but approximately 10-fold weaker anti-complement activity when compared to Iripin-5 (Kotál et al., 2021). In summary, these findings suggest that tick serpins may also be involved in complement inhibition at the tick attachment site. However, further studies would be required to unravel the molecular mechanism by which these serpins regulate the complement cascade.

4.2.2 Tick Serpins and Host Inflammation

The role of serpins in the regulation of inflammation is well known because the most abundant serpin in human serum is alpha-1-antitrypsin, which is a major protective factor against the damaging effects of neutrophil elastase (Mangan et al., 2008; Yaron et al., 2021). Other human serpins, such as antichymotrypsin, also have an anti-inflammatory function. Not surprisingly, many serpins from tick saliva exhibit antiinflammatory effects in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments. These activities are thought to result from their inhibitory specificity towards important pro-inflammatory proteases such as neutrophil elastase, cathepsin G, plasmin or chymase.

Plasmin is a key protease in hemostasis, particularly in fibrinolysis, but it is also involved in the development of the inflammatory response by playing a major role in producing proinflammatory cytokines, in regulating monocyte and dendritic cell chemotaxis, and in attracting neutrophils to the site of inflammation (Syrovets et al., 2012). Several tick serpins inhibited plasmin, but the association between this inhibition and the observed anti-inflammatory phenotype has not been directly demonstrated. Antiplasmin specificity has been observed in serpins from *A. americanum* - AamS6, AAS19, AAS27 (Chalaire et al., 2011; Syrovets et al., 2012; Mulenga et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2015; Bakshi et al., 2019). In a recent study, the serpin AAS27 was found to have a peak of expression at 24 h after tick attachment and formed SDS-stable irreversible complexes with trypsin and plasmin and blocked both formalin- and compound 48/80-induced inflammation in rats. Thus, AAS27 appears to be an anti-inflammatory protein, but the causal link to plasmin inhibition is not yet demonstrated (Tirloni et al., 2019). The most potent plasmin inhibitor among tick serpins so far is *I. ricinus* serpin Iripin-8 (Kotál et al., 2021), which however showed no immunomodulatory or anti-inflammatory effect in several assays.

Neutrophil elastase is one of the four neutrophil serine proteases with a key role in killing bacteria and in activating inflammatory mediators. Its inhibition should be beneficial to ticks. *I. ricinus* serpin Iris inhibited several elastase-like proteases, including leukocyte and pancreatic elastase, and also exhibited anti-inflammatory effects, but these were explained by exosite activity (Leboulle et al., 2002a; Prevot et al., 2006; Prevot et al., 2009). Another elastase inhibitor from *I. ricinus* is Iripin-5, which affects neutrophil migration, decreases nitric oxide production by macrophages, and modifies complement function, thus exhibiting potent anti-inflammatory activity (Kascakova et al., 2021). Anti-elastase activity was described for the other two tick serpins, namely AamS6 and RmS-3 (Chalaire et al., 2011; Syrovets et al., 2012; Mulenga et al., 2013; Pongprayoon et al., 2021).

Under normal physiological functions, mast cells are known to regulate vasodilation, vascular homeostasis, innate and adaptive immune responses, and angiogenesis (Krystel-Whittemore et al., 2016). Large granules in the cytoplasm of mast cells store inflammatory mediators, including histamine, heparin, a variety of cytokines, chondroitin sulfate, and neutral proteases, like chymase and tryptase (Moon et al., 2014). Cathepsin G and chymase, which are produced after mast cell activation, regulate the acute inflammatory response, particularly during the cross-talk of IL-2 between neutrophils and platelets (Zarbock et al., 2007). These proteases are often targeted by tick serpins, indicating their importance in host defense against tick feeding. Mast cell chymase affects inflammation at multiple levels, including cleavage of proinflammatory cytokines/ chemokines and activation of protease-activated receptor 2, degradation of endothelial cell contacts, activation of extracellular matrix-degrading enzymes, and recruitment of eosinophils/neutrophils (Pejler et al., 2010). Serpin RmS-3 from R. microplus tick saliva inhibited rMCP-1, the major chymase produced by rat connective tissue-type mast cells in the peritoneum (Coutinho et al., 2020). It has also been shown that serpin RmS-3 reduces vascular permeability stimulated by compound 48/80, which can cause degranulation of plantar-type mast cells, thermal hyperalgesia, tissue edema, and neutrophil infiltration (Chatterjea et al., 2012). Thus, RmS-3 may be a key component in modulating the early steps of inflammatory reactions by blocking the chymase which is generated during mast cell activation (Coutinho et al., 2020). Chymase also appears to be crucial for the degradation of tick anticoagulants, so its inhibition should help the tick to maintain blood fluidity (Fu et al., 2021). A recent study showed that the serpin IRS-2 of I. ricinus can inactivate almost all connective tissue chymases from

a range of animals, including human, hamster, rat, dog, and opossum, as well as mucosal mast cell proteases, rat blood vessel chymases, and also neutrophil proteases. However, this serpin fails to inactivate mast cell tryptases and the basophil-specific protease mMCP-8 (Fu et al., 2021). The first study of the tick serpin IRS-2 disclosed the protein as having a preferential specificity for chymase and cathepsin G and as having a significant anti-inflammatory effect in vivo by reducing swelling and neutrophil migration into inflamed tissues, while a later study showed that IRS-2 reduced spirochete Borrelia burgdorferi-induced IL-6 production in splenic dendritic cells (Chmelar et al., 2011; Páleníková et al., 2015). Moreover, IRS-2 impaired the development of proinflammatory Th17 cells by reducing STAT-3 phosphorylation (Páleníková et al., 2015). Overall, by inhibiting mast cell chymase, IRS-2 can affect host inflammatory response against tick feeding.

4.2.3 Tick Serpins and Host Cytokines

Cytokines play a central role in the communication between host immune cells, in their differentiation and maturation, and in the overall control of the immune response. Tick serpins altered the production of various cytokines in many experiments, modulating the immune response, mostly from a proinflammatory to an anti-inflammatory direction.

Haemaphysalis longicornis serpins HlSerpin-a and HlSerpinb can suppress the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , interleukin (IL)-6, and IL-1 β from lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced mouse bone marrow-derived macrophages or mouse bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BMDCs) (Wang et al., 2020). Furthermore, this study demonstrated that cathepsins B and G are required for sufficient LPS stimulated activation of mouse macrophages (Wang et al., 2020). This suggests that tick serpins may use their protease inhibitory activities to suppress the activation of host immune cells.

In addition, two serpins from A. americanum (AAS27 and AAS41) were shown to regulate evasion of host immune response by altering host cytokine secretion (Bakshi et al., 2019). Based on the results of this study, it seems that A. americanum saliva proteins can be divided into two groups, those with LPS-like activity causing the expression of proinflammatory (PI) markers by macrophages and those that suppress the expression of pro-inflammatory markers in activated macrophages. The PI group included the insulin-like growth factor binding-related proteins (AamIGFBP-P6S, AamIGFBP-P1, and AamIGFBP-P6L). These PI recombinant proteins could stimulate PBMC (peripheral blood mononuclear cell) derived macrophages and mouse RAW 267.4 macrophage lineage in vitro. Following this activation, PI co-stimulatory markers, such as CD40, CD80, and CD86, and cytokines (e.g. TNF- α , IL-1, and IL-6) were produced by these macrophages. In contrast, A. americanum tick salivary anti-inflammatory (AI) serpins, including AAS27 and AAS41, did not affect cytokine expression or PI markers production by macrophages. However, AI serpins could enhance the expression of AI cytokines (TGF β and IL-10) in macrophages pre-activated by LPS or PI recombinant proteins. In addition, the injection of PI-tick

salivary proteins (individually or as a cocktail) into mice induced paw edema *in vivo*, resulting in increased levels of CD40, CD80, CD86, IL-1, TNF- α , IL-6, and chemokines (CCL2, CXCL1, CCL3, CCL5, and CCL11). In comparison, the AI serpins AAS27 and AAS41 (cocktail and individually) suppressed the activation of host immune cells. Overall, PI proteins activated host immune cells towards the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, whereas AI serpins inhibited such production, implying that ticks may use a combination of PI and AI proteins to evade host immune defenses (Bakshi et al., 2019).

4.3 Tick Serpins Regulate Host Adaptive Immunity

Vertebrates are the only group with "Darwinian" type of adaptive immunity (Muller et al., 2018). This type of immunity is based on a large number of pre-formed clones with a wide range of specificities, which is able to further increase its accuracy in response to antigens. In anti-tick immunity, the adaptive branch plays a role, especially later during the feeding course in the case of primary exposure to ticks, but also earlier in the case of repeated tick infestation on the same host. During this process, a plethora of cytokines is released, each of which is responsible for steering towards distinct types of immune responses. Proinflammatory response mediated by Th1 cells have a crucial role in the defense against pathogen infection and is deleterious also for tick feeding (Raphael et al., 2015; Hirahara and Nakayama, 2016; Duan et al., 2019; Ng et al., 2021).

Several tick serpins were shown to modulate adaptive immunity (Figure 5), affecting mostly CD4+ T cell proliferation, survival, and differentiation to T cell subpopulations, but also the production of many cytokines. Iripin-3 from I. ricinus disrupted the survival and proliferation of CD4+ T cells; moreover, it suppressed the differentiation of T helper type into pro-inflammatory Th1 cells and promoted the differentiation into T regulatory cells (Chlastáková et al., 2021). Finally, the same study showed that Iripin-3 reduced the generation of the pro-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-6 by bone marrow-derived macrophages activated with LPS. Thus, Iripin-3 appears to be another pluripotent salivary serpin with immunomodulatory and anti-hemostatic properties that can facilitate tick feeding by suppressing host anti-tick immune reaction (Chlastáková et al., 2021). Some of these observations are similar to those with Iris, which also suppressed CD4+ T cell proliferation and the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines IFN-γ, IL-6, TNF-α, and IL-8 (Leboulle et al., 2002a). Dendritic cells play crucial role in the adaptive immunity as they can affect, which direction the immune response will proceed. Ticks can alter the biology of dendritic cells as described previously (Sa-Nunes and Oliveira, 2021). R. haemaphysaloides derived serpin RHS-2 blocked the differentiation of bone marrow-derived cells into dendritic cells while promoting the differentiation of these cells into macrophages. RHS-2 also inhibited dendritic cell maturation and the expression of CD80, CD86, and MHC-II. Moreover, this serpin suppressed the differentiation of Th1 cells, as evidenced by decreased production of the cytokines IL-2, IFN- γ , and TNF- α (Xu et al., 2019). The serpin Ipis-1 has been shown

to be expressed in the salivary glands of unfed and feeding *Ixodes persulcatus* ticks and was reported to be associated with immunomodulatory effects on the acquired immune responses (Toyomane et al., 2016). More specifically, Ipis-1 inhibited the proliferation of bovine peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and IFN- γ production (Toyomane et al., 2016). However, the precise molecular mechanism behind the aforementioned Ipis-1 inhibitory activities is not known (Toyomane et al., 2016).

The immune cells that have been activated acquire additional biological roles such as cytokine production, proliferation, and chemotaxis (Moro-García et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2020). A recent study analyzed the ability of R. microplus serpins RmS-3, RmS-6, and RmS-17 to reduce the metabolic activity of splenocytes and the production of the cytokine IFN- γ (Coutinho et al., 2020). This study showed that in the presence of 1 µM RmS-3, concanavalin A (ConA)-stimulated spleen cells displayed a partial decrease in their metabolic activity, whereas RmS-6 had no impact on the metabolic activity of these cells (Coutinho et al., 2020). RmS-17 serpin also lowered the metabolic activity of ConA-stimulated spleen cells in a dosedependent manner, with a substantial effect at 300 nM and 1 μ M concentrations (Coutinho et al., 2020). IFN-y production in ConA-stimulated splenocytes treated with R. microplus serpins followed similar patterns. RmS-3 used at 1 µM concentration partially inhibited IFN-y production, RmS-6 did not modify it, and RmS-17 strongly inhibited IFN-7 production at both 300 nM and 1 µM concentrations (Coutinho et al., 2020). The authors of the same study also investigated the effects of these three serpins on the proliferation of T lymphocytes. They showed that naïve T lymphocytes did not proliferate when incubated with medium or in the presence of RmS-3, RmS-6, and RmS-17 serpins alone. Under suboptimal activation conditions, T lymphocytes exhibited weak proliferation, which was partially inhibited in the presence of RmS-3, not affected by RmS-6, and completely inhibited by RmS-17 (Coutinho et al., 2020). However, under optimal activation conditions, RmS-3 and RmS-6 had no significant effect on the robust proliferation of T lymphocytes, and RmS-17 managed to inhibit T cell proliferation only partially (Coutinho et al., 2020). Overall, it seems that some tick serpins can suppress T cell proliferation and IFN-y production to produce optimal conditions for tick feeding on vertebrate hosts. However, more research is needed to better understand this phenomenon and its molecular mechanism.

5 TICK SERPINS ARE PROMISING MOLECULES FOR THERAPEUTICS DEVELOPMENT

The presence of swollen joints indicates that there is an increase in the amount of fluid in the tissues around the joints. People who suffer from different types of arthritis, infections, and injuries may have swollen joints. A recent study has shown that tick serpins can also be used as a substance to treat these ailments. However, full-length serpins, which contain about 400 amino acids, have a number of disadvantages for use in drug development (Wang et al., 2020). The reactive center loop of serpins is the main inhibitory region that directly binds to serine proteases (Huntington et al., 2000; Whisstock et al., 2010), but without a conserved tertiary structure, the inhibitory potential of RCL should be lost. In a rather surprising study, Wang and coworkers synthesized a peptide corresponding to the RCL of HlSerpin-a from H. longicornis (Wang et al., 2020). The authors suggested that the minimal active region (i.e. RCL) of this tick serpin has similar inhibitory activity and immunosuppressive properties as the whole serpin. In a mouse arthritis model, the RCL peptide derived from HlSerpin-a substantially impaired cytokine production from immune cells and alleviated joint swelling and tissue inflammation. This preliminary observation surprisingly suggests that the RCL of a functional tick serpin could be used as a drug, because of its nonimmunogenic nature due to small size and easy synthesis (Wang et al., 2020).

6 TICK SERPINS AS EPITOPES FOR ANTI-TICK VACCINE DEVELOPMENT

Ticks are effective vectors of a variety of viral and bacterial diseases in vertebrates. Therefore, ticks are studied extensively all over the world in order to develop management strategies to control them or to immunize vertebrate hosts against ticks. Some pesticides (e.g., acaricides) are routinely used to control tick populations (Nwanade et al., 2020). However, pesticides drastic impacts on non-target species, the evolution of resistant tick populations, and the resulting environment hazard are the major concerns against the use of pesticides (Nwanade et al., 2020). Researchers around the globe are attempting to develop environmentally friendly and sustainable strategies to control ticks. For example, the development of a vector-specific vaccine may immunize (and protect) the vertebrate hosts but also may have a detrimental influence on tick population growth in the areas where (immunized) host activity is localized. Many laboratories work on the potential development of vaccines that would use tick-derived epitopes. These vaccines should be effective in tick control while simultaneously reducing the transmission of viral or bacterial pathogens (Table 1).

Many molecules have been tested as targets for the development of such vaccines. Serpins that are found in a wide range of animals, including ticks, appear to be promising targets. Imamura and colleagues injected a mixture of two recombinant serpins (RAS-1 and -2) from *R. appendiculatus* into cattle for the first time. Nymphs and adult ticks that fed on the cattle immunized by these two serpins had higher mortality rates, and the egg-laying capacity of the female ticks was also reduced when compared to the control group. However, the feeding time of the ticks was approximately identical on both the vaccinated and unvaccinated hosts (Imamura et al., 2006). Another salivary serpin, Iris from *I. ricinus*, was also examined as a potential antitick vaccine target. Prévot et al. administered recombinant Iris protein into mice and rabbits, but only rabbits developed anti-

tick immunity as evidenced by higher mortality and lower weight gain in nymphs and by a prolonged feeding period and a higher mortality rate in adult females (Prevot et al., 2007). Most of the functionally characterized tick serpins, such as RmS-3, AAS41, and others, have been suggested as prospective vaccine candidates (Kim et al., 2020; Pongprayoon et al., 2021). However, the majority of these serpins have not been evaluated in vaccination experiments (see **Table 1**). Therefore, further investigations are required to advance the vaccine development process.

Even though it has been established that the administration of some serpins can improve the immunity of the host against ticks, the way to get considerably higher levels of protection is to produce vaccines based on multiple members of the serpin family. Individual differences in the expression of different members of the serpin family may make it possible to target a larger number of ticks. Another possibility is to prepare anti-tick cocktail vaccine by combining members of different protein families. For example, Imamura et al. immunized cattle with a combination of R. appendiculatus serpins RAS-3 and RAS-4 and a putative cement protein RIM36 (Imamura et al., 2008). The administration of this coctail vaccine led to an increased mortality of female ticks feeding on immunized cattle (Imamura et al., 2008). Moreover, immunization of a host with serpins conserved in many different tick species (such as I. ricinus serpin Iripin-8, A. americanum serpin AAS19, R. microplus serpin RmS-15, and R. haemaphysaloides serpin RHS8) might be a more efficient strategy than relying on the serpins present only in a small number of closely related tick species since the conservation of these serpins suggests they might play an important role in tick biology. It was suggested previously that tick salivary proteins undergo some kind of antigenic variation in order to escape from the recognition by host adaptive immune system and that there is a redundancy in salivary proteins functions (Chmelar et al., 2016). Therefore, in order to prepare an effective vaccine, conserved epitopes or the cocktail with multiple antigens should be used. An interesting opportunity came up from the lesson we learned about mRNA vaccines during the Covid19 pandemic. Recently a research group employed a mixture of mRNAs coding for tick salivary proteins as an anti-tick vaccine, and they observed very promising effects against the transmission of B. burgdorferi (Matias et al., 2021; Sajid et al., 2021). It will be interesting to observe the development of new types of anti-tick vaccines in this direction.

7 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The interactions between arthropod parasites such as ticks and their hosts have always been of interest. Ticks developed strategies to evade host defensive response in order to successfully complete a blood meal. Ticks serve as a reservoir of pathogens that are transmitted to the host during blood feeding. In recent years, advances in molecular techniques have made it possible to investigate the factors which mediate this

Serpins in Tick-Host Interaction

interaction, providing a much-needed impetus to unlock previously unattainable insights into this phenomenon. A better molecular understanding of this phenomenon will help in the development of methods to identify a subset of antigens that could be used as potential vaccine targets. Many of the serpins identified are involved in various biological processes in ticks. Serpins also play a role in the maintenance of blood fluidity by inhibiting thrombin, FXa, and other factors. They are also involved in controlling the innate and adaptive immune responses of the host. Several serpins have been shown to be effective candidates for enhancing host anti-tick immunity.

Serpins display multiple functions in various in vitro and in vivo experiments. Their functional characterization usually requires recombinant proteins. Fortunately, functional recombinant serpins are usually relatively easy to produce in large quantities in bacterial expression system. This system, however, does not take into account possible post-translational changes. The mechanisms behind the observed effects are usually not known for tick serpins and this is the direction we should focus on in future studies. Their inhibitory mechanism can be altered by point mutation of P1 site, thus the indispensability of inhibitory function of serpins can be tested. According to published data, serpin RCL alone can display interesting activity (Wang et al., 2020) and application potential. Since the function of serpins is mostly dependent on structural changes, structural analyses could be employed in mechanistic studies as well. Finally, serpins represent great material for protein engineering to gain novel functions, as shown both for inhibitory and non-inhibitory serpins (Chan et al., 2014; Polderdijk et al., 2017).

Serpins definitely have application potential in drug development. Inflammation is a symptom of a variety of diseases, and currently available therapies are limited. Researchers are looking for natural compounds with potent antiinflammatory activities and novel chemical structures. Ticks and other blood feeding arthropods can be considered as a rich source

REFERENCES

- Alvarez-Alfageme, F., Maharramov, J., Carrillo, L., Vandenabeele, S., Vercammen, D., Van Breusegem, F., et al. (2011). Potential Use of a Serpin From Arabidopsis for Pest Control. *PLoS One* 6 (5), e20278. doi: 10.1371/ annotation/099db8aa-be3a-4635-b464-dc94ba0fb069
- Andreotti, R., Malavazi-Piza, K. C., Sasaki, S. D., Torquato, R. J., Gomes, A., and Tanaka, A. S. (2001). Serine Proteinase Inhibitors From Eggs and Larvae of Tick Boophilus Microplus: Purification and Biochemical Characterization. *J. Protein Chem.* 20 (5), 337–343. doi: 10.1023/A:1012242817869
- Aounallah, H., Bensaoud, C., MGhirbi, Y., Faria, F., Chmelar, J. I., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2020). Tick Salivary Compounds for Targeted Immunomodulatory Therapy. Front. Immunol. 11, 583845. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.583845
- Bakshi, M., Kim, T. K., and Mulenga, A. (2018). A. Disruption of Blood Meal-Responsive Serpins Prevents Ixodes Scapularis From Feeding to Repletion. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 9 (3), 506–518. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2018.01.001
- Bakshi, M., Kim, T. K., Porter, L., Mwangi, W., and Mulenga, A. (2019). Amblyomma Americanum Ticks Utilizes Countervailing Pro and Anti-Inflammatory Proteins to Evade Host Defense. *PLoS Pathog.* 15 (11), e1008128. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1008128
- Bao, J., Pan, G., Poncz, M., Wei, J., Ran, M., and Zhou, Z. (2018). Serpin Functions in Host-Pathogen Interactions. *PeerJ* 6, e4557. doi: 10.7717/peerj.4557

of proteins with unique biological activities against vertebrate homeostasis. Tick serpins appear to be useful for treatment of inflammatory diseases (Wang et al., 2020). Although the data are rather preliminary to support drug development based on tick serpins, further research can help to identify other medically relevant serpins and to translate the laboratory studies into preclinical and clinical trials. Finally, there is some evidence to suggest serpins as potential candidates for vaccine development against ticks at least as a part of the vaccine cocktail.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MA, JC and MK designed the structure of the article. All authors performed the literature search and wrote parts of the manuscript/assembled the data. MA, AC and JC extracted the data and prepared the tables. MA, JC and AC created and edited the figures. MK made critical revisions and proofread the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Grant Agency of the Czech Republic (grant 19-14704Y to JC and 22-18424M to AC). MK received funding from the Grant Agency of the Czech Republic (grant 19-382 07247S) and ERD Funds, project CePaVip OPVVV (No. 384 CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/16_019/0000759). The funders had no role in the design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Figures 3–5 were created with BioRender.com.

- Berber, I., Erkurt, M. A., Yararbas, K., Koroglu, M., Nizam, I., Berktas, B., et al. (2014). As a Rare Disease Bernard[¬]CSoulier Syndrome in Differential Diagnosis of Immune Thrombocytopenic Purpura: A Case Report. Am. J. Med. Case Rep. 2 (5), 102–106. doi: 10.12691/ajmcr-2-5-3
- Blisnick, A. A., Foulon, T., and Bonnet, S. I. (2017). Serine Protease Inhibitors in Ticks: An Overview of Their Role in Tick Biology and Tick-Borne Pathogen Transmission. Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol. 7, 199. doi: 10.3389/ fcimb.2017.00199
- Borensztajn, K., Peppelenbosch, M. P., and Spek, C. A. (2008). Factor Xa: At the Crossroads Between Coagulation and Signaling in Physiology and Disease. *Trends Mol. Med.* 14 (10), 429–440. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2008.08.001
- Bos, I. G. A., Hack, C. E., and Abrahams, J. (2002). Structural and Functional Aspects of C1-Inhibitor. *Immunobiology* 205 (4), 518–533. doi: 10.1078/0171-2985-00151
- Cagliani, R., Forni, D., Filippi, G., Mozzi, A., De Gioia, L., Pontremoli, C., et al. (2016). The Mammalian Complement System as an Epitome of Host-Pathogen Genetic Conflicts. *Mol. Ecol.* 25 (6), 1324–1339. doi: 10.1111/ mec.13558
- Chalaire, K. C., Kim, T. K., Garcia-Rodriguez, H., and Mulenga, A. (2011). Amblyomma Americanum (L.) (Acari: Ixodidae) Tick Salivary Gland Serine Protease Inhibitor (Serpin) 6 is Secreted Into Tick Saliva During Tick Feeding. J. Exp. Biol. 214 (Pt 4), 665–673. doi: 10.1242/jeb.052076

- Chan, W. L., Zhou, A., and Read, R. J. (2014). Towards Engineering Hormone-Binding Globulins as Drug Delivery Agents. *PLoS One* 9 (11), e113402. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0113402
- Chapin, J. C., and Hajjar, K. A. (2015). Fibrinolysis and the Control of Blood Coagulation. *Blood Rev.* 29 (1), 17–24. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2014.09.003
- Charkoudian, N. (2010). Mechanisms and Modifiers of Reflex Induced Cutaneous Vasodilation and Vasoconstriction in Humans. J. Appl. Physiol. (Bethesda Md. 1985) 109 (4), 1221–1228. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00298.2010
- Chatterjea, D., Wetzel, A., Mack, M., Engblom, C., Allen, J., Mora-Solano, C., et al. (2012). Mast Cell Degranulation Mediates Compound 48/80-Induced Hyperalgesia in Mice. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 425 (2), 237–243. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.07.074
- Chlastáková, A., Kotál, J., Beránková, Z., Kaščáková, B., Martins, L. A., Langhansová, H., et al. (2021). Iripin-3, a New Salivary Protein Isolated From Ixodes Ricinus Ticks, Displays Immunomodulatory and Anti-Hemostatic Properties In Vitro. Front. Immunol. 12, 626200. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.626200
- Chmelar, J., Calvo, E., Pedra, J. H., Francischetti, I. M., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2012). Tick Salivary Secretion as a Source of Antihemostatics. J. Proteomics 75 (13), 3842–3854. doi: 10.1016/j.jprot.2012.04.026
- Chmelař, J., Kotál, J., Karim, S., Kopacek, P., Francischetti, I. M. B., Pedra, J. H. F., et al. (2016). Sialomes and Mialomes: A Systems-Biology View of Tick Tissues and Tick-Host Interactions. *Trends Parasitol.* 32 (3), 242–254. doi: 10.1016/ j.pt.2015.10.002
- Chmelar, J., Kotal, J., Kopecky, J., Pedra, J. H. F., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2016). All For One and One For All on the Tick-Host Battlefield. *Trends Parasitol.* 32 (5), 368–377. doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2016.01.004
- Chmelař, J., Kotál, J., Kovaříková, A., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2019). The Use of Tick Salivary Proteins as Novel Therapeutics. *Front. Physiol.* 10,812. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2019.00812
- Chmelař, J., Kotál, J., Langhansová, H., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2017). Protease Inhibitors in Tick Saliva: The Role of Serpins and Cystatins in Tick-Host-Pathogen Interaction. *Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol.* 7, 216. doi: 10.3389/ fcimb.2017.00216
- Chmelar, J., Oliveira, C. J., Rezacova, P., Francischetti, I. M., Kovarova, Z., Pejler, G., et al. (2011). A Tick Salivary Protein Targets Cathepsin G and Chymase and Inhibits Host Inflammation and Platelet Aggregation. *Blood* 117 (2), 736–744. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-06-293241
- Clemente, M., Corigliano, M. G., Pariani, S. A., Sanchez-Lopez, E. F., Sander, V. A., and Ramos-Duarte, V. A. (2019). Plant Serine Protease Inhibitors: Biotechnology Application in Agriculture and Molecular Farming. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 20 (6), 1345. doi: 10.3390/ijms20061345
- Cong, L., Ran, F. A., Cox, D., Lin, S., Barretto, R., Habib, N., et al. (2013). Multiplex Genome Engineering Using CRISPR/Cas Systems. *Science* 339 (6121), 819– 823. doi: 10.1126/science.1231143
- Coutinho, M. L., Bizzarro, B., Tirloni, L., Berger, M., Freire Oliveira, C. J., Sá-Nunes, A., et al. (2020). Rhipicephalus Microplus Serpins Interfere With Host Immune Responses by Specifically Modulating Mast Cells and Lymphocytes. *Ticks Tick-borne Dis.* 11 (4), 101425. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2020.101425
- Dantas-Torres, F., Chomel, B. B., and Otranto, D. (2012). Ticks and Tick-Borne Diseases: A One Health Perspective. *Trends Parasitol.* 28 (10), 437–446. doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2012.07.003
- Duan, L., Rao, X., and Sigdel, K. R. (2019). Regulation of Inflammation in Autoimmune Disease. J. Immunol. Res. 2019, 7403796. doi: 10.1155/2019/7403796
- Eappen, A. G., Smith, R. C., and Jacobs-Lorena, M. (2013). Enterobacter-Activated Mosquito Immune Responses to Plasmodium Involve Activation of SRPN6 in Anopheles Stephensi. *PLoS One* 8 (5), e62937. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0062937
- Fogaça, A. C., Almeida, I. C., Eberlin, M. N., Tanaka, A. S., Bulet, P., and Daffre, S. (2006). Ixodidin, a Novel Antimicrobial Peptide From the Hemocytes of the Cattle Tick Boophilus Microplus With Inhibitory Activity Against Serine Proteinases. *Peptides* 27 (4), 667–674. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2005.07.013
- Fogaça, A. C., Sousa, G., Pavanelo, D. B., Esteves, E., Martins, L. A., Urbanová, V., et al. (2021). Tick Immune System: What Is Known, the Interconnections, the Gaps, and the Challenges. *Front. Immunol.* 12, 628054. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2021.628054
- Francischetti, I. M., Sa-Nunes, A., Mans, B. J., Santos, I. M., and Ribeiro, J. M. (2009). The Role of Saliva in Tick Feeding. *Front. Biosci. (Landmark Ed)* 14 (6), 2051–2088. doi: 10.2741/3363

- Fredslund, F., Laursen, N. S., Roversi, P., Jenner, L., Oliveira, C. L., Pedersen, J. S., et al. (2008). Structure of and Influence of a Tick Complement Inhibitor on Human Complement Component 5. *Nat. Immunol.* 9 (7), 753–760. doi: 10.1038/ni.1625
- Fu, Z., Akula, S., Olsson, A. K., Kervinen, J., and Hellman, L. (2021). Mast Cells and Basophils in the Defense Against Ectoparasites: Efficient Degradation of Parasite Anticoagulants by the Connective Tissue Mast Cell Chymases. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 22 (23), 12627. doi: 10.3390/ijms222312627
- Furie, B., and Furie, B. C. (2005). Thrombus Formation In Vivo. J. Clin. Invest. 115 (12), 3355–3362. doi: 10.1172/JCI26987
- Gettins, P. G. (2002). Serpin Structure, Mechanism, and Function. *Chem. Rev.* 102 (12), 4751–4804. doi: 10.1021/cr010170+
- Goulas, T., Ksiazek, M., Garcia-Ferrer, I., Sochaj-Gregorczyk, A. M., Waligorska, I., Wasylewski, M., et al. (2017). A Structure-Derived Snap-Trap Mechanism of a Multispecific Serpin From the Dysbiotic Human Oral Microbiome. J. Biol. Chem. 292 (26), 10883–10898. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M117.786533
- Gulley, M. M., Zhang, X., and Michel, K. (2013). The Roles of Serpins in Mosquito Immunology and Physiology. J. Insect Physiol. 59 (2), 138–147. doi: 10.1016/ j.jinsphys.2012.08.015
- Hajdušek, O., Síma, R., Ayllón, N., Jalovecká, M., Perner, J., de la Fuente, J., et al. (2013). Interaction of the Tick Immune System With Transmitted Pathogens. *Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol.* 3, 26. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2013.00026
- Hepburn, N. J., Williams, A. S., Nunn, M. A., Chamberlain-Banoub, J. C., Hamer, J., Morgan, B. P., et al. (2007). *In Vivo* Characterization and Therapeutic Efficacy of a C5-Specific Inhibitor From the Soft Tick Ornithodoros Moubata. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282 (11), 8292–8299. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M609858200
- Hirahara, K., and Nakayama, T. (2016). CD4+ T-Cell Subsets in Inflammatory Diseases: Beyond the Th1/Th2 Paradigm. Int. Immunol. 28 (4), 163–171. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxw006
- Hovius, J. W. R., Levi, M., and Fikrig, E. (2008). Salivating for Knowledge: Potential Pharmacological Agents in Tick Saliva. *PLoS Med.* 5 (2), e43–e43. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0050043
- Hunt, L. T., and Dayhoff, M. O. (1980). A Surprising New Protein Superfamily Containing Ovalbumin, Antithrombin-III, and Alpha1-Proteinase Inhibitor. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 95 (2), 864–871. doi: 10.1016/0006-291X(80) 90867-0
- Huntington, J. A. (2003). Mechanisms of Glycosaminoglycan Activation of the Serpins in Hemostasis. J. Thromb. Haemost. 1 (7), 1535–1549. doi: 10.1046/ j.1538-7836.2003.00305.x
- Huntington, J. A. (2011). Serpin Structure, Function and Dysfunction. J. Thromb. Haemost. 9 (Suppl 1), 26–34. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2011.04360.x
- Huntington, J. A., Read, R. J., and Carrell, R. W. (2000). Structure of a Serpin-Protease Complex Shows Inhibition by Deformation. *Nature* 407 (6806), 923– 926. doi: 10.1038/35038119
- Ibelli, A. M. G., Kim, T. K., Hill, C. C., Lewis, L. A., Bakshi, M., Miller, S., et al. (2014). A Blood Meal-Induced Ixodes Scapularis Tick Saliva Serpin Inhibits Trypsin and Thrombin, and Interferes With Platelet Aggregation and Blood Clotting. Int. J. Parasitol. 44 (6), 369–379. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpara.2014.01.010
- Imamura, S., da Silva Vaz Junior, I., Sugino, M., Ohashi, K., and Onuma, M. (2005). A Serine Protease Inhibitor (Serpin) From Haemaphysalis Longicornis as an Anti-Tick Vaccine. Vaccine 23 (10), 1301–1311. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.08.041
- Imamura, S., Konnai, S., Vaz Ida, S., Yamada, S., Nakajima, C., Ito, Y., et al. (2008). Effects of Anti-Tick Cocktail Vaccine Against Rhipicephalus Appendiculatus. *Jpn J. Vet. Res.* 56 (2), 85–98. doi: 10.14943/jjvr.56.2.85
- Imamura, S., Namangala, B., Tajima, T., Tembo, M. E., Yasuda, J., Ohashi, K., et al. (2006). Two Serine Protease Inhibitors (Serpins) That Induce a Bovine Protective Immune Response Against Rhipicephalus Appendiculatus Ticks. *Vaccine* 24 (13), 2230–2237. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.10.055
- Irving, J. A., Steenbakkers, P. J., Lesk, A. M., Op den Camp, H. J., Pike, R. N., and Whisstock, J. C. (2002). Serpins in Prokaryotes. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 19 (11), 1881– 1890. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.molbev.a004012
- Jackson, S. P. (2007). The Growing Complexity of Platelet Aggregation. *Blood* 109 (12), 5087–5095. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-12-027698
- Jackson, S. P., and Schoenwaelder, S. M. (2003). Antiplatelet Therapy: In Search of the Magic Bullet. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 2 (10), 775–789. doi: 10.1038/nrd1198
- Jagadeeswaran, P., Gregory, M., Day, K., Cykowski, M., and Thattaliyath, B. (2005). Zebrafish: A Genetic Model for Hemostasis and Thrombosis. J. Thromb. Haemost. 3 (1), 46–53. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2004.00999.x

- Jandrot-Perrus, M., Busfield, S., Lagrue, A. H., Xiong, X., Debili, N., Chickering, T., et al. (2000). Cloning, Characterization, and Functional Studies of Human and Mouse Glycoprotein VI: A Platelet-Specific Collagen Receptor From the Immunoglobulin Superfamily. *Blood* 96 (5), 1798–1807. doi: 10.1182/ blood.V96.5.1798
- Jmel, M. A., Aounallah, H., Bensaoud, C., Mekki, I., Chmelař, J., Faria, F., et al. (2021). Insights Into the Role of Tick Salivary Protease Inhibitors During Ectoparasite-Host Crosstalk. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 22 (2), 892. doi: 10.3390/ ijms22020892
- Kascakova, B., Kotal, J., Martins, L. A., Berankova, Z., Langhansova, H., Calvo, E., et al. (2021). Structural and Biochemical Characterization of the Novel Serpin Iripin-5 From Ixodes Ricinus. Acta Crystallogr. D Struct. Biol. 77 (Pt 9), 1183– 1196. doi: 10.1107/S2059798321007920
- Kausar, S., Abbas, M. N., Qian, C., Zhu, B., Gao, J., Sun, Y., et al. (2018). Role of Antheraea Pernyi Serpin 12 in Prophenoloxidase Activation and Immune Responses. Arch. Insect Biochem. Physiol. 97 (2), e21435. doi: 10.1002/ arch.21435
- Kausar, S., Abbas, M. N., Qian, C., Zhu, B., Sun, Y., Sun, Y., et al. (2017). Serpin-14 Negatively Regulates Prophenoloxidase Activation and Expression of Antimicrobial Peptides in Chinese Oak Silkworm Antheraea Pernyi. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.* 76, 45–55. doi: 10.1016/j.dci.2017.05.017
- Kazimírová, M., and Štibrániová, I. (2013). Tick Salivary Compounds: Their Role in Modulation of Host Defences and Pathogen Transmission. Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol. 3, 43. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2013.00043
- Kazimírová, M., Thangamani, S., Bartíková, P., Hermance, M. E., Holíková, V., Štibrániová, I., et al. (2017). Tick-Borne Viruses and Biological Processes at the Tick-Host-Virus Interface. Front. Cell. Infection Microbiol. 7. doi: 10.3389/ fcimb.2017.00339
- Kim, S., Carrillo, M., Kulkarni, V., and Jagadeeswaran, P. (2009). Evolution of Primary Hemostasis in Early Vertebrates. *PLoS One* 4 (12), e8403. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0008403
- Kim, T. K., Radulovic, Z., and Mulenga, A. (2016). Target Validation of Highly Conserved Amblyomma Americanum Tick Saliva Serine Protease Inhibitor 19. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 7 (3), 405–414. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2015.12.017
- Kim, T. K., Tirloni, L., Berger, M., Diedrich, J. K., Yates, J. R.3rd, Termignoni, C., et al. (2020). Amblyomma Americanum Serpin 41 (AAS41) Inhibits Inflammation by Targeting Chymase and Chymotrypsin. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol* 156, 1007–1021. doi: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2020.04.088
- Kim, T. K., Tirloni, L., Radulovic, Z., Lewis, L., Bakshi, M., Hill, C., et al. (2015). Conserved Amblyomma Americanum Tick Serpin19, an Inhibitor of Blood Clotting Factors Xa and XIa, Trypsin and Plasmin, has Anti-Haemostatic Functions. *Int. J. Parasitol.* 45 (9-10), 613–627. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpara.2015. 03.009
- Kimura, A., Sakaguchi, E., and Nonaka, M. (2009). Multi-Component Complement System of Cnidaria: C3, Bf, and MASP Genes Expressed in the Endodermal Tissues of a Sea Anemone, Nematostella Vectensis. *Immunobiology* 214 (3), 165–178. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2009.01.003
- Komiyama, T., Ray, C. A., Pickup, D. J., Howard, A. D., Thornberry, N. A., Peterson, E. P., et al. (1994). Inhibition of Interleukin-1 Beta Converting Enzyme by the Cowpox Virus Serpin CrmA. An Example of Cross-Class Inhibition. J. Biol. Chem. 269 (30), 19331–19337. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9258(17) 32171-3
- Kopacek, P., Hajdusek, O., and Buresova, V. (2012). Tick as a Model for the Study of a Primitive Complement System. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 710, 83–93. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4419-5638-5_9
- Kotál, J., Langhansová, H., Lieskovská, J., Andersen, J. F., Francischetti, I. M. B., Chavakis, T., et al. (2015). Modulation of Host Immunity by Tick Saliva. *J. Proteomics* 128, 58–68. doi: 10.1016/j.jprot.2015.07.005
- Kotál, J., Polderdijk, S. G. I., Langhansová, H., Ederová, M., Martins, L. A., Beránková, Z., et al. (2021). Ixodes Ricinus Salivary Serpin Iripin-8 Inhibits the Intrinsic Pathway of Coagulation and Complement. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 22 (17), 9480. doi: 10.3390/ijms22179480
- Kotsyfakis, M., Kopacek, P., Franta, Z., Pedra, J. H., and Ribeiro, J. M. (2015). Deep Sequencing Analysis of the Ixodes Ricinus Haemocytome. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 9 (5), e0003754. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0003754
- Krem, M. M., and Di Cera, E. (2003). Conserved Ser Residues, the Shutter Region, and Speciation in Serpin Evolution*. J. Biol. Chem. 278 (39), 37810–37814. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M305088200

- Krystel-Whittemore, M., Dileepan, K. N., and Wood, J. G. (2016). Mast Cell: A Multi-Functional Master Cell. Front. Immunol. 6, 620. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2015.00620
- Ksiazek, M., Mizgalska, D., Enghild, J. J., Scavenius, C., Thogersen, I. B., and Potempa, J. (2015). Miropin, a Novel Bacterial Serpin From the Periodontopathogen Tannerella Forsythia, Inhibits a Broad Range of Proteases by Using Different Peptide Bonds Within the Reactive Center Loop. J. Biol. Chem. 290 (1), 658–670. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.601716
- LaPelusa, A., and Dave, H. D. (2022). *Physiology, Hemostasis* (Treasure Island (FL: StatPearls).
- Leboulle, G., Crippa, M., Decrem, Y., Mejri, N., Brossard, M., Bollen, A., et al. (2002a). Characterization of a Novel Salivary Immunosuppressive Protein From Ixodes Ricinus Ticks. J. Biol. Chem. 277 (12), 10083–10089. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M111391200
- Leboulle, G., Rochez, C., Louahed, J., Ruti, B., Brossard, M., Bollen, A., et al. (2002b). Isolation of Ixodes Ricinus Salivary Gland mRNA Encoding Factors Induced During Blood Feeding. *Am. J. Trop. Med. hygiene* 66 (3), 225–233. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.2002.66.225
- Levashina Elena, A., Langley, E., Green, C., Gubb, D., Ashburner, M., Hoffmann Jules, A., et al. (1999). Constitutive Activation of Toll-Mediated Antifungal Defense in Serpin-Deficient Drosophila. *Science* 285 (5435), 1917–1919. doi: 10.1126/science.285.5435.1917
- Ligoxygakis, P., Roth, S., and Reichhart, J.-M. (2003). A Serpin Regulates Dorsal-Ventral Axis Formation in the Drosophila Embryo. *Curr. Biol.* 13 (23), 2097– 2102. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2003.10.062
- Lisman, T., Weeterings, C., and de Groot, P. G. (2005). Platelet Aggregation: Involvement of Thrombin and Fibrin(Ogen). *Front. Biosci.* 10, 2504–2517. doi: 10.2741/1715
- Li, B., Xu, X., Wang, X., Yu, H., Li, X., Tao, W., et al. (2012). A Systems Biology Approach to Understanding the Mechanisms of Action of Chinese Herbs for Treatment of Cardiovascular Disease. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 13 (10), 13501–13520. doi: 10.3390/ijms131013501
- Logsdon, J. M., Stoltzfus, A., and Doolittle, W. F. (1998). Molecular Evolution: Recent Cases of Spliceosomal Intron Gain? *Curr. Biol.* 8 (16), R560–R563. doi: 10.1016/S0960-9822(07)00361-2
- Mahon, B. P., and McKenna, R. (2018). Methods for Determining and Understanding Serpin Structure and Function: X-Ray Crystallography. *Methods Mol. Biol. (Clifton N.J.)*, 1826 9–39. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-8645-3_2
- Mangan, M. S., Kaiserman, D., and Bird, P. I. (2008). The Role of Serpins in Vertebrate Immunity. *Tissue Antigens* 72 (1), 1–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.2008.01059.x
- Mans, B. J. (2019). Chemical Equilibrium at the Tick-Host Feeding Interface:A Critical Examination of Biological Relevance in Hematophagous Behavior. *Front. Physiol.* 10, 530. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00530
- Martins, L. A., Kotál, J., Bensaoud, C., Chmelař, J., and Kotsyfakis, M. (2020). Small Protease Inhibitors in Tick Saliva and Salivary Glands and Their Role in Tick-Host-Pathogen Interactions. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta (BBA) - Proteins Proteomics* 1868 (2), 140336. doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2019.140336
- Matias, J., Kurokawa, C., Sajid, A., Narasimhan, S., Arora, G., Diktas, H., et al. (2021). Tick Immunity Using mRNA, DNA and Protein-Based Salp14 Delivery Strategies. *Vaccine* 39 (52), 7661–7668. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.11.003
- Meekins, D. A., Kanost, M. R., and Michel, K. (2017). Serpins in Arthropod Biology. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 62, 105–119. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2016.09.001
- Miller, J. C., Tan, S., Qiao, G., Barlow, K. A., Wang, J., Xia, D. F., et al. (2011). A TALE Nuclease Architecture for Efficient Genome Editing. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 29 (2), 143–148. doi: 10.1038/nbt.1755
- Moon, T. C., Befus, A. D., and Kulka, M. (2014). Mast Cell Mediators: Their Differential Release and the Secretory Pathways Involved. *Front. Immunol.* 5, 569. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00569
- Moro-García, M. A., Mayo, J. C., Sainz, R. M., and Alonso-Arias, R. (2018). Influence of Inflammation in the Process of T Lymphocyte Differentiation: Proliferative, Metabolic, and Oxidative Changes. *Front. Immunol.* 9. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00339
- Mulenga, A., Khumthong, R., and Blandon, M. A. (2007). Molecular and Expression Analysis of a Family of the Amblyomma Americanum Tick Lospins. J. Exp. Biol. 210 (Pt 18), 3188–3198. doi: 10.1242/jeb.006494
- Mulenga, A., Khumthong, R., and Chalaire, K. C. (2009). Ixodes Scapularis Tick Serine Proteinase Inhibitor (Serpin) Gene Family; Annotation and Transcriptional Analysis. *BMC Genomics* 10, 217. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-10-217

- Mulenga, A., Kim, T., and Ibelli, A. M. (2013). Amblyomma Americanum Tick Saliva Serine Protease Inhibitor 6 is a Cross-Class Inhibitor of Serine Proteases and Papain-Like Cysteine Proteases That Delays Plasma Clotting and Inhibits Platelet Aggregation. *Insect Mol. Biol.* 22 (3), 306–319. doi: 10.1111/imb.12024
- Mulenga, A., Sugimoto, C., Ingram, G., Ohashi, K., and Misao, O. (2001). Characterization of Two cDNAs Encoding Serine Proteinases From the Hard Tick Haemaphysalis Longicornis. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 31 (8), 817–825. doi: 10.1016/S0965-1748(00)00187-9
- Mulenga, A., Tsuda, A., Onuma, M., and Sugimoto, C. (2003). Four Serine Proteinase Inhibitors (Serpin) From the Brown Ear Tick, Rhiphicephalus Appendiculatus; cDNA Cloning and Preliminary Characterization. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 33 (2), 267–276. doi: 10.1016/S0965-1748(02)00240-0
- Muller, V., de Boer, R. J., Bonhoeffer, S., and Szathmary, E. (2018). An Evolutionary Perspective on the Systems of Adaptive Immunity. *Biol. Rev. Camb Philos. Soc.* 93 (1), 505–528. doi: 10.1111/brv.12355
- Narasimhan, S., Kurokawa, C., DeBlasio, M., Matias, J., Sajid, A., Pal, U., et al. (2021). Acquired Tick Resistance: The Trail is Hot. *Parasite Immunol.* 43 (5), e12808. doi: 10.1111/pim.12808
- Ng, Y. Q., Gupte, T. P., and Krause, P. J. (2021). Tick Hypersensitivity and Human Tick-Borne Diseases. *Parasite Immunol.* 43 (5), e12819. doi: 10.1111/pim.12819
- Nwanade, C. F., Wang, M., Wang, T., Yu, Z., and Liu, J. (2020). Botanical Acaricides and Repellents in Tick Control: Current Status and Future Directions. *Exp. Appl. Acarol* 81 (1), 1–35. doi: 10.1007/s10493-020-00489-z
- Pak, S. C., Kumar, V., Tsu, C., Luke, C. J., Askew, Y. S., Askew, D. J., et al. (2004). SRP-2 is a Cross-Class Inhibitor That Participates in Postembryonic Development of the Nematode Caenorhabditis Elegans: Initial Characterization of the Clade L Serpins. J. Biol. Chem. 279 (15), 15448–15459. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M400261200
- Páleníková, J., Lieskovská, J., Langhansová, H., Kotsyfakis, M., Chmelař, J., and Kopecký, J. (2015). Ixodes Ricinus Salivary Serpin IRS-2 Affects Th17 Differentiation via Inhibition of the Interleukin-6/STAT-3 Signaling Pathway. *Infection Immun.* 83 (5), 1949–1956. doi: 10.1128/IAI.03065-14
- Pejler, G., Rönnberg, E., Waern, I., and Wernersson, S. (2010). Mast Cell Proteases: Multifaceted Regulators of Inflammatory Disease. *Blood* 115 (24), 4981–4990. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-01-257287
- Pekáriková, D., Rajská, P., Kazimírová, M., Pecháňová, O., Takáč, P., and Nuttall, P. A. (2015). Vasoconstriction Induced by Salivary Gland Extracts From Ixodid Ticks. Int. J. Parasitol 45 (14), 879–883. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpara.2015.08.006
- Pettersen, E. F., Goddard, T. D., Huang, C. C., Meng, E. C., Couch, G. S., Croll, T. I., et al. (2021). UCSF ChimeraX: Structure Visualization for Researchers, Educators, and Developers. *Protein Sci.* 30 (1), 70–82. doi: 10.1002/pro.3943
- Polderdijk, S. G., Adams, T. E., Ivanciu, L., Camire, R. M., Baglin, T. P., and Huntington, J. A. (2017). Design and Characterization of an APC-Specific Serpin for the Treatment of Hemophilia. *Blood* 129 (1), 105–113. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2016-05-718635
- Pongprayoon, P., Niramitranon, J., Kaewhom, P., Kaewmongkol, S., Suwan, E., Stich, R. W., et al (2020). Dynamic and Structural Insights Into Tick Serpin From Ixodes Ricinus. *J. Biomol. Struct. Dyn.* 38 (8), 2296–2303. doi: 10.1080/ 07391102.2019.1630003
- Pongprayoon, P., Kaewhom, P., Kaewmongkol, S., Suwan, E., Stich, R., Wiriya, B., et al. (2021). Structural Dynamics of Rhipicephalus Microplus Serpin-3. *Mol. Simulation* 47, 1–8. doi: 10.1080/08927022.2021.1962011
- Porter, L., Radulović, Ž., Kim, T., Braz, G. R. C., Da Silva Vaz, I. Jr., and Mulenga, A. (2015). Bioinformatic Analyses of Male and Female Amblyomma Americanum Tick Expressed Serine Protease Inhibitors (Serpins). *Ticks Tick-Borne Dis.* 6 (1), 16–30. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2014.08.002
- Prevot, P.-P., Adam, B., Boudjeltia, K. Z., Brossard, M., Lins, L., Cauchie, P., et al. (2006). Anti-Hemostatic Effects of a Serpin From the Saliva of the Tick Ixodes Ricinus*. J. Biol. Chem. 281 (36), 26361–26369. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M604197200
- Prevot, P. P., Beschin, A., Lins, L., Beaufays, J., Grosjean, A., Bruys, L., et al. (2009). Exosites Mediate the Anti-Inflammatory Effects of a Multifunctional Serpin From the Saliva of the Tick Ixodes Ricinus. *FEBS J.* 276 (12), 3235–3246. doi: 10.1111/ j.1742-4658.2009.07038.x
- Prevot, P. P., Couvreur, B., Denis, V., Brossard, M., Vanhamme, L., and Godfroid, E. (2007). Protective Immunity Against Ixodes Ricinus Induced by a Salivary Serpin. Vaccine 25 (17), 3284–3292. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.01.008
- Radulović, Ż.M., and Mulenga, A. (2017). Heparan Sulfate/Heparin Glycosaminoglycan Binding Alters Inhibitory Profile and Enhances

Anticoagulant Function of Conserved Amblyomma Americanum Tick Saliva Serpin 19. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 80, 1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.ibmb.2016.11.002

- Raphael, I., Nalawade, S., Eagar, T. N., and Forsthuber, T. G. (2015). T Cell Subsets and Their Signature Cytokines in Autoimmune and Inflammatory Diseases. *Cytokine* 74 (1), 5–17. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2014.09.011
- Rau, J. C., Beaulieu, L. M., Huntington, J. A., and Church, F. C. (2007). Serpins in Thrombosis, Hemostasis and Fibrinolysis. J. Thromb. Haemost. 5 (Suppl 1), 102–115. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2007.02516.x
- Ribeiro, J. M., Labruna, M. B., Mans, B. J., Maruyama, S. R., Francischetti, I. M., Barizon, G. C., et al. (2012). The Sialotranscriptome of Antricola Delacruzi Female Ticks is Compatible With non-Hematophagous Behavior and an Alternative Source of Food. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 42 (5), 332–342. doi: 10.1016/j.ibmb.2012.01.003
- Ribeiro, J. M. C., and Mans, B. J. (2020). TickSialoFam (TSFam): A Database That Helps to Classify Tick Salivary Proteins, a Review on Tick Salivary Protein Function and Evolution, With Considerations on the Tick Sialome Switching Phenomenon. *Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol.* 10, 374. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2020. 00374
- Rodriguez-Valle, M., Vance, M., Moolhuijzen, P. M., Tao, X., and Lew-Tabor, A. E. (2012). Differential Recognition by Tick-Resistant Cattle of the Recombinantly Expressed Rhipicephalus Microplus Serine Protease Inhibitor-3 (RMS-3). *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 3 (3), 159–169. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2012.03.002
- Rodriguez-Valle, M., Xu, T., Kurscheid, S., and Lew-Tabor, A. E. (2015). Rhipicephalus Microplus Serine Protease Inhibitor Family: Annotation, Expression and Functional Characterisation Assessment. *Parasit. Vectors* 8, 7. doi: 10.1186/s13071-014-0605-4
- Sajid, A., Matias, J., Arora, G., Kurokawa, C., DePonte, K., Tang, X., et al. (2021). mRNA Vaccination Induces Tick Resistance and Prevents Transmission of the Lyme Disease Agent. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 13 (620), eabj9827. doi: 10.1126/ scitranslmed.abj9827
- Sambrano, G. R., Huang, W., Faruqi, T., Mahrus, S., Craik, C., and Coughlin, S. R. (2000). Cathepsin G Activates Protease-Activated Receptor-4 in Human Platelets. J. Biol. Chem. 275 (10), 6819–6823. doi: 10.1074/jbc.275.10.6819
- Sa-Nunes, A., and Oliveira, C. J. F. (2021). Dendritic Cells as a Disputed Fortress on the Tick-Host Battlefield. *Trends Parasitol.* 37 (4), 340–354. doi: 10.1016/ j.pt.2020.11.004
- Sasaki, S. D., Azzolini, S. S., Hirata, I. Y., Andreotti, R., and Tanaka, A. S. (2004). Boophilus Microplus Tick Larvae, a Rich Source of Kunitz Type Serine Proteinase Inhibitors. *Biochimie* 86 (9-10), 643–649. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2004.09.010
- Schaller, J., and Gerber, S. S. (2011). The Plasmin-Antiplasmin System: Structural and Functional Aspects. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* 68 (5), 785–801. doi: 10.1007/ s00018-010-0566-5
- Schick, C., Pemberton, P. A., Shi, G.-P., Kamachi, Y., Çataltepe, S., Bartuski, A. J., et al. (1998). Cross-Class Inhibition of the Cysteine Proteinases Cathepsins K, L, and S by the Serpin Squamous Cell Carcinoma Antigen 1: A Kinetic Analysis. *Biochemistry* 37 (15), 5258–5266. doi: 10.1021/bi972521d
- Schroeder, H., Daix, V., Gillet, L., Renauld, J.-C., and Vanderplasschen, A. (2007). The Paralogous Salivary Anti-Complement Proteins IRAC I and IRAC II Encoded by Ixodes Ricinus Ticks Have Broad and Complementary Inhibitory Activities Against the Complement of Different Host Species. *Microbes Infection* 9 (2), 247–250. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2006.10.020
- Schroeder, H., Skelly, P. J., Zipfel, P. F., Losson, B., and Vanderplasschen, A. (2009). Subversion of Complement by Hematophagous Parasites. *Dev. Comp. Immunol.* 33 (1), 5–13. doi: 10.1016/j.dci.2008.07.010
- Silverman, G. A., Bird, P. I., Carrell, R. W., Church, F. C., Coughlin, P. B., Gettins, P. G. W., et al. (2001). The Serpins Are an Expanding Superfamily of Structurally Similar But Functionally Diverse Proteins. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276 (36), 33293–33296. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R100016200
- Silverman, G. A., Whisstock, J. C., Bottomley, S. P., Huntington, J. A., Kaiserman, D., Luke, C. J., et al. (2010). Serpins Flex Their Muscle: I. Putting the Clamps on Proteolysis in Diverse Biological Systems. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285 (32), 24299–24305. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R110.112771
- Šimo, L., Kazimirova, M., Richardson, J., and Bonnet, S. I. (2017). The Essential Role of Tick Salivary Glands and Saliva in Tick Feeding and Pathogen Transmission. *Front. Cell. infection Microbiol.* 7, 281. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00281
- Sochaj-Gregorczyk, A., Ksiazek, M., Waligorska, I., Straczek, A., Benedyk, M., Mizgalska, D., et al. (2020). Plasmin Inhibition by Bacterial Serpin: Implications in Gum Disease. *FASEB J.* 34 (1), 619–630. doi: 10.1096/fj.201901490RR

- Sojka, D., Franta, Z., Horn, M., Caffrey, C. R., Mares, M., and Kopacek, P. (2013). New Insights Into the Machinery of Blood Digestion by Ticks. *Trends Parasitol.* 29 (6), 276–285. doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2013.04.002
- Spence, M. A., Mortimer, M. D., Buckle, A. M., Minh, B. Q., and Jackson, C. J. (2021). A Comprehensive Phylogenetic Analysis of the Serpin Superfamily. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 38 (7), 2915–2929. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msab081
- Sugino, M., Imamura, S., Mulenga, A., Nakajima, M., Tsuda, A., Ohashi, K., et al. (2003). A Serine Proteinase Inhibitor (Serpin) From Ixodid Tick Haemaphysalis Longicornis; Cloning and Preliminary Assessment of its Suitability as a Candidate for a Tick Vaccine. Vaccine 21 (21-22), 2844– 2851. doi: 10.1016/S0264-410X(03)00167-1
- Syrovets, T., Lunov, O., and Simmet, T. (2012). Plasmin as a Proinflammatory Cell Activator. J. leukocyte Biol. 92 (3), 509–519. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0212056
- Tirloni, L., Kim, T. K., Berger, M., Termignoni, C., da Silva Vaz, I. Jr., and Mulenga, A. (2019). Amblyomma Americanum Serpin 27 (AAS27) is a Tick Salivary Anti-Inflammatory Protein Secreted Into the Host During Feeding. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 13 (8), e0007660. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0007660
- Tirloni, L., Kim, T. K., Coutinho, M. L., Ali, A., Seixas, A., Termignoni, C., et al. (2016). The Putative Role of Rhipicephalus Microplus Salivary Serpins in the Tick-Host Relationship. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 71, 12–28. doi: 10.1016/ j.ibmb.2016.01.004
- Tirloni, L., Seixas, A., Mulenga, A., Vaz Ida, S. Jr., and Termignoni, C. (2014). A Family of Serine Protease Inhibitors (Serpins) in the Cattle Tick Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) Microplus. *Exp. Parasitol* 137, 25–34. doi: 10.1016/j.exppara.2013. 12.001
- Toyomane, K., Konnai, S., Niwa, A., Githaka, N., Isezaki, M., Yamada, S., et al. (2016). Identification and the Preliminary *In Vitro* Characterization of IRIS Homologue From Salivary Glands of Ixodes Persulcatus Schulze. *Ticks Tickborne Dis.* 7 (1), 119–125. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2015.09.006
- Tufail, M., and Takeda, M. (2009). Insect Vitellogenin/Lipophorin Receptors: Molecular Structures, Role in Oogenesis, and Regulatory Mechanisms. J. Insect Physiol. 55 (2), 87–103. doi: 10.1016/j.jinsphys.2008.11.007
- Tyson, K., Elkins, C., Patterson, H., Fikrig, E., and de Silva, A. (2007). Biochemical and Functional Characterization of Salp20, an Ixodes Scapularis Tick Salivary Protein That Inhibits the Complement Pathway. *Insect Mol. Biol.* 16 (4), 469– 479. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2583.2007.00742.x
- Valenzuela, J. G., Charlab, R., Mather, T. N., and Ribeiro, J. M. (2000). Purification, Cloning, and Expression of a Novel Salivary Anticomplement Protein From the Tick, Ixodes Scapularis. J. Biol. Chem. 275 (25), 18717–18723. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M001486200
- Wang, X.-R., and Cull, B. (2022). Apoptosis and Autophagy: Current Understanding in Tick-Pathogen Interactions. Front. Cell. infection Microbiol. 12, 784430. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2022.784430
- Wang, F., Song, Z., Chen, J., Wu, Q., Zhou, X., Ni, X., et al. (2020). The Immunosuppressive Functions of Two Novel Tick Serpins, HlSerpin-A and HlSerpin-B, From Haemaphysalis Longicornis. *Immunology* 159 (1), 109–120. doi: 10.1111/imm.13130
- Watson, S. P., Auger, J. M., McCarty, O. J., and Pearce, A. C. (2005). GPVI and Integrin alphaIIb Beta3 Signaling in Platelets. J. Thromb. Haemost. 3 (8), 1752– 1762. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2005.01429.x
- Wen, S., Wang, F., Ji, Z., Pan, Y., Jian, M., Bi, Y., et al. (2019). Salp15, a Multifunctional Protein From Tick Saliva With Potential Pharmaceutical Effects. *Front. Immunol.* 10, 3067. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.03067
- Whisstock, J. C., Silverman, G. A., Bird, P. I., Bottomley, S. P., Kaiserman, D., Luke, C. J., et al. (2010). Serpins Flex Their Muscle: II. STRUCTURAL INSIGHTS INTO TARGET PEPTIDASE RECOGNITION, POLYMERIZATION, AND TRANSPORT FUNCTIONS. J. Biol. Chem. 285 (32), 24307–24312. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R110.141408

- Wikel, S. (2013). Ticks and Tick-Borne Pathogens at the Cutaneous Interface: Host Defenses, Tick Countermeasures, and a Suitable Environment for Pathogen Establishment. *Front. Microbiol.* 4, 337. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2013.00337
- Wikel, S. (2021). Immunobiology of Tick-Host-Pathogen Interactions. Parasite Immunol. 43 (5), e12818. doi: 10.1111/pim.12818
- Xu, T., Lew-Tabor, A., and Rodriguez-Valle, M. (2016). Effective Inhibition of Thrombin by Rhipicephalus Microplus Serpin-15 (RmS-15) Obtained in the Yeast Pichia Pastoris. *Ticks tick-borne Dis.* 7 (1), 180–187. doi: 10.1016/ j.ttbdis.2015.09.007
- Xu, Z., Lin, Z., Wei, N., Di, Q., Cao, J., Zhou, Y., et al. (2019). Immunomodulatory Effects of Rhipicephalus Haemaphysaloides Serpin RHS2 on Host Immune Responses. *Parasit. Vectors* 12 (1), 341. doi: 10.1186/s13071-019-3607-4
- Xu, Z., Yan, Y., Zhang, H., Cao, J., Zhou, Y., Xu, Q., et al. (2020). A Serpin From the Tick Rhipicephalus Haemaphysaloides: Involvement in Vitellogenesis. *Veterinary Parasitol.* 279, 109064. doi: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2020.109064
- Yaron, J. R., Zhang, L., Guo, Q., Haydel, S. E., and Lucas, A. R. (2021). Fibrinolytic Serine Proteases, Therapeutic Serpins and Inflammation: Fire Dancers and Firestorms. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 8, 648947. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2021.648947
- Yu, Y., Cao, J., Zhou, Y., Zhang, H., and Zhou, J. (2013). Isolation and Characterization of Two Novel Serpins From the Tick Rhipicephalus Haemaphysaloides. *Ticks Tick-borne Dis.* 4 (4), 297–303. doi: 10.1016/ j.ttbdis.2013.02.001
- Zarbock, A., Polanowska-Grabowska, R. K., and Ley, K. (2007). Platelet-Neutrophil-Interactions: Linking Hemostasis and Inflammation. *Blood Rev.* 21 (2), 99–111. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2006.06.001
- Zhang, X., Zink, F., Hezel, F., Vogt, J., Wachter, U., Wepler, M., et al. (2020). Metabolic Substrate Utilization in Stress-Induced Immune Cells. *Intensive Care Med. Exp.* 8 (Suppl 1), 28. doi: 10.1186/s40635-020-00316-0
- Zhou, J., Liao, M., Hatta, T., Tanaka, M., Xuan, X., and Fujisaki, K. (2006b). Identification of a Follistatin-Related Protein From the Tick Haemaphysalis Longicornis and its Effect on Tick Oviposition. *Gene* 372, 191–198. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2005.12.020
- Zhou, A., Wei, Z., Read, R. J., and Carrell, R. W. (2006a). Structural Mechanism for the Carriage and Release of Thyroxine in the Blood. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 103 (36), 13321–13326. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0604080103
- Zhou, A., Wei, Z., Stanley, P. L., Read, R. J., Stein, P. E., and Carrell, R. W. (2008). The S-To-R Transition of Corticosteroid-Binding Globulin and the Mechanism of Hormone Release. J. Mol. Biol. 380 (1), 244–251. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2008.05.012

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Abbas, Chlastáková, Jmel, Iliaki-Giannakoudaki, Chmelař and Kotsyfakis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.